THERAPEUTIC TARGETING OF CANCER STEM-LIKE CELLS (CSC) – THE CURRENT STATE OF THE ART

EDITED BY: Cyril Corbet and Alexandre Prieur PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Oncology and Frontiers in Pharmacology





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-647-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-647-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

THERAPEUTIC TARGETING OF CANCER STEM-LIKE CELLS (CSC) – THE CURRENT STATE OF THE ART

Topic Editors: **Cyril Corbet**, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium **Alexandre Prieur**, ECS-Progastrin, Switzerland

Citation: Corbet, C., Prieur, A., eds. (2020). Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC) – The Current State of the Art. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-647-1

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC) – The Current State of the Art

Cyril Corbet and Alexandre Prieur

07 Glioblastoma Stem-Like Cells, Metabolic Strategy to Kill a Challenging Target

Delphine Garnier, Ophélie Renoult, Marie-Clotilde Alves-Guerra, François Paris and Claire Pecqueur

- 25 Iron Metabolism in Liver Cancer Stem Cells
 Stefania Recalcati, Margherita Correnti, Elena Gammella, Chiara Raggi,
 Pietro Invernizzi and Gaetano Cairo
- 34 Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells: Integrating and Exploiting the Acidic Niche

Catherine Vander Linden and Cyril Corbet

- **46** *Metabolism-Based Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells* Petra Jagust, Beatriz de Luxán-Delgado, Beatriz Parejo-Alonso and Patricia Sancho
- 72 Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Against Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC)—Is There Still Room for Optimism? Fabrizio Marcucci, Carmelo Antonio Caserta, Elisabetta Romeo and Cristiano Rumio
- 84 Pre-clinical Models for Studying the Interaction Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Cancer Cells and the Induction of Stemness Sofia Avnet, Silvia Lemma, Margherita Cortini, Gemma Di Pompo, Francesca Perut and Nicola Baldini
- 92 NAMPT as a Dedifferentiation-Inducer Gene: NAD⁺ as Core Axis for Glioma Cancer Stem-Like Cells Maintenance
 Antonio Lucena-Cacace, Masayuki Umeda, Lola E. Navas and Amancio Carnero
- 105 Transcriptional Reprogramming and Novel Therapeutic Approaches for Targeting Prostate Cancer Stem Cells

Gianluca Civenni, Domenico Albino, Dheeraj Shinde, Ramiro Vázquez, Jessica Merulla, Aleksandra Kokanovic, Sarah N. Mapelli, Giuseppina M. Carbone and Carlo V. Catapano

121 Stem Cell Plasticity and Dormancy in the Development of Cancer Therapy Resistance

Maria Laura De Angelis, Federica Francescangeli, Filippo La Torre and Ann Zeuner

- **135** Targeting the Interplay Between Cancer Fibroblasts, Mesenchymal Stem Cells, and Cancer Stem Cells in Desmoplastic Cancers Tze-Sian Chan, Yuval Shaked and Kelvin K. Tsai
- 150 Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells via Modulation of the Renin-Angiotensin System

Imogen M. Roth, Agadha C. Wickremesekera, Susrutha K. Wickremesekera, Paul F. Davis and Swee T. Tan

162 Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells and Their Microenvironment

Hao-Ran Sun, Shun Wang, Shi-Can Yan, Yu Zhang, Peter J. Nelson, Hu-Liang Jia, Lun-Xiu Qin and Qiong-Zhu Dong

176 CPT1A/2-Mediated FAO Enhancement—A Metabolic Target in Radioresistant Breast Cancer

Shujun Han, Ryan Wei, Xiaodi Zhang, Nian Jiang, Ming Fan, Jie Hunter Huang, Bowen Xie, Lu Zhang, Weili Miao, Ashley Chen-Ping Butler, Matthew A. Coleman, Andrew T. Vaughan, Yinsheng Wang, Hong-Wu Chen, Jiankang Liu and Jian Jian Li





Editorial: Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC) – The Current State of the Art

Cyril Corbet^{1*} and Alexandre Prieur²

¹ Pole of Pharmacology and Therapeutics (FATH), Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique, UCLouvain, Brussels, Belgium, ² ECS-Progastrin Chemin de la Meuniere 12, Prilly, Switzerland

Keywords: cancer stem cells (CSC), therapeutic targeting, antibodies, transcription factors, small molecules

Editorial on the Research Topic

Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC) - The Current State of the Art

Cancer stem-like cells (CSC) represent a small population of tumor cells that are thought to exhibit a tumor-initiating potential, as well as enhanced therapy-resistant and metastasis-forming capacities, thereby actively contributing to clinical relapse and poor prognosis in cancer patients. Although all these phenotypic properties make CSC targets of great interest in drug discovery, there are currently only few therapeutic approaches that have reached late stages of clinical development in oncology. This Special Topic of Frontiers in Oncology attempts to address some major concerns related to the therapeutic targeting of CSC: what are these cells, how may the specific permissive microenvironment (the so-called stem cell niche) be therapeutically exploited, and what are the emerging therapeutic avenues aiming to eradicate this specific tumor cell subpopulation.

The papers in this Special Topic can be categorized into three main parts. The first part highlights the influence of tumor microenvironment (TME) peculiarities on the emergence and/or maintenance of stem-like phenotypes and how this can be therapeutically integrated and exploited. This subject is broadly reviewed by Sun et al. and then also addressed by De Angelis et al. in the specific contexts of cell dormancy and therapy resistance. Chan et al. discuss the interplay between CSC and stromal cells, including cancer-associated fibroblasts and tumor-infiltrating mesenchymal stem cells (MSC). Avnet et al. also summarize the currently available preclinical models that help evaluate the functional interaction between MSC and cancer cells. Finally, Vander Linden and Corbet describe how tumor acidosis, a common hallmark of TME in solid tumors, may provide a permissive niche to shape more aggressive stem-like cancer cell phenotypes. These different articles also review new therapeutic options aiming to eradicate CSC by integrating and/or exploiting the TME niches in order to overcome therapy resistance and metastatic dissemination.

The second set of papers relates to the metabolic preferences of CSC and emerging metabolismbased therapeutic strategies that are currently in (pre)clinical testing for cancer treatment. Jagust et al. make an overview of metabolic pathways that support CSC phenotypes in different cancer types, while Garnier et al. discuss specifically about the metabolism of glioblastoma stem-like cells and its role in tumor progression and clinical relapse. Recalcati et al. report an increasing evidence for dysregulated iron homeostasis in cancer cells, with a special focus on liver CSC. These authors also discuss new therapeutic options aiming to manipulate iron metabolism for anti-tumor therapy. Another review article from Lucena-Cacace et al. reports the important role for nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), the rate-limiting enzyme in the NAD⁺ salvage pathway, in the maintenance of a glioma cancer stem-like cell (GSC) population. They discuss how NAD⁺ homeostasis supports metabolic and non-metabolic processes that contribute to a GSC phenotype. Finally, Han et al. report, in an research

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Amit K. Tiwari, University of Toledo, United States

> *Correspondence: Cyril Corbet cyril.corbet@uclouvain.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 20 December 2019 Accepted: 13 February 2020 Published: 28 February 2020

Citation:

Corbet C and Prieur A (2020) Editorial: Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC) – The Current State of the Art. Front. Oncol. 10:243. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00243 article, that radioresistant breast cancer (stem) cells rely on fatty acid metabolism to survive and grow, with carnitine palmitoyl transferases 1A and 2 as main actors and potential therapeutic targets.

The third and final part of this special issue is focused on new therapeutic avenues to target CSC populations. Marcucci et al. discuss the potential application of antibody-drug conjugates as tools for a selective eradication of CSC and how some limitations related to their use may be addressed. Roth et al. describe the roles of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) in CSC biology and how RAS modulators may offer new therapeutic approaches to target CSC and reduce tumor growth. Finally, Civenni et al. review the influence of transcriptional regulators in the emergence and/or maintenance of a stemlike cell population in the context of prostate cancers, and describe current therapeutic strategies aiming to interfere with specific transcriptional programs and associated stem-like phenotypic changes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC has written the editorial. CC and AP have collected and edited the articles of the Research Topic.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Corbet and Prieur. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glioblastoma Stem-Like Cells, Metabolic Strategy to Kill a **Challenging Target**

Delphine Garnier¹, Ophélie Renoult¹, Marie-Clotilde Alves-Guerra^{2,3}, François Paris^{1,4} and Claire Pecqueur 1,5*

¹ CRCINA, INSERM CNRS, Université de Nantes, Nantes, France, ² INSERM CNRS, Institut Cochin, Paris, France, ³ Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France, ⁴ Institut de Cancérologie de l'Ouest - René Gauducheau, St Herblain, France, ⁵ LabEx IGO "Immunotherapy, Graft, Oncology", Nantes, France

Over the years, substantial evidence has definitively confirmed the existence of cancer stem-like cells within tumors such as Glioblastoma (GBM). The importance of Glioblastoma stem-like cells (GSCs) in tumor progression and relapse clearly highlights that cancer eradication requires killing of GSCs that are intrinsically resistant to conventional therapies as well as eradication of the non-GSCs cells since GSCs emergence relies on a dynamic process. The past decade of research highlights that metabolism is a significant player in tumor progression and actually might orchestrate it. The growing interest in cancer metabolism reprogrammation can lead to innovative approaches exploiting metabolic vulnerabilities of cancer cells. These approaches are challenging since they require overcoming the compensatory and adaptive responses of GSCs. In this review, we will summarize the current knowledge on GSCs with a particular focus on their metabolic complexity. We will also discuss potential approaches targeting GSCs metabolism to potentially improve clinical care.

Keywords: Glioblastoma, cancer stem cells, cancer metabolism, tumor microenvironment, cancer heterogeneity, cancer plasticity

INTRODUCTION

Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common primary brain tumor in adults, defined as a grade IV glioma according to the WHO (World Health Organization) classification of central nervous system tumors (1). GBM is characterized by a highly infiltrative nature within the surrounding brain parenchyma and a dismal prognosis despite aggressive treatments. Present GBM standard of care, as defined in the Stupp protocol, includes surgical tumor resection followed by radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant chemotherapy with Temozolomide. With this therapy, patient median survival is only 18 months with <5% of patients surviving over 5 years (2). This poor response rate can be explained by the almost inevitable GBM recurrence within a year of initial diagnosis in part due to the limitations of surgical resection given GBM propensity for infiltration, but also to an extensive tumoral heterogeneity resulting in a large range of variabilities in crucial biological responses like cell proliferation, invasion, and sensitivity to conventional treatments. At the genetic level, GBM display a highly mutated genome including loss, amplification, or mutation of EGFR (including expression of the constitutively active form EGFRvIII), PDGFRA, NF1, PTEN, RB1, and p53, resulting in the deregulation of many signaling pathways. Furthermore, epigenetic modifications are also well-characterized in GBM, especially on the O⁶-methylguanine

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, **Belaium**

Reviewed by:

Michael P. Lisanti. University of Salford, United Kingdom Hiroaki Nagashima, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

*Correspondence:

Claire Pecqueur claire.pecqueur@univ-nantes.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 05 December 2018 Accepted: 11 February 2019 Published: 06 March 2019

Citation:

Garnier D, Renoult O, Alves-Guerra M-C, Paris F and Pecqueur C (2019) Glioblastoma Stem-Like Cells, Metabolic Strategy to Kill a Challenging Target. Front Oncol 9.118 doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00118

7

methyltransferase (MGMT) gene, a DNA repair enzyme involved in the fixation of damages induced by alkylating agents such as Temozolomide. Inactivation of the MGMT enzyme, following its promoter hypermethylation, correlates to a better prognosis due to the resultant inability of the MGMT enzyme to remove alkyl groups from DNA (3). This heterogeneity becomes even more complex when therapy comes into the picture with the emergence of drug-resistant clones with highly mutable phenotypes (4–6).

At the cellular level, functional GBM heterogeneity can be explained by the existence of multiple cellular subpopulations of cancer cells. In particular, Glioblastoma stem-*like* cells (GSCs) display stem cell properties of self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation. These cells generate cellular heterogeneity by establishing a differentiation hierarchy leading to a wide range of distinct cell types present in the tumor. Importantly, extensive studies have implicated these GSCs in GBM recurrence. Recently, an increased focus upon this GSCs subpopulation suggests that their eradication is definitively required in order to successfully treat GBM patients.

Normal stem cells are unique in their ability to self-renew, proliferate, and differentiate in various cell types. They are also characterized by poorly developed mitochondria and a strong glycolytic metabolism. Whereas, the metabolic alterations have been included as a hallmark of cancer cells, contradictory results have been reported for GSCs suggesting a metabolic flexibility. The aim of this review is to summarize and emphasize some of the key aspects of GSCs, with a particular focus on their dynamic emergence and metabolic plasticity. Given the obvious need for improvement of current therapies for GBM, we will also present data on how metabolic targeting might be exploited to eradicate GSCs and hopefully improve clinical outcomes.

GLIOBLASTOMA STEM-LIKE CELLS

Definition and Origin of Cancer Stem-*Like* Cells

The cancer stem-*like* cells (CSCs) concept was originally proposed to reconcile the complex phenotypic heterogeneity of tumors and the fact that only a few cancer cells are actually tumorigenic. CSCs possess the capacity to self-renew, initiate a tumor as well as the potential to differentiate to reconstitute the initial tumor mass, including its heterogeneity (7). An increasing amount of evidence based on preclinical and clinical studies demonstrates the importance of CSCs in tumor progression and relapse suggesting that cancer eradication requires killing of CSCs.

Since the CSCs concept emerged in the 1970's, the origin of these cells is still controversial with opposite models to explain their presence in tumors. The initial and traditional theory is based on a hierarchical and unidirectional model, where CSCs constitute a specific and rare subpopulation of cells that possess the unique capacity to repopulate and reconstitute tumor heterogeneity through symmetric self-renewal of the CSCs pool, and asymmetric divisions to generate differentiated cancer cells (8, 9). In this model, CSCs may have emerged after acquisition of mutations in normal neural stem cells. However, this model has been challenged by subsequent studies highlighting cancer cell plasticity occurring in tumors and giving rise to a new stochastic model based on clonal evolution (10-12). In this model, some tumor cells can progressively accumulate mutations and reacquire a self-renewal potential, forming several CSCs clones (13). Therefore, all the cells forming the tumor bulk have the potential to become CSCs through a dedifferentiation process, already underlining the complexity of their characterization

In conclusion, whereas the non-CSCs constitute the tumor bulk and the CSCs are involved in tumor relapse and metastasis, the hierarchy between CSCs and non-CSCs is definitively bidirectional and highly dynamic, adding further complexity to our understanding of the tumor.

Phenotypic Plasticity of Glioblastoma Stem-*Like* Cells

In Glioblastoma, GSCs were first identified by Singh et al., as a population of cells capable of initiating tumor growth in vivo (8). Like their normal counterparts the neural stem cells, GSCs exhibit self-renewing and multilineage differentiation into neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes, and even transdifferentiation abilities [review in (14)]. However, in contrast to neural stem cells, GSCs display the ability to initiate a tumor upon transplantation and to recapitulate its initial phenotype and heterogeneity. GSCs are highly resistant to chemotherapy (15, 16) and radiation (17), and have been involved in GBM tumorigenicity. Indeed, GSCs are slowcycling, have the capacity to limit DNA lesions through strong and efficient DNA damage response, and prevent cytotoxicity through high drug efflux by ABC transporters. Recently, several studies have highlighted that GSCs may also be involved in the infiltrative nature of GBM (18-20). In particular, expression level of Wnt5a defines the infiltrative capacity of GBM cells, including in GSCs. In fact, its overexpression in GSCs confers an exacerbated invasive phenotype while its inhibition reduces their invasive potential both in vitro and in vivo.

In Glioblastoma, several studies demonstrated the bidirectional plasticity between GSCs and more differentiated GBM cells as a result of environmental factors. First, besides promoting the self-renewal of GSCs, hypoxia through HIF2a promotes a stem-like phenotype in the non-stem population by upregulating several stem cell factors, such as Oct4, Nanog and c-Myc (21). Second, as we described before, chemotherapy as well as radiation consistently increase the GSCs pool over time. In fact, therapeutic doses of Temozolomide trigger a phenotypic shift in the non-GSCs population to a GSCs state (22) while radiation increases tumorigenicity through reacquisition of stemness markers and stem-associated properties of GBM cells, in part via a survivin-dependent pathway (23). Recently, it has been suggested that Sox2, a well-known transcriptional factor involved in stemness maintenance, might be central in tumor cell plasticity by regulating dedifferentiation and acquisition of GSCs properties, through a transcriptional regulation of distinct genes set in differentiated tumor cells and GSCs (24). Hyperactivation of the tyrosine kinase c-Met, involved in the reprogramming of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, also induces GSCs reprogramming via a mechanism requiring Nanog (25). Finally, activation of Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal transition (EMT) enables the conversion of non-CSCs in CSCs through both intracellular and extracellular signaling pathways.

Besides genetic and cellular heterogeneities, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) has established a molecular classification of GBM using transcriptional profiling data of bulk tumor based on dominant genes expressed in each GBM subtype (26, 27). Three main GBM subtypes can be easily distinguished based on molecular signature, therapy responses and patient survival: the mesenchymal (MES), classical, and proneural (PN), (28). Notably, the MES subtype of GBM is associated with relatively poor prognosis compared with that of the other subtypes and shows resistance to conventional therapy. GSCs also display these molecular signatures with distinct activated signaling pathways, biological phenotypes, and residing niches (29-31). In agreement with the worst outcome, MES GSCs are more resistant to radiation and display more aggressive phenotypes in vitro and in vivo (31, 32). Recent studies have added a layer of complexity in this molecular classification by demonstrating that molecular subtypes are flexible and vary spatially and temporally within the same tumor. First, a study collecting spatially distinct tumor specimens from the same tumor as well as single-cell RNA-sequencing resolution revealed that a single tumor consists of a heterogeneous mixture of tumor cells from different subtypes, with one subtype usually being highly represented (33, 34). Second, the molecular subtype can evolve with time, microenvironment or stress, in particular toward a MES transdifferentiation from the other subtypes (35), in agreement with a higher frequency of the MES subtype at recurrence (33, 36). Furthermore, radiation of PN GSCs up-regulated mesenchymal-associated markers while downregulating PN-associated markers. Collectively, these studies underlined the strong unstable nature of GBM, fully in agreement with its previous designation as Glioblastoma Multiform. Since the molecular patterns of GBM can partially explain clinical outcomes and predict responses to treatment, this classification should help understanding the GBM tumorigenesis and progression and provide diagnostic and prognostic information, as well as help the development of new therapeutic approaches. However, several clinical trials based on either targeted therapies for specific mutations or subtypes have been completed with no consistent changes in clinical activity [review in (37)].

Taken altogether, these studies underlie the great diversity of GSCs states suggesting that emergence of GSCs, and CSCs in general, should be consider as a phenotypic shift rather than a true dedifferentiation process.

Characterization and Isolation of GSCs

As we described previously, CSCs in general constitute a very rare population but one of the most important to target, for their unique ability to reconstitute the initial tumor and their strong resistance to therapy. The ability of all cells forming the tumor bulk to shift into GSCs already underlines the complexity of their characterization. The identification of GSCs is classically based on cell surface markers such as CD133 [review in (38)]. It has been shown that CD133 positive GSCs better survive

radiation than CD133 negative cells and were able to give rise to a tumor in a xenograft model. However, some later works showed that CD133 negative cells were also able to initiate tumor growth. Furthermore, while both subtypes exhibit similar GSCs enrichments, PN GSCs clearly exhibit CD133 at their surface in contrast to MES GSCs that do not (39, 40). The sets of markers being used to identify GSCs are being constantly updated and includes Sox2, Olig2, Nestin, CD15/SSEA-1, CD44, integrin alpha6, L1CAM, as well as drug efflux transporters like ATP-binding cassette transporters (ABC) [review in (41)]. However, those markers are also expressed by normal stem cells. Furthermore, purified CD133 positive cells are able to reestablish the initial ratio of CD133 positive and CD133 negative cells (11, 12). This was true not only for CD133 marker but also for 15 commonly used CSCs markers including CD44, ABCB5, or cadherin. Finally, in line with CD133 expression, while PN and MES GSCs are able to self-renew both in vitro and in vivo, bioinformatic analyses have revealed distinct GSCs phenotypes for these two molecular subtypes into full and restricted stem-like phenotypes, respectively (42). Thus, despite many years of investigation, there is no consensus on an appropriate way to identify these cells. It is nowadays commonly accepted that the identification of GSCs and CSCs in general, requires the combination of several markers and also a functional demonstration of their stem cells features such as self-renewal and their ability to initiate tumor growth.

Because of the difficulty to precisely define GSCs specific markers, the isolation of this rare population of cells becomes very delicate. However, the development of relevant in vitro models is essential to better understand GSCs biology, to uncover potential vulnerabilities and to identify novel therapeutic targets. Culture methods, initially developed for neural stem cells, have been adapted to enrich primary GBM cultures in GSCs. Postsurgery GBM specimens are mechanically dissociated and can grow in two different phenotypes, each requiring specific media. They can grow as adherent monolayer cells in presence of serum, which represent differentiated GBM cells, or as free-floating tumorospheres enriched in GSCs when cultured in serum-free medium containing EGF and bFGF (43). Importantly, these two phenotypic states, mutually reversible, differ in proliferation rate, invasion, migration, and chemosensitivity. The validation for GSCs enrichments is based on the combinatorial expression of cell surface markers (CD133, CD44, CD15), intracellular stem cell markers (Nestin, Sox2) and most importantly key stem cells features such as self-renewal and tumor initiation. Self-renewal can be evaluated by limiting dilution assay or colony forming cell assay since one CSC is able to form a tumorosphere due to its self-renewal potential. Based on their high expression of drug efflux transporters, another way to determine GSCs enrichment in GBM cultures is to identify the cells which are able to exclude fluorescent dye, defined as the side population (44). High aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity is also one feature of CSCs in general, including GSCs (45). Finally, the most rigorous criteria to establish the presence of GSCs in GBM cultures is to test their ability to initiate a tumor *in vivo*. Importantly, in contrast to commercially available cell lines, these primary GBM cultures enriched in GSCs reproduce the overall behavior of GBM in patients, in particular their highly invasive feature. Thus, while not perfect, these *in vitro* GBM models present a unique opportunity to develop effective CSCs-directed therapies.

Interactions of GSCs With Their Microenvironment

Like normal stem cells, GSCs rely on a similar permissive tumor microenvironment (TME), also called the niche, to retain their exclusive abilities to self-renew and give rise to more differentiated progenitor cells. This niche includes many different cell types from stromal to immune cells with many reciprocal communications essential for GSCs maintenance, survival and proliferation, as well as TME recruitment, activation, programming, and persistence. Moreover, the CSCs niche also has a protective role by sheltering GSCs from diverse genotoxic insults contributing to their enhanced therapy resistance.

Cellular Components of the Niches

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) have remarkable tumor tropism that allows them to migrate toward and engraft specifically into the tumor sites, especially cells that have escaped the main tumor mass. MSC are multipotent progenitors that can differentiate into adipocytes, osteocytes, and chondrocytes. They are present in GBM, and more particularly in GSCs niches (46). The role of MSC in tumor progression is still debatable since other studies have shown an opposite effect with MSC inducing the inhibition of GBM tumor growth (47, 48). MSC provide supportive signals to GSCs, as indicated by the inverse correlation between glioma patients survival and the percentage of MSC (49, 50). Besides their homing capacity, they also stimulate proliferation, invasion, and tumorigenesis in GBM, in part via the cytokine IL-6 (51). Aside from a communication through direct cell-cell contact, GSCs can also exchange signals with MSC through Extracellular Vesicles (EV) [review in (52)]. EVs are membrane structures secreted by cells in the extracellular media and can transfer various information (DNA, miRNA, mRNA, proteins, lipids...) after their uptake by recipient cells. These EV contribute to tumor progression, either by reprogramming adjacent cells or by the modification of the supportive tumor microenvironment. Interestingly, the diversity of transcriptomic profiles observed in GBM subtypes is also found at the level of EV, contributing to maintain the GBM heterogeneity through the transfer of oncogenic signals and miRNA (53, 54). Moreover, MES and PN GSCs and their differentiated counterparts secrete different kinds of vesicles, and their uptake by recipient cells such that endothelial cells is also subtype-dependent (55). Thus, the use of EV as blood biomarkers recently received much attention as a fast and non-invasive way to detect and follow GBM tumors, identify their subtypes (55), or even as a marker of resistance acquisition to treatment (4). Indeed the EV content is the perfect reflection of the tumor phenotype as well as its microenvironment, and can easily be collected from a blood sample.

Although the brain has long been considered as immuneprivileged due to the blood-brain barrier, recent studies have reported the existence of a direct communication between the CNS and the immune system. In Glioblastoma, the TME has been shown to be particularly immunosuppressive, such that tumor cells can escape from immune surveillance. Notably, GSCs have a lower immunogenicity and a higher suppressive activity compared to non-GSCs GBM cells, through several mechanisms: the inhibition of T cells proliferation (56), the proliferation of regulatory T cells (57) and the recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), via the secretion of macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) or exosomes (58, 59). Additionally GSCs are involved in the tropism of immunosuppressive cells toward the tumor site including tumorassociated macrophages, through the secretion of numerous cytokines or growth factors, such as TGF-β1, SDF-1, or VEGF [review in (60)]. Interestingly GSCs seem to be more sensitive to Natural Killer (NK) cell toxicity, compared to their differentiated counterpart (61, 62). However, to prevent their recognition and elimination by cytotoxic NK cells, some GSCs, such as IDHmutant GSCs, exhibit significantly lower NKG2D expression to prevent their recognition by NK cells (63). Inversely different soluble factors secreted by immune cells also play essential roles for the biology of GSCs, for example TGFβ secreted by myeloid cells is an inductor of EMT involved in GSCs emergence.

Oxygen Is a Critical Component of GSCs Niches

Oxygen concentration plays a fundamental role in stemness maintenance defining several GSCs niches, in particular the perivascular and the hypoxic niches (64, 65). The most frequently described GSCs niche is the perivascular one in which the vascular component plays a crucial role in stemness maintenance and survival as well as GSCs dissemination (66). Accordingly, orthotopic co-implantation of GSCs with endothelial cells increases the GSCs fraction in xenograft tumors. Besides the direct contact between GSCs and endothelial cells, soluble factors produced by these cells also enhance stemness markers (66, 67). Notch signaling, in part through NO, plays a critical role in both GSCs maintenance (68) and GSCs radioresistance (69). In return, GSCs secrete several cytokines or growth factors, such as SDF-1 or VEGF, to promote angiogenesis through endothelial cells proliferation and recruitment (70, 71). Upon particular stimuli, GSCs can transdifferentiate into endothelial cells or pericytes to directly contribute to the perivascular niche (14). Importantly, this transdifferentiation can also transfer to endothelial cells the capacity of resistance and genetic mutations (72). The communication between the perivascular niche and the GSCs is therefore a two-way exchange with benefits to both blood vessels and GSCs.

One hallmark of GBM tumors is the existence of hypoxic zones which have been shown to be enriched in GSCs (73). Indeed, hypoxia directly supports GSCs self-renewal as well as controls stem cell plasticity and non-GSCs reprogrammation through transcriptional regulation via activation of HIF1 α , HIF2 α , and the Notch pathways, epigenetic regulations and metabolic reprogramming [review in (21, 74)]. HIF2 α also activates c-Myc, another key stem cell regulator. Hypoxia also causes the secretion by GSCs of several soluble factors such as TGF- β , an activator of EMT that favors the dedifferentiation of tumor cells, or VEGF and SDF-1 to promote angiogenesis by recruiting mesenchymal stem cells and myeloid cells (71). Other secreted factors induced by hypoxia also include CXCR4, the glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), Serpin B9, Oct4, lysyl oxidase (LOX), hypoxia inducible gene 2 (HIG2), all these factors being involved in the maintenance and proliferation of GSCs [(74, 75)].

These findings highlight the critical role of the TME in regulating the differentiation status of tumor cells and the plasticity of GSCs and non-GSCs hierarchy. Importantly, each subtype is associated with a particular environment, the MES GSCs being located in hypoxic niches while the PN GSCs are in perivascular niches.

METABOLIC PHENOTYPES OF GSCS

Dynamic changes also occur at the bioenergetic machinery level which strongly contributes to tumor heterogeneity. Indeed, the ability of the tumor mass to face the large need for both biomass precursors and ATP production required by intense tumor proliferation, mainly relies on the metabolic plasticity of cancer cells.

Altered Metabolism Is a Hallmark of All Cancer Cells

In normal cells, glucose homeostasis is reciprocally controlled by catalytic glycolysis/oxidative phosphorylation and the anabolic neogluconeogenesis pathway. In the catabolic reaction, glucose is converted to pyruvate which can be further metabolized to mitochondrial acetylCoA to fuel the Tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), or to cytosolic lactate. Importantly, whereas OXPHOS is bioenergetically highly efficient with 36 molecules of ATP produced from one molecule of glucose, the direct conversion of glucose to lactate, usually occurring in absence of oxygen, produces only 2 molecules of ATP. Paradoxally, in 1924, Otto Warburg discovered that tumor cells use large amounts of glucose to produce lactate, even in the presence of oxygen (Figure 1). This counter intuitive energy generation pathway occurs in most cancer cells, independently of mitochondrial functional integrity. In fact, by increasing their glycolytic and anaplerotic fluxes, tumor cells cope with increased bioenergetic as well as biosynthetic needs. This finding resulted in the development of 2-[18F]-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography (PET) to detect glucose uptake and lactate production for tumor imaging. In 2011, altered energy metabolism has been integrated as a fundamental core hallmark of cancer cells (76).

Traditionally, metabolic reprogramming is viewed as driven by oncogenic gain-of-function events or loss of tumorsuppressors. For example, tumor suppressor gene p53, mutated in more than 50% of human cancers, including GBM, triggers glycolysis besides its key roles in genetic instability, tumor progression, and metastasis. Loss of PTEN leads to the constitutive activation of AKT1, which stimulates glucose uptake by enhancing GLUT4 expression and activating HK2 (77, 78). Finally, activation of c-MYC also induces glycolysis by inducing LDH-A and PDK1 expression facilitating the production of lactate (79). Interestingly, in the past 2 decades, it was shown that loss-of-function mutations of the TCA cycle enzymes succinate dehydrogenase and fumarate hydratase were implicated in

the pathogenesis of paragangliomas, pheochromocytomas, and renal cell cancers (80). Notably, mutations in the genes encoding isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH)-1 and IDH-2 have been described in 5% of de novo GBM and more than 90% of secondary GBM [review in (81)]. In fact, since 2016, the CNS WHO divided GBM in 2 main groups (1) IDH-wildtype (about 90 % of cases), which corresponds most frequently to de novo GBM and predominates in patients over 55 years of age, and (2) IDH-mutant (about 10 % of cases), corresponding to secondary Glioblastoma arising from lower grade diffuse glioma and preferentially arises in younger patients (1). Of note, in GBM, IDH mutants are consistently classified as PN. Tumor-derived IDH mutations disrupt their normal catalytic activity that converts isocitrate to α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) to a remarkable neomorphic activity that converts α -KG to D-2-hydroxyglutarate (D-2-HG), now referred to as an oncometabolite (82). Besides being involved in multiple metabolic pathways, α-KG is also a co-factor for several α-KGdependent dioxygenases including prolylhydroxylases (PHD) involved in HIF stabilization, histone demethylases and the TET family dioxygenases involved in epigenetic modifications. Interestingly, D-2-HG that is structurally highly similar to α -KG, acts as a competitive inhibitor leading to dioxygenases inhibition and singular methylation profile.

Importantly, these mutations in genes encoding for important metabolic enzymes raised the possibility that under certain conditions, altered metabolism could be the cause and not the consequence of cancer transformation. In line with this challenging notion, several studies have evidenced a retrograde mitochondrial-to-nucleus signaling. For example, disruption of mitochondrial integrity generates singular nuclear genes expression profiles, including genes involved in metabolism (83). Thus, tumor cells might exhibit increased metabolic autonomy in maintaining an anabolic phenotype with oncogene and tumorsuppressor gene originated through evolution as components of metabolic regulation rather than cancer-driving mutations driving metabolic pathways (84). This notion would explain why cancer cells with different genetic alterations display similar metabolic phenotype whereas cancer cells with identical genetic alterations have different metabolism.

Metabolic Plasticity of GSCs

In contrast to the proliferating tumor mass, GSCs are slowly proliferating and reside in specific niches requiring constant metabolic adjustments in order to adapt to transient bioenergetic crisis caused by hypoxia or nutrients deprivation. While they also display metabolic alterations, the metabolism of GSCs have been shown to deeply influence their maintenance and survival.

GSCs Rely on Both Oxidative and Non-oxidative Glucose Metabolism

GSCs, as most CSCs, have been described as relying mostly on glycolysis. Glucose is uptaken by the cells through the glucose transporters (GLUT), in particular GLUT1 and GLUT3, and converted to pyruvate through several enzymatic reactions (**Figure 1**). Pyruvate represents a critical metabolic control point, as it can be converted to lactate by LDH-A or imported within the



transporter GLUT and then converted to pyruvate through several enzymes. All along this pathway, the glycolytic products are diverted from this main metabolic road to fuel other biosynthetic pathways such as the PPP as well as lipids and amino acids biosynthesis. PKM2 plays a key role in this dynamic process through conformational modulation. Glycolytic pyruvate will then either be converted to lactate or fuel mitochondrial OXPHOS and the TCA cycle. Another key metabolite that can fuel the TCA is glutamate once converted to α KG. Glutamate is produced either by GLS from glutamine or from glucose. Glutamate is involved in several biosynthesis as well as mitochondrial anaplerosis. Glutamate is also involved in glutathione synthesis, directly and indirectly by providing cysteine to the cells. α -KG, α -ketoglutarate; FAS, Fatty acid synthase; FBP1, Fructose-1,6 bisphosphatase 1; GCL, glutamate-cysteine ligase; GLS, Glutaminase; GS, Glutamine synthesias; GLUT, Glucose transporter 1; HK2, Hexokinase 2; IDH, Isocitrate dehydrogenase; IDHA, Lactate dehydrogenase A; MCT, Monocarboxylase transporter; MK, Mevalonate kinase; OAA, Oxaloacetate; PC, Pyruvate carboxylase; PDH, Pyruvate dehydrogenase; PDK, Pyruvate dehydrogenase; Kinase; PKM2, Pyruvate kinase M2; PPP, Pentose phosphate pathway; TCA, Tricarboxylic acid cycle.

mitochondria to be converted to acetyl coenzyme A (AcetylCoA) by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) to fuel the TCA cycle. Activation of the transcription of both Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase (PDK), which phosphorylates and inactivates the catalytic domain of PDH, and the Lactate dehydrogenase A (LDH-A), in particular through HIF-1, has been reported in GSCs. As a result, pyruvate is actively shunted away from the mitochondria and converted to lactate by LDH-A, corresponding to a nonoxidative glucose metabolism. However, Marin-Valencia et al. have elegantly demonstrated using 13C-nutrient labeling in orthotopic murine models that GSCs are not confined to nonoxidative glycolysis (85). Indeed, they show that pyruvate is converted to lactate but also channeled through PDH with a significant contribution of glucose carbons to the TCA cycle. Collectively, these results demonstrate that GSCs use glucose to produce energy and biosynthetic precursors through both non-oxidative and mitochondrial oxidative pathways. Since these tracers are not radioactive, this approach is feasible with GBM patients when tumor resection is planned in the course of the treatment. Importantly, similar metabolic profiles of both oxidative and non-oxidative glucose fates were observed in extracts of surgically-resected tumors obtained from GBM patients infused with 13C-Glucose (86).

Furthermore, depending on oxygen availability, a reciprocal metabolic switch has been reported between glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), an alternative anabolic pathway to glycolysis, which produces ribose-5-phosphate and NADPH for nucleic acids and fatty acids synthesis in GSCs.

Indeed, anabolic PPP is highly active in rapidly proliferating tumor cells but suppressed under hypoxia, switching to glycolysis (87). The isoform M2 of pyruvate kinase (PKM2) plays a critical role in this metabolic switch. In contrast to PKM1, which exists in a constitutively tetrameric active form, PKM2 exists under a dimeric inactive form and a tetrameric active form. The dimeric PKM2 results in the accumulation of upstream glycolytic intermediates, in particular fructose-1,6-phosphate (FBP), favoring their redistribution toward other biosynthetic pathways through the PPP. However, accumulation of FBP induces the association of dimeric forms into tetramers, which in turn leads to lactate production, until the level of FBP is reduced leading to the tetramer dissociation into dimers. Thus, the dynamic dimer:tetramer ratio of PKM2 determines whether carbons from glucose are converted into lactate via pyruvate or channeled into building block synthesis.

Mitochondrial Function Is Critical for GSCs Survival

While the above reported studies show that GSCs mainly rely on glycolysis, several other studies showed that these cells possess a preference for mitochondrial oxidative metabolism. In many tumor types including Glioblastoma, growing evidence has demonstrated that quiescent or slow-cycling CSCs are less glycolytic, consume less glucose, and produce less lactate, whereas they contain higher ATP levels than their differentiated cancer counterparts (88). Coupling between EMT and enhanced mitochondrial respiration has also been reported. Moreover, some CSCs have an increased mitochondrial mass and enhanced oxygen consumption rates (89, 90). One striking difference with non-GSCs cancer cells is that GSCs lack mitochondrial reserve capacity suggesting that they fully oxidize substrates pool in contrast to differentiated cells exhibiting significant bioenergetic reserves.

In either case, mitochondrial function is critical and plays a crucial role in CSCs functions including stemness and drug resistance. Inhibition of PGC1 α , the master regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis, reduces stemness properties of breast CSCs (91) while NANOG, a pluripotency gene, induces tumorigenesis through metabolic reprogramming to OXPHOS and fatty acid metabolism (92). Increased OXPHOS as well as PGC1 α expression seems to be related to chemoresistance in CSCs (93–95). In fact, mitochondrial mass tracking using fluorescent probes has been described as a simple and efficient tool to identify CSCs (96). Thus, mitochondrial metabolism is critical for GSCs maintenance.

Glutamine Metabolism in GSCs

In addition to glucose, amino acids can also be channeled into the mitochondrial TCA, as their catabolism results in the production of TCA intermediates. Glutamine has an important role in cell growth and energy metabolism, and glutamine addiction has been proposed as a mark of GBM (97). Following the entry of glutamine into the cell via its transporter ASCT2 (or SLC1A5), the first step of glutamine catabolism is its conversion into glutamate through glutaminase (GLS) (Figure 1). Glutamate is a major metabolic hub: it can replenish the cells in lipid biosynthesis precursors and TCA intermediates through mitochondrial anaplerosis, generate de novo reduced glutathione, a major anti-oxidant molecule (98) either directly through its combination with cysteine by glutamate-cysteine ligase (GCL) or indirectly allowing cysteine import through cysteine/glutamate transporter Xc (or SLC7A11), or involved in the synthesis of non-essential amino acids, purine, and pyrimidine through aminotransferases (99). In human hematopoietic stem cells, glutamine availability modulates their differentiation either toward the erythroid or the myelomonocytic lineage (100). In GSCs, glutamine deprivation reduces cell proliferation, in particular by reducing mitochondrial anaplerosis and energy production (39). However, glutamine addiction has not been observed in all GSCs (39, 101). Indeed, GLS activity and glutamine anaplerosis is dispensable in GSCs expressing Glutamine synthetase (GS), which controls glutamine homeostasis by catalyzing the opposite reaction of GLS and is highly expressed in GSCs as compared to tumor cells. Based on these studies, we proposed a model where in GS-positive cells, glucose is used to synthetize glutamate that is subsequently converted into glutamine through GS to sustain nucleotides biosynthesis. In contrast, in GS-negative cells, or when GS was inhibited pharmacologically or molecularly, glutamine deprivation decreased cell proliferation as well as self-renewal mostly through reduced nucleotides biosynthesis (Figure 2). Importantly, glutamine-dependency is not observed in non-GSCs and is restricted to one particular GSCs subtype, the MES one.

Lipid Metabolism of GSCs

Lipid metabolism is another source of metabolic intermediates and energy for processes involved in cell transformation and tumor progression. Cancer cells can fulfill their avidity for lipids either by increasing exogenous lipid uptake or endogenous production through de novo synthesis (Figure 1). A major outcome of both glucose and glutamine metabolism is the production of citrate to produce biomass needs required for cell proliferation. After its import into mitochondria, glycolytic pyruvate is decarboxylated into acetylCoA, which will be condensed with the glutamine-derived TCA intermediate oxaloacetate (OAA) to generate citrate. Citrate can then be exported out of the mitochondria and cleaved by ATP citrate lvase (ACL) to regenerate OAA and acetylCoA. Interestingly, in absence of glutamine, some tumor cells generate both acetylCoA and OAA directly from glucose through the pyruvate carboxylase (PC) pathway (102). Glutamine can also contribute to acetylcoA production in the absence of glucose. Usually, glutaminederived glutamate is converted to the TCA cycle intermediate αKG mainly through transamination, which transfers nitrogen from glutamate to alanine or aspartate, since Glutamate Dehydrogenase (GDH) activity is usually inhibited in cancer cells (98). In absence of glucose, cells engage an alternative pathway of α KG production either through enhanced activity of GDH (103) or reductive carboxylation through reverse activity of isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) to generate isocitrate and subsequently citrate (104). This latter pathway has been demonstrated when mitochondria are defective (105) or under hypoxia (106, 107). Importantly, glutamine-reductive carboxylation shown to be of particular importance for sustaining cell proliferation has also been observed in GBM cells, including GSCs [(98), Oizel unpublished data].

Besides lipid anabolism, lipid catabolism seems critical for CSCs self-renewal. Indeed, some studies have shown that cancer stem cells can also rely on active fatty acid oxidation for their maintenance and function (108). For example, inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by etomoxir decreases viability and tumorosphere formation in breast cancer stem cells while it has no effect on non-stem cancer cells (109).

Finally, the mevalonate pathway is an essential metabolic pathway allowing the production of 5-carbon building blocks providing cells with bioactive molecules, in particular cholesterol and coenzyme Q as well as molecules involved in signal transduction, which have been shown to be crucial for different cellular processes, including cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival [review in (110)]. Upregulation of several enzymes upstream of the mevalonate pathway has been associated with CSCs enrichment at least in breast tumor cells (111).

In conclusion, GSCs dispose of numerous bioenergetic and biosynthetic redundant pathways in order to fulfill their requirement to sustain their survival, growth, and invasion. All GSCs are able to sustain the emergence of a primary tumor *in vivo*, independently of their predominant glycolytic or oxidative metabolism. Their metabolic flexibility allows their adaptation to harsh microenvironments, where nutrients or oxygen can be scarce. Importantly, in contrast to non-GSC, their metabolic dependency to OXPHOS sets



mitochondrial metabolism as potential therapeutic target to efficiently eradicate GSCs.

Drivers of GSCs Metabolic Phenotypes Metabolic Phenotypes of GSCs Mirror Molecular Signature

Several studies have characterized the metabolic phenotype of the different subtypes of GSCs, either based on stemness expression markers such as CD133 expression or on the molecular signature (39, 112-117). Interestingly, all studies converge toward the proneural subtype, also characterized as CD133 positive or full stem-like phenotype, displaying a strong glycolytic metabolism (Figure 2). In contrast, the mesenchymal subtype, CD133 negative or restricted stem-like phenotype, displays higher metabolic flexibility with both glycolytic and oxidative metabolisms. In particular, as described previously, glutamine dependency relies on GS activity, which is only observed in MES GSCs. Furthermore, in contrast to PN GSCs, MES GSCs easily bypass targeted metabolic inhibition through a wide range of metabolic adaptation. Importantly, these findings highlight that first, different GSCs can have similar metabolic profile despite being derived from independant tumors with different driver mutations. Conversely GSCs derived from identical tumor can exhibit different metabolic features depending on tumor specimen localization or molecular signature. Second, the molecular signature correlates with metabolic flexibility and the spatial distribution of various TME, namely hypoxic and perivascular niches. For example, in agreement with they dominant glycolytic phenotype, the proneural subtype localized in tumor zones surrounded by functional vasculature will easily have access to oxygen and blood glucose. In contrast, the mesenchymal GSCs localized in hypoxic zone display higher metabolic flexibility allowing them to use a wide range of nutrients in order to sustain their survival and proliferation in a relatively poor microenvironment. Importantly, these various metabolic features of GSCs residing in different tumor areas allow the establishment of a metabolic cooperation between tumor cells.

Tumor Microenvironment Mitigates Metabolism of GSCs

GSCs are able to adapt their metabolism by displaying various metabolic and bioenergetic abilities depending on energyrich nutrients or energy-producing mitochondrial metabolites. This is usually dictated by oxygen and nutrients supply from the TME either through the tumor vasculature or through metabolic cooperation between cells which is often not uniformly distributed across the tumor bulk. Several studies have shown the impact of the TME on CSCs metabolism, in particular in GBM. First, as we previously described, one remarkable characteristic of GBM microenvironment is hypoxia due to aberrant tumor vasculature. Low oxygen conditions are mainly mediated by the transcription factors HIF, which regulate the expression of a large panel of genes involved in several key biological functions, including cell metabolism (118). In particular, HIF- 1α activates the transcription of genes all along the glycolytic pathway, from the glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT3 to key glycolytic enzymes such as hexokinases (HK), PKM2, or LDH-A. Besides directly activating aerobic glycolysis, hypoxia also triggers the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), a characteristic of embryonic development playing critical roles during organogenesis. Accumulating evidences indicate that EMT is of paramount importance in a plethora of cancerrelated events, including acquisition of both stem cell-like properties and mesenchymal characteristics (74). During tumor progression, EMT has been shown to increase the ability of cancer cells to invade and dissiminate, as described previously, to favor CSCs emergence. Among the transcription factors involved in EMT phenotype, Snail has been identified as a key repressor of Fructose1,6 biphosphatase (FBP1) expression in breast cancer stem cells (119). In this study, Snail silences FBP1 expression through methylation of its promoter, providing metabolic advantages to breast CSCs. Indeed, loss of FBP1 induces glycolysis, increased glucose uptake, macromolecules biosynthesis and a constitutively active form of PKM2.

Metabolic reprogramming can be accelerated by TME acidification (120). In fact, lactate is not only a metabolic waste for glycolytic cells but is also a metabolic fuel for oxidative cells (121). Indeed, in 2008 Sonveaux et al. suggested a symbiotic relationship among cancer cells in the TME where cancer cells distal to a blood vessel would be deprived of oxygen in contrast to cancer cells close to the blood vessel (Figure 2) (122). In this model, perivascular cells would spare glucose for hypoxic cells. Then, the distal hypoxic cells would convert glucose to lactate, which could then be imported into perivascular cells and converted to pyruvate for mitochondrial oxidation. This metabolic interplay between glycolytic and oxidative cells, called the "reverse Warburg effect," also occurs with the stromal compartment that surrounds the tumor. Indeed, the Lisanti group showed that stromal cells, in particular cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs), increase their aerobic glycolysis resulting from enhanced mitochondrial turnover and generate excessive lactate, pyruvate, and other ketones bodies, which are secreted into the intracellular space (123). These metabolites are then re-used by cancer cells for OXPHOS. Thus, the stromal cells feed the cancer cells with lactate and other metabolites and this metabolic symbiosis limits TME acidification. The utilization by cancer cells of the high-energy stromal metabolites pyruvate, lactate, and ketones may increase the transcriptional expression of gene profiles normally associated with stemness, including genes commonly upregulated in embryonic stem cells (121). Interestingly, hypoxic tumor cells through mitochondrial reductive carboxylation, independently of oxygen availability, can also use these metabolites. In the brain, glycolytic oligodendrocytes and astrocytes also export lactate through MCT1 and MCT4 (124). Furthermore, astrocytes, which have been shown to highly express GS, generate and secrete glutamine, which can then be used by GS negative tumor cells to support their growth (101).

Finally, CSCs communicate with the surrounding microenvironment by direct cell-cell interaction through gap junctions to execute coordinated programs required for growth, differentiation, and therapeutic response. In the past decade, several publications have reported an important role of tunneling nanotubes (TNT) in direct intercellular communication in GBM. TNT are long cytoplasmic bridges that enable long-range and direct communication, including metabolites, mitochondria and vesicles transfer, between connected cells (125). Mitochondria are the TNT cargos most widely studied so far. TNT-mediated mitochondria transfer was reported in GBM but also in many different cancer types, both between cancer cells, and between cancer cells and normal cells of the microenvironment such as MSC (126). A direct effect of the TNT-mediated transfer of mitochondria is the modification of the target cell energetic metabolism, with increased OXPHOS and ATP production (126-128). This has functional consequences for cancer cells as it enhances their proliferative and migratory properties as well as their capacity to develop resistance to therapeutic treatment.

METABOLIC TARGETING OF GSCs

GSC involved in GBM poor response to treatment and relapse represent the tumor cornerstone. With the identification of key metabolic features involved in their survival, growth, invading properties and self-renewal, one possible therapeutic strategy would be targeting the biochemical energetic reactions occurring in GSCs.

Inhibition of IDH-Mutant

Since IDH mutations are present in only 5% of de novo GBM while its occurrence increases to 95% in secondary GBM (129), targeting IDH-induced metabolic alteration might open new therapeutic avenues, at least in secondary GBM. As described previously, IDH mutations result in metabolic alteration, including the production of the oncometabolite D2-HG, epigenetic dysregulation via inhibition of aKGdependent histone and DNA demethylases, and differentiation blockade. Several compounds inhibiting IDH-mutants have been developed and tested in anti-tumor therapy [see review in (130)]. The majority of these studies have been realized in another tumor type, the acute myeloid leukemia (AML), which has been shown to frequently harbor IDH-mutant. Several mouse models have been engineered to express IDH-mutant specifically in hematopoietic tissue leading to hematologic malignancy (131). Genetic knockdown or pharmacologic inhibition of IDH-mutant in these models led to a decrease in D2-HG production and tumor cell growth while inducing cellular differentiation. These encouraging preclinical results provided a proof-of-concept for a targeted treatment of IDH mutants in AML and clinical trials are underway for AML patients (130).

These compounds are now tested in GBM. However, they may not be as effective in all IDH-mutant tumors. Indeed, inhibitors of IDH-mutants delay growth and promote differentiation in some IDH-mutated GBM cells but not all (132, 133).

Furthermore, despite a robust ability to lower D2-HG in GBM cells and tumors, they are unable to reverse epigenetic deregulation. Nevertheless, the presence of IDH-mutant and/or high levels of D2-HG might introduce therapeutic vulnerability to different agents. For example, tumors harboring an IDH mutation display increased sensitivity to inhibition of oxidative mitochondrial metabolism (134), depletion of coenzyme NAD (133) and chemotherapy (135). Importantly, other studies have shown both in vitro and in patients that inhibiting mutant IDH could confer radiation resistance to some therapies or can antagonize the effects of radiation therapy in glioma (136, 137). Thus, whereas encouraging results have been observed for AML patients, IDH-mutant targeting in GBM definitively requires more investigations. In particular, long-term studies are definitively required to determine the impact of these compounds on tumor relapse in order to define whether these compounds also target cancer stem-like cells.

Metabolic Targeting Requires Multiple Bioenergetic Pathway Inhibitions

CSCs display highly plastic metabolic profile allowing them to fulfill bioenergetic requirements and this flexibility seems to be required for their survival (138). Since CSCs have been shown to be enriched in mitochondrial mass and relying heavily on OXPHOS, disrupting this pathway has become attractive as a therapeutic strategy (Figure 3). Accordingly, different classes of mitochondrial inhibitors have been reported to decrease stemness and invasion properties as well as increasing cell death. For example, a large number of retrospective clinical studies have revealed that Metformin, a first-line diabetes drug, is linked to cancer prevention [review in (139)]. In fact, Metformin directly inhibits mitochondrial complex I of the respiratory chain and OXPHOS activity (140). As a consequence, this drug induces cell death in cancer cells. However, this effect is observed only upon glucose deprivation. First, this study highlights the metabolic plasticity of cancer cells, which are able to survive to OXPHOS inhibition by Metformin when glucose is present. Similarly, in glutamine-addicted cells, GSCs easily switch from glutamine-based to glucose-based metabolism to sustain their survival (39). Second, to overcome their metabolic flexibilities, an efficient metabolic targeting will require the blockade of several metabolic pathways. Indeed, in preclinical cancer models, dual inhibition of both glycolysis and OXPHOS, respectively, using the glucose analog 2-DG and metformin, has been shown to effectively reduce tumor growth and dissemination (141). Similarly, phenformin, another biguanide drug, leads to cancer cell death through metabolic catastrophe only when combined with genetic disruption of MCT involved in cancer metabolic symbiosis (142).

Interestingly, since mitochondria evolved from bacteria, many classes of FDA-approved antibiotics, recently emerged as additional inhibitors of mitochondrial biogenesis and functionality (143, 144). For example, doxycycline, very welltolerated in patients, could be re-purposed clinically as a "safe" mitochondrial inhibitor, targeting mitochondrial biogenesis in CSCs (145).

As described above, TME provides cancer cells and GSCs with various bioenergetic nutrients. At the molecular level, MCT play a key role in the metabolic symbiosis, whereby lactate produced by one cell type is made use of as a fuel by another one. Simultaneous inhibition of both MCT and OXPHOS might represent a candidate strategy for combinatorial metabolic targeting. At the cellular level, GSCs are known to closely interact with endothelial cells (66, 70). First, endothelial cells promote cancer cells stemness in GBM (146). Second, endothelial cells, and in particular radiation-resistant endothelial cells, can protect stem cells and tumor cells from radiation damage (147-149). Furthermore, we recently showed that radiation induced metabolic mitochondrial alteration in these radiationresistant endothelial cells (150). Thus, disrupting the tumor-TME interaction that support GSCs survival is another approach to killing GSCs.

Metabolic Targeting to Sensitize GSCs to Radiation

Hypoxic niches protect cancer cells from radiation-induced killing since oxygen is a critical determinant of cell response to radiation (151). A certain degree of reoxygenation can be achieved in some tumors after radiation by a process where the surviving hypoxic tumor cells become better oxygenated due to the aerobic population being killed. However, this process is highly variable within tumors. The HIF-1 α pathway enables tumor cells to survive by changing glucose metabolism toward a glycolytic phenotype, by inducing angiogenesis and by regulating pH balance and proliferation rate.

Differentiation of normal stem cells is associated with a metabolic shift from glycolysis to mitochondrial OXPHOS while iPS reprogramming is accompanied by the reverse modifications (152, 153). Since the glycolytic switch occurs before acquisition of pluripotent markers, mitigating metabolism to induce GSCs differentiation appears as an appealing therapeutic avenue. Importantly, cancer cells, as normal cells, are more sensitive to conventional treatments, including radiation, upon differentiation (154). Differentiation therapy has been exploited with Bone Morphogenetic Protein-4 (BMP4) treatment, to induce glial differentiation and reduce tumor growth in gliomas. Interestingly, after this treatment, GSCs are unable to form tumors after transplantation in series in immunocompromised animals (155). Collectively, these studies suggest a new treatment for GBM that would force the GSCs to enter differentiation, resulting in sensitization of GSCs to treatment and as a result the reduction of the tumor mass and relapse occurrence (Figure 3). In agreement with this idea, Dichloroacetate (DCA), an indirect PDH activator, leads to both GSCs differentiation as well as increased radiation sensitivity (156, 157). One report showed that DCA, already used in the clinical treatment of genetic mitochondrial diseases, may improve clinical outcome in some patients with GBM (158). Following this study, 4 phase 1 clinical trials have investigated the chronic safety of oral DCA doses in adults with recurrent malignant brain tumors or other solid tumors (159-161). However, whereas these clinical trials showed that DCA was generally well-tolerated despite a peripheral



neuropathy in some patients, there was in general no strong indication for a relevant effect of DCA in tumor response.

Other metabolic inhibitors have been involved in GSCs differentiation. As described previously, the oncometabolite D2-HG, produced by IDH mutant, is also involved in cell differentiation (162). Furthermore, inhibitors of LDH decrease GBM cell proliferation, trigger cellular apoptosis and more importantly induce GSCs differentiation (163). EGCG, a bioactive polyphenol present in green tea and described to inhibit glutamine metabolism, has been shown to decrease stemness while increasing Temozolomide efficiency (39, 164). The effect of their use in combination with radiation has not been studied yet and would be worthy of further investigation.

Other studies have shown that metabolic targeting increased treatment efficiency, independently of GSCs differentiation. For example, modulation of mitochondrial metabolism influences radiation sensitivity both *in vitro* and in preclinical models (165). The glucose analog 2-DG, which causes a significant reduction of ATP levels by inhibiting glucose catabolism especially in cells with mitochondrial defects or under hypoxia (166), has entered numerous clinical trials and seems to potentiate the effect of radiotherapy in patients with brain tumors (167). Collectively, these studies suggest that targeting metabolism may offer benefit in GBM treatment, in particular in combination with radiation. However, further investigations are definitively required in particular in preclinical studies.

Metabolic Targeting to Improve Immunotherapy Efficacy

The immune cells being an important component of the tumor microenvironment, cancer immunotherapy has emerged as a powerful new therapeutic approach either by active, passive or adoptive immunotherapies [review in (168)] (Figure 3). Immunotherapy usually boosts antitumor immune responses either by adoptive T cells transfer, chimeric-antigen receptor T-cells, or monoclonal antibodies. For example, cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and the programmed cell death protein 1 pathway (PD-1/PD-L1) checkpoint inhibitors are currently arising as a novel strategy to fight cancer, including GBM. However, the highly immunosuppressive TME combined with low GBM cells immunogenicity limits immunotherapy efficacy. Furthermore, several recent reports have described a variety of "metabolic checkpoints" including glucose and amino acid depletion, hypoxia, high acidity and lactate accumulation, that impairs TIL ability to survive, proliferate and function (169). Interestingly, the immune checkpoint blockade favors T cell activation while inhibiting cancer cells proliferation through metabolic alterations. For example, blocking PD-1 and PD-L1 can reduce glycolysis level in cancer cells by inhibiting the mTOR pathway (170). As a consequence, tumor glucose uptake and lactate secretion decrease, restoring glucose availability in TME. Interestingly, increased glucose availability in TME in response to immune checkpoint inhibitors has been shown to improve T-cell glycolysis and cytotoxic function in a melanoma murine model (171). However, other studies have shown that the upregulation of both tumor PD-L1 and CTLA-4 drives T cells exhaustion through metabolic alterations. Recent publications also underline the reprogrammation of the immunosuppressive TME through metabolic alterations of tumor cells. The best example is the overexpression of the C4-metabolite carrier UCP2 in melanoma cells triggering the engagement of anti-tumor immune responses following CXCL10 secretion in the TME (172). Thus, tumor metabolism modulates tumor immune evasion through nutrients availability for T cells and reprogrammation of the TME.

Besides leveraging the body's own immune system, immunotherapy strategy may involve adoptive T cell transfer which offers the potential to overcome one of the significant limitations associated with tumor patients who are often immune compromised. Importantly, in such settings, Vy2V82T cells are particularly interesting since they are able to recognize and kill most tumor cells in a major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-unrestricted fashion and independently of the number of tumor mutations. Instead, $V\gamma 2V\delta 2\,T$ cells respond to the presence of small isoprenoid metabolites, such as self isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP) in a process requiring the butyrophilin-3A1 protein, an immunoglobulin superfamily protein present on all normal and tumor cells. Accumulation of IPP in tumor cells can be achieved by inhibiting the Farnesyl diphosphate synthase (FDPS), an enzyme downstream of the mevalonate pathway, by aminobiphosphonate compounds such as zoledronate. The mevalonate metabolic pathway provides cells with bioactive molecules, in particular cholesterol and coenzyme Q as well as molecules involved in signal transduction, which have been shown to be crucial for different cellular processes, including cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival [review in (110)]. In some tumor types, upregulation of several enzymes upstream of this metabolic pathway has been associated with CSCs enrichment (111). Interestingly, we have recently shown that allogeneic transfer of human Vy9V82T cells in orthotopic murine models of human GBM enriched in GSCs leads to the efficient elimination of cancer cells, including GSCs (173). These results are in agreement with previous pre-clinical studies showing that statins could be used as anticancer agents in Glioblastoma (174, 175). Interestingly, asides from metabolic targeting, this paper also raised the idea that allogeneic transfer of human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ could be potentiated with the combinatorial use of monoclonal GD2-antibody. Whereas, GD2 is also expressed in gliomas and in some normal structures of the brain, the monoclonal O-acetyl-GD2 antibody recognizes GSCs and more importantly is tumor specific (176). Thus testing the combinatorial effect of the monoclonal O-acetyl-GD2 antibody with adoptive transfer of human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ should be investigated.

The Limits of GSCs Metabolic Targeting

Several drug targeting metabolic pathways have been investigated in human randomized trials after the promising results obtained *in vitro* and in preclinical models. The majority of these metabolic inhibitors has been well-tolerated and do not interfere with normal cellular metabolism in a clinically meaningful manner. Unfortunately, few of these drugs have shown encouraging

results in patients to date. In vitro studies provide a solid platform to include metabolism as a definite hallmark of cancers and to consider the metabolic profile of CSCs as a relevant therapeutic target. However, one difficulty is to gain integral information on which bioenergetic and biosynthetic reactions of GSCs are key players in tumor progression and/or response to therapy, in particular in light of the inter- and intra-tumor heterogeneity. Furthermore, contradictory metabolic phenotypes have been obtained between in vitro studies and in vivo studies. For example, ovarian CSCs display a strong oxidative metabolism in vitro while being highly glycolytic in vivo (177). Thus, while in vitro models are definitively improving to better recapitulate the TME, the lack of a relevant TME remains one of the main pitfalls in studying CSCs in vitro. Indeed, in this review, we provided numerous evidences of the importance of the tumor niche in driving CSCs bioenergetic and biosynthetic deregulation.

One concern about metabolic targeting is that the adaptation of metabolic pathways in conjunction with the use of alternative nutrients could overcome the targeted metabolic inhibition in GSCs. Indeed, it is likely that in many cases in which glycolysis is inhibited, cells will respond by increasing OXPHOS. One way to circumvent this compensation is to combine several metabolic inhibitors. The exploitation of the metabolic reprogramming to selectively target tumor cells may also be limited by the existence of multiple isoforms of the enzymes and the fact that small-molecule inhibitors may not distinguish between the predominant isoform expressed by cancer cells and the isoforms expressed by normal cells. Developing small-molecule inhibitors that preferentially inhibit the cancer-specific isoform could be challenging.

Metabolic targeting has minimal efficacy by itself and tumor cells may develop mechanisms to adapt and resist to metabolic inhibitors. In contrast, combination therapy seems more promising. Indeed, radiation targets highly proliferating tumor cells while sparing low-proliferating GSCs. Thus, targeting GSCs metabolism appears as new therapeutic strategies to successfully eradicate them. Some metabolic inhibitors such as inhibitors of glucose transporters, hexokinase or PKM2 agents have been clinically disappointing with no beneficial effect in GBM patients, alone or combined with radiation therapy either because of toxicity, poor tumor penetrance, or lack of efficacy per se (178). However, phase I/II clinical trials have shown that 2-DG administered orally was well-tolerated and triggers a moderate increase in the survival of GBM patient treated with radiation therapy, with a significant improvement in the quality of life and better protection of normal brain tissue (167). A phase III multicentric trial to evaluate the efficacy of the combined treatment is in progress. In this regard, the use of metabolic targeting as an adjuvant therapy to increase the efficacy of conventional treatment might be a better strategy.

CONCLUSION

The crucial role played by GSCs in tumor initiation, progression, recurrence, and resistance to therapy indicates that new therapeutic strategies require the eradication of this population. The inter- and intra-tumoral heterogeneities combined with the

variable patterns of vascularization and nutrients availabilities might directly draw the metabolic landscape of Glioblastoma rather than oncogenic genetic events. Whereas, GSCs metabolic plasticity represents a major challenge in the design of efficient therapies, tumor metabolic targeting holds great therapeutic potential in improving cancer treatment as shown by encouraging results observed using IDH mutant inhibitors in AML. In Glioblastoma, we believe that metabolic targeting has to be used in combination with standard anticancer reagents such as radiotherapy. Thus, while a well-defined metabolic portrait of GSCs still needs to be depicted to fully exploit GSCs metabolic vulnerabilities, in particular how to prevent their metabolic flexibilities and to define the best therapeutic window combining metabolic inhibition, immunotherapy and radiotherapy, we believe that GSCs metabolic targeting holds great therapeutic potential as an adjuvant therapy.

REFERENCES

- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 131:803–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Taphoorn MJ, Janzer RC, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2009) 10:459–66. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70025-7
- Gusyatiner O, Hegi ME. Glioma epigenetics: from subclassification to novel treatment options. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 51:50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.11.010
- Garnier D, Meehan B, Kislinger T, Daniel P, Sinha A, Abdulkarim B, et al. Divergent evolution of temozolomide resistance in glioblastoma stem cells is reflected in extracellular vesicles and coupled with radiosensitization. *Neuro Oncol.* (2018) 20:236–48. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox142
- Johnson BE, Mazor T, Hong C, Barnes M, Aihara K, McLean CY, et al. Mutational analysis reveals the origin and therapy-driven evolution of recurrent glioma. *Science*. (2014) 343:189–93. doi: 10.1126/science.12 39947
- Wang J, Cazzato E, Ladewig E, Frattini V, Rosenbloom DIS, Zairis S, et al. Clonal evolution of glioblastoma under therapy. *Nat Genet*. (2016) 48:768– 76. doi: 10.1038/ng.3590
- Chen R, Nishimura MC, Bumbaca SM, Kharbanda S, Forrest WF, Kasman IM, et al. A hierarchy of self-renewing tumor-initiating cell types in glioblastoma. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:362–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.049
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature*. (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- Lan X, Jörg DJ, Cavalli FMG, Richards LM, Nguyen LV, Vanner RJ, et al. Fate mapping of human glioblastoma reveals an invariant stem cell hierarchy. *Nature.* (2017) 549:227–32. doi: 10.1038/ nature23666
- Chaffer CL, Brueckmann I, Scheel C, Kaestli AJ, Wiggins PA, Rodrigues LO, et al. Normal and neoplastic nonstem cells can spontaneously convert to a stem-like state. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:7950–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102454108
- Quintana E, Shackleton M, Foster HR, Fullen DR, Sabel MS, Johnson TM, et al. Phenotypic heterogeneity among tumorigenic melanoma cells from patients that is reversible and not hierarchically organized. *Cancer Cell*. (2010) 18:510–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.10.012

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DG and CP: manuscript writing. OR: figures drawing. M-CA-G and FP: scientific discussions and extensive proofreading.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from Ligue contre le cancer, Region Pays de la Loire and LABEX IGO program supported by the National Research Agency via the investment of the future program ANR-11-LABX-0016-01.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Illustrations were realized using Servier Medical Art. We would like to thank Richard Hellman for proofreading of the manuscript.

- Shackleton M, Quintana E, Fearon ER, Morrison SJ. Heterogeneity in Cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. *Cell.* (2009) 138:822–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.017
- Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell. (2014) 14:275–91. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.02.006
- Guelfi S, Duffau H, Bauchet L, Rothhut B, Hugnot J-P. Vascular transdifferentiation in the CNS: a focus on neural and glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Stem Cells Int*. (2016) 2016:2759403. doi: 10.1155/2016/2759403
- Chen J, Li Y, Yu T-SS, McKay RM, Burns DK, Kernie SG, et al. A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. *Nature*. (2012) 488:522–6. doi: 10.1038/nature11287
- Eramo A, Ricci-Vitiani L, Zeuner A, Pallini R, Lotti F, Sette G, et al. Chemotherapy resistance of glioblastoma stem cells. *Cell Death Differ*. (2006) 13:1238–41. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401872
- Bao S, Wu Q, McLendon RE, Hao Y, Shi Q, Hjelmeland AB, et al. Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response. *Nature*. (2006) 444:756–60. doi: 10.1038/nature05236
- Binda E, Visioli A, Giani F, Trivieri N, Palumbo O, Restelli S, et al. Wnt5a drives an invasive phenotype in human glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:996–1007. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1693
- Hu B, Wang Q, Wang YA, Hua S, Sauvé C-EG, Ong D, et al. Epigenetic activation of WNT5A drives glioblastoma stem cell differentiation and invasive growth. *Cell*. (2016) 167:1281–95.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.039
- Krusche B, Ottone C, Clements MP, Johnstone ER, Goetsch K, Lieven H, et al. EphrinB2 drives perivascular invasion and proliferation of glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Elife.* (2016) 5:e14845. doi: 10.7554/eLife.14845
- Heddleston JM, Li Z, McLendon RE, Hjelmeland AB, Rich JN, John M, et al. The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a Cancer stem cell phenotype. *Cell Cycle Georget Tex.* (2009) 8:3274–84. doi: 10.4161/cc.8.20.9701
- Auffinger B, Tobias AL, Han Y, Lee G, Guo D, Dey M, et al. Conversion of differentiated cancer cells into cancer stem-like cells in a glioblastoma model after primary chemotherapy. *Cell Death Differ*. (2014) 21:1119–31. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.31
- Dahan P, Martinez Gala J, Delmas C, Monferran S, Malric L, Zentkowski D, et al. Ionizing radiations sustain glioblastoma cell dedifferentiation to a stemlike phenotype through survivin: possible involvement in radioresistance. *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1543. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.509
- Berezovsky AD, Poisson LM, Cherba D, Webb CP, Transou AD, Lemke NW, et al. Sox2 promotes malignancy in glioblastoma by regulating plasticity and astrocytic differentiation. *Neoplasia*. (2014) 16:193–206.e25. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2014.03.006
- 25. Li Y, Li A, Glas M, Lal B, Ying M, Sang Y, et al. c-Met signaling induces a reprogramming network and supports the glioblastoma

stem-like phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2011) 108:9951-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1016912108

- Phillips HS, Kharbanda S, Chen R, Forrest WF, Soriano RH, Wu TD, et al. Molecular subclasses of high-grade glioma predict prognosis, delineate a pattern of disease progression, and resemble stages in neurogenesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2006) 9:157–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.02.019
- Verhaak RGW, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:98–110. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.020
- Wang Q, Hu B, Hu X, Kim H, Squatrito M, Scarpace L, et al. Tumor evolution of glioma intrinsic gene expression subtype associates with immunological changes in the microenvironment. *Cancer Cells.* (2017) 32:42–56.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.06.003
- Chandran UR, Luthra S, Santana-Santos L, Mao P, Kim SH, Minata M, et al. Gene expression profiling distinguishes proneural glioma stem cells from mesenchymal glioma stem cells. *Genomics Data*. (2015) 5:333–6. doi: 10.1016/j.gdata.2015.07.007
- Jin X, Kim LJY, Wu Q, Wallace LC, Prager BC, Sanvoranart T, et al. Targeting glioma stem cells through combined BMI1 and EZH2 inhibition. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1352–61. doi: 10.1038/nm.4415
- Mao P, Joshi K, Li J, Kim S-H, Li P, Santana-Santos L, et al. Mesenchymal glioma stem cells are maintained by activated glycolytic metabolism involving aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:8644–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221478110
- Alcantara Llaguno SR, Wang Z, Sun D, Chen J, Xu J, Kim E, et al. Adult lineage-restricted CNS progenitors specify distinct glioblastoma subtypes. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:429–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.09.007
- Patel AP, Tirosh I, Trombetta JJ, Shalek AK, Gillespie SM, Wakimoto H, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. *Science*. (2014) 344:1396–401. doi: 10.1126/science.1254257
- Sottoriva A, Spiteri I, Piccirillo SGM, Touloumis A, Collins VP, Marioni JC, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity in human glioblastoma reflects cancer evolutionary dynamics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:4009–14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219747110
- 35. Halliday J, Helmy K, Pattwell SS, Pitter KL, LaPlant Q, Ozawa T, et al. *In vivo* radiation response of proneural glioma characterized by protective p53 transcriptional program and proneural-mesenchymal shift. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:5248–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1321014111
- Ozawa T, Riester M, Cheng Y-K, Huse JT, Squatrito M, Helmy K, et al. Most human non-GCIMP glioblastoma subtypes evolve from a common proneural-like precursor glioma. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 26:288–300. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.06.005
- Touat M, Idbaih A, Sanson M, Ligon KL. Glioblastoma targeted therapy: updated approaches from recent biological insights. *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 28:1457–72. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx106
- Bradshaw A, Wickremsekera A, Tan ST, Peng L, Davis PF, Itinteang T. Cancer stem cell hierarchy in glioblastoma multiforme. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:21. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016.00021
- 39. Oizel K, Chauvin C, Oliver L, Gratas C, Geraldo F, Jarry U, et al. Efficient mitochondrial glutamine targeting prevails over glioblastoma metabolic plasticity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:6292–304. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3102
- Patru C, Romao L, Varlet P, Coulombel L, Raponi E, Cadusseau J, et al. CD133, CD15/SSEA-1, CD34 or side populations do not resume tumor-initiating properties of long-term cultured cancer stem cells from human malignant glio-neuronal tumors. *BMC Cancer*. (2010) 10:66. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-66
- Ludwig K, Kornblum HI. Molecular markers in glioma. J Neurooncol. (2017) 134:505–12. doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2379-y
- Isokpehi RD, Wollenberg Valero KC, Graham BE, Pacurari M, Sims JN, Udensi UK, et al. Secondary data analytics of aquaporin expression levels in glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Inform.* (2015) 14:95–103. doi: 10.4137/CIN.S22058
- Galli R, Binda E, Orfanelli U, Cipelletti B, Gritti A, De Vitis S, et al. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:7011–21. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1364

- 44. Hirschmann-Jax C, Foster AE, Wulf GG, Nuchtern JG, Jax TW, Gobel U, et al. A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:14228–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400067101
- Rasper M, Schäfer A, Piontek G, Teufel J, Brockhoff G, Ringel F, et al. Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 positive glioblastoma cells show brain tumor stem cell capacity. *Neuro Oncol.* (2010) 12:1024–33. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noq070
- 46. Shinojima N, Hossain A, Takezaki T, Fueyo-Margareto J, Gumin J, Gao F, et al. TGF-β mediates homing of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells to glioma stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2013)73:2333–44. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3086
- 47. Ho IA, Toh HC, Ng WH, Teo YL, Guo CM, Hui KM, et al. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells suppress human glioma growth through inhibition of angiogenesis. *Stem Cells.* (2013) 31:146–55. doi: 10.1002/stem.1247
- Pacioni S, D'Alessandris QG, Giannetti S, Morgante L, Coccè V, Bonomi A, et al. Human mesenchymal stromal cells inhibit tumor growth in orthotopic glioblastoma xenografts. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2017) 8:53. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0516-3
- Shahar T, Rozovski U, Hess KR, Hossain A, Gumin J, Gao F, et al. Percentage of mesenchymal stem cells in high-grade glioma tumor samples correlates with patient survival. *Neuro Oncol.* (2017) 19:660–8. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now239
- Vieira de Castro J, Gomes ED, Granja S, Anjo SI, Baltazar F, Manadas B, et al. Impact of mesenchymal stem cells' secretome on glioblastoma pathophysiology. J Transl Med. (2017) 15:200. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1303-8
- Hossain A, Gumin J, Gao F, Figueroa J, Shinojima N, Takezaki T, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human gliomas increase proliferation and maintain stemness of glioma stem cells through the IL-6/gp130/STAT3 pathway. *Stem Cells*. (2015) 33:2400–15. doi: 10.1002/stem.2053
- Nakano I, Garnier D, Minata M, Rak J. Extracellular vesicles in the biology of brain tumour stem cells-implications for inter-cellular communication, therapy and biomarker development. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2015) 40:17–26. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.02.011
- 53. Godlewski J, Ferrer-Luna R, Rooj AK, Mineo M, Ricklefs F, Takeda YS, et al. MicroRNA signatures and molecular subtypes of glioblastoma: the role of extracellular transfer. *Stem Cell Rep.* (2017) 8:1497–505. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.04.024
- Ricklefs F, Mineo M, Rooj AK, Nakano I, Charest A, Weissleder R, et al. Extracellular vesicles from high-grade glioma exchange diverse prooncogenic signals that maintain intratumoral heterogeneity. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2876–81. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-3432
- 55. Spinelli C, Montermini L, Meehan B, Brisson AR, Tan S, Choi D, et al. Molecular subtypes and differentiation programmes of glioma stem cells as determinants of extracellular vesicle profiles and endothelial cell-stimulating activities. J Extracell Vesicles. (2018) 7:1490144. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018.1490144
- Di Tomaso T, Mazzoleni S, Wang E, Sovena G, Clavenna D, Franzin A, et al. Immunobiological characterization of cancer stem cells isolated from glioblastoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:800–13. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2730
- Wei J, Barr J, Kong L-Y, Wang Y, Wu A, Sharma AK, et al. Glioblastoma cancer-initiating cells inhibit T-cell proliferation and effector responses by the signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 pathway. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2010) 9:67–78. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0734
- Domenis R, Cesselli D, Toffoletto B, Bourkoula E, Caponnetto F, Manini I, et al. Systemic T cells immunosuppression of glioma stem cell-derived exosomes is mediated by monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169932
- Otvos B, Silver DJ, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Alvarado AG, Turaga SM, Sorensen MD, et al. Cancer stem cell-secreted macrophage migration inhibitory factor stimulates myeloid derived suppressor cell function and facilitates glioblastoma immune evasion. *Stem Cells.* (2016) 34:2026–39. doi: 10.1002/stem.2393
- 60. Broekman ML, Maas SLN, Abels ER, Mempel TR, Krichevsky AM, Breakefield XO. Multidimensional communication in the

microenvirons of glioblastoma. Nat Rev Neurol. (2018) 14:482-95. doi: 10.1038/s41582-018-0025-8

- Avril T, Vauleon E, Hamlat A, Saikali S, Etcheverry A, Delmas C, et al. Human glioblastoma stem-like cells are more sensitive to allogeneic NK and T cellmediated killing compared with serum-cultured glioblastoma cells. *Brain Pathol.* (2012) 22:159–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2011.00515.x
- 62. Haspels HN, Rahman MA, Joseph JV, Gras Navarro A, Chekenya M. Glioblastoma stem-like cells are more susceptible than differentiated cells to natural killer cell lysis mediated through killer immunoglobulinlike receptors-human leukocyte antigen ligand mismatch and activation receptor-ligand interactions. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1345. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01345
- 63. Zhang X, Rao A, Sette P, Deibert C, Pomerantz A, Kim WJ, et al. IDH mutant gliomas escape natural killer cell immune surveillance by downregulation of NKG2D ligand expression. *Neuro Oncol.* (2016b) 18:1402–12. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now061
- Charles N, Holland EC. The perivascular niche microenvironment in brain tumor progression. *Cell Cycle*. (2010) 9:3012–21. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.15.12710
- Mohyeldin A, Garzón-Muvdi T, Quiñones-Hinojosa A. Oxygen in stem cell biology: a critical component of the stem cell niche. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2010) 7:150–61. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.007
- Calabrese C, Poppleton H, Kocak M, Hogg TL, Fuller C, Hamner B, et al. A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2007) 11:69–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.11.020
- Galan-Moya EM, Le Guelte A, Lima Fernandes E, Thirant C, Dwyer J, Bidere N, et al. Secreted factors from brain endothelial cells maintain glioblastoma stem-like cell expansion through the mTOR pathway. *EMBO Rep.* (2011) 12:470–6. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.39
- Zhu TS, Costello MA, Talsma CE, Flack CG, Crowley JG, Hamm LL, et al. Endothelial cells create a stem cell niche in glioblastoma by providing NOTCH ligands that nurture self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:6061–72. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4269
- Wang J, Wakeman TP, Lathia JD, Hjelmeland AB, Wang XF, White RR, et al. Notch promotes radioresistance of glioma stem cells. *Stem Cells.* (2010) 28:17–28. doi: 10.1002/stem.261
- Bao S, Wu Q, Sathornsumetee S, Hao Y, Li Z, Hjelmeland AB, et al. Stem cell-like glioma cells promote tumor angiogenesis through vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:7843–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1010
- Folkins C, Shaked Y, Man S, Tang T, Lee CR, Zhu Z, et al. Glioma tumor stem-like cells promote tumor angiogenesis and vasculogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor and stromal-derived factor 1. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7243–51. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0167
- 72. Yan H, Romero-López M, Benitez LI, Di K, Frieboes HB, Hughes CCW, et al. 3D mathematical modeling of glioblastoma suggests that transdifferentiated vascular endothelial cells mediate resistance to current standard-of-care therapy. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:4171–84. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-3094
- Pistollato F, Abbadi S, Rampazzo E, Persano L, Della Puppa A, Frasson C, et al. Intratumoral hypoxic gradient drives stem cells distribution and MGMT expression in glioblastoma. *Stem Cells.* (2010) 28:851–62. doi: 10.1002/stem.415
- 74. Bar EE, Lin A, Mahairaki V, Matsui W, Eberhart CG. Hypoxia increases the expression of stem-cell markers and promotes clonogenicity in glioblastoma neurospheres. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 177:1491–502. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.091021
- Codrici E, Enciu AM, Popescu ID, Mihai S, Tanase C. Glioma stem cells and their microenvironments: providers of challenging therapeutic targets. *Stem Cells Int.* (2016) 2016:5728438. doi: 10.1155/2016/5728438
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M, Karnauskas R, Harris MH, Plas DR, et al. Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:3892–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2904
- Wolf A, Agnihotri S, Micallef J, Mukherjee J, Sabha N, Cairns R, et al. Hexokinase 2 is a key mediator of aerobic glycolysis and promotes tumor growth in human glioblastoma multiforme. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:313–26. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101470

- Dang CV, Le A, Gao P. MYC-induced cancer cell energy metabolism and therapeutic opportunities. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:6479–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0889
- Pollard PJ, Wortham NC, Tomlinson IPM. The TCA cycle and tumorigenesis: the examples of fumarate hydratase and succinate dehydrogenase. *Ann Med.* (2003) 35:632–9. doi: 10.1080/07853890310018458
- Venneti S, Thompson CB. Metabolic modulation of epigenetics in gliomas. Brain Pathol. (2013) 23:217–21. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12022
- Dang L, White DW, Gross S, Bennett BD, Bittinger MA, Driggers EM, et al. Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Nature*. (2009b) 462:739–44. doi: 10.1038/nature08617
- King MP, Attardi G. Human cells lacking mtDNA: repopulation with exogenous mitochondria by complementation. *Science*. (1989) 246:500–3. doi: 10.1126/science.2814477
- Menendez JA, Alarcón T. Metabostemness: a new cancer hallmark. Front. Oncol. 4:262. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00262
- Marin-Valencia I, Yang C, Mashimo T, Cho S, Baek H, Yang X-L, et al. Analysis of tumor metabolism reveals mitochondrial glucose oxidation in genetically diverse human glioblastomas in the mouse brain *in vivo*. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 15:827–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.05.001
- Maher EA, Marin-Valencia I, Bachoo RM, Mashimo T, Raisanen J, Hatanpaa KJ, et al. Metabolism of [U-13C]glucose in human brain tumors *in vivo*. *NMR Biomed*. (2012) 25:1234–44. doi: 10.1002/nbm.2794
- 87. Kathagen A, Schulte A, Balcke G, Phillips HS, Martens T, Matschke J, et al. Hypoxia and oxygenation induce a metabolic switch between pentose phosphate pathway and glycolysis in glioma stem-like cells. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2013) 126:763–80. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1173-y
- Vlashi E, Lagadec C, Vergnes L, Matsutani T, Masui K, Poulou M, et al. Metabolic state of glioma stem cells and nontumorigenic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:16062–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1106704108
- LeBleu VS, O'Connell JT, Gonzalez Herrera KN, Wikman H, Pantel K, Haigis MC, et al. PGC-1α mediates mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells to promote metastasis. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2014) 16:992–1003, 1–15. doi: 10.1038/ncb3039
- Tan Z, Luo X, Xiao L, Tang M, Bode AM, Dong Z, et al. The role of PGC1α in cancer metabolism and its therapeutic implications. *Mol Cancer Ther*. (2016) 15:774–82. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0621
- Peiris-Pagès M, Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Pestell RG, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP. Cancer stem cell metabolism. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2016) 18:55. doi: 10.1186/s13058-016-0712-6
- Chen C-L, Uthaya Kumar DB, Punj V, Xu J, Sher L, Tahara SM, et al. NANOG metabolically reprograms tumor-initiating stem-like cells through tumorigenic changes in oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 23:206–19. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.004
- Lee K-M, Giltnane JM, Balko JM, Schwarz LJ, Guerrero-Zotano AL, Hutchinson KE, et al. MYC and MCL1 cooperatively promote chemotherapy-resistant breast cancer stem cells via regulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:633–47.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.009
- 94. Vazquez F, Lim J-H, Chim H, Bhalla K, Girnun G, Pierce K, et al. PGC1α expression defines a subset of human melanoma tumors with increased mitochondrial capacity and resistance to oxidative stress. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 23:287–301. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.11.020
- Zhang G, Frederick DT, Wu L, Wei Z, Krepler C, Srinivasan S, et al. Targeting mitochondrial biogenesis to overcome drug resistance to MAPK inhibitors. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:1834–56. doi: 10.1172/JCI82661
- Farnie G, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP. High mitochondrial mass identifies a subpopulation of stem-like cancer cells that are chemo-resistant. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:30472–86. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5401
- DeBerardinis RJ, Cheng T. Q's next: the diverse functions of glutamine in metabolism, cell biology and cancer. *Oncogene*. (2010) 29:313–24. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.358
- DeBerardinis RJ, Mancuso A, Daikhin E, Nissim I, Yudkoff M, Wehrli S, et al. Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:19345–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709747104

- 99. Yang L, Venneti S, Nagrath D. Glutaminolysis: a hallmark of cancer metabolism. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. (2017) 19:163–94. doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071516-044546
- 100. Oburoglu L, Tardito S, Fritz V, de Barros SC, Merida P, Craveiro M, et al. Glucose and glutamine metabolism regulate human hematopoietic stem cell lineage specification. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 15:169–84. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.06.002
- 101. Tardito S, Oudin A, Ahmed SU, Fack F, Keunen O, Zheng L, et al. Glutamine synthetase activity fuels nucleotide biosynthesis and supports growth of glutamine-restricted glioblastoma. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2015) 17:1556– 68. doi: 10.1038/ncb3272
- 102. Cheng T, Sudderth J, Yang C, Mullen AR, Jin ES, Matés JM, et al. Pyruvate carboxylase is required for glutamine-independent growth of tumor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:8674–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1016627108
- 103. Yang C, Sudderth J, Dang T, Bachoo RM, Bachoo RG, McDonald JG, et al. Glioblastoma cells require glutamate dehydrogenase to survive impairments of glucose metabolism or Akt signaling. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7986–93. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2266
- 104. Ward PS, Patel J, Wise DR, Abdel-Wahab O, Bennett BD, Coller HA, et al. The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting alphaketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:225–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.01.020
- 105. Mullen AR, Wheaton WW, Jin ES, Chen P-H, Sullivan LB, Cheng T, et al. Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. *Nature*. (2012) 481:385–8. doi: 10.1038/nature10642
- Metallo CM, Gameiro PA, Bell EL, Mattaini KR, Yang J, Hiller K, et al. Reductive glutamine metabolism by IDH1 mediates lipogenesis under hypoxia. *Nature*. (2011) 481:380–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10602
- 107. Wise DR, Ward PS, Shay JES, Cross JR, Gruber JJ, Sachdeva UM, et al. Hypoxia promotes isocitrate dehydrogenase-dependent carboxylation of αketoglutarate to citrate to support cell growth and viability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:19611–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117773108
- 108. Samudio I, Harmancey R, Fiegl M, Kantarjian H, Konopleva M, Korchin B, et al. Pharmacologic inhibition of fatty acid oxidation sensitizes human leukemia cells to apoptosis induction. *J Clin Invest.* (2010) 120:142–56. doi: 10.1172/JCI38942
- 109. Wang T, Fahrmann JF, Lee H, Li Y-J, Tripathi SC, Yue C, et al. JAK/STAT3-regulated fatty acid β-oxidation is critical for breast cancer stem cell self-renewal and chemoresistance. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:136–50.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.11.001
- 110. Buhaescu I, Izzedine H. Mevalonate pathway: a review of clinical and therapeutical implications. *Clin Biochem.* (2007) 40:575–84. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2007.03.016
- 111. Chen H-C, Joalland N, Bridgeman JS, Alchami FS, Jarry U, Khan MWA, et al. Synergistic targeting of breast cancer stem-like cells by human $\gamma\delta$ T cells and CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2017) 95:620–9. doi: 10.1038/icb.2017.21
- 112. Grande S, Palma A, Ricci-Vitiani L, Luciani AM, Buccarelli M, Biffoni M, et al. Metabolic heterogeneity evidenced by MRS among patientderived glioblastoma multiforme stem-like cells accounts for cell clustering and different responses to drugs. *Stem Cells Int.* (2018) 2018:3292704. doi: 10.1155/2018/3292704
- 113. Günther HS, Schmidt NO, Phillips HS, Kemming D, Kharbanda S, Soriano R, et al. Glioblastoma-derived stem cell-enriched cultures form distinct subgroups according to molecular and phenotypic criteria. *Oncogene*. (2008) 27:2897–909. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210949
- 114. Marziali G, Signore M, Buccarelli M, Grande S, Palma A, Biffoni M, et al. Metabolic/Proteomic signature defines two glioblastoma subtypes with different clinical outcome. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:21557. doi: 10.1038/srep21557
- 115. Nakano I. Stem cell signature in glioblastoma: therapeutic development for a moving target. J Neurosurg. (2015) 122:324–30. doi: 10.3171/2014.9.JNS132253
- 116. Saga I, Shibao S, Okubo J, Osuka S, Kobayashi Y, Yamada S, et al. Integrated analysis identifies different metabolic signatures for tumorinitiating cells in a murine glioblastoma model. *Neuro Oncol.* (2014) 16:1048–56. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nou096

- 117. Stadlbauer A, Zimmermann M, Doerfler A, Oberndorfer S, Buchfelder M, Coras R, et al. Intratumoral heterogeneity of oxygen metabolism and neovascularization uncovers 2 survival-relevant subgroups of IDH1 wild-type glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* (2018) 20:1536–46. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy066
- Semenza GL. HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism. Curr Opin Genet Dev. (2010) 20:51–6. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.10.009
- 119. Dong C, Yuan T, Wu Y, Wang Y, Fan TWM, Miriyala S, et al. Loss of FBP1 by snail-mediated repression provides metabolic advantages in basal-like breast cancer. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 23:316–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.01.022
- Hjelmeland AB, Wu Q, Heddleston JM, Choudhary GS, MacSwords J, Lathia JD, et al. Acidic stress promotes a glioma stem cell phenotype. *Cell Death Differ*. (2011) 18:829–40. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2010.150
- 121. Cuyàs E, Corominas-Faja B, Menendez JA. The nutritional phenome of EMT-induced cancer stem-like cells. Oncotarget. (2014) 5:3970–82. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2147
- 122. Sonveaux P, Végran F, Schroeder T, Wergin MC, Verrax J, Rabbani ZN, et al. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3930–42. doi: 10.1172/ JCI36843
- 123. Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Lisanti MP, Sotgia F. Catabolic cancerassociated fibroblasts transfer energy and biomass to anabolic cancer cells, fueling tumor growth. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2014) 25:47–60. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.01.005
- Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ. Sweet sixteen for ANLS. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2012) 32:1152–66. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2011.149
- Rustom A, Saffrich R, Markovic I, Walther P, Gerdes H-H. Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. *Science*. (2004) 303:1007–10. doi: 10.1126/science.1093133
- 126. Caicedo A, Fritz V, Brondello J-M, Ayala M, Dennemont I, Abdellaoui N, et al. MitoCeption as a new tool to assess the effects of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell mitochondria on cancer cell metabolism and function. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:9073. doi: 10.1038/srep09073
- 127. Dong L-F, Kovarova J, Bajzikova M, Bezawork-Geleta A, Svec D, Endaya B, et al. Horizontal transfer of whole mitochondria restores tumorigenic potential in mitochondrial DNA-deficient cancer cells. *Elife*. (2017) 6:e22187. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22187
- 128. Tan AS, Baty JW, Dong L-F, Bezawork-Geleta A, Endaya B, Goodwin J, et al. Mitochondrial genome acquisition restores respiratory function and tumorigenic potential of cancer cells without mitochondrial DNA. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.12.003
- 129. Ichimura K, Pearson DM, Kocialkowski S, Bäcklund LM, Chan R, Jones DTW, et al. IDH1 mutations are present in the majority of common adult gliomas but rare in primary glioblastomas. *Neuro Oncol.* (2009) 11:341–7. doi: 10.1215/15228517-2009-025
- Dang L, Yen K, Attar EC. IDH mutations in cancer and progress toward development of targeted therapeutics. Ann Oncol. (2016) 27:599–608. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw013
- 131. Sasaki M, Knobbe CB, Munger JC, Lind EF, Brenner D, Brüstle A, et al. IDH1(R132H) mutation increases murine haematopoietic progenitors and alters epigenetics. *Nature*. (2012) 488:656–9. doi: 10.1038/nature11323
- 132. Rohle D, Popovici-Muller J, Palaskas N, Turcan S, Grommes C, Campos C, et al. An inhibitor of mutant IDH1 delays growth and promotes differentiation of glioma cells. *Science*. (2013) 340:626–30. doi: 10.1126/science.1236062
- Tateishi K, Wakimoto H, Iafrate AJ, Tanaka S, Loebel F, Lelic N, et al. Extreme vulnerability of idh1 mutant cancers to NAD+ depletion. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:773–84. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.11.006
- 134. Grassian AR, Parker SJ, Davidson SM, Divakaruni AS, Green CR, Zhang X, et al. IDH1 mutations alter citric acid cycle metabolism and increase dependence on oxidative mitochondrial metabolism. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:3317–31. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0772-T
- 135. Oizel K, Gratas C, Nadaradjane A, Oliver L, Vallette FM, Pecqueur C. D-2-Hydroxyglutarate does not mimic all the IDH mutation effects, in particular the reduced etoposide-triggered apoptosis mediated by an alteration in mitochondrial NADH. *Cell Death Dis.* (2015) 6:e1704. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.13

- Li S, Chou AP, Chen W, Chen R, Deng Y, Phillips HS, et al. Overexpression of isocitrate dehydrogenase mutant proteins renders glioma cells more sensitive to radiation. *Neuro Oncol.* (2013) 15:57–68. doi: 10.1093/ne uonc/nos261
- 137. Molenaar RJ, Botman D, Smits MA, Hira VV, van Lith SA, Stap J, et al. Radioprotection of IDH1-mutated cancer cells by the IDH1-mutant inhibitor AGI-5198. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4790–802. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3603
- 138. Viale A, Pettazzoni P, Lyssiotis CA, Ying H, Sánchez N, Marchesini M, et al. Oncogene ablation-resistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. *Nature*. (2014) 514:628–32. doi: 10.1038/nature13611
- Mallik R, Chowdhury TA. Metformin in cancer. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 143:409–19. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2018.05.023
- 140. Wheaton WW, Weinberg SE, Hamanaka RB, Soberanes S, Sullivan LB, Anso E, et al. Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. *Elife*. (2014) 3:e02242. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02242
- 141. Farge T, Saland E, de Toni F, Aroua N, Hosseini M, Perry R, et al. Chemotherapy resistant human acute myeloid leukemia cells are not enriched for leukemic stem cells but require oxidative metabolism. *Cancer Discov.* (2017) 7:716–35. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0441
- 142. Marchiq I, Albrengues J, Granja S, Gaggioli C, Pouysségur J, Simon M-P. Knock out of the BASIGIN/CD147 chaperone of lactate/H+ symporters disproves its pro-tumour action via extracellular matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) induction. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:24636–48. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4323
- 143. Fiorillo M, Lamb R, Tanowitz HB, Cappello AR, Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Sotgia F, et al. Bedaquiline, an FDA-approved antibiotic, inhibits mitochondrial function and potently blocks the proliferative expansion of stem-like cancer cells (CSCs). *Aging*. (2016) 8:1593–607. doi: 10.18632/aging.100983
- 144. Senkowski W, Zhang X, Olofsson MH, Isacson R, Höglund U, Gustafsson M, et al. Three-dimensional cell culture-based screening identifies the anthelmintic drug nitazoxanide as a candidate for treatment of colorectal cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2015) 14:1504–16. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0792
- 145. De Luca A, Fiorillo M, Peiris-Pagès M, Ozsvari B, Smith DL, Sanchez-Alvarez R, et al. Mitochondrial biogenesis is required for the anchorageindependent survival and propagation of stem-like cancer cells. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:14777–95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4401
- 146. Fessler E, Borovski T, Medema JP. Endothelial cells induce cancer stem cell features in differentiated glioblastoma cells via bFGF. *Mol Cancer*. (2015) 14:157. doi: 10.1186/s12943-015-0420-3
- 147. Borovski T, Beke P, van Tellingen O, Rodermond HM, Verhoeff JJ, Lascano V, et al. Therapy-resistant tumor microvascular endothelial cells contribute to treatment failure in glioblastoma multiforme. *Oncogene*. (2013) 32:1539–48. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.172
- 148. Garcia-Barros M, Paris F, Cordon-Cardo C, Lyden D, Rafii S, Haimovitz-Friedman A, et al. Tumor response to radiotherapy regulated by endothelial cell apoptosis. *Science*. (2003) 300:1155–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1082504
- 149. Paris F, Fuks Z, Kang A, Capodieci P, Juan G, Ehleiter D, et al. Endothelial apoptosis as the primary lesion initiating intestinal radiation damage in mice. *Science*. (2001) 293:293–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1060191
- 150. Lafargue A, Degorre C, Corre I, Alves-Guerra M-C, Gaugler M-H, Vallette F, et al. Ionizing radiation induces long-term senescence in endothelial cells through mitochondrial respiratory complex II dysfunction and superoxide generation. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2017) 108:750–9. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.04.019
- 151. Paul-Gilloteaux P, Potiron V, Delpon G, Supiot S, Chiavassa S, Paris F, et al. Optimizing radiotherapy protocols using computer automata to model tumour cell death as a function of oxygen diffusion processes. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:2280. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01757-6
- 152. Facucho-Oliveira JM, St John JC. The relationship between pluripotency and mitochondrial DNA proliferation during early embryo development and embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Stem Cell Rev.* (2009) 5:140–58. doi: 10.1007/s12015-009-9058-0
- 153. Kilens S, Meistermann D, Moreno D, Chariau C, Gaignerie A, Reignier A, et al. Parallel derivation of isogenic human primed and

naive induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Commun. (2018) 9:360. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02107-w

- Pecqueur C, Oliver L, Oizel K, Lalier L, Vallette FM. Targeting metabolism to induce cell death in cancer cells and cancer stem cells. *Int J Cell Biol.* (2013) 2013:1–13. doi: 10.1155/2013/805975
- 155. Piccirillo SGM, Reynolds BA, Zanetti N, Lamorte G, Binda E, Broggi G, et al. Bone morphogenetic proteins inhibit the tumorigenic potential of human brain tumour-initiating cells. *Nature*. (2006) 444:761–5. doi: 10.1038/nature05349
- 156. Morfouace M, Lalier L, Bahut M, Bonnamain V, Naveilhan P, Guette C, et al. Comparison of spheroids formed by rat glioma stem cells and neural stem cells reveals differences in glucose metabolism and promising therapeutic applications. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:33664–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.320028
- 157. Morfouace M, Lalier L, Oliver L, Cheray M, Pecqueur C, Cartron P-F, et al. Control of glioma cell death and differentiation by PKM2-Oct4 interaction. *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1036. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.561
- Michelakis ED, Webster L, Mackey JR. Dichloroacetate (DCA) as a potential metabolic-targeting therapy for cancer. Br J Cancer. (2008) 99:989–94. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604554
- 159. Chu QS, Sangha R, Spratlin JJ, Vos LJ, Mackey JR, McEwan AJ, et al. A phase I open-labeled, single-arm, dose-escalation, study of dichloroacetate (DCA) in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Invest. New Drugs.* (2015). 33:603–10. doi: 10.1007/s10637-015-0221-y
- 160. Dunbar EM, Coats BS, Shroads AL, Langaee T, Lew A, Forder JR, et al. Phase 1 trial of dichloroacetate (DCA) in adults with recurrent malignant brain tumors. *Invest New Drugs*. (2014) 32:452–64. doi: 10.1007/s10637-013-0047-4
- 161. Garon EB, Christofk HR, Hosmer W, Britten CD, Bahng A, Crabtree MJ, et al. Dichloroacetate should be considered with platinum-based chemotherapy in hypoxic tumors rather than as a single agent in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* (2014) 140:443–52. doi: 10.1007/s00432-014-1583-9
- 162. Lu C, Ward PS, Kapoor GS, Rohle D, Turcan S, Abdel-Wahab O, et al. IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. *Nature*. (2012) 483:474–8. doi: 10.1038/nature10860
- 163. Daniele S, Giacomelli C, Zappelli E, Granchi C, Trincavelli L, Minutolo F, et al. Lactate dehydrogenase-A inhibition induces human glioblastoma multiforme stem cell differentiation and death. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:15556. doi: 10.1038/srep15556
- 164. Zhang Y, Wang S-X, Ma J-W, Li H-Y, Ye J-C, Xie S-M, et al. EGCG inhibits properties of glioma stem-like cells and synergizes with temozolomide through downregulation of P-glycoprotein inhibition. *J Neurooncol.* (2015) 121:41–52. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1604-1
- 165. Corbet C, Bastien E, Draoui N, Doix B, Mignion L, Jordan BF, et al. Interruption of lactate uptake by inhibiting mitochondrial pyruvate transport unravels direct antitumor and radiosensitizing effects. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1208. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03525-0
- 166. Maher JC, Krishan A, Lampidis TJ. Greater cell cycle inhibition and cytotoxicity induced by 2-deoxy-d-glucose in tumor cells treated under hypoxic vs aerobic conditions. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2004) 53:116– 22. doi: 10.1007/s00280-003-0724-7
- 167. Singh D, Banerji AK, Dwarakanath BS, Tripathi RP, Gupta JP, Mathew TL, et al. Optimizing Cancer Radiotherapy with 2-Deoxy-D-Glucose. Strahlenther Onkol. (2005) 181:507–14. doi: 10.1007/s00066-005-1320-z
- Esparza R, Azad TD, Feroze AH, Mitra SS, Cheshier SH. Glioblastoma stem cells and stem cell-targeting immunotherapies. J Neurooncol. (2015) 123:449–57. doi: 10.1007/s11060-015-1729-x
- 169. Kouidhi S, Ben Ayed F, Benammar Elgaaied A. Targeting tumor metabolism: a new challenge to improve immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:353. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00353
- Chang C-H, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, et al. Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1229–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- 171. Zhao E, Maj T, Kryczek I, Li W, Wu K, Zhao L, et al. Cancer mediates effector T cell dysfunction by targeting microRNAs and EZH2 via glycolysis restriction. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:95–103. doi: 10.1038/ni.3313

- 172. Cheng W-C, Tsui Y-C, Ragusa S, Koelzer VH, Mina M, Franco F, et al. Uncoupling protein 2 reprograms the tumor microenvironment to support the anti-tumor immune cycle. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:206–17. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0290-0
- 173. Jarry U, Chauvin C, Joalland N, Léger A, Minault S, Robard M, et al. Stereotaxic administrations of allogeneic human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells efficiently control the development of human glioblastoma brain tumors. Oncoimmunology. (2016) 5:e1168554. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.11 68554
- 174. Jiang P, Mukthavaram R, Chao Y, Nomura N, Bharati IS, Fogal V, et al. *In vitro* and *in vivo* anticancer effects of mevalonate pathway modulation on human cancer cells. *Br J Cancer*. (2014) 111:1562–71. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.431
- 175. Yanae M, Tsubaki M, Satou T, Itoh T, Imano M, Yamazoe Y, et al. Statin-induced apoptosis via the suppression of ERK1/2 and Akt activation by inhibition of the geranylgeranyl-pyrophosphate biosynthesis in glioblastoma. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2011) 30:74. doi: 10.1186/1756-9966-30-74
- 176. Fleurence J, Cochonneau D, Fougeray S, Oliver L, Geraldo F, Terme M, et al. Targeting and killing glioblastoma with monoclonal

antibody to O-acetyl GD2 ganglioside. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:41172–85. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9226

- Anderson AS, Roberts PC, Frisard MI, Hulver MW, Schmelz EM. Ovarian tumor-initiating cells display a flexible metabolism. *Exp Cell Res.* (2014) 328:44–57. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.08.028
- Sborov DW, Haverkos BM, Harris PJ. Investigational cancer drugs targeting cell metabolism in clinical development. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. (2015) 24:79–94. doi: 10.1517/13543784.2015.960077

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Garnier, Renoult, Alves-Guerra, Paris and Pecqueur. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Iron Metabolism in Liver Cancer Stem Cells

Stefania Recalcati¹, Margherita Correnti², Elena Gammella¹, Chiara Raggi^{2,3}, Pietro Invernizzi⁴ and Gaetano Cairo^{1*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Sciences for Health, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ² Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, IRCCS, Rozzano, Italy, ³ Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ⁴ Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, Center for Autoimmune Liver Diseases, San Gerardo Hospital, University of Milano–Bicocca, Monza, Italy

Cancer stem cells (CSC) which have been identified in several tumors, including liver cancer, represent a particular subpopulation of tumor cells characterized by properties similar to those of adult stem cells. Importantly, CSC are resistant to standard therapies, thereby leading to metastatic dissemination and tumor relapse. Given the increasing evidence that iron homeostasis is deregulated in cancer, here we describe the iron homeostasis alterations in cancer cells, particularly in liver CSC. We also discuss two paradoxically opposite iron manipulation-strategies for tumor therapy based either on iron chelation or iron overload-mediated oxidant production leading to ferroptosis. A better understanding of iron metabolism modifications occurring in hepatic tumors and particularly in liver CSC cells may offer new therapeutic options for this cancer, which is characterized by increasing incidence and unfavorable prognosis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Paolo E. Porporato, University of Turin, Italy Clelia Madeddu, Università Degli Studi di Cagliari, Italy

> *Correspondence: Gaetano Cairo

gaetano.cairo@unimi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 21 December 2018 Accepted: 22 February 2019 Published: 19 March 2019

Citation:

Recalcati S, Correnti M, Gammella E, Raggi C, Invernizzi P and Cairo G (2019) Iron Metabolism in Liver Cancer Stem Cells. Front. Oncol. 9:149. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00149 Keywords: iron, liver cancer, cancer stem cells, ferroptosis, chelators

INTRODUCTION

The phenotypical and functional heterogeneity of cells within tumors can be explained by both the conventional mechanism centered on clonal evolution and a model based on the presence of cancer stem cells (CSC) which over the last decade received support by increasing experimental evidence. CSC have similar properties to adult stem cells, such as the ability for unlimited self-renewal and differentiation and are believed to be a major source of cancer initiation and progression, thus resulting in a heterogeneous tumor cell progeny (1–3). Moreover, CSC are characterized by drug resistance, an element allowing tumors to survive therapies. In fact, the relatively quiescent CSC can escape cell death after standard chemotherapy treatments, which preferentially eliminate rapidly proliferating cells; as a consequence, the remaining CSC may lead to cancer relapse and metastasis, whose treatment is more complex and often unsatisfactory. Notably, it is now also realized that some of the alterations of iron homeostasis that have recently emerged as key factors in cancer growth and progression are present also in CSC [reviewed in (4)]. In this Review, we discuss current knowledge of the role of iron as a key factor in cancer development, particularly in liver and hepatic CSC, and we also address iron-centered therapeutic approaches.

PRIMARY LIVER CANCER AND CANCER STEM CELLS

Primary liver cancer (PLC) is the fifth most common cancer worldwide and the second most frequent leading cause of cancer-related mortality and its incidence and mortality are increasingat a fast rate, especially in western countries (5, 6). Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and

25

cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) represent the two major forms of PLC, and account for \sim 90 and 5% of all primary liver tumors, respectively (5, 6).

HCC arises from malignant transformation of hepatocytes and is often associated with known risk factors, such as excessive alcohol intake, infection with hepatitis B virus (HBV) or hepatitis C virus (HCV), aflatoxin B1 intake, fatty infiltration, autoimmune liver diseases and alterations of iron metabolism leading to hepatic iron accumulation like hemochromatosis (5, 7). Unlike the HCV-related HCCs, the incidence of HCC linked to the metabolic syndrome is increasing, principally due to obesity epidemic continuous rising (8).

On the other hand, CCA arise from neoplastic transformation of intra- and extra-hepatic biliary epithelial cells (cholangiocytes) and the frequency of its established risk factors mostly differs depending on geographic area (9). For example, infection with liver flukes (*Opisthorchis viverrini* and *Clonorchis sinensis*) is a common risk factor for CCA development in Southeast Asia (6, 10). Conversely, primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is the most common predisposing condition for CCA in the western countries (6). HBV or HCV infection and cirrhosis have been also proposed as potential etiologies of CCA, shared with HCC (6, 7).

While liver transplantation, surgical resection and locoregional therapies are possible curative options at early phases, the majority of PLC patients unfortunately present advanced stages of the disease, for which treatments are very limited and the prognosis remains unfavorable (5, 11).

Like most other solid tumors, PLC are characterized by an extensive clinical and pathobiological heterogeneity in terms of cellular morphologies as well as genetic and epigenetic landscape (12-14). Such intra-tumor heterogeneity may reflect the presence of different clonal subpopulations exhibiting differential sensitivity to drugs (7, 12, 13). In this respect, the recent advent of the CSC hypothesis has added a new level of complexity in understanding PLC heterogeneity and drug resistance. According to this model, CSC are thought to drive tumor growth and progression, as well as tumor metastasis, recurrence and therapy resistance, representing the unique unit of selection within the tumor (2, 15-17). Interestingly, a new "CSC plasticity model" has been proposed, further increasing the complexity of tumor biology. According to this theory, the different tumor cell subpopulations are highly plastic and dynamic, continuously switching between non-CSC and CSC phenotypes, depending on various intrinsic and extrinsic stimuli (18).

While the CSC existence has been confirmed in HCC (19–22) and recently also in CCA (23, 24), no consensus has yet been reached regarding the origin of hepatic CSC. In addition to the classical idea that CSC originate from normal liver resident stem cells (1), it is now become accepted that CSC may originate also from more committed progenitor cells and mature differentiated tumor cells through a reprogramming process (11, 25, 26). These considerations go hand in hand with the unsettled debate about the true nature of the PLC cell-of-origin, about which a consensus has not been reached, yet.

Another open question concerns the identification of a common recognized method for isolation and subsequent

characterization of liver CSC. During the last years several attempts have been made to obtain a cell population enriched in liver CSC using a variety of techniques. The antigenic approach, which is one of the first methods used to isolate CSC, relies on surface CSC markers detection, including CD133, CD44, OV6, CD90, EpCAM, CD13, CD24, CD47 (27). However, the antigenic approach has several shortcomings, such as lack of clearly defined surface markers specific for individual tumor type, such as PLC, and the fact that different cancer cell populations with tumor-initiating activity can be isolated using different markers within a tumor type (18, 28). Therefore, none of the proposed markers is specific for liver CSC and universally expressed in all liver CSC (29). In addition, the surface marker expression can diverge depending on the specific context (28). In addition to the classical antigenic approach, there are several assays based on CSC functional properties, including Side Population (SP) analysis, Aldefluor assay and tumor-sphere formation assay (14, 24, 27). All these functional techniques are based on different key CSC features: the first one on the typical drug resistance of CSC (30, 31), the second one on the measurement of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity (32) and the last one on long-term selfrenewal capability of CSC (21, 24, 33). Possibly, a combinatorial strategy might be a valid alternative to isolate a betterdefined PLC stem-like subset, but the gold-standard approach to evaluate CSC tumorigenic potential remains the in vivo approach based on xenotransplantation in immune-deficient mice (14, 24, 27).

IRON AND LIVER CANCER

Iron is an essential component of living organisms, as it is necessary for cellular metabolism, replication and growth. However, excess iron can facilitate the generation of the most reactive and toxic forms of oxidants through the Fenton reaction (34); therefore, iron levels are carefully kept within an optimal range at both systemic and cellular levels (Figure 1). The major players in maintaining cellular iron homeostasis are the transferrin receptor (TfR1) that internalizes transferrin-bound iron, ferroportin (Fpn), the only cellular iron exporter, and ferritin that stores excess iron (35) (Figure 2). A number of epidemiological studies indicate a positive association between cancer and high body iron content in the general population (36). Since the liver is the organ where excess iron accumulates (37) and plays an important role in maintaining iron homeostasis, a large body of evidence from human, animal, and in vitro studies supports the positive relation between increased body iron stores and the risk of liver cancer. In fact, HCC is the prevalent tumor found in hemochromatosis patients (38).

Studies investigating cancer risk in subjects undergoing blood transfusion or phlebotomy suggest that iron excess is not merely associated with cancer but plays an active role in carcinogenesis. The biological basis of the association between iron and cancer is double-face as it probably rests in both oxidative stress-mediated DNA damage and availability of the metal to support fast growth (39). Iron may therefore play a role both as an initiator in an early phase and, once malignant change has occurred, as a promoter



FIGURE 1 | Iron threshold concept. Certain iron levels are required for cell survival and homeostasis, but iron concentrations too low lead to apoptotic cell death, whereas excess iron equally triggers cell death.



that allows the transformed cell to fully express its potential of unrestricted growth.

In addition, recent studies showed that both systemic and cellular iron metabolism is altered in tumors (40). In general, given the high iron needs of tumor cells to sustain cell proliferation, the alterations of iron trafficking in cancer cells lead to iron acquisition. To this purpose, cancer cells usually increase iron uptake, for example by up-regulating TfR1, decrease iron release by inhibiting Fpn, or both. Several studies have demonstrated that these alterations of cellular iron metabolism are directly dependent on the action of oncogenes and tumor suppressors (39). Notably, the "iron addiction" of tumors was confirmed by the analysis of different cell lines using a novel method (41), which showed that cancer cells had significantly

increased redox-active iron pools compared to non-tumorigenic cells. The role of iron in cancer is not related only to the "iron seeking" phenotype of most cancer cells. In fact, iron levels can modulate apoptosis in multiple ways, for example by affecting the alternative splicing of Fas/CD95 transcripts between the pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic isoforms (42). Moreover, the p53 pathway that regulates cell cycle and apoptosis interacts with iron metabolism in a complicated crosstalk that remains to be completely explained (43). As an example of opposing observations regarding the involvement of iron and p53 in the pathogenesis of HCC, it has been shown that exposure to iron down-regulated MDM2, the ubiquitin ligase which leads to degradation of p53 (44), whereas another study found decreased p53 protein levels in the liver of iron overloaded mice (45).

Iron metabolism has been investigated in rodent models of hepatic carcinogenesis as well as in regenerating liver, which represents an excellent example of controlled liver proliferation and hence a powerful model system to get insights into the processes leading to hepatocarcinogenesis. Similarly to other types of growing cells, increased expression of TfR1 has been found in rat liver preneoplastic nodules and HCC (46, 47), as well as in regenerating liver cells (48), probably in order to insure sufficient iron to sustain cell proliferation. Recently, a study investigating iron metabolism gene expression and prognostic features of HCC found that TfR1 are more expressed in HCC than in surrounding liver and correlate with poorer prognosis (49). Researches also addressed the role of iron in CCA, a severe liver tumor with limited therapeutic possibilities, concluding that high expression of TfR1, with consequent iron uptake, contributes to CCA progression and poorer clinical outcomes (50). Accordingly, we showed that elevated iron content is a negative prognostic factor in CCA patients (51).

However, recent studies indicated that altered expression of proteins of iron metabolism like TfR1 in tumor cells is not only a system to acquire more iron but may impinge on tumor growth in an iron-independent manner. In fact, in line with the demonstrated interaction of TfR1 with ligands other than transferrin (Tf) (52), it appears that, in addition to its role in iron uptake, TfR1 activates signaling pathways and has a role in apoptosis, a key process in cancer development. For example, TfR1, by activating JNK upon phosphorylation by Src, impairs apoptosis and thereby increases breast cancer cell survival (53). In addition, the interaction of TfR1 with Tf may also have roles which are different from iron uptake but are still important for tumor cell growth; in fact TfR1 appears to be implicated in epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) (54), which is an important process for cancer progression, and metastatic growth (55).

Over the last years, a number of studies have shown that the levels of Fpn are reduced in several cancer cells compared to their nonmalignant counterparts, so that Fpn downregulation appears as a common strategy that a variety of cancer cells adopt to enhance intracellular iron availability (39). Interestingly, Fpn expression is a strong and independent predictor of prognosis in different tumor types (39). Dysregulation of the hepcidin/Fpn axis may also play a relevant role in liver tumors. Recently, it has been shown that hypermethylation of specific sequences in the promoter region of the gene coding for hepcidin, the liver hormone that regulates iron homeostasis by inhibiting Fpnmediated iron export, results in transcriptional downregulation of hepcidin expression in HCC (56). A similar effect was found in a model of rat liver carcinogenesis, in which the downregulation of hepcidin and the consequent increase of Fpn-mediated iron release may underlie the decreased intracellular levels of iron in preneoplastic foci (57). This could be a specific feature of hepatic cancer, as Fpn is usually repressed in cancer cells and low iron levels are not attributed to increased iron export but to higher consumption. However, we found significantly reduced Fpn mRNA levels in tumor samples from CCA patients compared to matched surrounding liver, suggesting that also in PLC elevated iron content is a negative prognostic factor (51).

The reprogramming of iron metabolism in tumors comprises the repression of the iron storage protein ferritin, as a mean to increase iron availability for the high requirements of cancer cell (58). Conversely, a tumor-suppressive role for ferritin has been shown in several types of cancer, such as breast and colorectal cancer. Ferritin expression appears to be directly modulated by both oncogenes, which down-regulate ferritin, and tumor suppressors, which induce ferritin expression [reviewed in Torti (39)]. Accordingly, a recent study highlighted a new mechanism based on a complex miRNA network by which oncogenic miRNAs inhibit the expression of H ferritin and its pseudogenes, thus leading to prostate cancer growth (59). Ferritin expression in liver cancer has been investigated by a number of studies in rodent models of hepatocarcinogenesis and in human hepatomas (60), but a coherent picture has not emerged, probably as the result of different experimental approaches and models, but also because of the multiple mechanisms of regulation of this protein, which is affected by iron status, differentiation, growth rate, inflammation, etc. (61). Therefore, whether increased ferritin levels in HCC patients merely reflect increased accumulation of iron, which is the actual carcinogen, or play an active role in malignant transformation is still unknown.

LIVER CSC AND IRON

Over the last years, several investigations found increased iron content in CSC of several types of tumors and also showed that altered iron trafficking is functional to the role of CSC in tumor growth. Indeed, variations of iron levels in CSC were achieved by specific modulation of the expression of genes of iron metabolism; in particular, TfR1-dependent iron uptake is induced whereas Fpn-mediated iron export is down-modulated. In most studies, the enhanced iron content was mirrored by high levels of the iron storage protein ferritin (4, 62).

Support to the idea that higher iron levels have a functional role in CSC formation and the maintenance of stemness was provided by evidence that iron chelation inhibited tumor spheres (a proxy of CSC) formation in several types of cancers (4). Additionally, manipulation of iron levels modulated the expression of typical stemness markers (4). Of course, it is also conceivable that alterations of iron homeostasis induced by genes related to CSC, such as Myc-mediated inhibition of ferritin expression (63), cooperate in order to disrupt iron homeostasis in CSC.

Notably, *in vivo* studies showing higher tumorigenic capacity of iron-rich tumor spheres in mouse xenograft tumor models confirmed the role of iron (64–66). Moreover, poorer prognosis for human tumors with altered expression of iron proteins in CSC is a common finding (51, 64, 66–68).

As it regards the role of iron in liver CSC, knowledge is limited. We recently showed that the regulation of iron homeostasis is profoundly different if CCA cell lines are cultured under conditions inducing the formation of tumor spheres, as compared to CCA cells growing in monolayers. In particular, we found high H ferritin levels and TfR1 expression accompanied by diminished Fpn transcription, a pattern leading to elevated iron content. Moreover, this finding was mirrored by data showing a trend toward shorter survival in CCA patients with high expression of ferritin and hepcidin (51).

IRON AND CANCER THERAPY

In consideration of the role of iron in cancer, and particularly in CSC that are resistant to radio and chemotherapy, manipulation of iron levels appears a promising therapeutic strategy. Given the double-edged sword property of iron in controlling cell fate (Figure 1), both iron chelation (in order to starve tumor cells for this essential micronutrient) and iron overload (in order to exploit iron toxicity) have been proposed for cancer treatment, but there are still several concerns for the use of both strategies. In fact, the threshold above which iron levels are no longer supportive of growth but become toxic is not well-defined, even though recent findings indicated that the functional iron concentration that allows in vitro cell proliferation is very low (i.e., in the nanomolar range) (69). Iron chelation has been used in several types of cancer, including HCC (70). However, since desferrioxamine, an iron chelator in use since the nineties, has a rather poor bioavailability, limited success in treating cancer has been obtained with iron chelators so far, though more recently developed oral iron chelators like deferasirox showed some effect in leukemia patients (71). The major mechanisms by which sequestration of intracellular iron by classical iron chelators targets tumor cells are:(i) inhibition of the iron-containing ribonucleotide reductase, the rate-limiting enzyme for DNA synthesis, (ii) cyclin dependent kinases-mediated induction of cell cycle arrest, iii) activation of metastasis and tumor suppressor genes, such as NDRG1 and p53, respectively. Moreover, recent data indicate that chelators can also suppress cancer by inhibiting the EMT, a key characteristic of CSC (72). Since the prolyl hydroxylases controlling the levels of the hypoxia inducible factors (HIF) are iron dependent enzymes, iron chelators induce HIF and its numerous target genes (73). We have shown that HIF-1 is involved in the protective effect exerted by the iron chelator dexrazoxane against anthracycline cardiotoxicity (74). Therefore, one may legitimately wonder whether iron chelators may have a similar effect in cancer cells, thus limiting the therapeutic effect of anticancer drugs.

A new class of iron chelators, such as the thiosemicarbazone Dp44m, which were reported to inhibit the proliferation of cancer cell lines in vitro by inducing the expression of p21, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor involved in cell cycle arrest (75), appear promising. Opposite to conventional iron chelators like desferrioxamine, Dp44m is a tridentate ligand that forms redox active iron complexes leading to increased oxidant levels and cytotoxicity (76). These compounds also limit the growth of tumor xenografts in nude mice and have entered clinical trials, but their effect on CSC has not been tested. However, considering the well-known drug resistance of CSC, it is worth to mention that lysosomal-targeted Dp44m prevents the sequestration of a chemotherapeutic anthracycline like doxorubicin in lysosomes, which is triggered by the stressful environment of the tumor (77). Through this mechanism, which allows doxorubicin to exert its toxic effects in the nucleus and the mitochondria, this chelator may thus favor the action of anticancer drugs. In the same line, a recent study showed that a novel iron chelator, DpdtC (di-2pyridylketone hydrazone dithiocarbamate) can induce lysosomal oxidant production and growth inhibition of HCC cell lines (78).

The use of these compounds represents therefore an approach similar to that relying on the toxic side of iron for killing cancer cells (see below). This strategy gained momentum after the discovery of ferroptosis, a form on non-apoptotic cell death caused by iron-dependent production and accumulation of reactive and toxic hydroperoxides (79). Iron plays a dual role in ferroptosis, as iron on the one hand can promote Fenton chemistry and on the other hand stimulate the activity of the iron-dependent enzyme lipoxygenases that contribute to ferroptosis by degrading polyunsaturated fatty-acid-containing phospholipids (80). Malignant cells generate high levels of oxidants as by-products of the biosynthesis of macromolecules and must balance iron uptake for proliferation with the risk of generating oxidative stress (81). Since most ferroptosis-inducing agents have limited use in vivo due to low bioavailability (82), iron may thus have potential to trigger ferroptotic cell death in cancer, as high iron concentrations may push malignant cells beyond the breaking point of oxidative stress tolerance (34). Interestingly, it has been shown that iron is required to induce ferroptosis also in drug-resistant "persister" cancer cells, thus showing therapeutic promise to eliminate this pool of tumor cells characterized by non-mutational drug-tolerance (83).

Alternatively, iron may potentiate the effect of anticancer drugs like the multikinase inhibitor sorafenib, which is used for treating HCC. In fact, the evidence that iron chelation protected HCC cells against iron-dependent oxidative stress caused by sorafenib indicates that ferroptosis can represent an inhibitory mechanism of the growth of liver cancer cells (84). A further indication of the role of iron and ferroptosis in PLC was provided by a study showing that ferritin induction protects HCC cells from ferroptosis (85).

Triggering ferroptosis appears a promising approach also to attack CSC, which represent a negative factor for cancer outcome (86). Ovarian CSC showed higher sensitivity to ferroptosis than non-tumorigenic ovarian stem cells (66) and a recent study showed that in breast CSC exposure to salinomycin and its derivatives leads to lysosomal iron accumulation, oxidants

production and ferroptosis (87). Similarly, increased intracellular iron levels provided by ferritin degradation can lead glioblastoma cells to ferroptosis (64). However, a number of recent studies have shown that CSC are iron-rich and iron-dependent (4); therefore, enhancing cellular iron may not always be an effective strategy to eliminate CSC selectively. Moreover, in general, low levels of oxidants have been reported in CSC, making difficult the approach based on targeting iron-dependent, oxidant related pathways in CSC. In fact, we found that sphere-forming CCA cells, in spite of higher levels of oxidants and iron, were more resistant to the ferroptosis inducer erastin than their counterpart growing as monolayer (51). It seems therefore that, before recommending the manipulation of iron homeostasis as a therapeutic tool for targeting tumors and the use of iron supplementation to promote ferroptosis of cancer cells, additional studies are needed to understand the role of iron in the pathways controlling cell death, as iron can possibly promote CSC cell growth, thereby affecting the survival of cancer patients.

It should be also kept in mind that HCC almost always develop in the context of chronic liver disease characterized by persistent damage and inflammation, which can be further stimulated by iron supplementation.

TARGETING IRON TO CANCER CELLS

Administration of massive quantities of iron successfully killed multiple myeloma cells (88), though these cells, which secrete large amounts of disulfide-rich immunoglobulins and are thus a source of oxidants (89), may be particularly sensitive to irondependent oxidative stress. Iron may also mediate the effect of high i.v. doses of vitamin C that were reported to kill liver CSC specifically both *in vitro* and *in vivo* by promoting oxidant production (90). This paradoxical effect of a recognized antioxidant may be explained by the strong reducing properties of ascorbic acid which, at pharmacological concentrations (>1 mM), maintains iron in the highly reactive ferrous form, thereby increasing, instead of preventing, oxidative stress and cell death.

How to load cancer cells, in particular CSC, with iron in vivo, possibly in a specific way ? Oral iron is poorly adsorbed and its uptake is subjected to a strict feed-back regulation (91), therefore, even recurring to novel nanoparticulate ferritin core mimetics (92), it does not appear a promising approach. Parenteral iron preparations, such as dextran iron, have higher efficacy but relatively poor safety due to hypersensitivity reactions. However, new formulations, such as iron gluconate and iron sucrose, do not present toxicity issues and two iv iron compounds prepared with new pharmaceutical technologies are currently approved for the treatment of iron deficiency anemia (93) and could be used in cancer patients. These iron complexes are endocytosed and processed by macrophages within the reticuloendothelial system, mainly in the liver, spleen and bone marrow, but the precise mechanism of recognition and internalization is not fully defined (94). Inside the macrophages, iron is released from the iron-carbohydrate complex in acidic endo-lysosomes through a mechanism incompletely understood and subsequently transported to the cytoplasm, where it can be stored in ferritin or exported into the bloodstream by Fpn.

An approach alternative to exogenous iron administration is to impair safe intracellular iron storage, for example by triggering lysosomal ferritin degradation. Indeed, treatment of breast CSC with salinomycin resulted in increased ferritin degradation in lysosomes; the iron released then facilitated oxidants production and ferroptosis (87). An analogous release of catalytic ferrous iron from ferritin led mesothelioma cells to death after exposure to non-thermal plasma, which produces hydroxyl radicals (95). Similarly, artesunate, by enhancing lysosomal ferritin degradation, was able to induce cell death in HCC cell lines (96). Notably, regulated autophagic degradation of ferritin (ferritinophagy) contributes to ferroptosis and was found to occur in primary human hepatic stellate cells obtained from liver tissue of advanced fibrotic patients with HCC, thereby alleviating liver fibrosis (97). However, ferritin is not only, or not always, a source of iron for Fenton chemistry. Iron storage inside ferritin is a protective stratagem against iron-mediated oxidative injury (34, 61) and also mitochondrial ferritin shields this important organelle from oxidants damage (98). The relevance of this function in cancer has been shown by a study reporting that high ferritin expression in myeloma cells is directly related to increased resistance to oxidants generated by exposure to the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib (88). A similar effect was found in HCC cells in which oxidative stress mediated induction of ferritin protected from ferroptosis (85).

The alterations of iron homeostasis seem to involve not only cancer cells, but also other cell types of the tumor microenvironment, particularly macrophages. In response to signals in the tumor microenvironment, tumor-associated macrophages (TAM), which favor tumor growth and progression, often become similar to M2 polarized macrophages endowed with anti-inflammatory activity, which display a gene expression profile characterized by active iron uptake and release and ferritin repression (99, 100). Therefore, this kind of iron metabolism in TAM macrophages might promote tumor growth by providing iron to adjacent tumor cells (101). Notably, also CCA CSC prime TAM toward a tumor-promoting phenotype, although iron metabolism has not been explored in this setting (24). However, it should be noted that the TAM population may be heterogeneous (102), as it has been found that in one type of murine prostate cancer, but not in another model of prostate cancer, some TAM contain iron aggregates typical of iron storing macrophages (103, 104) and in ovarian cancer TAM presented a prevalence of M1 phenotype (105). In this case, TAM, by sequestering iron, may limit its availability to cancer cells, thus impairing tumor growth. On the other hand, accumulation of an excess of exogenously administered iron, in the same way as an excess of heme iron in hemorrhagic tumor regions (106), may induce a switch of TAM toward the M1 antitumor phenotype, which is associated with the most favorable prognosis, as recently confirmed by extensive immunogenomic analysis of thousands of diverse tumor types (102).

It should be noted that in malignancies induced (or accompanied) by constant damage and chronic inflammation like HCC, two factors can further impinge on iron trafficking: on

the one hand, TAM are more M1-like (107) and could restrict iron availability in the microenvironment and exert toxicity against malignant cells; on the other hand, the high hepcidin levels caused by inflammation may weaken Fpn-mediated iron release from macrophages, thus contrasting the iron-donating activity of TAM. These considerations are at odd with the correlation between high hepcidin levels and tumor progression in breast cancer patients (108, 109) and poorer prognosis in CCA (51). However, hepcidin may interact with Fpn expressed by both TAM and cancer cells; moreover, other iron transporters like lipocalin2 (110) may be involved.

While the role of iron in TAM, which seems clearly contextdependent, remains to be fully clarified, iron handling by TAM may have therapeutic implications. In fact, a seemingly promising approach relies on the use of iron oxide nanoparticles, a type of nanocarriers used for cancer targeted drug delivery, which are internalized by macrophages, including TAM. In line with in vitro data showing that superparamagnetic iron oxides induce a macrophage shift from the M2 to the M1 subtype (111), a recent study showed that iron oxide nanoparticles inhibited tumor growth indirectly by inducing M1 polarization. Highly increased iron levels in TAM resulted in oxidants production and cancer cell apoptosis (112). While the specific targeting of some species of drug delivering nanoparticles to tumors relies on the higher permeability of leaky blood vessels inside the cancerous mass, thanks to the magnetic properties of iron oxide nanoparticles, a localized external magnetic field can be used to guide these nanoparticles to tumors, thus achieving an improved therapeutic response and reducing side effects.

CONCLUSIONS

There is growing evidence that iron homeostasis is dysregulated in cancer, including PLC, and over the past few years also insights into the key role of iron in CSC have emerged. CSC show alterations of iron metabolism leading to a phenotype characterized by elevated cellular iron content, so that the expression of their typical features, such as stemness, is inhibited by iron chelators, thus suggesting the use of these compounds for CSC-targeted therapy. On the other hand, most recent therapeutic approaches seem aimed at exploiting the capacity of excess iron to induce ferroptotic cell death in cancer cells. However, given the involvement of iron in many important pathophysiological settings, it should be considered that we need to better understand how manipulation of iron levels to contrast tumor growth may interfere with iron homeostasis in healthy tissues or worsen conditions accompanying cancer, such as inflammation or anemia. Moreover, unfortunately, the mechanism(s) underlying the redox regulation in CSC are still not fully understood, as indicated by the higher resistance of CCA CSC to ferroptosis despite a higher basal oxidative stress condition (51).

Despite the still limited understanding of many processes, the increasing recognition of the importance of iron in cancer biology offers new chances to unravel tumor pathogenesis and thus develop more effective iron-centered therapeutic strategies against liver cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MC, SR, and GC wrote the manuscript. CR, revisions EG. and ΡI made significant the to manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Beachy PA, Karhadkar SS, Berman DM. Tissue repair and stem cell renewal in carcinogenesis. *Nature*. (2004) 432:324–31. doi: 10.1038/nature03100
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z. The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? *Cell Stem Cell*. (2015) 16:225–38. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Magee JA, Piskounova E, Morrison SJ. Cancer stem cells: impact, heterogeneity, and uncertainty. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 21:283–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.03.003
- Recalcati S, Gammella E, Cairo G. Dysregulation of iron metabolism in cancer stem cells *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2018) 133:216-220. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.07.015
- El-Serag HB. Hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:1118–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1001683
- Banales JM, Cardinale V, Carpino G, Marzioni M, Andersen JB, Invernizzi P, et al. Expert consensus document: cholangiocarcinoma: current knowledge and future perspectives consensus statement from the european network for the study of cholangiocarcinoma (ENS-CCA). *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2016) 13:261–80. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro. 2016.51
- Castelli G, Pelosi E, Testa U. Liver cancer: molecular characterization, clonal evolution and cancer stem cells. *Cancers.* (2017) 9:E127. doi: 10.3390/cancers9090127
- Sullivan KM, Kenerson HL, Pillarisetty VG, Riehle KJ, Yeung RS. Precision oncology in liver cancer. *Ann Transl Med.* (2018) 6:285. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.06.14
- Blechacz B, Gores GJ. Cholangiocarcinoma: advances in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *Hepatology*. (2008) 48:308–21. doi: 10.1002/hep.22310
- Rizvi S, Gores GJ. Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management of cholangiocarcinoma. *Gastroenterology.* (2013) 145:1215–29. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.013
- 11. Oikawa T. Cancer Stem cells and their cellular origins in primary liver and biliary tract cancers. *Hepatology*. (2016) 64:645–51. doi: 10.1002/hep.28485
- Heppner GH, Miller BE. Tumor heterogeneity: biological implications and therapeutic consequences. *Cancer Metasta Rev.* (1983) 2:5–23. doi: 10.1007/BF00046903
- Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell. (2014) 14:275–91. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.02.006
- Raggi C, Mousa HS, Correnti M, Sica A, Invernizzi P. Cancer stem cells and tumor-associated macrophages: a roadmap for multitargeting strategies. *Oncogene*. (2015) 35:671–82. doi: 10.1038/onc.2015.132
- O'Brien CA, Pollett A, Gallinger S, Dick JE. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature*. (2007) 445:106–10. doi: 10.1038/nature05372
- Borovski T, De Sousa E Melo F, Vermeulen L, Medema JP. Cancer stem cell niche: the place to be. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:634–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3220
- Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. Nature. (2013) 501:328–37. doi: 10.1038/nature12624
- da Silva-Diz V, Lorenzo-Sanz L, Bernat-Peguera A, Lopez-Cerda M, Muñoz P. Cancer cell plasticity: impact on tumor progression and therapy response. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 53:48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.08.009
- Yamashita T, Ji J, Budhu A, Forgues M, Yang W, Wang HY, et al. EpCAM-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells are tumor-initiating cells with stem/progenitor cell features. *Gastroenterology*. (2009) 136:1012–24. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.12.004

FUNDING

Work in the author's laboratories was supported by grants from the Ministry of University and Research (MIUR), COFIN project, to GC; Italian Foundation of Cancer Research (AIRC) award (MFGA17588) to CR; MC was supported by AIRC.

- Marquardt JU, Raggi C, Andersen JB, Seo D, Avital I, Geller D, et al. Human hepatic cancer stem cells are characterized by common stemness traits and diverse oncogenic pathways. *Hepatology*. (2011) 54:1031–42. doi: 10.1002/hep.24454
- Raggi C, Factor VM, Seo D, Holczbauer A, Gillen MC, Marquardt JU, et al. Epigenetic reprogramming modulates malignant properties of human liver cancer. *Hepatology*. (2014) 59:2251–62. doi: 10.1002/hep.27026
- Ma S, Chan KW, Hu L, Lee TK, Wo JY, Ng IO, et al. Identification and characterization of tumorigenic liver cancer stem/progenitor cells. *Gastroenterology*. (2007) 132:2542–56. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.025
- Kokuryo T, Yokoyama Y, Nagino M. Recent advances in cancer stem cell research for cholangiocarcinoma. J Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Sci. (2012) 19:606–13. doi: 10.1007/s00534-012-0542-6
- Raggi C, Correnti M, Sica A, Andersen JB, Cardinale V, Alvaro D, et al. Cholangiocarcinoma stem-like subset shapes tumor-initiating niche by educating associated macrophages. *J Hepatol.* (2017) 66:102–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.08.012
- Rais Y, Zviran A, Geula S, Gafni O, Chomsky E, Viukov S, et al. Deterministic direct reprogramming of somatic cells to pluripotency. *Nature*. (2013) 502:65–70. doi: 10.1038/nature12587
- Chaffer CL, Brueckmann I, Scheel C, Kaestli AJ, Wiggins PA, Rodrigues LO, et al. Normal and neoplastic nonstem cells can spontaneously convert to a stem-like state. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:7950–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102454108
- Correnti M, Raggi C. Stem-like plasticity and heterogeneity of circulating tumor cells: current status and prospect challenges in liver cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:7094–115. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12569
- Cardinale V, Renzi A, Carpino G, Torrice A, Bragazzi MC, Giuliante F, et al. Profiles of cancer stem cell subpopulations in cholangiocarcinomas. *Am J Pathol.* (2015) 185:1724–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.02.010
- Wilson GS, Hu Z, Duan W, Tian A, Wang XM, McLeod D, et al. Efficacy of using cancer stem cell markers in isolating and characterizing liver cancer stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2013) 22:2655–64. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0703
- Baguley BC. Multiple drug resistance mechanisms in cancer. Mol Biotechnol. (2010) 46:308–16. doi: 10.1007/s12033-010-9321-2
- Li X, Lewis MT, Huang J, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, et al. Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2008) 100:672–9. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn123
- 32. Ginestier C, Hur MH, Charafe-Jauffret E, Monville F, Dutcher J, Brown M, et al. ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2007) 1:555–67. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.014
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature*. (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- 34. Gammella E, Recalcati S, Cairo G. Dual Role of ROS as signal and stress agents: iron tips the balance in favor of toxic effects. Oxida Med Cell Longevity. (2016) 2016:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2016/8629024
- Recalcati S, Gammella E, Buratti P, Cairo G. Molecular regulation of cellular iron balance. *IUBMB Life*. (2017) 69:389–98. doi: 10.1002/iub.1628
- Fonseca-Nunes A, Jakszyn P, Agudo A. Iron and cancer risk-a systematic review and meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2014) 23:12–31. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0733
- Pietrangelo A, Rocchi E, Ferrari A, Ventura E, Cairo G. Regulation of hepatic transferrin, transferrin receptor and ferritin genes in human siderosis. *Hepatology*. (1991) 14:1083–9. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840140623
- Niederau C, Fischer R, Sonnenberg A, Stremmel W, Trampisch HJ, Strohmeyer G. Survival and causes of death in cirrhotic and in noncirrhotic

patients with primary hemochromatosis. N Engl J Med. (1985) 313:1256–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198511143132004

- Torti SV, Torti FM. Iron and cancer: more ore to be mined. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:342–55. doi: 10.1038/nrc3495
- Manz DH, Blanchette NL, Paul BT, Torti FM, Torti SV. Iron and cancer: recent insights. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2016) 1368:149–61. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13008
- Spangler B, Morgan CW, Fontaine SD, Vander Wal MN, Chang CJ, Wells JA, et al. A reactivity-based probe of the intracellular labile ferrous iron pool. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2016) 12:680–5. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2116
- Tejedor JR, Papasaikas P, Valcárcel J. Genome-wide identification of Fas/CD95 alternative splicing regulators reveals links with iron homeostasis. *Mol Cell.* (2015) 57:23–38.
- Zhang J, Chen X. p53 tumor suppressor and iron homeostasis. FEBS J. (2019) 286:620–9. doi: 10.1111/febs.14638
- 44. Dongiovanni P, Fracanzani AL, Cairo G, Megazzini CP, Gatti S, Rametta R, et al. Iron-dependent regulation of MDM2 influences p53 activity and hepatic carcinogenesis. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 176:1006–17. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090249
- 45. Shen J, Sheng X, Chang Z, Wu Q, Wang S, Xuan Z, et al. Iron metabolism regulates p53 signaling through direct heme-p53 interaction and modulation of p53 localization, stability, and function. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 7:180–93. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.02.042
- Gammella E, Buratti P, Cairo G, Recalcati S. The transferrin receptor: the cellular iron gate. *Metallomics*. (2017) 9:1367–75. doi: 10.1039/C7MT00143F
- 47. Shen Y, Li X, Dong D, Zhang B, Xue Y, Shang P. Transferrin receptor 1 in cancer: a new sight for cancer therapy. *Am J Cancer Res.* (2018) 8:916–31.
- Cairo G, Tacchini L, Pietrangelo A. Lack of coordinate control of ferritin and transferrin receptor expression during rat liver regeneration. *Hepatology*. (1998) 28:173–8. doi: 10.1002/hep.510280123
- Shen Y, Li X, Zhao B, Xue Y, Wang S, Chen X, et al. Iron metabolism gene expression and prognostic features of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Cell Biochem*. (2018) 119:9178–204. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27184
- Jamnongkan W, Thanan R, Techasen A, Namwat N, Loilome W, Intarawichian P, et al. Upregulation of transferrin receptor-1 induces cholangiocarcinoma progression via induction of labile iron pool. *Tumour Biol.* (2017) 39:1010428317717655. doi: 10.1177/1010428317717655
- Raggi C, Gammella E, Correnti M, Buratti P, Forti E, Andersen JB, et al. Dysregulation of iron metabolism in cholangiocarcinoma Stem-like Cells. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:17667. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17804-1
- Wessling-Resnick M. Crossing the iron gate: why and how transferrin receptors mediate viral entry. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2018) 38:431–58. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-082117-051749
- Jian J, Yang Q, Huang X. Src regulates Tyr(20) phosphorylation of transferrin receptor-1 and potentiates breast cancer cell survival. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:35708–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.271585
- Chen AC, Donovan A, Ned-Sykes R, Andrews NC. Noncanonical role of transferrin receptor 1 is essential for intestinal homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:11714–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1511701112
- Liang W, Li Q, Ferrara N. Metastatic growth instructed by neutrophilderived transferrin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:11060–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1811717115
- Udali S, Castagna A, Corbella M, Ruzzenente A, Moruzzi S, Mazzi F, et al. Hepcidin and DNA promoter methylation in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2018) 48:e12870. doi: 10.1111/eci.12870
- Shpyleva SI, Muskhelishvili L, Tryndyak VP, Koturbash I, Tokar EJ, Waalkes MP, et al. Chronic administration of 2-acetylaminofluorene alters the cellular iron metabolism in rat liver. *Toxicol Sci.* (2011) 123:433–40. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr193
- Wang W, Deng Z, Hatcher H, Miller LD, Di X, Tesfay L, et al. IRP2 regulates breast tumor growth. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:497–507. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1224
- Chan JJ, Kwok ZH, Chew XH, Zhang B, Liu C, Soong TW, et al. A FTH1 gene:pseudogene:microRNA network regulates tumorigenesis in prostate cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2018) 46:1998–2011. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkx1248
- Bomford AB, Munro HN. Ferritin gene expression in health and malignancy. Pathobiology. (1992) 60:10–8. doi: 10.1159/000163691

- Arosio P, Carmona F, Gozzelino R, Maccarinelli F, Poli M. The importance of eukaryotic ferritins in iron handling and cytoprotection. *Biochem J.* (2015) 472:1–15. doi: 10.1042/BJ20150787
- El Hout M, Dos Santos L, Hamaï A, Mehrpour M. A promising new approach to cancer therapy: Targeting iron metabolism in cancer stem cells. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 53:125–38. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.07.009
- Wu KJ, Polack A, Dalla-Favera R. Coordinated regulation of ironcontrolling genes, H-ferritin and IRP2, by c-MYC. *Science*. (1999) 283:676–9. doi: 10.1126/science.283.5402.676
- Schonberg DL, Miller TE, Wu Q, Flavahan WA, Das NK, Hale JS, et al. Preferential Iron trafficking characterizes glioblastoma stem-like cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:441–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.09.002
- 65. Chitambar CR, Al-Gizawiy MM, Alhajala HS, Pechman KR, Wereley JP, Wujek R, et al. Gallium maltolate disrupts tumor iron metabolism and retards the growth of glioblastoma by inhibiting mitochondrial function and ribonucleotide reductase. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:1240–50. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-1009
- Basuli D, Tesfay L, Deng Z, Paul B, Yamamoto Y, Ning G, et al. Iron addiction: a novel therapeutic target in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36:4089–99. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.11
- Kanojia D, Zhou W, Zhang J, Jie C, Lo PK, Wang Q, et al. Proteomic profiling of cancer stem cells derived from primary tumors of HER2/Neu transgenic mice. *Proteomics*. (2012) 12:3407–15. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201200103
- Lobello N, Biamonte F, Pisanu ME, Faniello MC, Jakopin Ž, Chiarella E, et al. Ferritin heavy chain is a negative regulator of ovarian cancer stem cell expansion and epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:62019–33. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11495
- Pourcelot E, Lénon M, Mobilia N, Cahn JY, Arnaud J, Fanchon E, et al. Iron for proliferation of cell lines and hematopoietic progenitors: nailing down the intracellular functional iron concentration. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2015) 1853:1596–605. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.03.009
- Yamasaki T, Terai S, Sakaida I. Deferoxamine for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:576–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1105726
- Paubelle E, Zylbersztejn F, Alkhaeir S, Suarez F, Callens C, Dussiot M, et al. Deferasirox and vitamin D improves overall survival in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia after demethylating agents failure. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e65998. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065998
- 72. Lane DJ, Mills TM, Shafie NH, Merlot AM, Saleh Moussa R, Kalinowski DS, et al. Expanding horizons in iron chelation and the treatment of cancer: role of iron in the regulation of ER stress and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2014) 1845:166–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2014.01.005
- Recalcati S, Gammella E, Cairo G. New perspectives on the molecular basis of the interaction between oxygen homeostasis and iron metabolism. *Hypoxia*. (2015) 3:93–103. doi: 10.2147/HP.S83537
- 74. Spagnuolo RD, Recalcati S, Tacchini L, Cairo G. Role of hypoxiainducible factors in the dexrazoxane-mediated protection of cardiomyocytes from doxorubicin-induced toxicity. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2011) 163:299–312. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01208.x
- Moussa RS, Kovacevic Z, Bae DH, Lane DJR, Richardson DR. Transcriptional regulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, p21. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj.* (2018) 1862:761–74. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2017.10.009
- Kalinowski DS, Stefani C, Toyokuni S, Ganz T, Anderson GJ, Subramaniam NV, et al. Redox cycling metals: pedaling their roles in metabolism and their use in the development of novel therapeutics. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1863:727–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.01.026
- Al-Akra L, Bae DH, Sahni S, Huang MLH, Park KC, Lane DJR, et al. Tumor stressors induce two mechanisms of intracellular P-glycoprotein-mediated resistance that are overcome by lysosomal-targeted thiosemicarbazones. J Biol Chem. (2018) 293:3562–87. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.772699
- Huang T, Sun Y, Li Y, Wang T, Fu Y, Li C, et al. Growth Inhibition of a Novel iron chelator, dpdtc, against hepatoma carcinoma cell lines partly attributed to ferritinophagy-mediated lysosomal ROS generation. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2018) 2018:4928703. doi: 10.1155/2018/4928703
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, et al. Ferroptosis: a regulated *cell* death nexus linking metabolism, redox biology, and disease. *Cell*. (2017) 171:273–85. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.021

- Doll S, Conrad M. Iron and ferroptosis: A still ill-defined liaison. *IUBMB Life*. (2017) 69:423–34. doi: 10.1002/iub.1616
- Toyokuni S, Ito F, Yamashita K, Okazaki Y, Akatsuka S. Iron and thiol redox signaling in cancer: an exquisite balance to escape ferroptosis. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2017) 108:610–26. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.04.024
- Feng H, Stockwell BR. Unsolved mysteries: How does lipid peroxidation cause ferroptosis? *PLoS Biol.* (2018) 16:e2006203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2006203
- Hangauer MJ, Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Bole D, Eaton JK, Matov A, et al. Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition. *Nature*. (2017) 551:247–50. doi: 10.1038/nature24297
- Louandre C, Ezzoukhry Z, Godin C, Barbare JC, Mazière JC, Chauffert B, et al. Iron-dependent cell death of hepatocellular carcinoma cells exposed to sorafenib. *Int J Cancer*. (2013) 133:1732–42. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28159
- Sun X, Ou Z, Chen R, Niu X, Chen D, Kang R, et al. Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Hepatology*. (2016) 63:173–84. doi: 10.1002/hep.28251
- Carnero A, Garcia-Mayea Y, Mir C, Lorente J, Rubio IT, LLeonart ME. The cancer stem-cell signaling network and resistance to therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2016) 49:25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.07.001
- Mai TT, Hamaï A, Hienzsch A, Cañeque T, Müller S, Wicinski J, et al. Salinomycin kills cancer stem cells by sequestering iron in lysosomes. *Nat Chem.* (2017) 9:1025–33. doi: 10.1038/NCHEM.2778
- Campanella A, Santambrogio P, Fontana F, Frenquelli M, Cenci S, Marcatti M, et al. Iron increases the susceptibility of multiple myeloma cells to bortezomib. *Haematologica*. (2013) 98:971–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.074872
- Cenci S, Sitia R. Managing and exploiting stress in the antibody factory. FEBS Lett. (2007) 581:3652–7. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.04.031
- Lv H, Wang C, Fang T, Li T, Lv G, Han Q, et al. Vitamin C preferentially kills cancer stem cells in hepatocellular carcinoma via SVCT-2. *NPJ Precis Oncol.* (2018) 2:1. doi: 10.1038/s41698-017-0044-8
- Andrews NC, Schmidt PJ. Iron homeostasis. Annu Rev Physiol. (2007) 69:69–85. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.69.031905.164337
- Aslam MF, Frazer DM, Faria N, Bruggraber SF, Wilkins SJ, Mirciov C, et al. Ferroportin mediates the intestinal absorption of iron from a nanoparticulate ferritin core mimetic in mice. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28:3671–8. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-251520
- Girelli D, Ugolini S, Busti F, Marchi G, Castagna A. Modern iron replacement therapy: clinical and pathophysiological insights. *Int J Hematol.* (2018) 107:16–30. doi: 10.1007/s12185-017-2373-3
- Gustafson HH, Holt-Casper D, Grainger DW, Ghandehari H. Nanoparticle Uptake: The Phagocyte Problem. *Nano Today.* (2015) 10:487–510. doi: 10.1016/j.nantod.2015.06.006
- 95. Shi L, Ito F, Wang Y, Okazaki Y, Tanaka H, Mizuno M, et al. Non-thermal plasma induces a stress response in mesothelioma cells resulting in increased endocytosis, lysosome biogenesis and autophagy. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2017) 108:904–17. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.04.368
- 96. Yang ND, Tan SH, Ng S, Shi Y, Zhou J, Tan KS, et al. Artesunate induces cell death in human cancer cells via enhancing lysosomal function and lysosomal degradation of ferritin. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:33425–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.564567
- Zhang Z, Yao Z, Wang L, Ding H, Shao J, Chen A, et al. Activation of ferritinophagy is required for the RNA-binding protein ELAVL1/HuR to regulate ferroptosis in hepatic stellate cells. *Autophagy*. (2018) 14:2083–103. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2018.1503146
- Maccarinelli F, Gammella E, Asperti M, Regoni M, Biasiotto G, Turco E, et al. Mice lacking mitochondrial ferritin are more sensitive to doxorubicin-mediated cardiotoxicity. J Mol Med. (2014) 92:859–69. doi: 10.1007/s00109-014-1147-0
- 99. Recalcati S, Locati M, Marini A, Santambrogio P, Zaninotto F, De Pizzol M, et al. Differential regulation of iron homeostasis during human

macrophage polarized activation. Eur J Immunol. (2010) 40:824–35. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939889

- 100. Corna G, Campana L, Pignatti E, Castiglioni A, Tagliafico E, Bosurgi L, et al. Polarization dictates iron handling by inflammatory and alternatively activated macrophages. *Haematologica*. (2010) 95:1814–22. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2010.023879
- Cairo G, Recalcati S, Mantovani A, Locati M. Iron trafficking and metabolism in macrophages: contribution to the polarized phenotype. *Trends Immunol.* (2011) 32:241–7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2011.03.007
- 102. Thorsson V, Gibbs DL, Brown SD, Wolf D, Bortone DS, Ou Yang TH, et al. The immune landscape of cancer. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:812–30.e814. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.023
- 103. Leftin A, Zhao H, Turkekul M, de Stanchina E, Manova K, Koutcher JA. Iron deposition is associated with differential macrophage infiltration and therapeutic response to iron chelation in prostate cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:11632. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11899-2
- Leftin A, Ben-Chetrit N, Klemm F, Joyce JA, Koutcher JA. Iron imaging reveals tumor and metastasis macrophage hemosiderin deposits in breast cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0184765. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 184765
- 105. Madeddu C, Gramignano G, Kotsonis P, Coghe F, Atzeni V, Scartozzi M, et al. Microenvironmental M1 tumor-associated macrophage polarization influences cancer-related anemia in advanced ovarian cancer: key role of interleukin-6. *Haematologica*. (2018) 103:e388–91. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.191551
- 106. Costa da Silva M, Breckwoldt MO, Vinchi F, Correia MP, Stojanovic A, Thielmann CM, et al. Iron induces anti-tumor activity in tumor-associated macrophages. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1479. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01479
- 107. Biswas SK, Allavena P, Mantovani A. Tumor-associated macrophages: functional diversity, clinical significance, and open questions. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2013) 35:585–600. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0367-7
- Miller LD, Coffman LG, Chou JW, Black MA, Bergh J, D'Agostino R, et al. An iron regulatory gene signature predicts outcome in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:6728–37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1870
- Zhang S, Chen Y, Guo W, Yuan L, Zhang D, Xu Y, et al. Disordered hepcidinferroportin signaling promotes breast cancer growth. *Cell Signal.* (2014) 26:2539–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.07.029
- Pfeifhofer-Obermair C, Tymoszuk P, Petzer V, Weiss G, Nairz M. Iron in the Tumor Microenvironment-Connecting the Dots. *Front Oncol.* 8:549. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00549
- 111. Laskar A, Eilertsen J, Li W, Yuan XM. SPION primes THP1 derived M2 macrophages towards M1-like macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2013) 441:737–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.1 0.115
- 112. Zanganeh S, Hutter G, Spitler R, Lenkov O, Mahmoudi M, Shaw A, et al. Iron oxide nanoparticles inhibit tumour growth by inducing pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization in tumour tissues. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2016) 11:986– 94. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2016.168

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Recalcati, Correnti, Gammella, Raggi, Invernizzi and Cairo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells: Integrating and Exploiting the Acidic Niche

Catherine Vander Linden and Cyril Corbet*

Pole of Pharmacology and Therapeutics (FATH), Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique, UCLouvain, Brussels, Belgium

Cancer stem cells (CSC) or tumor-initiating cells represent a small subpopulation of cells within the tumor bulk that share features with somatic stem cells, such as self-renewal and pluripotency. From a clinical point of view, CSC are thought to be the main drivers of tumor relapse in patients by supporting treatment resistance and dissemination to distant organs. Both genome instability and microenvironment-driven selection support tumor heterogeneity and enable the emergence of resistant cells with stem-like properties, when therapy is applied. Besides hypoxia and nutrient deprivation, acidosis is another selection barrier in the tumor microenvironment (TME) which provides a permissive niche to shape more aggressive and fitter cancer cell phenotypes. This review describes our current knowledge about the influence of the "acidic niche" on the stem-like phenotypic features of cancer cells. In addition, we briefly survey new therapeutic options that may help eradicate CSC by integrating and/or exploiting the acidic niche, and thereby contribute to prevent the occurrence of therapy resistance as well as metastatic dissemination.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annarosa Arcangeli, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy

Reviewed by:

Michael P. Lisanti, University of Salford, United Kingdom Nor Eddine Sounni, University of Liège, Belgium Lido Calorini, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy

> *Correspondence: Cyril Corbet cyril.corbet@uclouvain.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 27 December 2018 Accepted: 25 February 2019 Published: 19 March 2019

Citation:

Vander Linden C and Corbet C (2019) Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells: Integrating and Exploiting the Acidic Niche. Front. Oncol. 9:159. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00159 Keywords: cancer stem cell, acidosis, niche, microenvironment, drug resistance, metabolism, metastasis, dormancy

INTRODUCTION

Despite a broader arsenal of (targeted) therapies, prognosis is still very poor for several types of cancer. At present, most patients with advanced cancers die because tumor cells have a remarkable capacity to develop drug resistance, through both genetic and non-genetic mechanisms (1). Current therapeutic failures are thought to originate, at least partly, from the Darwinian nature of cancer according to which, both genetic alterations and highly selective local microenvironments (the so-called niches) help to develop tumor cell adaptive phenotypes to sustain malignant progression (2, 3). Indeed, while current clinical protocols aim to eradicate the tumor as quickly as possible [i.e., maximum-tolerated dose (MTD) strategies], they often lead to therapeutic failure due to the occurrence of tumor relapse and dissemination of cancer cells to distant organs, after an initial tumor response or the lack of effectiveness at the outset. This alarming observation is thought to arise from two neglected evolutionary concepts. First, phenotypic heterogeneity within a tumor makes it very likely that resistant cells are present before therapy regardless of the cancer genetic landscape (i.e., *de novo* drug resistance). Second, MTD-based therapy promotes the growth of resistant populations *via* the clonal selection of cancer cells with adapted phenotypes and elimination of all potentially competing populations (the so-called "competitive release") (4).

Cancer stem cells (CSC), also referred to as tumor-initiating cells, have been thought to actively contribute to the so-called "minimal residual disease" which is a small population of cancer cells

34

that survive drug treatment and re-initiate the malignant disease, with poor outcome, even some years later (Figure 1) (5, 6). Within the tumor mass, CSC are typically dormant (i.e., non- or slow-proliferating) but they have also the capacity to proliferate either for their maintenance (self-renewal) or for the generation of progenitor tumor cells (clonal tumor initiation and long-term repopulation) (Figure 1) (7). CSC are located in specific niches, determined by tumor microenvironment (TME) peculiarities, that enable them to be phenotypically better adapted and more prone to regain fitness (i.e., ability to survive and proliferate in a given environment) than other cancer cell populations within the tumor bulk (8, 9). Moreover, these niches are thought to help protect CSC from the immune system, resist conventional treatments by reducing their proliferation state and/or evading apoptosis, and facilitate their metastatic potential (9-11). Since most of the normal stem cell populations (e.g., hematopoietic, mesenchymal, and neural stem cells) are located in hypoxic niches, how hypoxia contributes to the maintenance and/or emergence of the CSC phenotype has been extensively studied and reviewed over the years (12-14). Moreover, the role of stromal cells (e.g., cancer-associated fibroblasts, adipocytes, endothelial cells, or immune cells), as cellular components of specific CSC-supportive niches, has been also reported elsewhere (15-18). In this review, we describe how acidosis, another hallmark of TME, may act as a permissive niche for adaptive stem-like cancer cell phenotypes. We also discuss the contribution of the acidic niche to tumor initiation and progression, as well as to therapy resistance and metastatic dissemination. This review finally explores potential therapeutic strategies that may help eradicate CSC by integrating and/or exploiting the acidosis-induced phenotypic alterations.

Acidosis and CSC-Related Phenotypic Features Glycolysis, Mitochondrial Respiration, and Tumor Acidosis

Acidosis is now considered as a hallmark of the microenvironment in solid tumors with mean values of extracellular pH (pHe) ranging from 6.2 to 6.8 (19, 20). Although initially described as a strict consequence of the exacerbated glycolysis in tumor cells and the disorganized tumor vasculature, accumulation of H⁺ ions in the TME also results from the mitochondrial respiration-derived CO₂ hydration (Figure 2) (21, 22). Direct measurements of both intratumoral pO2 and pH have indeed revealed a spatial heterogeneity as well as an imperfect overlapping of hypoxia and acidosis gradients, with the existence of acidic areas that are also well-oxygenated (23, 24). Other studies have also shown that glycolysis-impaired or LDH-deficient tumor cell lines still have the ability to acidify the extracellular environment in vivo (25-27). More recently, Hulikova et al. (28) reported a role for stromal cells in the venting of hypoxia-induced acidosis, with gap junctionmediated connections that enable the cell-to-cell shuttling of cancer cell-derived H^+ ions and their venting at far distance from the hypoxic regions.

Tumor Acidosis and CSC-Related Gene Reprogramming

Although the effects of acid exposure on stem cell phenotype have been under controversy (29), there are now several lines of evidence for the role of tumor acidosis in the emergence and/or maintenance of CSC phenotypic features (e.g., slowproliferating state, invasive capacities, and therapy resistance) that may participate to the minimal residual disease and the longterm clinical dormancy/relapse (30, 31) (Figure 2). Nevertheless, the straightforward contribution of a transcriptional acidosisresponsive element that could mediate gene reprogramming has not been reported so far. Several studies have however identified the hypoxia-inducible factor 2α (HIF2 α) as a master regulator of gene expression in cancer cells, under acidic conditions (32-35) (Figure 3). Besides an increase of HIF2 α abundance, acidosis also enhances its transcriptional activity through the activation of NAD⁺-dependent histone deacetylases sirtuins 1 and 6 (SIRT1/6) (32, 36), thereby leading to the deacetylation of lysine residues in the HIF2a regulatory amino-terminal transactivation domain (N-TAD) region (32, 37). Another study has shown that highly acidic conditions (pH 5.8-6.2) can trigger nucleolar sequestration of the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor protein and subsequent HIF2 α stabilization (35) (Figure 3). However, a recent report has observed that VHLdeficient renal carcinoma cells are still responsive to acidosis with an increase in HIF2a levels, and that the acidic pHinduced stabilization of HIF2a is mediated by the HSP90 chaperone protein (33). Acidic pH, under normoxia, was also found to induce L-2-hydroxyglutarate (L-2HG) production through several mechanisms including the activation of lactate dehydrogenase A and malate dehydrogenase 2 enzymes, the inhibition of the mitochondrial L-2HG removal enzyme L-2HG dehydrogenase and the stimulation of the reverse reaction of isocitrate dehydrogenase (carboxylation of α-ketoglutarate to isocitrate), thereby leading to stabilization of HIF-1a (38, 39). Although 2HG-mediated epigenetic changes have been thought to support a stem-like cell state (40-42), the direct implication of an acidosis/2HG/HIF-2 α signaling axis in cancer stem cell biology remains to be determined (Figure 3). These data are however reminiscent of the occurrence of lactic acidosis in some 2-HG aciduric patients (43) and it could be hypothesized that acidotic episodes may induce 2HG accumulation.

In glioma, where HIF2 α is now considered as a marker of CSC (44), acidic conditions were documented to increase both the expression of a panel of glioma stem cells (GSC)-associated genes, including *POU5F1* (*OCT4*), *OLIG2*, and *NANOG*, independently of a restricted O₂ availability (34), and the fraction of cells positive for the GSC markers CD133 and CD15 (33). Acidosis also promotes production of angiogenic factors such as VEGF and IL-8 in GSC that favor tumor growth through paracrine effects (34). Acidosis has been also correlated to stem cells through the role of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) within the tumor stroma. MSCs grown in acidic pH express a higher level of transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) that induces an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)-like phenotype in melanoma cells (45). Acidosis-exposed MSCs also stimulate






the invasive and clonogenic capacities of osteosarcoma (OS) cells *via* the secretion of a variety of factors, including colonystimulating factor 2 (CSF2, also referred to as GM-CSF), CSF3 (also known as G-CSF), bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2), and interleukins 6 and 8 (IL6 and IL8) (46). MSCs, under acidic pH conditions, can also promote a stem cell phenotype in OS, by enhancing the sphere formation capacity and chemoresistance, *via* the induction of octamer-binding protein 4 (OCT4) (46). Finally, some studies have shown that cancer cell exposure to acidic conditions was associated with changes in the epigenetic landscape, including histone acetylation levels (36, 47), as well as a reprogramming of the genome-wide transcriptome (48, 49). Further investigations are however needed to study in depth the influence of the acidic niche on CSC (epi)genetic pattern, in other cancer types, but also in preclinical *in vivo* models.

Tumor Acidosis and Multidrug Resistance Phenotype

As stated above, CSC are resistant to anti-cancer treatments and they support long-term cancer cell survival and tumor relapse in patients. Acidosis has been directly correlated with drug resistance since it can reduce the passive permeability of weak base chemotherapeutic agents (e.g., doxorubicin, paclitaxel, mitoxantrone) by increasing their protonation state (the so-called "ion trapping" phenomenon) (50) (**Figure 4**). Several studies have indeed shown that neutralization of tumor-derived acid with systemic buffers (e.g., sodium bicarbonate, imidazoles, and lysine) (51) or the reversal of the pH gradient with proton pump inhibitors (e.g., omeprazole, esomeprazole) (52–54) can restore the sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs, such as doxorubicin.



A; MDH2, malate dehydrogenase 2; PHD, prolyl hydroxylase; Ub, ubiquitin. Besides this direct effect on the physico-chemical nature of anti-cancer drugs, acidosis can also promote a resistancesustaining phenotype in cancer cells through different mechanisms. Indeed, while conventional treatments such as chemotherapies and/or radiation therapy are usually designed to eradicate highly proliferative cells, acidosis has been reported to reduce the proliferation status of cancer cells, that in some conditions even become relatively dormant (quiescent). Several studies have shown that cancer cells, exposed to acute acidic conditions, exhibit a low-proliferating phenotype as a consequence of a non-permissive intracellular acidification, an increased activity of the metabolic stress sensor AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and a reduction of the multi-component mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) signaling (Figure 4) (55-58). Another study reported that acidic conditions triggered a reduced proliferation state and high resistance to apoptosis in BRAF^{V600E} mutant melanoma cells (59). Acidosis-mediated melanoma cell phenotype was also associated with an acquired resistance to vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor, that could be overcome by treatment with everolimus, an inhibitor

Acidosis can also increase drug efflux capacities, both in *in vitro* and *in vivo* cancer models, through the upregulation and activation of membrane transporters such as the ATP-binding cassette protein ABCG2 (60), and the P-glycoprotein (P-gp) (61–64). For the latter, acidosis-induced chemotherapy resistance is

mainly mediated through p38 signaling and can be reversed by treatment with verapamil, a P-gp inhibitor (61, 63). Another mechanism reported to mediate acidosis-induced therapy resistance is the unfolded protein response (UPR) pathway. Indeed, acidic conditions can trigger endoplasmic reticulum stress, thereby resulting in UPR activation and overexpression of the glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) chaperone that contributes to chemotherapy-induced cell death resistance (65-67) (Figure 4). Finally, autophagy has also been described as an adaptive survival mechanism for cancer cells under acidosis, in particular through the enhanced expression of autophagy-related protein 5 (ATG5) (68, 69). Although an increased autophagic flux has already been associated with chemotherapy resistance in a variety of cancers (70), Avnet et al. (52) have reported that acidosis-induced doxycycline resistance in OS cells is not supported by autophagy since ATG5 gene silencing cannot restore drug sensitivity. These observations suggest that acidosisdriven drug resistant phenotype might be tumor type-dependent and/or supported by a variety of mechanisms that are redundant and have therefore the ability to compensate for the inhibition of one of them.

Tumor Acidosis and Immune Escape

Besides their ability to resist conventional treatments, CSC needs also to evade immune surveillance to support cellular dormancy and long-term clinical relapse. Acidic pHe conditions have been reported to decrease T cell proliferation and their capacity

of mTOR activity (59).



to produce a variety of cytokines, including interleukin-2 (IL-2), interferon- γ (IFN- γ), granzyme B and perforin, in a dosedependent manner (71). Tumor acidosis also impairs immune system functions by reducing dendritic cell maturation (72), monocyte-derived tumor necrosis factor (TNF) secretion (73), and natural killer (NK) activity (74). Indeed, tumor-derived H⁺ and/or lactate accumulation, in the extracellular compartment, supports the suppressive effect on T cell function by inhibiting the glycolytic pathway within T cells (71, 73). Moreover, inhibition of the transcription factor nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) has been proposed to mediate the blockade of IFNy production in T cells and NK cells, upon intracellular accumulation of H⁺ and lactate (75). The same authors also proposed a direct role of LDHA for lactate generation and the subsequent inhibition of tumor surveillance by T and NK cells (75). Mouse melanomas with reduced H^+ and lactate generation (upon LDHA genetic knockdown) actually exhibit a lower growth rate than control tumors and show an increased infiltration of IFNy-producing T and NK cells (75). Importantly, this effect was lost when LDHA-knockdown tumors were grown either in immunodeficient $Rag2^{-/-}\gamma c^{-/-}$ mice or in $Ifng^{-/-}$ mice. Another study has revealed that phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), a glycolytic intermediate, can act as a metabolic checkpoint to sense glucose availability and modulate a Ca²⁺-NFAT signaling, such that a decrease of PEP intracellular concentration triggers a T cell anergy (76). A recent study also reported that extracellular acidification, within melanoma tumors, can be sensed by tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), resulting in macrophage polarization and promotion of tumor growth (77). Mechanistically, a macrophage G-protein-coupled receptor (GCPR) can sense tumor acidification and leads to expression, by macrophages, of the inducible cyclic AMP early repressor (ICER), a transcriptional repressor that mediates the functional polarization into TAMs, which support tumor growth (77). Neutralization of tumor acidity with sodium bicarbonate (78), or with proton pump inhibitors (79) helps to improve the response to antitumor immunotherapy by restoring T cell cytolytic activity and cytokine secretion together with an increased tumor lymphocyte infiltration in mouse models but also in human cancer patients.

Tumor Acidosis and Metabolic Rewiring

Current controversy about the metabolic characteristics of CSC, described as either strictly glycolytic (80, 81) or instead dependent on mitochondrial metabolism (82, 83) may simply reflect their adaptability upon microenvironmental fluctuations. Here below, we will strictly focus on the current understanding of the influence of a low pH on cancer cell metabolism in an attempt to delineate the anticipated interplay between stemness and metabolism in the acidic TME niche.

Indeed, while cancer cells can use a variety of substrates to fulfill their need in energy and/or biosynthetic precursors (84, 85), we have recently documented, by using tumor cell lines chronically adapted to acidosis, a metabolic shift toward

a preferential use of glutamine to the detriment of glucose utilization (32). HIF2 α was found to drive glutamine metabolism by increasing expression of the glutamine transporter ASC-like Na⁺-dependent neutral amino acid transporter 2 (ASCT2) and glutaminase 1 (GLS1) (32). On the contrary, HIF1a activity and expression are reduced under chronic acidosis, thereby decreasing the expression of several target genes, including the glucose transporter GLUT1 and the monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) (32). Another study has also reported that several breast cancer cell lines, exposed to acute acidic conditions (24 h), show an increased glutaminolysis and redirection of glucose toward the oxidative branch of the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), via a p53-dependent induction of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD), and glutaminase GLS2 expression (56). These metabolic changes certainly support an antioxidant response of acidosis-exposed cancer cells by increasing NADPH production and may have yet a broader impact considering how glycolysis inhibition may lead to various defects in protein glycosylation (86).

Besides changes in glutamine and glucose metabolism, tumor acidosis has also been related to profound alterations in lipid metabolism (Figure 5). Indeed, acidosis-induced reductive carboxylation of glutamine-derived α -ketoglutarate was reported as a source of acetyl-CoA from citrate to neo-synthesize fatty acids (36). Acetate was identified as another source of acetyl-CoA for fatty acid synthesis, under acidic conditions, in response to activation of sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 (SREBP2) and subsequent upregulation of acyl-CoA synthetase short-chain family member 2 (ACSS2) (87). Importantly, fatty acid oxidation (FAO) is also stimulated in acidosis-exposed cancer cells (36, 56). This apparent juxtaposition of mitochondrial FA catabolism and cytosolic FA synthesis is rendered possible through a sirtuin-mediated histone deacetylation of the ACACB gene, encoding the mitochondrionassociated acetyl-CoA carboxylase 2 (ACC2) enzyme that normally prevents the degradation of neo-synthesized fatty acids in healthy tissues (Figure 5) (36).

Mild acidosis can also change mitochondrial morphology to preserve efficient ATP production regardless of O₂ levels (88); these data are supportive of the concept of an acidic niche that shapes cancer cells toward an OXPHOS-dependent metabolic phenotype. Interestingly, compelling evidence indicates that cancer stem-like cells, including therapy-resistant tumor cells, mostly rely on mitochondrial respiration and OXPHOS for growth (82, 83, 89, 90). Moreover, a recent study reported the isolation and characterization of a new distinct subpopulation of proliferating CSC, called "energetic" CSC, showing a significantly increased oxidative metabolism and mitochondrial mass, as well as a strict reliance on OXPHOS when grown in 3D anchorageindependent conditions (91). All these studies position an elevated mitochondrial metabolism as an important phenotypic adaptation for cancer stem-like cells and expand on the anticancer potential of mitochondrial biogenesis inhibitors, such as doxycycline or tigecycline (92).

More precisely, the role of FA metabolism, together with the concept of an adipose tissue niche, has been reported to support tumor growth and resistance to chemotherapy (18, 93, 94). Indeed, some investigators have documented that cancer cells transiently exposed to low pH conditions may accumulate neutral lipids into lipid droplets (LD) (95, 96). More recently, Menard et al. (97) reported that acute exposure of cancer cells to acidosis increases the uptake of lipoproteins, in a heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG)-dependent manner, which are then accumulated into LD. This LD-loaded phenotype is associated with enhanced spheroid-forming capacity in vitro and metastatic potential in vivo; pharmacological or genetic targeting of HSPG could fully reverse these effects (97). This acidosis-induced LD-loaded phenotype is reminiscent of the accumulation of neutral lipids observed in colorectal CSC populations (Figure 5) (98-100). High levels of LD were actually found as a distinctive mark of CSC in colorectal cancer, as revealed by label-free Raman spectroscopy, and they correlated with CSC markers such as CD133 and Wnt pathway activity (98). Finally, an elegant study revealed that increased lipid desaturation, via the activity of the stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 (SCD1) enzyme, is essential to stem-like characteristics in ovarian cancer cells (94). Indeed, the authors have shown that ovarian CSC (ALDH⁺/CD133⁺) have a higher ratio of unsaturated to saturated fatty acids, and this ratio is essential for the cells to retain stemness. Further investigations are however needed to address whether acidic conditions in the TME also induce similar changes of the lipid profile in cancer (stem) cells.

Acidosis-Based Therapeutic Strategies to Tackle CSC Compartment

Therapeutic Strategies to Directly Manipulate/Exploit Extracellular pH

Utilization of systemic buffers, such as sodium bicarbonate, imidazoles and lysine, was proposed several years ago as an obvious strategy to directly neutralize the tumor-derived acid and hamper tumor cell aggressiveness (101-106). Importantly, all these studies actually showed that oral administration of such buffers reduces the metastatic dissemination of cancer cells in animal models without affecting primary tumor growth. Many groups have already documented that acidosis could facilitate migration/invasion of cancer cells in vitro as well as metastasis formation in vivo via the activation of proteases (101, 107, 108), the secretion of pro-angiogenic factors (109) or the promotion of an EMT-like phenotype (110, 111). Further investigations are however needed to address whether interfering with tumor acidification is directly correlated with a decrease in stem-like cell population. As stated above, several studies have shown that buffer therapy (51) can restore the sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs, such as doxorubicin. There is however no direct evidence for a straightforward modulation of acidosis-induced cancer cell phenotype (vs. changes of the physico-chemical properties of the drug) by systemic buffer administration.

Because of their relative small proportion into the tumor bulk and their phenotypic features strongly associated with the local microenvironment peculiarities, CSCs are indeed inherently difficult to isolate and to maintain in culture, making almost unfeasible a direct CSC-selective screening of small molecules.



This obstacle has prompted the artificial induction of EMT to produce cells displaying CSC-like characteristics suitable for high-throughput phenotypic screening (112–114). Salinomycin, an ionophore antibiotic, was identified as a selective agent against experimentally-induced CSCs (113, 115). Interestingly, salinomycin-induced cytotoxic effects were enhanced under conditions of transient and chronic acidosis, with in particular an inhibition of autophagic flux in breast CSC-like cells (116).

Tumor acidosis can also be exploited in order to selectively deliver anti-cancer drugs (117). Over the years, a variety of pHsensitive nano-systems, such as peptides, micelles, liposomes, nanoparticles and polymersomes, have been synthesized, as extensively reviewed elsewhere (118–120). Nevertheless, only few studies have reported the use of such nano-scale carriers, responding to an acidic pH, for the selective targeting of CSC. A pH-responsive prodrug (PEG-modified doxorubicin) has for instance been co-delivered with SN38, an active metabolite of irinotecan, to eradicate both breast CSC and non-CSC populations (121). Such stable nanomedicine with pH sensitivity enhances drug accumulation at the tumor site, thereby leading to a potent tumor growth inhibition, while reducing chemotherapy-induced adverse effects (121). Finally, pH low-insertion peptides (pHLIP) have recently emerged as new modalities for tumor-specific drug delivery, but also for tumor imaging (122). These water-soluble membrane peptides undergo pH-dependent folding that triggers insertion across the cell membrane (123, 124). A pHLIP can directly translocate cargo molecules (attached to its C-terminal tail) through cell membranes without binding to cell surface receptors or pore formation. Although systemic administration of pHLIP has been used for the translocation of a variety of molecules, including chemotherapeutic drugs such as paclitaxel and doxorubicin (125, 126), antimicrobial peptides (127), polar membrane-impermeable peptides (e.g., phalloidin and other toxins) (128, 129) and peptide nucleic acid antimiRs (130), none study has investigated a specific targeting of CSC-like tumor cells with pHLIP-conjugated anti-cancer drugs. pHLIP grafted with agents known to interfere with CSC phenotypic features could be particularly suited to selectively kill this small cell subpopulation.

Therapeutic Targets and Modalities to Exploit Acidosis-Induced Phenotypic Alterations

As stated above, tumor acidosis induces several CSC-like phenotypic features that could be directly targeted for a therapeutic purpose. Among them, acidosis-mediated metabolic rewiring has a huge potential to be genetically or pharmacologically targeted since many enzymes/transporters that sustain cancer cell growth under low pH conditions are known (see above). Indeed, systemic administration of chitosan-based nanoparticles loaded with siRNA targeting two key transporters of energy fuels for acidosis-adapted cancer cells, namely the lactate/acetate transporter MCT1 and the glutamine transporter ASCT2, could lead to significant *in vivo* antitumor effects (131). Moreover, *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments revealed that acidosis accounts for a net increase in tumor sensitivity to BPTES, an inhibitor glutaminase GLS1 (32).

Dysregulated fatty acid metabolism is another critical determinant of acidosis-adapted cancer cell growth, with the simultaneous occurrence of FAO and FAS pathways. Inhibition of mitochondrial transport of acyl-CoA, *via* the blockade of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1) activity with etomoxir, showed a selective growth inhibitory effect in acidosis-adapted cancer cells (36). This is in adequation with the important role of FAO to support tumor proliferation and survival in a wide panel of tumors, including triple-negative breast cancer, glioma, leukemia, and colon (132). It is noteworthy that some compounds of interest, able to interfere with FAO, are currently under clinical development or already in use (perhexiline, trimetazidine, ranolazine) for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases; the anticancer potential of these molecules could therefore be rapidly evaluated in clinical trials.

Finally, acidosis-induced (epi)genetic reprogramming is another feature that might be targeted to eradicate stem-like cancer cells. Dual inhibition of SIRT1/6, with EX-527 compound, could for instance trigger selective growth inhibition of acidosisadapted cancer cells (32). This effect was indeed associated with the re-expression of ACC2 enzyme that prevents the concomitant occurrence of FA oxidation and synthesis in acidosis-adapted cancer cells (36). Another study documented that human osteosarcoma cells were more sensitive to the inhibitor of histone deacetylases MC 1742 under acidosis than under neutral pH (47). Of note, this compound was reported by others to suppress proliferation and induce apoptosis of CSC in the same cancer type (133). In view of the central role of HIF-2 α signaling under acidosis (see above), the use of recently developed HIF2 α selective inhibitors, PT2399 and PT2385 (134, 135), also appears as a promising therapeutic approach to selectively kill cancer (stem) cells exposed to acidic conditions.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Frequent occurrence of tumor relapse is a major limitation for the cure of many patients, and that despite major improvements in prevention, diagnosis, and treatments. It is now acknowledged that local microenvironmental conditions select stem-like cancer cell phenotypes that dictate therapy resistance and re-initiation of the disease at the primary site but also into distant organs after metastatic dissemination. Recent findings reviewed here point to acidosis as one of the major selection barriers in the TME forcing the outgrowth of adaptive fitter phenotypes, when therapy is applied. While hypoxia has been reported as a CSCpermissive niche for many years, effects of acidosis by itself on CSC-related features were investigated more recently, upon the compelling evidence that oxygen and pH gradients were not perfectly overlapping in tumors. The reliance of CSC on the acidic niche is mediated by several mechanisms, including gene reprogramming, metabolic rewiring, apoptosis evasion and immune surveillance escape. Because a low pHe is a common feature of most solid tumors (vs. healthy tissues), there is an obvious interest to identify new therapeutic modalities that aim to take advantage of acidosis to selectively deliver anticancer drugs into tumors and eradicate resistance-sustaining cell populations such as CSC.

Since environment-mediated phenotype of cancer (stem) cells evolves de facto with time and tumor development, relevant preclinical, experimentally tractable, models as well as innovative approaches are needed to explore the intimate relationship between TME (in particular acidosis), cancer cell phenotypic adaptations (e.g., metabolic preferences) and drug response. Indeed, despite the strong evidence supporting the CSC model in a variety of cancers, it is critical to acknowledge major limitations associated with the poor reliability of CSC identification based on cell-surface markers expression and the lack of direct evidence about their in vivo existence. Future challenges to tackle the contribution of CSC in tumor relapse and to evaluate their clinical significance during drug resistance, minimal residual disease and metastatic dissemination rely therefore on the capacity to better integrate and exploit the microenvironmentdriven phenotypic changes (e.g., dormant, mesenchymal-like state), including specific metabolic alterations (e.g., dysregulated FA metabolism, OXPHOS dependence) in order to propose novel CSC-targeting therapeutic modalities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CV and CC contributed to conception and design of the figures and the manuscript. CC developed the study concept, obtained funding, and wrote the final version of the manuscript. All authors wrote sections, revised, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique (F.R.S.-FNRS) and the Télévie. CV is a Télévie PhD fellow and CC is a F.R.S.-FNRS Postdoctoral Researcher.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge the Servier website (https://smart.servier.com/) that provided medical illustrations used in some figures of the review.

REFERENCES

- Salgia R, Kulkarni P. The genetic/non-genetic duality of drug 'resistance' in cancer. Trends Cancer. (2018) 4:110–8. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2018.01.001
- Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Lengauer C. Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. *Trends Cell Biol.* (1999) 9:M57-60. doi: 10.1016/S0962-8924(99)01661-X
- Gillies RJ, Verduzco D, Gatenby RA. Evolutionary dynamics of carcinogenesis and why targeted therapy does not work. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:487–93. doi: 10.1038/nrc3298
- Enriquez-Navas PM, Wojtkowiak JW, Gatenby RA. Application of evolutionary principles to cancer therapy. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4675–80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1337
- Creighton CJ, Li X, Landis M, Dixon JM, Neumeister VM, Sjolund A, et al. Residual breast cancers after conventional therapy display mesenchymal as well as tumor-initiating features. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:13820–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905718106
- Medema JP. Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead. Nat Cell Biol. (2013) 15:338-44. doi: 10.1038/ncb2717
- Nguyen LV, Vanner R, Dirks P, Eaves CJ. Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer. (2012) 12:133–43. doi: 10.1038/ nrc3184
- Marusyk A, Tabassum DP, Altrock PM, Almendro V, Michor F, Polyak K. Non-cell-autonomous driving of tumour growth supports sub-clonal heterogeneity. *Nature*. (2014) 514:54–8. doi: 10.1038/nature13556
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z. The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? *Cell Stem Cell*. (2015) 16:225–38. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Boesch M, Sopper S, Zeimet AG, Reimer D, Gastl G, Ludewig B, et al. Heterogeneity of cancer stem cells: rationale for targeting the stem cell niche. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2016) 1866:276–89. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan. 2016.10.003
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. (2009) 9:239–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc2618
- Borovski T, De Sousa EMF, Vermeulen L, Medema JP. Cancer stem cell niche: the place to be. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:634–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3220
- Carnero A, Lleonart M. The hypoxic microenvironment: a determinant of cancer stem cell evolution. *BioEssays*. (2016) 38(Suppl. 1):S65–74. doi: 10.1002/bies.201670911
- Corbet C. Stem cell metabolism in cancer and healthy tissues: pyruvate in the limelight. Front Pharmacol. (2017) 8:958. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00958
- Calabrese C, Poppleton H, Kocak M, Hogg TL, Fuller C, Hamner B, et al. A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2007) 11:69–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.11.020
- Korkaya H, Liu S, Wicha MS. Breast cancer stem cells, cytokine networks, and the tumor microenvironment. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:3804–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI57099
- Su S, Chen J, Yao H, Liu J, Yu S, Lao L, et al. CD10(+)GPR77(+) cancer-associated fibroblasts promote cancer formation and chemoresistance by sustaining cancer stemness. *Cell.* (2018) 172:e816. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.009
- Ye H, Adane B, Khan N, Sullivan T, Minhajuddin M, Gasparetto M, et al. Leukemic stem cells evade chemotherapy by metabolic adaptation to an adipose tissue niche. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2016) 19:23–37. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.06.001
- Kallinowski F, Vaupel P. pH distributions in spontaneous and isotransplanted rat tumours. Br J Cancer. (1988) 58:314–21. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1988.210
- Schornack PA, Gillies RJ. Contributions of cell metabolism and H+ diffusion to the acidic pH of tumors. *Neoplasia*. (2003) 5:135–45. doi: 10.1016/S1476-5586(03)80005-2
- Corbet C, Feron O. Tumour acidosis: from the passenger to the driver's seat. Nat Rev Cancer. (2017) 17:577–93. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.77
- Mookerjee SA, Goncalves RLS, Gerencser AA, Nicholls DG, Brand MD. The contributions of respiration and glycolysis to extracellular acid production. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2015) 1847:171–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2014.10.005

- Helmlinger G, Yuan F, Dellian M, Jain RK. Interstitial pH and pO2 gradients in solid tumors *in vivo*: high-resolution measurements reveal a lack of correlation. *Nat Med.* (1997) 3:177–82. doi: 10.1038/nm0297-177
- Vaupel PW, Frinak S, Bicher HI. Heterogeneous oxygen partial pressure and pH distribution in C3H mouse mammary adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (1981) 41:2008–13.
- Helmlinger G, Sckell A, Dellian M, Forbes NS, Jain RK. Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2002) 8:1284–91.
- Newell K, Franchi A, Pouyssegur J, Tannock I. Studies with glycolysisdeficient cells suggest that production of lactic acid is not the only cause of tumor acidity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1993) 90:1127–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.3.1127
- Yamagata M, Hasuda K, Stamato T, Tannock IF. The contribution of lactic acid to acidification of tumours: studies of variant cells lacking lactate dehydrogenase. Br J Cancer. (1998) 77:1726–31. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1998.289
- Hulikova A, Black N, Hsia LT, Wilding J, Bodmer WF, Swietach P. Stromal uptake and transmission of acid is a pathway for venting cancer cell-generated acid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E5344–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610954113
- 29. De Los Angeles A, Ferrari F, Fujiwara Y, Mathieu R, Lee S, Lee S, et al. Failure to replicate the STAP cell phenomenon. *Nature.* (2015) 525:E6–9. doi: 10.1038/nature15513
- Peppicelli S, Andreucci E, Ruzzolini J, Laurenzana A, Margheri F, Fibbi G, et al. The acidic microenvironment as a possible niche of dormant tumor cells. *Cell Molecul Sci.* (2017) 74:2761–71. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2496-y
- Rovida E, Peppicelli S, Bono S, Bianchini F, Tusa I, Cheloni G, et al. The metabolically-modulated stem cell niche: a dynamic scenario regulating cancer cell phenotype and resistance to therapy. *Cell Cycle*. (2014) 13:3169–75. doi: 10.4161/15384101.2014.964107
- 32. Corbet C, Draoui N, Polet F, Pinto A, Drozak X, Riant O, et al. The SIRT1/HIF2alpha axis drives reductive glutamine metabolism under chronic acidosis and alters tumor response to therapy. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:5507–19. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0705
- 33. Filatova A, Seidel S, Bogurcu N, Graf S, Garvalov BK, Acker T. Acidosis acts through HSP90 in a PHD/VHL-independent manner to promote HIF function and stem cell maintenance in glioma. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5845–56. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2630
- Hjelmeland AB, Wu Q, Heddleston JM, Choudhary GS, MacSwords J, Lathia JD, et al. Acidic stress promotes a glioma stem cell phenotype. *Cell Death Differ*. (2011) 18:829–40. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2010.150
- Mekhail K, Gunaratnam L, Bonicalzi ME, Lee S. HIF activation by pHdependent nucleolar sequestration of VHL. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2004) 6:642–7. doi: 10.1038/ncb1144
- Corbet C, Pinto A, Martherus R, Santiago de Jesus JP, Polet F, Feron O. Acidosis drives the reprogramming of fatty acid metabolism in cancer cells through changes in mitochondrial and histone acetylation. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:311–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.07.003
- Dioum EM, Chen R, Alexander MS, Zhang Q, Hogg RT, Gerard RD, et al. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stress-responsive deacetylase sirtuin 1. *Science*. (2009) 324:1289–93. doi: 10.1126/science.1169956
- Intlekofer AM, Wang B, Liu H, Shah H, Carmona-Fontaine C, Rustenburg AS, et al. L-2-Hydroxyglutarate production arises from noncanonical enzyme function at acidic pH. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2017) 13:494–500. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2307
- Nadtochiy SM, Schafer X, Fu D, Nehrke K, Munger J, Brookes PS. Acidic pH Is a metabolic switch for 2-hydroxyglutarate generation and signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2016) 291:20188–97. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.738799
- Intlekofer AM, Dematteo RG, Venneti S, Finley LW, Lu C, Judkins AR, et al. Hypoxia induces production of L-2-hydroxyglutarate. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:304–11. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.06.023
- Lu C, Ward PS, Kapoor GS, Rohle D, Turcan S, Abdel-Wahab O, et al. IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. *Nature*. (2012) 483:474–8. doi: 10.1038/nature10860
- Ye D, Guan KL, Xiong Y. Metabolism, activity, and targeting of D- and L-2-hydroxyglutarates. *Trends Cancer.* (2018) 4:151–65. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.12.005

- Barth PG, Wanders RJ, Scholte HR, Abeling N, Jakobs C, Schutgens RB, et al. L-2-hydroxyglutaric aciduria and lactic acidosis. J Inherit Metabol Dis. (1998) 21:251–4. doi: 10.1023/A:1005316121584
- Li Z, Bao S, Wu Q, Wang H, Eyler C, Sathornsumetee S, et al. Hypoxiainducible factors regulate tumorigenic capacity of glioma stem cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2009) 15:501–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.018
- Peppicelli S, Bianchini F, Toti A, Laurenzana A, Fibbi G, Calorini L. Extracellular acidity strengthens mesenchymal stem cells to promote melanoma progression. *Cell Cycle.* (2015) 14:3088–100. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2015.1078032
- 46. Avnet S, Di Pompo G, Chano T, Errani C, Ibrahim-Hashim A, Gillies RJ, et al. Cancer-associated mesenchymal stroma fosters the stemness of osteosarcoma cells in response to intratumoral acidosis via NF-kappaB activation. *Int J Cancer.* (2017) 140:1331–45. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30540
- Chano T, Avnet S, Kusuzaki K, Bonuccelli G, Sonveaux P, Rotili D, et al. Tumour-specific metabolic adaptation to acidosis is coupled to epigenetic stability in osteosarcoma cells. *Am J Cancer Res.* (2016) 6:859–75.
- Chen JL, Lucas JE, Schroeder T, Mori S, Wu J, Nevins J, et al. The genomic analysis of lactic acidosis and acidosis response in human cancers. *PLoS Genet.* (2008) 4:e1000293. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000293
- Tang X, Lucas JE, Chen JL, LaMonte G, Wu J, Wang MC, et al. Functional interaction between responses to lactic acidosis and hypoxia regulates genomic transcriptional outputs. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:491–502. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2076
- Mahoney BP, Raghunand N, Baggett B, Gillies RJ. Tumor acidity, ion trapping and chemotherapeutics. I Acid pH affects the distribution of chemotherapeutic agents in vitro. Biochem Pharmacol. (2003) 66:1207–18. doi: 10.1016/S0006-2952(03)00467-2
- Wojtkowiak JW, Verduzco D, Schramm KJ, Gillies RJ. Drug resistance and cellular adaptation to tumor acidic pH microenvironment. *Molecul Pharmaceut*. (2011) 8:2032–8. doi: 10.1021/mp200292c
- 52. Avnet S, Lemma S, Cortini M, Pellegrini P, Perut F, Zini N, et al. Altered pH gradient at the plasma membrane of osteosarcoma cells is a key mechanism of drug resistance. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:63408–23. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11503
- Luciani F, Spada M, De Milito A, Molinari A, Rivoltini L, Montinaro A, et al. Effect of proton pump inhibitor pretreatment on resistance of solid tumors to cytotoxic drugs. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2004) 96:1702–13. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh305
- 54. Taylor S, Spugnini EP, Assaraf YG, Azzarito T, Rauch C, Fais S. Microenvironment acidity as a major determinant of tumor chemoresistance: proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) as a novel therapeutic approach. *Drug Resist Updat.* (2015) 23:69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2015.08.004
- Balgi AD, Diering GH, Donohue E, Lam KK, Fonseca BD, Zimmerman C, et al. Regulation of mTORC1 signaling by pH. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e21549. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021549
- Lamonte G, Tang X, Chen JL, Wu J, Ding CK, Keenan MM, et al. Acidosis induces reprogramming of cellular metabolism to mitigate oxidative stress. *Cancer Metabol.* (2013) 1:23. doi: 10.1186/2049-3002-1-23
- 57. Mendoza EE, Pocceschi MG, Kong X, Leeper DB, Caro J, Limesand KH, et al. Control of glycolytic flux by AMP-activated protein kinase in tumor cells adapted to low pH. *Transl Oncol.* (2012) 5:208–16. doi: 10.1593/tlo.11319
- Pouyssegur J, Franchi A, L'Allemain G, Paris S. Cytoplasmic pH, a key determinant of growth factor-induced DNA synthesis in quiescent fibroblasts. *FEBS Lett.* (1985) 190:115–9. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(85)80439-7
- Ruzzolini J, Peppicelli S, Andreucci E, Bianchini F, Margheri F, Laurenzana A, et al. Everolimus selectively targets vemurafenib resistant BRAF(V600E) melanoma cells adapted to low pH. *Cancer Lett.* (2017) 408:43–54. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.08.010
- Cheng GM, To KK. Adverse cell culture conditions mimicking the tumor microenvironment upregulate ABCG2 to mediate multidrug resistance and a more malignant phenotype. *ISRN Oncol.* (2012) 2012;746025. doi: 10.5402/2012/746025
- 61. Sauvant C, Nowak M, Wirth C, Schneider B, Riemann A, Gekle M, et al. Acidosis induces multi-drug resistance in rat prostate cancer cells (AT1) *in*

vitro and *in vivo* by increasing the activity of the p-glycoprotein via activation of p38. *Int J Cancer*. (2008) 123:2532–42. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23818

- Thews O, Gassner B, Kelleher DK, Schwerdt G, Gekle M. Impact of extracellular acidity on the activity of P-glycoprotein and the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic drugs. *Neoplasia*. (2006) 8:143–52. doi: 10.1593/neo.05697
- Thews O, Nowak M, Sauvant C, Gekle M. Hypoxia-induced extracellular acidosis increases p-glycoprotein activity and chemoresistance in tumors *in vivo* via p38 signaling pathway. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2011) 701:115–22. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-7756-4_16
- Thews O, Riemann A, Nowak M, Gekle M. Impact of hypoxia-related tumor acidosis on cytotoxicity of different chemotherapeutic drugs *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2014) 812:51–8. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0620-8_7
- Dong L, Krewson EA, Yang LV. Acidosis activates endoplasmic reticulum stress pathways through GPR4 in human vascular endothelial cells. *Int J Molecul Sci.* (2017) 18:E278. doi: 10.3390/ijms18020278
- 66. Sharma V, Kaur R, Bhatnagar A, Kaur J. Low-pH-induced apoptosis: role of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced calcium permeability and mitochondria-dependent signaling. *Cell Stress Chaperones.* (2015) 20:431–40. doi: 10.1007/s12192-014-0568-6
- Visioli F, Wang Y, Alam GN, Ning Y, Rados PV, Nor JE, et al. Glucose-regulated protein 78 (Grp78) confers chemoresistance to tumor endothelial cells under acidic stress. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e101053. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101053
- Marino ML, Pellegrini P, Di Lernia G, Djavaheri-Mergny M, Brnjic S, Zhang X, et al. Autophagy is a protective mechanism for human melanoma cells under acidic stress. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:30664–76. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.339127
- Wojtkowiak JW, Rothberg JM, Kumar V, Schramm KJ, Haller E, Proemsey JB, et al. Chronic autophagy is a cellular adaptation to tumor acidic pH microenvironments. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:3938–47. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3881
- Das CK, Mandal M, Kogel D. Pro-survival autophagy and cancer cell resistance to therapy. *Cancer Metast Rev.* (2018) 37:749–66. doi: 10.1007/s10555-018-9727-z
- Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, et al. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood*. (2007) 109:3812–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035972
- Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Ebner S, Mueller-Klieser W, Hoves S, Andreesen R, et al. Tumor-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation and antigen expression. *Blood.* (2006) 107:2013–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795
- Dietl K, Renner K, Dettmer K, Timischl B, Eberhart K, Dorn C, et al. Lactic acid and acidification inhibit TNF secretion and glycolysis of human monocytes. J Immunol. (2010) 184:1200–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902584
- Liao YP, Schaue D, McBride WH. Modification of the tumor microenvironment to enhance immunity. *Front Biosci.* (2007) 12:3576–600. doi: 10.2741/2336
- 75. Brand A, Singer K, Koehl GE, Kolitzus M, Schoenhammer G, Thiel A, et al. LDHA-associated lactic acid production blunts tumor immunosurveillance by T and NK cells. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:657–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.011
- Ho PC, Bihuniak JD, Macintyre AN, Staron M, Liu X, Amezquita R, et al. Phosphoenolpyruvate is a metabolic checkpoint of anti-tumor T *cell* responses. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1217–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.012
- Bohn T, Rapp S, Luther N, Klein M, Bruehl TJ, Kojima N, et al. Tumor immunoevasion via acidosis-dependent induction of regulatory tumor-associated macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1319–29. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0226-8
- Pilon-Thomas S, Kodumudi KN, El-Kenawi AE, Russell S, Weber AM, Luddy K, et al. Neutralization of tumor acidity improves antitumor responses to immunotherapy. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:1381–90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1743
- Calcinotto A, Filipazzi P, Grioni M, Iero M, De Milito A, Ricupito A, et al. Modulation of microenvironment acidity reverses anergy in human and murine tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2746–56. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1272
- 80. Ciavardelli D, Rossi C, Barcaroli D, Volpe S, Consalvo A, Zucchelli M, et al. Breast cancer stem cells rely on fermentative glycolysis and are

sensitive to 2-deoxyglucose treatment. Cell Death Dis. (2014) 5:e1336. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.285

- Mao P, Joshi K, Li J, Kim SH, Li P, Santana-Santos L, et al. Mesenchymal glioma stem cells are maintained by activated glycolytic metabolism involving aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:8644–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221478110
- Kuntz EM, Baquero P, Michie AM, Dunn K, Tardito S, Holyoake TL, et al. Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation eradicates therapyresistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1234–40. doi: 10.1038/nm.4399
- Lagadinou ED, Sach A, Callahan K, Rossi RM, Neering SJ, Minhajuddin M, et al. BCL-2 inhibition targets oxidative phosphorylation and selectively eradicates quiescent human leukemia stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2013) 12:329–41. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.013
- Corbet C, Feron O. Metabolic and mind shifts: from glucose to glutamine and acetate addictions in cancer. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2015) 18:346–53. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000178
- Corbet C, Feron O. Cancer cell metabolism and mitochondria: nutrient plasticity for TCA cycle fueling. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*. (2017) 1868:7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2017.01.002
- Polet F, Martherus R, Corbet C, Pinto A, Feron O. Inhibition of glucose metabolism prevents glycosylation of the glutamine transporter ASCT2 and promotes compensatory LAT1 upregulation in leukemia cells. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:46371–83. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10131
- Kondo A, Yamamoto S, Nakaki R, Shimamura T, Hamakubo T, Sakai J, et al. Extracellular acidic pH activates the sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 to promote tumor progression. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 18:2228–42. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.006
- Khacho M, Tarabay M, Patten D, Khacho P, MacLaurin JG, Guadagno J, et al. Acidosis overrides oxygen deprivation to maintain mitochondrial function and cell survival. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3550. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4550
- Sancho P, Burgos-Ramos E, Tavera A, Bou Kheir T, Jagust P, Schoenhals M, et al. MYC/PGC-1alpha balance determines the metabolic phenotype and plasticity of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:590–605. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.08.015
- Viale A, Pettazzoni P, Lyssiotis CA, Ying H, Sanchez N, Marchesini M, et al. Oncogene ablation-resistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. *Nature*. (2014) 514:628–32. doi: 10.1038/nature13611
- 91. Fiorillo M, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP. "Energetic" cancer stem cells (e-CSCs): a new hyper-metabolic and proliferative tumor cell phenotype, driven by mitochondrial energy. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 8:677. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00677
- 92. Scatena C, Roncella M, Di Paolo A, Aretini P, Menicagli M, Fanelli G, et al. Doxycycline, an inhibitor of mitochondrial biogenesis, effectively reduces cancer stem cells (CSCs) in early breast cancer patients: a clinical pilot study. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:452. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00452
- Iwamoto H, Abe M, Yang Y, Cui D, Seki T, Nakamura M, et al. Cancer lipid metabolism confers antiangiogenic drug resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 28:e105. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.005
- Li J, Condello S, Thomes-Pepin J, Ma X, Xia Y, Hurley TD, et al. Lipid desaturation is a metabolic marker and therapeutic target of ovarian cancer stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2017) 20:e305. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.11.004
- Barba I, Cabanas ME, Arus C. The relationship between nuclear magnetic resonance-visible lipids, lipid droplets, and cell proliferation in cultured C6 cells. *Cancer Res.* (1999) 59:1861–8.
- Delikatny EJ, Lander CM, Jeitner TM, Hancock R, Mountford CE. Modulation of MR-visible mobile lipid levels by cell culture conditions and correlations with chemotactic response. *Int J Cancer*. (1996) 65:238–45. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19960117)65:2<238::AID-IJC18>3.0.CO;2-9
- 97. Menard JA, Christianson HC, Kucharzewska P, Bourseau-Guilmain E, Svensson KJ, Lindqvist E, et al. Metastasis stimulation by hypoxia and acidosis-induced extracellular lipid uptake is mediated by proteoglycan-dependent endocytosis. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:4828–40. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2831
- Tirinato L, Liberale C, Di Franco S, Candeloro P, Benfante A, La Rocca R, et al. Lipid droplets: a new player in colorectal cancer stem cells unveiled by spectroscopic imaging. *Stem Cells*. (2015) 33:35–44. doi: 10.1002/stem.1837

- Tirinato L, Pagliari F, Limongi T, Marini M, Falqui A, Seco J, et al. An Overview of lipid droplets in cancer and cancer stem cells. *Stem Cells Int.* (2017) 2017:1656053. doi: 10.1155/2017/1656053
- 100. Yi M, Li J, Chen S, Cai J, Ban Y, Peng Q, et al. Emerging role of lipid metabolism alterations in cancer stem cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2018) 37:118. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0784-5
- 101. Estrella V, Chen T, Lloyd M, Wojtkowiak J, Cornnell HH, Ibrahim-Hashim A, et al. Acidity generated by the tumor microenvironment drives local invasion. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1524–35. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2796
- Ibrahim-Hashim A, Cornnell HH, Abrahams D, Lloyd M, Bui M, Gillies RJ, et al. Systemic buffers inhibit carcinogenesis in TRAMP mice. J Urol. (2012) 188:624–31. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2012.03.113
- Ibrahim-Hashim A, Wojtkowiak JW, de Lourdes Coelho Ribeiro M, Estrella V, Bailey KM, Cornnell HH, et al. Free base lysine increases survival and reduces metastasis in prostate cancer model. *J Cancer Sci Ther.* (2011) (Suppl. 1): JCST-S1-004. doi: 10.4172/1948-5956.S1-004
- Ibrahim Hashim A, Cornnell HH, Coelho Ribeiro Mde L, Abrahams D, Cunningham J, Lloyd M, et al. Reduction of metastasis using a non-volatile buffer. *Clin Exp Metast.* (2011) 28:841–9. doi: 10.1007/s10585-011-9415-7
- 105. Robey IF, Baggett BK, Kirkpatrick ND, Roe DJ, Dosescu J, Sloane BF, et al. Bicarbonate increases tumor pH and inhibits spontaneous metastases. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2260–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5575
- 106. Silva AS, Yunes JA, Gillies RJ, Gatenby RA. The potential role of systemic buffers in reducing intratumoral extracellular pH and acid-mediated invasion. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2677–84. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2394
- 107. Damaghi M, Tafreshi NK, Lloyd MC, Sprung R, Estrella V, Wojtkowiak JW, et al. Chronic acidosis in the tumour microenvironment selects for overexpression of LAMP2 in the plasma membrane. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:8752. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9752
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- 109. Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:6699–707. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0983
- Peppicelli S, Bianchini F, Torre E, Calorini L. Contribution of acidic melanoma cells undergoing epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition to aggressiveness of non-acidic melanoma cells. *Clin Exp Metast.* (2014) 31:423–33. doi: 10.1007/s10585-014-9637-6
- 111. Suzuki A, Maeda T, Baba Y, Shimamura K, Kato Y. Acidic extracellular pH promotes epithelial mesenchymal transition in Lewis lung carcinoma model. *Cancer Cell Int.* (2014) 14:129. doi: 10.1186/s12935-014-0129-1
- 112. Germain AR, Carmody LC, Morgan B, Fernandez C, Forbeck E, Lewis TA, et al. Identification of a selective small molecule inhibitor of breast cancer stem cells. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* (2012) 22:3571–4. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2012.01.035
- 113. Gupta PB, Onder TT, Jiang G, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, Weinberg RA, et al. Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer stem cells by high-throughput screening. *Cell.* (2009) 138:645–59. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.034
- 114. Hartwell KA, Miller PG, Mukherjee S, Kahn AR, Stewart AL, Logan DJ, et al. Niche-based screening identifies small-molecule inhibitors of leukemia stem cells. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2013) 9:840–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1367
- 115. Mai TT, Hamai A, Hienzsch A, Caneque T, Muller S, Wicinski J, et al. Salinomycin kills cancer stem cells by sequestering iron in lysosomes. *Nat Chem.* (2017) 9:1025–33. doi: 10.1038/nchem.2778
- 116. Pellegrini P, Dyczynski M, Sbrana FV, Karlgren M, Buoncervello M, Hagg-Olofsson M, et al. Tumor acidosis enhances cytotoxic effects and autophagy inhibition by salinomycin on cancer cell lines and cancer stem cells. Oncotarget. (2016) 7:35703–23. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.9601
- 117. Danhier F, Feron O, Preat V. To exploit the tumor microenvironment: passive and active tumor targeting of nanocarriers for anticancer drug delivery. *J Control Release*. (2010) 148:135–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2010.08.027
- 118. He X, Li J, An S, Jiang C. pH-sensitive drug-delivery systems for tumor targeting. *Ther Deliv.* (2013) 4:1499–510. doi: 10.4155/tde.13.120

- Kanamala M, Wilson WR, Yang M, Palmer BD, Wu Z. Mechanisms and biomaterials in pH-responsive tumour targeted drug delivery: a review. *Biomaterials*. (2016) 85:152–67. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.01.061
- 120. Liu J, Huang Y, Kumar A, Tan A, Jin S, Mozhi A, et al. pH-sensitive nano-systems for drug delivery in cancer therapy. *Biotechnol Adv.* (2014) 32:693–710. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.11.009
- 121. Sun N, Zhao C, Cheng R, Liu Z, Li X, Lu A, et al. Cargo-free nanomedicine with pH sensitivity for codelivery of DOX conjugated prodrug with SN38 to synergistically eradicate breast cancer stem cells. *Molecul Pharmaceut*. (2018) 15:3343–55. doi: 10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.8b00367
- 122. Wyatt LC, Lewis JS, Andreev OA, Reshetnyak YK, Engelman DM. Applications of pHLIP technology for cancer imaging and therapy: (Trends in Biotechnology 35, 653–664, 2017). *Trends Biotechnol.* (2018) 36:1300. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.11.005
- 123. Andreev OA, Dupuy AD, Segala M, Sandugu S, Serra DA, Chichester CO, et al. Mechanism and uses of a membrane peptide that targets tumors and other acidic tissues *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:7893–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702439104
- 124. Reshetnyak YK, Andreev OA, Segala M, Markin VS, Engelman DM. Energetics of peptide (pHLIP) binding to and folding across a lipid bilayer membrane. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:15340–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804746105
- Burns KE, Delehanty JB. Cellular delivery of doxorubicin mediated by disulfide reduction of a peptide-dendrimer bioconjugate. *Int J Pharmaceut*. (2018) 545:64–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.04.027
- 126. Onyango JO, Chung MS, Eng CH, Klees LM, Langenbacher R, Yao L, et al. Noncanonical amino acids to improve the pH response of pHLIP insertion at tumor acidity. *Angew Chem.* (2015) 54:3658–63. doi: 10.1002/anie.201409770
- 127. Burns KE, McCleerey TP, Thevenin D. pH-selective cytotoxicity of pHLIP-antimicrobial peptide conjugates. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:28465. doi: 10.1038/srep28465
- 128. An M, Wijesinghe D, Andreev OA, Reshetnyak YK, Engelman DM. pH-(low)-insertion-peptide (pHLIP) translocation of membrane impermeable phalloidin toxin inhibits cancer cell proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:20246–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014403107

- Burns KE, Robinson MK, Thevenin D. Inhibition of cancer cell proliferation and breast tumor targeting of pHLIP-monomethyl auristatin E conjugates. *Molecul Pharmaceut.* (2015) 12:1250–8. doi: 10.1021/mp500779k
- Cheng CJ, Bahal R, Babar IA, Pincus Z, Barrera F, Liu C, et al. MicroRNA silencing for cancer therapy targeted to the tumour microenvironment. *Nature*. (2015) 518:107–10. doi: 10.1038/nature13905
- 131. Corbet C, Ragelle H, Pourcelle V, Vanvarenberg K, Marchand-Brynaert J, Preat V, et al. Delivery of siRNA targeting tumor metabolism using noncovalent PEGylated chitosan nanoparticles: identification of an optimal combination of ligand structure, linker and grafting method. J Control Release. (2016) 223:53–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.020
- Corbet C, Feron O. Emerging roles of lipid metabolism in cancer progression. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2017) 20:254–60. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000381
- 133. Di Pompo G, Salerno M, Rotili D, Valente S, Zwergel C, Avnet S, et al. Novel histone deacetylase inhibitors induce growth arrest, apoptosis, and differentiation in sarcoma cancer stem cells. J Med Chem. (2015) 58:4073–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00126
- Scheuermann TH, Li Q, Ma HW, Key J, Zhang L, Chen R, et al. Allosteric inhibition of hypoxia inducible factor-2 with small molecules. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2013) 9:271–6. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1185
- Scheuermann TH, Stroud D, Sleet CE, Bayeh L, Shokri C, Wang H, et al. Isoform-selective and stereoselective inhibition of hypoxia inducible factor-2. J Med Chem. (2015) 58:5930–41. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00529

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Vander Linden and Corbet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Metabolism-Based Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells

Petra Jagust¹, Beatriz de Luxán-Delgado¹, Beatriz Parejo-Alonso² and Patricia Sancho^{1,2*}

¹ Centre for Stem Cells in Cancer and Ageing, Barts Cancer Institute, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, ² Traslational Research Unit, Hospital Universitario Miguel Servet, Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Zaragoza, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Persio Dello Sbarba, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Italy Anna Rita Cantelmo, Université Lille Nord de France, France Ivana Kurelac, University of Bologna, Italy

> *Correspondence: Patricia Sancho psancho@iisaragon.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 17 December 2018 Accepted: 18 February 2019 Published: 22 March 2019

Citation:

Jagust P, de Luxán-Delgado B, Parejo-Alonso B and Sancho P (2019) Metabolism-Based Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells. Front. Pharmacol. 10:203. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00203 Cancer heterogeneity constitutes the major source of disease progression and therapy failure. Tumors comprise functionally diverse subpopulations, with cancer stem cells (CSCs) as the source of this heterogeneity. Since these cells bear *in vivo* tumorigenicity and metastatic potential, survive chemotherapy and drive relapse, its elimination may be the only way to achieve long-term survival in patients. Thanks to the great advances in the field over the last few years, we know now that cellular metabolism and stemness are highly intertwined in normal development and cancer. Indeed, CSCs show distinct metabolic features as compared with their more differentiated progenies, though their dominant metabolic phenotype varies across tumor entities, patients and even subclones within a tumor. Following initial works focused on glucose metabolism, current studies have unveiled particularities of CSC metabolism in terms of redox state, lipid metabolism and use of alternative fuels, such as amino acids or ketone bodies. In this review, we describe the different metabolic phenotypes attributed to CSCs with special focus on metabolism-based therapeutic strategies tested in preclinical and clinical settings.

Keywords: cancer stem cells, metabolism, mitochondria, oxidative phosphorylation, lipid metabolism, redox regulation

Abbreviations: α-ADD, alpha-aminoadipate; 2DG, 2-deoxy-D-glucose; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; ALDH1, aldehyde dehydrogenase 1; ATO, arsenic trioxide; BET, bromodomain and extra-terminal motif; BSO, buthionine sulfoximide; CAFs, cancer associated fibroblast; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; CSCs, cancer stem cells; DHA, docosahexaenoic acid; DOX, doxorubicin; DQA, dequalinium; DRP-1, dynamin-related protein 1; EGCG, epigallocatechin gallate; EPA, eicosapentaenoic acid; ERRa, estrogen-related receptor alpha; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; ETC, electron transport chain; FAs, fatty acids; FAO, fatty acid oxidation; FASN, fatty synthase; FOXO, forkhead box; G6P, glucose-6-phosphate; GPx, glutathione peroxidase; HBP, hexosamine biosynthetic pathway; LDs, lipid droplets; LPA, lysophosphatidic acid; MAO-B, monoamine oxidase-B inhibitor; MCT 1/2, monocarboxylate transporter 1 and 2; Mdivi-1, mitochondrial division inhibitor; MPP, mitochondria penetrating peptide; mtDNA, mitochondrial DNA; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; MTS, mitochondria targeting sequences; MUFAs, monounsaturated fatty acids; NER, nucleotide excision repair; NRF2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2; OxPhos, oxidative phosphorylation; PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; PDX, patient-derived xenograft; PEITCs, phenethyl isothiocyanates; PGC-1a, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha; PHGDH, phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PPP, pentose phosphate pathway; ROS, reactive oxygen species; S1P, sphingosine-1-P; SOD, superoxide dismutase; SREBP1, sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 1; SCD-1, stearoyl-CoA desaturase; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; TICs, tumor initiating cells; TNBC, triple negative breast cancer; TPP, triphenylphosphonium.

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a highly heterogeneous disease, not only in terms of variability among patients, but also within a single tumor. This heterogeneity constitutes the main cause for therapy resistance and cancer progression in some patients (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). We can find different levels of intratumor heterogeneity. First, a tumor is comprised of multiple genotypes, which belong to distinct subclones with diverse features, which may include differential morphology and/or functionality. Additionally, tumors (and the subclones within) are formed of a functionally heterogeneous cell population, where a particular subset of tumor cells have the ability to initiate and propagate tumor growth, survive chemotherapy and drive relapse (Phillips et al., 2006; Diehn et al., 2009; Labelle et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2012; Rhim et al., 2012; Touil et al., 2014; Li et al., 2015b). These cells, the so-called cancer stem cells (CSCs), have self-renewal capacity, and can give rise to a differentiated progeny, leading to the production of all cell types present within a tumor, thereby generating tumor heterogeneity through a differentiation hierarchy (Reya et al., 2001). This distinct population was initially identified in leukemia, but was also found in solid tumors, such as breast, lung, prostate, colon, brain, head and neck, liver, as well as in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) (Hermann et al., 2007; Castellanos et al., 2013; Du et al., 2017). Finally, non-cancer cells present in the tumor microenvironment constitute a third level of heterogeneity, since they can directly affect cancer cell plasticity and functionality (Malanchi and Huelsken, 2009; Batlle and Clevers, 2017).

Cancer stem cells can be originated either from a mutation of a normal stem cell or from differentiated cells acquiring stem-like abilities (Reva et al., 2001). Indeed, numerous studies have found an abnormal activation of stem cell regulatory genes and pathways in the CSCs population, such as c-MYC, Bmi-1, Hedgehog, Notch and Wnt (Somervaille et al., 2009; Sancho et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2016). Apart from the well-known developmental pathways such as Wnt, Hedgehog or Jagged, metabolic traits have recently been involved in governing the function of stem cells. Indeed, although stem cells are primarily glycolytic, acquisition of certain metabolic plasticity, together with an increase in oxidative metabolism, primes them for maturation and supports their lineage differentiation (Cho et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2008; Simsek et al., 2010). A parallel mechanism was also postulated for CSCs in different tumors (Dong et al., 2013; Shen et al., 2015; Chen C.L. et al., 2016). However, recent data indicate that CSCs may mainly depend on oxidative metabolism (Sancho et al., 2015). In any case, reported metabolic differences between CSCs and progenies introduce another source of heterogeneity within tumors: metabolic heterogeneity. The latter can be further amplified, since different CSCs subclones can bear different metabolic phenotypes (Gammon et al., 2013) as a result of genetic or microenvironmental factors (Guha et al., 2014; Raj et al., 2015; Sancho et al., 2016).

CANCER (STEM) CELL METABOLISM

One of the main cancer characteristics is uncontrolled growth and cell division. To support the abnormal survival and growth, cancer cells need to increase nutrient uptake to supply biosynthesis pathways (Vander Heiden et al., 2009; Kamphorst et al., 2015; Hensley et al., 2016). To achieve that, cancer cells usually modulate the activity of different metabolic pathways in order to produce metabolic precursors to satisfy energetic and anabolic demands, and maintain redox balance (Vazquez et al., 2016). Due to the crucial contribution of diverse metabolic pathways to malignant transformation and tumor progression, metabolic reprogramming recently became one of the cancer hallmarks (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

Aerobic Glycolysis

The best example of reprogrammed metabolism in cancer is aerobic glycolysis (De Berardinis and Chandel, 2016): fastproliferating tumor cells increase their glucose uptake to produce lactate in the presence of oxygen. This cancer hallmark was discovered by Otto Warburg and, thus, named the Warburg effect (Warburg et al., 1927; Warburg, 1956; Shim et al., 1998; Vander Heiden et al., 2009; Cairns et al., 2011). Glycolysis intermediates are used in diverse reactions to support high proliferation rates. For example, glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) can be used in the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) to produce NADPH (Horton, 2002; Porporato et al., 2011; Doherty et al., 2014; Liberti and Locasale, 2016) or generate ribose groups, necessary for the synthesis of nucleotides (Lane and Fan, 2015; Vazquez et al., 2016). Alternatively, glycolytic intermediates can be used for anabolic reactions of glycogen or lipid synthesis (Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Kroemer and Pouyssegur, 2008).

Glycolysis also facilitates survival and fast adaptation to the typically hypoxic tumor environment avoiding toxic Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) accumulation through both low ROS production and increased detoxification systems (Brand and Hermfisse, 1997; Cairns et al., 2011; Doherty et al., 2014; Liberti and Locasale, 2016). Moreover, favoring glycolysis may bring other advantages to tumor cells, such as creating an acidic environment that can help invasion and suppress the immune response (Fischer et al., 2007; Swietach et al., 2007).

Even though aerobic glycolysis is quite inefficient in terms of ATP production, the rate of glucose uptake can be significantly elevated in cancer cells, resulting in ATP production to levels usually achievable with oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos) (Liberti and Locasale, 2016). Additionally, although it was originally postulated that aerobic glycolysis is irreversible for tumor cells after cell division (Zu and Guppy, 2004; Jose et al., 2011; Porporato et al., 2011), it is well accepted nowadays that most cancers still produce ATP via OxPhos and modulate the contribution of both pathways in response to environmental factors or in different phases of the cell cycle (Smolková et al., 2011; De Berardinis and Chandel, 2016).

Importantly, glycolytic metabolism supports stemness in normal stem cells and CSCs of several cancer types (Folmes et al., 2011) (**Table 1**). Indeed, recent pieces of evidence demonstrate the involvement of oncogenes and pluripotency transcription factors, such as MYC, p53, K-Ras, HIF1 α , NANOG, MEIS1, Wnt or OCT4 in the metabolic reprogramming from oxidativedependent metabolism to a glucose dependence in many types of cancer (reviewed in Gabay et al., 2014; Alptekin et al., 2017; Deshmukh et al., 2018). Different studies support the glycolysis dependence of CSCs in diverse types of cancer, such as in radioresistant nasopharyngeal carcinoma spheres with high expression of stage-specific embryonic antigen (SSEA) -3 and -4 compared to parental cells (Shen et al., 2015), CD133⁺ human hepatocellular carcinoma cells and mouse models (Song et al., 2015; Chen C.L. et al., 2016), ALDH⁺ (aldehyde dehydrogenase) non-small lung carcinoma cells and side population (SP) cells from human colon cancer (Liu et al., 2014).

On the other hand, enhanced glycolysis in CSCs could also constitute a secondary response to maintain energy balance, since reduction of mitochondrial metabolism seems to be essential for full stemness in some cancer types, such as osteosarcoma or glioblastoma (Zhou et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2013; Palorini et al., 2014). Indeed, the downregulation of mitochondrial genes was associated with enhanced increased expression of genes related to epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) usually linked to stemness (Gaude and Frezza, 2016). Importantly, such inverse relationship was functionally proven in embryonal carcinoma cells derived from teratocarcinomas, since the stimulation of mitochondrial function induced cell differentiation and loss of pluripotency (Vega-Naredo et al., 2014). In fact, the occurrence of this metabolic switch, not the final glycolytic phenotype, seems to be key for early state of tumorigenesis and acquisition of stemness-related properties in human mammospheres and brain

CSCs in a mouse model of primitive neuroectodermal tumors (Dong et al., 2013; Ciavardelli et al., 2014; Malchenko et al., 2018).

Mitochondrial Metabolism

Mitochondria play a key role in eukaryotic cells coordinating energy production and distribution through OxPhos based on oxygen and substrate availability, although other important metabolic reactions such as fatty acid oxidation (FAO), glutaminolysis, or reductive carboxylation in cells with damaged mitochondria also take place in these organelles. Mitochondrial tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle is primarily fueled by acetyl-CoA produced by glycolysis (from pyruvate) or FAO. Alternatively, in highly glycolytic cells, such as Ras-mutant cells, glutamine can be the driving force for OxPhos (Fan et al., 2013) through its conversion to α -ketoglutarate and oxaloacetate, that can be then used for fatty acids (FAs) and nucleotide synthesis (Gaglio et al., 2011). Electron donors produced in the TCA cycle are used by the electron transport chain (ETC) to create a proton motive force to synthesize ATP by the complex V.

As opposed to what we summarized in the previous section, recent literature described OxPhos as the main source of energy in CSCs from a number of cancer types (**Table 2**). This has been convincingly shown for ROS^{low} quiescent CD34⁺ leukemia CSCs (Lagadinou et al., 2013), lung spheroids and CD133⁺ PDAC cells (Ye et al., 2011; Sancho et al., 2015), as well as CSCs-enriched spheroids form ovarian, cervical and papillary thyroid carcinoma that displayed a reprogrammed metabolism through TCA cycle (Sato et al., 2016; Caria et al., 2018). Since mitochondrial metabolism coupled to OxPhos constitutes a much more efficient

| METABOLIC PHENOTYPE: GLYCOLYSIS | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------|---|--|--|-----------------------------|--|--|--|
| Cancer type | Model of study | CSCs/Tumor cells | Methods | References | | | |
| Glioblastoma | In vivo (xenograft) and in vitro | Neurospheres | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Zhou et al., 2011 | | | |
| Glioblastoma | In vitro | Neurospheres | Gene expression analysis | Goidts et al., 2012 | | | |
| Breast cancer | In vitro | Bulk of tumoral cells | Isotope tracing and seahorse | Dong et al., 2013 | | | |
| Glioblastoma | In vitro | Neurospheres | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Yuan et al., 2013 | | | |
| Ovarian cancer | <i>In vivo</i> (xenograft) and <i>in vitro</i> | Spheres | Isotope tracing and seahorse | Anderson et al., 2014 | | | |
| Breast cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Proteomics and targeted metabolomics | Ciavardelli et al., 2014 | | | |
| Ovarian cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Isotope tracing combined with spectrometry | Liao et al., 2014 | | | |
| _ung cancer | In vitro | SP | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Liu et al., 2014 | | | |
| Colorectal cancer | In vitro | SP | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Liu et al., 2014 | | | |
| Osteosarcoma | In vitro | 3AB-OS CSC-like line | Seahorse | Palorini et al., 2014 | | | |
| Teratocarcinomas | In vitro | P19SCs | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Vega-Naredo et al., 2014 | | | |
| Nasopharyngeal carcinoma | In vitro | Sphere-derived cells | Seahorse | Shen et al., 2015 | | | |
| Hepatocellular carcinoma | In vitro | CD133 ⁺ cells | Seahorse | Song et al., 2015 | | | |
| Lung cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Glucose uptake, glutamine, glutamate and NAD+/NADH determination | Deshmukh et al., 201 | | | |
| Breast cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Glucose uptake, glutamine, glutamate and NAD+/NADH determination | Deshmukh et al., 201 | | | |
| Brain cancer | In vitro | Tumor cell lines with BTIC features | Seahorse | Malchenko et al., 201 | | | |

Frontiers in Pharmacology | www.frontiersin.org

| Cancer type | Model of study | CSC/Tumor cells | Methods | References |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|--------------------------|
| Lung cancer | In vivo (xenograft) and in vitro | Secondary spheres | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Ye et al., 2011 |
| Glioblastoma | In vitro | Gliomaspheres | Seahorse | Janiszewska et al., 2012 |
| Leukemia stem cells | In vitro | CD34 ⁺ cells | Seahorse | Lagadinou et al., 2013 |
| PDAC | <i>In vivo</i> (inducible mouse model of mutated KRAS2) and <i>in vitro</i> | Spheres | lsotope tracing, metabolomics and seahorse | Viale et al., 2014 |
| Breast cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Label-free quantitative proteomics | Lamb et al., 2015b |
| PDAC | In vivo (xenograft) and in vitro | CD133 ⁺ cells and spheres CD44 ⁺ CD133 ⁺ | Seahorse | Sancho et al., 2015 |
| Ovarian cancer | In vitro | Spheres | Metabolomics | Sato et al., 2016 |
| Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma | In vitro | Thyrospheres | GCMS | Caria et al., 2018 |

TABLE 2 | Stem-like cells with OxPhos metabolism for various cancer types (in chronological order).

energy process, CSCs relying on OxPhos would theoretically make a better use of limited nutrients, which is an important advantage to survive in nutritionally poor environments. Indeed, mitochondria-dependent CD44+CD117+ ovarian CSCs and CD133⁺ PDAC CSCs showed enhanced resistance to glucose or glutamine deprivation compared to their differentiated counterparts (Pasto et al., 2014; Sancho et al., 2015). On the other hand, a variety of metabolites released by stromal cells can be used by OxPhos-dependent cells to fuel the TCA cycle, conferring them with increased adaptability to the changing conditions of the tumor microenvironment (Anderson et al., 2014). The best known example is lactate uptake from hypoxic tumor cells or cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) via monocarboxylate transporter 1 and 2 (MCT1 and MCT2) in a process known as reverse Warburg effect (Kroemer and Pouyssegur, 2008; Sonveaux et al., 2008; Porporato et al., 2011; Rattigan et al., 2012). Moreover, pancreatic stellate cells release alanine to fuel the TCA cycle and subsequent biosynthetic pathways in pancreatic cancer cells (Sousa et al., 2016). Additionally, recent evidence indicate that microvesicles found in the tumor microenvironment contain several metabolites, including aminoacids, lipids and TCA cycle intermediates to fuel central metabolism of oxidative tumor cells and, consequently, tumor growth (Santi et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2016). In this sense, stromal cells would play a key role in tumor progression supporting OxPhos-dependent CSCs proliferation and survival in nutrient-deprived environments.

Even though Warburg hypothesized that mitochondrial respiration defects are responsible for cancer cells shifting to glycolysis, it is known today that cancer cells still retain mitochondrial functions and that, in fact, a significant amount of ATP is produced through OxPhos (Tang et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2014; Zong et al., 2016). Indeed, ATP from OxPhos proved to be important for cell movements and invasive/metastatic abilities of cancer (stem) cells (Yu et al., 2017), suggesting that mitochondria contributes to cytoskeletal alterations (Caino et al., 2015). Moreover, OxPhos activation in metastatic breast cancer models is crucial to escape from the metabolic dormancy derived from hormonal therapy (Sansone et al., 2016). Interestingly, OxPhos activation is caused by the horizontal transfer of mitochondrial

DNA (mtDNA) in exosomes from CAFs to dormant CSCs, providing a possible mechanism to development of resistance to hormonal therapy and highlighting metabolic interaction between CSCs and their niche (Sansone et al., 2017).

Beyond energy production, mitochondria are involved in controlling cellular redox rate, ROS generation, calcium buffering and the synthesis of intermediate molecules, such as acetyl-CoA and pyrimidines. Additionally, mitochondria have a crucial role in apoptosis initiation through activation of the membrane permeability transport pore, and release of cytochrome C (Wallace, 2012). Furthermore, mitochondria may contribute to malignant transformation and tumor progression through increased ROS production by the ETC (Ishikawa et al., 2008; Liou et al., 2016), abnormal accumulation of specific mitochondrial oncometabolites modifying epigenetic signals (Sciacovelli et al., 2013), and functional deficits in apoptosis (Tomiyama et al., 2006; Izzo et al., 2016). For all these reasons, mitochondrial biogenesis is essential for survival and propagation of CSCs regardless of their metabolic phenotype (Bonuccelli et al., 2010; De Luca et al., 2015; De Francesco et al., 2018). In fact, mitochondrial biogenesis may be a primary driver of stemness since its inhibition efficiently eliminated hypoxic spheroids in breast cancer (Lamb et al., 2015b,c; De Francesco et al., 2017).

The mechanisms driving mitochondrial biogenesis and OxPhos in CSCs described above have not been fully characterized yet, although some studies shed some light on this matter. In fact, findings in glioblastoma spheroids demonstrated the role of the oncofetal insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA-binding protein 2 (Imp2) in the regulation of OxPhos, and mitochondrial biogenesis and structure (Janiszewska et al., 2012). Interestingly, the metabolic profile and plasticity of PDAC CD133⁺ cells rely on the balance between the MYCdriven glycolysis and the main regulator of the mitochondrial biogenesis peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1a) (Sancho et al., 2015). In this study, differentiated PDAC cells exhibited an overexpression of MYC that counteracted stemness maintenance through a negative regulation of PGC-1a. These results apparently contradict the role of MYC as driver of stemness via glycolysis previously exposed, which may be due to a cell contextdependent modulation of stemness/differentiation. On the other hand, PGC-1 α overexpression can also lead to different outcomes depending on the cellular context in BRAF driven melanomas: increased PGC-1 α expression in primary tumors after BRAF inhibition with vemurafenib causes OxPhos addiction associated with poor patient prognosis (Haq et al., 2013), while it impaired growth rate and invasive abilities in metastatic settings (Luo et al., 2016).

Redox Regulation

It is well known that oncogenic transformation (Trachootham et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2014), dysfunctional mitochondria (Kudryavtseva et al., 2016) and altered cell signaling (Tachibana et al., 2008; Raza et al., 2017) induce ROS accumulation in cancer cells, further promoting tumorigenesis and mutagenesis. However, due to the potential deleterious effects of ROS, a powerful antioxidant machinery formed of both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants is often found in cancers (Obrador et al., 2002; Townsend and Tew, 2003; Arnold et al., 2004; Estrela et al., 2006; Valko et al., 2006; Du et al., 2013; Harris et al., 2015; Raza et al., 2017).

Increasing evidence suggests an important role of ROS and redox signaling for CSCs functionality. It was known that quiescent stem cells reside in a low ROS niche that supports their stemness characteristics, like self-renewal capacity. On the other hand, increased ROS content promote stem cell proliferation and differentiation (Ito et al., 2006; Jang and Sharkis, 2007; Naka et al., 2008; Owusu-Ansah and Banerjee, 2009; Yahata et al., 2011; Bigarella et al., 2014). Only recently, it was shown that CSCs share the same redox-related properties (Diehn et al., 2009; Kobayashi and Suda, 2012; Yuan et al., 2015): murine CD44+CD24-/lowLin- and human Thy1+CD24+Linbreast CSCs (Diehn et al., 2009; Luo et al., 2018), CD44^{high} gastrointestinal cell lines (Ishimoto et al., 2011), tumorigenic ROSlow from head and neck carcinoma cell lines (Chang et al., 2018), human or murine CD133⁺ glioblastoma cells from cell lines and tumors and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) CD34⁺ CSCs (Zhao et al., 2009; Qiang et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2013) maintain low levels of intracellular ROS coupled to enhanced antioxidant capacity. Apart from stemness maintenance, bearing high antioxidant capacity grants CSCs resistance to ROS inducers, such as chemo and radiotherapy (Diehn et al., 2009; Izumiya et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2017b).

Redox balance can also be achieved through the regulation of ROS-dependent signaling pathways and redox-sensitive transcription factors, such as c-MYC, HIF1 α , p53, NF- κ B, AP-1, and the master regulator of antioxidant response, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) (Chandel et al., 2000; Kamata et al., 2005; Soriano et al., 2009; Liou and Storz, 2010; Boyer-Guittaut et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2014; Raza et al., 2017). In fact, CSCs regulate ROS levels via antioxidant transcription factors, such as NRF2 or FOXO (Diehn et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2013; Wu T. et al., 2015; Ryoo et al., 2016; Chang et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2018). Most of these factors affect redox homeostasis by direct or indirect modulation of cellular metabolism. Indeed, NRF2 upregulation in different cancer types (Mitsuishi et al., 2012; Abdul-Aziz et al., 2015; Kim and Keum, 2016; Rocha et al., 2016; Milkovic et al., 2017) influences the switch between anabolic/catabolic glucose metabolism (Mitsuishi et al., 2012; Wallace, 2012; Heiss et al., 2013; Hawkins et al., 2016). In addition, the proto-oncogene c-MYC controls both cellular metabolism and redox homeostasis by increasing glycolysis (Ellwood-Yen et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2012; He et al., 2015; Davis-Yadley et al., 2016; Massihnia et al., 2017), and regulating glutamine metabolism (Anderton et al., 2017). Interestigly, both mechanisms could be interconnected, since c-MYC binds to the NRF2 promoter (Levy and Forman, 2010).

Importantly, most of the main signaling pathways governing CSCs functionality are regulated by ROS signaling. That is the case of stemness-regulatory pathways, such as Wnt and Notch (Takubo et al., 2010; Qiang et al., 2012; Paul et al., 2014), or key signaling nodes important for cell survival and growth, such as PTEN (Xia et al., 2013), PI3K (Le Belle et al., 2011), AKT (Zhou et al., 2007; Dey-Guha et al., 2011), ATM (Ito et al., 2004; Yalcin et al., 2008), STAT3 (Qiang et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016), and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (Dubrovska et al., 2009) and their downstream targets. Moreover, those pathways further modulate ROS production/detoxification in a positive feedback loop by activating redox-sensitive transcription factors (Miyamoto et al., 2007; Tothova et al., 2007; Dubrovska et al., 2009; Yeo et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2016).

Lipid Metabolism

Besides the classical metabolic reprogramming related to glucose, alterations in diverse aspects of lipid metabolism are increasingly gaining attention as determinants of cancer, including CSCs function. In fact, highly proliferating cells require increased amounts of the cell membrane's main components: lipids and cholesterol. In that cellular location, lipids function as either membrane building blocks or signaling transduction modifiers, since membrane lipid composition modulates protein recruitment and interaction (lipid rafts) (Rysman et al., 2010; Staubach and Hanisch, 2011). In this sense, several reports indicate that CSCs accumulate unsaturated lipids, such as monounsaturated FAs (MUFAs), the precursors of several plasma membrane lipids. In fact, lipid desaturation, mainly via the enzyme stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD-1), plays essential functions controlling self-renewal and tumorigenicity in different cancer models (Noto et al., 2013, 2017; Lai et al., 2017; Li F. et al., 2017), possibly through the activation of stemness-related pathways, such as Wnt signaling (Lai et al., 2017). Additionally, differences in plasma membrane lipid composition between CSCs and their differentiated counterparts have been reported, which can be potentially used to identify CSCs. Indeed, even though CSCs may present an overall decrease in glycosphingolipids as described for the glioblastoma CSC-like cell line GSC11 (He et al., 2010), the expression of specific gangliosides, such as GD2 and GD3, identified cells with increased self-renewal capacity and tumorigenicity in breast cancer (Battula et al., 2012; Liang et al., 2013).

Lipids and cholesterol in tumors are either scavenged from exogenous sources or synthesized *de novo* through FA synthase

(FASN) or the mevalonate pathway, respectively (Beloribi-Djefaflia et al., 2016). Thus, different reports suggest that elevated de novo synthesis of lipids and cholesterol contribute to CSCs properties and survival. In fact, the expression of sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1 (SREBP1), master controller of de novo lipogenesis, is increased in CD24⁻CD44⁺ESA⁺ cells from a ductal carcinoma in situ cell line as well as mammospheres and melanospheres (Pandev et al., 2013; Corominas-Faja et al., 2014; Giampietri et al., 2017). This transcription factor may be involved in resistance to hypoxia and nutrient scarce environments, as suggested for glioblastoma sphere-derived cells (Lewis et al., 2015). Moreover, de novo lipogenesis from glycolytic intermediates or acetate via FASN is critical for in vitro selfrenewal (Corominas-Faja et al., 2014; Yasumoto et al., 2016), and tumor relapse and metastatic dissemination after withdrawal of anti-angiogenic treatment (Sounni et al., 2014). In the same line of evidence, the activation of the mevalonate pathway is important for self-renewal and tumor formation in breast and pancreatic cancer, as well as glioblastoma (Ginestier et al., 2012; Brandi et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017a).

Although *de novo* synthesis has traditionally been considered the preferred source of FAs for tumor cells (Ookhtens et al., 1984), recent reports highlight the crucial role of FAs uptake via CD36 or FA binding proteins (Hale et al., 2014; Pascual et al., 2016). The same is also true for cholesterol uptake within lipoproteins (Guillaumond et al., 2015). Indeed, lipid uptake, either via lipoprotein receptors or CD36, favors proliferation of glioma CD133⁺ cells (Hale et al., 2014) and label-retaining/CD44⁺ cells from squamous cell carcinoma (Pascual et al., 2016). Interestingly, increased lipid uptake points to the crucial role of microenvironment supporting cancer (stem) cell functions: tumor-activated adipocytes provide FAs to support leukemia CD34⁺ cells growth, survival and chemoresistance (Ye et al., 2016; Shafat et al., 2017) as well as omental metastasis from ovarian cancer (Nieman et al., 2011).

Fatty acids require covalent modification by CoA by fatty acyl-CoA synthetases to enter the bioactive pool of FAs. Afterward, they will be further esterified to form triacylglycerols or sterol esters and stored in lipid droplets (LDs). Importantly, recent reports correlate accumulation of LDs or stored cholesterylester with tumor progression and aggressiveness (Yue et al., 2014; Guillaumond et al., 2015). In fact, activated and stored lipids play a crucial role supporting tumorigenicity of CSCs in vivo, as demonstrated in cells derived from neurospheres from glioblastoma and ALDH⁺ CD133⁺ ovarian cancer cells (Sun et al., 2014; Menard et al., 2016; Li J. et al., 2017). This may be a reflect of adaption to the harsh conditions found in the tumor microenvironment, since those lipids can be mobilized upon metabolic stress, providing ATP via FAO to ensure survival (Maan et al., 2018). Importantly, increased lipid storage in LDs may constitute a useful CSCs marker, as demonstrated in colorectal (CRC) and ovarian cancer (Tirinato et al., 2015; Li J. et al., 2017).

Activated FAs are not only incorporated into membranes or storage, but also used as substrate to synthesize signaling lipids or energy production in FAO. Although FAO is considered the main energy source in non-glycolytic tumors (Liu et al.,

2010; Caro et al., 2012), a high activity of this pathway has been reported for aggressive tumor cells and CSCs, especially in nutrient scarce environments (Table 3) (Carracedo et al., 2013; Kamphorst et al., 2013; Daniëls et al., 2014; Pasto et al., 2014). In fact, ATP production and survival of matrix-deprived epithelial cells depend on FAO (Schafer et al., 2009; Carracedo et al., 2012), a metabolic process that also sustains the self-renewal capacity in both leukemia-initiating CFSE^{high}CD34⁺ cells and hematopoietic long-term culture initiating cells (Samudio et al., 2010; Ito et al., 2012). Besides its well-known role in energy production, FAs metabolism via mitochondrial FAO regulates multiple functions of CSCs. Indeed, FAO contributes to pluripotency maintenance and chemoresistance (Wang T. et al., 2018), mainly by reducing ROS production (Lee et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016) and may sustain metastatic properties of sphere-derived cells (Aguilar et al., 2016).

Finally, lipids can also regulate CSCs functionality in terms of self-renewal and tumorigenic abilities through their function as second messengers in signal transduction pathways, thus becoming potential therapeutic targets. Indeed, sphingolipids, such as sphingosine-1-P (S1P), eicosanoids, such as prostaglandin E2 or glycerophospholipids, such as lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), have been reported to increase CSCs proliferation and *in vivo* tumorigenicity, activating self-renewal and survival signaling pathways (Notch, AKT, NF-kB) in ALDH1⁺ from breast cancer, label-retaining cells in bladder cancer, CD133⁺CD44⁺ cells in CRC and sphere-derived cells from ovarian cancer (Hirata et al., 2015; Kurtova et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Seo et al., 2016).

Alternative Fuels

Cancer cells require the use of amino acids for their heightened metabolic needs. Indeed, one of the most important metabolic pathways for cancer cells is that related to glutamine (Wise and Thompson, 2010), since it is an important substrate for DNA and fatty acid synthesis, as well as anaplerosis of the TCA cycle. Indeed, glutamine addiction has become a hallmark of glycolytic tumors, especially those with increased c-MYC expression (Deberardinis and Cheng, 2010; Wise and Thompson, 2010; Korangath et al., 2015). In addition, glutamine is related to glutathione synthesis, well known for its powerful antioxidant ability and some other biological activities (Todorova et al., 2004; Son et al., 2013). Although OxPhos-dependent pancreatic CD133⁺ CSCs are resistant to glutamine deprivation (Sancho et al., 2015), evidence of the involvement of glutamine metabolism in the maintenance of the stem-like SP phenotype has been provided in lung and pancreatic cancer by a β-catenin/redox-mediated mechanism (Liao et al., 2017). In fact, glutamine deprivation in pancreatic cancer cell lines inhibited their self-renewal capacity, reduced their stemness gene signature and increased sensitivity to radiotherapy (Li D. et al., 2015). Additionally, aminoacid metabolism, especially glutamine, is increased in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) ROSlow CSCs to fuel OxPhos and favor survival (Jones et al., 2018). Interestingly, leukemia CSCs may obtain their glutamine supply from neighbor stromal cells, as described for bone marrow adipocytes supporting cancer cells growth after asparaginase treatment in high-risk leukemia patients (Ehsanipour et al., 2013).

Apart from glutamine, the metabolism of amino acids, such as lysine or serine may also support CSCs features. Indeed, CRC CD110⁺ tumor-initiating cells (TICs) are rich in enzymes implicated in both lysine transport and catabolism, which activates β -catenin-dependent Wnt signaling, ultimately promoting self-renewal and metastasis (Wu Z. et al., 2015). Additionally, accumulation of alpha-aminoadipate, an intermediate of lysine catabolism, on brain TICs correlates with poor survival rate of glioblastoma patients, representing a marker of tumor aggressiveness (Rosi et al., 2015). On the other hand,

recent data demonstrate that phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH), catalyzing the first step of the serine biosynthesis, maintains self-renewal and tumorigenicity of lung, breast and brain CD133^{high} sphere-forming cells in a mechanism involving pluripotency gene expression and redox balance (Samanta et al., 2016; Sharif et al., 2018). Finally, endogenous tryptophan derivatives, such as Kyn (kynurenine) and ITE (2-(10H-indole-30- carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid methyl ester), may play opposite roles on cancer progression and stemness, regulating OCT4 expression through aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) modulation: accumulation of the low-affinity AhR agonist Kyn in the tumor microenvironment favor carcinogenesis, whereas

TABLE 3 | Stem-like cells using alternative metabolism for various cancer types (in chronological order).

| METABOLIC PHENOTYPE: OTHERS | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------|---|---|--|---|------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Cancer type | Metabolic phenotype | Model of study | CSC/Tumor cells | Methods | References | | | |
| Breast cancer | FAO | In vitro | Detached tumor cells | Isotope tracing | Schafer et al., 2009 | | | |
| Breast cancer | Ketone bodies | <i>In vivo</i> (xenograft) | | 3-OH-butirate effects on tumor growth, migration and angiogenesis | Bonuccelli et al., 2010 | | | |
| Hepatic cancer | Glutamine | In vitro | Bulk of tumor cells | BD Oxygen Biosensor System | Hu et al., 2010 | | | |
| Leukemia-initiating cells | FAO | <i>In vivo</i> (xenograft) <i>In vitro</i> | Bulk of tumor cells | Clark-type oxygen electrode | Samudio et al., 2010 | | | |
| Hepatic cancer | Glutamine | In vitro | Bulk of tumor cells | Glutathione, glutamate and glutamine | Suzuki et al., 2010 | | | |
| Breast cancer | FAO | In vitro | Detached tumor cells | Isotope tracing | Carracedo et al., 2012 | | | |
| Leukemia-initiating cells | FAO | In vivo | CD150 ⁺ CD48 ⁻ CD41 ⁻ Flt3 ⁻ CD34 ⁻ KSL cells sorted from Pml ⁺ / ⁺ or Pml ⁻ / ⁻ mice | Isotope tracing and seahorse | lto et al., 2012 | | | |
| Glioblastoma | PPP | In vitro | Gliomaspheres | Isotope tracing | Kathagen et al., 2013 | | | |
| Colorectal cancer | Glycolysis, TCA cycle, and cysteine/methionine metabolism | In vitro | CD133 ⁺ cells | Metabolomics | Chen et al., 2014 | | | |
| Ovarian Cancer | OXPHOS and PPP | In vivo (xenografts) In vitro | CD44 ⁺ CD117 ⁺ cells | Flow cytometry | Pasto et al., 2014 | | | |
| PDAC | Glutamine (non-canonical pathway of glutamine metabolism) | In vivo (xenografts) In vitro | Spheres | Gene expression and enzymatic assays | Li D. et al., 2015 | | | |
| Colorectal cancer | Lysine catabolism | In vivo (xenografts) In vitro | CD110 ⁺ | Transcriptomics | Wu Z. et al., 2015 | | | |
| Hepatocellular carcinoma | Glycolysis and FAO in sh-Nanog-TICs | In vitro | CD133 ⁺ CD49f ⁺ CD45 ⁻ | Isotope tracing and metabolomics | Chen C.L. et al., 2016 | | | |
| Breast cancer | PPP | In vitro | Mammospheres and ALDH ⁺ cells | Glucose consumption, lactate, NADPH and G6P | Debeb et al., 2016 | | | |
| Cervical cancer | TCA | In vitro | Spheres | Metabolomics | Sato et al., 2016 | | | |
| Breast cancer | Mitochondrial biogenesis and FAO | In vitro | Mammospheres | Seahorse and label-free semi-quantitative proteomics | De Francesco et al., 2017 | | | |
| Pancreatic cancer | Glutamine | In vitro | ABCG2 high | ATP, NADP+/NADPH and glutathione | J Liao et al., 2017 | | | |
| Breast cancer | Ketone bodies | In vitro | Mammospheres | Seahorse | Ozsvari et al., 2017 | | | |
| Brain cancer | Purine metabolism | <i>In vivo</i> (xenograft) and <i>In vitro</i> | Brain TICs | Metabolomics | Wang et al., 2017c | | | |

the high-affinity AhR agonist ITE promotes its binding to the OCT4 promoter to suppress its transcription and, consequently, inducing cell differentiation in U87 glioblastoma neurospheres (Cheng et al., 2015).

Ketone bodies can also work as fuel to promote tumor growth and play a role in CSCs activity. Reports on breast cancer showed the role of ketone bodies increasing the expression of stemness-related genes, driving recurrence and metastasis, thus related to decreased patient survival (Bonuccelli et al., 2010; Martinez-Outschoorn and Lisanti, 2014).

The PPP has also come up as an alternative way to generate energy in CSCs. For instance, glioblastoma stemlike cells are remarkably metabolically flexibles, switching their metabolism depending on oxygen levels fluctuations: from high levels of PPP activity linked to active proliferation under acute oxygenation, to a glucose-dependent phenotype under hypoxia, when cell migration is stimulated (Kathagen et al., 2013). Additionally, Debeb et al. (2016) described that PPP inhibitors reduced the stemness-related markers in node-positive invasive breast carcinoma and a high rate in PPP activity was also reported in combination with an OxPhos-dependent phenotype in CD44⁺CD117⁺ CSCs from epithelial ovarian cancer (Pasto et al., 2014).

Overproduction of hyaluronan, a component of the extracellular microenvironment, supports self-renewal in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma HSC-3 cells (Bourguignon et al., 2012) and dedifferentiation in breast cancer cells (Chanmee et al., 2014). Using metabolomic approaches, Chanmee et al. (2016) later described that increased hyaluronan production leads to a HIF1 α -induced metabolic reprogramming toward glycolysis, thus creating a positive feedback loop through the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP). Interestingly, HBP inhibition considerably reduced the content of CD44^{high}CD24^{low} cells and mammosphere-forming capacity.

Finally, purine metabolism has also been described to regulate stemness-related properties. Indeed, upregulation of MYC-mediated *de novo* purine synthesis maintained self-renewal, proliferation and tumor forming capacity in brain TICs, and was associated with poor prognosis in glioblastoma patients (Wang et al., 2017c).

Considerations on the Metabolic Heterogeneity of CSCs

As inferred from the information above, CSCs display a plethora of metabolic phenotypes diverging from the classical OxPhos/Warburg phenotypes (**Table 3**). However, such diversity cannot be completely attributed to the intrinsic heterogeneity of cancer, since conflicting data can be often found in the literature even for the same tumor entity.

The main source of reported disparities is the utilized model systems. On the one hand, the term CSC tend to be loosely used and include models as dissimilar as established cell lines grown as spheroids in 3D and sorted cells from human tumors expressing one or several surface markers. In fact, although resistance to anoikis and the ability to grow in anchorage-independent conditions are well-accepted characteristics of stem-like cells, the percentage of *bona-fide* CSCs within a spheroid may be as low as 1%. On the other hand, established cell lines are usually clonal and have been passaged *in vitro* for dozens or even hundreds of times: resemblance with the genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity found in tumors barely exists. Even when considering sorted cells from fresh tumors, we need to bear in mind that most surface markers are not completely reliable and may be lost or modified in sample preparation: in fact, trypsinization time may greatly affect expression of these markers. Most importantly, most *in vitro* studies are carried out in artificial metabolic conditions (e.g., high glucose and oxygen) lacking microenvironmental components of the CSC niche. In fact, tumor niche can support metabolic alterations in CSCs (Mateo et al., 2014; Ye et al., 2016) via signaling and metabolic crosstalk.

Interestingly, even with these limitations, different groups have found phenotypically diverse CSCs subpopulations coexisting in the same in vitro or in vivo conditions (Diehn et al., 2009; Sancho et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2018). For instance, although most pancreatic CSCs are dependent on OxPhos, a preexisting subpopulation of CD133⁺ resistant to mitochondrial inhibition, due to their increased metabolic plasticity, was detected (Sancho et al., 2015). Importantly, differences in metabolism may be associated to functional diversity inside the CSCs population. Indeed, metabolic heterogeneity, mainly in terms of redox state, has been associated to differences in stemness, as well as chemo and radioresistance (Diehn et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2013; Sancho et al., 2015; Ye et al., 2016). Additionally, several reports link CSCs with enhanced metastatic abilities to specific metabolic traits. Indeed, reduced mitochondrial DNA and function contribute to the acquisition of a metastatic phenotype in spheroid-forming breast cancer cells (Guha et al., 2014). Moreover, alterations in redox balance leading to NRF2 activation mediate a phenotypic switch from glycolytic mesenchymal-like to OxPhos-dependent epitheliallike breast CSCs (Luo et al., 2018). In addition to breast cancer, CD44+ESA^{low} cells with increased metastatic potential (upon EMT), linked to low ROS levels, as compared to their non-EMT counterparts, have been described for oral and skin carcinomas, as well as prostate cancer (Gammon et al., 2013; Aguilar et al., 2016). On the contrary, metastasis-initiating cells in melanoma bear redox stress, as inferred from their elevated ROS and reduced glutathione content (Porporato et al., 2014; Piskounova et al., 2015).

THERAPEUTIC TARGETING OF CSCs METABOLISM

Considering the involvement of CSCs in chemoresistance, tumor relapse and metastasis, there is a pressing need in cancer therapy to find new strategies to eradicate this aggressive cell population. As summarized in the previous section, the distinct metabolic features of CSCs, compared to non-CSCs, constitute a significant opportunity to targeting specifically the CSCs component of tumors and eradicate the tumor bulk.

Mitochondrial Metabolism

As mentioned above, mitochondria play a key role for CSCs functionality regardless of their dominant metabolic phenotype, suggesting that targeting mitochondrial metabolism may be the most effective therapeutic strategy for their elimination. Noteworthy, highly glycolytic cells with mutations in the TCA cycle or ETC still require functional mitochondria for the generation of metabolites from glutamine via reductive carboxylation (Mullen et al., 2011). For those reasons, pharmacological approaches designed to target different aspects of mitochondrial function for cancer treatment are currently under intense investigation in preclinical and clinical studies (**Figure 1**).

Targeting OxPhos

Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration by compounds blocking ETC complexes is one of the most studied metabolismbased strategies for cancer treatment. In fact, tumor cells in nutrient-deprived environments or displaying limited metabolic plasticity, as described for some gliomaspheres and PDAC CD133⁺ cells (Janiszewska et al., 2012; Sancho et al., 2015), have restricted ability to cope with decreased mitochondrial ATP production. ETC inhibitors also target glycolytic CSCs, such as CD44⁺CD24^{low} cells in breast cancer or SP cells in nasopharyngeal carcinoma (Vazquez-Martin et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2013), highlighting the importance of ETC for coupled ATP production, avoiding electron loss in the form of ROS.

One of the most studied ETC inhibitors in the context of CSCs targeting is the antidiabetic drug metformin. Reported antitumoral effects of this drug relate to both systemic glucose decrease, and direct cancer cell targeting via ETC complex I inhibition (Wheaton et al., 2014). Although metformin shows cytostatic properties at low concentration, it induces apoptosis specifically in PDAC CD133⁺ cells and CD44^{high} CD24^{low} mammospheres (Iliopoulos et al., 2011; Sancho et al., 2015), which, at least for PDAC CD133⁺ cells, is attributable to their dependency on mitochondrial metabolism. Although metformin clinical testing for pancreatic cancer treatment showed no improvement in patient survival rate (Kordes et al., 2015; Reni et al., 2016), positive clinical data has been reported for breast, endometrial and prostate cancer. On the other hand, the development of resistance to metformin monotherapy in vivo suggests that the design of combinatory treatments (Sancho et al., 2015; Roh et al., 2017) or the use of stronger mitochondrial inhibitors may be needed. This could be the case of the ETC complex I inhibitor phenformin, which is more



efficiently delivered to mitochondria (Petrachi et al., 2017) and when combined with the ALDH inhibitor gossypol, suppresses stemness, invasiveness and cell viability in glioblastoma (Park et al., 2018). Additionally, menadione, with dual mechanism of action combining complex I inhibition and ROS induction, prevents the development of resistance (Sancho et al., 2015).

Following metformin's relative success, a great effort has been put on the drug repurposing for CSCs targeting in cancer treatment. In this sense, several known FDA-approved antibiotics target the ETC at different levels and have proven to selectively decrease CSC content. This is the case of antimycin A, a powerful complex III inhibitor that decreased lung spheroids (Yeh et al., 2013); the antituberculosis agent bedaquiline (complex V inhibitor) that targeted mammospheres (Fiorillo et al., 2016); oligomycin (another complex V inhibitor), which showed drastic synergistic effects suppressing cell growth and motility in glioblastoma cell lines when combined with 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) (Kennedy et al., 2013); and niclosamide, an antihelmintic with ETC uncoupling properties, that inhibited TICs from ovarian and breast cancers (Yo et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013). Similarly, numerous studies suggest the efficacy of the OxPhos inhibitor salinomycin for CSCs targeting in vitro and in vivo in diverse cancer types (Naujokat and Steinhart, 2012 and references therein). In this last case, however, the final antitumoral effect may be the result of a combination of factors, since salinomycin also interferes with ABC transporters or Wnt signaling (Naujokat and Steinhart, 2012). Besides antibiotics, the agent L-deprenyl (also known as Selegiline), a monoamine oxidase-B (MAO-B) inhibitor typically used for the treatment of Parkinson's disease, was found to exert antimitochondrial activity and cause apoptotic cell death in AML CSCs through the reduction of ETC and glycolysis-related gene expression, independently of MAO-B inhibition (Ryu et al., 2018).

Considering the therapeutic potential of OxPhos inhibition, compound discovery is currently taking place in order to identify new selective molecules with adequate *in vivo* properties. As an example, the compound VLX600 showed cytotoxicity in colon cancer spheroid-derived cells both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, by directly inhibiting ETC complexes in metabolically compromised microenvironments (Zhang et al., 2014).

Targeting Mitochondrial Translation and Biogenesis

As commented above, several FDA-approved antibiotics can disrupt mitochondrial function. Apart from direct OxPhos inhibition, certain widely prescribed antibiotics target either mitochondrial translation or biogenesis as an "off-target" effect (Lamb et al., 2015c), inhibiting self-renewal ability of multiple tumor types (Lamb et al., 2015a,b). For instance, the use of a tetracycline such as doxycycline induced apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cell lines and human cervical carcinoma tumorspheres (Son et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2015), while azithromycin (erythromycin family) demonstrated to inhibit the self-renewal capacity of PDAC spheroids (Lamb et al., 2015c). On the other hand, the use of the antimicrobial tigecycline selectively killed leukemia CD34⁺CD38⁻ cells without affecting normal hematopoietic cells through the inhibition of mitochondrial translation (Skrtic et al., 2011).

However, although this research line shows promising results, continuous treatment with antibiotics for cancer therapy may be ineffective (Esner et al., 2017). Indeed, long-term desensitization was reported for human metastatic breast cancer cells treated with different antibiotic classes including streptomycin, tetracycline, kanamycin, G418-geneticin (aminoglycoside), puromycine (aminonucleoside) and blasticidine (Esner et al., 2017). Nonetheless, the design of novel combinatory treatments or stronger derivatives could overcome this setback for future application in the clinical setting, taking advantage of the well-known safety profile of antibiotics.

On the other hand, non-antibiotic inhibitors of mitochondrial biogenesis are already available: XCT790, a specific inhibitor of the estrogen-related receptor alpha (ERR α)/PGC-1 α , signaling pathway (responsible for mitochondrial biogenesis), inhibited breast CD44^{+/high}CD24^{-/low} TICs and mammosphere survival and propagation by reducing OxPhos. These effects were prevented or reversed by stimulating mitochondrial biogenesis with the mitochondrial fuel acetyl-L-carnitine (ALCAR9) (De Luca et al., 2015).

Targeting Mitochondrial Dynamics

Several types of cancer show downregulation of mitochondrial fusion proteins (Zhang et al., 2013; Chen and Chan, 2017) or upregulation of fission proteins (Rehman et al., 2012; Kashatus et al., 2015; Wieder et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2017). In fact, increased mitochondrial fragmentation has also been involved in malignancy, promoting tumor migration and invasion in breast cancer (Zhao et al., 2013). On the other hand, mitochondrial dynamics seem to regulate proliferation and survival of CSCs, similar to what is known in embryonic stem cells (Chen and Chan, 2017). Indeed, dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1)-dependent fission regulates mitochondrial distribution in asymmetrical division, ensuring maximal mitochondrial fitness in the daughter stem cell (Katajisto et al., 2015).

Currently, the only available pharmacological strategy to target mitochondrial dynamics is the DRP1 inhibitor mdivi-1. On the one hand, mdivi-1 or DRP-1 knockdown reduced proliferation and induced apoptosis in lung cancer cells, whose mitochondria were in a situation of constant fission *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Rehman et al., 2012). This inhibitor also attenuates lung cancer and mesothelioma proliferation when combined with the MET inhibitor MGCD516 (Wang J. et al., 2018). Importantly, mdivi-1 reduced tumorsphere-forming ability of breast, lung, and melanoma cancer cell lines (Peiris-Pagès et al., 2018) and reduced tumorigenicity of brain TICs *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Xie et al., 2015).

Targeting Mitophagy

Mitophagy is an essential quality control system to selectively remove damaged, non-functional or unnecessary mitochondria in cells. However, its involvement in cancer is controversial, since contradictory reports on the role of this process in tumorigenesis have been published (Chourasia et al., 2015a).

On the one hand, the mitophagy promoter Parkin is frequently deleted in many cancer types (Cesari et al., 2003). In addition, defective mitophagy caused by BNip3 loss/inhibition promote invasion and metastasis in breast, pancreatic or CRC (Okami et al., 2004; Chourasia et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2018). Moreover, the induction of mitophagy and mitoptosis by salinomycin treatment led to decreased mitochondrial mass and ATP depletion in prostate cancer and breast cancer CD44^{high}CD24^{low} cells triggering a cytotoxic effect specific to tumor cells without damaging normal fibroblasts (Jangamreddy et al., 2013).

On the other hand, mitophagy can be triggered as a stress response against nutrient deprivation or hypoxia, promoting cell survival and tumorigenesis in hostile environments and contributing to drug resistance in human CRC CD133⁺CD44⁺ cells (Jangamreddy et al., 2013; Yan et al., 2017). In agreement with this notion, mitophagy is upregulated in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma undergoing EMT (Whelan et al., 2017). Accordingly, the use of mitophagy blockers, such as the nanomedicine 188Re-Liposome or the inhibitor liensinine, reversed drug resistance in ovarian cancer cells in vitro (Chang et al., 2017) and in breast cancer xenografts in vivo (Zhou et al., 2015), respectively. Additionally, the alkaloid matrine induced mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis by inhibiting mitophagy in HepG2 hepatoblastoma cells (Wei et al., 2018). Interestingly, a link between autophagy and mitochondrial respiration has recently been reported: the novel autophagy inhibitor aumitin blocks complex I activity (Robke et al., 2018), while pharmacologic or genetic inhibition of complex I inhibitor impairs autophagy (Thomas et al., 2018).

Mitochondrial Drug Delivery

In order to ensure an efficient and selective delivery in mitochondria, different small compounds or chemotherapeutic drugs can be conjugated with nanocarriers, including lipophilic cations, peptides and nanoparticles, with preferential accumulation in mitochondria.

One of the most studied strategies involves the conjugation of small compounds with delocalized lipophilic cations, such as triphenylphosphonium (TPP), dequalinium or rhodamine 123, that possess both lipophilicity and a positive charge, and accumulate in the mitochondrial matrix (Murphy, 2008). Importantly, as OxPhos-dependent CSCs show an elevated mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m$), indicative of increased activity (Sancho et al., 2015), conjugated compounds will be delivered primarily to these cells. For example, MitoChromanol (vitamin E analog) or Gamitrinib (chaperone inhibitor) combined with TPP inhibit OxPhos and ATP production selectively in cancer cells (Chae et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2013).

Commonly used chemotherapeutic agents can also be joined with lipophilic cations to exert their therapeutic action in the mitochondria and improve their effect. For example, doxorubicin (DOX) combined with TPP showed enhanced toxicity against DOX-resistant MDA-MB-453 breast cancer cells, even though TPP-DOX was as toxic as free DOX in wild type cells (Han et al., 2014). Interestingly, DOX fused with TPP-conjugated chitosan nanoparticles exhibited higher cytotoxicity than free doxorubicin in A549 and Hela cells (Hou et al., 2017). Additionally, the development of a cisplatin prodrug combined with TPP showed promising results treating cisplatin-resistant, aggressive cancers, such as neuroblastoma, since its delivery into the mitochondrial matrix circumvents the nucleotide excision repair pathway present in the nucleus (Marrache et al., 2014). Moreover, the union of paclitaxel with TPP also resulted in enhanced antitumor effects in Hela and in mouse mammary carcinoma cells (4T1) *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Biswas et al., 2012).

An alternative delivery strategy tested for chemotherapeutic agents involved their conjugation with mitochondria-penetrating peptide (MPP) or mitochondria-targeting sequences (MTS), which act independently of mitochondrial potential. This approach directs their activity toward mtDNA, thus promoting drug selectivity for cancer cells with reduced mtDNA integrity, while their stable mitochondrial location prevents the acquisition of resistance due to drug efflux (Chamberlain et al., 2013). As an example, cisplatin linked to MMP overcomes tolerance in cisplatin-resistant ovarian cancer 2780/CP70 cells (Marrache et al., 2014).

Finally, the combination of the antibiotic salinomycin with reduced graphene oxide-silver nanocomposites synergistically enhanced the activity of either compound alone, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction and selectively killing human ovarian $CD133^+$ cells (Choi et al., 2018).

Targeting Redox Homeostasis

It is well established that intracellular ROS accumulation induces cancer cell death, a strategy widely used in the clinics associated to classical chemo and radiotherapy. However, recent evidence suggests that this approach may not be effective against CSCs, due to their increased antioxidant potential (Diehn et al., 2009; Ishimoto et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2015). Moreover, ROS can be a double-edged sword, since they may promote CSCs survival and invasive abilities acting as signaling molecules (Luo et al., 2018).

As previously mentioned, CSCs are characterized by a finely regulated redox metabolism (Le Belle et al., 2011; Paul et al., 2014; Chang et al., 2018), where glutathione plays an essential role to maintain stemness characteristics (Diehn et al., 2009; Ishimoto et al., 2011). For that reason, increasing oxidative stress by blocking glutathione synthesis could represent a novel therapeutic strategy for eliminating CSCs population and diminishing tumor growth (Diehn et al., 2009; Rodman et al., 2016). Thus far, buthionine sulfoximine (BSO), an inhibitor of glutathione biosynthesis, has proven (Marengo et al., 2008) to be very effective in decreasing clonogenicity and enhancing response of CSCs to radiotherapy in vitro and in vivo (Diehn et al., 2009; Boivin et al., 2011; Rodman et al., 2016). Due to its importance for glutathione biosynthesis, especially in glutamine-addicted cancer cells, deprivation of glutamine increased oxidative stress and reduced SP cells in non-small lung and pancreatic cancer cell lines (Liao et al., 2017). Glutamine deprivation also inhibited metastatic potential of cancer cells, one of the main characteristics of CSCs (Wang et al., 2010).

Besides glutathione, strategies aimed at inhibiting cellular antioxidants are currently applied with relative success, mostly improving response to conventional therapies (**Figure 2**). For example, treatment with auranofin, a thioredoxin reductase inhibitor, increased the sensitivity of human breast CSCs to radiotherapy (Rodman et al., 2016), while a synergistic reduction of the CD44v9⁺ cells content was achieved by inhibiting glutathione-S-transferase and thioredoxin reductase in patientderived xenograft (PDX) models of CRC (Tanaka et al., 2016). Arsenic trioxide (ATO), an FDA-approved drug for acute promyelocytic leukemia that increases ROS content and depletes superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) (Li et al., 2006), proved to reduce CSCs content in different cancer types (Ding et al., 2014; Li et al., 2015a; Chang et al., 2016; Bell et al., 2018). Moreover, the synergistic effect of ATO with glutathione depletion could present a novel treatment for cancers unresponsive to ATO treatment alone (Miller, 2002; Davison et al., 2003; Bhalla et al., 2009; Matulis et al., 2012). The anti-alcohol addiction drug disulfiram has been widely used as anticancer agent since it can increase oxidative stress by blocking SOD activation (Calderon-Aparicio et al., 2015) and inhibiting NRF2 (Xu et al., 2017). In studies with breast cancer cell lines *in vitro* and *in vivo*, disulfiram not only diminished mammosphere formation (Yip et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2017) and reduced CD44⁺CD24⁻ and CD49f⁺CD24⁺ subpopulations, but also managed to reverse paclitaxel and cisplatin resistance of triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) (Liu et al., 2013). Moreover, disulfiram proved to diminish the ALDH1⁺ population from



lipoprotein receptor, FAs – fatty acids, FASN – fatty acid synthetase, HMG-CoAR – 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A reductase, SCD-1 – stearoyl-CoA desaturase, MUFAs – monounsaturated fatty acids, PUFAs – polyunsaturated fatty acids, FAO – fatty acid oxidation, TCA – tricarbolxylic acid cycle, CPT1 – carnitine palmitoyltransferase I, GTPase – guanosin triphosphatase, I/Q/II/III/VV – complexes of the electron transport chain, O_2^- – superoxide anion, H_2O_2 – oxygen peroxide, SOD – superoxide dismutase, GPX – glutathione peroxidase, ROS – reactive oxygen species, NRF2 – nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2, GSH – glutathione, Glu – glutamate, Gln – glutamine, GS – glutathione synthase, GLS – glutaminase, 2M14NQ – 2-methylthio-1,4-naphtoquinone, SSO – sulfosuccinimidyl oleate, mAb – monoclonal antibody, EGCG – epigallocatechin gallate, ATRA – all-trans retinoic acid, BSO – L-buthionine-S,R-sulfoximine, ATO – arsenic trioxide.

non-small cell lung cancer cell lines (Liu et al., 2016) and $CD34^+CD38^+$ cells in AML cell lines and primary samples *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Xu et al., 2017). Now entering phase III in clinical trials, disulfiram may present a potential adjuvant therapy for cancer treatment, although it is highly unstable in blood. For that reason, disulfiram-containing nanoparticles have also been developed. Even though these nanoparticles proved to increase disulfiram blood levels (Song et al., 2016), further studies are needed to establish its full *in vivo* antioxidant and biological properties.

Increased NRF2 levels turned out to play a role in CSCs survival and chemoresistance (Kwak et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2013; Ryoo et al., 2016), representing another potential target for eradicating CSCs. All-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) blocked NRF2 activation, diminishing self-renewal and tumorigenic capacity of ALDH1⁺ lung cancer cells (Moreb et al., 2004) and ovarian cancer cell lines (Kim D. et al., 2018). Moreover, brusatol, which decreases NRF2 protein levels, was demonstrated to inhibit mammospheres formation and increase the sensitivity of human breast CSCs to Taxol (Wu T. et al., 2015). Similarly, the natural flavonoid apigenin (Kim et al., 2016; Erdogan et al., 2017) or the alkaloid trigonelline (Arlt et al., 2013; Roh et al., 2017), which inhibits NRF2 at transcriptional and translational level, can sensitize CSCs toward chemotherapeutic drugs. On the other hand, the combination of ROS inducers and NRF2 (or downstream targets) inhibition could represent a potential strategy for CSCs elimination (Diehn et al., 2009; Ishimoto et al., 2011; Kwak et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2017; Kim D. et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2018).

Paradoxically, some natural antioxidants that can increase NRF2 expression levels have also shown therapeutic potential. The NRF2-inducer sulforaphane, a dietary component from broccoli, inhibited self-renewal capacity of CD44⁺ LDH1⁺ pancreatic (Rausch et al., 2010) and ALDH1⁺ breast cancer cells in vivo and in vitro (Burnett et al., 2017). Curcumin, an active ingredient of turmeric, diminished self-renewal capacity of CD44⁺ EpCAM⁺ pancreatic cancer cells in vitro and in vivo (Bao et al., 2012) and reduced proliferation and mammosphere formation of ALDH1⁺ breast cancer cells (Kakarala et al., 2010). Additionally, resveratrol, oleanane triterpenoid or carnosol also proved to active and increase NRF2 expression which could have a positive effect on diminishing the CSCs population (Probst et al., 2015a,b; Sancho et al., 2015; Giacomelli et al., 2017). Treatment with naturally occurring antioxidants, such as vitamin C or phenethyl isothiocyanates (PEITCs), found in broccoli or Brussel sprouts, also diminished self-renewal capacity and clonogenicity of NCCIT human embryonic carcinoma and human colon cancer cell lines, and reduced CD133⁺, EpCAM⁺ and OV6⁺ cells while inhibiting tumorspheres formation and growth of hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines and PDX models in vivo (Yun et al., 2017; Lv et al., 2018). However, even though natural antioxidants could represent an exciting strategy in anticancer therapy, clinical trials thus far showed no positive effect on patient survival. Indeed, published data highlighted the lack of specificity of antioxidant treatments. This fact, together with the possible contribution of antioxidants to stemness maintenance

and cancer development, weakens the translation potential of this approach.

Targeting Lipid Metabolism

Lipid metabolism has become an interesting target in order to design new anti-CSC strategies, and a number of compounds have been tested during the last years (**Figure 2**).

Lipid Desaturation

Over the last few years, several SCD-1 inhibitors have demonstrated their effectiveness in different preclinical in vitro and in vivo models of cancer, by specifically targeting stemnessrelated properties. Indeed, the inhibitors CAY10556 and SC-26196 reduced stem cell-related markers and signaling pathways by downregulating Hedgehog and Notch expression in ovarian ALDH⁺CD133⁺ cells (Li J. et al., 2017). Interestingly, this led to the inhibition of sphere formation in vitro and tumorigenicity in vivo, with no effect on differentiated cells, suggesting the selectivity of this approach. In the same line of evidence, inhibition of SCD-1 with the compounds SSI-4 or A939572 modulates endoplasmic reticulum-stress-mediated differentiation in liver chemoresistant hepatospheres, sensitizing resistant PDXs to sorafenib treatment with low side toxicity in vivo (Ma et al., 2017). In parallel, effects of the inhibitor A939572 in CD133⁺CD49f⁺ liver CSCs have also been linked to Wnt-mediated self-renewal and in vivo tumorigenicity (Lai et al., 2017). Finally, MF-438 treatment induced anoikis in lung ALDH1⁺ cells, decreasing self-renewal and pluripotency markers expression (Pisanu et al., 2017). Interestingly, these in vitro effects translated into reduced tumorigenic potential and reversion of chemoresistance in vivo.

Lipogenesis

Given the important involvement of the enzyme FASN in numerous tumor types, a number of inhibitors have been designed and/or tested in diverse cancer models: cerulenin, C75, C93, epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), G28UCM, orlistat, GSK2194069 and GSK837149A. In fact, cerulenin treatment prevents proliferation in vitro of pancreatic spheres (Brandi et al., 2017) and neurospheres established from glioma patients (Yasumoto et al., 2016) CSCs. On the other hand, C75 at non-cytotoxic concentrations significantly reduced self-renewal in HER2⁺ breast cancer cells (Corominas-Faja et al., 2017). However, it is important to highlight the critical selectivity and toxicity issues found for FASN inhibitors in vivo, which have compromised their translation to clinical trials. Only the inhibitor TVB-2640 is being currently tested in clinical trials for HER2⁺ advanced breast cancer, high grade astrocytoma and colon cancer (NCT03179904, NCT03032484, NCT02980029, respectively).

Cholesterol Synthesis

Cholesterol synthesis through the mevalonate pathway can be inhibited by statins, for which the molecular target is the enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutharyl-coenzyme A reductase (HMG-COAR). In fact, treatment with different statins decreased self-renewal and CSCs content in breast (Ginestier et al., 2012) and nasopharyngeal (Peng et al., 2017) carcinomas. Interestingly, similar effects were detected in CD133⁺ brain TICs (Wang et al., 2017a) where overexpression of mevalonate pathway genes was controlled by MYC, highlighting the variety of metabolic pathways controlled by the oncogene. However, anti-CSCs effects of statins could also be related to inhibition of cellular signaling via small GTPases (e.g., Rho and Rac), since they require prenylation using mevalonate pathway intermediates. In fact, impaired self-renewal ability achieved with simvastatin treatment in breast tumorspheres was recapitulated by zoledronic acid and GGTI-298, inhibitors of the prenylation pathway (Ginestier et al., 2012). Moreover, a mixture of brutieridin and melitidin (natural products derived from bergamot with statin-like properties) impaired breast ALDH1⁺ CSCs proliferation inhibiting both FAO and Rhorelated signaling pathways (Fiorillo et al., 2018).

Lipid Uptake

Strategies targeting lipid uptake are mainly designed to inhibit the transporter CD36, by either pharmacological inhibition or blocking antibodies. CD36 blockade with 2-methylthio-1,4-naphtoquinone decreases self-renewal ability and induces apoptosis in glioblastoma CD133⁺ (Hale et al., 2014). Another CD36 inhibitory compound, sulfosuccinimidyl oleate, decreases chemoresistant leukemic stem cells (Ye et al., 2016). Interestingly, CD36-neutralizing antibodies against either all known functions of CD36 (FA6.152) or the ones reported to block active FA and lipoprotein uptake (JC63.1) induced lipotoxicity in label-retaining/CD44⁺ metastasis-initiating cells, thus, inhibiting metastasis initiation and progression in oral squamous cell carcinoma, with no reported toxicity *in vivo* (Pascual et al., 2016).

FAO

Fatty acid oxidation inhibition with etomoxir has been studied in preclinical in vitro and in vivo cancer models. Indeed, etomoxir treatment inhibits mammosphere formation and tumor growth in vivo in TNBC tumors bearing high MYC expression (Camarda et al., 2016). In addition, etomoxir treatment sensitizes hepatocarcinoma CD133+CD49f+ CSCs to standard chemotherapy with sorafenib (Chen C.L. et al., 2016). Moreover, etomoxir decreases the number of quiescent leukemia CSCs in AML patients and, combined with the BCl-2 inhibitor ABT-737, substantially decreases tumor burden (Samudio et al., 2010). However, etomoxir treatment induces normal hematopoietic stem cell exhaustion invalidating this compound for further clinical studies (Ito et al., 2012). Interestingly, alternative FAO inhibitors with higher selectivity for malignant cells are under investigation currently. For example, avocatin B is a lipid that accumulates in mitochondria inhibiting FAO and targets AML cells and leukemia CD34⁺ CSCs with no effect on hematopoietic stem cells (Lee et al., 2014, 2015). Additionally, the compound ST136 showed antileukemic activity with no effect on normal CD34⁺ stem cells (Ricciardi et al., 2015).

Lipid-Mediated Signaling

As stated in the previous section, lipid-mediated signaling plays an important role in cancer and, specifically, in CSCs functions. For that reason, several therapeutic approaches, including inhibitors and indirect modulation via dietary supplements, have been studied over the last few years. For example, several stemness-related functions of ovarian spheroid-derived cells from cell lines and primary cells from patients were dependent on LPA synthesis. Thus, inhibition of the LPA-producing enzyme autotaxin with the small molecules S32826 or PF8380 decreased tumorigenicity and chemoresistance *in vivo* (Seo et al., 2016). Interestingly, inhibition of LPA production not only affects cancer cells, but could also play an important role modulating the immune system and supporting tumor progression. Indeed, LPA induces the differentiation of monocytes into macrophages and favors the activation of CAFs phenotype (Ray and Rai, 2017; Radhakrishnan et al., 2019).

The most studied lipid mediator class in relation to CSCs is prostaglandins. Indeed, treatment of Apc^{Min}/p mice with celecoxib, the prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 selective inhibitor, or the EP4 receptor (prostaglandin receptor) antagonist ONOAE-208 resulted in a reduction of tumor CD133⁺CD44⁺ cells and tumor burden (Wang et al., 2015). Importantly, celecoxib inhibited CSCs content and the number of liver metastatic tumors upon orthotopic injection of patient-derived CRC into NSG mice. Additionally, celecoxib impaired chemoresistance in bladder carcinomas, suggesting its utility as adjuvant therapy (Kurtova et al., 2015). On the contrary, activation of EP4 with the FDA-approved agonist misoprostol or PGE₁ reduced CD34⁺ cells in a xenograft model of chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) (Li F. et al., 2017), suggesting a context-dependent effect of prostaglandins in stemness.

On the other hand, preclinical and human observational studies suggest that dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (ω -3 PUFA), including eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), decrease CRC risk and may be effective as adjuvant treatment of advanced CRC. Indeed, EPA and DHA reduced the CD133⁺ content or stem properties in two different in vitro studies using CRC cell lines (De Carlo et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2013). Interestingly, EPA alone or in combination with chemotherapy decreased sphere-forming ability and suppressed tumor growth, likely through inhibition of proinflammatory metabolites in mice (Vasudevan et al., 2014). Importantly, studies in other tumor entities also suggest an anti-CSCs effect of ω-3 PUFAs besides CRC. Indeed, EPA and DHA supplementation also reduced proliferation and induced toxicity in breast tumorspheres, likely through alteration of the prostaglandin profile (Erickson and Hubbard, 2010). In addition, a metabolite derived from EPA eradicated leukemia M34⁺Kit⁺Sca1⁺ CSCs in PDXs of CML (Hegde et al., 2011).

Targeting Metabolism of Alternative Fuels

As mentioned in the previous section, CSCs may utilize a number of different substrates, such as amino acids and ketone bodies, in order to support self-renewal and tumorigenicity. For that reason, diverse compounds which target the metabolism of these alternative fuels are currently under investigation.

On the one hand, the use of a glutamine analog reduced 20 times tumor growth and inhibited metastasis in the VM-M3



murine tumor model of systemic metastasis, when compared with non-treated mice (Shelton et al., 2010). Interestingly, the anti-asthma compound Zaprinast was identified as a novel glutaminase inhibitor that, together with BPTES and 968, inhibited clonogenicity of pancreatic cancer cells in response to radiation (Elhammali et al., 2014).

Interestingly, Ozsvari et al. (2017) unveiled the potential anti-CSCs activity of a novel class of compounds denominated "mitoketoscins." These compounds block the active site of the enzymes involved in the recycling of ketone bodies into acetyl-CoA (OXCT1 and ACAT1), leading to inhibition of the CSCs activity and propagation in breast cancer spheroids. However, considering the sometimes contradictory results of diverse studies on the antitumor effects of ketogenic diet (high-fat/lowcarbohydrate intake) (Vidali et al., 2015; Weber et al., 2018), the anti-tumor effect of these inhibitors would need to be carefully tested as dependency on ketone bodies strongly varies across tumor entities and specific genotypes.

Combination Treatments: Targeting Glycolysis

Considering the great intratumoral metabolic heterogeneity and plasticity found in tumors, mitochondrial inhibitors as single agents will unlikely become an effective therapy for cancer treatment. In fact, combination treatments, where two or more metabolic pathways are inhibited simultaneously, would block relapse and development of resistances. For instance, a dual inhibition of the main metabolic pathway together with its main escape mechanism will completely erase CSCs within the tumor. This has been reported for the combinations of metformin with either the bromodomain and extraterminal motif (BET) inhibitor JQ-1 in pancreatic cancer (Sancho et al., 2015) or PI3K inhibition for ovarian cancer (Li et al., 2012), which blocks OxPhos and indirectly inhibits glycolysis simultaneously.

In fact, direct glycolysis inhibition for cancer treatment has been studied intensively in preclinical and clinical settings over the last few years, although with low success rates. On the one hand, glucose transport inhibitors, such as silvbin/silibinin [tested in a phase I/II clinical trials for prostate cancer and advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (Flaig et al., 2006)], phloretin, WZB117 and fasentin caused important side effects, since GLUT transporters are present in all the cells of the organism. Similarly, inhibition of glycolytic enzymes, such as hexokinase II with lonidamine, has been tested in several types of cancers, including breast, lung and ovarian cancer (Gadducci et al., 1994; De Lena et al., 1997; De Marinis et al., 1999; Berruti et al., 2002). However, there was no significant improvement in overall survival and many cases presented with elevated toxicity. Additionally, the glucose analog 2-DG was shown to be a promising agent in preclinical studies (Maschek et al., 2004; Coleman et al., 2008). In fact, it has been recently tested in phase II/III of a clinical trial for prostate cancer (NCT00633087),

although no results are available, since the trial was terminated due to the slow accrual.

Apart from direct inhibition, targeting tumor drivers affecting cellular metabolism might hinder glycolysis. For example, KRAS mutation is present in more than 90% of pancreatic cancer cases (Bailey et al., 2016) and controls both tumorigenesis and metabolic reprogramming (Ying et al., 2012; Son et al., 2013; Liou et al., 2016). In fact, KRAS drives glycolysis and the diversion of glycolysis intermediates into the non-oxidative branch of PPP, essential for the synthesis of nucleic acids (Yun et al., 2009; Ying et al., 2012; Blum and Kloog, 2014). However, even though small molecule inhibitors of KRAS proved to be promising in preclinical studies (Xie et al., 2017; Zeng et al., 2017), targeting KRAS or its downstream pathways showed no effect in overall survival and overall response rate in pancreatic cancer patients (Kindler et al., 2012; Infante et al., 2014; Chung et al., 2017).

Alternatively, c-MYC is another essential driver of tumorigenesis and glycolysis in cancer (Miller et al., 2012; Lin et al., 2013; He et al., 2015). For that reason, different compounds targeting MYC are currently undergoing clinical trials. Noteworthy, inhibitors of BET proteins directly downregulate MYC expression and suppress tumor growth *in vivo* (Delmore et al., 2011; Mazur et al., 2015; Garcia et al., 2016). Importantly, since MYC suppression blocks development of resistance to mitochondrial inhibitors (Sancho et al., 2015; Kim J.H. et al., 2018), combinatory approaches using this strategy can represent a promising anticancer therapy.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Over the last few years, a huge collective effort to decipher metabolic reprogramming occurring in cancer has taken place. Technical advances have allowed the determination of the great metabolic heterogeneity, not only among individuals suffering from one type of cancer, but within a single tumor. Collectively, present literature indicates that both metabolic and redox state diversity define CSCs phenotype and fate,

REFERENCES

- Abdul-Aziz, A., Macewan, D. J., Bowles, K. M., and Rushworth, S. A. (2015). Oxidative stress responses and NRF2 in human leukaemia. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2015:454659. doi: 10.1155/2015/454659
- Aguilar, E., de Mas, I. G., Zodda, E., Marin, S., Morrish, F., Selivanov, V., et al. (2016). Metabolic reprogramming and dependencies associated with epithelial cancer stem cells independent of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition program. *Stem Cells* 34, 1163–1176. doi: 10.1002/stem.2286
- Alptekin, A., Ye, B., and Ding, H. F. (2017). Transcriptional regulation of stem cell and cancer stem cell metabolism. *Curr. Stem Cell Rep.* 3, 19–27. doi: 10.1007/ s40778-017-0071-y
- Anderson, A. S., Roberts, P. C., Frisard, M. I., Hulver, M. W., and Schmelz, E. M. (2014). Ovarian tumor-initiating cells display a flexible metabolism. *Exp. Cell Res.* 328, 44–57. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.08.028
- Anderton, B., Camarda, R., Balakrishnan, S., Balakrishnan, A., Kohnz, R. A., Lim, L., et al. (2017). MYC-driven inhibition of the glutamate-cysteine ligase promotes glutathione depletion in liver cancer. *EMBO Rep.* 18, 569–585. doi: 10.15252/embr.201643068

determining response to therapy. Importantly, most of the metabolic dependencies described for CSCs in diverse tumor entities have the tight control of redox state as a common factor (**Figure 3**), unveiling an important vulnerability that could provide new therapeutic opportunities. Other factors, such as tumor metabolic heterogeneity, microenvironmental cues or a cross-talk through metabolic and redox signaling between CSCs and cancer cells or stromal components (Riemann et al., 2011; Chen X. et al., 2016; Chang et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2018) can play an additional role in cancer progression and chemoresistance. Therefore, current knowledge suggests that carefully designed therapies, which target metabolically diverse populations and consider the tumor microenvironment may be crucial in order to develop more effective metabolism-focused treatment strategies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PJ, BdL-D, and BP-A designed the figures. PS developed the study concept, obtained funding and wrote the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to conception and design of the manuscript, wrote sections, revised, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Pancreatic Cancer Research Fund (2015 Award Round), the Miguel Servet Program (CP16/00121) and a FIS (Fondo Investigaciones Sanitarias) grant (PI17/00082), both from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III and cofinanced by European funds (FSE: "el FSE invierte en tu futuro" and FEDER: "una manera de hacer Europa," respectively).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Laura Sancho Andrés for language and manuscript editing.

- Arlt, A., Sebens, S., Krebs, S., Geismann, C., Grossmann, M., Kruse, M. L., et al. (2013). Inhibition of the Nrf2 transcription factor by the alkaloid trigonelline renders pancreatic cancer cells more susceptible to apoptosis through decreased proteasomal gene expression and proteasome activity. *Oncogene* 32, 4825–4835. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.493
- Arnold, N. B., Ketterer, K., Kleeff, J., Friess, H., Büchler, M. W., and Korc, M. (2004). Thioredoxin is downstream of Smad7 in a pathway that promotes growth and suppresses cisplatin-induced apoptosis in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 64, 3599–3606. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2999
- Bailey, P., Chang, D. K., Nones, K., Johns, A. L., Patch, A. M., Gingras, M. C., et al. (2016). Genomic analyses identify molecular subtypes of pancreatic cancer. *Nature* 531, 47–52. doi: 10.1038/nature16965
- Bao, B., Ali, S., Banerjee, S., Wang, Z., Logna, F., Azmi, A. S., et al. (2012). Curcumin analogue CDF inhibits pancreatic tumor growth by switching on suppressor microRNAs and attenuating EZH2 expression. *Cancer Res.* 72, 335–345. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2182
- Batlle, E., and Clevers, H. (2017). Cancer stem cells revisited. *Nat. Med.* 23, 1124–1134. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409

- Battula, V. L., Shi, Y., Evans, K. W., Wang, R.-Y., Spaeth, E. L., Jacamo, R. O., et al. (2012). Ganglioside GD2 identifies breast cancer stem cells and promotes tumorigenesis. *J. Clin. Investig.* 122, 2066–2078. doi: 10.1172/JCI5 9735
- Bell, J. B., Eckerdt, F., Dhruv, H. D., Finlay, D., Peng, S., Kim, S., et al. (2018). Differential response of glioma stem cells to arsenic trioxide therapy is regulated by MNK1 and mRNA translation. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 16, 32–46. doi: 10.1158/ 1541-7786.MCR-17-0397
- Beloribi-Djefaflia, S., Vasseur, S., and Guillaumond, F. (2016). Lipid metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells. Oncogenesis 5:e189. doi: 10.1038/oncsis. 2015.49
- Berruti, A., Bitossi, R., Gorzegno, G., Bottini, A., Alquati, P., De Matteis, A., et al. (2002). Time to progression in metastatic breast cancer patients treated with epirubicin is not improved by the addition of either cisplatin or lonidamine: final results of a phase III study with a factorial design. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 20, 4150–4159. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2002.08.012
- Bhalla, S., Gordon, L. I., David, K., Prachand, S., Singh, A. T. K., Yang, S., et al. (2009). Glutathione depletion enhances arsenic trioxide-induced apoptosis in lymphoma cells through mitochondrial and caspase-independent mechanisms. *Blood* 114:2708.
- Bigarella, C. L., Liang, R., and Ghaffari, S. (2014). Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. *Development* 141, 4206–4218. doi: 10.1242/dev.107086
- Biswas, S., Dodwadkar, N. S., Deshpande, P. P., and Torchilin, V. P. (2012). Liposomes loaded with paclitaxel and modified with novel triphenylphosphonium-PEG-PE conjugate possess low toxicity, target mitochondria and demonstrate enhanced antitumor effects in vitro and in vivo. *J. Controll. Release* 159, 393–402. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.01.009
- Blum, R., and Kloog, Y. (2014). Metabolism addiction in pancreatic cancer. *Cell Death Dis.* 5:e1065. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.38
- Boivin, A., Hanot, M., Malesys, C., Maalouf, M., Rousson, R., Rodriguez-Lafrasse, C., et al. (2011). Transient alteration of cellular redox buffering before irradiation triggers apoptosis in head and neck carcinoma stem and non-stem cells. *PLoS One* 6:e14558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014558
- Bonuccelli, G., Tsirigos, A., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Pavlides, S., Pestell, R. G., Chiavarina, B., et al. (2010). Ketones and lactate "fuel" tumor growth and metastasis: evidence that epithelial cancer cells use oxidative mitochondrial metabolism. *Cell Cycle* 9, 3506–3514. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.17. 12731
- Bourguignon, L. Y., Wong, G., Earle, C., and Chen, L. (2012). Hyaluronan-CD44v3 interaction with Oct4-Sox2-Nanog promotes miR-302 expression leading to self-renewal, clonal formation, and cisplatin resistance in cancer stem cells from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 32800–32824. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.308528
- Boyer-Guittaut, M., Poillet, L., Liang, Q., Bôle-Richard, E., Ouyang, X., Benavides, G. A., et al. (2014). The role of GABARAPL1/GEC1 in autophagic flux and mitochondrial quality control in MDA-MB-436 breast cancer cells. *Autophagy* 10, 986–1003. doi: 10.4161/auto.28390
- Brand, K. A., and Hermfisse, U. (1997). Aerobic glycolysis by proliferating cells: a protective strategy against reactive oxygen species. *FASEB J.* 11, 388–395. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.11.5.9141507
- Brandi, J., Dando, I., Pozza, E. D., Biondani, G., Jenkins, R., Elliott, V., et al. (2017). Proteomic analysis of pancreatic cancer stem cells: functional role of fatty acid synthesis and mevalonate pathways. J. Proteomics 150, 310–322. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2016.10.002
- Burnett, J. P., Lim, G., Li, Y., Shah, R. B., Lim, R., Paholak, H. J., et al. (2017). Sulforaphane enhances the anticancer activity of taxanes against triple negative breast cancer by killing cancer stem cells. *Cancer Lett.* 394, 52–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.canlet.2017.02.023
- Caino, M. C., Ghosh, J. C., Chae, Y. C., Vaira, V., Rivadeneira, D. B., Faversani, A., et al. (2015). PI3K therapy reprograms mitochondrial trafficking to fuel tumor cell invasion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 8638–8643. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1500722112
- Cairns, R. A., Harris, I. S., and Mak, T. W. (2011). Regulation of cancer cell metabolism. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 11, 85–95. doi: 10.1038/nrc2981
- Calderon-Aparicio, A., Strasberg-Rieber, M., and Rieber, M. (2015). Disulfiram anti-cancer efficacy without copper overload is enhanced by extracellular H2O2 generation: antagonism by tetrathiomolybdate. *Oncotarget* 6, 29771–29781. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4833

- Camarda, R., Zhou, Z., Kohnz, R. A., Balakrishnan, S., Mahieu, C., Anderton, B., et al. (2016). Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation as a therapy for MYCoverexpressing triple-negative breast cancer. *Nat. Med.* 22, 427–432. doi: 10. 1038/nm.4055
- Caria, P., Tronci, L., Dettori, T., Murgia, F., Santoru, M. L., Griffin, L. L., et al. (2018). Metabolomic alterations in thyrospheres and adherent parental cells in papillary thyroid carcinoma cell lines: a pilot study. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E2948. doi: 10.3390/ijms19102948
- Caro, P., Kishan, A. U., Norberg, E., Stanley, I. A., Chapuy, B., Ficarro, S. B., et al. (2012). Metabolic signatures uncover distinct targets in molecular subsets of diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Cancer Cell* 22, 547–560. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012. 08.014
- Carracedo, A., Cantley, L. C., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2013). Cancer metabolism: fatty acid oxidation in the limelight. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 13, 227–232. doi: 10.1038/ nrc3483
- Carracedo, A., Weiss, D., Leliaert, A. K., Bhasin, M., de Boer, V. C., Laurent, G., et al. (2012). A metabolic prosurvival role for PML in breast cancer. J. Clin. Investig. 122, 3088–3100. doi: 10.1172/JCI62129
- Castellanos, J. A., Merchant, N. B., and Nagathihalli, N. S. (2013). Emerging targets in pancreatic cancer: epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells. *Onco Targets Ther.* 6, 1261–1267. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S34670
- Cesari, R., Martin, E. S., Calin, G. A., Pentimalli, F., Bichi, R., McAdams, H., et al. (2003). Parkin, a gene implicated in autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism, is a candidate tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 6q25-q27. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 5956–5961. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0931262100
- Chae, Y. C., Caino, M. C., Lisanti, S., Ghosh, J. C., Dohi, T., Danial, N. N., et al. (2012). Control of tumor bioenergetics and survival stress signaling by mitochondrial HSP90s. *Cancer Cell* 22, 331–344. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.07.015
- Chamberlain, G. R., Tulumello, D. V., and Kelley, S. O. (2013). Targeted delivery of doxorubicin to mitochondria. ACS Chem. Biol. 8, 1389–1395. doi: 10.1021/ cb400095v
- Chandel, N. S., McClintock, D. S., Feliciano, C. E., Wood, T. M., Melendez, J. A., Rodriguez, A. M., et al. (2000). Reactive oxygen species generated at mitochondrial Complex III stabilize hypoxia-inducible factor-1α during hypoxia: a mechanism of O2-sensing. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 25130–25138. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M001914200
- Chang, C. M., Lan, K. L., Huang, W. S., Lee, Y. J., Lee, T. W., Chang, C. H., et al. (2017). (188)Re-liposome can induce mitochondrial autophagy and reverse drug resistance for ovarian cancer: from bench evidence to preliminary clinical proof-of-concept. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E903. doi: 10.3390/ijms18050903
- Chang, C. W., Chen, Y. S., Tsay, Y. G., Han, C. L., Chen, Y. J., Yang, C. C., et al. (2018). ROS-independent ER stress-mediated NRF2 activation promotes warburg effect to maintain stemness-associated properties of cancer-initiating cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 9:194. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0250-x
- Chang, K. J., Yang, M. H., Zheng, J. C., Li, B., and Nie, W. (2016). Arsenic trioxide inhibits cancer stem-like cells via down-regulation of Gli1 in lung cancer. Am. J. Transl. Res. 8, 1133–1143.
- Chanmee, T., Ontong, P., Izumikawa, T., Higashide, M., Mochizuki, N., Chokchaitaweesuk, C., et al. (2016). Hyaluronan production regulates metabolic and cancer stem-like properties of breast cancer cells via hexosamine biosynthetic pathway-coupled HIF-1 signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 291, 24105– 24120. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.751263
- Chanmee, T., Ontong, P., Mochizuki, N., Kongtawelert, P., Konno, K., and Itano, N. (2014). Excessive hyaluronan production promotes acquisition of cancer stem cell signatures through the coordinated regulation of twist and the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β)-snail signaling axis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 26028–26056. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.564120
- Chen, C. L., Uthaya Kumar, D. B., Punj, V., Xu, J., Sher, L., Tahara, S. M., et al. (2016). NANOG metabolically reprograms tumor-initiating stem-like cells through tumorigenic changes in oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 23, 206–219. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.004
- Chen, X., Song, M., Zhang, B., and Zhang, Y. (2016). Reactive oxygen species regulate T cell immune response in the tumor microenvironment. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.* 2016:1580967. doi: 10.1155/2016/1580967
- Chen, C. T., Shih, Y. R., Kuo, T. K., Lee, O. K., and Wei, Y. H. (2008). Coordinated changes of mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* 26, 960–968. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0509

- Chen, H., and Chan, D. C. (2017). Mitochondrial dynamics in regulating the unique phenotypes of cancer and stem cells. *Cell Metab.* 26, 39–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2017.05.016
- Chen, K. Y., Liu, X., Bu, P., Lin, C. S., Rakhilin, N., Locasale, J. W., et al. (2014). A metabolic signature of colon cancer initiating cells. *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2014, 4759–4762. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2014.6944688
- Cheng, G., Zielonka, J., McAllister, D. M., Mackinnon, A. C. Jr., Joseph, J., Dwinell, M. B., et al. (2013). Mitochondria-targeted vitamin E analogs inhibit breast cancer cell energy metabolism and promote cell death. *BMC Cancer* 13:285. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-285
- Cheng, J., Li, W., Kang, B., Zhou, Y., Song, J., Dan, S., et al. (2015). Tryptophan derivatives regulate the transcription of Oct4 in stem-like cancer cells. *Nat. Commun.* 6:7209. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8209
- Cho, Y. M., Kwon, S., Pak, Y. K., Seol, H. W., Choi, Y. M., Park, D. J., et al. (2006). Dynamic changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and antioxidant enzymes during the spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 348, 1472–1478. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.08.020
- Choi, Y. J., Gurunathan, S., and Kim, J. H. (2018). Graphene oxide-silver nanocomposite enhances cytotoxic and apoptotic potential of salinomycin in human ovarian cancer stem cells (OvCSCs): a novel approach for cancer therapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E710. doi: 10.3390/ijms19030710
- Chourasia, A. H., Boland, M. L., and Macleod, K. F. (2015a). Mitophagy and cancer. *Cancer Metab.* 3:4. doi: 10.1186/s40170-015-0130-8
- Chourasia, A. H., Tracy, K., Frankenberger, C., Boland, M. L., Sharifi, M. N., Drake, L. E., et al. (2015b). Mitophagy defects arising from BNip3 loss promote mammary tumor progression to metastasis. *EMBO Rep.* 16, 1145–1163. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540759
- Chung, V., McDonough, S., Philip, P. A., Cardin, D., Wang-Gillam, A., Hui, L., et al. (2017). Effect of selumetinib and MK-2206 vs oxaliplatin and fluorouracil in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer after prior therapy. *JAMA Oncol.* 3, 516–522. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.5383
- Ciavardelli, D., Rossi, C., Barcaroli, D., Volpe, S., Consalvo, A., Zucchelli, M., et al. (2014). Breast cancer stem cells rely on fermentative glycolysis and are sensitive to 2-deoxyglucose treatment. *Cell Death Dis.* 5:e1336. doi: 10.1038/cddis. 2014.285
- Coleman, M. C., Asbury, C. R., Daniels, D., Du, J., Aykin-Burns, N., Smith, B. J., et al. (2008). 2-Deoxy-d-glucose causes cytotoxicity, oxidative stress, and radiosensitization in pancreatic cancer. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44, 322–331. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.08.032
- Corominas-Faja, B., Cuyàs, E., Gumuzio, J., Bosch-Barrera, J., Leis, O., Martin, A. G., et al. (2014). Chemical inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase suppresses self-renewal growth of cancer stem cells. *Oncotarget* 5, 8306–8316. doi: 10. 18632/oncotarget.2059
- Corominas-Faja, B., Vellon, L., Cuyàs, E., Buxó, M., Martin-Castillo, B., Serra, D., et al. (2017). Clinical and therapeutic relevance of the metabolic oncogene fatty acid synthase in HER2+ breast cancer. *Histol. Histopathol.* 32, 687–698. doi: 10.14670/HH-11-830
- Daniëls, V. W., Smans, K., Royaux, I., Chypre, M., Swinnen, J. V., Zaidi, N., et al. (2014). Cancer cells differentially activate and thrive on de novo lipid synthesis pathways in a low-lipid environment. *PLoS One* 9:e106913. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0106913
- Davison, K., Côté, S., Mader, S., and Miller, W. H. (2003). Glutathione depletion overcomes resistance to arsenic trioxide in arsenic-resistant cell lines. *Leukemia* 17, 931–940. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402876
- Davis-Yadley, A. H., Abbott, A. M., Pimiento, J. M., Chen, D. T., and Malafa, M. P. (2016). Increased expression of the glucose transporter type 1 gene is associated with worse overall survival in resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Pancreas* 45, 974–979. doi: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000580
- De Berardinis, R. J., and Chandel, N. S. (2016). Fundamentals of cancer metabolism. Sci. Adv. 2:e1600200. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1600200
- De Carlo, F., Witte, T. R., Hardman, W. E., and Claudio, P. P. (2013). Omega-3 eicosapentaenoic acid decreases CD133 colon cancer stem-like cell marker expression while increasing sensitivity to chemotherapy. *PLoS One* 8:e69760. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069760
- De Francesco, E. M., Maggiolini, M., Tanowitz, H. B., Sotgia, F., and Lisanti, M. P. (2017). Targeting hypoxic cancer stem cells (CSCs) with Doxycycline: implications for optimizing anti-angiogenic therapy. *Oncotarget* 8, 56126– 56142. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18445

- De Francesco, E. M., Sotgia, F., and Lisanti, M. P. (2018). Cancer stem cells (CSCs): metabolic strategies for their identification and eradication. *Biochem. J.* 475, 1611–1634. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20170164
- De Lena, M., Lorusso, V., Bottalico, C., Brandi, M., De Mitrio, A., Catino, A., et al. (1997). Revertant and potentiating activity of lonidamine in patients with ovarian cancer previously treated with platinum. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 3208–3213. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1997.15.10.3208
- De Luca, A., Fiorillo, M., Peiris-Pagès, M., Ozsvari, B., Smith, D. L., Sanchez-Alvarez, R., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial biogenesis is required for the anchorage-independent survival and propagation of stem-like cancer cells. *Oncotarget* 6, 14777–14795. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4401
- De Marinis, F., Rinaldi, M., Ardizzoni, A., Bruzzi, P., Pennucci, M. C., Portalone, L., et al. (1999). The role of vindesine and lonidamine in the treatment of elderly patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: a phase III randomized fonicap trial. *Tumori* 85, 177–182. doi: 10.1177/03008916990850 0306
- Debeb, B. G., Lacerda, L., Larson, R., Wolfe, A. R., Krishnamurthy, S., Reuben, J. M., et al. (2016). Histone deacetylase inhibitor-induced cancer stem cells exhibit high pentose phosphate pathway metabolism. *Oncotarget* 7, 28329–28339. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8631
- Deberardinis, R. J., and Cheng, T. (2010). Qs next: the diverse functions of glutamine in metabolism, cell biology and cancer. Oncogene 29, 313–324. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.358
- Delmore, J. E., Issa, G. C., Lemieux, M. E., Rahl, P. B., Shi, J., Jacobs, H. M., et al. (2011). BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. *Cell* 146, 904–917. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.017
- Deshmukh, A., Arfuso, F., Newsholme, P., and Dharmarajan, A. (2018). Regulation of cancer stem cell metabolism by secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (sFRP4). *Cancers* 10:E40. doi: 10.3390/cancers10020040
- Dey-Guha, I., Wolfer, A., Yeh, A. C., G Albeck, J., Darp, R., Leon, E., et al. (2011). Asymmetric cancer cell division regulated by AKT. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 12845–12850. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109632108
- Diehn, M., Cho, R. W., Lobo, N. A., Kalisky, T., Dorie, M. J., Kulp, A. N., et al. (2009). Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. *Nature* 458, 780–783. doi: 10.1038/nature07733
- Ding, D., Lim, K. S., and Eberhart, C. G. (2014). Arsenic trioxide inhibits Hedgehog, Notch and stem cell properties in glioblastoma neurospheres. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2:31. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-31
- Doherty, J. R., Yang, C., Scott, K. E., Cameron, M. D., Fallahi, M., Li, W., et al. (2014). Blocking lactate export by inhibiting the Myc target MCT1 disables glycolysis and glutathione synthesis. *Cancer Res.* 74, 908–920. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-13-2034
- Dong, C., Yuan, T., Wu, Y., Wang, Y., Fan, T. W., Miriyala, S., et al. (2013). Loss of FBP1 by snail-mediated repression provides metabolic advantages in basal-like breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* 23, 316–331. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013. 01.022
- Du, J., Nelson, E. S., Simons, A. L., Olney, K. E., Moser, J. C., Schrock, H. E., et al. (2013). Regulation of pancreatic cancer growth by superoxide. *Mol. Carcinog.* 52, 555–567. doi: 10.1002/mc.21891
- Du, Y., Zhao, B., Liu, Z., Ren, X., Zhao, W., Li, Z., et al. (2017). Molecular subtyping of pancreatic cancer: translating genomics and transcriptomics into the clinic. *J. Cancer* 8, 513–522. doi: 10.7150/jca.17622
- Dubrovska, A., Kim, S., Salamone, R. J., Walker, J. R., Maira, S. M., García-Echeverría, C., et al. (2009). The role of PTEN/Akt/PI3K signaling in the maintenance and viability of prostate cancer stem-like cell populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 268–273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810956106
- Ehsanipour, E. A., Sheng, X., Behan, J. W., Wang, X., Butturini, A., Avramis, V. I., et al. (2013). Adipocytes cause leukemia cell resistance to l-asparaginase via release of glutamine. *Cancer Res.* 73, 2998–3006. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4402
- Elhammali, A., Ippolito, J. E., Collins, L., Crowley, J., Marasa, J., and Piwnica-Worms, D. (2014). A high-throughput fluorimetric assay for 2hydroxyglutarate identifies zaprinast as a glutaminase inhibitor. *Cancer Discov.* 4, 828–839. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0572
- Ellwood-Yen, K., Graeber, T. G., Wongvipat, J., Iruela-Arispe, M. L., Zhang, J., Matusik, R., et al. (2003). Myc-driven murine prostate cancer shares molecular features with human prostate tumors. *Cancer Cell* 4, 223–238. doi: 10.1016/ S1535-6108(03)00197-1

- Erdogan, S., Turkekul, K., Serttas, R., and Erdogan, Z. (2017). The natural flavonoid apigenin sensitizes human CD44 + prostate cancer stem cells to cisplatin therapy. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 88, 210–217. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.01.056
- Erickson, K. L., and Hubbard, N. E. (2010). Fatty acids and breast cancer: the role of stem cells. *Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids* 82, 237–241. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2010.02.019
- Esner, M., Graifer, D., Lleonart, M. E., and Lyakhovich, A. (2017). Targeting cancer cells through antibiotics-induced mitochondrial dysfunction requires autophagy inhibition. *Cancer Lett.* 384, 60–69. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.09.023

Estrela, J. M., Ortega, A., and Obrador, E. (2006). Glutathione in cancer biology and therapy. *Crit. Rev. Clin. Lab. Sci.* 43, 143–181. doi: 10.1080/10408360500523878

- Fan, J., Kamphorst, J. J., Mathew, R., Chung, M. K., White, E., Shlomi, T., et al. (2013). Glutamine-driven oxidative phosphorylation is a major ATP source in transformed mammalian cells in both normoxia and hypoxia. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 9:712. doi: 10.1038/msb.2013.65
- Fiorillo, M., Lamb, R., Tanowitz, H. B., Cappello, A. R., Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., Sotgia, F., et al. (2016). Bedaquiline, an FDA-approved antibiotic, inhibits mitochondrial function and potently blocks the proliferative expansion of stem-like cancer cells (CSCs). *Aging* 8, 1593–1607. doi: 10.18632/aging.100983
- Fiorillo, M., Peiris-Pagès, M., Sanchez-Alvarez, R., Bartella, L., Di Donna, L., Dolce, V., et al. (2018). Bergamot natural products eradicate cancer stem cells (CSCs) by targeting mevalonate, Rho-GDI-signalling and mitochondrial metabolism. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1859, 984–996. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2018. 03.018
- Fischer, K., Hoffmann, P., Voelkl, S., Meidenbauer, N., Ammer, J., Edinger, M., et al. (2007). Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood* 109, 3812–3819. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035972
- Flaig, T. W., Gustafson, D. L., Su, L. J., Zirrolli, J. A., Crighton, F., Harrison, G. S., et al. (2006). A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of silybin-phytosome in prostate cancer patients. *Invest. New Drugs* 25, 139–146. doi: 10.1007/s10637-006-9019-2
- Folmes, C. D., Nelson, T. J., Martinez-Fernandez, A., Arrell, D. K., Lindor, J. Z., Dzeja, P. P., et al. (2011). Somatic oxidative bioenergetics transitions into pluripotency-dependent glycolysis to facilitate nuclear reprogramming. *Cell Metab.* 14, 264–271. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.06.011
- Gabay, M., Li, Y., and Felsher, D. W. (2014). MYC activation is a hallmark of cancer initiation and maintenance. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 4:a014241. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a014241
- Gadducci, A., Brunetti, I., Muttini, M. P., Fanucchi, A., Dargenio, F., Giannessi, P. G., et al. (1994). Epidoxorubicin and lonidamine in refractory or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer* 30, 1432–1435. doi: 10.1016/0959-8049(94)00231-S
- Gaglio, D., Metallo, C. M., Gameiro, P. A., Hiller, K., Danna, L. S., Balestrieri, C., et al. (2011). Oncogenic K-Ras decouples glucose and glutamine metabolism to support cancer cell growth. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 7:523. doi: 10.1038/msb.2011.56
- Gammon, L., Biddle, A., Heywood, H. K., Johannessen, A. C., and Mackenzie, I. C. (2013). Sub-sets of cancer stem cells differ intrinsically in their patterns of oxygen metabolism. *PLoS One* 8:e62493. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062493
- Garcia, P. L., Miller, A. L., Kreitzburg, K. M., Council, L. N., Gamblin, T. L., Christein, J. D., et al. (2016). The BET bromodomain inhibitor JQ1 suppresses growth of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in patient-derived xenograft models. *Oncogene* 35, 833–845. doi: 10.1038/onc.2015.126

Gatenby, R. A., and Gillies, R. J. (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 4, 891–899. doi: 10.1038/nrc1478

- Gaude, E., and Frezza, C. (2016). Tissue-specific and convergent metabolic transformation of cancer correlates with metastatic potential and patient survival. *Nat. Commun.* 7:13041. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13041
- Giacomelli, C., Daniele, S., Natali, L., Iofrida, C., Flamini, G., Braca, A., et al. (2017). Carnosol controls the human glioblastoma stemness features through the epithelial-mesenchymal transition modulation and the induction of cancer stem cell apoptosis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:15174. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15360-2
- Giampietri, C., Petrungaro, S., Cordella, M., Tabolacci, C., Tomaipitinca, L., Facchiano, A., et al. (2017). Lipid storage and autophagy in melanoma cancer cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E1271. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061271
- Ginestier, C., Monville, F., Wicinski, J., Cabaud, O., Cervera, N., Josselin, E., et al. (2012). Mevalonate metabolism regulates basal breast cancer stem cells and is a potential therapeutic target. *Stem Cells* 30, 1327–1337. doi: 10.1002/stem. 1122

- Goidts, V., Bageritz, J., Puccio, L., Nakata, S., Zapatka, M., Barbus, S., et al. (2012). RNAi screening in glioma stem-like cells identifies PFKFB4 as a key molecule important for cancer cell survival. *Oncogene* 31, 3235–3243. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2011.490
- Guha, M., Srinivasan, S., Ruthel, G., Kashina, A. K., Carstens, R. P., Mendoza, A., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial retrograde signaling induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and generates breast cancer stem cells. *Oncogene* 33, 5238–5250. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.467
- Guillaumond, F., Bidaut, G., Ouaissi, M., Servais, S., Gouirand, V., Olivares, O., et al. (2015). Cholesterol uptake disruption, in association with chemotherapy, is a promising combined metabolic therapy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 2473–2478. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1421601112
- Hale, J. S., Otvos, B., Sinyuk, M., Alvarado, A. G., Hitomi, M., Stoltz, K., et al. (2014). Cancer stem cell-specific scavenger receptor CD36 drives glioblastoma progression. *Stem Cells* 32, 1746–1758. doi: 10.1002/stem.1716
- Han, M., Vakili, M. R., Soleymani Abyaneh, H., Molavi, O., Lai, R., and Lavasanifar, A. (2014). Mitochondrial delivery of doxorubicin via triphenylphosphine modification for overcoming drug resistance in MDA-MB-435/DOX cells. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 11, 2640–2649. doi: 10.1021/mp500038g
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Haq, R., Shoa, G. J., Andreu-Perez, P., Yokoyama, S., Edelman, H., Rowe, G. C., et al. (2013). Oncogenic BRAF regulates oxidative metabolism via PGC1α and MITF. *Cancer Cell* 23, 302–315. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.02.003
- Harris, I. S., Treloar, A. E., Inoue, S., Sasaki, M., Gorrini, C., Lee, K. C., et al. (2015). Glutathione and thioredoxin antioxidant pathways synergize to drive cancer initiation and progression. *Cancer Cell* 27, 211–222. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014. 11.019
- Hawkins, K. E., Joy, S., Delhove, J. M., Kotiadis, V. N., Fernandez, E., Fitzpatrick, L. M., et al. (2016). NRF2 orchestrates the metabolic shift during induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming. *Cell Rep.* 14, 1883–1891. doi: 10.1016/ J.CELREP.2016.02.003
- He, H., Nilsson, C. L., Emmett, M. R., Marshall, A. G., Kroes, R. A., Moskal, J. R., et al. (2010). Glycomic and transcriptomic response of GSC11 glioblastoma stem cells to STAT3 phosphorylation inhibition and seruminduced differentiation. J. Proteome Res. 9, 2098–2108. doi: 10.1021/pr900793a
- He, T.-L., Zhang, Y. J., Jiang, H., Li, X. H., Zhu, H., and Zheng, K. L. (2015). The c-Myc–LDHA axis positively regulates aerobic glycolysis and promotes tumor progression in pancreatic cancer. *Med. Oncol.* 32:187. doi: 10.1007/s12032-015-0633-8
- Hegde, S., Kaushal, N., Ravindra, K. C., Chiaro, C., Hafer, K. T., Gandhi, U. H., et al. (2011). Δ 12-prostaglandin J 3, an omega-3 fatty acid-derived metabolite, selectively ablates leukemia stem cells in mice. *Blood* 118, 6909–6919. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-11-317750
- Heiss, E. H., Schachner, D., Zimmermann, K., and Dirsch, V. M. (2013). Glucose availability is a decisive factor for Nrf2-mediated gene expression. *Redox Biol.* 1, 359–365. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2013.06.001
- Hensley, C. T., Faubert, B., Yuan, Q., Lev-Cohain, N., Jin, E., Kim, J., et al. (2016). Metabolic heterogeneity in human lung tumors. *Cell* 164, 681–694. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.034
- Hermann, P. C., Huber, S. L., Herrler, T., Aicher, A., Ellwart, J. W., Guba, M., et al. (2007). Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. *Cell Stem Cell* 1, 313–323. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.06.002
- Hirata, N., Yamada, S., Shoda, T., Kurihara, M., Sekino, Y., and Kanda, Y. (2015). Sphingosine-1-phosphate promotes expansion of cancer stem cells via S1PR3 by a ligand-independent Notch activation. *Nat. Commun.* 5:4806. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms5806
- Horton, J. D. (2002). Sterol regulatory element-binding proteins: transcriptional activators of lipid synthesis. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 30(Pt 6), 1091–1095. doi: 10.1042/bst0301091
- Hou, J., Yu, X., Shen, Y., Shi, Y., Su, C., and Zhao, L. (2017). Triphenylphosphinefunctionalized chitosan nanoparticles enhanced antitumor efficiency through targeted delivery of doxorubicin to mitochondria. *Nanoscale Res. Lett.* 12:158. doi: 10.1186/s11671-017-1931-1
- Hu, W., Zhang, C., Wu, R., Sun, Y., Levine, A., and Feng, Z. (2010). Glutaminase 2, a novel p53 target gene regulating energy metabolism and antioxidant function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 7455–7460. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001006107

- Hu, X., Ghisolfi, L., Keates, A. C., Zhang, J., Xiang, S., Lee, D. K., et al. (2012). Induction of cancer cell stemness by chemotherapy. *Cell Cycle* 11, 2691–2698. doi: 10.4161/cc.21021
- Iliopoulos, D., Hirsch, H. A., and Struhl, K. (2011). Metformin decreases the dose of chemotherapy for prolonging tumor remission in mouse xenografts involving multiple cancer cell types. *Cancer Res.* 71, 3196–3201. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-3471
- Infante, J. R., Somer, B. G., Park, J. O., Li, C. P., Scheulen, M. E., Kasubhai, S. M., et al. (2014). A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of trametinib, an oral MEK inhibitor, in combination with gemcitabine for patients with untreated metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Eur. J. Cancer* 50, 2072–2081. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.04.024
- Ishikawa, K., Takenaga, K. M., Akimoto, M. M., Koshikawa, N., Yamaguchi, A., Imanishi, H., et al. (2008). ROS-generating mitochondrial DNA mutations can regulate tumor cell metastasis. *Science* 320, 661–664. doi: 10.1126/science. 1156906
- Ishimoto, T., Nagano, O., Yae, T., Tamada, M., Motohara, T., Oshima, H., et al. (2011). CD44 variant regulates redox status in cancer cells by stabilizing the xCT subunit of system xc-and thereby promotes tumor growth. *Cancer Cell* 19, 387–400. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.01.038
- Ito, K., Carracedo, A., Weiss, D., Arai, F., Ala, U., Avigan, D. E., et al. (2012). A PML-PPAR-8 pathway for fatty acid oxidation regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1350–1358. doi: 10.1038/nm.2882
- Ito, K., Hirao, A., Arai, F., Matsuoka, S., Takubo, K., Hamaguchi, I., et al. (2004). Regulation of oxidative stress by ATM is required for self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* 431, 997–1002. doi: 10.1038/nature02989
- Ito, K., Hirao, A., Arai, F., Takubo, K., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., et al. (2006). Reactive oxygen species act through p38 MAPK to limit the lifespan of hematopoietic stem cells. *Nat. Med.* 12, 446–451. doi: 10.1038/nm1388
- Izumiya, M., Kabashima, A., Higuchi, H., Igarashi, T., Sakai, G., Iizuka, H., et al. (2012). Chemoresistance is associated with cancer stem cell-like properties and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in pancreatic cancer cells. *Anticancer Res.* 32, 3847–3853.
- Izzo, V., Bravo-San Pedro, J. M., Sica, V., Kroemer, G., and Galluzzi, L. (2016). Mitochondrial permeability transition: new findings and persisting uncertainties. *Trends Cell Biol.* 26, 655–667. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.04.006
- Jang, Y. Y., and Sharkis, S. J. (2007). A low level of reactive oxygen species selects for primitive hematopoietic stem cells that may reside in the low-oxygenic niche. *Blood* 110, 3056–3063. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-05-087759
- Jangamreddy, J. R., Ghavami, S., Grabarek, J., Kratz, G., Wiechec, E., Fredriksson, B. A., et al. (2013). Salinomycin induces activation of autophagy, mitophagy and affects mitochondrial polarity: differences between primary and cancer cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1833, 2057–2069. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.04.011
- Janiszewska, M., Suvà, M. L., Riggi, N., Houtkooper, R. H., Auwerx, J., Clément-Schatlo, V., et al. (2012). Imp2 controls oxidative phosphorylation and is crucial for preserving glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *Genes Dev.* 26, 1926–1944. doi: 10.1101/gad.188292.112
- Jiang, H., Wu, L., Mishra, M., Chawsheen, H. A., and Wei, Q. (2014). Expression of peroxiredoxin 1 and 4 promotes human lung cancer malignancy. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* 4, 445–460.
- Jones, C. L., Stevens, B. M., DAlessandro, A., Reisz, J. A., Culp-Hill, R., Nemkov, T., et al. (2018). Inhibition of amino acid metabolism selectively targets human leukemia stem cells. *Cancer Cell* 34, 724–740.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.10.005
- Jose, C., Bellance, N., and Rossignol, R. (2011). Choosing between glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation: a tumors dilemma? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1807, 552–561. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.10.012
- Kakarala, M., Brenner, D. E., Korkaya, H., Cheng, C., Tazi, K., Ginestier, C., et al. (2010). Targeting breast stem cells with the cancer preventive compounds curcumin and piperine. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 122, 777–785. doi: 10.1007/ s10549-009-0612-x
- Kamata, H., Honda, S., Maeda, S., Chang, L., Hirata, H., and Karin, M. (2005). Reactive oxygen species promote $TNF\alpha$ -induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases. *Cell* 120, 649–661. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.12.041
- Kamphorst, J. J., Cross, J. R., Fan, J., de Stanchina, E., Mathew, R., White, E. P., et al. (2013). Hypoxic and Ras-transformed cells support growth by scavenging unsaturated fatty acids from lysophospholipids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 8882–8887. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307237110

- Kamphorst, J. J., Nofal, M., Commisso, C., Hackett, S. R., Lu, W., Grabocka, E., et al. (2015). Human pancreatic cancer tumors are nutrient poor and tumor cells actively scavenge extracellular protein. *Cancer Res.* 75, 544–553. doi: 10. 1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2211
- Kang, R., Tang, D., Schapiro, N. E., Loux, T., Livesey, K. M., Billiar, T. R., et al. (2014). The HMGB1/RAGE inflammatory pathway promotes pancreatic tumor growth by regulating mitochondrial bioenergetics. *Oncogene* 33, 567–577. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.631
- Kashatus, J. A., Nascimento, A., Myers, L. J., Sher, A., Byrne, F. L., Hoehn, K. L., et al. (2015). Erk2 phosphorylation of Drp1 promotes mitochondrial fission and MAPK-driven tumor growth. *Mol. Cell* 57, 537–551. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015. 01.002
- Katajisto, P., Döhla, J., Chaffer, C. L., Pentinmikko, N., Marjanovic, N., Iqbal, S., et al. (2015). Asymmetric apportioning of aged mitochondria between daughter cells is required for stemness. *Science* 348, 340–343. doi: 10.1126/science. 1260384
- Kathagen, A., Schulte, A., Balcke, G., Phillips, H. S., Martens, T., Matschke, J., et al. (2013). Hypoxia and oxygenation induce a metabolic switch between pentose phosphate pathway and glycolysis in glioma stem-like cells. *Acta Neuropathol.* 126, 763–780. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1173-y
- Kennedy, C. R., Tilkens, S. B., Guan, H., Garner, J. A., Or, P. M., and Chan, A. M. (2013). Differential sensitivities of glioblastoma cell lines towards metabolic and signaling pathway inhibitions. *Cancer Lett.* 336, 299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet. 2013.03.020
- Kim, B., Jung, N., Lee, S., Sohng, J. K., and Jung, H. J. (2016). Apigenin inhibits cancer stem cell-like phenotypes in human glioblastoma cells via suppression of c-met signaling. *Phytother. Res.* 30, 1833–1840. doi: 10.1002/ptr.5689
- Kim, D., Choi, B. H., Ryoo, I. G., and Kwak, M. K. (2018). High NRF2 level mediates cancer stem cell-like properties of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH)-high ovarian cancer cells: inhibitory role of all-trans retinoic acid in ALDH/NRF2 signaling. *Cell Death Dis.* 9:896. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0903-4
- Kim, J. H., Lee, K. J., Seo, Y., Kwon, J. H., Yoon, J. P., Kang, J. Y., et al. (2018). Effects of metformin on colorectal cancer stem cells depend on alterations in glutamine metabolism. *Sci. Rep.* 8:409. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-18762-4
- Kim, J., and Keum, Y. S. (2016). NRF2, a key regulator of antioxidants with two faces towards cancer. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016:2746457. doi: 10.1155/2016/ 2746457
- Kim, J. W., Gao, P., Liu, Y. C., Semenza, G. L., and Dang, C. V. (2007). Hypoxiainducible factor 1 and dysregulated c-Myc cooperatively induce vascular endothelial growth factor and metabolic switches hexokinase 2 and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 7381–7393. doi: 10.1128/MCB. 00440-07
- Kim, Y. J., Kim, J. Y., Lee, N., Oh, E., Sung, D., Cho, T. M., et al. (2017). Disulfiram suppresses cancer stem-like properties and STAT3 signaling in triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 486, 1069–1076. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbrc.2017.03.164
- Kindler, H. L., Wroblewski, K., Wallace, J. A., Hall, M. J., Locker, G., Nattam, S., et al. (2012). Gemcitabine plus sorafenib in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase II trial of the University of Chicago Phase II Consortium. *Investig. New Drugs* 30, 382–386. doi: 10.1007/s10637-010-9526-z
- Kobayashi, C. I., and Suda, T. (2012). Regulation of reactive oxygen species in stem cells and cancer stem cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 227, 421–430. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22764
- Korangath, P., Teo, W. W., Sadik, H., Han, L., Mori, N., Huijts, C. M., et al. (2015). Targeting glutamine metabolism in breast cancer with aminooxyacetate. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 21, 3263–3273. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-1200
- Kordes, S., Pollak, M. N., Zwinderman, A. H., Mathôt, R. A., Weterman, M. J., Beeker, A., et al. (2015). Metformin in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 16, 839–847. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00027-3
- Kroemer, G., and Pouyssegur, J. (2008). Tumor cell metabolism: cancers Achilles heel. *Cancer Cell* 13, 472–482. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2008.05.005
- Kudryavtseva, A. V., Krasnov, G. S., Dmitriev, A. A., Alekseev, B. Y., Kardymon, O. L., Sadritdinova, A. F., et al. (2016). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in aging and cancer. *Oncotarget* 7, 44879–44905. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.9821
- Kurtova, A. V., Xiao, J., Mo, Q., Pazhanisamy, S., Krasnow, R., Lerner, S. P., et al. (2015). Blocking PGE2-induced tumour repopulation abrogates bladder cancer chemoresistance. *Nature* 517, 209–213. doi: 10.1038/nature14034

- Kwak, M. K., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M., Sutter, T. R., and Kensler, T. W. (2001). Role of transcription factor Nrf2 in the induction of hepatic phase 2 and antioxidative enzymes in vivo by the cancer chemoprotective agent, 3H-1, 2-dimethiole-3-thione. *Mol. Med.* 7, 135–145. doi: 10.1007/BF03401947
- Kwak, M.-K., Ryoo, I., and Lee, S. (2016). Activation of NRF2 signaling in breast cancer stem cell-enriched population. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 100:S125. doi: 10.1016/J.FREERADBIOMED.2016.10.325
- Labelle, M., Begum, S., and Hynes, R. O. (2011). Direct signaling between platelets and cancer cells induces an epithelial-mesenchymal-like transition and promotes metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 20, 576–590. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.09.009
- Lagadinou, E. D., Sach, A., Callahan, K., Rossi, R. M., Neering, S. J., and Minhajuddin, M. (2013). BCL-2 inhibition targets oxidative phosphorylation and selectively eradicates quiescent human leukemia stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.013
- Lai, K. K. Y., Kweon, S. M., Chi, F., Hwang, E., Kabe, Y., and Higashiyama, R. (2017). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase promotes liver fibrosis and tumor development in mice via a Wnt positive-signaling loop by stabilization of low-density lipoprotein-receptor-related proteins 5 and 6. *Gastroenterology* 152, 1477–1491. doi: 10.1053/J.GASTRO.2017.01.021
- Lamb, R., Bonuccelli, G., Ozsvári, B., Peiris-Pagès, M., Fiorillo, M., Smith, D. L., et al. (2015a). Mitochondrial mass, a new metabolic biomarker for stem-like cancer cells: understanding WNT/FGF-driven anabolic signaling. *Oncotarget* 6, 30453–30471. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5852
- Lamb, R., Fiorillo, M., Fiorillo, M., Chadwick, A., Ozsvari, B., Reeves, K. J., et al. (2015b). Doxycycline down-regulates DNA-PK and radiosensitizes tumor initiating cells: implications for more effective radiation therapy. *Oncotarget* 6, 14005–14025. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4159
- Lamb, R., Ozsvari, B., Ozsvari, B., Lisanti, C. L., Tanowitz, H. B., Howell, A., et al. (2015c). Antibiotics that target mitochondria effectively eradicate cancer stem cells, across multiple tumor types: treating cancer like an infectious disease. *Oncotarget* 6, 4569–4584. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3174
- Lane, A. N., and Fan, T. W. M. (2015). Regulation of mammalian nucleotide metabolism and biosynthesis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, 2466–2485. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gkv047
- Le Belle, J. E., Orozco, N. M., Paucar, A. A., Saxe, J. P., Mottahedeh, J., Pyle, A. D., et al. (2011). Proliferative neural stem cells have high endogenous ROS levels that regulate self-renewal and neurogenesis in a PI3K/Akt-dependant manner. *Cell Stem Cell* 8, 59–71. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.11.028
- Lee, E. A., Angka, L., Rota, S.-G., Hanlon, T., Hurren, R., Wang, X. M., et al. (2014). Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation with Avocatin B selectively targets AML cells and leukemia stem cells. *Blood* 124:268.
- Lee, E. A., Angka, L., Rota, S. G., Hanlon, T., Mitchell, A., Hurren, R., et al. (2015). Targeting mitochondria with avocatin B induces selective leukemia cell death. *Cancer Res.* 75, 2478–2488. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2676
- Levy, S., and Forman, H. J. (2010). C-Myc is a Nrf2-interacting protein that negatively regulates phase II genes through their electrophile responsive elements. *IUBMB Life* 62, 237–246. doi: 10.1002/iub.314
- Lewis, C. A., Brault, C., Peck, B., Bensaad, K., Griffiths, B., Mitter, R., et al. (2015). SREBP maintains lipid biosynthesis and viability of cancer cells under lipidand oxygen-deprived conditions and defines a gene signature associated with poor survival in glioblastoma multiforme. *Oncogene* 34, 5128–5140. doi: 10. 1038/onc.2014.439
- Li, C., Liu, V. W., Chan, D. W., Yao, K. M., and Ngan, H. Y. (2012). LY294002 and metformin cooperatively enhance the inhibition of growth and the induction of apoptosis of ovarian cancer cells. *Int. J. Gynecol. Cancer* 22, 15–22. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e3182322834
- Li, D., Fu, Z., Chen, R., Zhao, X., Zhou, Y., Zeng, B., et al. (2015). Inhibition of glutamine metabolism counteracts pancreatic cancer stem cell features and sensitizes cells to radiotherapy. *Oncotarget* 6, 31151–31163. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.5150
- Li, F., He, B., Ma, X., Yu, S., Bhave, R. R., Lentz, S. R., et al. (2017). Prostaglandin E1 and its analog misoprostol inhibit human CML stem cell self-renewal via EP4 receptor activation and repression of AP-1. *Cell Stem Cell* 21, 359–373.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.08.001
- Li, J., Tang, Q., Li, Y., Hu, B.-R., Ming, Z.-Y., Fu, Q., et al. (2017). Lipid desaturation is a metabolic marker and therapeutic target of ovarian cancer stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 20, 303–314. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.11.004

- Li, J.-J., Tang, Q., Li, Y., Hu, B.-R., Ming, Z.-Y., Fu, Q., et al. (2006). Role of oxidative stress in the apoptosis of hepatocellular carcinoma induced by combination of arsenic trioxide and ascorbic acid. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 27, 1078–1084. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2006.00345.x
- Li, Q., Qi, F., Meng, X., Zhu, C., and Gao, Y. (2018). Mst1 regulates colorectal cancer stress response via inhibiting Bnip3-related mitophagy by activation of JNK/p53 pathway. *Cell Biol. Toxicol.* 34, 263–277. doi: 10.1007/s10565-017-9417-6
- Li, Y., Jiang, F., Liu, Q., Shen, J., Wang, X., Li, Z., et al. (2015a). Inhibition of the cancer stem cells-like properties by arsenic trioxide, involved in the attenuation of endogenous transforming growth factor beta signal. *Toxicol. Sci.* 143, 156–164. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfu218
- Li, Y., Rogoff, H. A., Keates, S., Gao, Y., Murikipudi, S., Mikule, K., et al. (2015b). Suppression of cancer relapse and metastasis by inhibiting cancer stemness. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 1839–1844. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424171112
- Liang, Y.-J., Ding, Y., Levery, S. B., Lobaton, M., Handa, K., and Hakomori, S.-I. (2013). Differential expression profiles of glycosphingolipids in human breast cancer stem cells vs. cancer non-stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 4968–4973. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302825110
- Liao, J., Liu, P.-P., Hou, G., Shao, J., Yang, J., Liu, K., et al. (2017). Regulation of stem-like cancer cells by glutamine through beta-catenin pathway mediated by redox signaling. *Mol. Cancer* 16:51. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0623-x
- Liao, J., Qian, F., Tchabo, N., Mhawech-Fauceglia, P., Beck, A., Qian, Z., et al. (2014). Ovarian cancer spheroid cells with stem cell-like properties contribute to tumor generation, metastasis and chemotherapy resistance through hypoxia-resistant metabolism. *PLoS One* 9:e84941. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0084941
- Liberti, M. V., and Locasale, J. W. (2016). The warburg effect: how does it benefit cancer cells? *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 41, 211–218. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2015.12.001
- Lin, W.-C., Rajbhandari, N., Liu, C., Sakamoto, K., Zhang, Q., Triplett, A. A., et al. (2013). Dormant cancer cells contribute to residual disease in a model of reversible pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 73, 1821–1830. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2067
- Liou, G. Y., Döppler, H., DelGiorno, K. E., Zhang, L., Leitges, M., Crawford, H. C., et al. (2016). Mutant KRas-induced mitochondrial oxidative stress in acinar cells upregulates EGFR signaling to drive formation of pancreatic precancerous lesions. *Cell Rep.* 14, 2325–2336. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.029
- Liou, G.-Y., and Storz, P. (2010). Reactive oxygen species in cancer. *Free Radic. Res.* 44, 479–479. doi: 10.3109/10715761003667554
- Liu, P., Kumar, I. S., Brown, S., Kannappan, V., Tawari, P. E., Tang, J. Z., et al. (2013). Disulfiram targets cancer stem-like cells and reverses resistance and cross-resistance in acquired paclitaxel-resistant triple-negative breast cancer cells. Br. J. Cancer 109, 1876–1885. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.534
- Liu, P.-P., Liao, J., Tang, Z.-J., Wu, W.-J., Yang, J., Zeng, Z.-L., et al. (2014). Metabolic regulation of cancer cell side population by glucose through activation of the Akt pathway. *Cell Death Differ.* 21, 124–135. doi: 10.1038/cdd. 2013.131
- Liu, X., Wang, L., Cui, W., Yuan, X., Lin, L., Cao, Q., et al. (2016). Targeting ALDH1A1 by disulfiram/copper complex inhibits non-small cell lung cancer recurrence driven by ALDH-positive cancer stem cells. *Oncotarget* 7, 58516– 58530. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11305
- Liu, Y., Zuckier, L. S., and Ghesani, N. V. (2010). Dominant uptake of fatty acid over glucose by prostate cells: a potential new diagnostic and therapeutic approach. *Anticancer Res.* 30, 369–374.
- Luo, C., Lim, J.-H., Lee, Y., Granter, S. R., Thomas, A., Vazquez, F., et al. (2016). A PGC1α-mediated transcriptional axis suppresses melanoma metastasis. *Nature* 537, 422–426. doi: 10.1038/nature19347
- Luo, M., Shang, L., Brooks, M. D., Jiagge, E., Zhu, Y., Buschhaus, J. M., et al. (2018). Targeting breast cancer stem cell state equilibrium through modulation of redox signaling. *Cell Metab.* 28, 69–86.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.06.006
- Lv, H., Wang, C., Fang, T., Li, T., Lv, G., Han, Q., et al. (2018). Vitamin C preferentially kills cancer stem cells in hepatocellular carcinoma via SVCT-2. *Precis. Oncol.* 2:1. doi: 10.1038/s41698-017-0044-8
- Ma, M. K. F., Lau, E. Y. T., Leung, D. H. W., Lo, J., Ho, N. P. Y., Cheng, L. K. W., et al. (2017). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase regulates sorafenib resistance via modulation of ER stress-induced differentiation. *J. Hepatol.* 67, 979–990. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.06.015

- Maan, M., Peters, J. M., Dutta, M., and Patterson, A. D. (2018). Lipid metabolism and lipophagy in cancer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 504, 582–589. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.02.097
- Malanchi, I., and Huelsken, J. (2009). Cancer stem cells: never Wnt away from the niche. *Curr. Opin. Oncol.* 21, 41–46. doi: 10.1097/CCO.0b013e32831d1faf
- Malchenko, S., Sredni, S. T., Boyineni, J., Bi, Y., Margaryan, N. V., Guda, M. R., et al. (2018). Characterization of brain tumor initiating cells isolated from an animal model of CNS primitive neuroectodermal tumors. *Oncotarget* 9, 13733–13747. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24460
- Marengo, B., De Ciucis, C., Verzola, D., Pistoia, V., Raffaghello, L., Patriarca, S., et al. (2008). Mechanisms of BSO (L-buthionine-S,R-sulfoximine)-induced cytotoxic effects in neuroblastoma. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44, 474–482. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.10.031
- Marrache, S., Pathak, R. K., and Dhar, S. (2014). Detouring of cisplatin to access mitochondrial genome for overcoming resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 10444–10449. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1405244111
- Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., and Lisanti, M. P. (2014). Tumor microenvironment: introduction. Semin. Oncol. 41:145. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2014.03.007
- Maschek, G., Savaraj, N., Priebe, W., Braunschweiger, P., Hailton, K., Tidmarsh, G. F., et al. (2004). 2-deoxy-D-glucose increases the efficacy of adriamycin and paclitaxel in human osteosarcoma and non-small cell lung cancers in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 64, 31–34. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3294
- Massihnia, D., Avan, A., Funel, N., Maftouh, M., Van Krieken, A., Granchi, C., et al. (2017). Phospho-Akt overexpression is prognostic and can be used to tailor the synergistic interaction of Akt inhibitors with gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 10:9. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0371-1
- Mateo, F., Meca-Cortés, Ó., Celià-Terrassa, T., Fernández, Y., Abasolo, I., Sánchez-Cid, L., et al. (2014). SPARC mediates metastatic cooperation between CSC and non-CSC prostate cancer cell subpopulations. *Mol. Cancer* 13:237. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-13-237
- Matulis, S. M., Morales, A. A., Yehiayan, L., Lee, K. P., Cai, Y., and Boise, L. H. (2012). Alterations in glutathione levels and apoptotic regulators are associated with acquisition of arsenic trioxide resistance in multiple myeloma. *PLoS One* 7:e52662. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052662
- Mazur, P. K., Herner, A., Mello, S. S., Wirth, M., Hausmann, S., Sánchez-Rivera, F. J., et al. (2015). Combined inhibition of BET family proteins and histone deacetylases as a potential epigenetics-based therapy for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Nat. Med.* 21, 1163–1171. doi: 10.1038/nm.3952
- Menard, J. A., Christianson, H. C., Kucharzewska, P., Bourseau-Guilmain, E., Svensson, K. J., Lindqvist, E., et al. (2016). Metastasis stimulation by hypoxia and acidosis-induced extracellular lipid uptake is mediated by proteoglycandependent endocytosis. *Cancer Res.* 76, 4828–4840. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-15-2831
- Milkovic, L., Zarkovic, N., and Saso, L. (2017). Controversy about pharmacological modulation of Nrf2 for cancer therapy. *Redox Biol.* 12, 727–732. doi: 10.1016/j. redox.2017.04.013
- Miller, D. M., Thomas, S. D., Islam, A., Muench, D., and Sedoris, K. (2012). c-Myc and cancer metabolism. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 5546–5553. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0977
- Miller, W. H. (2002). Molecular targets of arsenic trioxide in malignant cells. *Oncologist* 7(Suppl. 1), 14–19. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.7-suppl_1-14
- Mitsuishi, Y., Taguchi, K., Kawatani, Y., Shibata, T., Nukiwa, T., Aburatani, H., et al. (2012). Nrf2 redirects glucose and glutamine into anabolic pathways in metabolic reprogramming. *Cancer Cell* 22, 66–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012. 05.016
- Miyamoto, K., Araki, K. Y., Naka, K., Arai, F., Takubo, K., Yamazaki, S., et al. (2007). Foxo3a is essential for maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool. *Cell Stem Cell* 1, 101–112. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.02.001
- Moreb, J. S., Gabr, A., Vartikar, G. R., Gowda, S., Zucali, J. R., Mohuczy, D., et al. (2004). Retinoic acid down-regulates aldehyde dehydrogenase and increases cytotoxicity of 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide and acetaldehyde. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 312, 339–345. doi: 10.1124/jpet.104.072496
- Mullen, A. R., Wheaton, W. W., Jin, E. S., Chen, P. H., Sullivan, L. B., Cheng, T., et al. (2011). Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. *Nature* 481, 385–388. doi: 10.1038/nature10642
- Murphy, M. P. (2008). Targeting lipophilic cations to mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1777, 1028–1031. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.03.029

- Naka, K., Muraguchi, T., Hoshii, T., and Hirao, A. (2008). Regulation of reactive oxygen species and genomic stability in hematopoietic stem cells. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 10, 1883–1894. doi: 10.1089/ars.2008.2114
- Naujokat, C., and Steinhart, R. (2012). Salinomycin as a drug for targeting human cancer stem cells. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012:950658. doi: 10.1155/2012/950658
- Nieman, K. M., Kenny, H. A., Penicka, C. V., Ladanyi, A., Buell-Gutbrod, R., Zillhardt, M. R., et al. (2011). Adipocytes promote ovarian cancer metastasis and provide energy for rapid tumor growth. *Nat. Med.* 17, 1498–1503. doi: 10.1038/nm.2492
- Noto, A., De Vitis, C., Pisanu, M. E., Roscilli, G., Ricci, G., Catizone, A., et al. (2017). Stearoyl-CoA-desaturase 1 regulates lung cancer stemness via stabilization and nuclear localization of YAP/TAZ. Oncogene 36, 4573–4584. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2017.75
- Noto, A., Raffa, S., De Vitis, C., Roscilli, G., Malpicci, D., Coluccia, P., et al. (2013). Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 is a key factor for lung cancer-initiating cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 4:e947. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.444
- Obrador, E., Carretero, J., Ortega, A., Medina, I., Rodilla, V., Pellicer, J. A., et al. (2002). γ-Glutamyl transpeptidase overexpression increases metastatic growth of B16 melanoma cells in the mouse liver. *Hepatology* 35, 74–81. doi: 10.1053/ jhep.2002.30277
- Okami, J., Simeone, D. M., and Logsdon, C. D. (2004). Silencing of the hypoxiainducible cell death protein BNIP3 in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 64, 5338–5346. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0089
- Ookhtens, M., Kannan, R., Lyon, I., and Baker, N. (1984). Liver and adipose tissue contributions to newly formed fatty acids in an ascites tumor. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 247, R146–R153. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1984.247.1. R146
- Owusu-Ansah, E., and Banerjee, U. (2009). Reactive oxygen species prime Drosophila haematopoietic progenitors for differentiation. Nature 461, 537– 541. doi: 10.1038/nature08313
- Ozsvari, B., Sotgia, F., Simmons, K., Trowbridge, R., Foster, R., and Lisanti, M. P. (2017). Mitoketoscins: novel mitochondrial inhibitors for targeting ketone metabolism in cancer stem cells (CSCs). *Oncotarget* 8, 78340–78350. doi: 10. 18632/oncotarget.21259
- Palorini, R., Votta, G., Balestrieri, C., Monestiroli, A., Olivieri, S., and Vento, R. (2014). Energy metabolism characterization of a novel cancer stem cell-like line 3AB-OS. J. Cell. Biochem. 115, 368–379. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24671
- Pandey, P. R., Xing, F., Sharma, S., Watabe, M., Pai, S. K., Iiizumi-Gairani, M., et al. (2013). Elevated lipogenesis in epithelial stem-like cell confers survival advantage in ductal carcinoma in situ of breast cancer. *Oncogene* 32, 5111–5122. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.519
- Park, J., Shim, J. K., Kang, J. H., Choi, J., Chang, J. H., Kim, S. Y., et al. (2018). Regulation of bioenergetics through dual inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase and mitochondrial complex I suppresses glioblastoma tumorspheres. *Neuro Oncol.* 20, 954–965. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox243
- Pascual, G., Avgustinova, A., Mejetta, S., Martín, M., Castellanos, A., Attolini, C. S.-O., et al. (2016). Targeting metastasis-initiating cells through the fatty acid receptor CD36. *Nature* 541, 41–45. doi: 10.1038/nature20791
- Pasto, A., Bellio, C., Pilotto, G., Ciminale, V., Silic-Benussi, M., Guzzo, G., et al. (2014). Cancer stem cells from epithelial ovarian cancer patients privilege oxidative phosphorylation, and resist glucose deprivation. *Oncotarget* 5, 4305– 4319. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2010
- Paul, M. K., Bisht, B., Darmawan, D. O., Chiou, R., Ha, V. L., Wallace, W. D., et al. (2014). Dynamic changes in intracellular ROS levels regulate airway basal stem cell homeostasis through Nrf2-dependent notch signaling. *Cell Stem Cell* 15, 199–214. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.05.009
- Peiris-Pagès, M., Bonuccelli, G., Sotgia, F., and Lisanti, M. P. (2018). Mitochondrial fission as a driver of stemness in tumor cells: mDIVI1 inhibits mitochondrial function, cell migration and cancer stem cell (CSC) signalling. *Oncotarget* 9, 13254–13275. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24285
- Peng, Y., He, G., Tang, D., Xiong, L., Wen, Y., Miao, X., et al. (2017). Lovastatin inhibits cancer stem cells and sensitizes to chemo- and photodynamic therapy in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *J. Cancer* 8, 1655–1664. doi: 10.7150/jca.19100
- Petrachi, T., Romagnani, A., Albini, A., Longo, C., Argenziano, G., Grisendi, G., et al. (2017). Therapeutic potential of the metabolic modulator phenformin in targeting the stem cell compartment in melanoma. *Oncotarget* 8, 6914–6928. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14321

- Phillips, T. M., McBride, W. H., and Pajonk, F. (2006). The response of CD24-/low/CD44+ breast cancer-initiating cells to radiation. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 98, 1777–1785. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj495
- Pisanu, M. E., Noto, A., De Vitis, C., Morrone, S., Scognamiglio, G., Botti, G., et al. (2017). Blockade of Stearoyl-CoA-desaturase 1 activity reverts resistance to cisplatin in lung cancer stem cells. *Cancer Lett.* 406, 93–104. doi: 10.1016/J. CANLET.2017.07.027
- Piskounova, E., Agathocleous, M., Murphy, M. M., Hu, Z., Huddlestun, S. E., Zhao, Z., et al. (2015). Oxidative stress inhibits distant metastasis by human melanoma cells. *Nature* 527, 186–191. doi: 10.1038/nature15726
- Porporato, P. E., Dhup, S., Dadhich, R. K., Copetti, T., and Sonveaux, P. (2014). A mitochondrial switch promotes tumor metastasis. *Cell Rep.* 8, 754–766. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.043
- Porporato, P. E., Payen, V. L., Pérez-Escuredo, J., De Saedeleer, C. J., Danhier, P., Copetti, T., et al. (2011). Anticancer targets in the glycolytic metabolism of tumors: a comprehensive review. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2:49. doi: 10.3389/fphar. 2011.00049
- Probst, B. L., McCauley, L., Trevino, I., Wigley, W. C., and Ferguson, D. A. (2015a). Cancer cell growth is differentially affected by constitutive activation of NRF2 by KEAP1 deletion and pharmacological activation of NRF2 by the synthetic triterpenoid, RTA 405. *PLoS One* 10:e0135257. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0135257
- Probst, B. L., Trevino, I., McCauley, L., Bumeister, R., Dulubova, I., and Wigley, W. C. (2015b). RTA 408, a novel synthetic triterpenoid with broad anticancer and anti-inflammatory activity. *PLoS One* 10:e0122942. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0122942
- Qiang, L., Wu, L., Zhang, H. W., Lu, N., Hu, R., Wang, Y. J., et al. (2012). HIF-1α is critical for hypoxia-mediated maintenance of glioblastoma stem cells by activating Notch signaling pathway. *Cell Death Differ*. 19, 284–294. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2011.95
- Radhakrishnan, R., Ha, J. H., Jayaraman, M., Liu, J., Moxley, K. M., Isidoro, C., et al. (2019). Ovarian cancer cell-derived lysophosphatidic acid induces glycolytic shift and cancer-associated fibroblast-phenotype in normal and peritumoral fibroblasts. *Cancer Lett.* 442, 464–474. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.11.023
- Raj, D., Aicher, A., and Heeschen, C. (2015). Concise review: stem cells in pancreatic cancer: from concept to translation. *Stem Cells* 33, 2893–2902. doi: 10.1002/stem.2114
- Rattigan, Y. I., Patel, B. B., Ackerstaff, E., Sukenick, G., Koutcher, J. A., and Glod, J. W. (2012). Lactate is a mediator of metabolic cooperation between stromal carcinoma associated fibroblasts and glycolytic tumor cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Exp. Cell Res.* 318, 326–335. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2011. 11.014
- Rausch, V., Liu, L., Kallifatidis, G., Baumann, B., Mattern, J., Gladkich, J., et al. (2010). Synergistic activity of sorafenib and sulforaphane abolishes pancreatic cancer stem cell characteristics. *Cancer Res.* 70, 5004–5013. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0066
- Ray, R., and Rai, V. (2017). Lysophosphatidic acid converts monocytes into macrophages in both mice and humans. *Blood* 129, 1177–1183. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2016-10-743757
- Raza, M. H., Siraj, S., Arshad, A., Waheed, U., Aldakheel, F., Alduraywish, S., et al. (2017). ROS-modulated therapeutic approaches in cancer treatment. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 143, 1789–1809. doi: 10.1007/s00432-017-2464-9
- Rehman, J., Zhang, H. J., Toth, P. T., Zhang, Y., Marsboom, G., Hong, Z., et al. (2012). Inhibition of mitochondrial fission prevents cell cycle progression in lung cancer. *FASEB J*. 26, 2175–2186. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-196543
- Reni, M., Dugnani, E., Cereda, S., Belli, C., Balzano, G., Nicoletti, R., et al. (2016). (Ir)relevance of metformin treatment in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer: an open-label, randomized phase II trial. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 22, 1076– 1085. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1722
- Reya, T., Morrison, S. J., Clarke, M. F., and Weissman, I. L. (2001). Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature* 414, 105–111. doi: 10.1038/35102167
- Rhim, A. D., Mirek, E. T., Aiello, N. M., Maitra, A., Bailey, J. M., McAllister, F., et al. (2012). EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. *Cell* 148, 349–361. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.025
- Ricciardi, M. R., Mirabilii, S., Allegretti, M., Licchetta, R., Calarco, A., Torrisi, M. R., et al. (2015). Targeting the leukemia cell metabolism by the CPT1a inhibition: functional preclinical effects in leukemias. *Blood* 126, 1925–1929. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-12-617498

- Riemann, A., Schneider, B., Ihling, A., Nowak, M., Sauvant, C., Thews, O., et al. (2011). Acidic environment leads to ROS-Induced MAPK signaling in cancer cells. *PLoS One* 6:e22445. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022445
- Robke, L., Futamura, Y., Konstantinidis, G., Wilke, J., Aono, H., Mahmoud, Z., et al. (2018). Discovery of the novel autophagy inhibitor aumitin that targets mitochondrial complex I. *Chem. Sci.* 9, 3014–3022. doi: 10.1039/c7sc0 5040b
- Rocha, C. R. R., Kajitani, G. S., Quinet, A., Fortunato, R. S., and Menck, C. F. M. (2016). NRF2 and glutathione are key resistance mediators to temozolomide in glioma and melanoma cells. *Oncotarget* 7, 48081–48092. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.10129
- Rodman, S. N., Spence, J. M., Ronnfeldt, T. J., Zhu, Y., Solst, S. R., ONeill, R. A., et al. (2016). Enhancement of radiation response in breast cancer stem cells by inhibition of thioredoxin- and glutathione-dependent metabolism. *Radiat. Res.* 186, 385–395. doi: 10.1667/RR14463.1
- Roh, J. L., Kim, E. H., Jang, H., and Shin, D. (2017). Nrf2 inhibition reverses the resistance of cisplatin-resistant head and neck cancer cells to artesunateinduced ferroptosis. *Redox Biol*. 11, 254–262. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.010
- Rosi, A., Ricci-Vitiani, L., Biffoni, M., Grande, S., Luciani, A. M., Palma, A., et al. (2015). 1H NMR spectroscopy of glioblastoma stem-like cells identifies alphaaminoadipate as a marker of tumor aggressiveness. NMR Biomed. 28, 317–326. doi: 10.1002/nbm.3254
- Ryoo, I. G., Lee, S. H., and Kwak, M. K. (2016). Redox modulating NRF2: a potential mediator of cancer stem cell resistance. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016:2428153. doi: 10.1155/2016/2428153
- Rysman, E., Brusselmans, K., Scheys, K., Timmermans, L., Derua, R., Munck, S., et al. (2010). De novo lipogenesis protects cancer cells from free radicals and chemotherapeutics by promoting membrane lipid saturation. *Cancer Res.* 70, 8117–8126. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3871
- Ryu, I., Ryu, M. J., Han, J., Kim, S. J., Lee, M. J., Ju, X., et al. (2018). L-Deprenyl exerts cytotoxicity towards acute myeloid leukemia through inhibition of mitochondrial respiration. *Oncol. Rep.* 40, 3869–3878. doi: 10.3892/or.2018. 6753
- Samanta, D., Park, Y., Andrabi, S. A., Shelton, L. M., Gilkes, D. M., and Semenza, G. L. (2016). PHGDH expression is required for mitochondrial redox homeostasis, breast cancer stem cell maintenance, and lung metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 76, 4430–4442. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0530
- Samudio, I., Harmancey, R., Fiegl, M., Kantarjian, H., Konopleva, M., Korchin, B., et al. (2010). Pharmacologic inhibition of fatty acid oxidation sensitizes human leukemia cells to apoptosis induction. *J. Clin. Investig.* 120, 142–156. doi: 10. 1172/JCI38942
- Sancho, P., Barneda, D., and Heeschen, C. (2016). Hallmarks of cancer stem cell metabolism. *Br. J. Cancer* 114, 1305–1312. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.152
- Sancho, P., Burgos-Ramos, E., Tavera, A., Kheir, T. B., Jagust, P., Schoenhals, M., et al. (2015). MYC/PGC-1α balance determines the metabolic phenotype and plasticity of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Cell Metab.* 22, 590–605. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2015.08.015
- Sansone, P., Ceccarelli, C., Berishaj, M., Chang, Q., Rajasekhar, V. K., Perna, F., et al. (2016). Self-renewal of CD133hi cells by IL6/Notch3 signalling regulates endocrine resistance in metastatic breast cancer. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10442. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10442
- Sansone, P., Savini, C., Kurelac, I., Chang, Q., Amato, L. B., Strillacci, A., et al. (2017). Packaging and transfer of mitochondrial DNA via exosomes regulate escape from dormancy in hormonal therapy-resistant breast cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E9066–E9075. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1704862114
- Santi, A., Caselli, A., Ranaldi, F., Paoli, P., Mugnaioni, C., Michelucci, E., et al. (2015). Cancer associated fibroblasts transfer lipids and proteins to cancer cells through cargo vesicles supporting tumor growth. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1853, 3211–3223. doi: 10.1016/J.BBAMCR.2015.09.013
- Sato, M., Kawana, K., Adachi, K., Fujimoto, A., Yoshida, M., Nakamura, H., et al. (2016). Spheroid cancer stem cells display reprogrammed metabolism and obtain energy by actively running the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. *Oncotarget* 7, 33297–33305. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8947
- Schafer, Z. T., Grassian, A. R., Song, L., Jiang, Z., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Irie, H. Y., et al. (2009). Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of matrix attachment. *Nature* 461, 109–113. doi: 10.1038/nature08268
- Sciacovelli, M., Guzzo, G., Morello, V., Frezza, C., Zheng, L., Nannini, N., et al. (2013). The mitochondrial chaperone TRAP1 promotes neoplastic growth by

inhibiting succinate dehydrogenase. Cell Metab. 17, 988–999. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2013.04.019

- Seo, E. J., Kwon, Y. W., Jang, I. H., Kim, D. K., Lee, S. I., Choi, E. J., et al. (2016). Autotaxin regulates maintenance of ovarian cancer stem cells through lysophosphatidic acid-mediated autocrine mechanism. *Stem Cells* 34, 551–564. doi: 10.1002/stem.2279
- Shafat, M. S., Oellerich, T., Mohr, S., Robinson, S. D., Edwards, D. R., Marlein, C. R., et al. (2017). Leukemic blasts program bone marrow adipocytes to generate a protumoral microenvironment. *Blood* 129, 1320–1332. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-734798
- Sharif, T., Martell, E., Dai, C., Ghassemi-Rad, M. S., Lee, K., Singh, S. K., et al. (2018). Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase inhibition induces p-mTOR-independent autophagy and promotes multilineage differentiation in embryonal carcinoma stem-like cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 9:990. doi: 10.1038/ s41419-018-0997-8
- Shelton, L. M., Huysentruyt, L. C., and Seyfried, T. N. (2010). Glutamine targeting inhibits systemic metastasis in the VM-M3 murine tumor model. *Int. J. Cancer* 127, 2478–2485. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25431
- Shen, Y. A., Lin, C. H., Chi, W. H., Wang, C. Y., Hsieh, Y. T., Wei, Y. H., et al. (2013). Resveratrol impedes the stemness, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, and metabolic reprogramming of cancer stem cells in nasopharyngeal carcinoma through p53 activation. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* 2013:590393. doi: 10.1155/2013/590393
- Shen, Y. A., Wang, C. Y., Hsieh, Y. T., Chen, Y. J., and Wei, Y. H. (2015). Metabolic reprogramming orchestrates cancer stem cell properties in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cell Cycle* 14, 86–98. doi: 10.4161/15384101.2014.974419
- Shim, H., Chun, Y. S., Lewis, B. C., and Dang, C. V. (1998). A unique glucosedependent apoptotic pathway induced by c-Myc. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 1511–1516. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.4.1511
- Simsek, T., Kocabas, F., Zheng, Z., Deberardinis, R. J., Mahmoud, A. I., Olson, E. N., et al. (2010). The distinct metabolic profile of hematopoietic stem cells reflects their location in a hypoxic niche. *Cell Stem Cell* 7, 380–390. doi: 10. 1016/j.stem.2010.07.011
- Skrtic, M., Sriskanthadevan, S., Jhas, B., Gebbia, M., Wang, X., Wang, Z., et al. (2011). Inhibition of mitochondrial translation as a therapeutic strategy for human acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Cell* 20, 674–688. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr. 2011.10.015
- Smolková, K., Plecitá-Hlavatá, L., Bellance, N., Benard, G., Rossignol, R., and Ježek, P. (2011). Waves of gene regulation suppress and then restore oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 950–968. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2010.05.003
- Somervaille, T. C. P., Matheny, C. J., Spencer, G. J., Iwasaki, M., Rinn, J. L., Witten, D. M., et al. (2009). Hierarchical maintenance of MLL myeloid leukemia stem cells employs a transcriptional program shared with embryonic rather than adult stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 4, 129–140. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.11.015
- Son, J., Lyssiotis, C. A., Ying, H., Wang, X., Hua, S., Ligorio, M., et al. (2013). Glutamine supports pancreatic cancer growth through a KRAS-regulated metabolic pathway. *Nature* 496, 101–105. doi: 10.1038/nature12040
- Son, K., Fujioka, S., Iida, T., Furukawa, K., Fujita, T., Yamada, H., et al. (2009). Doxycycline induces apoptosis in PANC-1 pancreatic cancer cells. *Anticancer Res.* 29, 3995–4003.
- Song, K., Kwon, H., Han, C., Zhang, J., Dash, S., Lim, K., et al. (2015). Active glycolytic metabolism in CD133(+) hepatocellular cancer stem cells: regulation by MIR-122. *Oncotarget* 6, 40822–40835. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5812
- Song, W., Tang, Z., Lei, T., Wen, X., Wang, G., Zhang, D., et al. (2016). Stable loading and delivery of disulfiram with mPEG-PLGA/PCL mixed nanoparticles for tumor therapy. *Nanomedicine* 12, 377–386. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2015.10.022
- Sonveaux, P., Végran, F., Schroeder, T., Wergin, M. C., Verrax, J., Rabbani, Z. N., et al. (2008). Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J. Clin. Investig. 118, 3930–3942. doi: 10.1172/JCI36843
- Soriano, F. X., Baxter, P., Murray, L. M., Sporn, M. B., Gillingwater, T. H., and Hardingham, G. E. (2009). Transcriptional regulation of the AP-1 and Nrf2 target gene sulfiredoxin. *Mol. Cells* 27, 279–282. doi: 10.1007/s10059-009-0050-y
- Sounni, N. E., Cimino, J., Blacher, S., Primac, I., Truong, A., Mazzucchelli, G., et al. (2014). Blocking lipid synthesis overcomes tumor regrowth and metastasis after antiangiogenic therapy withdrawal. *Cell Metab.* 20, 280–294. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2014.05.022

- Sousa, C. M., Biancur, D. E., Wang, X., Halbrook, C. J., Sherman, M. H., Zhang, L., et al. (2016). Pancreatic stellate cells support tumour metabolism through autophagic alanine secretion. *Nature* 536, 479–483. doi: 10.1038/nature19084
- Staubach, S., and Hanisch, F.-G. (2011). Lipid rafts: signaling and sorting platforms of cells and their roles in cancer. *Expert Rev. Proteomics* 8, 263–277. doi: 10. 1586/epr.11.2
- Sun, P., Xia, S., Lal, B., Shi, X., Yang, K. S., Watkins, P. A., et al. (2014). Lipid metabolism enzyme ACSVL3 supports glioblastoma stem cell maintenance and tumorigenicity. *BMC Cancer* 14:401. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-401
- Suzuki, S., Tanaka, T., Poyurovsky, M. V., Nagano, H., Mayama, T., and Ohkubo, S. (2010). Phosphate-activated glutaminase (GLS2), a p53-inducible regulator of glutamine metabolism and reactive oxygen species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 7461–7466. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1002459107
- Swietach, P., Vaughan-Jones, R. D., and Harris, A. L. (2007). Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 26, 299–310. doi: 10.1007/s10555-007-9064-0
- Tachibana, K., Yamasaki, D., Ishimoto, K., and Doi, T. (2008). The role of PPARs in cancer. *PPAR Res.* 2008:102737. doi: 10.1155/2008/102737
- Takubo, K., Goda, N., Yamada, W., Iriuchishima, H., Ikeda, E., Kubota, Y., et al. (2010). Regulation of the HIF-1 α level is essential for hematopoietic stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 7, 391–402. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.06.020
- Tanaka, G., Inoue, K.-I., Shimizu, T., Akimoto, K., and Kubota, K. (2016). Dual pharmacological inhibition of glutathione and thioredoxin systems synergizes to kill colorectal carcinoma stem cells. *Cancer Med.* 5, 2544–2557. doi: 10.1002/ cam4.844
- Tang, D., Kang, R., Livesey, K. M., Kroemer, G., Billiar, T. R., Van Houten, B., et al. (2011). High-mobility group box 1 is essential for mitochondrial quality control. *Cell Metab.* 13, 701–711. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011.04.008
- Thomas, H. E., Zhang, Y., Stefely, J. A., Veiga, S. R., Thomas, G., Kozma, S. C., et al. (2018). Mitochondrial complex I activity is required for maximal autophagy. *Cell Rep.* 24, 2404–2417.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.07.101
- Tirinato, L., Liberale, C., Di Franco, S., Candeloro, P., Benfante, A., La Rocca, R., et al. (2015). Lipid droplets: a new player in colorectal cancer stem cells unveiled by spectroscopic imaging. *Stem Cells* 33, 35–44. doi: 10.1002/stem.1837
- Todorova, V. K., Harms, S. A., Kaufmann, Y., Luo, S., Luo, K. Q., Babb, K., et al. (2004). Effect of dietary glutamine on tumor glutathione levels and apoptosisrelated proteins in DMBA-induced breast cancer of rats. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 88, 247–256. doi: 10.1007/s10549-004-0783-4
- Tomiyama, A., Serizawa, S., Tachibana, K., Sakurada, K., Samejima, H., Kuchino, Y., et al. (2006). Critical role for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation in the activation of tumor suppressors Bax and Bak. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 98, 1462–1473. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj395
- Tothova, Z., Kollipara, R., Huntly, B. J., Lee, B. H., Castrillon, D. H., Cullen, D. E., et al. (2007). FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. *Cell* 128, 325–339. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007. 01.003
- Touil, Y., Igoudjil, W., Corvaisier, M., Dessein, A.-F., Vandomme, J., Monte, D., et al. (2014). Colon cancer cells escape 5FU chemotherapy-induced cell death by entering stemness and quiescence associated with the c-Yes/YAP axis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 20, 837–846. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1854
- Townsend, D. M., and Tew, K. D. (2003). The role of glutathione-S-transferase in anti-cancer drug resistance. *Oncogene* 22, 7369–7375. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc. 1206940
- Trachootham, D., Alexandre, J., and Huang, P. (2009). Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 8, 579–591. doi: 10.1038/nrd2803
- Valko, M., Rhodes, C. J., Moncol, J., Izakovic, M., and Mazur, M. (2006). Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* 160, 1–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2005.12.009
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C., and Thompson, C. B. (2009). Understanding the warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* 324, 1029–1033. doi: 10.1126/science.1160809
- Vasudevan, A., Yu, Y., Banerjee, S., Woods, J., Farhana, L., Rajendra, S. G., et al. (2014). Omega-3 fatty acid is a potential preventive agent for recurrent colon cancer. *Cancer Prev. Res.* 7, 1138–1148. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0177
- Vazquez, A., Kamphorst, J. J., Markert, E. K., Schug, Z. T., Tardito, S., and Gottlieb, E. (2016). Cancer metabolism at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 129, 3367–3373. doi: 10.1242/jcs.181016

- Vazquez-Martin, A., Oliveras-Ferraros, C., Cufi, S., Del Barco, S., Martin-Castillo, B., and Menendez, J. A. (2010). Metformin regulates breast cancer stem cell ontogeny by transcriptional regulation of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) status. *Cell Cycle* 9, 3807–3814. doi: 10.4161/cc.9.18.13131
- Vega-Naredo, I., Loureiro, R., Mesquita, K. A., Barbosa, I. A., Tavares, L. C., Branco, A. F., et al. (2014). Mitochondrial metabolism directs stemness and differentiation in P19 embryonal carcinoma stem cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 21, 1560–1574. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.66
- Viale, A., Pettazzoni, P., Lyssiotis, C. A., Ying, H., Sánchez, N., Marchesini, M., et al. (2014). Oncogene ablation-resistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. *Nature* 514, 628–632. doi: 10.1038/nature13611
- Vidali, S., Aminzadeh, S., Lambert, B., Rutherford, T., Sperl, W., Kofler, B., et al. (2015). Mitochondria: the ketogenic diet—A metabolism-based therapy. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 63, 55–59. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2015.01.022
- Wallace, D. C. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 12, 685–698. doi: 10.1038/nrc3365
- Wang, D., Fu, L., Sun, H., Guo, L., and Dubois, R. N. (2015). Prostaglandin E2 promotes colorectal cancer stem cell expansion and metastasis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 149, 1884–1895.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.07.064
- Wang, H., Mannava, S., Grachtchouk, V., Zhuang, D., Soengas, M. S., Gudkov, A. V., et al. (2008). c-Myc depletion inhibits proliferation of human tumor cells at various stages of the cell cycle. *Oncogene* 27, 1905–1915. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc. 1210823
- Wang, J., Mirzapoiazova, T., Tan, Y. H. C., Pang, K. M., Pozhitkov, A., Wang, Y., et al. (2018). Inhibiting crosstalk between MET signaling and mitochondrial dynamics and morphology: a novel therapeutic approach for lung cancer and mesothelioma. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 19, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/15384047.2018. 1472193
- Wang, T., Fahrmann, J. F., Lee, H., Li, Y.-L., Tripathi, S. C., Yue, S., et al. (2018). JAK/STAT3-regulated fatty acid β-oxidation is critical for breast cancer stem cell self-renewal and chemoresistance. *Cell Metab.* 27, 136–150.e5. doi: 10.1016/ J.CMET.2017.11.001
- Wang, J.-B., Erickson, J. W., Fuji, R., Ramachandran, S., Gao, P., Dinavahie, R., et al. (2010). Targeting mitochondrial glutaminase activity inhibits oncogenic transformation. *Cancer Cell* 18, 207–219. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.08.009
- Wang, M.-C., Jiao, M., Wu, T., Jing, L., Cui, J., Guo, H., et al. (2016). Polycomb complex protein BMI-1 promotes invasion and metastasis of pancreatic cancer stem cells by activating PI3K/AKT signaling, an *ex vivo*, *in vitro*, and *in vivo* study. *Oncotarget* 7, 9586–9599. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7078
- Wang, X., Huang, Z., Wu, Q., Prager, B. C., Mack, S. C., Yang, K., et al. (2017a). MYC-regulated mevalonate metabolism maintains brain tumor-initiating cells. *Cancer Res.* 77, 4947–4960. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0114
- Wang, L., Li, P., Hu, W., Xia, Y., Hu, C., Liu, L., et al. (2017b). CD44+CD24+ subset of PANC-1 cells exhibits radiation resistance via decreased levels of reactive oxygen species. Oncol. Lett. 14, 1341–1346. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.6301
- Wang, X., Yang, K., Xie, Q., Wu, Q., Mack, S. C., Shi, Y., et al. (2017c). Purine synthesis promotes maintenance of brain tumor initiating cells in glioma. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 661–673. doi: 10.1038/nn.4537
- Wang, Y. C., Chao, T. K., Chang, C. C., Yo, Y. T., Yu, M. H., and Lai, H. C. (2013). Drug screening identifies niclosamide as an inhibitor of breast cancer stem-like cells. *PLoS One* 8:e74538. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074538
- Warburg, O. (1956). On the origin of cancer cells. *Science* 123, 309–314. doi: 10.1126/science.123.3191.309
- Warburg, O., Wind, F., and Negelein, E. (1927). The metabolism of tumours in the body. J. Gen. Physiol. 8, 519–530. doi: 10.1085/jgp.8.6.519
- Weber, D. D., Aminazdeh-Gohari, S., and Kofler, B. (2018). Ketogenic diet in cancer therapy. *Aging* 10, 164–165. doi: 10.18632/aging.101382
- Wei, R., Cao, J., and Yao, S. (2018). Matrine promotes liver cancer cell apoptosis by inhibiting mitophagy and PINK1/Parkin pathways. *Cell Stress Chaperones* 23, 1295–1309. doi: 10.1007/s12192-018-0937-7
- Wheaton, W. W., Weinberg, S. E., Hamanaka, R. B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L. B., Anso, E., et al. (2014). Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis. *eLife* 3:e02242. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02242
- Whelan, K. A., Chandramouleeswaran, P. M., Tanaka, K., Natsuizaka, M., Guha, M., Srinivasan, S., et al. (2017). Autophagy supports generation of cells with high CD44 expression via modulation of oxidative stress and Parkinmediated mitochondrial clearance. *Oncogene* 36, 4843–4858. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2017.102

- Wieder, S. Y., Serasinghe, M. N., Sung, J. C., Choi, D. C., Birge, M. B., Yao, J. L., et al. (2015). Activation of the mitochondrial fragmentation protein DRP1 correlates with BRAF(V600E) melanoma. *J. Investig. Dermatol.* 135, 2544–2547. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.196
- Wise, D. R., and Thompson, C. B. (2010). Glutamine addiction: a new therapeutic target in cancer. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 35, 427–433. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2010.05. 003
- Wu, T., Harder, B. G., Wong, P. K., Lang, J. E., and Zhang, D. D. (2015). Oxidative stress, mammospheres and Nrf2-new implication for breast cancer therapy? *Mol. Carcinog.* 54, 1494–1502. doi: 10.1002/mc.22202
- Wu, Z., Wei, D., Gao, W., Gao, C., Zhu, X., and Li, Q. (2015). TPO-induced metabolic reprogramming drives liver metastasis of colorectal cancer CD110+ tumor-initiating cells. *Stem Cell* 17, 47–59. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.05.016
- Xia, H., Ooi, L. L. P. J., and Hui, K. M. (2013). MicroRNA-216a/217-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition targets PTEN and SMAD7 to promote drug resistance and recurrence of liver cancer. *Hepatology* 58, 629–641. doi: 10.1002/ hep.26369
- Xie, C., Li, Y., Li, L.-L., Fan, X.-X., Wang, Y.-W., Wei, C. L., et al. (2017). Identification of a new potent inhibitor targeting KRAS in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:823. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017. 00823
- Xie, Q., Wu, Q., Horbinski, C. M., Flavahan, W. A., Yang, K., Zhou, W., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial control by DRP1 in brain tumor initiating cells. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 501–510. doi: 10.1038/nn.3960
- Xu, B., Wang, S., Li, R., Chen, K., He, L., Deng, M., et al. (2017). Disulfiram/copper selectively eradicates AML leukemia stem cells in vitro and in vivo by simultaneous induction of ROS-JNK and inhibition of NF-κB and Nrf2. *Cell Death Dis.* 8:e2797. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017.176
- Yahata, T., Takanashi, T., Muguruma, Y., Ibrahim, A. A., Matsuzawa, H., Uno, T., et al. (2011). Accumulation of oxidative DNA damage restricts the self-renewal capacity of human hematopoietic stem cells. *Blood* 118, 2941–2950. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2011-01-330050
- Yalcin, S., Zhang, X., Luciano, J. P., Mungamuri, S. K., Marinkovic, D., Vercherat, C., et al. (2008). Foxo3 is essential for the regulation of ataxia telangiectasia mutated and oxidative stress-mediated homeostasis of hematopoietic stem cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 25692–25705. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M800517200
- Yan, C., Luo, L., Guo, C. Y., Goto, S., Urata, Y., Shao, J. H., et al. (2017). Doxorubicin-induced mitophagy contributes to drug resistance in cancer stem cells from HCT8 human colorectal cancer cells. *Cancer Lett.* 388, 34–42. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.11.018
- Yang, B., Lu, Y., Zhang, A., Zhou, A., Zhang, L., Zhang, L., et al. (2015). Doxycycline induces apoptosis and inhibits proliferation and invasion of human cervical carcinoma stem cells. *PLoS One* 10:e0129138. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0129138
- Yang, T., Fang, S., Zhang, H. X., Xu, L. X., Zhang, Z. Q., Yuan, K. T., et al. (2013). N-3 PUFAs have antiproliferative and apoptotic effects on human colorectal cancer stem-like cells in vitro. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 24, 744–753. doi: 10.1016/j. jnutbio.2012.03.023
- Yasumoto, Y., Miyazaki, H., Vaidyan, L. K., Kagawa, Y., Ebrahimi, K., Yamamoto, Y., et al. (2016). Inhibition of fatty acid synthase decreases expression of stemness markers in glioma stem cells. *PLoS One* 11:e0147717. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147717
- Ye, H., Adane, B., Khan, N., Sullivan, T., Minhajuddin, M., Gasparetto, M., et al. (2016). Leukemic stem cells evade chemotherapy by metabolic adaptation to an adipose tissue niche. *Cell Stem Cell* 19, 23–37. doi: 10.1016/J.STEM.2016. 06.001
- Ye, X. Q., Li, Q., Wang, G. H., Sun, F. F., Huang, G. J., Bian, X. W., et al. (2011). Mitochondrial and energy metabolism-related properties as novel indicators of lung cancer stem cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 129, 820–831. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25944
- Yeh, C. T., Su, C. L., Huang, C. Y., Lin, J. K., Lee, W. H., Chang, P. M., et al. (2013). A preclinical evaluation of antimycin a as a potential antilung cancer stem cell agent. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* 2013:910451. doi: 10.1155/2013/910451
- Yeo, H., Lyssiotis, C. A., Zhang, Y., Ying, H., Asara, J. M., Cantley, L. C., et al. (2013). FoxO3 coordinates metabolic pathways to maintain redox balance in neural stem cells. *EMBO J.* 32, 2589–2602. doi: 10.1038/emboj.20 13.186

- Ying, H., Kimmelman, A. C., Lyssiotis, C. A., Hua, S., Chu, G. C., Fletcher-Sananikone, E., et al. (2012). Oncogenic kras maintains pancreatic tumors through regulation of anabolic glucose metabolism. *Cell* 149, 656–670. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.058
- Yip, N. C., Fombon, I. S., Liu, P., Brown, S., Kannappan, V., Armesilla, A. L., et al. (2011). Disulfiram modulated ROS–MAPK and NFkB pathways and targeted breast cancer cells with cancer stem cell-like properties. *Br. J. Cancer* 104, 1564–1574. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.126
- Yo, Y.-T., Lin, Y.-W., Wang, Y.-C., Balch, C., Huang, R.-L., Chan, M. W. Y., et al. (2012). Growth inhibition of ovarian tumor-initiating cells by niclosamide. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 11, 1703–1712. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0002
- Yu, L., Lu, M., Jia, D., Ma, J., Ben-Jacob, E., Levine, H., et al. (2017). Modeling the genetic regulation of cancer metabolism: interplay between glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. *Cancer Res.* 77, 1564–1574. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-16-2074
- Yuan, S., Lu, Y., Yang, J., Chen, G., Kim, S., Feng, L., et al. (2015). Metabolic activation of mitochondria in glioma stem cells promotes cancer development through a reactive oxygen species-mediated mechanism. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 6:198. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0174-2
- Yuan, S., Wang, F., Chen, G., Zhang, H., Feng, L., Wang, L., et al. (2013). Effective elimination of cancer stem cells by a novel drug combination strategy. *Stem Cells* 31, 23–34. doi: 10.1002/stem.1273
- Yue, S., Li, J., Lee, S. Y., Lee, H. Y., Shao, T., Song, B., et al. (2014). Cholesteryl ester accumulation induced by PTEN loss and PI3K/AKT activation underlies human prostate cancer aggressiveness. *Cell Metab.* 19, 393–406. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2014.01.019
- Yun, J., Rago, C., Cheong, I., Pagliarini, R., Angenendt, P., Rajagopalan, H., et al. (2009). Glucose deprivation contributes to the development of KRAS pathway mutations in tumor cells. *Science* 325, 1555–1559. doi: 10.1126/science.1174229
- Yun, J. H., Kim, K. A., Yoo, G., Kim, S. Y., Shin, J. M., Kim, J. H., et al. (2017). Phenethyl isothiocyanate suppresses cancer stem cell properties in vitro and in a xenograft model. *Phytomedicine* 30, 42–49. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2017. 01.015
- Zeng, M., Lu, J., Li, J., Feru, F., Quan, C., Gero, T. W., et al. (2017). Potent and selective covalent quinazoline inhibitors of KRAS G12C. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 24, 1005–1016.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.06.017
- Zhang, G. E., Jin, H. L., Lin, X. K., Chen, C., Liu, X. S., Zhang, Q., et al. (2013). Anti-tumor effects of Mfn2 in gastric cancer. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 13005–13021. doi: 10.3390/ijms140713005
- Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Wu, W., Wang, F., Liu, X., and Shui, G. (2017). Guanylatebinding protein 2 regulates Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission to suppress breast cancer cell invasion. *Cell Death Dis.* 8:e3151. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017. 559
- Zhang, X., Fryknas, M., Hernlund, E., Fayad, W., De Milito, A., Olofsson, M. H., et al. (2014). Induction of mitochondrial dysfunction as a strategy for targeting tumour cells in metabolically compromised microenvironments. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3295. doi: 10.1038/ncomms 4295

- Zhang, Z., Duan, Q., Zhao, H., Liu, T., Wu, H., Shen, Q., et al. (2016). Gemcitabine treatment promotes pancreatic cancer stemness through the Nox/ROS/NFκB/STAT3 signaling cascade. *Cancer Lett.* 382, 53–63. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016. 08.023
- Zhao, C., Chen, A., Jamieson, C. H., Fereshteh, M., Abrahamsson, A., Blum, J., et al. (2009). Hedgehog signalling is essential for maintenance of cancer stem cells in myeloid leukaemia. *Nature* 458, 776–779. doi: 10.1038/nature07737
- Zhao, H., Yang, L., Baddour, J., Achreja, A., Bernard, V., Moss, T., et al. (2016). Tumor microenvironment derived exosomes pleiotropically modulate cancer cell metabolism. *eLife* 5:e10250. doi: 10.7554/eLife.10250
- Zhao, J., Zhang, J., Yu, M., Xie, Y., Huang, Y., Wolff, D. W., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics regulates migration and invasion of breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* 32, 4814–4824. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.494
- Zhou, D., Shao, L., and Spitz, D. R. (2014). Reactive oxygen species in normal and tumor stem cells. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 122, 1–67. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-420117-0.00001-3
- Zhou, J., Li, G., Zheng, Y., Shen, H. M., Hu, X., Ming, Q. L., et al. (2015). A novel autophagy/mitophagy inhibitor liensinine sensitizes breast cancer cells to chemotherapy through DNM1L-mediated mitochondrial fission. *Autophagy* 11, 1259–1279. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2015.1056970
- Zhou, J., Wulfkuhle, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Yang, Y., Deng, J., et al. (2007). Activation of the PTEN/mTOR/STAT3 pathway in breast cancer stem-like cells is required for viability and maintenance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 16158–16163. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702596104
- Zhou, Y., Shingu, T., Feng, L., Chen, Z., Ogasawara, M., Keating, M. J., et al. (2011). Metabolic alterations in highly tumorigenic glioblastoma cells: preference for hypoxia and high dependency on glycolysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 32843–32853. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.260935
- Zhu, J., Wang, H., Sun, Q., Ji, X., Zhu, L., Cong, Z., et al. (2013). Nrf2 is required to maintain the self-renewal of glioma stem cells. *BMC Cancer* 13:380. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-380
- Zong, W.-X., Rabinowitz, J. D., and White, E. (2016). Mitochondria and cancer. *Mol. Cell* 61, 667-676. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.02.011
- Zu, X. L., and Guppy, M. (2004). Cancer metabolism: facts, fantasy, and fiction. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 313, 459-465. doi: 10.1016/J.BBRC.2003. 11.136

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jagust, de Luxán-Delgado, Parejo-Alonso and Sancho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Against Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC)—Is There Still Room for Optimism?

Fabrizio Marcucci^{1*}, Carmelo Antonio Caserta², Elisabetta Romeo² and Cristiano Rumio¹

¹ Department of Pharmacological and Biomolecular Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ² Fondazione per la Medicina Solidale, Reggio Calabria, Italy

Cancer stem-like cells (CSC) represent a subpopulation of tumor cells with peculiar functionalities that distinguish them from the bulk of tumor cells, most notably their tumor-initiating potential and drug resistance. Given these properties, it appears logical that CSCs have become an important target for many pharma companies. Antibody-drug conjugates (ADC) have emerged over the last decade as one of the most promising new tools for the selective ablation of tumor cells. Three ADCs have already received regulatory approval and many others are in different phases of clinical development. Not surprisingly, also a considerable number of anti-CSC ADCs have been described in the literature and some of these have entered clinical development. Several of these ADCs, however, have yielded disappointing results in clinical studies. This is similar to the results obtained with other anti-CSC drug candidates, including native antibodies, that have been investigated in the clinic. In this article we review the anti-CSC ADCs that have been described in the literature and, in the following, we discuss reasons that may underlie the failures in clinical trials that have been observed. Possible reasons relate to the biology of CSCs themselves, including their heterogeneity, the lack of strictly CSC-specific markers, and the capacity to interconvert between CSCs and non-CSCs; second, inherent limitations of some classes of cytotoxins that have been used for the construction of ADCs; third, the inadequacy of animal models in predicting efficacy in humans. We conclude suggesting some possibilities to address these limitations.

Edited by: Cyril Corbet,

OPEN ACCESS

Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Ron Firestein, Hudson Institute of Medical Research, Australia Cynthia Guidi, ImmunoGen, United States

> *Correspondence: Fabrizio Marcucci fabmarcu@gmail.com.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 27 December 2018 Accepted: 25 February 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

Citation:

Marcucci F, Caserta CA, Romeo E and Rumio C (2019) Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Against Cancer Stem-Like Cells (CSC)—Is There Still Room for Optimism? Front. Oncol. 9:167. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00167 Keywords: cancer stem cell, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, resistance, antibody-drug conjugate, resting, proliferating

CANCER STEM-LIKE CELLS (CSC), A TUMOR CELL SUBPOPULATION WITH PECULIAR PROPERTIES

CSCs are carcinoma cells that self-renew and give rise to differentiated tumor cells. CSCs by themselves, however, can arise from differentiated tumor cells when these cells undergo an epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (1). EMT involves changes that lead to loss of cell-cell adhesion and cell polarity, with acquisition of migratory and invasive properties (2). EMT encompasses a continuum of states from a fully epithelial to a fully mesenchymal phenotype, passing through intermediate, hybrid states (3). Interestingly, it has recently been shown that

72

acquisition of tumor-initiating potential is one of the earliest functions gained during EMT, while other functions, like invasiveness and metastatic potential are acquired during later stages (4). These results reinforce the close relationship between EMT and CSCs (1).

In addition to their tumor-initiating potential, CSCs possess also other functions that they share with EMT tumor cells, most notably drug resistance (5). Drug resistance implies that tumor cells survive drug treatment and become enriched in the tumor cell population. In fact, one key assay to ascertain the *in vivo* efficacy of anti-CSC compounds is to test the number of tumor cells that are required in order to initiate tumor growth in animal models before and after drug treatment (6).

Considerable efforts have been devoted to the phenotypic characterization of CSCs, in particular the identification of markers that distinguish CSCs from normal stem cells and the bulk of differentiated tumor cells. Overall, it has been difficult to define CSCs on the basis of their phenotypic profile (5). Thus, a large number of cell surface molecules that are expressed on CSCs have been identified; CD44, CD47, CD33, CD133, CXC chemokine receptor (CXCR) 4, and CD26 are some of these markers. Most of them, however, are not CSC-specific and in some cases are even ubiquitously expressed (e.g., CD44, CD47) (7). Some markers have a more restricted expression and/or are overexpressed on CSCs; these have been used as targets for ADCs, as will be discussed in the following.

The plasticity of CSCs is reflected also by the large number of signaling pathways that are involved in the induction and maintenance of CSCs. Given the functional relationship between CSCs and normal stem cells, the role of signaling pathways involved in the physiology of normal stem cells, such as WNT, Notch, and Hedgehog (Hh), has been investigated with particular attention (8).

Eventually, also post-transcriptional regulation contributes to the homeostasis and functions of CSCs. These include RNA modifications, RNA-binding proteins, mircoRNAs and long noncoding RNAs (9).

As regards the generation of CSCs from differentiated tumor cells, similarly to cells that undergo an EMT, tumorinitiating potential can be acquired when one of three different events occur. First, in response to stressors from the tumor microenvironment like hypoxia, low pH, immune responses, mechanical stress, and antitumor drugs (10, 11). Second, stressor-promoted epigenetic changes that induce heritable effects allowing retention of the mesenchymal state even when the stressors are no longer present (12, 13). Third, stimulusindependent activation of signaling pathways, owing to activating mutations or overexpression of pathway components (14, 15). Intuitively, these events are not mutually exclusive and may differ quantitatively and qualitatively in different tumors and, over time, even within the same tumor. Moreover, some of these events (e.g., stressor-induced responses) can be reversible and, consequently, CSCs can revert back to a differentiated phenotype, as already referred to above. Vice versa, tumor cells that have regained an epithelial and a non-CSC phenotype can undergo a *de novo* switch toward a more mesenchymal tumor-initiating phenotype, even after drug-induced depletion of CSCs. As such, depletion of CSCs is by no means a conclusive effect but, rather, a transient elimination of tumor cells engaged in the replenishment of a tumor cell population of epithelial phenotype.

ANTIBODY-DRUG CONJUGATES (ADC), TOOLS FOR THE SELECTIVE ELIMINATION OF TUMOR CELLS

ADCs comprise a monoclonal antibody (mAb) against a tumorassociated antigen, a covalent linker, and a cytotoxic payload (16). **Figure 1** gives a schematic view of an ADC and its individual components as will be discussed in the following. In most cases, ADCs are internalized upon binding to the cognate antigen and the cytotoxic payload is released, causing cell death. The targeted delivery of cytotoxins to tumor cells allows for the maximum efficacy and minimal toxicity.

The mAb should recognize an antigen expressed on the largest possible fraction of tumor cells and the smallest possible fraction of normal cells (17). With the exception of hematological malignancies, there is no known antigen that is homogeneously expressed on all tumor cells because the tumor cell population is, in itself, heterogeneous and composed, to varying degrees, of antigen-positive or strongly positive (preferably the vast majority) and antigen-negative or weakly positive tumor cells. Incidentally, the existence of phenotypic tumor cell heterogeneity justifies the aim of generating anti-CSC ADCs, because this rests on the assumption that CSCs display an antigenic profile that differs qualitatively and/or quantitatively from that of non-CSCs and, thus, may escape cytotoxicity induced by ADCs that target non-CSCs. MAbs that are currently used for the engineering of ADCs are of human origin or are humanized murine antibodies (18, 19) in order to minimize antigenicity and the induction of anti-drug antibodies.

The second component, the linker, is important for the stability of the ADC. It should be sufficiently stable to negate systemic release of the cytotoxic payload, but sufficiently labile to allow intracellular release, in most cases within the lysosomal compartment. Dipeptide linkers like valine-citrulline are typical examples of linkers that are cleaved with good selectivity within the lysosomal compartment (20). However, for some ADCs also non-cleavable linkers are used and, in this case, the cytotoxic payload is released as an amino acid conjugate upon degradation of the antibody. These linkers can be used if the drug-linker-amino acid residue conjugate retains drug activity

Abbreviations: ADC, antibody-drug conjugate; ALL, acute lymphoblastic leukemia; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; CSC, cancer-stem like cell; DAR, drug-antibody ratio; DLL, Delta-like ligand; EFNA4, Eph-A4; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; Eph, Ephrin receptor; FLT3, fms-like tyrosine kinase 3; GO, gemtuzumab ozogamicin; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; IL, interleukin; LRG5, leucine-rich repeat-containing; G protein-coupled receptor 5; LSC, leukemia stem cell; mAb, monoclonal antibody; MMA, monomethyl auristatin; mTOR, mechanistic target of rapamycin; NCAM, neural cell adhesion molecule; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; PBD, pyrrolobenzodiazepine; PDX, patient-derived xenograft; P13K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PTK, protein tyrosine kinase; SCLC, small cell lung cancer; SOC, standard-of-care; SPDB, N-succinimidyl 4-(2-pyridylothio)butyrate; TNBC, triple-negative breast cancer.



(21). Ado-trastuzumab emtansine is an example of an ADC with a non-cleavable linker yielding a lysine-linker-cytotoxic (DM1) complex (22).

Cytotoxins used for ADC synthesis are highly potent because of the limited number of payloads that each individual antibody molecule can carry. Most ADC payloads belong to two mechanistic classes. The first are antimitotic, tubulinbinding cytotoxins like auristatins and maytansines. The second are DNA-binding, cell cycle-independent cytotoxins like calicheamicins and pyrrolobenzodiazepines (PBD).

Once released, a cytotoxin may be cell-impermeable [e.g., more hydrophilic cytotoxins like monomethyl auristatin (MMA) F] and exert its cytotoxic effect exclusively on a single cell, or it may penetrate the cell membrane and exert bystander killing also on nearby cells (e.g., more lipophilic cytotoxins like MMAE) (23), whether or not these cells are positive for the target antigen. This potential advantage of cell-permeable cytotoxins must be weighed against the possibility of enhanced systemic toxicity due to back-flow of the liberated cytotoxin into the systemic circulation.

Until recently, most ADCs were generated by random conjugation of the linker to available cysteine or lysine residues on the antibody. This approach leads to ADC mixtures with different drug-antibody ratios (DAR) with the individual components having distinct properties that may lead to suboptimal *in vivo* efficacy of the final mixture. In recent years, site-specific conjugation methods have been developed, which yield ADCs with defined DARs. These ADCs have been shown to possess larger therapeutic windows and to be better tolerated than randomly-conjugated ADCs (24, 25).

An important question to answer in the present context is as to why an ADC should be preferred over a native mAb as an anti-CSC agent. The question is not trivial since also native antibodies are endowed with cytotoxic potential. In fact, mechanisms like antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, complement-dependent cytotoxicity or antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis contribute, to varying degrees, to the efficacy of an antitumor mAb (26). The answer lies in the greater antitumor efficacy that ADCs have demonstrated *in vivo* compared to native, equivalent mAbs (27) and the efficacy that ADCs, like ado-trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1), have shown in tumors that were *ab initio* unresponsive or had become unresponsive to the native equivalent (trastuzumab) (28). It is to note, however, that the cytotoxic potential of the native mAb has been shown to contribute to the overall efficacy of ADCs (29).

ANTI-CSC ADCS THAT HAVE BEEN DESCRIBED IN THE LITERATURE

In the following we will discuss individual anti-CSC ADCs that have been reported in the scientific literature. In some instances, more than one ADC has been described against an individual target and we will briefly address the properties of each of these conjugates. We will first discuss those ADCs that target markers expressed on CSCs. In a following section we will discuss antitumor ADCs that were shown to have anti-CSC activity at a later stage.

ADCs Against Markers Expressed on CSC Anti-delta-like Ligand (DLL) 3 ADC

This target is of particular interest in these days, because the development of an ADC against DLL3, rovalpituzumab tesirine, which had reached phase III clinical studies, has failed to show benefit in third-line small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) (30).

Rovalpituzumab tesirine had been constructed for the targeting of CSCs of high-grade pulmonary endocrine tumors (31). These tumors include SCLC and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma, highly malignant neoplasms with few and inefficacious therapeutic options (32). CSCs of SCLC are thought to arise from normal pulmonary neuroendocrine cells,

the portion of the diffuse neuroendocrine system found in the respiratory epithelium.

DLL3 is a ligand of the mammalian Notch family that localizes to the Golgi apparatus without being able to activate Notch signaling like other Notch ligands. Rather, DLL3 appears to inhibit Notch pathway activation by interacting with Notch and the Notch ligand DLL1, thereby preventing their localization to the cell surface (33). Notch activation in neuroendocrine tumors has been shown to suppress tumor growth (34). Expression data showed that DLL3 mRNA is overexpressed in primary SCLC tumors, SCLC patient-derived xenografts (PDX), conventional SCLC cell lines, and large-cell neuroendocrine carcinoma PDXs, whereas mRNA expression in normal tissues appears limited primarily to the brain (31). Moreover, in contrast to normal cells, DLL3 was detectable at the surface of neuroendocrine tumor cells.

On the basis of these observations, DLL3 was selected as a target for the construction of an ADC. The ADC, SC16LD6.5 (later rovalpituzumab tesirine) is composed of a humanized anti-DLL3 mAb, conjugated to a PBD dimer. The payload was conjugated to cysteine residues on the mAb via a valinealanine dipeptide, with a mean DAR of 2. SC16LD6.5 induced durable tumor regression in multiple PDX models after a single course of therapy and in a manner independent of their sensitivity to standard-of-care (SOC) chemotherapy. Lack of tumor recurrence was shown being due to depletion of DLL3⁺ CSCs. In contrast, SOC chemotherapy did not reduce the frequency of CSCs nor provided durable responses in spite of efficacious tumor cell debulking. DLL3, however, was not CSCspecific since its expression was seen throughout the tumor, with most cells expressing it to some degree. For this reason, the rapid tumor debulking seen with SC16LD6.5 was likely due to DLL3 expression on most tumor cells. Eventually, SC16LD6.5 was efficacious also in a chemorefractory tumor model suggesting that patients with tumors resistant to SOC will be responsive to this conjugate. Of note, administration of the unconjugated anti-DLL3 mAb, even at high doses, or the equivalent dose of free PBD dimer had little or no effect on tumor growth, thereby supporting the superiority of the antitumor effects of the ADC.

Rovalpituzumab tesirine has entered numerous clinical studies and has progressed until phase III in patients with advanced SCLC after disease progression following SOC chemotherapy protocols (**Table 1**). Other clinical trials are earlier stage in SCLC alone (NCT02674568, NCT02819999, NCT03319940, NCT02874664) or in SCLC and other advanced solid tumors expressing cell surface DLL3 (NCT02709889). As referred to in the beginning of this section, rovalpituzumab tesirine failed to show benefit in one of the SCLC studies.

Anti-protein Tyrosine Kinase 7 (PTK7) ADC

PTK7 has been identified as a CSC marker and potential target for ADCs (35). It is a conserved member of the pseudokinase family of receptor protein tyrosine kinases. The lack of kinase activity is the consequence of substitutions at residues in the kinase domain. Oncogenic functions of PTK7, including resistance to chemotherapy, have been reported for various carcinomas and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (49). PTK7 was shown to be

overexpressed in tumors vs. normal tissues, and enriched in CSCs of different tumor types. PTK7 expression within each tumor is heterogeneous, and the extent of heterogeneity varies from tumor to tumor. PTK7 staining was also observed in some normal tissues, including esophagus, urinary bladder, kidney, mammary gland, lung, ovary, uterus, and digestive tract (35). The expression profile of PTK7 prompted the generation an anti-PTK7 ADC (35). The choice of an ADC was also dictated by the lack of catalytic function of PTK7, making it an unsuitable target for inhibitor antibodies or small molecules.

The anti-PTK7 ADC that was constructed, PF-06647020, comprises a humanized anti-PTK7 mAb, a cleavable dipeptide (valine-citrulline) linker, and Aur0101, an auristatin microtubule inhibitor. PF-06647020 induced sustained regressions in PDX models and reduced the frequency of CSCs. In addition to CSC depletion, PF-06647020 may also have additional antitumor mechanisms of action, including angiogenesis inhibition and stimulation of immune cells. These activities may be facilitated by the bystander effect of the membrane-permeable hydrophobic auristatin payload. Importantly, despite the expression of PTK7 in certain normal tissues, no target-dependent toxicities were observed in monkeys, possibly because microtubule inhibitors require high antigen expression and actively cycling cells to exert a cytotoxic effect (50).

Two clinical studies with PTK7-ADC/PF-06647020 are currently ongoing: a safety study of the combination gedatolisib plus PF-06647020 for metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) (NCT03243331), and a phase I study of PF-06647020 in adult patients with advanced solid tumors (NCT02222922).

Anti-Eph-A4 (EFNA4) ADC

Ephrin receptors (Eph) are the largest family of receptor tyrosine kinases in the human genome and, together with their ligands, have been implicated in the development of breast cancer. Consequently, numerous therapeutics, mostly tyrosine kinase inhibitors are being actively developed to inhibit the function of this ligand/receptor family. A significant limitation of currently developed drug candidates is represented by the vast functional redundancy of this family, while general inhibition of ephrin receptors is toxic (51). In contrast, ADCs prescind from the functional role of ligand/receptor pairs and exert cytotoxic effects only on those target-expressing cells that internalize them.

MRNA expression of one of these receptors, *EFNA4*, was found to be elevated in CSCs compared to non-tumorigenic cells and normal tissues. Protein analysis of normal organs, primary breast tumor specimens and TNBC PDX tumor models demonstrated that EFNA4 was elevated in TNBC vs. normal tissues and other subtypes of breast cancer (36). This expression pattern suggested the possibility of targeting EFNA4 with an ADC.

In order to target EFNA4, the ADC PF-06647263 was constructed. It is composed of an anti-EFNA4-specific, humanized mAb, a hydrazone linker and a calicheamicin payload. Conjugation was to lysine residues of the antibody and yielded an average DAR of 4.6. Calicheamicin was selected as payload because of the presence, within the CSC population, of quiescent as well as cycling cells (67). Quiescent cells are resistant

TABLE 1 | Anti-CSC ADCs.

| Target: ADC name | Linker: Cleavable/uncleavable | Cytotoxin: Antimitotic, DNA binder | Developmental stage Stage, ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers, results if available | References |
|---|---|--|---|------------|
| ADCs AGAINST MARKE | ERS EXPRESSED ON CSC | | | |
| DLL3: rovalpituzumab tesirine | Cleavable (dipeptide) | DNA binder (PBD dimer) | Phase III, NCT03061812, vs. topotecan in DLL3 ⁺ advanced or metastatic SCLC at first disease progression after platinum chemotherapy Phase III, NCT03334487, evaluating the safety for third-line and later treatment of relapsed or refractory SCLC Phase II, NCT02674568, as third-line and later treatment for subjects with relapsed or refractory DLL3 ⁺ SCLC Other phase I/II studies in patients with DLL3 ⁺ SCLC (NCT02819999, NCT02874664) or SCLC and other solid tumors (NCT02709889) | (30, 31) |
| Protein tyrosine kinase 7 (PTK7): PF-06647020 | Cleavable (dipeptide) | Antimitotic (Aur0101) | Safety study, NCT03243331: with gedatolisib in TNBC Phase I, NCT02222922: in adult patients with advanced solid tumors | (35) |
| Ephrin-A4 (EFNA4): PF-06647263 | Cleavable (hydrazone) | DNA binder (calicheamicin) | Phase I, NCT02078752: in patients with advanced solid tumors | (36) |
| IL-3 receptor α chain (CD123): SGN-123 | Cleavable (dipeptide) | DNA binder (PBD dimer) | Phase I, NCT02848248, in AML patients. Study terminated, presumably no longer in active development. | (37) |
| 5T4: PF-06263507 | Non-cleavable (maleimidocaproyl) | Antimitotic (MMAF) | Phase I, NCT01891669, no objective responses were observed | (38, 39) |
| 5T4: MEDI-0641 | Cleavable (dipeptide) | DNA binder (PBD dimer) Antimitotic (tubulysin) | Not reported | (40, 41) |
| 5T4: H6-DM4 | Cleavable (SPDB) | Antimitotic (DM4) | Not reported | (42) |
| LGR5 | Cleavable (dipeptide) Non-cleavable (malemidopropionyl) | Antimitotic (MMAE) Antimitotic (MMAE) | Not reported Not reported | (43) |
| LGR5 | Cleavable (dipeptide) Cleavable (acid- sensitive) | Antimitotic (MMAE) DNA binder (PNU159682) | Not reported Not reported | (44) |
| ANTITUMOR ADCs THA | AT WERE SHOWN TO HAVE A | NTI-CSC ACTIVITY AT A | LATER STAGE | |
| HER2: T-DM1, ado-trastuzumab emtansine | Non-cleavable | Anti-mitotic (DM1) | FDA-approved for the treatment of HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. | (45) |
| CD33: gemtuzumab ozogamicin | Cleavable (hydrazone) | DNA binder (calicheamicin) | FDA approval in 2000 for the treatment of AML. Voluntarily withdrawn in 2010 due to safety concerns. Recently reapproved. | (46) |
| NCAM (CD56): lovortuzumab mertansine | Cleavable | Anti-mitotic (DM1) | It was in development as antitumor agent, not specifically as anti-CSC agent. Development now halted due to disappointing results in lung cancer patients | (47, 48) |

ADC, antibody-drug conjugate; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; CSC, cancer stem-like cells; DLL3, Delta-like ligand 3; EFNA4, Ephrin-A4; FDA, Food and Drug administration; HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; LGR5, leucine-rich repeat-containing, G protein-coupled receptor 5; MMAE, monomethyl auristatin E; NCAM, neural cell-adhesion molecule; PBD, pyrrolobenzodiazepine; PTK7, protein tyrosine kinase 7; SCLC, small-cell lung cancer.

to antimitotic, cell-cycle-dependent microtubule inhibitors like auristatins and maytansines. Calicheamicins, on the other hand, are DNA-binding drugs that are cytotoxic independently of the cell cycle status.

PF-06647263 induced significant tumor regression in TNBC xenografts. The most robust responses were observed in nonclaudin low TNBCs, with complete responses observed in several cases. This result correlates with the increased EFNA4 expression observed in this breast cancer subtype. EFNA4 expression was also elevated on a subset of ovarian cancers and PF-06647263 induced sustained regression also on xenografts of these tumors.

A phase I study has been performed with PF-06647263 in patients with advanced solid tumors (NCT02078752). The study has been completed and no other studies are currently ongoing.

Of note, also another anti-Eph ADC has been reported in the literature (MEDI-547) (52). This ADC targets EFNA A2 and showed substantial activity in *in vivo* models of endometrial carcinoma. However, no evidence was brought that this ADC has some preferential activity on CSCs. A clinical study with this ADC has evidenced early and serious adverse events and has led to the discontinuation of its development (53).

An Anti-CD123 ADC

CD123 is the α chain of the interleukin (IL)-3 receptor. Upon binding of IL-3, CD123 heterodimerizes with the β subunit of the IL-3 receptor and gives rise to intracellular signals promoting cell survival and proliferation (54). CD123 is expressed on the surface of myeloblasts and leukemia stem cells (LSC, the equivalent of CSCs for hematologic malignancies) of AML patients (55, 56). These cells have been associated with chemotherapy resistance, persistence of minimal residue disease and unfavorable prognosis (57, 58). CD123 is expressed at very low levels or is absent from normal hematopoietic stem cells, thereby offering the possibility of targeting AML stem cells while sparing normal stem cells (59).

The generation and preclinical investigation of an anti-CD123 ADC has recently been reported (37). This ADC, dubbed SGN-CD123A, is composed of a humanized anti-CD123 mAb with engineered cysteines for site-specific conjugation, a valinealanine dipeptide linker and a PBD dimer payload. *In vitro*, SGN-CD123A had potent cytotoxic effects on most CD123⁺ AML cells lines and primary samples from AML patients. SGN-CD123A was highly active in various leukemia models and led to eradication in a disseminated AML model. SGN-CD123A was also tested in combination with the fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) inhibitor quizartinib. FLT3 inhibitors are in development for FLT3-mutated AML patients, but responding patients invariably develop resistance. SGN-CD123A enhanced the activity of quizartinib in FLT3-mutated xenograft models.

A phase I clinical trial has been performed with SGN-CD123A in AML patients (NCT02848248). This study, however, has been terminated, and on the company's website this product is not mentioned.

Anti-5T4 ADCs

5T4, or trophoblast glycoprotein, is a 72-kDa, N-glycosylated transmembrane protein. The extracellular domain contains leucine-rich repeats, which are commonly associated with protein-protein interactions. 5T4 is expressed in normal progenitor cells during embryonic development where it functions in EMT and cell migration (60). It is an oncofetal antigen with high expression in many types of carcinomas and low expression in normal tissues. 5T4 has been found to be overexpressed in CSCs in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and other cancers (61) compared to differentiated tumor cells. 5T4-overexpressing cells also show increased expression of EMT markers and have increased tumor-initiating potential (61). Moreover, as expected for EMT tumor cells and CSCs, 5T4 overexpression is associated with advanced-stage disease, drug resistance and worse prognosis in several solid tumors (62–64).

Several ADCs targeting 5T4 have been described in the literature. The first, PF-06263507, comprises a humanized anti-5T4 mAb linked to the tubulin inhibitor MMAF via a noncleavable maleimidocaproyl linker (38). MMAF preferentially acts on proliferating cells due to its antimitotic mechanism of action. This ADC was very potent in several tumor models inducing long-term regressions with low doses. In a NSCLC xenograft model the ADC reduced CSC frequency. In safety studies in primates it was safe and had a half-life of 5 days.

In the following, PF-06263507 was tested in combination with the dual phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) catalytic site inhibitor PF-384 or taxanes (65). *In vitro*, PF-06263507 or untargeted auristatins displayed strong synergistic or additive activity when combined with PF-384 or taxanes, respectively. These synergistic/additive activities were not due to the individual components of the combination acting on different tumor cell subpopulations (e.g., CSC and non-CSC cells) but, rather, to amplification of the effects of this ADC on translational components by PF-384 or the simultaneous binding of MMAF and taxanes to distinct binding sites on microtubules, respectively. In human breast and lung cancer xenografts, combination therapy with PF-06263507 + PF-384 or PF-06263507 + paclitaxel yielded enhanced antitumor effects with longer survival as compared with monotherapies.

The potential of PF-06263507 for the treatment of hematological malignancies was also investigated (66), given the finding that 5T4 was overexpressed on minimal residual acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells. PF-06263507 significantly improved survival in mice engrafted with $5T4^+$ patient-derived ALL cells, and even more so in combination with chemotherapy or dexamethasone.

PF-06263507 has been investigated in a phase I clinical trial (NCT01891669) and the results of this study, where no objective responses were observed, have been reported (39).

In another approach, anti-5T4 ADCs were constructed by site-specifically conjugating a human anti-5T4 mAb via a valine-alanine dipeptide linker with payloads having different mechanisms of action: a PBD dimer or the microtubule destabilizing tubulysin (40). In vivo experiments in xenograft models of different carcinoma types showed that the ADC conjugated with a PBD payload, MEDI-0641, elicited more durable antitumor responses and inhibited more potently the growth of 5T4⁺ CSCs in vivo than the tubulysin conjugate. This result is consistent with the knowledge that CSCs comprise subpopulations of proliferating and quiescent cells (67) and that a DNA binder like a PBD is cytotoxic also on quiescent cells, while a tubulin binder like tubulysin acts only on the proliferating CSC subpopulation. Moreover, MEDI-0641 was cytotoxic on both CSC and non-CSC tumor cells, leading to depletion of both compartments. This result implies that 5T4 is pan-tumor cell marker, whether or not overexpressed by CSCs. In rats, MEDI-0641 had excellent in vivo stability and an acceptable safety profile.

MEDI-0641 was then tested on cells and xenografts of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) (41). *In vitro*, it caused a significant depletion of CSCs. *In vivo*, in three patient-derived xenograft models of HNSCC, a single administration of MEDI-0641 caused long-lasting tumor regression, which was likely due to depletion of both CSCs and non-CSCs. In the three models, MEDI-0641 caused either a complete elimination of tumor-initiating cells or a significant reduction. Moreover, a single dose of MEDI-0641 prevented tumor recurrence when used in a neoadjuvant setting prior to surgery. MEDI-0641 does not seem to have yet entered clinical development as it is not mentioned neither under clinicaltrials.gov nor in the company's website.

A third anti-5T4 ADC has been described very recently (42). This ADC, H6-DM4, is composed of a chimeric anti-5T4 mAb linked to an antimitotic cytotoxin, the maytansinoid DM4, through a cleavable N-succinimidyl 4-(2-pyridylothio)butyrate (SPDB) linker sensitive to intracellular reducing conditions with liberation of a lipophilic adduct, S-methyl-DM4, that can exert a bystander effect. H6-DM4 was cytotoxic against a panel of gastrointestinal cancer cell lines, including colorectal CSCs and colorectal cancer cells resistant to platinum compounds. CSCs were found to express higher levels of 5T4 than non-CSCs. 5T4 eradicated established gastrointestinal tumor xenografts in the low mg/kg range without observable toxicity. Tumor cell lines expressing higher levels of 5T4 were more sensitive to the effects of the conjugate *in vivo*, suggesting that the expression level of 5T4 could represent a predictive marker for patient selection.

Anti-leucine-rich Repeat-Containing, G Protein-Coupled Receptor 5 (LGR5) ADCs

LGR5 is a marker of adult stem cells in several epithelial tissues. In particular, LGR5⁺ crypt cells in the gastrointestinal tract give rise to all differentiated cell types within intestinal epithelia, suggesting that it represents the stem cell of the small intestine and colon (68). LGR5 is overexpressed and gives rise to multiple cell types within gastrointestinal tumors (68, 69). These observations suggest a close relationship between normal adult gastrointestinal stem cells and CSCs of gastrointestinal tumors. LGR5 overexpression correlates with higher incidence of metastasis, drug resistance, and poor patient survival (70, 71). Given its overexpression and rapid, constitutive internalization independently of ligand binding (72), LGR5 was considered a good target for ADCs.

Two ADCs were constructed by conjugating an anti-LGR5 mAb to the membrane-permeable, antimitotic agent MMAE via a cleavable valine-citrulline linker or a non-cleavable malemidopropionyl linker (43). Both ADCs bound LGR5 with similar affinity and were rapidly internalized by gastrointestinal cancer cells. Cytotoxicity was induced in LGR5-overexpressing cancer cells, but not in LGR5-negative cells or cell lines where LGR5 had been knocked down. However, the ADC with the cleavable linker was 10- to 20-fold more potent at killing these cells, probably due to a bystander effect (73). In fact, the ADC with the non-cleavable linker gives rise to charged metabolites (e.g., amino acid-linker-cytotoxin) that are membrane-impermeable. The ADC with the cleavable linker eradicated tumors and prevented recurrence in a xenograft model of colon cancer. Interestingly, these experiments yielded evidence of an interconversion between LGR5⁺ and LGR5⁻ CSCs that drove tumor regrowth after treatment with the ADC.

Another group has described the generation and testing of two other anti-LGR5 ADCs (44). The first is composed of a humanized anti-LGR5 mAb conjugated to MMAE through a cleavable valine-citrulline linker, via the cysteines that normally form the interchain disulfides of the mAb. Thus, this conjugate is very similar to the one described by Gong et al. (43). The second conjugate, NMS818, is composed of the same mAb connected, via an engineered cysteine on the antibody heavy chain and an acid-sensitive linker, to the C-14 hydroxyl of the DNA-binding, topoisomerase-inhibiting anthracycline PNU159682.

In vivo experiments showed the ADC anti-LGR5-MMAE to be efficacious without affecting homeostatic epithelia or any other tissues known to express LGR5. On the other hand, the ADC NMS818 showed target-dependent toxicities consistent with the known expression patterns of LGR5. The lack of gut toxicity with anti-LGR5-MMAE may possibly be due to the fact that the elimination of intestinal LGR5⁺ cells is well-tolerated. On the other hand, NMS818 target-dependent toxicity observed in the intestine may be attributable to the combined elimination of target-expressing LGR5 cells and bystander cells. In fact, both ADCs release a membrane-permeable drug after internalization that could exert a bystander effect on neighboring cells. However, the free drug released from NMS818 is 10- to 100-fold more potent on dividing cells, including normal LGR5⁺ cells, than MMAE. This could explain the greater toxicity of anti-NMS818 than anti-LGR5-MMAE.

Antitumor efficacy was observed both in xenografts as well as in genetically engineered mouse models of colon cancer, and both in tumors with uniformly high expression of LGR5 as well in tumors with heterogeneous and low expression of LGR5, the latter reflecting more closely the situation found in human tumors. Importantly, changes in tumor size were not immediately apparent, but became evident with long-term treatment, suggesting that depletion of CSCs takes longer to manifest as compared to the targeting of non-CSCs.

While there are clinical trials ongoing with a monospecific and a bispecific anti-LGR5 mAb, no trials are currently reported with one of the ADCs described here.

Antitumor ADCs That Were Shown to Have Anti-CSC Activity at a Later Stage Anti-human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) ADC

HER2 is a transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase that mediates several functions like growth, differentiation and survival in malignant and normal breast epithelial cells. Breast cancers overexpressing HER2 have an aggressive clinical phenotype, increased disease recurrence and unfavorable prognosis. Moreover, HER2 is overexpressed on breast CSCs, even on those subtypes that are not classified as HER2⁺ (74).

HER2 is the target of two antibody-based compounds that have gained approval: the first if the mAb trastuzumab (75), the second is the ADC ado-trastuzumab emtansine, which is composed of trastuzumab conjugated through a non-cleavable linker to the antimitotic drug maytansine DM1 (27). Clinical use of these compounds is for HER2⁺ breast cancer, with HER2 overexpression on the bulk of tumor cells, independently of their co-expression on CSCs.

The knowledge that CSCs overexpress HER2, whether or not the bulk of tumor cells are HER2⁺, led to investigate the effect of T-DM1 on CSCs (45). For this purpose, primary tumor cells and breast cancer cell lines were treated with T-DM1. The results showed that breast CSCs with the CD44^{high}CD24^{low}HER2^{low} phenotype were very efficient in internalizing T-DM1 and highly sensitive to it. This caused the depletion of breast CSCs at concentrations of T-DM1 that did not affect the bulk of tumor cells. Moreover, colony formation was also efficiently suppressed and EMT-mediated induction of stem cell-like properties was prevented in differentiated tumor cells. Importantly, the unconjugated antibody, trastuzumab, did not have these effects, pointing to a direct effect of the payload-induced cytotoxicity in depleting CSCs.

Anti-CD33 ADC

Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (GO) is an anti-CD33 ADC composed of a humanized anti-CD33 mAb linked to the cytotoxin calicheamicin via a hydrazone linker. GO has a tormented history. It received US Food and Drug Administration approval in 2000 for CD33⁺ AML, but was voluntarily withdrawn in 2010 due to safety concerns. Later, in a meta-analysis of patient data from clinical trials, it was found that the combination of lower-dose GO and induction chemotherapy reduced the risk of relapse and improved the relapse-free survival and overall survival in adult AML patients with favorable cytogenetics (76). These results led, recently, to the reapproval of GO.

Induction chemotherapy based on daunorubicin and cytarabine was investigated in combination with GO in patientderived xenograft AML models (46). The separate treatments reduced AML burden but left significant chemoresidual disease. Chemoresistant cells displayed markers of LSCs and showed greater ability to self-renewal than bulk leukemic cells. Interestingly, CD33 was coexpressed in the chemoresistant cells. Combination treatment, on the other hand, was highly effective in eliminating nearly all AML burden, extended overall survival and more effectively eliminated chemoresistant LSCs.

Anti-neural Cell Adhesion Molecule (NCAM, CD56) ADC

Wilms' tumor is the most frequent tumor of the genitourinary tract in children. It displays a triphasic histology: cell lineages similar to those observed during kidney development, undifferentiated blastema and stromal and epithelial derivatives (e.g., immature tubules and glomeruloid bodies). Evidence for the existence of CSCs in human Wilms' tumor was obtained in in vitro cultures derived from primary tumors. In these experiments it was found that NCAM+ cells of blastema phenotype had enhanced capacity to expand and differentiate into mature renal-like cell types, showing that they were greatly enriched for CSCs (77). They could be further enriched by aldehyde dehydrogenase activity and overexpression of other stemness genes and showed preferential expression of Akt and strong reduction of the miR-200 family, a miRNA family involved in the down-regulation of EMT and maintenance of an epithelial phenotype (78).

In order deplete NCAM⁺ cells in Wilms' tumors an ADC was used that had already been constructed and developed, lovortuzumab mertansine (47). This ADC is composed of a humanized anti-NCAM mAb, lovortuzumab, linked via a

cleavable disulfide linker to the maytansinoid DM1, mertansine. *In vitro*, it inhibited the stemness properties of Wilms' tumor cell cultures that varied in the extent of NCAM expression. Results suggested also that EMT promoted the acquisition of a CSC phenotype generating highly tumorigenic cancer cells with a mesenchymal phenotype. *In vivo*, the ADC eradicated, at low doses, Wilms' tumors bearing high NCAM expression, while higher doses were required for Wilms' tumors with lower NCAM expression.

The clinical development of this ADC has recently been halted due to disappointing results in a clinical study in lung cancer patients (48).

A CRITICAL APPRAISAL OF ANTI-CSC ADCS

ADCs against CSCs, similarly to other anti-CSC compounds, have raised considerable hopes as regards their therapeutic efficacy. Recently, however, one of the most advanced ADCs of this class, the anti-DLL3 ADC rovalpituzumab tesirine, has yielded disappointing results in a clinical trial (NCT02674568) in patients with SCLC (30). This is despite encouraging results in an initial phase I clinical trial in the same indication (79). This failure parallels other pitfalls with drug candidates targeting CSCs, including other ADCs. The question now arises whether these approaches, including the ADC approach against CSCs, have entered a dead-end street or if there is room for envisioning a new start based on a better understanding of the reasons underlying these failures. In the following we will list some of the reasons that appear to us as the most likely ones.

The first aspect relates to the biology of CSCs. CSCs are themselves a heterogeneous population that can be grossly divided in two subpopulations: a proliferating and a quiescent subpopulation. There are strong indications that the quiescent subpopulation is in an autophagic state (67). Importantly, there are also evidences that these two subpopulations may occupy different niches within tumor tissues (80). The location of a tumor cell within a tumor is crucially important for their sensitivity to drugs, including antibodies and ADCs (81). This implies that, depending on their location, different CSC subpopulations may be differently sensitive to the same drug.

The existence of proliferating and quiescent CSC subpopulations implies also that ADCs carrying cell cycleindependent drugs like DNA binders have an advantage over cell cycle-dependent drugs like tubulin binders and may lead to a more complete elimination of CSCs because of their potential to delete both proliferating as well as quiescent cells. If, however, quiescent CSCs are in an autophagic state, and there is considerable evidence in favor of this possibility (reviewed in 40), then there is another dark side that we should consider because our knowledge on this aspect and the possible consequences is almost nil. In fact, we don't know whether the internalization and intracellular trafficking in autophagic cells follows the same kinetics and routes as that of the non-autophagic counterparts. Recent evidence suggests, indeed, that there are differences (82). This implies that these differences may cause in autophagic CSCs to a release of the active drug that is less efficient that in proliferating CSCs.

Another limitation of the ADCs that are currently developed is that none of them targets a marker that is strictly CSC-specific. As already discussed before, these targets are also expressed, albeit to a lesser degree, on the bulk of tumor cells. This is notwithstanding the lack of reactivity of these ADCs for normal stem cells and the lack or limited reactivity for normal tissues. At this point one is led to ask whether these ADCs are truly anti-CSC ADCs or anti-tumor cell ADCs that embrace a tumor cell population that includes also CSCs. This is not necessarily a disadvantage, but then one has to evaluate the overall antitumor activity of the ADC in order to predict its efficacy and not just the anti-CSC activity.

One of the most important, yet disregarded aspects of CSC biology lies in the capacity of CSCs and non-CSCs to interconvert. This aspect has already been briefly addressed in the first section of this article. Nevertheless, it is important, at this point, to underscore the consequences that this may have on the whole tumor cell population and on CSCs. We have discussed that the conversion from non-CSC to CSCs can be driven by stressors in the tumor microenvironment, including hypoxia, mechanical stress, chemotherapy etc. These stressors may show inter- and even intratumoral variability depending on the geographical conditions of the tumor microenvironment. This implies that the fraction of CSCs may greatly vary from one tumor to the other and even within individual tumors. Such great variability has been documented in several instances (83, 84) and, in some cases, one out of four tumor cells have been shown to display properties of CSCs (85). It is clear that in these cases the boundaries between non-CSCs and CSCs become very blurred. The capacity of CSCs and non-CSCs to interconvert represents a substantial difference compared to normal stem cells. In fact, normal stem cells reside at the top of a pyramid where they can self-renew or give rise to a more differentiated progeny (86). This implies a unidirectional process, whereas the capacity of CSCs and non-CSCs to interconvert implies a bidirectional process. This raises serious doubts as to the appropriateness to refer to these cells as stem cells. Perhaps a definition like "resistant cancer cells" would be more appropriate to portray the essential of these cells.

Last but not least, an important limitation in the development of antibodies and ADCs is represented by the animal models that are used for preclinical testing. As can be seen just going through the articles that are referenced here, it is rather quite common that the compounds tested in animal models lead to complete tumor regressions, yet the same compounds fail in the human setting (e.g., 31, i.e., the ADC rovalpituzumab tesirine). In other terms, the predictability of animal models is very limited and it seems appropriate to say that observing complete tumor regressions in animal models is, nowadays, a necessary but by far not sufficient condition. At this point, the obvious question arises as to why animal (essentially mouse) models are inadequate to predict efficacy of antibodies and ADCs? A detailed discussion of this aspect goes beyond the scope of this article. Nevertheless, we would like to briefly address two aspects that may contribute

to this insufficiency. First, the percentage of injected dose of an antibody or antibody-like construct that is taken up by the tumor mass (expressed in grams) is much lower for humans than for mice (87). This is because an antibody dose diluted in a larger plasma volume gives a much lower percentage of injected dose/gram tumor tissue, three orders of magnitude lower for humans (\sim 31 plasma volume) than mice (\sim 2 ml). Such a dose may be sufficient to eradicate a tumor in a mouse, but insufficient to eradicate an equivalent tumor in a human. Incidentally, it has been recently demonstrated that the intratumoral payload concentration correlates with the antitumor activity of ADCs (88), a result that underscores the importance of attaining a sufficient antibody or ADC concentration within a tumor tissue in order to be efficacious. The second aspect relates to the mouse tumor models that are commonly used to test antitumor drugs, including those that are considered mimicking most closely the human situation, PDXs. It seems very difficult that these models can fully mimic the heterogeneity encountered in the human setting, in particular as regards the possibility that stressors from the tumor microenvironment may induce a conversion of non-CSC to CSCs. Thus, in one of the articles that have been referenced here (41), the anti-5T4 ADC MEDI-0641 ablated CSCs in one PDX model of HNSCC, reduced the frequency of CSCs 5-fold in a second PDX model, and 2-fold in a third PDX model (M11). Yet, in spite of the relatively modest CSC reduction that was observed in the M11 model, MEDI-0641 was able to completely prevent tumor recurrence after surgical removal of the tumor in this model. This leads obviously to ask as to which is the predictability of ADC-induced reduction of CSC frequency on the in vivo efficacy of an ADC in PDX models.

In spite of all these limitations and even if we resort to a minimalist definition of CSCs as tumor cells that become drug-resistant in response to stressors generated in the tumor microenvironment, then we have to agree that it remains a desirable therapeutic goal to get rid of these cells together with the rest of the tumor cells, i.e., the proliferating, drug-sensitive tumor cells. The point is to how best attack these cells. Addressing this question, however, implies recapitulating all of the limitations that we have listed and discussed in the first part of this section. Now, how can we address this conundrum? There is no easy answer to this but, at present, we can envisage two possibilities that can to be implemented.

The first of these possibilities is to develop *in silico* models of human tumors that are better able to predict efficacy of antibodies or ADCs than do the present animal models. Efforts in this direction are ongoing (89). Thus, *in silico* models for tumor growth and tumor treatment have been described (90, 91). In perspective, it seems reasonable to predict that these models may incorporate a number of variables allowing them to match the situation(s) encountered in the human setting more closely than currently used animal models, including PDX models, are able to do.

Second, the identification of biomarkers that are predictive of clinical efficacy of anti-CSC ADCs, similarly to the overexpression of HER2 that is used to predict efficacy of trastuzumab in HER2⁺ breast cancer patients. Biomarkers, including circulating tumor cells (CTC), witnessing antitumor effects in general and anti-CSC effects in particular (e.g., CTCs with a mesenchymal phenotype or soluble markers from mesenchymal CSCs), may allow to predict in a more reliable manner the overall clinical efficacy of anti-CSC ADCs. Such an approach could be systemically applied to the anti-CSC ADCs that are currently in clinical development. Elucidation of the relationship/lack of relationship between anti-CSC activity and clinical efficacy could allow to identify the contribution of anti-CSC activity to the overall antitumor activity and predict the efficacy of novel ADCs.

REFERENCES

- Mani SA, Guo W, Liao M-J, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, et al. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell.* (2008) 133:704–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027
- Marcucci F, Stassi G, De Maria R. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: a new target in anticancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2016) 15:311–25. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2015.13
- Tam W, Weinberg RA. The epigenetics of epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in cancer. Nat Med. (2013) 19:1438–49. doi: 10.1038/nm.3336
- Pastushenko I, Brisebarre A, Sifrim A, Fioramonti M, Revenco T, Boumahdi S, et al. Identification of the tumour transition states occurring during EMT. *Nature.* (2018) 556:463–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0040-3
- Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Tackling the cancer stem cells what challenges do they pose? *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2014) 13:497–512. doi: 10.1038/nrd4253
- Yen WC, Fischer MM, Axelrod F, Bond C, Cain J, Cancilla B, et al. Targeting Notch signaling with a Notch2/Notch3 antagonist (tarextumab) inhibits tumor growth and decreases tumor-initiating cell frequency. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:2084–95. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2808
- Marcucci F, Rumio C, Lefoulon F. Anti-cancer stem-like cell compounds in clinical development – an overview and critical appraisal. *Front Oncol.* (2016) 6:115. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00115
- Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2015) 12:445–64. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc. 2015.61
- Berabez N, Durand S, Gabut M. Post-transcriptional regulations of cancer stem cell homeostasis. *Curr Opin Oncol.* (2018) 31:100–7. doi: 10.1097/CCO.00000000000503
- Marcucci F, Bellone M, Caserta CA, Corti A. Pushing tumor cells towards a malignant phenotype. Stimuli from the microenvironment, intercellular communications and alternative roads. *Int J Cancer.* (2014) 135:1265–76. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28572
- Korkaya H, Liu S, Wicha MS. Breast cancer stem cells, cytokine networks, and the tumor microenvironment. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:3804–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI57099
- Dumont N, Wilson MB, Crawford YG, Reynolds P, Sigaroudinia M, Tlsty TD. Sustained induction of epithelial to mesenchymal transition activates DNA methylation of genes silenced in basal-like breast cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2008) 105:14867–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0807146105
- Wang Y, Cardenas H, Fang F, Condello S, Taverna P, Segar M, et al. Epigenetic targeting of ovarian cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:4922– 36. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1022
- Wallin JJ, Guan J, Edgar KA, Zhou W, Francis R, Torres AC, et al. Active PI3K pathway causes an invasive phenotype which can be reversed or promoted by blocking the pathway at divergent nodes. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e36402. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036402
- Vaz AP, Deb S, Rachagani S, Dey P, Muniyan S, Lakshmanan I, et al. Overexpression of PD2 leads to increased tumorigenicity and metastasis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:3317– 31. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6580

Overall, the present scenario regarding the clinical efficacy of anti-CSC ADCs is not very encouraging, yet the biological functions of CSCs suggest that further efforts should be devoted to this goal. Here, we have proposed some activities that could help moving forward in this field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FM, CC, ER, and CR contributed to the conception of the work, drafted or revisited it critically, approved the final version, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

- Ducry L, Stump B. Antibody-drug conjugates: linking cytotoxic payloads to monoclonal antibodies. *BioconjugChem*. (2010) 21:5–13. doi: 10.1021/bc9002019
- Alley SC, Okeley NM, Senter PD. Antibody-drug conjugates: targeted drug delivery for cancer. *Curr Opin Chem Biol.* (2010) 14:529–37. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.06.170
- Xin L, Cao J, Cheng H, Zeng F, Hu X, Shao J. Human monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy: a review of recent developments. *Front Biosci.* (2013) 18:765– 72. doi: 10.2741/4139
- Jarboe J, Gupta A, Saif W. Therapeutic human monoclonal antibodies against cancer. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2014) 1060:61–77. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-586-6_4
- Gikanga B, Adeniji NS, Patapoff TW, Chih HW, Yi L. Cathepsin B cleavage of vcMMAE-based antibody-drug conjugate is not drug location or monoclonal antibody carrier specific. *Bioconjug Chem.* (2016) 27:1040–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.6b00055
- Dan N, Setua S, Kashyap VK, Khan S, Jaggi M, Yallapu MM, et al. Antibodydrug conjugates for cancer therapy: chemistry to clinical implications. *Pharmaceuticals.* (2018) 11:32. doi: 10.3390/ph11020032
- LoRusso PM, Weiss D, Guardino E, Girish S, Sliwkowski MX. Trastuzumab emtansine: a unique antibody-drug conjugate in development for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:6437–47. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0762
- Li F, Emmerton KK, Jonas M, Zhang X, Miyamoto JB, Setter JR, et al. Intracellular released payload influences potency and bystander-killing effects of antibody-drug conjugates in preclinical models. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2710–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1795.
- 24. Junutula JR, Flagella KM, Graham RA, Parsons KL, Ha E, Raab H, et al. Engineered thio-trastuzumab-DM1 conjugate with an improved therapeutic index to target human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:4769–78. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0987
- Junutula JR, Raab H, Clark S, Bhakta S, Leipold DD, Weir S, et al. Site-specific conjugation of a cytotoxic drug to an antibody improves the therapeutic index. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2008) 26:925–32. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1480
- Marcucci F, Bellone M, Rumio C, Corti A. Approaches to improve tumor accumulation and interactions between monoclonal antibodies and immune cells. *MAbs.* (2013) 5:34–46. doi: 10.4161/mabs.22775
- Phillips GDL, Li G, Dugger DL, Crocker LM, Parsons KL, Mai E, et al. Targeting HER2-positive breast cancer with trastuzumab-DM1, an antibody-cytotoxic drug conjugate. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:9280–90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1776
- Amiri-Kordestani L, Blumenthal GM, Xu QC, Zhang L, Tang SW, Ha L, et al. FDA approval: ado-trastuzumab emtansine for the treatment of patients with HER2-positive metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:4436–41. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0012
- Junttila TT, Li G, Parsons K, Phillips GL, Sliwkowski MX. Trastuzumab-DM1 (T-DM1) retains all the mechanisms of action of trastuzumab and efficiently inhibits growth of lapatinib insensitive breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2011) 128:347–56. doi: 10.1007/s10549-010-1090-x
- Garber K. Cancer stem cell pipeline flounders. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2018) 17:771–3. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.157

- Saunders LR, Bankovich AJ, Anderson WC, Aujay MA, Bheddah S, Black K, et al. A DLL3-targeted antibody-drug conjugate eradicates high-grade pulmonary neuroendocrine tumor-initiating cells *in vivo*. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:302ra136. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac9459
- Travis WD. Pathology and diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumors: lung neuroendocrine. *Thorac Surg Clin.* (2014) 24:257–66. doi: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2014.04.001
- Chapman G, Sparrow DB, Kremmer E, Dunwoodie SL. Notch inhibition by the ligand Delta-Like 3 defines the mechanism of abnormal vertebral segmentation in spondylocostal dysostosis. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2011) 20:905– 16. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq529
- Kunnimalaiyaan M, Chen H. Tumor suppressor role of Notch-1 signaling in neuroendocrine tumors. Oncologist. (2007) 12:535–42. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.12-5-535
- Damelin M, Bankovich A, Bernstein J, Lucas J, Chen L, Williams S, et al. A PTK7-targeted antibody-drug conjugate reduces tumor-initiating cells and induces sustained tumor regressions. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaag2611. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aag2611
- Damelin M, Bankovich A, Park A, Aguilar J, Anderson W, Santaguida M, et al. Anti-EFNA4 calicheamicin conjugates effectively target triple-negative breast and ovarian tumor-initiating cells to result in sustained tumor regressions. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4165–73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0695
- Li F, Sutherland MK, Yu C, Walter RB, Westendorf L, Valliere-Douglass J, et al. Characterization of SGN-CD123A, a potent CD123-directed antibody-drug conjugate for acute myeloid leukemia. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:554–64. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0742
- Sapra P, Damelin M, Dijoseph J, Marquette K, Geles KG, Golas J, et al. Longterm tumor regression induced by an antibody-drug conjugate that targets 5T4, an oncofetal antigen expressed on tumor-initiating cells. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2013) 12:38–47. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0603
- Shapiro GI, Vaishampayan UN, LoRusso P, Barton J, Hua S, Reich SD, et al. First-in-human trial of an anti-5T4 antibody-monomethylauristatin conjugate, PF-06263507, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs.* (2017) 35:315–23. doi: 10.1007/s10637-016-0419-7
- Harper J, Lloyd C, Dimasi N, Toader D, Marwood R, Lewis L, et al. Preclinical evaluation of MEDI0641, a pyrrolobenzodiazepine-conjugated antibody-drug conjugate targeting 5T4. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2017) 16:1576–87. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0825
- Kerk SA, Finkel KA, Pearson AT, Warner KA, Zhang Z, Nör F, et al. 5T4targeted therapy ablates cancer stem cells and prevents recurrence of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:2516–27. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1834
- Wang R, Lai Q, Tang L, Tao Y, Yao Y, Liu Y, et al. A novel 5T4-targeting antibody-drug conjugate H6-DM4 exhibits potent therapeutic efficacy in gastrointestinal tumor xenograft models. *Am J Cancer Res.* (2018) 8:610–23.
- 43. Gong X, Azhdarinia A, Ghosh SC, Xiong W, An Z, Liu Q, et al. LGR5-targeted antibody-drug conjugate eradicates gastrointestinal tumors and prevents recurrence. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2016) 15:1580–90. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0114
- 44. Junttila MR, Mao W, Wang X, Wang BE, Pham T, Flygare J, et al. Targeting LGR5⁺ cells with an antibody-drug conjugate for the treatment of colon cancer. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:314ra186. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac7433
- 45. Diessner J, Bruttel V, Stein RG, Horn E, Häusler SF, Dietl J, et al. Targeting of preexisting and induced breast cancer stem cells with trastuzumab and trastuzumab emtansine (T-DM1). *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1149. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.115
- 46. Zhang CC, Yan Z, Pascual B, Jackson-Fisher A, Huang DS, Zong Q, et al. Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin (GO) inclusion to induction chemotherapy eliminates leukemic initiating cells and significantly improves survival in mouse models of acute myeloid leukemia. *Neoplasia.* (2018) 20:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2017.10.008
- 47. Shah MH, Lorigan P, O'Brien ME, Fossella FV, Moore KN, Bhatia S, et al. Phase I study of IMGN901, a CD56-targeting antibody-drug conjugate, in patients with CD56-positive solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs*. (2016) 34:290–9. doi: 10.1007/s10637-016-0336-9
- Socinski MA, Kaye FJ, Spigel DR, Kudrik FJ, Ponce S, Ellis PM, et al. Phase 1/2 study of the CD56-targeting antibody-drug conjugate lorvotuzumab

mertansine(IMGN901) in combination with carboplatin/etoposide in smallcell lung cancer patients with extensive-stage disease. *Clin Lung Cancer*. (2017) 18:68–76.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cllc.2016.09.002

- Boudeau J, Miranda-Saavedra D, Barton GJ, Alessi DR. Emerging roles of pseudokinases. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2006) 16:443–52. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2006.07.003
- Damelin M, Zhong W, Myers J, Sapra P. Evolving strategies for target selection for antibody-drug conjugates. *Pharm Res.* (2015) 32:3494–507. doi: 10.1007/s11095-015-1624-3
- Boyd AW, Bartlett PF, LackmannM. Therapeutic targeting of EPH receptors and their ligands. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2014) 13:39–62. doi: 10.1038/nrd4175
- Lee JW, Stone RL, Lee SJ, Nam EJ, Roh JW, Nick AM, et al. EphA2 targeted chemotherapy using an antibody drug conjugate in endometrial carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:2562–70. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0017
- Annunziata CM, Kohn EC, LoRusso P, Houston ND, Coleman RL, Buzoianu M, et al. Phase 1, open-label study of MEDI-547 in patients with relapsed or refractory solid tumors. *Invest New Drugs*. (2013) 31:77–84. doi: 10.1007/s10637-012-9801-2
- Guthridge MA, Stomski FC, Thomas D, Woodcock JM, Bagley CJ, Berndt MC, et al. Mechanism of activation of the GM-CSF, IL-3, and IL-5 family of receptors. *Stem Cells.* (1998) 16:301–13. doi: 10.1002/stem.160301
- Munoz L, Nomdedeu JF, Lopez O, Carnicer MJ, BellidoM, Aventin A, et al. Interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain (CD123) is widely expressed in hematologic malignancies. *Haematologica*. (2001) 86:1261–9.
- Jordan CT, Upchurch D, Szilvassy SJ, Guzman ML, Howard DS, Pettigrew AL, et al. The interleukin-3 receptor alpha chain is a unique marker for human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. *Leukemia*. (2000) 14:1777–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2401903
- 57. Guan Y, Gerhard B, Hogge DE. Detection, isolation, and stimulation of quiescent primitive leukemic progenitor cells from patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). *Blood.* (2003) 101:3142–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-10-3062
- Vergez F, Green AS, Tamburini J, Sarry JE, Gaillard B, Cornillet-Lefebvre P, et al. High levels of CD34⁺CD38^{low/-}CD123⁺ blasts are predictive of an adverse outcome in acute myeloid leukemia: a Groupe Ouest-Est des Leucemies Aigues et Maladies du Sang (GOELAMS) study. *Haematologica*. (2011) 96:1792–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.047894
- Huang S, Chen Z, Yu JF, Young D, Bashey A, Ho AD, et al. Correlation between IL-3 receptor expression and growth potential of human CD34⁺ hematopoietic cells from different tissues. *Stem Cells.* (1999) 17:265–72. doi: 10.1002/stem.170265
- Spencer HL, Eastham AM, Merry CL, Southgate TD, Perez-Campo F, Soncin F, et al. E-cadherin inhibits cell surface localization of the pro-migratory 5T4 oncofetal antigen in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2007) 18:2838–51. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e06-09-0875
- Damelin M, Geles KG, Follettie MT, Yuan P, Baxter M, Golas J, et al. Delineation of a cellular hierarchy in lung cancer reveals an oncofetal antigen expressed on tumor-initiating cells. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:4236–46. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3919
- Starzynska T, Marsh PJ, Schofield PF, Roberts SA, Myers KA, Stern PL. Prognostic significance of 5T4 oncofetal antigen in colorectal carcinoma. Br J Cancer. (1994) 69:899–902. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1994.173
- Wrigley E, McGown AT, Rennison J, Swindell R, Crowther D, Starzynska T, et al. 5T4 oncofetal antigen expression in ovarian carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer.* (1995) 5:269–74. doi: 10.1046/ j.1525-1438.1995.05040269.x
- Naganuma H, Kono K, Mori Y, Takayoshi S, Stern PL, Tasaka K, et al. Oncofetal antigen 5T4 as a prognostic factor in patients with gastric cancer. *Anticancer Res.* (2002) 22:1033–8.
- 65. Shor B, Kahler J, Dougher M, Xu J, Mack M, Rosfjord E, et al. Enhanced antitumor activity of an anti-5T4 antibody–drug conjugate in combination with PI3K/mTOR inhibitors or taxanes. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:383–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1166
- 66. McGinn OJ, Krishnan S, Bourquin JP, Sapra P, Dempsey C, Saha V, et al. Targeting the 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein with an antibody drug conjugate (A1mcMMAF) improves survival in patient-derived xenograft models of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. (2017) 102:1075–84. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.158485

- Marcucci F, Ghezzi P, Rumio C. The role of autophagy in the cross-talk between epithelial-mesenchymal transitioned tumor cells and cancer stemlike cells. *Mol Cancer*. (2017) 16:3. doi: 10.1186/s12943-016-0573-8
- Barker N, Ridgway RA, van Es JH, van de Wetering M, Begthel H, van den Born M, et al. Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. *Nature*. (2009) 457:608–11. doi: 10.1038/nature07602
- Hirsch D, Barker N, McNeil N, Hu Y, Camps J, McKinnon K, et al. LGR5 positivity defines stem-like cells in colorectal cancer. *Carcinogenesis*. (2014) 35:849–58. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt377
- Han Y, Xue X, Jiang M, Guo X, Li P, Liu F, et al. LGR5, a relevant marker of cancer stem cells, indicates a poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients: a meta-analysis. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol.* (2015) 39:267–73. doi: 10.1016/j.clinre.2014.07.008
- Xi HQ, Cui JX, Shen WS, Wu XS, Bian SB, Li JY, et al. Increased expression of Lgr5 is associated with chemotherapy resistance in human gastric cancer. *Oncol Rep.* (2014) 32:181–8. doi: 10.3892/or.2014.3207
- Carmon KS, Lin Q, Gong X, Thomas A, Liu Q. LGR5 interacts and cointernalizes with Wnt receptors to modulate Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2012) 32:2054–64. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00272-12
- Polson AG, Calemine-Fenaux J, Chan P, Chang W, Christensen E, Clark S, et al. Antibody-drug conjugates for the treatment of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: target and linker-drug selection. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:2358–64. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2250
- 74. Ithimakin S, Day KC, Malik F, Zen Q, Dawsey SJ, Bersano-Begey TF, et al. HER2 drives luminal breast cancer stem cells in the absence of HER2 amplification: implications for efficacy of adjuvant trastuzumab. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1635–46. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3349
- Hudis CA. Trastuzumab mechanism of action and use in clinical practice. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:39–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra043186
- 76. Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, Delaunay J, Petersdorf S, Othus M, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Oncol.* (2014) 15:986–96. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70281-5
- Pode-Shakked N, Shukrun R, Mark-Danieli M, Tsvetkov P, Bahar S, Pri-Chen S, et al. The isolation and characterization of renal cancer initiating cells from human Wilms' tumour xenografts unveils new therapeutic targets. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2013) 5:18–37. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201201516
- Gregory PA, Bert AG, Paterson EL, Barry SC, Tsykin A, Farshid G, et al. The miR-200 family and miR-205 regulate epithelial to mesenchymal transition by targeting ZEB1 and SIP1. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2008) 10:593–601. doi: 10.1038/ncb1722
- 79. Rudin CM, Pietanza MC, Bauer TM, Ready N, Morgensztern D, Glisson BS, et al. Rovalpituzumab tesirine, a DLL3-targeted antibodydrug conjugate, in recurrent small-cell lung cancer: a first-in-human, first-in-class, open-label, phase 1 study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:42–51. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30565-4
- 80. Liu S, Cong Y, Wang D, Sun Y, Deng L, Liu Y, et al. Breast cancer stem cells transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states

reflective of their normal counterparts. Stem Cell Rep. (2013) 2:78-91. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.11.009

- Marcucci F, Corti A. Improving drug penetration to curb tumor drug resistance. *Drug Discov Today.* (2012) 17:1139–47. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2012.06.004
- Alissafi T, Hatzioannou A, Mintzas K, Barouni RM, Banos A, Sormendi S, et al. Autophagy orchestrates the regulatory program of tumorassociated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Clin Invest.* (2018) 128:3840–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI120888
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2008) 8:755–68. doi: 10.1038/nrc2499
- Vermeulen L, de Sousa e Melo F, Richel DJ, Medema JP. The developing cancer stem-cell model: clinical challenges and opportunities. *Lancet Oncol.* (2012) 13:e83–9. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11) 70257-1
- Quintana E, Shackleton M, Sabel MS, Fullen DR, Johnson TM, Morrison SJ. Efficient tumour formation by single human melanoma cells. *Nature*. (2008) 456:593–8. doi: 10.1038/nature07567
- Tang DG. Understanding cancer stem cell heterogeneity and plasticity. *Cell Res.* (2012) 22:457–72. doi: 10.1038/cr.2012.13
- 87. Wittrup KD. Thurber GM. Schmidt MM. Rhoden II. Practical theoretic guidance for the design of tumor-targeting agents. Methods Enzymol. (2012)503:255-68. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-12-396962-0.00010-0
- Zhang D, Yu SF, Khojasteh SC, Ma Y, Pillow TH, Sadowsky JD, et al. Intratumoral payload concentration correlates with the activity of antibody-drug conjugates. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:677–85. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0697
- Jean-Quartier C, Jeanquartier F, Jurisica I, Holzinger A. In silico cancer research towards 3R. BMC Cancer. (2018) 18:408. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4302-0
- Jeanquartier F, Jean-Quartier C, Cemernek D, Holzinger A. In silico modeling for tumor growth visualization. BMC Syst Biol. (2016) 10:59. doi: 10.1186/s12918-016-0318-8
- 91. Trisilowati, Mallet DG. *In silico* experimental modeling of cancer treatment. *ISRN Oncol.* (2012) 2012:828701. doi: 10.5402/2012/828701

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Marcucci, Caserta, Romeo and Rumio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pre-clinical Models for Studying the Interaction Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Cancer Cells and the Induction of Stemness

Sofia Avnet¹, Silvia Lemma¹, Margherita Cortini¹, Gemma Di Pompo¹, Francesca Perut¹ and Nicola Baldini^{1,2*}

¹ Orthopaedic Pathophysiology and Regenerative Medicine Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy, ² Department of Biomedical and Neuromotor Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) have essential functions in building and supporting the tumour microenvironment, providing metastatic niches, and maintaining cancer hallmarks, and it is increasingly evident that the study of the role of MSC in cancer is crucial for paving the way to clinical opportunities for novel anti-cancer therapies. To date, the vast majority of preclinical models that have been used for studying the effect of reactive MSC on cancer growth, metastasis, and response to therapy has been mainly based on in vitro flat biology, including the co-culturing with cell compartmentalization or with cell-to-cell contact, and on in vivo cancer models with different routes of MSC inoculation. More complex in vitro 3D models based on spheroid structures that are formed by intermingled MSC and tumour cells are also capturing the interest in cancer research. These are innovative culture systems tailored on the specific tumour type and that can be combined with a synthetic extracellular matrix, or included in *in silico* technologies, to more properly mimic the *in vivo* biological, spatial, biochemical, and biophysical features of tumour tissues. In this review, we summarized the most popular and currently available preclinical models for evaluating the role of MSC in cancer and their specific suitability, for example, in assaying the MSC-driven induction of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition or of stem-like traits in cancer cells. Finally, we enlightened the need to carefully consider those parameters that might unintentionally strongly affect the secretome in MSC-cancer interplay and introduce confounding variables for the interpretation of results.

Keywords: mesenchymal stromal cells, tumour microenvironment, stemness, secretome, 3D models, metastasis

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a complex disease that thrives in a heterogeneous and adaptive tumour microenvironment (TME) admixed with reactive elements surrounding or infiltrating the tumour cells. Among these, endothelial, immune, and mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) or cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAF) are frequently observed, playing an important role during carcinogenesis and cancer progression (1, 2). As a part of the tumour-supporting mesenchymal stroma, CAF have been suggested to originate from MSC, thereby sharing several features (3–5). For the distinguishing between MSC and CAF we recommend other previous review (5),

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Peiman Hematti, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States Marco A. Velasco-Velazquez, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

> *Correspondence: Nicola Baldini fisiopatologia@ior.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 31 December 2018 Accepted: 02 April 2019 Published: 30 April 2019

Citation:

Avnet S, Lemma S, Cortini M, Di Pompo G, Perut F and Baldini N (2019) Pre-clinical Models for Studying the Interaction Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Cancer Cells and the Induction of Stemness. Front. Oncol. 9:305. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00305

84

since in this review, we will focus on MSC. Regardless the tissue origins, MSC are inherently tumour-homing and are a considerable component of the general host response to tissue damage caused by cancer cells. Cancer has been associated with MSC at all stages of disease progression with contradicting conclusions. Indeed, MSC have been also shown to have anticancer activities (6). More often, MSC are considered a foe in cancer for the immunosuppressive ability that creates a protective milieu for tumour cells by recruiting immunosuppressive tumour-associated macrophage TAM (7), for the promotion of tumour angiogenesis, proliferation, and metastasis, but also tumour dormancy and drug resistance (5).

CSC AND MSC

Under physiological conditions, MSC have a major role in the maintenance of stem cell niches, like for the hematopoietic niche (8). Similarly, in cancer, MSC are relevant for the formation and maintenance of cancer stem cells (CSC). CSC are considered quiescent cells that have been isolated from a number of tumours (e.g., hematopoietic malignancies, breast carcinoma, glioblastoma, and sarcomas) by using different techniques (9–12).

Research on CSC has defined them as the driving force in tumour formation as they are characterized by self-renewal ability and can give rise to heterogeneous lineages that recapitulate the main tumour features (13). Yet, it has gradually become clear that CSC, like normal stem cells, do not necessarily have to be rare and/or quiescent; multiple examples now show that they can be abundant and can proliferate vigorously. Furthermore, it is emerging that stem cell hierarchies may be much more plastic than previously appreciated, a phenomenon that complicates the identification and eradication of CSC (14).

Despite recent data are therefore questioning the validity of the CSC model, the CSC-MSC interaction is well documented and is crucial for 3D growth and stemness of tumour cells (15), or for the generation of an hybrid MSC-CSC cell populations, occurring via entosis, i.e., a form of cell-to-cell internalization, or via fusion, as demonstrated in different tumours (16-20). Indeed, the selection processes of hybrid cells after MSC-tumour cell fusion contribute to CSC development (20, 21). CSC-MSC interaction occurs via soluble factors (22), exosomes, or direct interaction (23). Another form of contact has been described for glioblastoma, where the CSC state is regulated by a transient interaction between cancer cells and platelets. This contact induces an epithelial-to-mesenchymal (EMT) transition program leading to the expression of mesenchymal features which may coincide with a CSC-like state. In turn, once CSC have seeded a distant organ, they can orchestrate stromal cells to their needs (23) as CSC may promote, as an example, the release of TGF- β by MSC that further fosters EMT and increases the CSC stem-like state (24).

Given their mesenchymal origin, EMT cannot be proposed in sarcomas. However, after we demonstrated the existence of CSC (25), we showed that, by using a 2D co-culture system that also included CSC spheroids, MSC increased the CSC migratory capacity via TGF- β 1 that, in turn, stimulated the secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 that fostered osteosarcoma stemness and aggressiveness (26). Blocking the TGF- β 1 signalling pathway in the same MSC-CSC co-cultures inhibited the CSC dedifferentiation, clonogenicity, and self-renewal capacity (27).

It follows that the study of the interaction between MSC and cancer cells, with or without stem-like properties, is crucial to bring out clinical opportunities for new cancer therapies. However, the set up of the appropriate models according to the specific study aim is crucial. Here, we summarized the currently available and most popular preclinical models and their specific features for modelling MSC-cancer cells interplays.

IN VITRO MODELS

The set up of pre-clinical models with MSC requires in vitro expansion thereby possibly causing meaningful changes in MSC behaviour, and affecting the interpretation of results. However, this is a bias that, to date, cannot be overcome to meet the demand for MSC-cancer cells preclinical modelling. The current in vitro preclinical models are mainly based on two-dimensional (2D) surfaces and include co-culture systems. These type of models have the enormous advantage to easily allow the control of the experimental conditions, and the analysis of expression of specific molecular signalling that can be distinguished between the two different cell populations. The first and simplest example is the treatment of cancer cells with conditioned medium of MSC cultures and is useful to study the effect of MSC-secreted soluble factors on cancer cell behaviour (28-30). A more complex system is based on the use of transwell with the two cell types seeded onto separate compartments and is suitable for keeping the reciprocal paracrine interactions for studying the effect of MSC secretome on tumour migratory, invasive, and stemness potentials (26, 31, 32). Finally, the co-seeding of the two cell populations on the same compartment of the culture support is also possible and has been used, for example, to evaluate the transfer of mitochondria from MSC to breast carcinoma cells (33), or to evaluate the metabolic symbiosis (34). Notably, the co-seeding is the most appropriate 2D approach to resemble the in vivo phenotype: it allows the cell-to-cell direct contact interactions. For this model, immunostaining is the easiest way of analysis, combined with the observation of either fixed or live cells through confocal or optical microscopes. However, for more complex molecular analysis, expensive techniques to sort single cells are needed, like immunomagnetic separation or, after the cell transfection with a fluorescent reporter, the cell retrieval by flow cytometry (34, 35). In conclusion, 2D in vitro culture systems are easily handled but they are falling short in predicting biological responses since they cannot thoroughly recapitulate both the complexity and the specificity of living tissues. Indeed, tumours are not merely clusters of proliferating cancer cells that grow on plastic 2D surfaces, but rather highly complex 3D structures with a dynamic extracellular matrix (ECM) and reactive stromal cells with a precise spatial relationship. Thus, 2D models should be not used for studying complex processes that

cannot be reproduced in this type of culture, like drug perfusion in the tissue, intravasion, or extravasion of tumour cells, invasion of tumour cells through an ECM with a 3D structure, cytotoxicity of anticancer-drugs that might be affected by solute or gas gradient or by different transcriptome or proteome signature that is affected by the tumour-stroma interaction in 3D structures. Based on that, significant effort has been put forward to develop more sophisticated 3D structures, like cells aggregates alone or combined with bioprinting or microfluidics techniques.

The key point to improve 3D co-culturing model is that functional unit of the tissue must be considered rather than single cells, including cell-cell contact and, depending on the cell types, a polarized morphology, a basement membrane and an ECM. For a list and brief description of the most commonly used 3D culturing systems see Table 1. The simplest model of 3D cultures is based on multicellular tumour spheroids without the addition of external ECM component. Despite cells can per se secrete ECM proteins, 3D spheroids are commonly considered ECM-free models. Spheroid cultures have been established from several cancers, also to study tumour-MSC interaction, including glioma, breast, colon, ovary, and prostate carcinoma (36). These multicellular structures mimic in vivo growth via the formation of a central necrotic core, a solute/ion gradient from the periphery to the centre, and a 3D cellular spatial organization. Forcedfloating, hanging drop spheroids, spheroids obtained by using bioreactors are examples of this type of cell aggregates mixed with MSC and tumour cells, at different ratio (e.g., 3:1, respectively) (36, 37). Forced-floating cell aggregates are obtained by avoiding cell attachment to the well bottom. The hanging-drop method is the most widely used and is obtained by seeding a small aliquot of single-cell suspension in a volume that exceeds the well volume. By inverting the plate, the volume generates a drop in which cells are kept in place by surface tension and are then densely packed in spheroid-like structures with high reproducibility. Both forced-floating and hanging-drop spheroids are extensively used for drug screening (38, 39), thanks to the high number of spheroids/plate that can be obtained and the low cost. On the contrary, rotating cell culture bioreactor and spinner flasks force spheroid formation by continuous agitation (37, 40). However, the different size and the fact that spheroids formed in bioreactors must be related to be tested for drug screening, makes them unsuitable for this application. Nevertheless, bioreactors are the best options when long term culture and carefully monitoring of the environmental conditions (such as oxygen and nutrients) are required.

To recreate the interstitial space, it is essential to add the ECM component to the multicellular spheroids (41). For this aim, tumour cell and MSC co-cultures can be admixed to high biocompatible scaffolds of natural origin (i.g. collagen, hyaluronan, matrigel, elastin), or synthetic origin (polyethylenglycol, polyvinvyl alcohol, ceramics, or biomaterials), or also ECM isolated from tumour biopsies to mimic microenvironmental conditions (42). Within the scaffold, cells can interact one with the other (essential in the case of MSC-tumour studies), migrate through the pores and re-create *in vivo*-like communication strategies that mimic physiology. More the used matrix resembles the real tumour matrix and more predictive is assumed to be the model. For the addition of ECM in 3D cancer models, 3D bioprinting has stolen the spotlight since it allows the formation of high-resolution 3D structures by dispensing cell-laden biomaterials in a precisely and spatially defined way (43). In this technique, a hydrogel-like pre-polymer solution with encapsulated cells is stored into the ink cartridge that is connected to a printer head. The printer heads are deformed by a thermal or piezoelectric actuators and squeezed to generate bioink droplets of controllable size. However, to date, with very few exceptions (44), the bioprinting has been barely explored to study the MSC and cancer cells interactions.

Finally, tailored innovative platforms that combine spheroid technologies with disease-specific in silico models by using microfluidics, the so called "organ-on-a-chip" technologies that reconstitute organ-level in vivo characteristics (45, 46), have emerged also in cancer research. Although more expensive and less practical, this cutting-edge approach facilitates the identification of molecular mechanisms behind the disease or the identification of novel biomarkers, and is also particularly useful for drug screening. Microfluidics allows the study of complex phenomena under the combination of multiple biochemical and biophysical parameters, coupled with highresolution real-time imaging. This type of approach has been mainly developed to study the interaction of tumour cells with blood vessels that can be recreated in the microfluidic chips. Few examples have also been reported for co-culturing MSC with tumour cells, like for lung cancer (47), or to recapitulate the bone metastatic niche that also includes MSC, like for acute lymphoid myeloma, acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, or breast carcinoma (48-50). By using this approach, it is possible to evaluate on real-time the induction of tumour apoptosis, proliferation, migration and invasion, the activation of the reactive stroma, the secretion of cytokines by tumour cells, the activation of specific oncogenes, and stroma-mediated extravasion and intravasion.

IN VIVO MODELS

To study the role of MSC on cancer development and progression, several animal models has been developed, mainly xenograft and syngenic small rodents, with MSC coinjected with tumour cells (51–53). In these models, MSC participate to tumour pathophysiology, ultimately facilitating the metastatic spread of weakly metastatic cancer (52, 54–56). MSC/tumour cells ratio seems to be particularly relevant like for tumour dormancy/growth, as demonstrated in melanoma or osteosarcoma models (57, 58). However, the isolation of MSC with different methods and from different tissues (e.g., bone marrow and adipose tissues) have made it difficult to reach consistent conclusions.

Heterotopic injections are the most used and include the subcutaneous injections (52), the easiest and most reproducible model that rarely gives origin to metastases, and that is quite far from the human disease since the host tissue surrounding the tumor might be very different from the tumor-associated stroma of the normal tissue where the tumor develops.

Systemically infused MSC localize within injured, inflamed, and cancerous tissues. Thus, to study the tropism of MSC to

| Model | General properties | Advantages | Disadvantages | Applications of the model |
|-----------------------------------|---|---|---|---|
| Forced-floating spheroids | Aggregation induced by preventing attachment | Low cost and high reproducibility | Variability in cell size and shape | High-throughput investigations for efficacy vs. toxicity of drugs |
| Hanging drop | Aggregation induced by agitation at the tip of a drop formed by surface tension | Relative low cost and high reproducibility. Suitable for drug screening and high-throughput testing | The spheroid forms a necrotic core | High-throughput drug screening |
| Rotating cell culture bioreactors | Forced spheroid formation by continuous agitation | Easy to produce spheroids on a large scale | Specialized equipment required. Variability in size and shape | Ideal for cells that require long-term cultures and controlled amounts of nutrients and oxygen |
| Scaffold-based | Cells are seeded within a gel-like scaffold of natural or synthetic origin | Provides a 3D support that mimics the physiological tissue for ECM composition | Higher costs. Difficult to retrieve cells from the biomaterial. Lack of reproducibility | 3D structures where the cells are free to migrate or form <i>in vivo</i> -like cues |
| 3D printing | Cells are printed within scaffold of natural or synthetic origin | Provides a 3D support that mimics the physiological tissue for ECM composition and the spatial organization | Specialized equipment required. Higher costs. Difficult to retrieve cells from the biomaterial. Lack of reproducibility | Allow formation of custom-specific ECMs or scaffolds |
| Microfluidics | Cells are seeded on microfluidic device that, by using multiple channel and gel-like scaffolds perfused by fluid medium | Provides a 3D support that reconstitute organ-level <i>in vivo</i> characteristics. Live observation. | Specialized equipment required. Higher costs. Difficult to retrieve cells from the biomaterial. Lack of reproducibility. N. of cells that can be used is limited | Identification of molecular cellular mechanisms or biomarkers. High-throughput drug screening |

the tumour, MSC have been injected into circulation through the tail vein (59, 60). MSC have been also systemically administered via alternative routes, like via intratracheal (61), internal carotid artery (62), intraperitoneal (63), like for gliomas, breast, colon, ovarian, and lung carcinomas (52, 53, 61–66). Systemic injection of MSC may be useful also to enhance their viability along the experiment. Indeed, as it appeared from studies on MSC-based cell therapy, MSC survival is very low (67–70). Thus, periodic injections of MSC after the first injection might enhance their engraftment in the tumour and ensure the continuous secretion of MSC-derived protein factors.

Finally, the use of orthotropic injection site mimics the fate of MSC that have been already chemoattracted by tumour cells and have migrated at the primary tumour site, and it better recapitulates the human disease. However, this model has a great variability and requires a higher number of animals to obtain results that may be correctly interpreted.

It is clear that, due to the short-term survival of injected MSC, monitoring their fate *in vivo* is crucial to support the conclusions about their pro- or anti-cancer activities. As for tumour cells, tracking MSC fate has been obtained by different approaches (see **Table 2**). In principle, the most powerful technique should allow non-invasive live imaging by optical or not-optical methods to gain real-time information. After animal sacrifice, also histology, immunofluorescence, immunohistochemistry, or flow cytometry techniques on isolated live or fixed cells can be used. Among the live-imaging techniques, the most used are the pre-labelling of MSC with a lipophilic fluorescent dyes (e.g., DiL or Cell TrackerTM) (54), or the pre-tagging of MSC by specific gene transfection, like luciferase or green fluorescent protein for the detection of bioluminescence (60, 71, 84) or fluorescence (55), respectively. Notably, bioluminescent imaging of luciferase-expressing cells is also a quantitative technique for the direct assessment of tumour growth (51, 53), whereas non-optical methods, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (82), positron emission tomography (PET) (65) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) (83) provide a high spatial resolution and three-dimensional whole-body imaging.

In conclusion, to develop a more clinical relevant *in vivo* model that accurately reflects the human tumour biology is an urgent need to better predict the response of the tumour to the treatments and for identifying those steps that are crucial for tumour progression to be targeted or prevented for an improved clinical outcome. The addition of MSC in the model is a step forward in this direction, although for the development of *in vivo* pre-clinical models of MSC-tumour cells interaction several parameters need to be carefully considered according to the specific aim, like MSC:tumour cells ratio, the via of co-injection, and the tracking of MSC to check their fate. Last but not least, variables affecting the secretome should be very carefully analysed.

THE SECRETOME

Studies on MSC-cancer interplay and analyses of cell conditioned media in the mentioned preclinical models have allowed the

| TABLE 2 | Methods for in | naging MSC-tumour | interplay <i>in vivo</i> |
|---------|----------------|--------------------|--------------------------|
| | 1010003101111 | laging moo turnour | interplay in vivo. |

| Method | Cellular modification | Contrast agent | Model of implantation | Tumour model | Reference for tracking MSC | Reference for tracking tumous cells |
|--------------------------|---|--|----------------------------|--|-----------------------------|---|
| BLI-live imaging | Luciferase transduction | Bioluminescence from luciferase/luciferin reaction | Orthotopic and heterotopic | Osteosarcoma, breast, ovarian cancers | (53, 59, 60, 63, 71, 72) | (51, 73) |
| Fluorescent-live imaging | GFP or fluorescent dye labeling of membrane | Fluorescence from fluorescent proteins or fluorescent dyes | Orthotopic and heterotopic | Glioblastoma, gliomas, breast, colon carcinoma | (62, 64, 65, 74–77) | (52, 62, 64, 65) |
| PET | Genetic modification of cells (PET reporter gene) or uptake of radioisotope labels | Positron-emitting radionucleotides | Heterotopic | Colon cancer, clear cell sarcoma | (65, 72, 78–81) | |
| MRI | Magnetic nanoparticles added to cells or coupled to ligands | Superparamagnetic iron oxide contrast agent, internalized iron, metal chelates, etc. | Orthotopic and heterotopic | Melanoma, gliomas | (78, 82) | |
| SPECT | Uptake of radioisotope labels | Radionucleotides (gamma-emitting radioisotopes) | Heterotopic | Breast cancer | (81, 83) | |

identification of soluble mediators of the indirect communication between MSC and tumour cells. To summarise, cancer cells frequently secrete IL-1 and TGF-B which switch MSC to a proinflammatory phenotype (85, 86), and the monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) which stimulates MSC migration (87). Conversely, MSC produce a plethora of cytokines which, in turn, modulates cancer cell behaviour: IL-6 and IL-8 that promote tumour cell proliferation, survival, migration, and invasion of different tumour cells (26, 88-90), CCL5 that support metastasis in several cancers (52, 91-93), the pro-angiogenic cytokine VEGF that enhances tumour growth and metastasis (94, 95), and TGFβ that fosters tumour invasion and metastasis via EMT (96). Cell communication within the tumour microenvironment is mediated also by exosomes, extracellular nanovesicles that deliver a functional cargo of proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (97). Tumour-derived exosomes are able to co-opt and reprogram MSC by enhancing their pro-tumourigenic functions, including the pro-angiogenic activity and the production of the proinflammatory cytokines IL6 (51, 98). On the other side, exosomes derived from MSC are able to influence tumour development (99), and to increase the tumour stemness (100). Besides, several metabolites, like glutamine, lactate, and ketone bodies, that are released both by tumours cells and by MSC in the extracellular space might fuel the energetic metabolism of cells of the TME (101) or may act as signalling molecules, ultimately stimulating cancer motility, survival, or self-renewal (2, 102-106). Also in osteosarcoma, we recently demonstrated that tumour cells cause an oxidative stress in MSC that, in response, acquire a Warburg phenotype and produce a large amount of lactate.

In this context, it is worth to highlight that the *in vitro* conditions, both 2D and 3D, might induce secretory modifications *per se* (107), thereby affecting the interpretation of results, like by using experimental conditions that can

unintentionally exert a stressing stimulus for the cells. Thus, we suggest to evaluate results by considering cells, secretome, and three-dimension as an integrated whole. This add complexity to the system, and careful attention has to be paid when setting up the experiment according to the specific aim and during the interpretation of data.

CONCLUSIONS

Several model systems are now available to characterize the MSC-tumour interplay in the TME. These offer early promise in establishing robust preclinical platforms for the identification of crucial molecular pathways and for the assessment of clinical efficacy of novel drugs to inhibit cancer development and progression. However, selection of the right model for a given study should be shaped on the purpose, and should also consider fixed biological, biochemical, and biophysical parameters according to the specific tumour type. Finally, in order to get reliable and useful results to be translated to the clinic, it should be always kept in mind the careful comparisons in the prediction of human outcomes by the developed model.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC IG# 21403 to NB) and by the Ministry of Health 5x1000 fundings (to NB at Rizzoli Orthopaedic Institute).

REFERENCES

- Ronnov-Jessen L, Petersen OW, Bissell MJ. Cellular changes involved in conversion of normal to malignant breast: importance of the stromal reaction. *Physiol Rev.* (1996) 76:69–125. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1996.76.1.69
- Hui L, Chen Y. Tumor microenvironment: Sanctuary of the devil. Cancer Lett. (2015) 368:7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.07.039
- Barclay M, Skipski VP, Terebus-Kekish O, Merker PL, Cappuccino JG. Serum lipoproteins in rats with tumors induced by 9,10-dimethyl-1,2benzanthracene and with transplanted Walker carcinosarcoma 256. *Cancer Res.* (1967) 27:1158–67.
- Borriello L, Nakata R, Sheard MA, Fernandez GE, Sposto R, Malvar J, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts share characteristics and protumorigenic activity with mesenchymal stromal cells. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:5142–57. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2586
- Kalluri R. The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2016) 16:582–98. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Kidd S, Spaeth E, Klopp A, Andreeff M, Hall B, Marini FC. The (in) auspicious role of mesenchymal stromal cells in cancer: be it friend or foe. *Cytotherapy*. (2008) 10:657–67. doi: 10.1080/14653240802486517
- Gok Yavuz B, Gunaydin G, Gedik ME, Kosemehmetoglu K, Karakoc D, Ozgur F, et al. Cancer associated fibroblasts sculpt tumour microenvironment by recruiting monocytes and inducing immunosuppressive PD-1(+) TAMs. Sci Rep. (2019) 9:3172. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39553-z
- Kfoury Y, Scadden DT. Mesenchymal cell contributions to the stem cell niche. Cell Stem Cell. (2015) 16:239–53. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.019
- 9. Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, et al. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature.* (1994) 367:645–8. doi: 10.1038/367645a0
- Gibbs CP, Kukekov VG, Reith JD, Tchigrinova O, Suslov ON, Scott EW, et al. Stem-like cells in bone sarcomas: implications for tumorigenesis. *Neoplasia*. (2005) 7:967–76. doi: 10.1593/neo.05394
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:3983–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.05302 91100
- Ricci-Vitiani L, Lombardi DG, Pilozzi E, Biffoni M, Todaro M, Peschle C, et al. Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. *Nature*. (2007) 445:111–5. doi: 10.1038/nature05384
- Clarke MF, Dick JE, Dirks PB, Eaves CJ, Jamieson CH, Jones DL, et al. Cancer stem cells-perspectives on current status and future directions: AACR Workshop on cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:9339–44. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3126
- 14. Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1124–34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409
- Shamai Y, Alperovich DC, Yakhini Z, Skorecki K, Tzukerman M. Reciprocal reprogramming of cancer cells and associated mesenchymal stem cells in gastric cancer. *Stem Cells.* (2019) 37:176–89. doi: 10.1002/stem.2942
- Yang Y, Otte A, Hass R. Human mesenchymal stroma/stem cells exchange membrane proteins and alter functionality during interaction with different tumor cell lines. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2015) 24:1205–22. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0413
- Wei HJ, Nickoloff JA, Chen WH, Liu HY, Lo WC, Chang YT, et al. FOXF1 mediates mesenchymal stem cell fusion-induced reprogramming of lung cancer cells. *Oncotarget*. (2014) 5:9514–29. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2413
- Xue J, Zhu Y, Sun Z, Ji R, Zhang X, Xu W, et al. Tumorigenic hybrids between mesenchymal stem cells and gastric cancer cells enhanced cancer proliferation, migration and stemness. *BMC Cancer*. (2015) 15:793. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1780-1
- Melzer C, Yang Y, Hass R. Interaction of MSC with tumor cells. *Cell Commun* Signal. (2016) 14:20. doi: 10.1186/s12964-016-0143-0
- Melzer C, von der Ohe J, Lehnert H, Ungefroren H, Hass R. Cancer stem cell niche models and contribution by mesenchymal stroma/stem cells. *Mol Cancer*. (2017) 16:28. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0595-x
- Sottile F, Aulicino F, Theka I, Cosma MP. Mesenchymal stem cells generate distinct functional hybrids *in vitro* via cell fusion or entosis. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36863. doi: 10.1038/srep36863

- Cortini M, Avnet S, Baldini N. Mesenchymal stroma: role in osteosarcoma progression. *Cancer Lett.* (2017) 405:90–9. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.07.024
- Fessler E, Dijkgraaf FE, De Sousa EMF, Medema JP. Cancer stem cell dynamics in tumor progression and metastasis: is the microenvironment to blame? *Cancer Lett.* (2013) 341:97–104. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.10.015
- Mani SA, Guo W, Liao MJ, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, et al. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell.* (2008) 133:704–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027
- Salerno M, Avnet S, Bonuccelli G, Eramo A, De Maria R, Gambarotti M, et al. Sphere-forming cell subsets with cancer stem cell properties in human musculoskeletal sarcomas. *Int J Oncol.* (2013) 43:95–102. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2013.1927
- Cortini M, Massa A, Avnet S, Bonuccelli G, Baldini N. Tumoractivated mesenchymal stromal cells promote osteosarcoma stemness and migratory potential via IL-6 secretion. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0166500. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166500
- Zhang H, Wu H, Zheng J, Yu P, Xu L, Jiang P, et al. Transforming growth factor beta1 signal is crucial for dedifferentiation of cancer cells to cancer stem cells in osteosarcoma. *Stem Cells.* (2013) 31:433–46. doi: 10.1002/stem.1298
- Iser IC, Ceschini SM, Onzi GR, Bertoni AP, Lenz G, Wink MR. Conditioned medium from adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) promotes epithelialto-mesenchymal-like transition (EMT-Like) in glioma cells *in vitro*. *Mol Neurobiol*. (2016) 53:7184–99. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9585-4
- Hernanda PY, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, van der Laan LJ, Broker ME, Hoogduijn MJ, Ijzermans JN, et al. Tumor promotion through the mesenchymal stem cell compartment in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis.* (2013) 34:2330–40. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt210
- Sasser AK, Sullivan NJ, Studebaker AW, Hendey LF, Axel AE, Hall BM. Interleukin-6 is a potent growth factor for ER-alpha-positive human breast cancer. *FASEB J.* (2007) 21:3763–70. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-8832com
- Avnet S, Di Pompo G, Chano T, Errani C, Ibrahim-Hashim A, Gillies RJ, et al. Cancer-associated mesenchymal stroma fosters the stemness of osteosarcoma cells in response to intratumoral acidosis via NF-kappaB activation. *Int J Cancer*. (2017) 140:1331–45. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30540
- 32. Chiovaro F, Martina E, Bottos A, Scherberich A, Hynes NE, Chiquet-Ehrismann R. Transcriptional regulation of tenascin-W by TGF-beta signaling in the bone metastatic niche of breast cancer cells. *Int J Cancer.* (2015) 137:1842–54. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29565
- Caicedo A, Fritz V, Brondello JM, Ayala M, Dennemont I, Abdellaoui N, et al. MitoCeption as a new tool to assess the effects of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell mitochondria on cancer cell metabolism and function. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:9073. doi: 10.1038/srep09073
- Bonuccelli G, Avnet S, Grisendi G, Salerno M, Granchi D, Dominici M, et al. Role of mesenchymal stem cells in osteosarcoma and metabolic reprogramming of tumor cells. *Oncotarget.* (2014) 5:7575–88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2243
- 35. Molloy AP, Martin FT, Dwyer RM, Griffin TP, Murphy M, Barry FP, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell secretion of chemokines during differentiation into osteoblasts, and their potential role in mediating interactions with breast cancer cells. *Int J Cancer.* (2009) 124:326–32. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23939
- Ishiguro T, Ohata H, Sato A, Yamawaki K, Enomoto T, Okamoto K. Tumorderived spheroids: Relevance to cancer stem cells and clinical applications. *Cancer Sci.* (2017) 108:283–9. doi: 10.1111/cas.13155
- Lin RZ, Chang HY. Recent advances in three-dimensional multicellular spheroid culture for biomedical research. *Biotechnol J.* (2008) 3:1172–84. doi: 10.1002/biot.200700228
- Yamada KM, Cukierman E. Modeling tissue morphogenesis and cancer in 3D. Cell. (2007) 130:601–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.006
- Hirschhaeuser F, Menne H, Dittfeld C, West J, Mueller-Klieser W, Kunz-Schughart LA. Multicellular tumor spheroids: an underestimated tool is catching up again. J Biotechnol. (2010) 148:3–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2010.01.012
- Kim JB. Three-dimensional tissue culture models in cancer biology. Semin Cancer Biol. (2005) 15:365–77. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2005.05.002
- Breslin S, O'Driscoll L. Three-dimensional cell culture: the missing link in drug discovery. Drug Discov Today. (2013) 18:240–9. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2012.10.003

- Saforo D, Omer L, Smolenkov A, Barve A, Casson L, Boyd N, et al. Primary lung cancer samples cultured under microenvironment-mimetic conditions enrich for mesenchymal stem-like cells that promote metastasis. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:4177. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40519-4
- Zhang YS, Duchamp M, Oklu R, Ellisen LW, Langer R, Khademhosseini A. Bioprinting the Cancer Microenvironment. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. (2016) 2:1710–21. doi: 10.1021/acsbiomaterials.6b00246
- 44. Braham MVJ, Ahlfeld T, Akkineni AR, Minnema MC, Dhert WJA, Oner FC, et al. Endosteal and perivascular subniches in a 3D bone marrow model for multiple myeloma. *Tissue Eng Part C Methods*. (2018) 24:300–12. doi: 10.1089/ten.tec.2017.0467
- Portillo-Lara R, Annabi N. Microengineered cancer-on-a-chip platforms to study the metastatic microenvironment. *Lab Chip.* (2016) 16:4063–81. doi: 10.1039/C6LC00718J
- Chung M, Ahn J, Son K, Kim S, Jeon NL. Biomimetic model of tumor microenvironment on microfluidic platform. *Adv Healthc Mater*. (2017) 6:196. doi: 10.1002/adhm.201700196
- 47. Hao Y, Zhang L, He J, Guo Z, Ying L, Xu Z, et al. Functional investigation of NCI-H460-inducible myofibroblasts on the chemoresistance to VP-16 with a microfluidic 3D co-culture device. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e61754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061754
- Narkhede AA, Shevde LA, Rao SS. Biomimetic strategies to recapitulate organ specific microenvironments for studying breast cancer metastasis. *Int J Cancer*. (2017) 141:1091–109. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30748
- Houshmand M, Soleimani M, Atashi A, Saglio G, Abdollahi M, Nikougoftar Zarif M. Mimicking the acute myeloid leukemia niche for molecular study and drug screening. *Tissue Eng Part C Methods*. (2017) 23:72–85. doi: 10.1089/ten.tec.2016.0404
- Bersini S, Jeon JS, Dubini G, Arrigoni C, Chung S, Charest JL, et al. A microfluidic 3D *in vitro* model for specificity of breast cancer metastasis to bone. *Biomaterials.* (2014) 35:2454–61. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.11.050
- Baglio SR, Lagerweij T, Perez-Lanzon M, Ho XD, Leveille N, Melo SA, et al. Blocking tumor-educated MSC paracrine activity halts osteosarcoma progression. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:3721–33. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2726
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature*. (2007) 449:557–63. doi: 10.1038/nature 06188
- Liu S, Ginestier C, Ou SJ, Clouthier SG, Patel SH, Monville F, et al. Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:614–24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0538
- Zhang P, Dong L, Long H, Yang TT, Zhou Y, Fan QY, et al. Homologous mesenchymal stem cells promote the emergence and growth of pulmonary metastases of the rat osteosarcoma cell line UMR-106. Oncol Lett. (2014) 8:127–32. doi: 10.3892/ol.2014.2127
- 55. Ke CC, Liu RS, Suetsugu A, Kimura H, Ho JH, Lee OK, et al. In vivo fluorescence imaging reveals the promotion of mammary tumorigenesis by mesenchymal stromal cells. PLoS ONE. (2013) 8:e69658. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069658
- Fregni G, Quinodoz M, Moller E, Vuille J, Galland S, Fusco C, et al. Reciprocal modulation of mesenchymal stem cells and tumor cells promotes lung cancer metastasis. *EBioMedicine*. (2018) 29:128–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.02.017
- Kucerova L, Matuskova M, Hlubinova K, Altanerova V, Altaner C. Tumor cell behaviour modulation by mesenchymal stromal cells. *Mol Cancer*. (2010) 9:129. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-129
- Avril P, Le Nail LR, Brennan MA, Rosset P, De Pinieux G, Layrolle P, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells increase proliferation but do not change quiescent state of osteosarcoma cells: potential implications according to the tumor resection status. *J Bone Oncol.* (2016) 5:5–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jbo.2015. 11.002
- Wang H, Cao F, De A, Cao Y, Contag C, Gambhir SS, et al. Trafficking mesenchymal stem cell engraftment and differentiation in tumorbearing mice by bioluminescence imaging. *Stem Cells.* (2009) 27:1548–58. doi: 10.1002/stem.81

- Klopp AH, Spaeth EL, Dembinski JL, Woodward WA, Munshi A, Meyn RE, et al. Tumor irradiation increases the recruitment of circulating mesenchymal stem cells into the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:11687–95. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1406
- Xin H, Sun R, Kanehira M, Takahata T, Itoh J, Mizuguchi H, et al. Intratracheal delivery of CX3CL1-expressing mesenchymal stem cells to multiple lung tumors. *Mol Med.* (2009) 15:321–7. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2009.00059
- Nakamizo A, Marini F, Amano T, Khan A, Studeny M, Gumin J, et al. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of gliomas. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:3307–18. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1874
- Komarova S, Roth J, Alvarez R, Curiel DT, Pereboeva L. Targeting of mesenchymal stem cells to ovarian tumors via an artificial receptor. *J Ovarian Res.* (2010) 3:12. doi: 10.1186/1757-2215-3-12
- Goldstein RH, Reagan MR, Anderson K, Kaplan DL, Rosenblatt M. Human bone marrow-derived MSCs can home to orthotopic breast cancer tumors and promote bone metastasis. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:10044–50. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1254
- Hung SC, Deng WP, Yang WK, Liu RS, Lee CC, Su TC, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell targeting of microscopic tumors and tumor stroma development monitored by noninvasive *in vivo* positron emission tomography imaging. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:7749–56. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0876
- 66. Loebinger MR, Kyrtatos PG, Turmaine M, Price AN, Pankhurst Q, Lythgoe MF, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of mesenchymal stem cells homing to pulmonary metastases using biocompatible magnetic nanoparticles. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:8862–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1912
- Karp JM, Leng Teo GS. Mesenchymal stem cell homing: the devil is in the details. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2009) 4:206–16. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2009.02.001
- Kean TJ, Lin P, Caplan AI, Dennis JE. MSCs: Delivery routes and engraftment, cell-targeting strategies, and immune modulation. *Stem Cells Int.* (2013) 2013:732742. doi: 10.1155/2013/732742
- Eggenhofer E, Benseler V, Kroemer A, Popp FC, Geissler EK, Schlitt HJ, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells are short-lived and do not migrate beyond the lungs after intravenous infusion. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:297. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00297
- Braid LR, Wood CA, Wiese DM, Ford BN. Intramuscular administration potentiates extended dwell time of mesenchymal stromal cells compared to other routes. *Cytotherapy*. (2018) 20:232–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.09.013
- Kidd S, Spaeth E, Dembinski JL, Dietrich M, Watson K, Klopp A, et al. Direct evidence of mesenchymal stem cell tropism for tumor and wounding microenvironments using *in vivo* bioluminescent imaging. *Stem Cells.* (2009) 27:2614–23. doi: 10.1002/stem.187
- Love Z, Wang F, Dennis J, Awadallah A, Salem N, Lin Y, et al. Imaging of mesenchymal stem cell transplant by bioluminescence and PET. *J Nucl Med.* (2007) 48:2011–20. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.107.043166
- Kim JB, Urban K, Cochran E, Lee S, Ang A, Rice B, et al. Non-invasive detection of a small number of bioluminescent cancer cells *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e9364. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009364
- 74. Pacioni S, D'Alessandris QG, Giannetti S, Morgante L, Cocce V, Bonomi A, et al. Human mesenchymal stromal cells inhibit tumor growth in orthotopic glioblastoma xenografts. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2017) 8:53. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0516-3
- Bexell D, Gunnarsson S, Tormin A, Darabi A, Gisselsson D, Roybon L, et al. Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stroma cells act as pericytelike migratory vehicles in experimental gliomas. *Mol Ther.* (2009) 17:183-90. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.229
- 76. Wang N, Fallavollita L, Nguyen L, Burnier J, Rafei M, Galipeau J, et al. Autologous bone marrow stromal cells genetically engineered to secrete an igf-I receptor decoy prevent the growth of liver metastases. *Mol Ther.* (2009) 17:1241–9. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.82
- 77. Pavon LF, Sibov TT, de Souza AV, da Cruz EF, Malheiros SMF, Cabral FR, et al. Tropism of mesenchymal stem cell toward CD133(+) stem cell of glioblastoma *in vitro* and promote tumor proliferation *in vivo. Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2018) 9:310. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-1049-0
- Patel D, Kell A, Simard B, Xiang B, Lin HY, Tian G. The cell labeling efficacy, cytotoxicity and relaxivity of copper-activated MRI/PET imaging contrast agents. *Biomaterials.* (2011) 32:1167–76. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.10.013

- Yaghoubi SS, Gambhir SS. PET imaging of herpes simplex virus type 1 thymidine kinase (HSV1-tk) or mutant HSV1-sr39tk reporter gene expression in mice and humans using [18F]FHBG. *Nat Protoc.* (2006) 1:3069–75. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.459
- Schonitzer V, Haasters F, Kasbauer S, Ulrich V, Mille E, Gildehaus FJ, et al. *In vivo* mesenchymal stem cell tracking with PET using the dopamine type 2 receptor and 18F-fallypride. *J Nucl Med.* (2014) 55:1342–7. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.113.134775
- Lim M, Wang W, Liang L, Han ZB, Li Z, Geng J, et al. Intravenous injection of allogeneic umbilical cord-derived multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells reduces the infarct area and ameliorates cardiac function in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2018) 9:129. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-0888-z
- Wu X, Hu J, Zhou L, Mao Y, Yang B, Gao L, et al. *In vivo* tracking of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle-labeled mesenchymal stem cell tropism to malignant gliomas using magnetic resonance imaging. Laboratory investigation. *J Neurosurg.* (2008) 108:320–9. doi: 10.3171/JNS/2008/108/2/0320
- Dwyer RM, Ryan J, Havelin RJ, Morris JC, Miller BW, Liu Z, et al. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-mediated delivery of the sodium iodide symporter supports radionuclide imaging and treatment of breast cancer. *Stem Cells.* (2011) 29:1149–57. doi: 10.1002/stem.665
- Compte M, Cuesta AM, Sanchez-Martin D, Alonso-Camino V, Vicario JL, Sanz L, et al. Tumor immunotherapy using gene-modified human mesenchymal stem cells loaded into synthetic extracellular matrix scaffolds. *Stem Cells.* (2009) 27:753–60. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2008-0831
- Li HJ, Reinhardt F, Herschman HR, Weinberg RA. Cancerstimulated mesenchymal stem cells create a carcinoma stem cell niche via prostaglandin E2 signaling. *Cancer Discov.* (2012) 2:840–55. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0101
- Tu B, Peng ZX, Fan QM, Du L, Yan W, Tang TT. Osteosarcoma cells promote the production of pro-tumor cytokines in mesenchymal stem cells by inhibiting their osteogenic differentiation through the TGF-beta/Smad2/3 pathway. *Exp Cell Res.* (2014) 320:164–73. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2013.10.013
- Dwyer RM, Potter-Beirne SM, Harrington KA, Lowery AJ, Hennessy E, Murphy JM, et al. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 secreted by primary breast tumors stimulates migration of mesenchymal stem cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2007) 13:5020–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0731
- Touboul C, Lis R, Al Farsi H, Raynaud CM, Warfa M, Althawadi H, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance ovarian cancer cell infiltration through IL6 secretion in an amniochorionic membrane based 3D model. *J Transl Med.* (2013) 11:28. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-28
- Walter M, Liang S, Ghosh S, Hornsby PJ, Li R. Interleukin 6 secreted from adipose stromal cells promotes migration and invasion of breast cancer cells. *Oncogene.* (2009) 28:2745–55. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.130
- Sansone P, Storci G, Tavolari S, Guarnieri T, Giovannini C, Taffurelli M, et al. IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:3988–4002. doi: 10.1172/JCI32533
- Mi Z, Bhattacharya SD, Kim VM, Guo H, Talbot LJ, Kuo PC. Osteopontin promotes CCL5-mesenchymal stromal cell-mediated breast cancer metastasis. *Carcinogenesis*. (2011) 32:477–87. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgr009
- 92. Luo J, Ok Lee S, Liang L, Huang CK, Li L, Wen S, et al. Infiltrating bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells increase prostate cancer stem cell population and metastatic ability via secreting cytokines to suppress androgen receptor signaling. *Oncogene*. (2014) 33:2768–78. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.233
- Xu WT, Bian ZY, Fan QM, Li G, Tang TT. Human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) target osteosarcoma and promote its growth and pulmonary metastasis. *Cancer Lett.* (2009) 281:32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2009.02.022

- Beckermann BM, Kallifatidis G, Groth A, Frommhold D, Apel A, Mattern J, et al. VEGF expression by mesenchymal stem cells contributes to angiogenesis in pancreatic carcinoma. *Br J Cancer.* (2008) 99:622–31. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604508
- 95. Zhang K, Shi B, Chen J, Zhang D, Zhu Y, Zhou C, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induce angiogenesis and promote bladder cancer growth in a rabbit model. *Urol Int.* (2010) 84:94–9. doi: 10.1159/000 273474
- 96. Xu J, Lamouille S, Derynck R. TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *Cell Res.* (2009) 19:156–72. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.5
- Ruivo CF, Adem B, Silva M, Melo SA. The biology of cancer exosomes: insights and new perspectives. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:6480–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0994
- Whiteside TL. Exosome and mesenchymal stem cell cross-talk in the tumor microenvironment. *Semin Immunol.* (2018) 35:69–79. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2017.12.003
- 99. Qi J, Zhou Y, Jiao Z, Wang X, Zhao Y, Li Y, et al. Exosomes derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote tumor growth through hedgehog signaling pathway. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2017) 42:2242–54. doi: 10.1159/000479998
- 100. Li H, Li F. Exosomes from BM-MSCs increase the population of CSCs via transfer of miR-142-3p. Br J Cancer. (2018) 119:744–55. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0254-z
- 101. Wilde L, Roche M, Domingo-Vidal M, Tanson K, Philp N, Curry J, et al. Metabolic coupling and the Reverse Warburg Effect in cancer: Implications for novel biomarker and anticancer agent development. *Semin Oncol.* (2017) 44:198–203. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2017.10.004
- Corbet C, Feron O. Cancer cell metabolism and mitochondria: nutrient plasticity for TCA cycle fueling. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*. (2017) 1868:7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2017.01.002
- 103. Danhier P, Banski P, Payen VL, Grasso D, Ippolito L, Sonveaux P, et al. Cancer metabolism in space and time: beyond the Warburg effect. *Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg.* (2017) 1858:556–72. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2017.02.001
- 104. Chiarugi P, Cirri P. Metabolic exchanges within tumor microenvironment. Cancer Lett. (2016) 380:272–80. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015. 10.027
- 105. Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Lisanti MP, Sotgia F. Catabolic cancerassociated fibroblasts transfer energy and biomass to anabolic cancer cells, fueling tumor growth. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2014) 25:47–60. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.01.005
- 106. Fiaschi T, Marini A, Giannoni E, Taddei ML, Gandellini P, De Donatis A, et al. Reciprocal metabolic reprogramming through lactate shuttle coordinately influences tumor-stroma interplay. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:5130– 40. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1949
- 107. Vizoso FJ, Eiro N, Cid S, Schneider J, Perez-Fernandez R. Mesenchymal stem cell secretome: toward cell-free therapeutic strategies in regenerative medicine. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:1852. doi: 10.3390/ijms1 8091852

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Avnet, Lemma, Cortini, Di Pompo, Perut and Baldini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





NAMPT as a Dedifferentiation-Inducer Gene: NAD⁺ as Core Axis for Glioma Cancer Stem-Like Cells Maintenance

Antonio Lucena-Cacace¹, Masayuki Umeda¹, Lola E. Navas^{2,3} and Amancio Carnero^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Cell Growth and Differentiation, Center for iPS Cell Research and Application, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan, ² CIBERONC, ISCIII, Madrid, Spain, ³ Instituto de Biomedicina de Sevilla (IBIS), Hospital Universitario Virgen del Rocío (HUVR), CSIC, Universidad de Sevilla, Spain

Glioma Cancer Stem-Like Cells (GSCs) are a small subset of CD133⁺ cells with self-renewal properties and capable of initiating new tumors contributing to Glioma progression, maintenance, hierarchy, and complexity. GSCs are highly resistant to chemo and radiotherapy. These cells are believed to be responsible for tumor relapses and patients' fatal outcome after developing a recurrent Glioblastoma (GBM) or High Grade Glioma (HGG). GSCs are cells under replicative stress with high demands on NAD⁺ supply to repair DNA, maintain self-renewal capacity and to induce tumor plasticity. NAD⁺ feeds Poly-ADP polymerases (PARP) and NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases (SIRTUINS) contributing to GSC phenotype. This energetic core axis is mainly controlled by the rate-limiting enzyme nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), an important oncogene contributing to tumor dedifferentiation. Targeting GSCs depicts a new frontier in Glioma therapy; hence NAMPT could represent a key regulator for GSCs maintenance. Its inhibition may attenuate GSCs properties by decreasing NAD⁺ supply, consequently contributing to a better outcome together with current therapies for Glioma control.

Keywords: NAD, NAMPT, Glioma, GSCs, PARP, SIRT, TMZ, GBM

INTRODUCTION

Gliomas are the most prevalent primary brain cancer in adults. Arising from glia cells, Gliomas involve a broad category of tumors including astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, and glioblastoma (GBM). Regardless of tumor aggressiveness, malignancy and infiltration, these glia-derived tumors rarely exceed a median survival time of 12–14 months (1, 2). Driven by the infiltrative nature of these tumors, the clinical approach is difficult and relapses often occur with fatal consequences.

Therapeutic responses and patient survival rely on intratumoral heterogeneity ruled by genetic and epigenetic effectors. Nonetheless, there are many physiological barriers to the development of successful treatments. Blood-brain barrier (BBB) is a major limitation when it comes to deliver a chemotherapy-based treatment. Surgical resection is an ineffective long-term procedure since Gliomas infiltrate together with healthy brain tissue and their resection become virtually impossible. Invasive procedures compromise the patient's life quality and radiotherapy drives harmful side effects. As a final outcome, gliomas ultimately relapse in highly radio- and chemo-resistant forms.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Silvia Garavaglia, University of Eastern Piedmont, Italy Jun Yoshino, Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, United States Versha Banerji, University of Manitoba, Canada

*Correspondence:

Amancio Carnero acarnero-ibis@us.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 07 January 2019 Accepted: 29 March 2019 Published: 02 May 2019

Citation:

Lucena-Cacace A, Umeda M, Navas LE and Carnero A (2019) NAMPT as a Dedifferentiation-Inducer Gene: NAD⁺ as Core Axis for Glioma Cancer Stem-Like Cells Maintenance. Front. Oncol. 9:292. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00292

92

These unsuccessful attempts to control glioma's fate have fostered research looking for more effective therapies.

Glioma Stem-like cells (GSCs) are Cancer initiating cells (CICs) maintaining self-renewal properties, sustaining cellular hierarchy, and partially explaining the tumor heterogeneity since they maintain a progeny responsible for tumor complexity (3, 4). GSCs express certain stem cell-like markers and were first characterized as CD133⁺ cells able to initiate new tumors in mice (5). GSCs are chemo- and radio resistant, contributing to tumor relapse. Hence, targeting the molecular networks controlling GSCs maintenance is a promising new treatment frontier for glioma control.

According to the most recent World Health Organization for Glioma classification, GBM is labeled as a grade IV glioma (6). Although GBM often originates from 5 different cell types, neuronal stem cells, transit amplification cells, glial/neural progenitors, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes (Figure 1), it may be classified into two types depending on its severity: primary and secondary GBM. A low grade diffuse astrocytoma (Grade II glioma) or an anaplastic astrocytoma (Grade III glioma) might evolve to a secondary GBM (Figure 1). Counting up to 95% of total cases, primary GBM tumors are the most frequent. Since primary and secondary GBMs display a markedly micro vascularization and high mitotic activity, they are mostly indistinguishable histologically. High mitotic activity turns Gliomas in very fast growing tumors. Since the growth rate is often greater than its angiogenesis capacity, the tumor's core is often hypoxic and necrotic (7). Nonetheless, secondary GBMs only count for 5% of the total cases.

Representing up to 16% of brain tumors, GBM risk and incidence are age-related. Normally it affects an average of 7.2 individuals per 100,000 adults aged 19 and above. Nonetheless, 14.6 individuals per 100,000 are aged between 74 and 84, representing the highest incidence peak (7).

Regardless of gender, GBM patient prognosis rarely exceeds 12 months after diagnosis. Nonetheless, GBM shows gender preference, being 40% more frequent in men (1, 2). Broadly, the standard therapeutic strategy for Gliomas consists of a primary resection surgery followed by radiotherapy and chemotherapy. However, since surgery is virtually unable to remove the neoplastic tissue, GSCs will ultimately reconstitute the whole tumor, leading to the consequence that 100% of patients end up with a relapse of the tumor in a peripheral area up to 2 cm from the focus of origin.

Following surgery, radiotherapy is often applied with Temozolomide (TMZ) as an adjuvant treatment. TMZ is a DNA alkylating agent able to permeate through the brain blood barrier (8). Since the early 2000s, it has been one of the few FDA approved drugs for GBM control, providing a survival advantage of 2.5 months. Recently, FDA approved Bevacizumab and Lomustine for recurrent GBM and Carmustine wafer for newly diagnosed high grade-malignant glioma (HGG) and recurrent GBM. To date, all these new treatments show inconclusive results regarding the benefits or survival advantages over TMZ, merely providing disease-related symptoms.

Even though treatments in other cancers have greatly evolved in recent years, the clinical approach to Glioma treatment remains challenging. Despite treatment, <5% of patients survive more than 5 years after the diagnosis.

An unmonitored cluster of gene expression data from 200 GBM samples from TCGA in 2011 established four subtypes of GBM according to their molecular profile: Proneural, Classical, Mesenchymal, and Neural (9, 10).

Proneural subtype is characterized by abnormalities in platelet-derived growth factor alpha receptor (PDGFRA) or in isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1). The Classical subtype is mainly characterized by mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). Mesenchymal subtype features mutations in neurofibromine 1 (NF1). Neural subtype was not completely defined but it is known to contain amplification and overexpression of EGFR. Nonetheless, molecular markers defining the neural subtype of GBM could be contaminated with normal neural tissue in the tumor margin, thus not representing a true subtype.

The mutational spectrum of GBM is varied. They are highly molecularly complex tumors and the number of coding mutations per tumor sample is assorted.

Ranging from 3 to 179 mutations per tumor, the average mutational burden per tumor is 53 (9). The most frequent mutations in GBMs are PTEN (29%), TP53 (29%), EGFR (20%), 21 NF1 (9%), RB1 (8%), phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate alpha catalytic subunit - 3- kinase (PIK3CA; 7%), regulatory subunit 1 of 3-phosphoinositide (PIK3R1; 6%), and IDH1(5%) (11, 12).

All GBM subtypes and HGGs have in common a deep dependence on glucose consumption as the main source of metabolic energy. Gliomas are highly metabolic and rely on glycolytic pathways. This is why most gliomas may have a strong dependence on NAD⁺ metabolism as the main intermediary in the reduction-oxidation reactions (13, 14). Additionally, GSCs are cells under replicative stress with high demands on NAD⁺ supply to repair DNA, maintain self-renewal capacity and to induce tumor plasticity. NAD⁺ feeds PARP and SIRTUINS contributing to GSC phenotype. This energetic core axis is mainly controlled by the rate-limiting enzyme NAMPT, an important oncogene contributing to tumor dedifferentiation.

In addition, NAMPT is particularly overexpressed in mesenchymal GSCs, where its expression is correlated to a hypomethylation state driven by depletion of methionine and *de novo* methyltransferases, sustaining mesenchymal GSCs rapid growth and NAM consumption to support NAD⁺ utilization and sustain DNA hypomethylation (15), another marker of poor GBM prognosis.

In this review we will explore the importance of NAD⁺ as core axis for Glioma Cancer Stem-Like Cells maintenance and how targeting NAMPT over GSCs could represent a promising new frontier therapy for Glioma control.

MALIGNANT CLONAL EVOLUTION ON GLIOMAS

Intertumoral diversity relies on a particular clonal evolution driven by a cell of origin acquiring cancer-initiating capacity



(Figure 1) (16). Whether specific glioma cells of origin are susceptible to certain cancer-initiating mutations driving to GSCs is unclear. Nonetheless, there are many studies suggesting that certain progenitors and stem cells are markedly susceptible to a variety of different mutations (Figure 1) (17). Some cells of origins might potentially display a preferential vulnerability to specific mutations. To note, TCGA molecular subtypes are augmented for lineage markers characteristic of distinct gliaderived cell types, suggesting that molecular and/or epigenetic profiles of the Glioma initiating cell are maintained during tumorigenesis (18). Clonal evolution on Gliomas can be an important determinant defining tumor phenotype and genotype in both GBM and HGGs. Nonetheless, given the diversity of driver mutations representing different subtypes of GBM, the contribution of the cancer initiating cell is unknown (Figure 1) (11). Indeed, recent studies in adult neural stem cells (NSCs) and oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) reveal that they might have different transformation capacity as a cellular origin candidacy since their self-renewal capacity in the adult human brain is again under re-evaluation (19). Any cell type out of the five candidates to drive into a primary GBM can evolve to a defined molecular GBM subtype, mainly depending on their driver mutation leading to the cancer-initiating phenotype (19) (Figure 1). Since single GBM cells are not mere genetic phenocopies, analyses from tumor cells taken from the same patient show notably heterogeneous tumors consisting of mutant cells carrying different genetic burden, expression of different cell markers and different levels of aneuploidy (20). The inherent heterogeneity and complexity of GBM, HGG, and GSCs show a variable expression of transcriptional programs embracing different cellular processes involving cell cycle, hypoxia, and immune signaling (10).

Alterations such as chromosomal aberrations, genomic rearrangements, and focal copy number aberrations can give rise to GSCs and eventually to a glioma.

GSCs are a subpopulation of cells that explain part of tumor heterogeneity. Circulating GSCs also display stem cell-like properties (21). They are cells with capacity for differentiation and self-renewal, responsible for the hierarchical clonal development and able to regenerate *de novo* tumor from a single cell. The metabolism of NAD⁺ could play a relevant role in the mechanisms associated with chemoresistance in CICs and their maintenance mechanisms.

NICOTINAMIDE ADENINE DINUCLEOTIDE METABOLISM

Four major molecules are used as substrates for the synthesis of NAD⁺. These molecules are dietary tryptophan (L-Trp), nicotinic acid (NA), nicotinamide (NAM), and nicotinamide riboside (NR) (22).

These four major metabolic molecules are involved in the synthesis of NAD^+ through two major pathways:

De Novo Pathway and Salvage Pathway. Some metabolic intermediates such as nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) might also stimulate the direct synthesis of NAD⁺ (**Figure 2**) (23, 24).

De novo synthesis of NAD+ takes place intracellularly in an eight-step reaction (25-29). This pathway takes the L-Trp acquired through daily diet as a conversion molecule when obtaining NAD⁺. Tryptophan-derived quinolinic acid is produced and used by quinolinate phosphoribosyl transferase (NAPT) to form nicotinic acid mononucleotide (NAMN). NAMN is converted to nicotinic acid adenine mononucleotide (NAAD) in a NMN adenylyltransferase (NMNAT) -mediated reaction with ATP consumption (25). There are three isoforms of NMNAT (NMNAT 1-3) with different tissue and cellular locations depending on the metabolic requirements (30). NMNAT-1 is an ubiquitously expressed nuclear protein. NMNAT-2 is normally present in the golgi apparatus and the cytosol (31-35). NMNAT-3 may be present in both the cytosol and mitochondrial compartments. The efficiency of obtaining NAD⁺ by dietary tryptophan is very low compared to that obtained by the Salvage pathway.

This NAD⁺ synthesis pathway is also known as the Preiss-Handler pathway. In this pathway the NAD⁺ is generated from Niacin (Vitamin B3) in a three-step reaction (36). NAM can also be a precursor of NAD⁺ through its conversion to NMN by the limiting enzyme nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase (NAMPT). NMN acts as an intermediate by catalyzing the reversible addition of a ribose group from 5-phosphoribosyl-D-ribosyl-1-pyrophosphate to NAM. In the mitochondrial respiratory chain, NADH acts as the main donor of electrons, which end up in the generation of ATP by oxidative phosphorylation (37–39).

The liver is the major organ involving NAD⁺ metabolic activity as it expresses all enzymes for either metabolism or recycling. Hepatic cells can actually convert all its precursors: NA, NAM, and their ribosides as well as L-Trp. For that, NAMPT and NAPRT mRNA levels are particularly high in the liver, so this organ is one of the major NAD⁺ recycling and synthesis engine cores in humans (40, 41).

All tissues have the potential to at least convert NAM and NR into NAD⁺. That is why the NAMPT enzyme and at least two NMNAT isoforms are ubiquitously expressed in all cells and tissues. Some others, such as NMNAT2, are brain specific (42). Other NMNAT isoforms are expressed in a greater proportion in the pancreas, thyroid gland and lymphocytes (31). In mammalian cells, the metabolism of NAD⁺ is compartmentalized. The formation of NAD⁺ from NMN takes place in the nucleus and in the mitochondria (37, 38, 43). These two organelles are particularly important as the most important NAD⁺-dependent intracellular signaling pathways occur in them.

The most important cytosolic NAD⁺ precursor for mitochondrial synthesis is NMN. Therefore, NAD⁺-dependent cellular processes are intimately linked to the most important molecular events that could lead to cancer: genomic alterations, metabolic imbalances, and changes in the transcription patterns of candidate oncogenes or tumor suppressors.

Nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase (NAMPT) is the limiting enzyme of the NAD⁺ Salvage Pathway, the major NAD⁺ source in living cells, being the major contributor to NAD⁺ maintenance, recycling, and homeostasis.



NAMPT is a highly conserved protein among mammals. It was cloned and isolated for the first time in the organism Haemophilus ducreyi and it has been extensively studied.

It was originally characterized as the human homologous protein pre-B cell colony-enhancer factor (PBEF). In its role as PBEF it acts as a cytokine, which stimulates early B cell formation in a synergistic effect with interleukin 7 (IL-7) and stem cell factor (SFC) (44, 45).

The gene encoding NAMPT is found on human chromosome 7, specifically at the 7q22.3 locus. The size of the gene within the DNA is 3.7 kilobases (kb) and contains 11 exons and 10 introns that encode a coding DNA (cDNA) of 2.357 kb. The protein has a weight of 52 kilodaltons (kDa) and contains 491 amino acids (aa) (46). The protein lacks a cellular export signal and also contains 6 cysteine residues, so it has been suggested a structure of the same as zinc finger.

In silico, up to 13 messengers of different NAMPT RNAs (mRNA) are predicted by alternative splicing mechanisms, of which only four have been found at the biological level. Of the four, only the first messenger translating into the 491 amino acid protein is able to make the conversion to its enzymatic product NMN.

NAMPT is expressed in all tissues, with higher levels in bone marrow, liver, and muscle fiber cells, where the energy intake is greater.

The extracellular form of NAMPT, PBEF, or Visfatin is known as extracellular NAMPT (eNAMPT, as opposed to intracellular NAMPT, iNAMPT), an adipocytokine that is expressed in visceral fat tissue and whose circulating levels correlate with obesity (43). The extracellular role of NAMPT is unknown and could have a function of activation or silencing in signaling pathways within the cell other than those related to its enzymatic function such as NAMPT.

As a limiting enzyme of the pathway which plays a key role in the maintenance of intracellular NAD+, NAMPT could be an oncogene contributing to the onset, progression and relapse of cancer (47).

NAMPT IN CANCER

NAMPT is overexpressed in a broad range of solid tumors including colorectal, ovarian, breast, gastric, prostate, well-differentiated thyroid cancers, melanoma, gliomas, and endometrial carcinomas (48–51). Clinically, higher NAMPT expression is associated with worse prognosis correlating with tumor growth, metastases and cellular dedifferentiation in melanoma (52, 53). High levels of NAMPT have been found in hematological malignancies such as diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, follicular B-cell lymphoma, and peripheral T-cell lymphoma. In these tumors, it associates to a more aggressive malignant lymphoma phenotype (54).

Besides, NAMPT levels have been associated to increased chemoresistance to certain therapeutic agents such as doxorubicin, paclitaxel, etoposide, fluorouracil, and phenylethyl isothiocyanate (55, 56).

Many studies have shown that NAD⁺ depletion by NAMPT inhibition causes cell death through apoptosis. Many proapoptotic proteins were found activated when NAMPT is inhibited in leukemias, multiple myeloma, breast cancer, and lymphoma cells (57–64). It has been found that NAMPT inhibition-mediated apoptosis requires functional apoptotic machinery because blocking apoptosis with several factors such as: L-type calcium channels with verapamil or nimodipine, capase 3 with Z-Asp-Glu Val-Asp-fluoromethylketone, capase 9 with Z-Leu-Glu-His-Asp-fluoromethylketone, or the mitochondrial permeability transition with bongkrekic acid blocks the effect of NAMPT inhibition-mediated apoptosis (62, 64).

Three NAMPT inhibitors (APO866/FK866, GMX1778, and GMX1777) entered clinical trials and completed phase I, however, further evaluation was discontinued primarily due to dose-limiting toxicities (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT00457574, NCT00724841, NCT00432107, NCT00435084, NCT00431912).

More enzymes of the salvage pathway have been suggested to be potential therapeutic targets in cancer. Mitochondrial NMNAT3 knockdown had minimal effect over mitochondrial NAD+ levels (37, 65, 66). On the other hand, NMNAT2 cytosolic inhibition decreased mitochondrial NAD+ levels, suggesting that NAD+ in the mitochondrial is partially supported by NAD+ intake from the cytosol (65). However, shortly after it was found that NAMPT inhibition had no effect on mitochondrial NAD⁺ pool, discarding the previous theory, and highlighting the role of NAMPT as the main potential target of the pathway in cancer by depleting NAD⁺ pool (40). NAMPT inhibition seems to be particularly effective over cells harboring naturally high glycolysis (67).

CAUSAL ROLE OF NAD+ IN GLIOMA STEM-LIKE CELLS TRANSFORMATION

NAD⁺ is an important cofactor for cells requiring high energetics demands and helps to maintain a proficient neural function. Indeed, the increase in NAD+ levels shown as Nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase (NNT) and Nicotinamide nucleotide adenylyltransferase 3 (NMNAT3) delays senescence in mesenchymal stem cells (68). In relation, it is known that NAMPT and NAD⁺ biosynthesis decreases with age in the hippocampus (69). Also, NAMPT downregulation and NAD⁺ depletion reduces pool and proliferation of Neural stem progenitor cells (NSPCs) in vivo (70). Increased NR decreases senescence in both neural and melanocyte stem cells by improving mitochondrial function relying on SIRT1 function (68). It has been reported that NAD⁺ replenishment reduces the severity of Ataxia telangiectasia (A-T) neuropathology, normalizing neuro-muscular function, extending lifespan in animal models, and delaying memory loss (71). Moreover, intracellular NAD⁺ levels stimulates neural DNA repair through PARP proteins and improves mitochondrial activity via mitophagy (71).

Cancer cells exhibit a dependency on metabolic pathways regulated by NAD⁺. Nonetheless, the regulatory network interfacing with signal transduction remains poorly understood in GBM and HGG. NAMPT downregulation reduces *in vivo* tumorigenicity (72). Indeed, RNA-seq reveals the transcription factor E2F2 in the center of an NAD⁺-dependent transcriptional

network, required to self-renewal maintenance in GSCs. Interestingly, downstream to E2F2 we can find members of the inhibitor of differentiation (ID) helix-loop-helix gene family (72).

NAMPT and NAD⁺ levels also mediate GSCs radioresistance. NAD⁺ pool decreases with aging and their levels are critical in cell bioenergetics and adaptive stress responses (73).

Another important consequence driven by NAD⁺ supply is the epigenetic reprogramming in tumors. Nicotinamide N-methyltransferase (NNMT) is a critical node in methyl donor metabolism and is markedly upregulated in GBM (15). NNMT is also overexpressed in mesenchymal stem cells. Increases in NNMT lead to a decrease in S-Adenosyl methionine (SAM), a methyl donor generated from methionine. GSCs show a decrease in methionine and SAM, thereby decreased levels of Nicotinamide (15). However, GSCs show notably increased NAD+ levels and the dramatic hypomethylation state in GBM, leading tumors to shift toward mesenchymal phenotype and accelerated growth, where NAMPT is particularly overexpressed (15). Targeting NNMT decreases cellular proliferation and diminishes methyl donor availability, thus decreasing methionine levels. This fact also leads to the induction of decreasing unmethylated cytosine levels, increased DNA methyltransferases and induced expression of de novo methylases like DNMT1 and DNMT3A (15).

NAMPT is ultimately required for G1/S progression of the Neural Stem Progenitor Cells (NSPC) cell cycle (69). Indeed, NAMPT is crucial for oligodendrocytic lineage fate decisions through an overlapping mechanism mediated by Sirt1 and Sirt2. Reported studies on this topic proved that NAMPT downregulation *in vivo* leads to a decreased NSPC-mediated oligodendrogenesis (69).

ROLE OF SIRTUINS IN GLIOMA PROGRESSION

Sirtuins are NAD⁺ dependent deacetylases that regulate numerous cellular processes including aging, cell cycle, metabolism, DNA repair, and survival under stress conditions. Nonetheless, the role of Sirtuins in glioma remains unclear, with some studies counteracting others. Whether they act as an oncogene or tumor suppressor in Glioma progression is unclear, but their contribution seems to be correlated with tumor heterogeneity.

On one hand, SIRT1 is characterized by some authors as a promoter factor in tumorigenesis of human glioma. The role of SIRT1 in glioma may be related with PTEN/PI3K/Akt axis promoting tumorigenicity (74).

On the other hand, some studies point that SIRT2 is required for GSCs proliferation arrest, highlighting a potential tumor suppressive effect over GSCs (75). Nonetheless, Funato et al. proposed a mechanism where SIRT2-mediated inactivation of p73 is required for GBM tumorigenicity (76).

Accordingly, Li et al. found that SIRT2 expression is markedly down-regulated in human glioma. Indeed, its expression decreases cell growth and colony formation via apoptosis. Mechanistically, they claim that mIR-21 is essential for the functions of SIRT2 in these tumors. SIRT2 specifically deacetylases p65 to decrease mIR-21 expression (77). They conclude in their study that SIRT2 suppresses glioma cell growth through targeting NF-kB-mIR-21 axis (77).

Other Sirtuins like SIRT6 suppresses cell proliferation, migration, and invasion via inhibition of oxidative stress through NOTCH3 (78) or inhibition of the activation of the JAK2/STAT3 pathway in glioma (79).

Mechanistically, miR-33a targets SIRT6 and promotes tumor development in human glioma by regulating its expression (80).

REPLICATION STRESS: ROLE OF PARP PROTEINS IN GLIOMA PROGRESSION

GSCs are Mismatch repair-proficient (MMR-proficient) cells. TMZ-resistant GSCs are either O^6 -methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) active or displaying low proliferation rate. MMR-proficiency leads GSCs to select networks to effectively repair DNA driven by TMZ and radiotherapy (81). GSCs are also highly radioresistant. This radio resistance was originally overcome for the first time through CHK1 and CHK2 inhibition (82).

NAD⁺ plays a key role enhancing Base excision repair (BER) pathway through Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases (PARPs) (83). PARP1 expression is increased in GBM at both mRNA and protein level. Increased PARP1 levels show a positive correlation with increasing tumor grades in Gliomas. PARP1 is ultimately essential for DNA repair during TMZ-based treatment and radiation therapy (Figure 3) (83). PARP1 expression is associated with TP53 and ataxia telangiectasia-Rad3 related kinase (ATR) mutations (84). GSCs display elevated basal levels of activated ATR and CHK1 along with increased replication stress (RS) expression markers including foci marked with the single-stranded DNA binding protein, replication protein A, DNA damage markers yH2AX and 53BP1 (82). PARP1 is mainly overexpressed in Proneural and Classical GBM subtypes. PARP1 overexpression decreases OS in patients with classical type GBM (84). GSCs display a heightened DNA damage response (DDR) with a markedly enhanced replication stress. In order to overcome radiation resistance relying on G2-M activation, combined inhibition of ATR and PARP inhibitors proved to be effective (85-87). Since chemical inhibition of PARP1 through Olaparib also impairs BER, it significantly enhances TMZ-induced damage (Figure 3), exerting synergistic anti-tumor effects in GSCs lines.

NAD⁺ availability is substantially decreased in IDH1mutants', thus, PARP1-associated DNA repair pathway is compromised. Targeting DNA repair pathway through PARP inhibition sensitizes IDH1-mutated glioma cells to TMZ in combinational therapy (83).

When radio- or chemo-driven DNA damage occurs, PARP1 and PARP2 enzymes are recruited as a systemic damage response to bind to ssDNA breaks and transduce signals within



the DDR pathways (82). Once the bond to ssDNA breaks, damaged cells activate PARP1/2 to post-translationally modify themselves together with proteins by synthesizing negatively charged poly(ADP-ribose) chains.

Poly-ADP ribosylation recruits proteins involved in ssDNA break repair, for example XRCC1 modifying chromatin structure. Regulating fork stabilization and restart, PARP proteins work on DNA replication, RS response ligation of lagging strand Okazaki fragments, elongation velocity, and homologous recombination repair of stalled DNA replication forks (88–92).

PARP "trapping" through PARP inhibitors leads to loss of auto-PARylation, consequently facilitating removal of PARP protein from DNA. ATR inhibitors decreases GSCs formation *in vitro*. PARP inhibitors plus ATR inhibitors dramatically decrease GSC formation and sensitize to radiotherapy. This phenotype is greater in GSCs-CD133⁺ cells compared to bulk population (82, 93, 94).

To note, given the well-characterized immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment associated with GBM, ATR treatment may present two weapons against this disease: targeting the addiction to the DDR pathway and reinvigorating T cells to attack GBM cells following radiotherapy (87, 95).

One of the major limitations establishing PARP or ATR inhibitors as a standard therapy is the BBB, which means an ineffective drug penetration into the central nervous system.

NAMPT AS A DEDIFFERENTIATION-INDUCER GENE IN GLIOMA

NAMPT is markedly overexpressed in HGG and GBM tumors, correlating with tumor grade and able to predict patients' prognosis. Ectopic overexpression of NAMPT in Glioma cell lines increases tumorigenic properties controlling stem cell pathways and enriching the GSCs population (Figure 3) (96). Given the infiltrative nature of GBM portraying high plasticity, many studies have tried to focus on identifying key factors governing self-renewal properties driving to tumor relapses. Gujar et al. demonstrated that a NAD⁺ transcriptional network governs self-renewal properties in GSCs and radiation resistance in GBM (72). NAMPT expression, indeed, correlates with high levels of NANOG as a final effector of pluripotency and stem cell-like properties, CD133⁺, and GSCs in primary GBM tumors. NAMPT is also a key factor inducing cancer stem-like pathways in glioma cells. NAMPT also increases number of de novo GSCs formation (96). Moreover, NAMPT is also a key factor inducing cancer stem pathway effectors in colon cancer tumors. In colon cancer, this phenotype is mediated by PARP and SIRT1. NAMPT also increases the number of tumorspheres in vitro in colon cancer cells lines, correlating with important endpoints of CSC pathways activation (97).

CURRENT THERAPIES ON GLIOMA TREATMENT

Sixty gray (Gy) dose of radiotherapy following the maximum safe surgical resection provides the highest benefits regarding GBM median survival (98). TMZ addition after radiotherapy or in concurrence is the only regimen markedly improving the patients' overall survival (OS) (99, 100). The major relevant biomarker predicting response to TMZ treatment is MGMT (O^6 - methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase), a gene involved in DNA-repair (101). Silencing MGMT expression through promoter methylation impairs the ability to repair TMZ-driven DNA damage, decreasing tumor cell survival (102).

Since GBM tumors are often overexpressing numerous angiogenic effectors, Bevacizumab, a humanized antibody binding to vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is effective in impairing tumor angiogenesis. Bevacizumab is actually the only FDA approved agent for recurrent GBM (103, 104). Irinotecan (topoisomerase I inhibitor) in combination with Bevacizumab proved an increase in OS from 4.1 to 9.2 months in a phase II clinical trial (104). 6 and 12 months' survival rates were 77 and 31%, respectively (105, 106). Bevacizumab has been also tested in phase III trials for newly diagnosed GBM. However, there was no effect on patients' OS. TMZ administration in concurrence with Bevacizumab on newly diagnosed GBM is being tested (NCT00943826 and NCT00884741) (106, 107).

Proven that most of the current attempts on therapies seem to be insufficient to achieve relevant outcomes regarding OS, targeting NAD⁺ through NAMPT as the central core axis of GSCs energetics maintenance could represent a ground-breaking therapy approach.

TARGETING NAMPT ON GLIOMA CANCER STEM-LIKE CELLS FOR GLIOMA CONTROL

NAMPT is markedly overexpressed in HGG and GBM. NAMPT overexpression is correlated with patient survival (96). NAMPT downregulation triggers a markedly decrease in in vivo tumorigenicity and induces a decrease in GSCs self-renewal capacity (72). Indeed, first generations of tumorspheres in vitro are particularly sensitive to NAMPT inhibitors, particularly tumorspheres with high levels of NAMPT expression. Unlike glioma cells, NAMPT inhibitors will ultimately target cells in an active cell cycle under replicative stress, two main hallmarks of GSCs (96). This fact potentially ensures that anti-NAMPT therapies in either monotherapy or in combination with TMZ or PARP inhibitors will be ultimately effective. Targeting proliferating cells relying on NAD+ may have effects over GSCs in two main ways: first, by suppressing self-renewal properties based on NAD+ pool restoration and recycling and second, by taking down ADP-ribosylation required for DNA repair process through PARP recruitment.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Gliomas are the most prevalent primary brain cancer in adults and include a broad category of tumors including astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma, and GBM. Regardless of tumor aggressiveness, malignancy, and infiltration, these glia-derived tumors rarely exceed a median survival time of 12–14 months. Driven by the infiltrative nature of these tumors, the clinical approach is difficult and relapses often occur with fatal consequences. These unsuccessful attempts to control glioma's fate have fostered research looking for more effective therapies.

(GSCs) are a small subset of CD133⁺ cells with selfrenewal properties and capable of initiating new tumors contributing to Glioma progression, maintenance, hierarchy and complexity. GSCs are highly resistant to chemo and radiotherapy. These cells are believed to be responsible for tumor relapses and patients' fatal outcome after developing a recurrent GBM or High Grade Glioma (HGG). GSCs are cells under replicative stress with high demands on NAD⁺ supply to repair DNA, maintain self-renewal capacity and to induce tumor plasticity. NAD⁺ feeds Poly-ADP polymerases (PARP) and NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases (SIRTUINS) contributing to GSC phenotype. Ablation of NAMPT showed to impair Schwann cell differentiation program associated to reduced NAD⁺ levels, counteracting the phenotype found in tumor cells but reinforcing the idea that an adequate NAD⁺ level is required for a fine tuned balance on cell-fate definition toward differentiation programs (108). This energetic core axis is mainly controlled by the rate-limiting enzyme nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT), an important oncogene contributing to tumor dedifferentiation. Supporting these conclusions, Jung et al. also highlight the importance of the epigenetic reprogramming on GSC, supported by a high expression of NNMT together with NAMPT counteracting with a hypomethylation state, preferentially occurring within mesenchymal GBM subtype, where NAMPT shows its maximum expression profile (96). They raise the idea that one causal role of methionine depletion, an important upstream methyl donor, is to ultimately drive GBMs to evolve to mesenchymal subtype, where NAMPT plays a key role promoting tumor growth and dedifferentiating tumors (15).

We have queried public datasets to dissect these proposed mechanisms at a single cell level. For that, we have analyzed a single-cell RNA-Seq dataset from Darmanis et al. (109) performing comparative transcriptomic analysis of neoplastic and stromal cells within and proximal to primary GBMs (109).

In this dataset, three clusters out of 11 are identified as tumor clusters (**Figure 4A**). We found that NAMPT is particularly expressed in vascular, myeloid, and tumor cells (**Figure 4C**). Within tumor cells, NAMPT is particularly overexpressed in cluster 9 and 10 but not in cluster 11 (**Figure 4B**), which is a cluster with a pro-neural profiling and therefore with low NAMPT levels, in accordance with the results showed by Lucena et al. and Jung et al. Cluster 10 is classified as GSCs subset, where NAMPT is highly overexpressed. According to the high contribution to data dimensionality of XY axis in the t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (tSNE), the GSC cluster shows a high heterogeneity, reinforcing the idea



FIGURE 4 | Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of GSE84465 for *NAMPT* expression in GBM. (A) 3,589 cells in a cohort of 4 patients are categorized by cell identity (Normal vs. Turnoral) and clusters based on differences on transcriptomic profiles based on heterogenic distribution on dimensions 1 and 2 of t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (tSNE). Three turnors clusters are highlighted on dashed circles. Cluster number 10 is transcriptionally allotted to GSC-cells subset. (B) Single-cell transcriptomic distribution for GSC-related markers expression in correlation to *NAMPT* expression. (C) *NAMPT* expression analysis classified by different cell identities from normal and turnor tissue. (D) Supervised hierarchical clustering of *NAMPT*, *NNMT*, *DNMT1*, *DNMT3A*, *DNMT3B*, and *DNMT3L* mRNA expression in turnor cell clusters (9, 10, and 11). that GSCs rely on a high diversity in terms of molecularprofiling, sustaining an ever-changing identity contributing to tumor plasticity. With the aim of confirming the expression of factors that induce cell stemness and pluripotency in correlation to NAMPT levels, we observed a clear transcriptional activation of JUN, CD44, SERPINE1, VIM, and ABCC3 putative markers of GSCs maintenance as previously described by Lucena et al. within the tumor clusters.

In addition, NAMPT expression negatively correlates with *de novo* methyltransferases DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and DNMT3L, supporting the hypothesis raised by Jung et al. where the poor outcome of GBMs is related to a hypomethylation state driven by overexpression of NAMPT controlling NAD⁺ pool since mesenchymal GSCs rapidly consume NAM to support NAD⁺ utilization and sustain DNA hypomethylation (**Figure 4D**) (15).

Altogether, targeting GSCs depicts a new frontier in Glioma therapy; hence NAMPT could represent a key regulator for GSCs maintenance. Its inhibition may attenuate GSCs properties by decreasing NAD^+ supply, consequently

REFERENCES

- Le Rhun E, Taillibert S, Chamberlain MC. Anaplastic glioma: current treatment and management. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2015) 15:601–20. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2015.1042455
- Zeng T, Cui D, Gao L. Glioma: an overview of current classifications, characteristics, molecular biology, and target therapies. *Front Biosci.* (2015) 20:1104–15. doi: 10.2741/4362
- Morokoff A, Ng W, Gogos A, Kaye AH. Molecular subtypes, stem cells and heterogeneity: implications for personalised therapy in glioma. J Clin Neurosci. (2015) 22:1219–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2015.02.008
- Reardon DA, Wen PY. Glioma in 2014: unravelling tumour heterogeneityimplications for therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2015) 12:69–70. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.223
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature*. (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 world health organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 131:803–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- Karsy M, Gelbman M, Shah P, Balumbu O, Moy F, Arslan E. Established and emerging variants of glioblastoma multiforme: review of morphological and molecular features. *Folia Neuropathol.* (2012) 50:301–21. doi: 10.5114/fn.2012.32361
- Davis ME. Glioblastoma: overview of disease and treatment. Clin J Oncol Nurs. (2016) 20:S2-8. doi: 10.1188/16.CJON.S1.2-8
- Brennan CW, Verhaak RG, McKenna A, Campos B, Noushmehr H, Salama SR, et al. The somatic genomic landscape of glioblastoma. *Cell.* (2013) 155:462–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.034
- Verhaak RG, Hoadley KA, Purdom E, Wang V, Qi Y, Wilkerson MD, et al. Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:98–110. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.020
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Comprehensive genomic characterization defines human glioblastoma genes and core pathways. *Nature*. (2008) 455:1061–8. doi: 10.1038/nature07385
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, et al. An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. *Science*. (2008) 321:1807–12. doi: 10.1126/science.1164382
- Maus A, Peters GJ. Glutamate and alpha-ketoglutarate: key players in glioma metabolism. Amino Acids. (2017) 49:21–32. doi: 10.1007/s00726-016-2342-9

contributing a better outcome together with current therapies for Glioma control.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL-C and AC conceived and designed the project. AL-C, MU, and LEN collected, processed, and analyzed experimental data. AL-C and AC wrote the manuscript. All authors discussed the results.

FUNDING

AC lab was supported by grants from the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitivity, Plan Estatal de I+D+I 2013-2016, ISCIII (Fis: PI15/00045), and CIBER de Cáncer (CB16/12/00275), Co-funded by FEDER from Regional Development European Funds (European Union), Consejeria de Ciencia e Innovacion (CTS-1848), and Consejeria de Salud of the Junta de Andalucia (PI-0096-2014). Especial thanks to the AECC Foundation for supporting this work.

- Mergenthaler P, Lindauer U, Dienel GA, Meisel A. Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function. *Trends Neurosci.* (2013) 36:587–97. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.07.001
- Jung J, Kim LJY, Wang X, Wu Q, Sanvoranart T, Hubert CG, et al. Nicotinamide metabolism regulates glioblastoma stem cell maintenance. JCI Insight. (2017) 2:e90019. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.90019
- Alcantara Llaguno SR, Parada LF. Cell of origin of glioma: biological and clinical implications. Br J Cancer. (2016) 115:1445–50. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.354
- 17. Visvader JE. Cells of origin in cancer. *Nature.* (2011) 469:314–22. doi: 10.1038/nature09781
- Kim J, Lee IH, Cho HJ, Park CK, Jung YS, Kim Y, et al. Spatiotemporal evolution of the primary glioblastoma genome. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:318– 28. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.07.013
- Shao F, Liu C. Revisit the candidacy of brain cell types as the cell(s) of origin for human high-grade glioma. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2018) 11:48. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00048
- Patel AP, Tirosh I, Trombetta JJ, Shalek AK, Gillespie SM, Wakimoto H, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. *Science*. (2014) 344:1396–401. doi: 10.1126/science.12 54257
- Liu T, Xu H, Huang M, Ma W, Saxena D, Lustig RA, et al. Circulating glioma cells exhibit stem cell-like properties. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:6632–42. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0650
- 22. Belenky P, Bogan KL, Brenner C. NAD+ metabolism in health and disease. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2007) 32:12–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2006.11.006
- Faraone-Mennella MR. A new facet of ADP-ribosylation reactions: SIRTs and PARPs interplay. *Front Biosci.* (2015) 20:458–73. doi: 10.2741/4319
- Koch-Nolte F, Fischer S, Haag F, Ziegler M. Compartmentation of NAD+-dependent signalling. *FEBS Lett.* (2011) 585:1651–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.03.045
- Dolle C, Skoge RH, Vanlinden MR, Ziegler M. NAD biosynthesis in humans– enzymes, metabolites and therapeutic aspects. *Curr Top Med Chem.* (2013) 13:2907–17. doi: 10.2174/15680266113136660206
- Houtkooper RH, Canto C, Wanders RJ, Auwerx J. The secret life of NAD+: an old metabolite controlling new metabolic signaling pathways. *Endocr Rev.* (2010) 31:194–223. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0026
- Magni G, Orsomando G, Raffelli N, Ruggieri S. Enzymology of mammalian NAD metabolism in health and disease. *Front Biosci.* (2008) 13:6135–54. doi: 10.2741/3143
- 28. Revollo JR, Korner A, Mills KF, Satoh A, Wang T, Garten A, et al. Nampt/PBEF/Visfatin regulates insulin secretion in beta cells as a

systemic NAD biosynthetic enzyme. Cell Metab. (2007) 6:363–75. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2007.09.003

- Rongvaux A, Shea RJ, Mulks MH, Gigot D, Urbain J, Leo O, et al. Pre-B-cell colony-enhancing factor, whose expression is up-regulated in activated lymphocytes, is a nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase, a cytosolic enzyme involved in NAD biosynthesis. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:3225–34. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200211)32:11and<3225::AID-IMMU3225and>3.0.CO;2-L
- Magni G, Amici A, Emanuelli M, Raffaelli N, Ruggieri S. Enzymology of NAD+ synthesis. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol. (1999) 73:135–82, xi. doi: 10.1002/9780470123195.ch5
- Bender DA. Biochemistry of tryptophan in health and disease. *Mol Aspects Med.* (1983) 6:101–97. doi: 10.1016/0098-2997(83)90005-5
- Bender DA, Olufunwa R. Utilization of tryptophan, nicotinamide and nicotinic acid as precursors for nicotinamide nucleotide synthesis in isolated rat liver cells. *Br J Nutr.* (1988) 59:279–87. doi: 10.1079/BJN19880035
- Berger F, Lau C, Dahlmann M, Ziegler M. Subcellular compartmentation and differential catalytic properties of the three human nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase isoforms. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:36334–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508660200
- 34. Emanuelli M, Carnevali F, Saccucci F, Pierella F, Amici A, Raffaelli N, et al. Molecular cloning, chromosomal localization, tissue mRNA levels, bacterial expression, and enzymatic properties of human NMN adenylyltransferase. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:406–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M008700200
- Lau C, Niere M, Ziegler M. The NMN/NaMN adenylyltransferase (NMNAT) protein family. Front Biosci. (2009) 14:410–31. doi: 10.2741/3252
- Warburg O. On the origin of cancer cells. Science. (1956) 123:309–14. doi: 10.1126/science.123.3191.309
- Felici R, Lapucci A, Ramazzotti M, Chiarugi A. Insight into molecular and functional properties of NMNAT3 reveals new hints of NAD homeostasis within human mitochondria. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e76938. doi: 10.1371/annotation/f5e6107f-a911-4c15-a881-7cb7e4946ff6
- Hikosaka K, Ikutani M, Shito M, Kazuma K, Gulshan M, Nagai Y, et al. Deficiency of nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase 3 (nmnat3) causes hemolytic anemia by altering the glycolytic flow in mature erythrocytes. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:14796–811. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.554378
- Zhang X, Kurnasov OV, Karthikeyan S, Grishin NV, Osterman AL, Zhang H. Structural characterization of a human cytosolic NMN/NaMN adenylyltransferase and implication in human NAD biosynthesis. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:13503–11. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300073200
- Pittelli M, Formentini L, Faraco G, Lapucci A, Rapizzi E, Cialdai F, et al. Inhibition of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase: cellular bioenergetics reveals a mitochondrial insensitive NAD pool. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:34106–14. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.136739
- Yang H, Yang T, Baur JA, Perez E, Matsui T, Carmona JJ, et al. Nutrientsensitive mitochondrial NAD+ levels dictate cell survival. *Cell.* (2007) 130:1095–107. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.035
- 42. McKenna MC, Waagepetersen HS, Schousboe A, Sonnewald U. Neuronal and astrocytic shuttle mechanisms for cytosolic-mitochondrial transfer of reducing equivalents: current evidence and pharmacological tools. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2006) 71:399–407. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2005.10.011
- Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer. (2004) 4:891–9. doi: 10.1038/nrc1478
- Rongvaux A, Andris F, Van Gool F, Leo O. Reconstructing eukaryotic NAD metabolism. *Bioessays*. (2003) 25:683–90. doi: 10.1002/bies.10297
- 45. Yalowitz JA, Xiao S, Biju MP, Antony AC, Cummings OW, Deeg MA, et al. Characterization of human brain nicotinamide 5'-mononucleotide adenylyltransferase-2 and expression in human pancreas. *Biochem J.* (2004) 377:317–26. doi: 10.1042/bj20030518
- Zhang T, Berrocal JG, Frizzell KM, Gamble MJ, DuMond ME, Krishnakumar R, et al. Enzymes in the NAD+ salvage pathway regulate SIRT1 activity at target gene promoters. *J Biol Chem.* (2009) 284:20408–17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.016469
- 47. Brooks GA. Lactate production under fully aerobic conditions: the lactate shuttle during rest and exercise. *Fed Proc.* (1986) 45:2924–9.
- Sawicka-Gutaj N, Waligorska-Stachura J, Andrusiewicz M, Biczysko M, Sowinski J, Skrobisz J, et al. Nicotinamide phosphorybosiltransferase

overexpression in thyroid malignancies and its correlation with tumor stage and with survivin/survivin DEx3 expression. *Tumour Biol.* (2015) 36:7859– 63. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-3506-z

- Shackelford RE, Mayhall K, Maxwell NM, Kandil E, Coppola D. Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in malignancy: a review. *Genes Cancer.* (2013) 4:447–56. doi: 10.1177/1947601913507576
- Vora M, Ansari J, Shanti RM, Veillon D, Cotelingam J, Coppola D, et al. Increased Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in rhabdomyosarcomas and leiomyosarcomas compared to skeletal and smooth muscle tissue. *Anticancer Res.* (2016) 36:503–7.
- Wang S, Xing Z, Vosler PS, Yin H, Li W, Zhang F, et al. Cellular NAD replenishment confers marked neuroprotection against ischemic cell death: role of enhanced DNA repair. *Stroke.* (2008) 39:2587–95. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.509158
- Maldi E, Travelli C, Caldarelli A, Agazzone N, Cintura S, Galli U, et al. Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) is over-expressed in melanoma lesions. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* (2013) 26:144–6. doi: 10.1111/pcmr.12037
- Reddy PS, Umesh S, Thota B, Tandon A, Pandey P, Hegde AS, et al. PBEF1/NAmPRTase/Visfatin: a potential malignant astrocytoma/glioblastoma serum marker with prognostic value. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2008) 7:663–8. doi: 10.4161/cbt.7.5.5663
- Olesen UH, Hastrup N, Sehested M. Expression patterns of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase and nicotinic acid phosphoribosyltransferase in human malignant lymphomas. *APMIS.* (2011) 119:296–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0463.2011.02733.x
- Bi TQ, Che XM, Liao XH, Zhang DJ, Long HL, Li HJ, et al. Overexpression of Nampt in gastric cancer and chemopotentiating effects of the Nampt inhibitor FK866 in combination with fluorouracil. *Oncol Rep.* (2011) 26:1251–7. doi: 10.3892/or.2011.1378
- Folgueira MA, Carraro DM, Brentani H, Patrao DF, Barbosa EM, Netto MM, et al. Gene expression profile associated with response to doxorubicinbased therapy in breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:7434–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0548
- Cagnetta A, Cea M, Calimeri T, Acharya C, Fulciniti M, Tai YT, et al. Intracellular NAD(+) depletion enhances bortezomibinduced anti-myeloma activity. *Blood.* (2013) 122:1243–55. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-483511
- 58. Cea M, Cagnetta A, Acharya C, Acharya P, Tai YT, Yang C, et al. Dual NAMPT and BTK targeting leads to synergistic killing of waldenstrom macroglobulinemia cells regardless of MYD88 and CXCR4 somatic mutation status. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:6099–109. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0630
- 59. Gehrke I, Bouchard ED, Beiggi S, Poeppl AG, Johnston JB, Gibson SB, et al. On-target effect of FK866, a nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase inhibitor, by apoptosis-mediated death in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:4861–72. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0624
- Hansen CM, Hansen D, Holm PK, Larsson R, Binderup L. Cyanoguanidine CHS 828 induces programmed cell death with apoptotic features in human breast cancer cells *in vitro*. *Anticancer Res.* (2000) 20:4211–20.
- Martinsson P, Ekelund S, Nygren P, Larsson R. The combination of the antitumoural pyridyl cyanoguanidine CHS 828 and etoposide *in vitro*-from cytotoxic synergy to complete inhibition of apoptosis. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2002) 137:568–73. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0704888
- 62. Takeuchi M, Yamamoto T. Apoptosis induced by NAD depletion is inhibited by KN-93 in a CaMKII-independent manner. *Exp Cell Res.* (2015) 335:62–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.05.019
- Thakur BK, Dittrich T, Chandra P, Becker A, Kuehnau W, Klusmann JH, et al. Involvement of p53 in the cytotoxic activity of the NAMPT inhibitor FK866 in myeloid leukemic cells. *Int J Cancer.* (2013) 132:766–74. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27726
- 64. Wosikowski K, Mattern K, Schemainda I, Hasmann M, Rattel B, Loser R. WK175, a novel antitumor agent, decreases the intracellular nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide concentration, and induces the apoptotic cascade in human leukemia cells. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:1057–62.
- 65. Cambronne XA, Stewart ML, Kim D, Jones-Brunette AM, Morgan RK, Farrens DL, et al. Biosensor reveals multiple sources for

mitochondrial NAD(+). *Science.* (2016) 352:1474–7. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad5168

- Yamamoto M, Hikosaka K, Mahmood A, Tobe K, Shojaku H, Inohara H, et al. Nmnat3 is dispensable in mitochondrial NAD level maintenance in vivo. PLoS ONE. (2016) 11:e0147037. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147037
- Tateishi K, Iafrate AJ, Ho Q, Curry WT, Batchelor TT, Flaherty KT, et al. Myc-driven glycolysis is a therapeutic target in glioblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:4452–65. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2274
- Han X, Tai H, Wang X, Wang Z, Zhou J, Wei X, et al. AMPK activation protects cells from oxidative stress-induced senescence via autophagic flux restoration and intracellular NAD(+) elevation. *Aging Cell.* (2016) 15:416– 27. doi: 10.1111/acel.12446
- Stein LR, Imai S. Specific ablation of Nampt in adult neural stem cells recapitulates their functional defects during aging. *EMBO J.* (2014) 33:1321– 40. doi: 10.1002/embj.201386917
- Yoshino J, Baur JA, Imai SI. NAD(+) intermediates: the biology and therapeutic potential of NMN and NR. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:513–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.11.002
- Fang EF, Kassahun H, Croteau DL, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Marosi K, Lu H, et al. NAD(+) replenishment improves lifespan and healthspan in ataxia telangiectasia models via mitophagy and DNA repair. *Cell Metab.* (2016) 24:566–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.09.004
- 72. Gujar AD, Le S, Mao DD, Dadey DY, Turski A, Sasaki Y, et al. An NAD+dependent transcriptional program governs self-renewal and radiation resistance in glioblastoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E8247–56. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610921114
- Fang EF, Lautrup S, Hou Y, Demarest TG, Croteau DL, Mattson MP, et al. NAD(+) in aging: molecular mechanisms and translational implications. *Trends Mol Med.* (2017) 23:899–916. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2017.08.001
- 74. Qu Y, Zhang J, Wu S, Li B, Liu S, Cheng J. SIRT1 promotes proliferation and inhibits apoptosis of human malignant glioma cell lines. *Neurosci Lett.* (2012) 525:168–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.07.025
- 75. Sayd S, Thirant C, El-Habr EA, Lipecka J, Dubois LG, Bogeas A, et al. Sirtuin-2 activity is required for glioma stem cell proliferation arrest but not necrosis induced by resveratrol. *Stem Cell Rev.* (2014) 10:103–13. doi: 10.1007/s12015-013-9465-0
- Funato K, Hayashi T, Echizen K, Negishi L, Shimizu N, Koyama-Nasu R, et al. SIRT2-mediated inactivation of p73 is required for glioblastoma tumorigenicity. *EMBO Rep.* (2018) 19:e45587. doi: 10.15252/embr.201745587
- Li Y, Dai D, Lu Q, Fei M, Li M, Wu X. Sirt2 suppresses glioma cell growth through targeting NF-kappaB-miR-21 axis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2013) 441:661–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.10.077
- Chen X, Li D, Gao Y, Cao Y, Hao B. Histone deacetylase SIRT6 inhibits glioma cell growth through down-regulating NOTCH3 expression. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. (2018) 50:417–24. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmy019
- Feng J, Yan PF, Zhao HY, Zhang FC, Zhao WH, Feng M. SIRT6 suppresses glioma cell growth via induction of apoptosis, inhibition of oxidative stress and suppression of JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway activation. *Oncol Rep.* (2016) 35:1395–402. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4477
- Chang M, Qiao L, Li B, Wang J, Zhang G, Shi W, et al. Suppression of SIRT6 by miR-33a facilitates tumor growth of glioma through apoptosis and oxidative stress resistance. *Oncol Rep.* (2017) 38:1251–8. doi: 10.3892/or.2017.5780
- Tentori L, Ricci-Vitiani L, Muzi A, Ciccarone F, Pelacchi F, Calabrese R, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 modulates resistance of human glioblastoma stem cells to temozolomide. *BMC Cancer*. (2014) 14:151. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-151
- Morgan MA, Canman CE. Replication stress: an achilles' heel of glioma cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:6713–6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2439
- Lu Y, Kwintkiewicz J, Liu Y, Tech K, Frady LN, Su YT, et al. Chemosensitivity of IDH1-mutated gliomas due to an impairment in PARP1-mediated DNA repair. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:1709–18. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2773
- Murnyak B, Kouhsari MC, Hershkovitch R, Kalman B, Marko-Varga G, Klekner A, et al. PARP1 expression and its correlation with survival is

tumour molecular subtype dependent in glioblastoma. Oncotarget. (2017) 8:46348-62. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18013

- Forment JV, O'Connor MJ. Targeting the replication stress response in cancer. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2018) 188:155–67. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.03.005
- Lecona E, Fernandez-Capetillo O. Targeting ATR in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2018) 18:586–95. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0034-3
- Woroniecka K, Chongsathidkiet P, Rhodin K, Kemeny H, Dechant C, Farber SH, et al. T-cell exhaustion signatures vary with tumor type and are severe in glioblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:4175–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-1846
- Bryant HE, Petermann E, Schultz N, Jemth AS, Loseva O, Issaeva N, et al. PARP is activated at stalled forks to mediate Mre11-dependent replication restart and recombination. *EMBO J.* (2009) 28:2601–15. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.206
- Hanzlikova H, Kalasova I, Demin AA, Pennicott LE, Cihlarova Z, Caldecott KW. The importance of poly(ADP-Ribose) polymerase as a sensor of unligated okazaki fragments during DNA replication. *Mol Cell.* (2018) 71:319–31 e313. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.06.004
- Maya-Mendoza A, Moudry P, Merchut-Maya JM, Lee M, Strauss R, Bartek J. High speed of fork progression induces DNA replication stress and genomic instability. *Nature*. (2018) 559:279–84. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0261-5
- Petermann E, Orta ML, Issaeva N, Schultz N, Helleday T. Hydroxyureastalled replication forks become progressively inactivated and require two different RAD51-mediated pathways for restart and repair. *Mol Cell.* (2010) 37:492–502. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.021
- Ying S, Hamdy FC, Helleday T. Mre11-dependent degradation of stalled DNA replication forks is prevented by BRCA2 and PARP1. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2814–21. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3417
- Lord CJ, Ashworth A. PARP inhibitors: synthetic lethality in the clinic. Science. (2017) 355:1152–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aam7344
- Pommier Y, O'Connor MJ, de Bono J. Laying a trap to kill cancer cells: PARP inhibitors and their mechanisms of action. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8:362ps317. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf9246
- Almiron Bonnin DA, Havrda MC, Lee MC, Liu H, Zhang Z, Nguyen LN, et al. Secretion-mediated STAT3 activation promotes self-renewal of glioma stem-like cells during hypoxia. *Oncogene*. (2018) 37:1107–18. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.404
- Lucena-Cacace A, Otero-Albiol D, Jimenez-Garcia MP, Peinado-Serrano J, Carnero A. NAMPT overexpression induces cancer stemness and defines a novel tumor signature for glioma prognosis. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:99514–30. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20577
- Lucena-Cacace A, Otero-Albiol D, Jimenez-Garcia MP, Munoz-Galvan S, Carnero A. NAMPT is a potent oncogene in colon cancer progression that modulates cancer stem cell properties and resistance to therapy through Sirt1 and PARP. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1202–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2575
- Coffey RJ, Lunsford LD, Taylor FH. Survival after stereotactic biopsy of malignant gliomas. *Neurosurgery*. (1988) 22:465–73. doi: 10.1227/00006123-198803000-00003
- Aldape K, Zadeh G, Mansouri S, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A. Glioblastoma: pathology, molecular mechanisms and markers. Acta Neuropathol. (2015) 129:829–48. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1432-1
- Stupp R, Mason WP, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:987–96. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- 101. Zorzan M, Giordan E, Redaelli M, Caretta A, Mucignat-Caretta C. Molecular targets in glioblastoma. *Future Oncol.* (2015) 11:1407–20. doi: 10.2217/fon.15.22
- Nishikawa R. Standard therapy for glioblastoma-a review of where we are. Neurol Med Chir. (2010) 50:713–9. doi: 10.2176/nmc.50.713
- Ferrara N, Hillan KJ, Novotny W. Bevacizumab (Avastin), a humanized anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody for cancer therapy. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2005) 333:328–35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.05.132
- Lau D, Magill ST, Aghi MK. Molecularly targeted therapies for recurrent glioblastoma: current and future targets. *Neurosurg Focus*. (2014) 37:E15. doi: 10.3171/2014.9.FOCUS14519

- 105. Galanis E, Jaeckle KA, Maurer MJ, Reid JM, Ames MM, Hardwick JS, et al. Phase II trial of vorinostat in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: a north central cancer treatment group study. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:2052–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.19.0694
- 106. Reardon DA, Desjardins A, Peters KB, Gururangan S, Sampson JH, McLendon RE, et al. Phase II study of carboplatin, irinotecan, and bevacizumab for bevacizumab naive, recurrent glioblastoma. J Neurooncol. (2012) 107:155–64. doi: 10.1007/s11060-011-0722-2
- 107. Shabason JE, Tofilon PJ, Camphausen K. Grand rounds at the National Institutes of Health: HDAC inhibitors as radiation modifiers, from bench to clinic. J Cell Mol Med. (2011) 15:2735–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2011.01296.x
- Sasaki Y, Hackett AR, Kim S, Strickland A, Milbrandt J. Dysregulation of NAD(+) Metabolism induces a schwann cell dedifferentiation program. J Neurosci. (2018) 38:6546–62. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.33 04-17.2018

109. Darmanis S, Sloan SA, Croote D, Mignardi M, Chernikova S, Samghababi P, et al. Single-cell RNA-Seq analysis of infiltrating neoplastic cells at the migrating front of human glioblastoma. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 21:1399–410. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.10.030

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lucena-Cacace, Umeda, Navas and Carnero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcriptional Reprogramming and Novel Therapeutic Approaches for Targeting Prostate Cancer Stem Cells

Gianluca Civenni, Domenico Albino, Dheeraj Shinde, Ramiro Vázquez, Jessica Merulla, Aleksandra Kokanovic, Sarah N. Mapelli, Giuseppina M. Carbone and Carlo V. Catapano*

Institute of Oncology (IOR), Università della Svizzera Italiana, Bellinzona, Switzerland

Prostate cancer is the most common malignancy in men and the second cause of cancer-related deaths in western countries. Despite the progress in the treatment of localized prostate cancer, there is still lack of effective therapies for the advanced forms of the disease. Most patients with advanced prostate cancer become resistant to androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), which remains the main therapeutic option in this setting, and progress to lethal metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC). Current therapies for prostate cancer preferentially target proliferating, partially differentiated, and AR-dependent cancer cells that constitute the bulk of the tumor mass. However, the subpopulation of tumor-initiating or tumor-propagating stem-like cancer cells is virtually resistant to the standard treatments causing tumor relapse at the primary or metastatic sites. Understanding the pathways controlling the establishment, expansion and maintenance of the cancer stem cell (CSC) subpopulation is an important step toward the development of more effective treatment for prostate cancer, which might enable ablation or exhaustion of CSCs and prevent treatment resistance and disease recurrence. In this review, we focus on the impact of transcriptional regulators on phenotypic reprogramming of prostate CSCs and provide examples supporting the possibility of inhibiting maintenance and expansion of the CSC pool in human prostate cancer along with the currently available methodological approaches. Transcription factors are key elements for instructing specific transcriptional programs and inducing CSC-associated phenotypic changes implicated in disease progression and treatment resistance. Recent studies have shown that interfering with these processes causes exhaustion of CSCs with loss of self-renewal and tumorigenic capability in prostate cancer models. Targeting key transcriptional regulators in prostate CSCs is a valid therapeutic strategy waiting to be tested in clinical trials.

Keywords: prostate cancer, cancer stem cells, transcription factors, ERG, ESE3/EHF, c-Myc, STAT3, NF-kB

INTRODUCTION

To date there is compelling evidence supporting the presence of tumor-initiating, tumor-propagating stem-like cells or cancer stem cells (CSCs) in human cancers (1, 2). At any given time, the CSCs likely constitute only a minority of tumor cells within the tumor mass (1, 2). However, CSCs contribute substantially to the biological and clinical heterogeneity of human cancers (3, 4). The CSC model proposes that tumor

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Vincent Goffin, INSERM U1151 Institut Necker Enfants Malades Centre de Médecine Moléculaire (INEM), France Collene Jeter, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Carlo V. Catapano carlo.catapano@ior.usi.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 23 January 2019 Accepted: 25 April 2019 Published: 09 May 2019

Citation:

Civenni G, Albino D, Shinde D, Vázquez R, Merulla J, Kokanovic A, Mapelli SN, Carbone GM and Catapano CV (2019) Transcriptional Reprogramming and Novel Therapeutic Approaches for Targeting Prostate Cancer Stem Cells. Front. Oncol. 9:385. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00385

105

cells maintain a lineage hierarchy similar to normal tissues (2). The small population of stem-like cancer cells that sustain this hierarchical organization is able both to self-renew by symmetric cell division and to produce, through asymmetric cell divisions, phenotypically distinct daughter cells with limited self-renewal but greater proliferative activity (Figure 1A). Similar to normal stem cells, the balance between self-renewal, differentiation, and senescence is essential to maintain the CSC subpopulation (2). Importantly, these processes lead to the expansion and maintenance or, alternatively, to progressive loss of proliferative potential and exhaustion of the CSC pool. According to the stem cell model, CSCs are key elements driving tumor heterogeneity and contributing to tumor progression and metastases (2, 4). Importantly, CSCs contribute substantially to treatment failure and disease recurrence by virtue of their intrinsic resistance to chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and even molecular-targeted drugs (2, 3, 5). Despite even massive reduction of bulk tumor cells after effective treatment, the CSC subpopulation can survive, expand and reconstitute, through a combination of symmetric and asymmetric cell divisions, the population of bulk tumor cells leading to tumor re-growth and relapse (Figure 1B). Indeed, the inability of current therapies to affect the CSC subpopulation contributes to their limited success and the almost inevitable progression to treatment-resistant disease. In this scenario, a significant increase in treatment efficacy, duration of clinical response, and patient survival may depend on the clinical implementation of new treatment strategies aimed at eliminating or reprogramming CSCs toward differentiation and senescence (Figure 1C). In this context, the knowledge of the pathways underlying the peculiar properties of CSCs can provide ideal targets for development of CSC-directed therapies (4-6).

In this review, we focus on prostate cancer and the role of transcriptional regulators on phenotypic reprogramming of prostate CSCs. We provide examples supporting the possibility of interfering with maintenance and expansion of the CSC subpopulation in human prostate cancer by targeting transcriptional regulators. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulatory factors are key elements for instructing specific transcriptional programs and phenotypic changes in CSCs (3, 6). Notably, recent work has established that interfering with these processes can induce loss of self-renewal capability and exhaustion of the tumorigenic potential of CSCs. Promising compounds are emerging from preclinical studies. Thus, targeting transcriptional regulators in prostate CSCs might be a valid therapeutic strategy to explore further in the preclinical and clinical setting.

PROSTATE CANCER AND THE CURRENT TREATMENT PERSPECTIVE

Prostate cancer is the most common malignancy in men and the second cause of cancer-related deaths in developed countries (7). Despite the progress in the treatment of localized prostate cancer, management of locally advanced and metastatic disease is still a critical unmet need (8, 9). Recent genomic studies have shown that multiple genetic and epigenetic events contribute to prostate cancer initiation and progression (10– 12). Deregulated expression and activity of transcriptional and epigenetic regulators occur at early stages of disease and are particularly relevant during the progression from localized to metastatic disease and development of treatment-resistant prostate cancer (13, 14). Moreover, complex transcriptional and epigenetic reprogramming contribute to cancer cell plasticity or trans-differentiation leading to the acquisition of tumorigenic, stem-like, mesenchymal, or neuroendocrine features (15–17).

The prostate is an exocrine gland that is located around the urethra at the base of the bladder and produces the alkaline seminal fluid (18). Histologically, the human prostate is composed of a pseudostratified epithelium containing basal and luminal epithelial cells with rare neuroendocrine cells (19, 20). Luminal cells are differentiated secretory epithelial cells that line the lumen of the ducts and secretes the alkaline prostatic fluid (20). Luminal secretory cells express cytokeratin 8, cytokeratin 18 and the androgen receptor (AR). Basal cells lie on the basement membrane between luminal cells. Basal cells have low levels of AR and express cytokeratin 5, cytokeratin 14 and p63. Basal cells are considered the main niche for stem and progenitor cells within the normal prostate epithelium, although more recent lineage-tracing studies suggest that both basal and luminal cells contain lineage-restricted stem/progenitor cells in the mouse prostate (19, 20). Rare neuroendocrine cells, which express chromogranin A and synaptophysin, are scattered in the prostate gland. Neuroendocrine cells are AR negative and androgen-independent (19).

Most prostate tumors are adenocarcinomas arising from the peripheral zone of the prostate gland (18). The majority of human prostatic adenocarcinomas have a predominant luminal phenotype, with a limited number of primary tumors showing features of neuroendocrine, small cell or sarcomatoid carcinomas. Some 15% of patients diagnosed with a prostate cancer will ultimately develop metastatic lesions, with about 90% of these cases presenting with osteoblastic bone metastases (18). In about 85% of the metastatic patients, the bone is the sole site of metastasis. Notably, aggressive prostate adenocarcinomas with neuroendocrine features (NEPC) form preferentially osteoclastic bone metastases and metastasize more frequently to brain, liver, bladder, and adrenal gland than adenocarcinoma-type tumors (16).

The clinical evolution of prostate cancer is highly heterogeneous, ranging from indolent to very aggressive tumors that rapidly progress to metastatic and treatment refractory prostate cancer (9, 18). Surgery and radiotherapy are highly effective for treatment of low-risk localized prostate tumors (21). Because most prostate cancers are androgen-dependent at the time of diagnosis, patients with locally advanced or metastatic diseases are treated with androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), which limits disease progression (**Figure 2**) (8). Nevertheless, most tumors eventually become resistant to ADT and progress to lethal metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), for which there are limited treatment options (22, 23). Despite the reduced efficacy of ADT, many mCRPC continues to have active AR signaling through a variety of mechanisms including



AR gene amplification, splice variants, point mutations, transcriptional upregulation, ligand-independent activation, and increased androgen and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) synthesis by the adrenal glands or the tumor (9, 24). The continued reliance on AR signaling makes a fraction of mCRPC still potentially responsive to new AR pathway inhibitors (ARPI), such as the anti-androgen receptor antagonist enzalutamide and the androgen-biosynthesis inhibitor abiraterone (**Figure 2**) (8). However, mCRPC can activate additional escape mechanisms and become resistant to the AR-targeted drugs (9).

An emerging modality of escape from ADT is phenotypic plasticity with the acquisition of neuroendocrine features and expression of characteristic markers such as synaptophysin and chromogranin (15, 25, 26). This process involves a complex interplay of multiple signaling pathways linked to transcriptional activators (e.g., STAT3, MYC family members, SOX2) and epigenetic effectors (e.g., EZH2) (16). In this context, expansion of AR-indifferent CSCs followed by differentiation toward a NE phenotype leads to a progeny of poorly differentiated tumor cells insensitive to androgen ablation or suppression (**Figure 2**). Thus, chronic ADT can induce dedifferentiation or transdifferentiation in mCRPCs with the NEPC variant considerably increasing among patients with metastatic castration-resistant disease. Neuroendocrine differentiation may represent an extreme form of evolution of prostate adenocarcinomas to an androgen-independent status.

mCRPCs non-responsive to ADT and AR-targeted therapeutics are treated with chemotherapy (27). Docetaxel is now the standard therapy for these patients, although the beneficial effect in this setting is rarely durable (28). Many patients do not respond or, after an initial response, become refractory to the treatment. Patients with docetaxel-refractory tumors generally receive cabazitaxel, a second-generation taxane, or platinum (Pt)-based compounds such as cisplatin


and carboplatin (21, 29). Chemotherapy with carboplatin, docetaxel, or cabazitaxel is currently the preferred treatment for patients presenting with low PSA/tumor burden ratio and rapid metastatic progression or features of small cell carcinoma or NEPC (28). Inevitably, rapid development of resistance severely limits the duration of response and efficacy of any form of treatment in these patients.

CANCER STEM CELLS IN PROSTATE CANCER

Prostate cancer is highly heterogeneous in cell composition (19). The presence of stem-like tumor cells with tumorpropagating and metastasis-generating properties can greatly influence the biological heterogeneity, clinical progression and treatment response (19). CSCs within primary tumors are likely the main cause of metastatic spread and disease recurrence in prostate cancer patients (**Figure 2**). Moreover, expansion of CSCs, which are independent of AR signaling, can contribute to the development of castration-resistance as well as to reduced sensitivity to chemotherapy and radiotherapy (19, 20, 30, 31). Furthermore, CSCs that derive from basal or luminal-type progenitor/stem cells may exhibit different characteristics and contribute diversely to the biological and clinical heterogeneity of prostate tumors and their propensity to aggressive behavior and treatment resistance (19, 20, 31).

CSCs display three main characteristics: the ability to initiate tumor (tumorigenesis), to maintain their cellular properties in at least one daughter cell (self-renewal) and to reproduce the cellular composition of the original tumor (differentiation program) (32). Several studies provide evidence for the

presence of self-renewing tumor-initiating stem-like cancer cells in prostate tumors (19). Putative CSCs can be purified using appropriate cell surface markers to define specific cell populations and their properties can be assessed using *in vitro* tumor-sphere and *in vivo* transplantation assays (33–36). Broad and heterogeneous sets of extracellular markers have been used to identify and isolate prostate CSCs (37, 38). However, the reproducibility and reliability in different settings and experimental models as well as the clinical relevance of most markers have not been demonstrated with any certainty (38). Increased expression of intracellular markers (e.g., ALDH), stem cell reprogramming factor, transcriptional and epigenetic regulators (e.g., Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, Nanog, Myc, BMI1) characterize prostate CSCs and provide additional tools for their identification (36, 37, 39–41).

In the experimental setting, in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo functional assays are highly relevant to isolate CSCs and assess their content and properties (33-36, 42). Culturing prostate cancer cells in adherent monolayers in presence of serumsupplemented cell culture medium allows propagation of the heterogeneous bulk population of tumor cells (Figure 3A). Prostato-sphere or tumor-sphere cultures in serum-free liquid or semi-solid media and non-adherent conditions favors the expansion of single-cell derived colonies (spheroids), which are enriched of stem-like tumor cells able to survive and proliferate in this setting (34-36, 42). Organoid cultures derived from human or mouse tumors are an alternative method to preserve the heterogeneity of the cell composition of the original tumor and test drug efficacy in a three-dimensional, microenvironmentinclusive system (43, 44). However, unlike tumor-sphere culture systems, organoids do not enrich specifically for CSCs and do not allow a direct assessment of tumor cells with stem-like

properties. Xenografts of established human cancer cell lines or patient-derived tumor cells by subcutaneous or orthotopic implantation in immunodeficient mice can be a reliable and reproducible source of stem-like tumor-initiating cells and are used to assess in vivo tumorigenicity and self-renewal properties of the isolated CSCs by serial re-implantation in mice (Figure 3B). Long-term tumor regeneration in mice as well as reproducible tumor-sphere forming ability in vitro are paramount evidence of stem-like capability of the isolated tumor cells (35, 36, 45). Furthermore, an emerging area of research involves the isolation, characterization and propagation of CSCs derived from genetically engineered mouse (GEM) models of prostate cancer (Figure 3C). These GEM models reproduce prostate tumors that mimic human cancer with similar defined genetic alterations within the orthotopic prostatic microenvironment and in presence of an intact immune system and thus are becoming a valuable resource to study prostate CSC behavior and response to treatment (19, 46, 47).

When properly applied, collectively, these experimental systems represent reliable tools to monitor the effects of genetic and pharmacological interventions on CSCs. Furthermore, these *in vitro/in vivo* assays along with supplementary approaches (e.g., gene signatures, surface markers) need to be implemented rigorously in preclinical and clinical studies to demonstrate the efficacy of CSC-directed strategies and monitor the dynamic changes in tumor cell subpopulations upon treatment (5, 48). Such studies would provide a great deal of essential information for defining the best strategies to improve cancer treatment in a precision medicine approach.

CANONICAL SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN PROSTATE CANCER STEM CELLS

Current therapies for prostate cancer target preferentially partially differentiated, AR-dependent and proliferating tumor cells that constitute the bulk of the tumor mass in locally advanced and metastatic tumors (8, 21, 28, 29). However, the subpopulation of CSCs is virtually insensitive to these therapies and can repopulate the tumors at primary and metastatic sites (19, 49). Understanding the pathways controlling the establishment, expansion and maintenance of the CSC pool would be an important step toward the development of more effective therapies for prostate cancer enabling the ablation or exhaustion of CSC and preventing treatment resistance and disease recurrence. Much emphasis has been put on canonical pathways identified as drivers of stemness features in normal stem cells and proven to have similar functions in CSCs.

Canonical stem cell-associated pathways, such as Sonic-Hedgehog, Wnt and Notch, play important roles in CSC maintenance and represent promising targets to explore for the eradication of prostate CSCs (50, 51). In the canonical Wnt pathway, Wnt ligands bind to Frizzled receptor and co-receptor LRP 5/6 leading to stabilization and nuclear translocation of β -catenin that acts as transcriptional activator of the expression of pro-tumorigenic genes (50). Altered expression and localization

of β-catenin is frequent in advanced prostate cancer and the Wnt signaling pathway can directly promote self-renewal of prostate CSCs (52-55). The Hedgehog pathway controls cell renewal and survival in normal stem cells during embryogenesis and adulthood (50). Hedgehog signaling is activated by binding of a specific set of ligands (Desert, Indian and Sonic) to the membrane receptors Patched (Ptch1 and 2) and Smoothened (SMO). In the presence of the ligands, SMO is relieved from the repression by PTCH and promotes the nuclear translocation of transcription factor Gli, which triggers the expression of specific target genes. Prostate tumors, like other cancers, frequently exhibit abnormally activated Hedgehog signaling (56, 57), which promotes the expansion of prostate CSCs (58, 59). A complex set of receptors (Notch1-4) and ligands (DLL 1, DLL 3, DLL 4, Jagged 1, and Jagged 2) controls Notch signaling (50). Upon ligand binding, the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor is cleaved by proteolytic enzymes (ADAMs and γ -secretase) leading to the release of the Notch intracellular domain (NICD), which moves in the nucleus and activates transcription of target genes. The Notch signaling pathway is activated improperly in human cancers, including prostate tumors, where it alters normal differentiation programs and contribute to CSC expansion (50, 60-62). In prostate cancer, combined upregulation of Notch and Hedgehog signaling promotes the stem-like phenotype and treatment resistance (63, 64).

Inhibitors of the Hedgehog, Wnt and Notch pathway have been developed and some have been tested in clinical trials in oncological patients (50). Targeting these stemness-related pathways with selective inhibitors has potent anti-CSC effect and influences positively the response to other cancer treatments in preclinical models (65, 66). Notch pathway inhibitors have shown efficacy enhancing the activity of both chemotherapy and ADT in prostate cancer preclinical models (67-71). Hedgehog inhibitors have anti-CSC effects in prostate cancer reducing expression of stemness-related genes and growth of tumor xenografts in mice (63, 72-74). Wnt pathway inhibitors also have been tested successfully in preclinical models of prostate cancer, although the evidence of a direct anti-CSC effect is not systematically provided (54, 65, 66, 75). Wnt inhibitors include promising compounds that have shown relevant activity in various experimental cancer models (53, 76-78).

Ongoing trials in multiple cancer types, including prostate cancer, are testing the efficacy of canonical stemness pathway inhibitors (48, 79, 80). Notably, vismodegib (GDC-0449), the first inhibitor approved for clinical use, and other Hedgehog inhibitors are in clinical trials for prostate cancer patients. Similarly, several Wnt and Notch pathway inhibitors are currently undergoing clinical evaluation for treatment of patients with various types of tumors including patients with prostate cancer (80-82). These early phase clinical studies are set to determine the efficacy and toxicity of these compounds and they will provide insightful information for further development as single agents or in combinatorial regimens (48). However, it would be important in the future to assess specifically whether the compounds affect the prostate CSC subpopulation taking advantage of some of the assays developed in preclinical studies. It might also be difficult to exclude effects of these



pharmacological pathway inhibitors on normal stem cells and prevent toxicity due to a limited therapeutic window (5, 48).

TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATORS IN PROSTATE CSCs

Prostate CSCs present over-expression of various transcriptional and epigenetic regulators (e.g., Nanog, SOX2, BMI1, and EZH2) that are directly involved in reprogramming the CSC transcriptome and sustaining the stem-like phenotype. Some of these factors have been effectively targeted to induce CSC depletion and counteract treatment resistance (41, 83–87). Small molecule inhibitors of EZH2 and BMI1, two epigenetic effectors, are available and have shown efficacy in prostate cancer preclinical models (25, 26, 85, 88–92). Furthermore, EZH2 inhibitors are undergoing clinical testing in patients with advanced tumors.

Additional transcriptional regulators are emerging as targetable elements in prostate CSCs opening new opportunities

for anti-CSC therapeutic interventions. In the following sections, we describe the recent data and provide proof of principle examples of the effectiveness of such approaches for targeting prostate CSCs.

с-Мус

Additional pathways controlling the enhanced self-renewal capability and reduced differentiation potential of CSCs could provide ideal targets for development of CSC-specific treatment strategies. Several transcription factors aberrantly activated in advanced and mCRPCs can be directly responsible for expansion and tumorigenic potential of prostate CSCs. c-Myc (Myc) is a transcription factor involved in many biological processes, including transcription, replication, cell division, protein synthesis and metabolism (93). Amplification, chromosomal translocations, and deregulated expression of Myc are among the most common alterations occurring in human cancers (93). Myc is frequently upregulated in primary and metastatic prostate cancers and its overexpression has been associated with progression to CRPC (94). Many lines of evidence

suggest that Myc has an important role in ensuring tumor development and maintenance of CSCs in human cancers (31, 95–97). Myc, along with other stem cell genes like SOX2, BMI1 and OCT-4, is highly expressed in prostate cancer cells having the CD44+/CD24– phenotype, which is considered a hallmark of stem/progenitor cells (36, 98). However, similar to many other transcription factors, Myc is a difficult target to address directly with conventional small-molecule drugs (99). Various approaches have been attempted to target Myc by blocking Myc-protein interactions, Myc-DNA interactions and Myc transcription or translation using small molecules, peptides, oligonucleotides and small interfering RNAs (99–102). Few compounds inhibiting Myc have entered early phases of clinical investigation (100).

Following previous studies on Myc transcription and promoter regulation by oligonucleotide-based approaches (103, 104), we showed more recently that Myc transcription could be epigenetically silenced using a novel strategy based on promotertargeting siRNAs (105). This approach relies on the presence of a cis-acting non-coding promoter-associated RNA (paRNA) overlapping the gene transcription start site and positively regulating Myc gene transcription (105). siRNA directed to this paRNA inhibited Myc transcription by interfering with the formation of the transcription pre-initiation complex at the gene promoter (105). This strategy resulted in prolonged repression of Myc transcription. Interestingly, a single transfection of prostate cancer cells with the promoter-targeting siRNA induced longlasting effects on cell proliferation and colony formation in CRPC models such as the DU145 and PC3 cell lines, indicative of persistent loss of proliferative potential as consequence of Myc silencing (105). Notably, using this promoter-targeting strategy we were able to show that Myc silencing impaired maintenance and induced senescence in the prostate CSC subpopulation blocking their expansion and tumorigenic potential (36). We showed that tumor-sphere forming cells derived from these human cancer cell lines and grown in stem cell selective conditions retained high self-renewal capability and had high tumorigenic potential and ability to reconstitute the original tumor cell population. Myc silencing impaired propagation of tumor-spheres in vitro, growth of subcutaneous tumors and formation of metastasis in mice (36). Consistent with an impact on CSCs, tumors formed by Myc-depleted cells had reduced content of stem-like tumor cells capable of forming ex vivo tumor-spheres and generating secondary tumor xenografts in mice. Thus, these ex vivo assays provided direct confirmation of the anti-CSC effect of Myc silencing. Notably, the reduced CSC content and tumorigenic capability was associated with increased senescence in CSCs both in vitro and in vivo. Thus, Myc silencing led to depletion of CSCs and reduced their tumorigenic and metastatic potential through the activation of a latent senescence program in CSCs (36). This study, thus, provided direct evidence of the role of Myc in the maintenance of CSCs in human tumors and identified loss of self-renewal and induction of senescence as primary mechanisms of the depletion of tumor-initiating and metastatic prostate CSCs. These data also demonstrated that RNAi-based targeting of regulatory non-coding RNA could be an effective strategy to modulate gene expression for therapeutic applications.

Targeting upstream regulators or downstream effectors of Myc is also a valid approach (100, 102). Notably, bromodomain and extra-terminal domain (BET) proteins, such as BRD4, bind to acetylated histones and cooperate with multiple oncogenic transcription factors including Myc (106). Importantly, chemical inhibitors designed to disrupt BET protein-chromatin interactions interfere with expression and activity of Myc and other transcription factors (107-110). BET inhibitors are effective anticancer agents in preclinical models of multiple types of cancers (111). Currently, several BET protein inhibitors (e.g., ZEN003694, OTX015/MK-8628, ABBV-075, INCB057643, GSK525762/I-BET762, GS-5829) are in phase I/II clinical trials, with some studies specifically assessing their efficacy in prostate cancer patients alone or in combination with AR-targeted therapies (112). In prostate cancer, BET protein inhibitors modulate AR signaling and enhance the anti-androgenic effect of AR-targeted therapies in AR positive prostate cancer cells such as VCaP and LNCaP cells, making them suitable drugs for treatment of mCRPCs (113-116). Interestingly, BET protein inhibitors interfere with Myc functions in preclinical cancer models (106, 108, 110) and, therefore, have the potential to inhibit Myc-dependent processes also in prostate CSCs.

STAT3

Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) is a key element in multiple signaling pathways and is activated aberrantly in many human cancers (117-120). Phosphorylation at tyrosine 705 (Tyr705), which is catalyzed by protein tyrosine kinases such as Janus kinases (JAK), regulates STAT3 transcriptional activity by inducing dimerization of STAT3 monomers, nuclear accumulation and DNA binding (117, 118). The IL-6/JAK pathway is the main responsible of Tyr705 phosphorylation and activation of this pathway contributes to tumor development in many experimental models (117, 118). STAT3 activation is associated with advanced disease, metastasis and clinical progression (118). Despite some recent controversial observations, the evidence of a role of this transcription factor in tumorigenesis in clinical and experimental systems and of its potential as therapeutic target is rather overwhelming [for an extensive discussion of these issues see (119-121)].

Increasing evidence indicates that STAT3 also localizes to mitochondria and is important in controlling mitochondria function (120, 122, 123). Mitochondrial STAT3 is phosphorylated at serine 727 (Ser727) by various serine protein kinases, whereas nuclear STAT3 is predominantly phosphorylated at Tyr705 by tyrosine protein kinases, like JAK family kinases (124, 125). Interestingly, constitutively Ser727-phosphorylated STAT3 is present in many human cancers and is sufficient to drive tumorigenesis independent of Tyr705 phosphorylation in various models (124, 126, 127). Moreover, mitochondrial STAT3 is critical for survival of tumor cells under microenvironment or treatment induced stress conditions, reflecting a tumor-specific dependency on STAT3 mitochondrial functions (124, 128).

A large set of evidence reveals a critical role of the STAT3 in prostate cancer. Over-activity of STAT3 in human

cancers, including prostate cancer, is frequently the result of deregulation of upstream pathways with activation of protein tyrosine kinases associated with cytokine and growth factor receptors, like JAK family kinases (123). Increased levels of IL-6, IL-6 receptor, JAK1, and pSTAT3 have been detected in patients with metastatic tumors and CRPCs (129, 130) and are associated with poor prognosis (131, 132). The IL-6/JAK/STAT3 pathway contributes to treatment resistance promoting tumor cell survival after targeted anticancer drugs or ADT (133, 134). The pathway is at the center of tumor-microenvironment crosstalks that promote treatment resistance and stemness (134, 135). Activation of STAT3 can promote also immune-tolerance and chemo-resistance in prostate cancer through the secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines in the tumor microenvironment (136). Conversely, inhibition of the IL-6/JAK/STAT3 pathway reduces tumor cell proliferation and restores sensitivity to ARtargeted drugs (137-139). Importantly, in recent years antibodies (e.g., siltuximab) targeting the IL-6/JAK/STAT3 pathway have been tested as monotherapy or in combination with cytotoxic drugs in various clinical trials for treatment of cancers, including prostate cancer (119, 140-142). However, despite the positive data in preclinical models, the clinical activity in advanced prostate cancer patients was modest or not significant (119, 140-142), suggesting that anti-IL-6 therapies may not be the most effective approach to block STAT3 signaling in this setting.

Increased STAT3 levels and higher Tyr705 and Ser727 phosphorylation are frequent in human prostate cancer both at early (androgen-dependent) and late (castration-resistant) stages of the disease (143). STAT3 activation is associated with poor clinical outcome in prostate cancer patients (144, 145). Importantly, activation of STAT3 has been associated with promotion and maintenance of CSC, tumorigenicity and metastatic capability in prostate cancer (133, 146, 147). Alternative activation pathways and non-transcriptional functions of STAT3 may also be important in CSC maintenance (122). In prostate cancer, induction of Ser727 phosphorylation can promote cell transformation and tumor development in the absence of Tyr705 phosphorylation (126). The oncogenic effect of STAT3 in this experimental system depended strictly on phosphorylation of Ser727 and both transcriptional dependent and independent functions of STAT3 (126). Interestingly, we found that in a subset of prostate cancer, characterized by reduced expression of the ETS factor ESE3/EHF, STAT3 upregulation and activation depended on the over-expression of a microRNA, miR-424, which prevented proteasomal degradation of STAT3 and led to increased levels of total STAT3 protein (148). Remarkably, miR-424 upregulation correlated with the acquisition of CSC features in cell lines and human tumors, confirming the relevance of this non-canonical STAT3 activation pathway for stemness and tumorigenicity of prostate CSC (148).

The anti-CSC effects of interfering with IL-6/JAK signaling using chemical inhibitors or soluble IL-6R support the relevance of STAT3 activation in the CSC compartment (133, 146, 149–152). Napabucasin (BBI608), a small molecule inhibitor proposed to interfere with STAT3 signaling, has been shown to inhibit stem-like tumor cells in *ad-hoc* designed preclinical

models (153). The compound has been extensively studied in preclinical setting as single agent and in drug combinations to take advantage of the concomitant targeting of CSC and non-CSC populations of tumor cells and is currently tested in several clinical trials in combination with standard therapies for advanced cancers (152, 154). In addition to STAT3 pathway or indirect inhibitors, various direct STAT3 inhibitors have been developed and some have been tested in prostate cancer models (119). We recently showed that small molecule inhibitors of STAT3 OPB-31121 and OPB-51602, which directly bind to the SH2 domain and effectively block global downstream signaling through multiple STAT3-dependent pathways, were very active in prostate cancer cell models and specifically highly effective on the CSC compartment (128, 155). OPB-31121, OPB-51602 and a third structurally related compound, OPB-111077, have entered phase I/II clinical trials showing some limited efficacy as single agents in advanced patients with solid tumors (156-159). These inhibitors block both Tyr705 and Ser727 phosphorylation and impair functioning of both nuclear and mitochondrial STAT3 (128). Importantly, in DU145 tumor xenografts, a CRPC model, OPB-51602 profoundly inhibited tumor growth and blocked tumor cell re-population after treatment withdrawal (128). These effects correlated with significant depletion of the fraction of stem-like tumor cells in the tumor xenografts after OPB-51602 treatment as assessed by ex vivo flow cytometry and tumor-sphere assays (128).

In human cancers, STAT3 activation occurs often concomitantly with activation of the NF-KB transcription factor pathway (160). NF-κB is frequently activated in advanced prostate cancer and has been implicated in expansion of CSC (37). Notably, STAT3 and NF-kB induce highly overlapping sets of pro-tumorigenic genes that might have important functions in prostate CSC (160). Activation of NF-KB and crosstalk with the IL6/JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway were essential for the acquisition of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and CSC features in aggressive prostate tumors (161). Furthermore, multiple positive and negative feedback loops link the two pathways leading to reciprocal activation or inhibition, depending on the cell context and microenvironment stimuli (160). Interestingly, we found that the activity of both STAT3 and NF-κB was strikingly higher in prostate CSC compared to bulk tumor cells and took advantage of the availability of a novel chimeric multi-kinase inhibitor, EC-70124, generated by genetic engineering of biosynthetic pathway of natural compounds (151). The novel compound was particularly effective against IKK^β and JAK kinases, which catalyze the critical steps for activation of NF-kB and STAT3, respectively (162). Thus, we reasoned that the ability of EC-70124 to target concomitantly NF-kB and STAT3 could provide an innovative strategy to disrupt the pro-tumorigenic crosstalk between the two transcription factors and avoid the downsides of individual pathway targeting and activation of alternative survival pathways. EC-70124 blocked effectively both NF-κB and STAT3 activity in prostate cancer cells and particularly in tumor-sphere cells with constitutive activation of these pathways (151). Moreover, the drug reduced tumor-sphere formation in vitro and tumor growth in vivo (151). Notably, EC-70124 had profound effect on the CSC subpopulation in tumor xenografts. This latter aspect was investigated by performing *ex vivo* assays with cells directly isolated from tumor xenografts at the end of the *in vivo* treatment and determining the fraction of tumor cells retaining CSC features and self-renewal capability (151). Thus, dual inhibition of STAT3 and NF- κ B by EC-70124 impairs CSC maintenance and tumor development in mice and provides the basis for new therapeutic strategies for treatment of prostate cancer.

ERG

ETS transcription factors constitute a large family of transcriptional regulators with important roles in cell differentiation and carcinogenesis (163). The ETS family includes 27 members that share the highly conserved ETS domain (163). Individual ETS factors have different patterns of cell and tissue specific expression and induce distinct transcriptional and biological responses. This diversity among individual ETS factors are reflected in different roles in tumorigenesis (163). ETS factors are deregulated in many human cancers and can either promote or suppress tumorigenesis (163).

A significant percentage of prostate cancers exhibit a specific gene fusion of the ETS gene ERG and the 5' region of TMPRSS2 gene (164). The TMPRSS2 gene encodes a serine protease highly expressed in the prostate epithelium. This genetic event results in overexpression of full length (or minimally truncated) ERG protein driven by the androgen-regulated TMPRSS2 promoter in prostate epithelial cells (164-166). Interestingly, recent studies indicate the new options for targeting pharmacologically ERG for prostate cancer treatment (167-169). Ectopic expression of ERG results in complex changes in the cell transcriptome and acquisition of tumorigenic properties. However, the biological impact of aberrantly expressed ERG in prostate cancer progression and the underlying mechanisms are still unclear (170, 171). In a relevant number of human prostate cancers, ERG gene fusion occurs concomitantly with PTEN loss (172). The coexistence of the two events is generally associated with a more aggressive disease (172). Importantly, the cooperation of ERG gain and PTEN loss was recapitulated in mouse models whereby ERG transgenic mice crossed with PTEN-deficient mice developed frank malignant lesions and progression to invasive adenocarcinomas (172-174).

We recently used these GEM models with prostate-specific expression of ERG (Pb-Cre4; Rosa26ERG/ERG) with and without PTEN deletion to examine the mechanisms underlying tumor progression in ERG-fusion positive prostate cancers. ERG transgenic mice fail to develop invasive adenocarcinomas while the combined ERG/PTEN (Pb-Cre4; Ptenflox/flox; Rosa26ERG/ER) mice develop large invasive tumors (172). Thus, these GEM models represent good systems to assess events associated with prostate cancer progression. Moreover, to examine the relation between tumor progression and CSC, we took advantage of the established protocols for isolation and analysis of tumor-propagating stem-like tumor cells from *in vivo* models. Importantly, we found that prostate tumors from ERG/PTEN mice were highly enriched of stem-like cancer cells

that formed large tumor-spheroids when plated in prostatesphere culture conditions (47). Tumor-spheroids were positive for cytokeratins confirming their epithelial origin and expressed typical stem cell markers. Moreover, the ERG/PTEN derived tumor-spheroids were endowed of high *in vitro* self-renewal potential and were capable of generating tumors with high efficiency when re-implanted in mice (47).

Using this system, we recently evaluated the activity of compounds that could interfere with ERG induced transcriptonal and phenotypic reprogramming. Based on the finding of a relevant fraction of ERG/Sp1 co-regulated genes among the ERG activated targets in ERG-fusion positive tumor, we tested the activity of a novel DNA binding and Sp1 interfering compound, demycarosyl-3D-β-D-digitoxosyl-mithramycin SK (EC-8042), in ERG positive models (47). Specifically, we found that EC-8042 was a potent inhibitor of tumor-sphere formation by ERG fusion positive VCaP cells, a measure of the drug's anti-CSC activity. Interestingly, this effect was associated with reduced expression of ERG/Sp1 target genes and impaired invasive and metastatic property in vivo in the Chick Chorioallantoic Membrane (CAM) system (47). The CAM assay provide a simplified system to assess tumor growth, invasion, migration, circulation in blood vessels and metastasis in live chicken embryos. To investigate further the impact of EC-8042 on tumor-propagating stemlike cells, we took advantage of the ERG/PTEN GEM model. Treatment with EC-8042 reduced formation of tumor-spheroids from ERG/PTEN mice *in vitro* and impaired the re-implantation of tumor-spheroid cells in mice (47). Systemic treatment with EC-8042 inhibited tumor progression reducing invasive and proliferative areas in prostate adenocarcinomas in ERG/PTEN mice. Moreover, EC-8042 had a significant impact of the CSC subpopulation in ERG/PTEN mice as indicated by reduced ex vivo tumor-sphere formation and CSC marker expression (47). These data established for the first time the efficacy of antagonizing ERG oncogenic activity to block maintenance and expansion of CSC in ERG positive prostate tumor models opening new possibilities for treatment of this disease.

ESE3/EHF

ESE3/EHF is an ETS family transcription factor of the epithelialspecific subfamily. ESE3/EHF is highly expressed in normal prostate epithelial cells and is essential for epithelial cell differentiation. Interestingly, we found that ESE3/EHF, along with ERG, was one of the most frequently deregulated ETS factors in human prostate cancer (175, 176). Importantly, down-regulation of ESE3/EHF in immortalized human prostate epithelial cells resulted in transformation, dedifferentiation, EMT, and acquisition of CSC properties (35). Furthermore, we identified a group of prostate tumors that exhibited marked reduction of ESE3/EHF expression in the absence of alterations of other ETS genes, including ERG. Enrichment of transcriptional features associated with EMT and CSC phenotype along with adverse clinical outcome characterized tumors with loss of ESE3/EHF expression (35). In follow up studies, we made further progress in understanding the tumor suppressor role of ESE3/EHF, particularly with respect to its function in cell differentiation and stemness. The link between ESE3/EHF and CSC properties was investigated by *in vitro* tumor-sphere and *in vivo* xenograft re-implantation assays (35, 45). ESE3/EHF knockdown in immortalized normal prostate epithelial cells, such as RWPE1 and LHS, was a potent inducer of stem-like, tumorigenic and self-renewal capability in prostate epithelial cells (35). Furthermore, we established that ESE3/EHF controls key genes and microRNAs specifically involved in epithelial differentiation and CSC maintenance (35, 45, 148). Collectively, these findings suggested also various strategies to target tumors with loss of ESE3/EHF expression and reverse their aggressive phenotype.

We found that ESE3/EHF downregulation led to increased expression of stem cell factors Lin28A/B along with other stemness-related factors (45). Lin28 A/B are key elements in the processing of mature microRNA of the let-7 family, which are potent tumor suppressors and anti-CSC effectors (177). Accordingly, we evaluated the effect of knocking down Lin28 on tumorigenic and stem-like properties of transformed prostate epithelial cells with ESE3/EHF downregulation. Lin28 knockdown reduced the expression of CSC markers and the ability to sustain tumor formation in mice (45). Accordingly, ex vivo tumor-sphere assays showed a significant and persistent reduction of stem-like cells in Lin28-depleted tumor xenografts. Moreover, in serial re-implantation experiments Lin28 knockdown decreased profoundly the in vivo self-renewal and tumorigenic potential of prostate CSC (45). Thus, targeting Lin28 could re-activate a latent differentiation/senescence program in prostate CSC and lead to their ablation in ESE3/EHF^{low} prostate tumors (45). Based on these findings, we recently evaluated a first chemical inhibitor of Lin28A/B, ID1632, and demonstrated in vitro its significant activity in CSC culture systems (178), suggesting an alternative to the siRNA and short-oligonucleotide based approaches (45, 179). All these modalities to target Lin28A/B and counteract the effects of ESE3/EHF silencing are in early preclinical stages of investigation.

We observed that ESE3/EHF had also a relevant impact on the activation state of STAT3. By performing miRNA expression profiling in a cohort of primary prostate tumors and normal prostate for which we had matching gene expression data we found that many microRNAs were significantly deregulated in tumors compared to normal prostate. We identified miR-424 as one of the most upregulated miRNAs in ESE3^{low} tumors and cell lines (148). Functional assays demonstrated that ESE3/EHF repressed transcription of miR-424 in normal prostate epithelial cells and loss of ESE3/EHF triggered miR-424 upregulation in cancer cells (148). Among the potential targets of miR-424, we found that the E3 ubiquitin ligase COP1 had a key role in miR-424 induced phenotypes in ESE3/EHF under-expressing prostate tumor cells. Interestingly, follow up studies revealed that miR-424 mediated silencing of COP1 led to impaired proteasomal degradation of STAT3 leading to stabilization and constitutive activation of this oncogenic transcription factor (148). Importantly, miR-424 upregulation promoted EMT and tumor-sphere formation, features associated with the CSC phenotype. Moreover, a synthetic antagonist of miR-424 reduced tumor-sphere formation in vitro and impaired the ability to generate tumors in mice (148). Several miRNA-based therapeutics are currently in clinical trials and represent promising tools for targeting oncogenic and tumor suppressor pathways (180).

ESE3/EHF modulates STAT3 activity also by controlling IL-6 transcription (150). We observed that expression of ESE3/EHF and IL-6 were significantly anti-correlated in primary and metastatic prostate cancers. ESE3/EHF bound to the IL-6 promoter and repressed IL-6 transcription (150). Moreover, IL-6, phosphorylated STAT3 and STAT3 transcriptional activity were consistently upregulated in tumor-spheres from ESE3/EHF under-expressing tumor cells, in line with aberrant activation of IL-6/JAK/STAT3 pathway in prostate CSC. To test the effect of antagonizing IL-6/JAK/STAT3 pathway in ESE3/EHF under-expressing tumors, we used the JAK2 inhibitor NVP-BSK805 (150). NVP-BSK805 significantly reduced tumor-sphere formation in ESE3/EHF low expressing models. Moreover, treatment with NVP-BSK805 inhibited growth of tumor xenografts and self-renewal capability of tumor-sphere cells derived from ESE3/EHF knockdown models, indicating that the CSC compartment was compromised persistently by disrupting the IL-6/JAK/STAT3 axis in the context of ESE3/EHF^{low} tumors (150). Many JAK inhibitors are currently in clinical trials for oncological and non-oncological indications (181), making their use for counteracting CSC expansion in specific subtypes of prostate cancer a reasonably testable hypothesis. Collectively, these data indicate that ESE3/EHF activity is essential to maintain the balance between differentiation and self-renewal in the prostate epithelium and that loss of expression of this transcriptional regulator characterize aggressive tumors specifically susceptible to approaches aimed at restoring the tumor suppressor function of ESE3/EHF.

CONCLUSIONS

In recent years, a growing body of evidence has accumulated on the role of CSC in the genesis and progression of prostate cancer. Prostate CSC play a pivotal role in castration-resistance and phenotypic plasticity that underlie treatment failure and disease recurrence in advanced stage patients. Therapies targeting prostate CSCs can lead to effective treatment for these patients. Anti-CSC strategies should complement the current therapeutic approaches that aim at reducing AR-dependent and proliferating bulk tumor cells. The dissection of the molecular mechanisms controlling the dynamic phenotypic changes that characterize the CSC subpopulation is a mandatory prerequisite to design precise therapeutic interventions aimed at eradicating the CSC. Stem cell reprogramming factors, transcriptional regulators, and epigenetic effectors sustain the maintenance and expansion of prostate CSC and may represent valid therapeutic targets. We have shown that blocking expression and function of transcription factors that are aberrantly upregulated in prostate CSC derived from human cell lines, xenografts and GEM models results in substantial depletion of the CSC subpopulation and severe impairment of the self-renewal and tumorigenic capability. These approaches based on the use of small-molecule chemical inhibitors or synthetic siRNA provide innovative

strategies to disrupt the pro-tumorigenic signaling sustaining the prostate CSC phenotype. Nevertheless, despite the enormous progress seen in the last decades, many questions on the heterogeneity and plasticity of prostate CSCs and their evolution during tumor progression and treatment remain open and the results will influence the successful implementation of anti-CSC therapies (1, 3, 5, 48). The application of emerging technologies such as single-cell genomics and spatial transcriptomics (182-186) will allow addressing the important questions of stem cell niche composition, anatomical location, biological and genomic heterogeneity of prostate CSCs in longitudinal studies in mouse models and human samples. Genomic and proteomic approaches may lead to the development of specific CSC signatures to apply to preclinical models and human samples and probe the CSC population and characterize their heterogeneity and evolution during the course of the disease and in response to treatments (31, 95, 187). Likely, combinations of standard therapies targeting bulk tumor cells with more selective anti-CSC therapies would be the most reliable treatment approach for most patients. Combined targeting of multiple CSC pathways might also be

REFERENCES

- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2008) 8:755–68. doi: 10.1038/nrc2499
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells: current status and evolving complexities. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2012) 10:717–28. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.007
- Easwaran H, Tsai HC, Baylin SB. Cancer epigenetics: tumor heterogeneity, plasticity of stem-like states, and drug resistance. *Mol Cell*. (2014) 54:716–27. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.05.015
- Brooks MD, Burness ML, Wicha MS. Therapeutic implications of cellular heterogeneity and plasticity in breast cancer. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2015) 17:260– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.08.014
- Zhou BB, Zhang H, Damelin M, Geles KG, Grindley JC, Dirks PB. Tumour-initiating cells: challenges and opportunities for anticancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2009) 8:806–23. doi: 10.103 8/nrd2137
- Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Tackling the cancer stem cells what challenges do they pose? *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2014) 13:497–512. doi: 10.1038/nrd4253
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J. Clin. (2018) 68:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21442
- Knudsen KE, Scher HI. Starving the addiction: new opportunities for durable suppression of AR signaling in prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:4792–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2660
- Watson PA, Arora VK, Sawyers CL. Emerging mechanisms of resistance to androgen receptor inhibitors in prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2015) 15:701–11. doi: 10.1038/nrc4016
- Taylor BS, Schultz N, Hieronymus H, Gopalan A, Xiao Y, Carver BS, et al. Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 18:11–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.026
- Robinson D, Van Allen EM, Wu YM, Schultz N, Lonigro RJ, Mosquera JM, et al. Integrative clinical genomics of advanced prostate cancer. *Cell.* (2015) 162:454. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.053
- Beltran H, Prandi D, Mosquera JM, Benelli M, Puca L, Cyrta J, et al. Divergent clonal evolution of castration-resistant neuroendocrine prostate cancer. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:298–305. doi: 10.1038/nm.4045
- Perry AS, Watson RW, Lawler M, Hollywood D. The epigenome as a therapeutic target in prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Urol.* (2010) 7:668–80. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2010.185

required to achieve effective control of the CSC subpopulation within highly heterogeneous tumors and avoid CSC escape. Properly designed preclinical studies and clinical trials should investigate the feasibility and efficacy of the diverse strategies matching the genotypic and epigenetic features of the tumors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GC, DA, DS, RV, JM, AK, SM, GMC, and CC reviewed the literature, analyzed the data, and contribute to writing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work in the corresponding authors was funded by Swiss National Science Foundation (310030-169942, 310030L-170182, 31003A-173187, IZLSZ3-170898), Swiss Cancer League (KLS-3872-02-2016, KLS KLS-4569-08-2018, KFS-3872-02-2016, KFS-3816-02-2016, KLS-3839-02-2016), and Fondazione Ticinese per la Ricerca sul Cancro (CC).

- Jeronimo C, Bastian PJ, Bjartell A, Carbone GM, Catto JW, Clark SJ, et al. Epigenetics in prostate cancer: biologic and clinical relevance. *Eur Urol.* (2011) 60:753–66. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2011.06.035
- Zou M, Toivanen R, Mitrofanova A, Floch N, Hayati S, Sun Y, et al. Transdifferentiation as a mechanism of treatment resistance in a mouse model of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Discov.* (2017) 7:736– 49. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1174
- Davies AH, Beltran H, Zoubeidi A. Cellular plasticity and the neuroendocrine phenotype in prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Urol.* (2018) 15:271–86. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2018.22
- Park JW, Lee JK, Sheu KM, Wang L, Balanis NG, Nguyen K, et al. Reprogramming normal human epithelial tissues to a common, lethal neuroendocrine cancer lineage. *Science*. (2018) 362:91–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aat5749
- Nelson WG, De Marzo AM, Isaacs WB. Prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. (2003) 349:366–81. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra021562
- Li JJ, Shen MM. Prostate stem cells and cancer stem cells. *Cold Spring Harb* Perspect Med. (2018) 5:a030395. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a030395
- Zhang D, Zhao S, Li X, Kirk JS, Tang DG. Prostate luminal progenitor cells in development and cancer. *Trends Cancer.* (2018) 4:769–83. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2018.09.003
- Attard G, Parker C, Eeles RA, Schroder F, Tomlins SA, Tannock I, et al. Prostate cancer. *Lancet.* (2016) 387:70–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61947-4
- Seruga B, Ocana A, Tannock IF. Drug resistance in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2011) 8:12–23. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.136
- Yap TA, Zivi A, Omlin A, De Bono JS. The changing therapeutic landscape of castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2011) 8:597–610. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2011.117
- Attard G, Antonarakis ES. Prostate cancer: AR aberrations and resistance to abiraterone or enzalutamide. Nat Rev Urol. (2016) 13:697–8. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2016.212
- Ku SY, Rosario S, Wang Y, Mu P, Seshadri M, Goodrich ZW, et al. Rb1 and Trp53 cooperate to suppress prostate cancer lineage plasticity, metastasis, and antiandrogen resistance. *Science*. (2017) 355:78–83. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4199
- Mu P, Zhang Z, Benelli M, Karthaus WR, Hoover E, Chen CC, et al. SOX2 promotes lineage plasticity and antiandrogen resistance in TP53- and RB1-deficient prostate cancer. *Science.* (2017) 355:84–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4307

- Quinn DI, Sandler HM, Horvath LG, Goldkorn A, Eastham JA. The evolution of chemotherapy for the treatment of prostate cancer. *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 28:2658–69. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx348
- Nuhn P, De Bono JS, Fizazi K, Freedland SJ, Grilli M, Kantoff PW, et al. Update on systemic prostate cancer therapies: management of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer in the era of precision oncology. *Eur Urol.* (2019) 75:88–99. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2018.03.028
- 29. Beer TM. Management of castration-resistant, taxane-resistant prostate cancer. Oncology. (2017) 31:633–6.
- Qin J, Liu X, Laffin B, Chen X, Choy G, Jeter CR, et al. The PSA(-/lo) prostate cancer cell population harbors self-renewing long-term tumorpropagating cells that resist castration. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2012) 10:556–69. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.03.009
- Zhang D, Park D, Zhong Y, Lu Y, Rycaj K, Gong S, et al. Stem cell and neurogenic gene-expression profiles link prostate basal cells to aggressive prostate cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10798. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10798
- 32. Ward RJ, Dirks PB. Cancer stem cells: at the headwaters of tumor development. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2007) 2:175–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pathol.2.010506.091847
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ. Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:10946–51. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2018
- Dubrovska A, Kim S, Salamone RJ, Walker JR, Maira SM, Garcia-Echeverria C, et al. The role of PTEN/Akt/PI3K signaling in the maintenance and viability of prostate cancer stem-like cell populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2009) 106:268–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810956106
- Albino D, Longoni N, Curti L, Mello-Grand M, Pinton S, Civenni G, et al. ESE3/EHF controls epithelial cell differentiation and its loss leads to prostate tumors with mesenchymal and stem-like features. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2889–900. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0212
- 36. Civenni G, Malek A, Albino D, Garcia-Escudero R, Napoli S, Di Marco S, et al. RNAi-mediated silencing of Myc transcription inhibits stem-like cell maintenance and tumorigenicity in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:6816–27. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN -13-0615
- Rajasekhar VK, Studer L, Gerald W, Socci ND, Scher HI. Tumour-initiating stem-like cells in human prostate cancer exhibit increased NF-kappaB signalling. *Nat Commun.* (2011) 2:162. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1159
- Harris KS, Kerr BA. Prostate cancer stem cell markers drive progression, therapeutic resistance, and bone metastasis. *Stem Cells Int.* (2017) 2017:8629234. doi: 10.1155/2017/8629234
- Cojoc M, Peitzsch C, Kurth I, Trautmann F, Kunz-Schughart LA, Telegeev GD, et al. Aldehyde Dehydrogenase is regulated by βcatenin/TCF and promotes radioresistance in prostate cancer progenitor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:1482–94. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.C AN-14-1924
- Peitzsch C, Cojoc M, Hein L, Kurth I, Mabert K, Trautmann F, et al. An epigenetic reprogramming strategy to resensitize radioresistant prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:2637–51. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2116
- Yoo YA, Roh M, Naseem AF, Lysy B, Desouki MM, Unno K, et al. Bmi1 marks distinct castration-resistant luminal progenitor cells competent for prostate regeneration and tumour initiation. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12943. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12943
- Chen X, Li Q, Liu X, Liu C, Liu R, Rycaj K, et al. Defining a population of stem-like human prostate cancer cells that can generate and propagate castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:4505–16. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2956
- Gao D, Vela I, Sboner A, Iaquinta PJ, Karthaus WR, Gopalan A, et al. Organoid cultures derived from patients with advanced prostate cancer. *Cell.* (2014) 159:176–87. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.016
- 44. Drost J, Karthaus WR, Gao D, Driehuis E, Sawyers CL, Chen Y, et al. Organoid culture systems for prostate epithelial and cancer tissue. *Nat Protoc.* (2016) 11:347–58. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2016.006
- Albino D, Civenni G, Dallavalle C, Roos M, Jahns H, Curti L, et al. Activation of the Lin28/let-7 axis by loss of ESE3/EHF promotes a tumorigenic and stem-like phenotype in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:3629–43. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2665

- Civenni G, Carbone GM, Catapano CV. Overview of genetically engineered mouse models of prostate cancer and their applications in drug discovery. *Curr Protoc Pharmacol.* (2018) 81:e39. doi: 10.1002/cpph.39
- 47. Shinde D, Albino D, Zoma M, Mutti A, Mapelli S, Civenni G, et al. Transcriptional reprogramming and inhibition of tumor-propagating stemlike cells by EC-8042 in ERG-positive prostate cancer. *Eur Urol Oncol.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.euo.2018.08.024
- Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD. Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2019) 24:25–40. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.11.017
- Maitland NJ, Collins AT. Prostate cancer stem cells: a new target for therapy. J Clin Oncol. (2008) 26:2862–70. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.1472
- Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2015) 12:445–64. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.61
- Roberts KJ, Kershner AM, Beachy PA. The stromal niche for epithelial stem cells: a template for regeneration and a brake on malignancy. *Cancer Cell.* (2017) 32:404–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.08.007
- Bisson I, Prowse DM. WNT signaling regulates self-renewal and differentiation of prostate cancer cells with stem cell characteristics. *Cell Res.* (2009) 19:683–97. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.43
- Ma F, Ye H, He HH, Gerrin SJ, Chen S, Tanenbaum BA, et al. SOX9 drives WNT pathway activation in prostate cancer. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:1745–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI78815
- Murillo-Garzon V, Kypta R. WNT signalling in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol. (2017) 14:683–96. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2017.144
- 55. Zhang K, Guo Y, Wang X, Zhao H, Ji Z, Cheng C, et al. WNT/βcatenin directs self-renewal symmetric cell division of hTERT(high) prostate cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:2534–47. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1887
- Karhadkar SS, Bova GS, Abdallah N, Dhara S, Gardner D, Maitra A, et al. Hedgehog signalling in prostate regeneration, neoplasia and metastasis. *Nature*. (2004) 431:707–12. doi: 10.1038/nature02962
- Chen M, Carkner R, Buttyan R. The hedgehog/Gli signaling paradigm in prostate cancer. *Exp Rev Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 6:453–67. doi: 10.1586/eem.11.24
- Chang HH, Chen BY, Wu CY, Tsao ZJ, Chen YY, Chang CP, et al. Hedgehog overexpression leads to the formation of prostate cancer stem cells with metastatic property irrespective of androgen receptor expression in the mouse model. *J Biomed Sci.* (2011) 18:6. doi: 10.1186/1423-0127-18-6
- Luo W, Rodriguez M, Valdez JM, Zhu X, Tan K, Li D, et al. Lgr4 is a key regulator of prostate development and prostate stem cell differentiation. *Stem Cells.* (2013) 31:2492–505. doi: 10.1002/stem.1484
- Wang XD, Shou J, Wong P, French DM, Gao WQ. Notch1-expressing cells are indispensable for prostatic branching morphogenesis during development and re-growth following castration and androgen replacement. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:24733–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M401602200
- Kwon OJ, Valdez JM, Zhang L, Zhang B, Wei X, Su Q, et al. Increased notch signalling inhibits anoikis and stimulates proliferation of prostate luminal epithelial cells. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4416. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5416
- O'brien R, Marignol L. The Notch-1 receptor in prostate tumorigenesis. Cancer Treat Rev. (2017) 56, 36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.04.003
- Domingo-Domenech J, Vidal SJ, Rodriguez-Bravo V, Castillo-Martin M, Quinn SA, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Suppression of acquired docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer through depletion of notch- and hedgehog-dependent tumor-initiating cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 22:373–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.07.016
- 64. Guo Y, Zhang K, Cheng C, Ji Z, Wang X, Wang M, et al. Numb(-/low) enriches a castration-resistant prostate cancer cell subpopulation associated with enhanced notch and hedgehog signaling. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:6744–56. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0913
- Yun EJ, Zhou J, Lin CJ, Hernandez E, Fazli L, Gleave M, et al. Targeting cancer stem cells in castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:670–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0190
- 66. Zhang Z, Cheng L, Li J, Farah E, Atallah NM, Pascuzzi PE, et al. Inhibition of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway overcomes resistance to enzalutamide in castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:3147–62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3006

- Cui D, Dai J, Keller JM, Mizokami A, Xia S, Keller ET. Notch pathway inhibition using PF-03084014, a γ-secretase inhibitor (gsi), enhances the antitumor effect of docetaxel in prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4619–29. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0242
- Revandkar A, Perciato ML, Toso A, Alajati A, Chen J, Gerber H, et al. Inhibition of Notch pathway arrests PTEN-deficient advanced prostate cancer by triggering p27-driven cellular senescence. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13719. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13719
- Mohamed AA, Tan SH, Xavier CP, Katta S, Huang W, Ravindranath L, et al. Synergistic activity with NOTCH inhibition and androgen ablation in ERG-positive prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2017) 15:1308–17. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-17-0058
- Cui J, Wang Y, Dong B, Qin L, Wang C, Zhou P, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of the Notch pathway enhances the efficacy of androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2018) 143:645–56. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31346
- Venkatesh V, Nataraj R, Thangaraj GS, Karthikeyan M, Gnanasekaran A, Kaginelli SB, et al. Targeting Notch signalling pathway of cancer stem cells. *Stem Cell Investig.* (2018) 5:5. doi: 10.21037/sci.2018.02.02
- 72. Nanta R, Kumar D, Meeker D, Rodova M, Van Veldhuizen PJ, Shankar S, et al. NVP-LDE-225 (Erismodegib) inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition and human prostate cancer stem cell growth in NOD/SCID IL2Rγ null mice by regulating Bmi-1 and microRNA-128. Oncogenesis. (2013) 2:e42. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2013.5
- Gonnissen A, Isebaert S, Haustermans K. Targeting the Hedgehog signaling pathway in cancer: beyond smoothened. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:13899–913. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4224
- 74. Gonnissen A, Isebaert S, Mckee CM, Dok R, Haustermans K, Muschel RJ. The hedgehog inhibitor GANT61 sensitizes prostate cancer cells to ionizing radiation both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Oncotarget. (2016) 7:84286–98. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12483
- Le PN, Mcdermott JD, Jimeno A. Targeting the Wnt pathway in human cancers: therapeutic targeting with a focus on OMP-54F28. *Pharmacol Ther*. (2015) 146:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.08.005
- 76. Grandy D, Shan J, Zhang X, Rao S, Akunuru S, Li H, et al. Discovery and characterization of a small molecule inhibitor of the PDZ domain of dishevelled. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:16256–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.009647
- 77. Gurney A, Axelrod F, Bond CJ, Cain J, Chartier C, Donigan L, et al. Wnt pathway inhibition via the targeting of Frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:11717–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120068109
- Liu J, Pan S, Hsieh MH, Ng N, Sun F, Wang T, et al. Targeting Wnt-driven cancer through the inhibition of Porcupine by LGK974. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2013) 110:20224–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1314239110
- Suzman DL, Antonarakis ES. Clinical implications of hedgehog pathway signaling in prostate cancer. *Cancers.* (2015) 7:1983–93. doi: 10.3390/cancers7040871
- Leao R, Domingos C, Figueiredo A, Hamilton R, Tabori U, Castelo-Branco P. Cancer stem cells in prostate cancer: implications for targeted therapy. *Urol Int.* (2017) 99:125–36. doi: 10.1159/000455160
- 81. Jimeno A, Gordon M, Chugh R, Messersmith W, Mendelson D, Dupont J, et al. A first-in-human phase I study of the anticancer stem cell agent ipafricept (OMP-54F28), a decoy receptor for Wnt ligands, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:7490–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2157
- Ran Y, Hossain F, Pannuti A, Lessard CB, Ladd GZ, Jung JI, et al. Gamma-secretase inhibitors in cancer clinical trials are pharmacologically and functionally distinct. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2017) 9:950–66. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201607265
- Lukacs RU, Memarzadeh S, Wu H, Witte ON. Bmi-1 is a crucial regulator of prostate stem cell self-renewal and malignant transformation. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2010) 7:682–93. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.11.013
- 84. Cai H, Memarzadeh S, Stoyanova T, Beharry Z, Kraft AS, Witte ON. Collaboration of Kras and androgen receptor signaling stimulates EZH2 expression and tumor-propagating cells in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:4672–81. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0228

- Bansal N, Bartucci M, Yusuff S, Davis S, Flaherty K, Huselid E, et al. BMI-1 targeting interferes with patient-derived tumor-initiating cell survival and tumor growth in prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:6176–91. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-3107
- Jeter CR, Liu B, Lu Y, Chao HP, Zhang D, Liu X, et al. NANOG reprograms prostate cancer cells to castration resistance via dynamically repressing and engaging the AR/FOXA1 signaling axis. *Cell Discov.* (2016) 2:16041. doi: 10.1038/celldisc.2016.41
- Yoo YA, Vatapalli R, Lysy B, Mok H, Desouki MM, Abdulkadir SA. The role of castration-resistant Bmi1+Sox2+ cells in driving recurrence in prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2018) 111, 311–321. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy142
- Dardenne E, Beltran H, Benelli M, Gayvert K, Berger A, Puca L, et al. N-Myc induces an EZH2-mediated transcriptional program driving neuroendocrine prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell.* (2016) 30:563–77. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.09.005
- Kim KH, Roberts CW. Targeting EZH2 in cancer. Nat Med. (2016) 22:128– 34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4036
- Morera L, Lubbert M, Jung M. Targeting histone methyltransferases and demethylases in clinical trials for cancer therapy. *Clin Epigenet*. (2016) 8:57. doi: 10.1186/s13148-016-0223-4
- Dey A, Xiong X, Crim A, Dwivedi SKD, Mustafi SB, Mukherjee P, et al. Evaluating the mechanism and therapeutic potential of PTC-028, a novel inhibitor of BMI-1 function in ovarian cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:39–49. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0574
- 92. Italiano A, Soria JC, Toulmonde M, Michot JM, Lucchesi C, Varga A, et al. Tazemetostat, an EZH2 inhibitor, in relapsed or refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma and advanced solid tumours: a first-in-human, open-label, phase 1 study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:649–59. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30145-1
- Dang CV. MYC on the path to cancer. Cell. (2012) 149:22–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.003
- Koh CM, Bieberich CJ, Dang CV, Nelson WG, Yegnasubramanian S, De Marzo AM. MYC and prostate cancer. *Genes Cancer*. (2010) 1:617–28. doi: 10.1177/1947601910379132
- Smith BA, Sokolov A, Uzunangelov V, Baertsch R, Newton Y, Graim K, et al. A basal stem cell signature identifies aggressive prostate cancer phenotypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:E6544–52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1518007112
- 96. Cajigas-Du Ross CK, Martinez SR, Woods-Burnham L, Duran AM, Roy S, Basu A, et al. RNA sequencing reveals upregulation of a transcriptomic program associated with stemness in metastatic prostate cancer cells selected for taxane resistance. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:30363–84. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25744
- Kanwal R, Shukla S, Walker E, Gupta S. Acquisition of tumorigenic potential and therapeutic resistance in CD133+ subpopulation of prostate cancer cells exhibiting stem-cell like characteristics. *Cancer Lett.* (2018) 430:25–33. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.05.014
- Hurt EM, Kawasaki BT, Klarmann GJ, Thomas SB, Farrar WL. CD44+ CD24(-D24(-) prostate cells are early cancer progenitor/stem cells that provide a model for patients with poor progno*Br. J. Cancer*. (2008) 98:756– 65. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604242
- Chen H, Liu H, Qing G. Targeting oncogenic Myc as a strategy for cancer treatment. *Signal Trans Target Ther.* (2018) 3:5. doi: 10.1038/s41392-018-0008-7
- Whitfield JR, Beaulieu ME, Soucek L. Strategies to inhibit myc and their clinical applicability. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2017) 5:10. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2017.00010
- 101. Carabet LA, Lallous N, Leblanc E, Ban F, Morin H, Lawn S, et al. Computer-aided drug discovery of Myc-Max inhibitors as potential therapeutics for prostate cancer. *Eur J Med Chem.* (2018) 160:108–19. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.09.023
- 102. Carabet LA, Rennie PS, Cherkasov A. Therapeutic inhibition of Myc in cancer. Structural bases and computer-aided drug discovery approaches. *Int J Molecul Sci.* (2018) 20:120. doi: 10.3390/ijms20010120
- 103. Mcguffie EM, Pacheco D, Carbone GM, Catapano CV. Antigene and antiproliferative effects of a c-myc-targeting phosphorothioate triple helix-forming oligonucleotide in human leukemia cells. *Cancer Res.* (2000) 60:3790–9.

- 104. Carbone GM, Mcguffie E, Napoli S, Flanagan CE, Dembech C, Negri U, et al. DNA binding and antigene activity of a daunomycin-conjugated triplexforming oligonucleotide targeting the P2 promoter of the human c-myc gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2004) 32:2396–410. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh527
- Napoli S, Pastori C, Magistri M, Carbone GM, Catapano CV. Promoterspecific transcriptional interference and c-myc gene silencing by siRNAs in human cells. *EMBO J.* (2009) 28:1708–19. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.139
- 106. Shi J, Vakoc CR. The mechanisms behind the therapeutic activity of BET bromodomain inhibition. *Mol Cell.* (2014) 54:728–36. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.05.016
- 107. Filippakopoulos P, Qi J, Picaud S, Shen Y, Smith WB, Fedorov O, et al. Selective inhibition of BET bromodomains. *Nature*. (2010) 468:1067–73. doi: 10.1038/nature09504
- Delmore JE, Issa GC, Lemieux ME, Rahl PB, Shi J, Jacobs HM, et al. BET bromodomain inhibition as a therapeutic strategy to target c-Myc. *Cell.* (2011) 146:904–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.017
- 109. Zuber J, Shi J, Wang E, Rappaport AR, Herrmann H, Sison EA, et al. RNAi screen identifies Brd4 as a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Nature*. (2011) 478:524–8. doi: 10.1038/nature10334
- Muhar M, Ebert A, Neumann T, Umkehrer C, Jude J, Wieshofer C, et al. SLAM-seq defines direct gene-regulatory functions of the BRD4-MYC axis. *Science*. (2018) 360:800–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aao2793
- Filippakopoulos P, Knapp S. Targeting bromodomains: epigenetic readers of lysine acetylation. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2014) 13:337–56. doi: 10.1038/nrd4286
- 112. Alqahtani A, Choucair K, Ashraf M, Hammouda DM, Alloghbi A, Khan T, et al. Bromodomain and extra-terminal motif inhibitors: a review of preclinical and clinical advances in cancer therapy. *Future Sci.* (2019) 5:FSO372. doi: 10.4155/fsoa-2018-0115
- 113. Asangani IA, Dommeti VL, Wang X, Malik R, Cieslik M, Yang R, et al. Therapeutic targeting of BET bromodomain proteins in castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Nature*. (2014) 510:278–82. doi: 10.1038/nature13229
- 114. Asangani IA, Wilder-Romans K, Dommeti VL, Krishnamurthy PM, Apel IJ, Escara-Wilke J, et al. BET Bromodomain inhibitors enhance efficacy and disrupt resistance to AR antagonists in the treatment of prostate cancer. *Molecul Cancer Res.* (2016) 14:324–31. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0472
- Fernandez-Salas E, Wang S, Chinnaiyan AM. Role of BET proteins in castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Drug Discov Today Tech.* (2016) 19:29– 38. doi: 10.1016/j.ddtec.2016.07.001
- 116. Welti J, Sharp A, Yuan W, Dolling D, Nava Rodrigues D, Figueiredo I, et al. Targeting bromodomain and extra-terminal (BET) family proteins in castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:3149–62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3571
- 117. Yu H, Pardoll D, Jove R. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nat Rev Cancer. (2009) 9:798–809. doi: 10.1038/nrc2734
- Sansone P, Bromberg J. Targeting the interleukin-6/Jak/stat pathway in human malignancies. J Clin Oncol. (2012) 30:1005–14. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.31.8907
- Johnson DE, O'keefe RA, Grandis JR. Targeting the IL-6/JAK/STAT3 signalling axis in cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2018) 15:234–48. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2018.8
- 120. Huynh J, Chand A, Gough D, Ernst M. Therapeutically exploiting STAT3 activity in cancer - using tissue repair as a road map. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2019) 19:82–96. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0090-8
- Culig Z, Puhr M. Interleukin-6 and prostate cancer: current developments and unsolved questions. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2018) 462:25–30. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.03.012
- 122. Meier JA, Larner AC. Toward a new STATe: the role of STATs in mitochondrial function. Semin Immunol. (2014) 26:20–8. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.12.005
- 123. Yu H, Lee H, Herrmann A, Buettner R, Jove R. Revisiting STAT3 signalling in cancer: new and unexpected biological functions. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:736–46. doi: 10.1038/nrc3818
- 124. Gough DJ, Corlett A, Schlessinger K, Wegrzyn J, Larner AC, Levy DE. Mitochondrial STAT3 supports Ras-dependent oncogenic transformation. *Science*. (2009) 324:1713–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1171721

- 125. Wegrzyn J, Potla R, Chwae YJ, Sepuri NB, Zhang Q, Koeck T, et al. Function of mitochondrial Stat3 in cellular respiration. *Science*. (2009) 323:793–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1164551
- 126. Qin HR, Kim HJ, Kim JY, Hurt EM, Klarmann GJ, Kawasaki BT, et al. Activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 through a phosphomimetic serine 727 promotes prostate tumorigenesis independent of tyrosine 705 phosphorylation. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:7736– 41. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1125
- 127. Zhang Q, Raje V, Yakovlev VA, Yacoub A, Szczepanek K, Meier J, et al. Mitochondrial localized Stat3 promotes breast cancer growth via phosphorylation of serine 727. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:31280–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.505057
- 128. Genini D, Brambilla L, Laurini E, Merulla J, Civenni G, Pandit S, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction induced by a SH2 domain-targeting STAT3 inhibitor leads to metabolic synthetic lethality in cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E4924–E4933. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1615730114
- 129. Adler HL, Mccurdy MA, Kattan MW, Timme TL, Scardino PT, Thompson TC. Elevated levels of circulating interleukin-6 and transforming growth factor-beta1 in patients with metastatic prostatic carcinoma. J Urol. (1999) 161:182–7. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(01)62092-5
- 130. Drachenberg DE, Elgamal AA, Rowbotham R, Peterson M, Murphy GP. Circulating levels of interleukin-6 in patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer. *Prostate*. (1999) 41:127–33. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0045(19991001)41:2<127::AID-PROS7>3.0.CO;2-H
- 131. Nakashima J, Tachibana M, Horiguchi Y, Oya M, Ohigashi T, Asakura H, et al. Serum interleukin 6 as a prognostic factor in patients with prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2000) 6:2702–6.
- 132. Tam L, Mcglynn LM, Traynor P, Mukherjee R, Bartlett JM, Edwards J. Expression levels of the JAK/STAT pathway in the transition from hormone-sensitive to hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Br J Cancer. (2007) 97:378–83. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc. 6603871
- 133. Schroeder A, Herrmann A, Cherryholmes G, Kowolik C, Buettner R, Pal S, et al. Loss of androgen receptor expression promotes a stem-like cell phenotype in prostate cancer through STAT3 signaling. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:1227–37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0594
- 134. Huang H, Wang C, Liu F, Li HZ, Peng G, Gao X, et al. Reciprocal network between cancer stem-like cells and macrophages facilitates the progression and androgen deprivation therapy resistance of prostate cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:4612–26. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0461
- 135. Sorrentino C, Ciummo SL, Cipollone G, Caputo S, Bellone M, Di Carlo E. Interleukin-30/IL27p28 shapes prostate cancer stem-like cell behavior and is critical for tumor onset and metastasization. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:2654–68. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-3117
- 136. Toso A, Revandkar A, Di Mitri D, Guccini I, Proietti M, Sarti M, et al. Enhancing chemotherapy efficacy in Pten-deficient prostate tumors by activating the senescence-associated antitumor immunity. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 9:75–89. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.08.044
- 137. Smith PC, Keller ET. Anti-interleukin-6 monoclonal antibody induces regression of human prostate cancer xenografts in nude mice. *Prostate*. (2001) 48:47–53. doi: 10.1002/pros.1080
- 138. Wallner L, Dai J, Escara-Wilke J, Zhang J, Yao Z, Lu Y, et al. Inhibition of interleukin-6 with CNTO328, an anti-interleukin-6 monoclonal antibody, inhibits conversion of androgen-dependent prostate cancer to an androgenindependent phenotype in orchiectomized mice. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:3087–95. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3447
- Liu C, Zhu Y, Lou W, Cui Y, Evans CP, Gao AC. Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 reverses enzalutamide resistance in LNCaP derivative prostate cancer cells. *Prostate*. (2014) 74:201–9. doi: 10.1002/pros.22741
- 140. Dorff TB, Goldman B, Pinski JK, Mack PC, Lara PN Jr, Van Veldhuizen PJJr, et al. Clinical and correlative results of SWOG S0354: a phase II trial of CNTO328 (siltuximab), a monoclonal antibody against interleukin-6, in chemotherapy-pretreated patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:3028–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-3122
- 141. Tang Y, Parmakhtiar B, Simoneau AR, Xie J, Fruehauf J, Lilly M, et al. Lycopene enhances docetaxel's effect in castration-resistant prostate cancer associated with insulin-like growth factor I receptor levels. *Neoplasia*. (2011) 13:108–19. doi: 10.1593/neo.101092

- 142. Hudes G, Tagawa ST, Whang YE, Qi M, Qin X, Puchalski TA, et al. A phase 1 study of a chimeric monoclonal antibody against interleukin-6, siltuximab, combined with docetaxel in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Invest N Drugs.* (2013) 31:669–76. doi: 10.1007/s10637-012-9857-z
- Culig Z, Steiner H, Bartsch G, Hobisch A. Interleukin-6 regulation of prostate cancer cell growth. J Cell Biochem. (2005) 95:497–505. doi: 10.1002/jcb.20477
- 144. Dhir R, Ni Z, Lou W, Demiguel F, Grandis JR, Gao AC. Stat3 activation in prostatic carcinomas. *Prostate*. (2002) 51:241–6. doi: 10.1002/pros.10079
- 145. Mora LB, Buettner R, Seigne J, Diaz J, Ahmad N, Garcia R, et al. Constitutive activation of Stat3 in human prostate tumors and cell lines: direct inhibition of Stat3 signaling induces apoptosis of prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:6659–66.
- 146. Kroon P, Berry PA, Stower MJ, Rodrigues G, Mann VM, Simms M, et al. JAK-STAT blockade inhibits tumor initiation and clonogenic recovery of prostate cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:5288–98. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0874
- 147. Qu Y, Oyan AM, Liu R, Hua Y, Zhang J, Hovland R, et al. Generation of prostate tumor-initiating cells is associated with elevation of reactive oxygen species and IL-6/STAT3 signaling. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:7090–100. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1560
- 148. Dallavalle C, Albino D, Civenni G, Merulla J, Ostano P, Mello-Grand M, et al. MicroRNA-424 impairs ubiquitination to activate STAT3 and promote prostate tumor progression. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4585–602. doi: 10.1172/JCI86505
- 149. Han Z, Wang X, Ma L, Chen L, Xiao M, Huang L, et al. Inhibition of STAT3 signaling targets both tumor-initiating and differentiated cell populations in prostate cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2014) 5:8416–28. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2314
- Albino D, Civenni G, Rossi S, Mitra A, Catapano CV, Carbone GM. The ETS factor ESE3/EHF represses IL-6 preventing STAT3 activation and expansion of the prostate cancer stem-like compartment. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:76756– 68. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12525
- 151. Civenni G, Longoni N, Costales P, Dallavalle C, Garcia Inclan C, Albino D, et al. EC-70124, a novel glycosylated indolocarbazole multikinase inhibitor, reverts tumorigenic and stem cell properties in prostate cancer by inhibiting STAT3 and NF-kappaB. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2016) 15:806–18. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0791
- Zhang Y, Jin Z, Zhou H, Ou X, Xu Y, Li H, et al. Suppression of prostate cancer progression by cancer cell stemness inhibitor napabucasin. *Cancer Med.* (2016) 5:1251–8. doi: 10.1002/cam4.675
- 153. Li Y, Rogoff HA, Keates S, Gao Y, Murikipudi S, Mikule K, et al. Suppression of cancer relapse and metastasis by inhibiting cancer stemness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:1839–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424171112
- Hubbard JM, Grothey A. Napabucasin: an update on the firstin-class cancer stemness inhibitor. *Drugs.* (2017) 77:1091–103. doi: 10.1007/s40265-017-0759-4
- 155. Brambilla L, Genini D, Laurini E, Merulla J, Perez L, Fermeglia M, et al. Hitting the right spot: mechanism of action of OPB-31121, a novel and potent inhibitor of the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). *Mol Oncol.* (2015) 9:1194–206. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2015.02.012
- 156. Bendell JC, Hong DS, Burris HA III, Naing A, Jones SF, Falchook G, et al. Phase 1, open-label, dose-escalation, and pharmacokinetic study of STAT3 inhibitor OPB-31121 in subjects with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2014) 74:125–30. doi: 10.1007/s00280-014-2480-2
- 157. Oh DY, Lee SH, Han SW, Kim MJ, Kim TM, Kim TY, et al. Phase I study of OPB-31121, an oral STAT3 inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Res Treat.* (2015) 47:607–15. doi: 10.4143/crt.2014.249
- 158. Wong AL, Soo RA, Tan DS, Lee SC, Lim JS, Marban PC, et al. Phase I and biomarker study of OPB-51602, a novel signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3 inhibitor, in patients with refractory solid malignancies. *Ann Oncol.* (2015) 26:998–1005. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv026
- 159. Tolcher A, Flaherty K, Shapiro GI, Berlin J, Witzig T, Habermann T, et al. A first-in-human phase I study of OPB-111077, a small-molecule STAT3 and oxidative phosphorylation inhibitor, in patients with advanced cancers. Oncologist. (2018) 23:658–e672. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0325

- Grivennikov SI, Karin M. Dangerous liaisons: STAT3 and NF-kappaB collaboration and crosstalk in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2010) 21:11–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.11.005
- 161. Longoni N, Sarti M, Albino D, Civenni G, Malek A, Ortelli E, et al. ETS transcription factor ESE1/ELF3 orchestrates a positive feedback loop that constitutively activates NF-kappaB and drives prostate cancer progression. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:4533–47. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4537
- 162. Sanchez C, Salas AP, Brana AF, Palomino M, Pineda-Lucena A, Carbajo RJ, et al. Generation of potent and selective kinase inhibitors by combinatorial biosynthesis of glycosylated indolocarbazoles. *Chem Commun.* (2009) 4118– 20. doi: 10.1039/b905068j
- 163. Seth A, Watson DK. ETS transcription factors and their emerging roles in human cancer. Eur J Cancer. (2005) 41:2462–78. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2005.08.013
- 164. Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, et al. Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. *Science*. (2005) 310:644–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1117679
- 165. Klezovitch O, Risk M, Coleman I, Lucas JM, Null M, True LD, et al. A causal role for ERG in neoplastic transformation of prostate epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:2105–10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711711105
- 166. Tomlins SA, Laxman B, Varambally S, Cao X, Yu J, Helgeson BE, et al. Role of the TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusion in prostate cancer. *Neoplasia*. (2008) 10:177–88. doi: 10.1593/neo.07822
- 167. Butler MS, Roshan-Moniri M, Hsing M, Lau D, Kim A, Yen P, et al. Discovery and characterization of small molecules targeting the DNAbinding ETS domain of ERG in prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:42438– 54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17124
- 168. Wang X, Qiao Y, Asangani IA, Ateeq B, Poliakov A, Cieslik M, et al. Development of peptidomimetic inhibitors of the ERG gene fusion product in prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell.* (2017) 31:844–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.05.001
- 169. Winters B, Brown L, Coleman I, Nguyen H, Minas TZ, Kollath L, et al. Inhibition of ERG activity in patient-derived prostate cancer xenografts by YK-4-279. *Anticancer Res.* (2017) 37:3385–96. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11705
- Kumar-Sinha C, Tomlins SA, Chinnaiyan AM. Recurrent gene fusions in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2008) 8:497–511. doi: 10.1038/nrc2402
- 171. Taris M, Irani J, Blanchet P, Multigner L, Cathelineau X, Fromont G. ERG expression in prostate cancer: the prognostic paradox. *Prostate*. (2014) 74:1481–7. doi: 10.1002/pros.22863
- 172. Chen Y, Chi P, Rockowitz S, Iaquinta PJ, Shamu T, Shukla S, et al. ETS factors reprogram the androgen receptor cistrome and prime prostate tumorigenesis in response to PTEN loss. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1023–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3216
- 173. Carver BS, Tran J, Gopalan A, Chen Z, Shaikh S, Carracedo A, et al. Aberrant ERG expression cooperates with loss of PTEN to promote cancer progression in the prostate. *Nat Genet.* (2009) 41:619–24. doi: 10.10 38/ng.370
- 174. King JC, Xu J, Wongvipat J, Hieronymus H, Carver BS, Leung DH, et al. Cooperativity of TMPRSS2-ERG with PI3-kinase pathway activation in prostate oncogenesis. *Nat Genet.* (2009) 41:524–6. doi: 10.1038/ng.371
- 175. Cangemi R, Mensah A, Albertini V, Jain A, Mello-Grand M, Chiorino G, et al. Reduced expression and tumor suppressor function of the ETS transcription factor ESE-3 in prostate cancer. *Oncogene*. (2008) 27:2877–85. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210953
- 176. Kunderfranco P, Mello-Grand M, Cangemi R, Pellini S, Mensah A, Albertini V, et al. ETS transcription factors control transcription of EZH2 and epigenetic silencing of the tumor suppressor gene Nkx3.1 in prostate cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e10547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010547
- 177. Viswanathan SR, Daley GQ. Lin28: a microRNA regulator with a macro role. *Cell*. (2010) 140:445–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.007
- 178. Roos M, Pradere U, Ngondo RP, Behera A, Allegrini S, Civenni G, et al. A small-molecule inhibitor of Lin28. ACS Chem Biol. (2016) 11:2773–81. doi: 10.1021/acschembio.6b00232
- 179. Roos M, Rebhan MA, Lucic M, Pavlicek D, Pradere U, Towbin H, et al. Short loop-targeting oligoribonucleotides antagonize Lin28 and enable prelet-7 processing and suppression of cell growth in let-7-deficient cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2015) 43:e9. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1090

- Rupaimoole R, Slack FJ. MicroRNA therapeutics: towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:203–22. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.246
- 181. Schwartz DM, Kanno Y, Villarino A, Ward M, Gadina M, O'shea JJ. JAK inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for immune and inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2017) 17:78. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.267
- Stahl PL, Salmen F, Vickovic S, Lundmark A, Navarro JF, Magnusson J, et al. Visualization and analysis of gene expression in tissue sections by spatial transcriptomics. *Science*. (2016) 353:78–82. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf2403
- Zheng GX, Terry JM, Belgrader P, Ryvkin P, Bent ZW, Wilson R, et al. Massively parallel digital transcriptional profiling of single cells. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:14049. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14049
- 184. Berglund E, Maaskola J, Schultz N, Friedrich S, Marklund M, Bergenstrahle J, et al. Spatial maps of prostate cancer transcriptomes reveal an unexplored landscape of heterogeneity. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:2419. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04724-5
- 185. Henry GH, Malewska A, Joseph DB, Malladi VS, Lee J, Torrealba J, et al. A cellular anatomy of the normal adult human prostate and prostatic urethra. *Cell Rep.* (2018) 25:e3535. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.11.086

- 186. Kwon OJ, Zhang Y, Li Y, Wei X, Zhang L, Chen R, et al. Functional heterogeneity of mouse prostate stromal cells revealed by single-cell RNA-Seq. Science. (2019) 13:328–38. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2019.02.032
- 187. Smith BA, Balanis NG, Nanjundiah A, Sheu KM, Tsai BL, Zhang Q, et al. A human adult stem cell signature marks aggressive variants across epithelial cancers. *Cell Rep.* (2018) 24:e3355. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.20 18.08.062

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Civenni, Albino, Shinde, Vázquez, Merulla, Kokanovic, Mapelli, Carbone and Catapano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Stem Cell Plasticity and Dormancy in the Development of Cancer Therapy Resistance

Maria Laura De Angelis¹, Federica Francescangeli¹, Filippo La Torre² and Ann Zeuner^{1*}

¹ Department of Oncology and Molecular Medicine, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Surgical Sciences Policlinico Umberto I, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Cancer treatment with either standard chemotherapy or targeted agents often results in the emergence of drug-refractory cell populations, ultimately leading to therapy failure. The biological features of drug resistant cells are largely overlapping with those of cancer stem cells and include heterogeneity, plasticity, self-renewal ability, and tumor-initiating capacity. Moreover, drug resistance is usually characterized by a suppression of proliferation that can manifest as quiescence, dormancy, senescence, or proliferative slowdown. Alterations in key cellular pathways such as autophagy, unfolded protein response or redox signaling, as well as metabolic adaptations also contribute to the establishment of drug resistance, thus representing attractive therapeutic targets. Moreover, a complex interplay of drug resistant cells with the micro/macroenvironment and with the immune system plays a key role in dictating and maintaining the resistant phenotype. Recent studies have challenged traditional views of cancer drug resistance providing innovative perspectives, establishing new connections between drug resistant cells and their environment and indicating unexpected therapeutic strategies. In this review we discuss recent advancements in understanding the mechanisms underlying drug resistance and we report novel targeting agents able to overcome the drug resistant status, with particular focus on strategies directed against dormant cells. Research on drug resistant cancer cells will take us one step forward toward the development of novel treatment approaches and the improvement of relapse-free survival in solid and hematological cancer patients.

Keywords: cancer stem cells, chemoresistance, dormancy, quiescence, plasticity, drug resistance, target therapies

INTRODUCTION

Resistance to chemotherapy and molecularly targeted therapies is a major problem that limits the effectiveness of cancer treatments. While some tumors are intrinsically insensitive to therapies due to pre-existing resistance factors (primary or intrinsic resistance), others become resistant during drug treatment (1). The development of resistance after an initial period of response (acquired resistance) is due to the molecular heterogeneity of tumor cells which, together with their ability to evolve at the genetic, epigenetic, and phenotypic level, is able to overcome the action of cancer therapies. The emergence of resistant cells has been observed upon treatment with

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandre Prieur, ECS-Screening SA, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Loredana Bergandi, University of Turin, Italy Benjamin Le Calvé, University of Namur, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Ann Zeuner ann.zeuner@iss.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 08 May 2019 **Accepted:** 24 June 2019 **Published:** 10 July 2019

Citation:

De Angelis ML, Francescangeli F, La Torre F and Zeuner A (2019) Stem Cell Plasticity and Dormancy in the Development of Cancer Therapy Resistance. Front. Oncol. 9:626. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00626

121

chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and targeted therapies, including EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in lung cancer, anti-HER2 therapies in breast cancer, and BRAF inhibitors in melanoma. Even cancer immunotherapies, which exploit a dynamic interaction between the host immune system and tumor cells thus achieving lasting antitumor responses, are linked to the development of resistance and consequent cancer progression (2). Treatment with chemotherapeutic or targeted drugs is increasingly recognized to promote the emergence of resistant cells with features of cancer stem cells (CSCs) (3). This process clearly involves a Darwinian selection of cell populations with novel genetic mutations conferring drug resistance (4-6). However, non-genetic events involving both chromatin remodeling and the activation of stress-related pathways are responsible for the establishment of drug tolerance, a process more rapid, and massive than genetic mutation (7-9). Drug tolerance is habitually associated to a transient state of slow proliferation, thus identifying a population of Drug Tolerant Persisters (DTPs) that are largely quiescent and maintain viability in conditions where other cancer cells are killed (9). Drug tolerance is a temporary condition, which can revert after the cessation of cytotoxic stimuli. Differently, in the presence of continuous drug stimulation or other cellular stresses such as hypoxia, drug tolerance stabilizes into an enduring drug resistant state (9, 10). Besides quiescence, senescence has also been proposed as a process adopted by tumor cells to escape from therapy (11), suggesting that drug resistance is a composite picture of heterogeneous cell states. This picture is further complicated by a plethora of cell-intrinsic and extrinsic factors that contribute to the establishment of drug resistance including hypoxia, cytokines (among which IL-6, IL-8, and TGF-β play a prominent role), cellular composition and stiffness of the extracellular matrix. Drug resistant cells are found not only within bulk tumor populations but are also scattered in distant organs as disseminated tumor cells (DTCs), which have been recognized as the seeds of metastasis. DTCs are in a state of dormancy, which is induced and maintained by interactions with the target organ niche (12). The neutralization of DTCs is a primary goal in patients with cancers subject to late relapses such as breast and prostate cancer: in fact, recent insights on the mechanisms by which DTCs persist and reawaken are paving the way for new therapeutic avenues (13). This review will draw a picture of drug resistant cells in different contexts such as primary tumors or pre-metastatic niches and discuss a surge of recent findings that shed new light on their strengths and weaknesses, making drug resistance one of the most fertile fields of cancer research.

DRUG RESISTANT CANCER STEM CELLS: A CONCENTRATE OF ROBUSTNESS AND PLASTICITY

The concept of CSCs originated as a hierarchical model where, in parallel to normal tissues, a small number of undifferentiated elements give rise to intermediate progenitors and finally to a differentiated progeny. While the hierarchical model remains fundamentally valid for normal tissues (with the exception of rare dedifferentiation events occurring during tissue regeneration or artificial reprogramming), it is becoming clear that boundaries between stem and non-stem cells are much weaker in cancer. In fact, in tumors state transitions seem to be very frequent and chaotic, thus generating high levels of heterogeneity that constitute the foundation of drug resistance (14-16). Not surprisingly, state transitions also affect the expression of molecules expressed on the cell membrane, such as surface markers used for CSCs isolation. Expression of surface or intracellular markers can in some cases identify a population of cells with enhanced self-renewal and/or metastatic capacity in several tumors (Supplementary Table 1). However, it should be kept in mind that such expression is transient, dynamic, and variable both among individual tumors (17, 18). In fact, few past studies on the expression of CSCs markers analyzed the expression of such markers over time (particularly upon flow cytometry isolation of positive and negative populations) or the variation of CSCs markers upon microenvironmental stimuli. Consequently, the phenotypic plasticity and dynamic properties of CSCs populations were often overlooked. Functional features such as tumor-repopulating ability in limiting dilution/serial transplantation assays are more suitable to identify CSCs populations. Such assays may nonetheless select for particularly robust cells able to thrive in harsh experimental conditions. Genetic barcoding makes use of lentiviral infection systems to tag human cells and has been employed to analyze and track stem cell hierarchies, particularly in colorectal cancer. In this context, molecular tracking studies revealed a stable functional heterogeneity of the colorectal CSCs population during serial xenografting despite profound changes in genomic subclone contribution (19), thus highlighting the functional robustness of cancer cell hierarchies. In addition to cell-intrinsic features, interactions with the tumor microenvironment are increasingly recognized as crucial determinants of stemness. The fact that soluble molecules released by the tumor microenvironment have the potential to initiate CSC-like programs was first demonstrated in brain tumors, where the self-renewal and proliferation of stem-like cells were shown to crucially depend from their interaction with endothelial cells (20). The tumor endothelium has also been shown to produce nitric oxide, which diffuses to neighboring glioma cells and activates the Notch pathway to induce stem-like characteristics (21). Later studies in colorectal cancer showed that cancer-associated fibroblasts secrete hepatocyte growth factor, osteopontin, and stromalderived factor 1a, which activate the WNT pathway to promote cancer cell stemness (22, 23). Tumor-associated macrophages play also a role in supporting breast CSCs and brain CSCs, further supporting the importance of the niche in dictating

Abbreviations: SA- β -Gal, senescence- associated- β -galactosidase; H3K9me3, trimethylated lysine 9 at histone H3; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; ERK 1/2, extracellular signal-regulated kinase ½; RAR β , retinoic acid receptor beta; ROR γ , nuclear hormone receptor retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor gamma; SOX9 (sex-determining region Y [SRY]-containing box 9); GRP78, glucose regulatory protein 78; EZH2, enhancer of Zeste homolog 2; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation; NSAIDs, non-steroidal antinflammatory drugs; IGF1, insulin growth factor 1; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; NGFR, nerve growth factor receptor; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

a cancer stem cell phenotype (24, 25). Moreover, exosomes and microvesicles produced by niche cells are increasingly recognized to influence CSCs and drug resistance. For example, microvesicles produced by breast cancer-associated fibroblasts transfer miR-221 to cancer cells thus increasing the drug resistant CD133^{hi} stem cell population (26). In addition to soluble factors, other microenvironmental features such as clone location have been recently shown to determine the self-renewal capacity of colorectal cancer cells (27). In light of these evidences, stemness in cancer can be defined as a transient state of enhanced plasticity and robustness crucially influenced by microenvironmental signals, including interactions with niche elements, tumor, and non-tumoral cells, soluble factors, and anticancer therapies. The link between stemness and drug resistance derives mainly from three observations: (1) CSCs populations are more resistant to therapy (28), (2) cancers with a stemness-related gene expression have a worse prognosis (29-33), and (3) cells with combined features of stemness, drug resistance, and dormancy have been identified in several tumors including pancreatic carcinoma (34, 35), ovarian cancer (36), melanoma (37), lung cancer (38), and CML (39). More recently, dormant/slow cycling CSCs have been identified in acute leukemia (40), glioblastoma (8, 41, 42), breast (43), and colorectal cancer (44, 45). An interesting association between stemness and dormancy, together with enhanced migratory features, has also been reported in early metastatic cells which are largely responsible for tumor dissemination (46-49). While increasing evidences point to the presence of drug resistant CSCs in multiple cancers, the effect of conventional, and targeted therapies is not usually evaluated specifically on the CSCs compartment, rendering difficult to estimate CSCs permanence after therapy. Likewise, current diagnostic and therapeutic approaches include few tools for the identification, quantification, and elimination of drug resistant cells and DTCs. The elucidation of mechanisms of drug resistance and the identification of biomarkers of resistant cells are therefore essential to improve the clinical management of cancer patients.

HETEROGENEITY OF THERAPY RESISTANT CANCER STEM CELLS

Previously thought to be a quite homogeneous condition, drug resistance is emerging as a surprisingly heterogeneous state that includes quiescent, drug-tolerant, and persister cells (50). This scenario is further complicated by the recent addition of post-senescent cells to drug-resistant cells responsible for disease recurrence (11). In this section we propose a functional distinction of drug resistant cells based on their origin, location, and cellular state. Figure 1 illustrates schematically three main populations associated with drug resistance such as (1) "spontaneous" drug-resistant cells in untreated tumors, (2) stress-induced drug resistant cells (including drug-tolerant persisters, post-senescent cells, and cells resident in hypoxic tumor areas), and (3) DTCs. As mentioned previously, a small population of drug-resistant cells is already present in tumors before any kind of treatment (32, 34, 37-40, 42, 44, 45). Recent studies showed that populations of endogenous

drug resistant cells transiently arise as the result of stochastic state transitions that induce a high expression of resistance factors (9, 51). Such factors have been identified in melanoma cells and include EGFR, NGFR, WNT5A, AXL, PDGFRB, and JUN, with cells expressing more than one factor displaying a higher level of resistance (51). The emergence of drug tolerant cells has been detected and quantified in multiple tumors upon treatment with chemotherapeutics or targeted agents including cisplatin (in NSCLC), erlotinib, and gefitinib (NSCLC), lapatinib (breast cancer), the RAF kinase inhibitor AZ628 (melanoma and colorectal cancer), and the MET inhibitor PF-2341066 (MET-amplified gastric cancer) (9). DTPs represent a variable percentage of the parental cell population ranging approximately from 0.2 to 5% and have been identified as largely quiescent cells, although a minor part of them can resume proliferation even in the presence of the drug (9). A particularly interesting mechanism that leads to the emergence of DTPs has been recently elucidated in melanoma cells that develop resistance to BRAF inhibitors (BRAFi). A subset of melanoma cells constitutively activates the Aryl hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR), a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor responsible for the de-differentiation of melanoma cells and the expression of BRAFi- resistance genes. Treatment with BRAFi results in the enrichment of a small subpopulation of AhR-activated BRAFi-persister cells, responsible for melanoma relapse (52). While spontaneous resistant cells and DTPs can be appropriately defined as "quiescent" as their cell cycle interruption is transient and programmed to last until the subsequent change of gene expression or drug concentration. However, such quiescent state can be stabilized by a protracted environmental stresses like hypoxia, thus shifting the balance from a short-term quiescent state to medium- or longterm dormancy. Interestingly, cells deriving from a hypoxic tumor microenvironment have been shown to activate a dormancy program giving rise to chemoresistant DTCs, further strengthening the link between dormancy and drug resistance (10). Recently, senescence has emerged as another key cellular response to drug resistance, further contributing to the heterogeneous picture of drug resistant cells. Chemotherapy and targeted therapies can induce senescence in tumor cells, intended as a stable form of growth arrest (11, 53, 54). Senescent cells are characterized by peculiar morphological features, by the expression of senescent markers (mainly SA-β-Gal and H3K9me3) and by the so-called Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype (11, 55). Moreover, senescent cells are arrested in the G1 or G2/M phase of the cell cycle, differently from quiescent cells that are in G0 or G0/G1 transition. Importantly, an estimated 1/10⁶ cells can escape from senescence and reenter the cell cycle, gaining increased aggressiveness and tumorinitiating potential (56). Cells able to escape from senescence express nuclear β-catenin and stem cell markers, indicating they underwent a process of cellular reprogramming that rendered them a fully functional cancer stem cell population (56). Finally, DTCs represent a category of drug resistant stem cells located in lymph nodes or distant organs that can persist for decades after removal of the primary tumor. DTCs are crucially dependent from niche interactions and can be





resistant to chemotherapy, targeted therapies, and hormonal therapy (57-59). Thus, understanding the biology of DTCs is crucial for devising alternative strategies aimed at eradicating DTCs while dormant or preventing their awakening (12, 60). Many efforts are currently dedicated to answer key unresolved questions regarding DTCs, such as which pathways are involved in maintaining DTCs dormancy, how DTCs evade immune surveillance and what triggers their awakening (12, 60, 61). However, it is also of note that physiologic models for cancer cell dissemination are represented by orthotopic/metastatic tumors in mice, which are relatively straightforward in the case of breast cancer but less feasible in other tumors. An increased use of orthotopic/metastatic models is therefore, warranted to improve the knowledge on tumor cell dissemination, dormancy, and reawakening. A provocative contribution to the field of DTCs came from recent studies showing that disseminated breast cancer cells are protected from chemotherapy through integrin-mediated interactions irrespectively from their cell cycle status (57). Disrupting the interactions between DTCs and the perivascular niche with integrin inhibitors results in DTCs chemosensitization and may represent a clinical strategy to eradicate minimal residual disease (57). In summary, it appears that both cell-intrinsic factors and cell-extrinsic signals (either local or systemic) crucially contribute to drug resistance (**Figure 2**). Therefore, integrated approaches able to interfere with the establishment of drug resistance at multiple levels are urgently needed to increase the life expectancy of cancer patients.

NON-GENETIC PATHWAYS INVOLVED IN DRUG RESISTANCE

Pioneer studies on dormant cells and their microenvironment have led to a deeper understanding of drug resistance (62), thus paving the way for a flurry of recent studies in this field. Here, we will discuss the main categories of factors crucially involved in the determination of a dormant/drug resistant status with particular focus on recent discoveries. It is important to acknowledge that factors responsible for dormancy/drug resistance are not mutually exclusive, but many of them are likely active at the same time and crosstalk to reinforce each other.

Stress-Induced Pathways Part 1: The p38 Hub

Early studies pointed to a key role for p38 stress-activated protein kinase activation in dormant cells indicating that the



balance between proliferation and dormancy is determined by the ratio between the activity of p38 and ERK1/2 (63, 64). Since then, p38 has emerged as a hub in the control of multiple pathways involved in both drug resistance and cellular stress and has itself reported to induce chemoresistance in a variety of tumors. Further insights into p38-activated pathways led to the key discovery that the orphan nuclear receptor NR2F1 upon activation by p38 induces dormancy through SOX9, RARβ, CDK inhibitors, and global chromatin repression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (65). Recently, NR2F1 has emerged as a clinical marker of dormancy, its expression being able to discriminate breast cancer patients with short term systemic relapse from those with long diseasefree intervals (66). Most interestingly, factors involved in the p38/NR2F1/retinoic acid receptors pathway are possibly emerging as part of a general program of dormancy/drug resistance active across several types of cancer. In line with this hypothesis another retinoic acid-binding nuclear receptor, RORy, emerged during a recent mapping of molecular traits related to stemness and drug resistance in pancreatic cancer (67). RORy, which is also known for its role in immune modulation ad inflammation, was correlated with the aggressiveness of pancreatic cancer and its inhibition led to a striking defect in tumor growth (67). A current clinical trial based on the use of 5-azacytidine/all-trans retinoic acid aimed at inhibiting DTCs reawakening in prostate cancer patients (NCT03572387) will provide clinical evidence on the efficacy of epigenetic therapies that induce histone demethylation and NR2F1 activation. SOX9 is another factor downstream of p38 that has recently been involved in drug resistance of CSCs in breast and esophageal cancer (68, 69) and in chemoresistance of cholangiocarcinoma (70). Interestingly, SOX9 expression is regulated by the

SCF^{FBW7} (Skp1/Cul1/F-box), a component of the ubiquitin ligase complex (71, 72), which has been recently shown to regulate dormancy/drug resistance in breast cancer. In fact, Fbxw7 ablation sensitizes disseminated breast tumor cells to chemotherapy, arguing for a key role of the ubiquitination pathway in dictating drug resistance by selective substrate degradation (72). SOX2 and SOX9 transcription factors are also typically expressed by dormant CSCs in breast and lung cancer. Interestingly, these cells maintain dormancy in an autocrine fashion by inhibiting Wnt signals through expression of the Wnt inhibitor DKK1 (73). Other tumors have been recently reported to modulate Wnt signaling in order to maintain dormancy: prostate cancer cells receive Wnt5a from the osteoblastic niche and activate a non-canonical signaling that represses canonical Wnt3a/β-catenin signaling (74). Notably, osteoblastproduced Wnt5a acts by inducing the Siah E3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase expression, further supporting the role of E3 ligases in dormancy/drug resistance (75). Wnt signals have also been implicated in the survival of dormant tumor cells in colorectal cancer, which have been identified as a population of partially differentiated cells characterized by high clonogenic capacity and chemoresistance (45).

Stress-Induced Pathways Part 2: Hypoxia, Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, and Autophagy

Global stress responses such as the hypoxia, unfolded protein response (UPR), endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagy have all been implicated in drug resistance and pre-metastatic dormancy. Hypoxia has been habitually linked to tumor aggressiveness and poor survival but the underlying

mechanisms are still under elucidation. Cells in low oxygen microenvironments activate hypoxia-inducible factors and increase the expression of key dormancy genes such as N2RF1, p27, and MIG6, inducing a combined state of dormancy and drug resistance (10, 76). Hypoxic responses can be triggered by hypoxic microenvironments in primary tumors but can also be induced by chemotherapy, which promotes a signaling cascade involving calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum and expression of pluripotency genes, leading to an enrichment of stem cells in breast cancer (77). The endoplasmic reticulum and the related UPR, which is responsible for re-establishing endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis following cellular stress, are implicated in several steps of the drug resistance process (78). The endoplasmic reticulum stress sensor GRP78, previously shown to be downstream of activated p38 (79), seems to play a central role in the induction of drug resistance and has been particularly investigated in pancreatic cancer, where it has been involved in both chemoresistance and maintenance of the stem cell population (80, 81). Besides chemoresistance, endoplasmic reticulum stress has been demonstrated to be involved also in resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors in lung cancer, where drug persister cells activate the recently described ufmylation pathway and downstream UPR to upregulate key survival signals such as Bcl-xL (82). An interesting crosstalk occurs between endoplasmic reticulum stress/UPR and autophagy, which occur simultaneously and are both implicated in tumorigenesis and chemoresistance. In fact, GRP78, PERK, and ATF6 lie at the crossroads between UPR and autophagy, being able to modulate both pathways (83). Autophagy was recognized a decade ago as being implicated in the regulation of tumor cell survival and dormancy in ovarian and gastrointestinal tumors (84, 85). In fact, autophagy is required during quiescence for recycling of aminoacids and nucleotides (86), but new evidence adds to a specific role of autophagy in dictating chemoresistance in colorectal cancer (87), liver cancer (88), brain tumors (89), and melanoma (90). Recently, autophagy has been shown to be essential for the survival of disseminated dormant breast cancer cells and its inhibition with antimalarial hydroxychloroquine eliminates DTCs while dormant (91). In KRAS-dependent tumors such as pancreatic adenocarcinomas (PDAC), KRAS inhibition has demonstrated to increase autophagic signaling resulting in autophagy dependance. Removing this protective mechanism through the combined use of MEK/ERK inhibitors and autophagy inhibitors may be therapeutically beneficial in patients with PDAC, NRASdriven melanoma, and BRAF-mutant colorectal cancer (92). By contrast, the activation of autophagic/lysosomal pathways can occur as the consequence of anticancer therapies, as has been demonstrated in melanoma treated with anti-BRAF targeted agents (93). In this case, autophagy blockade has detrimental effects, resulting in enhanced tumor progression, metastatic dissemination, and chemoresistance. Thus, autophagy may play different roles in multiple contexts and further studies are needed to clarify the potential utility of autophagy modulators in cancer therapy.

METABOLIC REPROGRAMMING OF DRUG RESISTANT CELLS

Metabolic deregulation is recognized as a hallmark of cancer, and increasing evidences suggest that it can be exploited by neoplastic cells in order to acquire a drug resistant phenotype. Intuitively, since chemotherapy kills highly proliferative cells that rely on aerobic glycolysis, it also induces a selective pressure toward the emergence of slow growing cells switched to OXPHOS metabolism (94). However, this apparently straightforward hypothesis is contradicted by very different metabolic patterns found in resistant tumor cells (95). On one hand, several studies indicate that chemotherapy-resistant cells become OXPHOS-dependent (96-99). However, other reports showed that chemoresistant cells rely on high ATP levels (100) and express glycolytic markers (101-104). A possible explanation for such divergences can be found in the timing of data collection relatively to drug treatment: during therapy, resistant cells may activate a survival program based on proliferative slowdown and switch to OXPHOS, while some time after therapy cessation cells may recover a high proliferative rate associated to aerobic glycolysis. However, the main explanation for the different metabolic patterns found in drug resistant cells probably resides in the high plasticity of the metabolic response to cytotoxic challenges. A recent study confirmed this hypothesis by showing that cancer cells are able to switch between OXPHOS and glycolysis to circumvent the inhibition of either process (105). A therapeutic strategy targeting metabolic plasticity based on intermittent fasting (to reduce glucose availability) plus the OXPHOS inhibitor metformin effectively restrained tumor growth by activating PP2A, GSK3β, and the pro-apoptotic protein Mcl-1 (105). These results also suggest that an optimization of metformin administration schedules may potentiate its ability on tumor metabolism and increase its therapeutic efficacy. Metabolic stress is a condition often encountered by tumor cells, particularly by the quiescent population resident in poorly vascularized/hypoxic areas. The combination of hypoxia and reduced nutrient availability limits the metabolic plasticity of tumor cells, which become more sensitive to drugs that target mitochondrial respiration. In fact, drugs targeting mitochondrial bioenergetics have been proposed to eliminate metabolically stressed quiescent cells, alone or in combination with autophagy inhibitors (106). Interesting insights into the mechanisms of drug-induced metabolic reprogramming have come from the study of estrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancers. In these cancers, hormonal therapy has been shown to result in the emergence of dormant CD133^{high}/ER^{low} cells responsible for metastatic progression and to induce an OXPHOS metabolic editing of breast cancer cells through IL6/Notch3 signaling (107). Hormonal therapy resistance and the generation of breast CSCs have been correlated to microvesicle-mediated horizontal transfer of microRNAs from host stromal cells (26). Recently, extracellular microRNAs have been further implicated in the metabolic crosstalk between tumor cells and their microenvironment by showing that cancer cell-secreted miR-105 instructs cancer-associated fibroblasts to display different metabolic features, thus helping the tumor to face changes in the metabolic environment (108). Finally, metabolic reprogramming related to the development of drug resistance has been also shown to occur during antiangiogenic therapies (109). Interestingly, overexpression of the glucose transporter 3 (GLUT3) recapitulates all the metabolic features of bevacizumab-resistant cells indicating GLUT3 as a potential metabolic target in glioblastoma (110). In summary, it appears increasingly clear that metabolic heterogeneity can be driven by both intrinsic (either genetic or epigenetic) mechanisms or as an adaptation to environmental changes and plays a key role in the development of drug resistance, representing a potential avenue for targeted therapies (111).

EPIGENETIC PLASTICITY IN THE REGULATION OF DRUG RESISTANCE

Epigenetic deregulation is a feature of virtually all human cancers (112). Tumors exhibit a continuously changing epigenetic landscape that includes altered modifications of DNA promoter regions, deregulated acetylation, or methylation of histone proteins or inappropriate expression of repetitive regions, contributing to tumors biological properties (113). The involvement of epigenetic (rather than genetic) mechanisms in drug resistance is particularly evident when drug resistant states are transient, rapidly emerging, and functionally heterogeneous. A number of past studies have demonstrated a contribution of epigenetic modifiers such as histone deacetylases (HDACs) to oncogenesis with different mechanisms strongly depending on the cellular context (114). Recent observations point to a crucial role of histone demethylases, and in particular KDM2, KDM3, KDM5, KDM6, and KDM7, in generating a drug resistant state and often a concomitant slow-dividing and stem cell-like state (8, 9, 115-121). Additional interesting insights into the epigenetic mechanisms of drug resistance came from the observation that drug treatment induces a rapid reprogramming of spontaneous resistant cells in primary tumors, converting the transient quiescent state into a stably resistant state and generating DTPs, the cells that actually survive drug-induced toxicity (Figure 1) (51). In breast cancer, multiple epigenetic enzymes including KDM5B, bromodomain, and extraterminal (BET) proteins and the histone methyltransferase EZH2 have been shown to be responsible for the generation of persister cells through a dynamic remodeling of the chromatin architecture, and such state transitions can be counteracted with inhibitors of chromatin-modifying enzymes (117). Recently, BET inhibitors were found to revert drug resistance and to block the pro-tumorigenic activity exerted by YAP/TAZ binding to the epigenetic coactivator bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) (122). However, cancer cells can develop also resistance to epigenetic inhibitors. In neuroblastoma, PI3K pathway activation and transcriptional reprogramming can confer resistance to BET inhibitors, indicating that sequential or combination therapies will likely be required to achieve durable antitumor effects (123). In this regard, the combined inhibition of BET proteins and HDACs is increasingly regarded as a strategy to improve the effectiveness of these drugs in cancer (124). A novel link between epigenetic regulation and chemoresistance has come from colorectal cancer, where the epigenetic dioxygenase TET2 has been shown to control a population of slow cycling cells responsible for chemoresistance and tumor recurrence (44). Slow cycling cell populations generated by epigenetic factors in multiple tumor settings likely represent a reservoir for the subsequent emergence of heterogeneous proliferating drug resistant cells. In fact, further epigenetic rearrangements and even genetic mutations can occur in quiescent cells giving rise to a variety of survival strategies (125). In line with this hypothesis, a single lung cancer persister cell was shown to generate a variety of colonies with different mechanisms of erlotinib resistance (126). Finally, recent discoveries suggest that repetitive transposable elements may be involved in the epigenetic determination of drug resistance. Repetitive elements constitute nearly half of the human genome and in normal cells they are tightly regulated to avoid dangerous inappropriate activation events. In cancer cells repetitive elements are often aberrantly activated, in part due to decreases in DNA methylation (127). Chemotherapeutic and targeted drugs can also induce a strong activation of repeated elements in cancer cells that results in cell death (116, 128). By contrast, DTPs within the heterogeneous cancer cell population are able to maintain the epigenetic repression of repetitive elements through increased histone H3K9 and H3K27 methylation even during drug treatment, exploiting this strategy to survive drug exposure (116). In line with these observations, a new generation of drugs targeting epigenetic modulators are finding their way to the clinic, in the attempt to exploit cancer-associated epigenetic traits for therapeutic intervention (129). Clinically induced derepression of genomic repeat elements also harbors the potential to enhance the immunogenicity of cancer cells and enhance the response to immunotherapeutic approaches (127), fostering further investigations on the mechanisms that deregulate repeat element expression in tumor cells.

INTERACTIONS BETWEEN THE IMMUNE SYSTEM AND THERAPY RESISTANT CELLS

The importance of the immune system in controlling tumor growth, metastatization, and relapse is undisputed, as witnessed by the expanding role of immunotherapies in cancer treatment. New challenges concerning the use of immunotherapeutic drugs are often related to properties of CSCs, which have been reported to have a low immunogenic profile and peculiar interactions with immune cells (130). A striking example of interactions between CSCs and immune cells resulting in immunotherapy resistance has been recently highlighted in squamous cell carcinoma. Here, a population of tumor-initiating cells responsive to TGF- β acquires the expression of CD80 (a molecule previously identified on cells of the immune system) and hinders cytotoxic T cell activity leading to tumor relapse (131). The relationships between drug resistant cancer cells and the immune system are the

Plasticity, Dormancy and Therapy Resistance

object of particularly intense investigations in the pre-metastatic context. In fact, while tumor cells in the primary tumor are often surrounded by an immune-suppressive microenvironment (132), DTCs are theoretically more vulnerable to immune attack, providing a window for therapeutic interventions aimed at preventing metastasis formation. Recent reviews have addressed in detail the role of the immune system in cancer (133) and the mechanisms of DTCs immune escape (60, 134). Here, we will focus our discussion to a limited number of recent breakthroughs in the relationships between drug resistant cells and the immune system. New insights on how DTCs evade immune recognition came from the observation that dormant cells activate the UPR, which in turn causes the downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC I) molecules required for antigen presentation to CD8⁺ T cells. This mechanism rendered DTCs undetectable by CD8⁺ T cells, while targeting the UPR led to MHC I re-expression and reversal of the immuneevasive phenotype (135). The most important soluble factors in cancer-immune system interactions are interferons, and particularly IFNy produced by T cells and NK cells (136). IFNy has been shown to induce cancer cell dormancy through multiple pathways and, interestingly, to exert different effects in indolent (Ki67^{low}) cells, and in dormant (Ki67⁻) cells (137). Besides its established role in contributing to anti-tumor immunity, IFNy is also implicated in mediating resistance to various cancer therapies, including anti-PD1 therapies via downregulation of MHC I molecules (138, 139). An interesting link between IFNy and CSCs metabolism came from the observation that IFNy triggers cancer dormancy through indolamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO1), an enzyme that catalyzes tryptophan metabolism. Blocking IDO1 metabolic circuitry abrogates dormancy and induces apoptosis of tumor-repopulating cells (140). The same metabolic pathway was found to be involved in IFNβ-induced dormancy in melanoma (141). The Stimulator of Interferon Genes (STING) is a central component of the intracellular DNA sensing pathway and has been initially characterized for its capacity to mediate type I interferon inflammatory responses in immune cells during infections. Recent breakthroughs indicate that the STING pathway has much broader functions, being implicated also in fundamental cancer-related processes such as cellular transformation (142, 143), metastasis (144), and response to radio- and chemotherapy (145, 146). STING has been recently identified as an activator of autophagy downstream of the ancestral cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) pathway (147) and may also be implicated in chemoresistance-related autophagy. Additional evidences indicate a direct link between STING and LKB1, which is a crucial regulator of stem cell quiescence, metabolism, and anti-tumor immunity (148). Specifically, loss of LKB1 leads to the suppression of STING and insensitivity to cytoplasmic double-strand DNA detection, resulting in resistance of lung cancer to immunotherapy (149). Therefore, therapies that reactivate LKB1 or the STING pathway may boost anticancer immune response in cancers with resistance to immune-checkpoint blockade (150). Finally, immune cells have been recently implicated in DTC reawakening from dormancy in a study showing a key role for Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) produced by neutrophils in the lung

parenchyma upon inflammation. NETs trigger integrin-mediated activation of focal-adesion kinase in DTCs and subsequent exit from dormancy, while integrin-blocking antibodies prevent DTC reactivation in NET-enriched lungs (151). The latter study confirms the involvement of integrins in chemo- and radiotherapy resistance of multiple cancers, raising hopes for the future development of effective therapeutic agents blocking integrin signaling (152).

CONSIDERATIONS ON TARGETING THERAPY RESISTANT CANCER STEM CELLS

Therapies directed against drug resistant cells resident in either primary tumors, pre-metastatic niches, or metastatic cancers have to face an array of genetic and epigenetic survival strategies exploited by cancer cells. Conventional therapies such as radio- and chemotherapy, although representing the mainstay of cancer therapy, are intrinsically limited in their capacity to face drug resistance and may themselves promote the emergence of more aggressive cells. In recent years the mechanisms underlying cancer cell plasticity, heterogeneity, stress responses, and dormancy have begun to be elucidated, indicating new routes of therapeutic intervention. At the same time, new therapeutic approaches should undergo careful preclinical evaluation for their effects on the CSCs compartment, which would provide indications on the development of resistant cell populations. New therapeutic strategies directed against dormant/drug resistant cells in primary tumors are progressively focusing on epigenetic modulators such as inhibitors of KDMs, HDACs, or BET proteins. By contrast, therapeutic strategies directed against pre-metastatic DTCs are divided in three main workstreams: the so-called "sleeping strategies" include drugs that suppress proliferative signals such as anti-estrogen therapies (153), inhibitors of CDK4/6 (154), and inhibitors of ERK or Src (155). Prolonging dormant states can also be obtained with drugs that increase the expression of dormancy factors such as p38, DYRK1A, and N2RF1 (63, 65, 156, 157). Sleeping strategies such as anti-estrogen therapies for breast and prostate cancer had a profound impact in the clinical setting. However, sleeping strategies must be long-lasting (or even lifetime long) and therefore must deal with unwanted side effects that can limit their long-term usage and reduce patient compliance. In this regard, the use of retinoic acid or fenretinide derivatives to induce cancer cell quiescence appear as a feasible and relatively non-toxic therapeutic approach (12, 158). An additional problem related to sleeping strategies is that not all tumor cells are responsive, as ER-positive breast tumors can give rise to metastases even during hormonal therapy. Thus, the combination or sequential administration of "sleeping" therapeutics should be explored, with the caution of avoiding toxic side effects. A second type of strategies directed against dormant cells is represented by cell cycle reactivation, classically with G-CSF or IFNa (159). However, treatment with reactivating agents may not be effective on all the tumor cells, leaving behind some dormant persisters. Also, therapeutic reactivation

may render tumor cells more aggressive and potentially resistant to subsequent chemotherapy. The third strategy consists in eliminating dormant/drug resistant cells while dormant, a difficult but not impossible challenge. Elimination of dormant cells has been achieved in experimental brain tumors with mithramycin (160), HDACs or KDMs inhibition (8, 9, 116, 119), while in pancreatic tumors resistant cells were eliminated by IGF1 inhibition (161). Activators of ferroptosis, a form of cell death characterized by the accumulation of lipid peroxidation products and lethal reactive oxygen species derived from iron metabolism, were shown to kill drug tolerant cells in multiple tumors (162, 163). Mitochondrial respiration is also considered a promising target (106, 164-167), although metabolic plasticity could result in the unresponsiveness of some resistant cells. Besides the inhibition of specific cellular proteins/pathways, other strategies with a broader mechanism of action may be useful to cope with drug resistance. First, immunotherapy alone or in combination with targeted agents is proving effective in several cancers even in the metastatic setting (168, 169). Adoptive transfer of tumor-reactive lymphocytes has led to striking antitumor immune responses in breast cancer and other tumors (170-174), indicating that totally drug resistant cells such as those in advanced metastatic tumors can still be eliminated by the immune system. Also, emerging evidences suggest that micro- and macro-environmental signals can profoundly impact on the biology of drug resistant cells. While inflammation has been shown to facilitate metastatic outgrowth (151, 175, 176), anti-inflammatory agents such as NSAIDs seem to dramatically decrease the risk of metastatic relapse, possibly by preventing the reawakening of dormant cells caused by niche alterations that occur during inflammation (177, 178). Finally, therapeutic strategies that include lifestyle-related factors such as exercise and nutrition are emerging as an important tool not only in cancer prevention but also in managing established cancers (179). Diet and lifestyle likely act through reinforcing the immune system, modulating hormone levels, shaping gut microbiota, preventing inflammatory conditions, and influencing the premetastatic niche to become less favorable to DTCs awakening (179, 180). A link between diet-related factors and therapy has recently emerged by studies showing that a hypoglycemic diet improves the effectiveness of PI3K inhibitors (181). Likewise, fasting or fasting-mimicking diets are increasingly considered as valid supports in cancer therapy due to their ability to induce wide alterations in growth factors and metabolite levels that generate unfavorable environments for cancer cells and improve the effects of cancer therapies (182). Finally, physical

REFERENCES

- Holohan C, Van Schaeybroeck S, Longley DB, Johnston PG. Cancer drug resistance: an evolving paradigm. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:714– 26. doi: 10.1038/nrc3599
- Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. *Cell.* (2017) 168:707– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.017
- 3. Martins-Neves SR, Cleton-Jansen AM, Gomes CMF. Therapy-induced enrichment of cancer stem-like cells in solid human tumors: where

exercise is being explored for its ability to promote and restore antitumor immunity. In fact, the infiltration and antitumor activity of immune cells are limited by a scarcely oxygenated and acidic tumor microenvironment. Exercise has been reported to modulate oxygen concentration and pH in the tumor bed and to directly stimulate tumor cell killing by immune cells, thus appearing as a potential tool to improve the effectiveness of immunotherapy (183). In summary, drug resistance increasingly appears as a multifactorial process (**Figure 2**) where each class of factors can be considered as a target for novel therapeutic strategies.

CONCLUSIONS

Understanding the mechanisms of drug resistance is mandatory in order to improve the effectiveness of cancer therapies. While novel and unexpected mechanisms of drug resistance continue to emerge, translational research is moving toward new therapeutic approaches involving not only cancer cells and peritumoral cells but also other components of the body such as the immune and the hormonal system. As a result of the discoveries made in the last decade, drug resistant cancer cells in their different contexts are starting to appear as a treatable target. However, increasing efforts are required to explore the mechanisms that regulate drug resistance of cancer cells either in primary tumors, pre-metastatic niches, and overt metastases in order to find new therapeutic avenues.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AZ, MD, and FF wrote the manuscript. FL provided essential expertise.

FUNDING

This work was supported by an ERA-NET TRANSCAN grant TRS-2015-00000096 to AZ, by Italian Association for Cancer Research (AIRC) Investigator Grant 20744 to AZ, and by Awards Sapienza University of Rome grant C26H15ZKWL to FL.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc. 2019.00626/full#supplementary-material

do we stand? *Pharmacol Res.* (2018) 137:193-204. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs. 2018.10.011

- Bhang HE, Ruddy DA, Krishnamurthy Radhakrishna V, Caushi JX, Zhao R, Hims MM, et al. Studying clonal dynamics in response to cancer therapy using high-complexity barcoding. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:440– 8. doi: 10.1038/nm.3841
- Sakai W, Swisher EM, Karlan BY, Agarwal MK, Higgins J, Friedman C, et al. Secondary mutations as a mechanism of cisplatin resistance in BRCA2-mutated cancers. *Nature*. (2008) 451:1116–20. doi: 10.1038/ nature06633

- Turke AB, Zejnullahu K, Wu YL, Song Y, Dias-Santagata D, Lifshits E, et al. Preexistence and clonal selection of MET amplification in EGFR mutant NSCLC. Cancer Cell. (2010) 17:77–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.11.022
- Knoechel B, Roderick JE, Williamson KE, Zhu J, Lohr JG, Cotton MJ, et al. An epigenetic mechanism of resistance to targeted therapy in T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Genet.* (2014) 46:364– 70. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2014-4782
- Liau BB, Sievers C, Donohue LK, Gillespie SM, Flavahan WA, Miller TE, et al. Adaptive chromatin remodeling drives glioblastoma stem cell plasticity and drug tolerance. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2017) 20:233– 46.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.11.003
- Sharma SV, Lee DY, Li B, Quinlan MP, Takahashi F, Maheswaran S, et al. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell.* (2010) 141:69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.027
- Fluegen G, Avivar-Valderas A, Wang Y, Padgen MR, Williams JK, Nobre AR, et al. Phenotypic heterogeneity of disseminated tumour cells is preset by primary tumour hypoxic microenvironments. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2017) 19:120– 32. doi: 10.1038/ncb3465
- Saleh T, Tyutyunyk-Massey L, Gewirtz DA. Tumor cell escape from therapyinduced senescence as a model of disease recurrence after dormancy. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:1044-1046. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3437
- Aguirre-Ghiso JA, Sosa MS. Emerging topics on disseminated cancer cell dormancy and the paradigm of metastasis. *Annu Rev Cancer Biol.* (2018) 2:377–93. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-030617-050446
- Aguirre-Ghiso JA. How dormant cancer persists and reawakens. Science. (2018) 361:1314–15. doi: 10.1126/science.aav0191
- Gupta PB, Fillmore CM, Jiang G, Shapira SD, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, et al. Stochastic state transitions give rise to phenotypic equilibrium in populations of cancer cells. *Cell*. (2011) 146:633–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.026
- Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell. (2014) 14:275–91. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.02.006
- Zeuner A, Todaro M, Stassi G, De Maria R. Colorectal cancer stem cells: from the crypt to the clinic. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 15:692– 705. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.012
- Francescangeli F, Contavalli P, De Angelis ML, Baiocchi M, Gambara G, Pagliuca A, et al. Dynamic regulation of the cancer stem cell compartment by Cripto-1 in colorectal cancer. *Cell Death Differ*. (2015) 22:1700– 13. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.19
- Bragado P, Estrada Y, Sosa MS, Avivar-Valderas A, Cannan D, Genden E, et al. Analysis of marker-defined HNSCC subpopulations reveals a dynamic regulation of tumor initiating properties. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e29974. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029974
- Giessler KM, Kleinheinz K, Huebschmann D, Balasubramanian GP, Dubash TD, Dieter SM, et al. Genetic subclone architecture of tumor clone-initiating cells in colorectal cancer. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:2073– 88. doi: 10.1084/jem.20162017
- Calabrese C, Poppleton H, Kocak M, Hogg TL, Fuller C, Hamner B, et al. A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2007) 11:69– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.11.020
- Charles N, Ozawa T, Squatrito M, Bleau AM, Brennan CW, Hambardzumyan D, et al. Perivascular nitric oxide activates notch signaling and promotes stem-like character in PDGF-induced glioma cells. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2010) 6:141–52. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.01.001
- Vermeulen L, De Sousa EMF, van der Heijden M, Cameron K, de Jong JH, Borovski T, et al. Wnt activity defines colon cancer stem cells and is regulated by the microenvironment. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2010) 12:468– 76. doi: 10.1038/ncb2048
- Todaro M, Gaggianesi M, Catalano V, Benfante A, Iovino F, Biffoni M, et al. CD44v6 is a marker of constitutive and reprogrammed cancer stem cells driving colon cancer metastasis. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 14:342– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.01.009
- Lu H, Clauser KR, Tam WL, Frose J, Ye X, Eaton EN, et al. A breast cancer stem cell niche supported by juxtacrine signalling from monocytes and macrophages. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2014) 16:1105–17. doi: 10.1038/ncb3041
- Zhou W, Ke SQ, Huang Z, Flavahan W, Fang X, Paul J, et al. Periostin secreted by glioblastoma stem cells recruits M2 tumour-associated macrophages and promotes malignant growth. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2015) 17:170– 82. doi: 10.1038/ncb3090

- Sansone P, Berishaj M, Rajasekhar VK, Ceccarelli C, Chang Q, Strillacci A, et al. Evolution of cancer stem-like cells in endocrine-resistant metastatic breast cancers is mediated by stromal microvesicles. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:1927–41. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2129
- van der Heijden M, Miedema DM, Waclaw B, Veenstra VL, Lecca MC, Nijman LE, et al. Spatiotemporal regulation of clonogenicity in colorectal cancer xenografts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:6140– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1813417116
- Makena MR, Ranjan A, Thirumala V, Reddy A. Cancer stem cells: road to therapeutic resistance and strategies to overcome resistance. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.11.015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Felipe De Sousa EM, Wang X, Jansen M, Fessler E, Trinh A, De Rooij LP, et al. Poor-prognosis colon cancer is defined by a molecularly distinct subtype and develops from serrated precursor lesions. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:614. doi: 10.1038/nm.3174
- Ben-Porath I, Thomson MW, Carey VJ, Ge R, Bell GW, Regev A, et al. An embryonic stem cell-like gene expression signature in poorly differentiated aggressive human tumors. *Nat Genet.* (2008) 40:499–507. doi: 10. 1038/ng.127
- Merlos-Suárez A, Barriga FM, Jung P, Iglesias M, Céspedes MV, Rossell D, et al. The intestinal stem cell signature identifies colorectal cancer stem cells and predicts disease relapse. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2011) 8:511– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2011.02.020
- Pece S, Tosoni D, Confalonieri S, Mazzarol G, Vecchi M, Ronzoni S, et al. Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. *Cell.* (2010) 140:62–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.007
- Eppert K, Takenaka K, Lechman ER, Waldron L, Nilsson B, van Galen P, et al. Stem cell gene expression programs influence clinical outcome in human leukemia. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1086–93. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2415
- Dembinski JL, Krauss S. Characterization and functional analysis of a slow cycling stem cell-like subpopulation in pancreas adenocarcinoma. *Clin Exp Metastasis*. (2009) 26:611–23. doi: 10.1007/s10585-009-9260-0
- Lin WC, Rajbhandari N, Liu C, Sakamoto K, Zhang Q, Triplett AA, et al. Dormant cancer cells contribute to residual disease in a model of reversible pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1821– 30. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2067
- Gao MQ, Choi YP, Kang S, Youn JH, Cho NH. CD24+ cells from hierarchically organized ovarian cancer are enriched in cancer stem cells. *Oncogene*. (2010) 29:2672–80. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.35
- Roesch A, Fukunaga-Kalabis M, Schmidt EC, Zabierowski SE, Brafford PA, Vultur A, et al. A temporarily distinct subpopulation of slow-cycling melanoma cells is required for continuous tumor growth. *Cell.* (2010) 141:583–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.020
- Zeuner A, Francescangeli F, Contavalli P, Zapparelli G, Apuzzo T, Eramo A, et al. Elimination of quiescent/slow-proliferating cancer stem cells by Bcl-XL inhibition in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cell Death Differ*. (2014) 21:1877–88. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.105
- Holtz MS, Forman SJ, Bhatia R. Nonproliferating CML CD34+ progenitors are resistant to apoptosis induced by a wide range of proapoptotic stimuli. *Leukemia*. (2005) 19:1034–41. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu. 2403724
- Ebinger S, Ozdemir EZ, Ziegenhain C, Tiedt S, Castro Alves C, Grunert M, et al. Characterization of rare, dormant, and therapyresistant cells in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Cell.* (2016) 30:849– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.11.002
- Lan X, Jorg DJ, Cavalli FMG, Richards LM, Nguyen LV, Vanner RJ, et al. Fate mapping of human glioblastoma reveals an invariant stem cell hierarchy. *Nature*. (2017) 549:227–32. doi: 10.1038/nature23666
- Chen J, Li Y, Yu TS, McKay RM, Burns DK, Kernie SG, et al. A restricted cell population propagates glioblastoma growth after chemotherapy. *Nature*. (2012) 488:522–6. doi: 10.1038/nature11287
- Kabraji S, Sole X, Huang Y, Bango C, Bowden M, Bardia A, et al. AKT1^(low) quiescent cancer cells persist after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in triple negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2017) 19:88. doi: 10.1186/s13058-017-0877-7

- Puig I, Tenbaum SP, Chicote I, Arques O, Martinez-Quintanilla J, Cuesta-Borras E, et al. TET2 controls chemoresistant slow-cycling cancer cell survival and tumor recurrence. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:3887– 905. doi: 10.1172/JCI96393
- Buczacki SJA, Popova S, Biggs E, Koukorava C, Buzzelli J, Vermeulen L, et al. Itraconazole targets cell cycle heterogeneity in colorectal cancer. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:1891–912. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171385
- Harper KL, Sosa MS, Entenberg D, Hosseini H, Cheung JF, Nobre R, et al. Mechanism of early dissemination and metastasis in Her2(+) mammary cancer. *Nature*. (2016) 540:588–92. doi: 10.1038/nature20609
- Werner-Klein M, Scheitler S, Hoffmann M, Hodak I, Dietz K, Lehnert P, et al. Genetic alterations driving metastatic colony formation are acquired outside of the primary tumour in melanoma. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:595. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02674-y
- Lawson DA, Bhakta NR, Kessenbrock K, Prummel KD, Yu Y, Takai K, et al. Single-cell analysis reveals a stem-cell program in human metastatic breast cancer cells. *Nature*. (2015) 526:131. doi: 10.1038/nature15260
- Hosseini H, Obradović MM, Hoffmann M, Harper KL, Sosa MS, Werner-Klein M, et al. Early dissemination seeds metastasis in breast cancer. *Nature*. (2016) 540:552–8. doi: 10.1038/nature20785
- Vallette FM, Olivier C, Lézot F, Oliver L, Cochonneau D, Lalier L, et al. Dormant, quiescent, tolerant and persister cells: four synonyms for the same target in cancer. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2019) 162:169– 76. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.11.004
- Shaffer SM, Dunagin MC, Torborg SR, Torre EA, Emert B, Krepler C, et al. Rare cell variability and drug-induced reprogramming as a mode of cancer drug resistance. *Nature*. (2017) 546:431–5. doi: 10.1038/nature22794
- Corre S, Tardif N, Mouchet N, Leclair HM, Boussemart L, Gautron A, et al. Sustained activation of the Aryl hydrocarbon Receptor transcription factor promotes resistance to BRAF-inhibitors in melanoma. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:4775. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06951-2
- Roberson RS, Kussick SJ, Vallieres E, Chen SY, Wu DY. Escape from therapy-induced accelerated cellular senescence in p53-null lung cancer cells and in human lung cancers. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:2795– 803. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1270
- Francica P, Aebersold DM, Medova M. Senescence as biologic endpoint following pharmacological targeting of receptor tyrosine kinases in cancer. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2017) 126:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2016.08.022
- Saleh T, Tyutynuk-Massey L, Cudjoe EK Jr, Idowu MO, Landry JW, Gewirtz DA. Non-cell autonomous effects of the senescenceassociated secretory phenotype in cancer therapy. *Fron Oncol.* (2018) 8:164. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00164
- Milanovic M, Fan DNY, Belenki D, Dabritz JHM, Zhao Z, Yu Y, et al. Senescence-associated reprogramming promotes cancer stemness. *Nature*. (2018) 553:96–100. doi: 10.1038/nature25167
- Carlson P, Dasgupta A, Grzelak CA, Kim J, Barrett A, Coleman IM, et al. Targeting the perivascular niche sensitizes disseminated tumour cells to chemotherapy. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2019) 21:238–50. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0267-0
- 58. Ogba N, Manning NG, Bliesner BS, Ambler SK, Haughian JM, Pinto MP, et al. Luminal breast cancer metastases and tumor arousal from dormancy are promoted by direct actions of estradiol and progesterone on the malignant cells. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2014) 16:489. doi: 10.1186/s13058-014-0489-4
- Polzer B, Klein CA. Metastasis awakening: the challenges of targeting minimal residual cancer. Nat Med. (2013) 19:274–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.3121
- Goddard ET, Bozic I, Riddell SR, Ghajar CM. Dormant tumour cells, their niches and the influence of immunity. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2018) 20:1240– 9. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0214-0
- Linde N, Fluegen G, Aguirre-Ghiso JA. The relationship between dormant cancer cells and their microenvironment. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2016) 132:45– 71. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2016.07.002
- Sosa MS, Bragado P, Aguirre-Ghiso JA. Mechanisms of disseminated cancer cell dormancy: an awakening field. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:611– 22. doi: 10.1038/nrc3793
- Aguirre-Ghiso JA, Estrada Y, Liu D, Ossowski L. ERK(MAPK) activity as a determinant of tumor growth and dormancy; regulation by p38(SAPK). *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:1684–95. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2003.12.012

- 64. Aguirre-Ghiso JA, Liu D, Mignatti A, Kovalski K, Ossowski L. Urokinase receptor and fibronectin regulate the ERK(MAPK) to p38(MAPK) activity ratios that determine carcinoma cell proliferation or dormancy *in vivo*. *Mol Biol Cell*. (2001) 12:863–79. doi: 10.1091/mbc.12.4.863
- 65. Sosa MS, Parikh F, Maia AG, Estrada Y, Bosch A, Bragado P, et al. NR2F1 controls tumour cell dormancy via SOX9- and RARβ-driven quiescence programmes. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6170. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7170
- Borgen E, Rypdal MC, Sosa MS, Renolen A, Schlichting E, Lonning PE, et al. NR2F1 stratifies dormant disseminated tumor cells in breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2018) 20:120. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1049-0
- Lytle NK, Ferguson LP, Rajbhandari N, Gilroy K, Fox RG, Deshpande A, et al. A multiscale map of the stem cell state in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Cell*. (2019) 177:572–86.e22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.010
- Domenici G, Aurrekoetxea-Rodriguez I, Simoes BM, Rabano M, Lee SY, Millan JS, et al. A Sox2-Sox9 signalling axis maintains human breast luminal progenitor and breast cancer stem cells. *Oncogene*. (2019) 38:3151– 69. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0656-7
- Wang L, Zhang Z, Yu X, Huang X, Liu Z, Chai Y, et al. Unbalanced YAP-SOX9 circuit drives stemness and malignant progression in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncogene*. (2019) 38:2042–55. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0476-9
- Yuan X, Li J, Coulouarn C, Lin T, Sulpice L, Bergeat D, et al. SOX9 expression decreases survival of patients with intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma by conferring chemoresistance. Br J Cancer. (2018) 119:1358–66. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0338-9
- Rahmanto AS, Savov V, Brunner A, Bolin S, Weishaupt H, Malyukova A, et al. FBW7 suppression leads to SOX9 stabilization and increased malignancy in medulloblastoma. *EMBO J.* (2016) 35:2192–212. doi: 10.15252/embj.201693889
- Shimizu H, Takeishi S, Nakatsumi H, Nakayama KI. Prevention of cancer dormancy by Fbxw7 ablation eradicates disseminated tumor cells. *JCI Insight*. (2019) 4:e125138. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.125138
- Malladi S, Macalinao DG, Jin X, He L, Basnet H, Zou Y, et al. Metastatic latency and immune evasion through autocrine inhibition of WNT. *Cell*. (2016) 165:45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.025
- 74. Ren D, Dai Y, Yang Q, Zhang X, Guo W, Ye L, et al. Wnt5a induces and maintains prostate cancer cells dormancy in bone. *J Exp Med.* (2019) 216:428–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180661
- Senft D, Qi J, Ronai ZA. Ubiquitin ligases in oncogenic transformation and cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2018) 18:69–88. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.105
- Endo H, Okami J, Okuyama H, Nishizawa Y, Imamura F, Inoue M. The induction of MIG6 under hypoxic conditions is critical for dormancy in primary cultured lung cancer cells with activating EGFR mutations. *Oncogene.* (2017) 36:2824–34. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.431
- Lu H, Chen I, Shimoda LA, Park Y, Zhang C, Tran L, et al. Chemotherapyinduced Ca(2+) release stimulates breast cancer stem cell enrichment. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 18:1946–57. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.001
- Madden E, Logue SE, Healy SJ, Manie S, Samali A. The role of the unfolded protein response in cancer progression: from oncogenesis to chemoresistance. *Biol Cell.* (2019) 111:1–17. doi: 10.1111/boc. 201800050
- Ranganathan AC, Zhang L, Adam AP, Aguirre-Ghiso JA. Functional coupling of p38-induced up-regulation of BiP and activation of RNAdependent protein kinase-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase to drug resistance of dormant carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:1702– 11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3092
- Dauer P, Sharma NS, Gupta VK, Durden B, Hadad R, Banerjee S, et al. ER stress sensor, glucose regulatory protein 78 (GRP78) regulates redox status in pancreatic cancer thereby maintaining "stemness". *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 10:132. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1408-5
- Gifford JB, Huang W, Zeleniak AE, Hindoyan A, Wu H, Donahue TR, et al. Expression of GRP78, master regulator of the unfolded protein response, increases chemoresistance in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2016) 15:1043–52. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0774
- Terai H, Kitajima S, Potter DS, Matsui Y, Quiceno LG, Chen T, et al. ER stress signaling promotes the survival of cancer "persister cells" tolerant to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1044– 57. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1904

- Yan MM, Ni JD, Song D, Ding M, Huang J. Interplay between unfolded protein response and autophagy promotes tumor drug resistance. *Oncol Lett.* (2015) 10:1959–69. doi: 10.3892/ol.2015.3508
- Gupta A, Roy S, Lazar AJ, Wang WL, McAuliffe JC, Reynoso D, et al. Autophagy inhibition and antimalarials promote cell death in gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:14333–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000248107
- Lu Z, Luo RZ, Lu Y, Zhang X, Yu Q, Khare S, et al. The tumor suppressor gene ARHI regulates autophagy and tumor dormancy in human ovarian cancer cells. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3917–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI35512
- Rabinowitz JD, White E. Autophagy and metabolism. Science. (2010) 330:1344–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1193497
- Ou J, Peng Y, Yang W, Zhang Y, Hao J, Li F, et al. ABHD5 blunts the sensitivity of colorectal cancer to fluorouracil via promoting autophagic uracil yield. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1078. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08902-x
- Huang X, Gan G, Wang X, Xu T, Xie W. The HGF-MET axis coordinates liver cancer metabolism and autophagy for chemotherapeutic resistance. *Autophagy*. (2019) 15:1258–79. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2019. 1580105
- Moeckel S, LaFrance K, Wetsch J, Seliger C, Riemenschneider MJ, Proescholdt M, et al. ATF4 contributes to autophagy and survival in sunitinib treated brain tumor initiating cells (BTICs). *Oncotarget*. (2019) 10:368– 82. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26569
- 90. Ojha R, Leli NM, Onorati A, Piao S, Verginadis II, Tameire F, et al. ER translocation of the MAPK pathway drives therapy resistance in BRAF-mutant melanoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:396–415. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0348
- Vera-Ramirez L, Hunter KW. Tumor cell dormancy as an adaptive cell stress response mechanism. *F1000Res.* (2017) 6:2134. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.12174.1
- Kinsey CG, Camolotto SA, Boespflug AM, Guillen KP, Foth M, Truong A, et al. Protective autophagy elicited by RAF->MEK->ERK inhibition suggests a treatment strategy for RAS-driven cancers. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:620–27. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0367-9
- 93. Li S, Song Y, Quach C, Guo H, Jang GB, Maazi H, et al. Transcriptional regulation of autophagy-lysosomal function in BRAF-driven melanoma progression and chemoresistance. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1693. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09634-8
- 94. Zeuner A. The secret life of quiescent cancer stem cells. *Mol Cell Oncol.* (2015) 2:e968067. doi: 10.4161/23723548.2014. 968067
- Morandi A, Indraccolo S. Linking metabolic reprogramming to therapy resistance in cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*. (2017) 1868:1– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2016.12.004
- 96. Giannoni E, Taddei ML, Morandi A, Comito G, Calvani M, Bianchini F, et al. Targeting stromal-induced pyruvate kinase M2 nuclear translocation impairs oxphos and prostate cancer metastatic spread. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:24061–74. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4448
- 97. Ippolito L, Marini A, Cavallini L, Morandi A, Pietrovito L, Pintus G, et al. Metabolic shift toward oxidative phosphorylation in docetaxel resistant prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:61890–904. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11301
- Matassa DS, Amoroso MR, Lu H, Avolio R, Arzeni D, Procaccini C, et al. Oxidative metabolism drives inflammation-induced platinum resistance in human ovarian cancer. *Cell Death Differ*. (2016) 23:1542–54. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2016.39
- 99. Viale A, Pettazzoni P, Lyssiotis CA, Ying H, Sanchez N, Marchesini M, et al. Oncogene ablation-resistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. *Nature*. (2014) 514:628–32. doi: 10.1038/nature13611
- 100. Zhou Y, Tozzi F, Chen J, Fan F, Xia L, Wang J, et al. Intracellular ATP levels are a pivotal determinant of chemoresistance in colon cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:304–14. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1674
- 101. Bacci M, Giannoni E, Fearns A, Ribas R, Gao Q, Taddei ML, et al. miR-155 drives metabolic reprogramming of ER+ breast cancer cells following long-term estrogen deprivation and predicts clinical response to aromatase inhibitors. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:1615–26. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2038

- Botzer LE, Maman S, Sagi-Assif O, Meshel T, Nevo I, Yron I, et al. Hexokinase 2 is a determinant of neuroblastoma metastasis. *Br J Cancer*. (2016) 114:759– 66. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.26
- 103. Bovenzi CD, Hamilton J, Tassone P, Johnson J, Cognetti DM, Luginbuhl A, et al. Prognostic indications of elevated MCT4 and CD147 across Cancer types: a meta-analysis. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:242437. doi: 10.1155/2015/242437
- 104. Doyen J, Trastour C, Ettore F, Peyrottes I, Toussant N, Gal J, et al. Expression of the hypoxia-inducible monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is increased in triple negative breast cancer and correlates independently with clinical outcome. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2014) 451:54– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.050
- 105. Elgendy M, Cirò M, Hosseini A, Weiszmann J, Mazzarella L, Ferrari E, et al. Combination of hypoglycemia and metformin impairs tumor metabolic plasticity and growth by modulating the PP2A-GSK3β-MCL-1 axis. *Cancer Cell*. (2019) 35:798–815.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.03.007
- 106. Zhang X, De Milito A, Demiroglu-Zergeroglu A, Gullbo J, D'Arcy P, Linder S. Eradicating quiescent tumor cells by targeting mitochondrial bioenergetics. *Trends Cancer.* (2016) 2:657–63. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2016.10.009
- 107. Sansone P, Ceccarelli C, Berishaj M, Chang Q, Rajasekhar VK, Perna F, et al. Self-renewal of CD133(hi) cells by IL6/Notch3 signalling regulates endocrine resistance in metastatic breast cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10442. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10442
- 108. Yan W, Wu X, Zhou W, Fong MY, Cao M, Liu J, et al. Cancer-cellsecreted exosomal miR-105 promotes tumour growth through the MYCdependent metabolic reprogramming of stromal cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2018) 20:597–609. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0083-6
- 109. Rapisarda A, Melillo G. Role of the hypoxic tumor microenvironment in the resistance to anti-angiogenic therapies. *Drug Resist Updat.* (2009) 12:74–80. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2009.03.002
- 110. Kuang R, Jahangiri A, Mascharak S, Nguyen A, Chandra A, Flanigan PM, et al. GLUT3 upregulation promotes metabolic reprogramming associated with antiangiogenic therapy resistance. *JCI Insight*. (2017) 2:e88815. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.88815
- Pavlova NN, Thompson CB. The emerging hallmarks of cancer metabolism. Cell Metab. (2016) 23:27–47. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006
- 112. Pfister SX, Ashworth A. Marked for death: targeting epigenetic changes in cancer. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:241–63. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.256
- Flavahan WA, Gaskell E, Bernstein BE. Epigenetic plasticity and the hallmarks of cancer. Science. (2017) 357:eaal2380. doi: 10.1126/science.aal2380
- 114. Wawruszak A, Kalafut J, Okon E, Czapinski J, Halasa M, Przybyszewska A, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors and phenotypical transformation of cancer cells. *Cancers*. (2019) 11:148. doi: 10.3390/cancers11020148
- 115. Dalvi MP, Wang L, Zhong R, Kollipara RK, Park H, Bayo J, et al. Taxane-platin-resistant lung cancers co-develop hypersensitivity to jumonjic demethylase inhibitors. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 19:1669– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.04.077
- 116. Guler GD, Tindell CA, Pitti R, Wilson C, Nichols K, KaiWai Cheung T, et al. Repression of stress-induced LINE-1 expression protects cancer cell subpopulations from lethal drug exposure. *Cancer Cell.* (2017) 32:221– 37.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.07.002
- 117. Risom T, Langer EM, Chapman MP, Rantala J, Fields AJ, Boniface C, et al. Differentiation-state plasticity is a targetable resistance mechanism in basal-like breast cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3815. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05729-w
- 118. Staberg M, Rasmussen RD, Michaelsen SR, Pedersen H, Jensen KE, Villingshoj M, et al. Targeting glioma stem-like cell survival and chemoresistance through inhibition of lysine-specific histone demethylase KDM2B. *Mol Oncol.* (2018) 12:406–20. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12174
- 119. Vinogradova M, Gehling VS, Gustafson A, Arora S, Tindell CA, Wilson C, et al. An inhibitor of KDM5 demethylases reduces survival of drug-tolerant cancer cells. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2016) 12:531–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2085
- 120. Hinohara K, Wu HJ, Vigneau S, McDonald TO, Igarashi KJ, Yamamoto KN, et al. KDM5 histone demethylase activity links cellular transcriptomic heterogeneity to therapeutic resistance. *Cancer Cell.* (2018) 34:939–53.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.10.014

- 121. Leadem BR, Kagiampakis I, Wilson C, Cheung TK, Arnott D, Trojer P, et al. A KDM5 inhibitor increases global H3K4 trimethylation occupancy and enhances the biological efficacy of 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1127–39. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1453
- 122. Zanconato F, Battilana G, Forcato M, Filippi L, Azzolin L, Manfrin A, et al. Transcriptional addiction in cancer cells is mediated by YAP/TAZ through BRD4. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1599–610. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0158-8
- 123. Iniguez AB, Alexe G, Wang EJ, Roti G, Patel S, Chen L, et al. Resistance to epigenetic-targeted therapy engenders tumor cell vulnerabilities associated with enhancer remodeling. *Cancer Cell.* (2018) 34:922–38.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.11.005
- Manzotti G, Ciarrocchi A, Sancisi V. Inhibition of BET proteins and histone deacetylase (HDACs): crossing roads in cancer therapy. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:304. doi: 10.3390/cancers11030304
- 125. Roche B, Arcangioli B, Martienssen R. Transcriptional reprogramming in cellular quiescence. RNA Biol. (2017) 14:843–53. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2017.1327510
- 126. Ramirez M, Rajaram S, Steininger RJ, Osipchuk D, Roth MA, Morinishi LS, et al. Diverse drug-resistance mechanisms can emerge from drug-tolerant cancer persister cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10690. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10690
- 127. Ishak CA, Classon M, De Carvalho DD. Deregulation of retroelements as an emerging therapeutic opportunity in cancer. *Trends Cancer.* (2018) 4:583–97. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2018.05.008
- 128. Goel S, DeCristo MJ, Watt AC, BrinJones H, Sceneay J, Li BB, et al. CDK4/6 inhibition triggers anti-tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2017) 548:471– 5. doi: 10.1038/nature23465
- Mohammad HP, Barbash O, Creasy CL. Targeting epigenetic modifications in cancer therapy: erasing the roadmap to cancer. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:403– 18. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0376-8
- Maccalli C, Rasul KI, Elawad M, Ferrone S. The role of cancer stem cells in the modulation of anti-tumor immune responses. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 53:189–200. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.09.006
- 131. Miao Y, Yang H, Levorse J, Yuan S, Polak L, Sribour M, et al. Adaptive immune resistance emerges from tumor-initiating stem cells. *Cell.* (2019) 177:1172–86.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.025
- Crespo J, Sun H, Welling TH, Tian Z, Zou W. T cell anergy, exhaustion, senescence, and stemness in the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2013) 25:214–21. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.12.003
- Gonzalez H, Hagerling C, Werb Z. Roles of the immune system in cancer: from tumor initiation to metastatic progression. *Genes Dev.* (2018) 32:1267– 84. doi: 10.1101/gad.314617.118
- Mohme M, Riethdorf S, Pantel K. Circulating and disseminated tumour cells

 mechanisms of immune surveillance and escape. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2017)
 14:155–67. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.144
- 135. Pommier A, Anaparthy N, Memos N, Kelley ZL, Gouronnec A, Yan R, et al. Unresolved endoplasmic reticulum stress engenders immune-resistant, latent pancreatic cancer metastases. *Science*. (2018) 360:eaao4908. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4908
- 136. Aqbi HF, Wallace M, Sappal S, Payne KK, Manjili MH. IFNgamma orchestrates tumor elimination, tumor dormancy, tumor escape, and progression. J Leukoc Biol. (2018) 103:1219– 23. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5MIR0917-351R
- 137. Payne KK, Keim RC, Graham L, Idowu MO, Wan W, Wang XY, et al. Tumor-reactive immune cells protect against metastatic tumor and induce immunoediting of indolent but not quiescent tumor cells. *J Leukoc biol.* (2016) 100:625–35. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5A1215-580R
- Budhwani M, Mazzieri R, Dolcetti R. Plasticity of type I interferonmediated responses in cancer therapy: from anti-tumor immunity to resistance. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:322. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018. 00322
- 139. Wang X, Schoenhals JE, Li A, Valdecanas DR, Ye H, Zang F, et al. Suppression of type I IFN signaling in tumors mediates resistance to anti-PD-1 treatment that can be overcome by radiotherapy. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:839–50. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-3142
- 140. Liu Y, Liang X, Yin X, Lv J, Tang K, Ma J, et al. Blockade of IDO-kynurenine-AhR metabolic circuitry abrogates IFN-gamma-induced

immunologic dormancy of tumor-repopulating cells. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15207. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15207

- Liu Y, Lv J, Liu J, Liang X, Jin X, Xie J, et al. STAT3/p53 pathway activation disrupts IFN-beta-induced dormancy in tumor-repopulating cells. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:1057–73. doi: 10.1172/JCI96329
- 142. Ranoa DRE, Widau RC, Mallon S, Parekh AD, Nicolae CM, Huang X, et al. STING promotes homeostasis via regulation of cell proliferation and chromosomal stability. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:1465–79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1972
- 143. Nassour J, Radford R, Correia A, Fuste JM, Schoell B, Jauch A, et al. Autophagic cell death restricts chromosomal instability during replicative crisis. *Nature*. (2019) 565:659–63. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0885-0
- 144. Bakhoum SF, Ngo B, Laughney AM, Cavallo JA, Murphy CJ, Ly P, et al. Chromosomal instability drives metastasis through a cytosolic DNA response. *Nature*. (2018) 553:467–72. doi: 10.1038/nature25432
- 145. Hou Y, Liang H, Rao E, Zheng W, Huang X, Deng L, et al. Non-canonical NFkappaB antagonizes STING sensor-mediated DNA sensing in radiotherapy. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:490–503.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.008
- 146. Chen Q, Boire A, Jin X, Valiente M, Er EE, Lopez-Soto A, et al. Carcinomaastrocyte gap junctions promote brain metastasis by cGAMP transfer. *Nature*. (2016) 533:493–8. doi: 10.1038/nature18268
- 147. Gui X, Yang H, Li T, Tan X, Shi P, Li M, et al. Autophagy induction via STING trafficking is a primordial function of the cGAS pathway. *Nature*. (2019) 567:262–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1006-9
- 148. Gan B, Hu J, Jiang S, Liu Y, Sahin E, Zhuang L, et al. Lkb1 regulates quiescence and metabolic homeostasis of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*. (2010) 468:701–4. doi: 10.1038/nature09595
- 149. Kitajima S, Ivanova E, Guo S, Yoshida R, Campisi M, Sundararaman SK, et al. Suppression of STING associated with LKB1 loss in KRAS-driven lung cancer. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:34–45. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0689
- 150. Cheng N, Watkins-Schulz R, Junkins RD, David CN, Johnson BM, Montgomery SA, et al. A nanoparticle-incorporated STING activator enhances antitumor immunity in PD-L1-insensitive models of triple-negative breast cancer. JCI Insight. (2018) 3:e120638. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.120638
- 151. Albrengues J, Shields MA, Ng D, Park CG, Ambrico A, Poindexter ME, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps produced during inflammation awaken dormant cancer cells in mice. *Science*. (2018) 361:eaao4227. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4227
- Cooper J, Giancotti FG. Integrin signaling in cancer: mechanotransduction, stemness, epithelial plasticity, and therapeutic resistance. *Cancer Cell.* (2019) 35:347–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.007
- Abderrahman B, Jordan VC. Rethinking extended adjuvant antiestrogen therapy to increase survivorship in breast cancer. JAMA Oncol. (2018) 4:15–6. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.3510
- 154. O'Leary B, Finn RS, Turner NC. Treating cancer with selective CDK4/6 inhibitors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2016) 13:417– 30. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.26
- 155. El Touny LH, Vieira A, Mendoza A, Khanna C, Hoenerhoff MJ, Green JE. Combined SFK/MEK inhibition prevents metastatic outgrowth of dormant tumor cells. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:156–68. doi: 10.1172/JCI70259
- 156. Chen JY, Lin JR, Tsai FC, Meyer T. Dosage of dyrk1a shifts cells within a p21-cyclin D1 signaling map to control the decision to enter the cell cycle. *Mol cell*. (2013) 52:87–100. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.09.009
- 157. Soppa U, Schumacher J, Florencio Ortiz V, Pasqualon T, Tejedor FJ, Becker W. The down syndrome-related protein kinase DYRK1A phosphorylates p27(Kip1) and cyclin D1 and induces cell cycle exit and neuronal differentiation. *Cell Cycle*. (2014) 13:2084–100. doi: 10.4161/cc.29104
- 158. Orienti I, Francescangeli F, De Angelis ML, Fecchi K, Bongiorno L, Signore M, et al. A new bioavailable fenretinide formulation with antiproliferative, antimetabolic and cytotoxic effects on solid tumors. *Cell Death Disease*. (in press).
- Essers MA, Trumpp A. Targeting leukemic stem cells by breaking their dormancy. *Mol Oncol.* (2010) 4:443–50. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2010.06.001
- 160. Vanner RJ, Remke M, Gallo M, Selvadurai HJ, Coutinho F, Lee L, et al. Quiescent sox2(+) cells drive hierarchical growth and relapse in sonic hedgehog subgroup medulloblastoma. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 26:33– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.05.005

- 161. Rajbhandari N, Lin WC, Wehde BL, Triplett AA, Wagner KU. Autocrine IGF1 signaling mediates pancreatic tumor cell dormancy in the absence of oncogenic drivers. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 18:2243–55. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.013
- 162. Hangauer MJ, Viswanathan VS, Ryan MJ, Bole D, Eaton JK, Matov A, et al. Drug-tolerant persister cancer cells are vulnerable to GPX4 inhibition. *Nature*. (2017) 551:247–50. doi: 10.1038/nature24297
- 163. Yang WS, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, et al. Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4. *Cell.* (2014) 156:317–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.010
- 164. Kuntz EM, Baquero P, Michie AM, Dunn K, Tardito S, Holyoake TL, et al. Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation eradicates therapyresistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1234– 40. doi: 10.1038/nm.4399
- 165. Roesch A, Vultur A, Bogeski I, Wang H, Zimmermann KM, Speicher D, et al. Overcoming intrinsic multidrug resistance in melanoma by blocking the mitochondrial respiratory chain of slow-cycling JARID1B(high) cells. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 23:811–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013. 05.003
- 166. Goff DJ, Court Recart A, Sadarangani A, Chun HJ, Barrett CL, Krajewska M, et al. A Pan-BCL2 inhibitor renders bone-marrow-resident human leukemia stem cells sensitive to tyrosine kinase inhibition. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2013) 12:316–28. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.011
- 167. Lagadinou ED, Sach A, Callahan K, Rossi RM, Neering SJ, Minhajuddin M, et al. BCL-2 inhibition targets oxidative phosphorylation and selectively eradicates quiescent human leukemia stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2013) 12:329–41. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.013
- Carreau N, Pavlick A. Revolutionizing treatment of advanced melanoma with immunotherapy. *Surg Oncol.* (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2019.01.002. [Epub ahead of print].
- Esteva FJ, Hubbard-Lucey VM, Tang J, Pusztai L. Immunotherapy and targeted therapy combinations in metastatic breast cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:e175–86. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30026-9
- 170. Zacharakis N, Chinnasamy H, Black M, Xu H, Lu YC, Zheng Z, et al. Immune recognition of somatic mutations leading to complete durable regression in metastatic breast cancer. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:724– 30. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0040-8
- 171. Stevanovic S, Pasetto A, Helman SR, Gartner JJ, Prickett TD, Howie B, et al. Landscape of immunogenic tumor antigens in successful immunotherapy of virally induced epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2017) 356:200– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.aak9510
- 172. Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu YC, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. *Science*. (2015) 350:1387–90. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1253
- 173. Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279

- 174. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- 175. De Cock JM, Shibue T, Dongre A, Keckesova Z, Reinhardt F, Weinberg RA. Inflammation triggers Zeb1-dependent escape from tumor latency. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:6778–84. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0608
- 176. El Rayes T, Catena R, Lee S, Stawowczyk M, Joshi N, Fischbach C, et al. Lung inflammation promotes metastasis through neutrophil proteasemediated degradation of Tsp-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:16000– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507294112
- 177. Retsky M, Demicheli R, Hrushesky WJ, Forget P, De Kock M, Gukas I, et al. Reduction of breast cancer relapses with perioperative non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs: new findings and a review. *Curr Med Chem.* (2013) 20:4163–76. doi: 10.2174/09298673113209990250
- 178. Rothwell PM, Wilson M, Price JF, Belch JF, Meade TW, Mehta Z. Effect of daily aspirin on risk of cancer metastasis: a study of incident cancers during randomised controlled trials. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:1591– 601. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60209-8
- Song M, Chan AT. The potential role of exercise and nutrition in harnessing the immune system to improve colorectal cancer survival. *Gastroenterology*. (2018) 155:596–600. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.038
- 180. Grzelak CA, Ghajar CM. Metastasis 'systems' biology: how are macro-environmental signals transmitted into microenvironmental cues for disseminated tumor cells? *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* (2017) 48:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.06.002
- 181. Hopkins BD, Pauli C, Du X, Wang DG, Li X, Wu D, et al. Suppression of insulin feedback enhances the efficacy of PI3K inhibitors. *Nature*. (2018) 560:499–503. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0343-4
- Nencioni A, Caffa I, Cortellino S, Longo VD. Fasting and cancer: molecular mechanisms and clinical application. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2018) 18:707– 19. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0061-0
- 183. Zhang X, Ashcraft KA, Betof Warner A, Nair SK, Dewhirst MW. Can exercise-induced modulation of the tumor physiologic microenvironment improve antitumor immunity? *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:2447–56. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2468

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 De Angelis, Francescangeli, La Torre and Zeuner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting the Interplay Between Cancer Fibroblasts, Mesenchymal Stem Cells, and Cancer Stem Cells in Desmoplastic Cancers

Tze-Sian Chan^{1,2,3,4}, Yuval Shaked^{5,6} and Kelvin K. Tsai^{1,2,3,7,8*}

¹ Laboratory of Advanced Molecular Therapeutics, Wan Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Internal Medicine, Wan Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Integrative Therapy Center for Gastroenterologic Cancers, Wan Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁵ Department of Cell Biology and Cancer Science, Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion – Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel, ⁶ Technion Integrated Cancer Center, Technion – Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel, ⁷ Graduate Institute of Clinical Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁸ National Institute of Cancer Research, National Health Research Institutes, Taipei, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandre Prieur, ECS-Screening SA, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Aamir Ahmad, Mitchell Cancer Institute, United States Nate Brennen, Johns Hopkins Medicine, United States

> *Correspondence: Kelvin K. Tsai tsaik@tmu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 27 April 2019 **Accepted:** 12 July 2019 **Published:** 31 July 2019

Citation:

Chan T-S, Shaked Y and Tsai KK (2019) Targeting the Interplay Between Cancer Fibroblasts, Mesenchymal Stem Cells, and Cancer Stem Cells in Desmoplastic Cancers. Front. Oncol. 9:688. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00688 Malignant tumors are highly heterogeneous and likely contain a subset of cancer cells termed cancer stem cells (CSCs). CSCs exist in a dynamic equilibrium with their microenvironments and the CSC phenotype is tightly regulated by both cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic factors including those derived from their surrounding cells or stroma. Many human solid tumors like breast, lung, colorectal and pancreatic cancers are characterized by a pronounced stromal reaction termed "the desmoplastic response." Carcinomaassociated fibroblasts (CAFs) derived either from resident fibroblasts or tumor-infiltrating mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a major component of the stroma in desmoplastic cancers. Recent studies identified subpopulations of CAFs proficient in secreting a plethora of factors to foster CSCs, tumor growth, and invasion. In addition, cytotoxic therapy can lead to the enrichment of functionally perturbed CAFs, which are endowed with additional capabilities to enhance cancer stemness, leading to treatment resistance and tumor aggressiveness. When recruited into the tumor stroma, bone-marrow-derived MSCs can promote cancer stemness by secreting a specific set of paracrine factors or converting into pro-stemness CAFs. Thus, blockade of the crosstalk of pro-stemness CAFs and MSCs with CSCs may provide a new avenue to improving the therapeutic outcome of desmoplastic tumors. This up-to-date, in-depth and balanced review describes the recent progress in understanding the pro-stemness roles of CAFs and tumor-infiltrating MSCs and the associated paracrine signaling processes. We emphasize the effects of systemic chemotherapy on the CAF/MSC-CSC interplay. We summarize various promising and novel approaches in mitigating the stimulatory effect of CAFs or MSCs on CSCs that have shown efficacies in preclinical models of desmoplastic tumors and highlight the unique advantages of CAF- or MSC-targeted therapies. We also discuss potential challenges in the clinical development of CSC- or MSC-targeted therapies and propose CAF-related biomarkers that can guide the next-generation clinical studies.

Keywords: cancer-associated fibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells, cancer stem cells, paracrine signaling, desmoplasia

INTRODUCTION

Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) as the Driving Force of Tumor Progression

An emerging concept of cancer biology emphasizes the critical role of the hierarchical organization in tumors in the maintenance as well as the progression of the malignant phenotypes. In support of this paradigm, mounting data over recent years, including large-scale genomic analysis and single-cell RNA sequencing analysis, have consistently indicated the existence of a subset of cancer cells termed the tumor-initiating cells (TICs) or CSCs, which are stem-like and have the capability of self-renewing and sustaining tumorigenesis and thereby serve as the driving force of cancer growth, metastasis, and treatment resistance (1–3). CSCs have been found to exist in leukemia and multiple solid tumors, such as glioma, breast cancer, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and colorectal cancer (CRC) (4–8).

The recent insights into the complex nature of cancer stemness reveal that CSCs exist in a dynamic equilibrium with their microenvironments and the CSC phenotype is regulated by both cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic factors derived by their surrounding cells or stroma cells. The notable examples of the "pro-stemness" or "pro-CSC" factors identified from these studies are inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-8, and C-C motif chemokine ligand 5 (CCL-5), which play an essential role in CSC regulation as well as invasion and metastasis of tumors (9–11).

CAFs and MSCs Foster Cancer Stemness

Many types of human solid tumors, especially those derived from glandular epithelium, such as breast cancer, NSCLC, PDAC, the scirrhous subtype of gastric adenocarcinoma, and the "stem/serrated/mesenchymal (SSM)" molecular subtype of CRC, are characterized by a pronounced stromal reaction termed "the desmoplastic response" (12-17). CAFs and their collagen matrix products are a major component of the stroma in desmoplastic cancers, comprising a substantial proportion of the tumor mass (18, 19). Instead of being functional inert, there is circumstantial evidence that CAFs are pro-inflammatory due to activation of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-1 and-3, and transforming growth factor (TGF)-\beta/SMAD signaling and are engaged in active cross-talk with cancer cells (19, 20). Therefore, CAFs can foster tumor cell growth, angiogenesis and invasion (21) by secreting paracrine factors, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines (19), chemokines (14, 19), prostaglandins (PGE) (22), growth factors (23), and proteases (24), and by remodeling the extracellular matrix (ECM) (25-28). CAFs also help foster an immunosuppressive microenvironment in tumors by promoting regulatory T cells (29). Recent studies demonstrated that exosomes derived from CAFs promote cancer progression and treatment resistance (30, 31). Intriguingly, CAFs can even travel with malignant cells to distant sites, where they significantly promote metastasis (32). One of the major mechanisms by which CAFs promote oncogenesis is mediated through their pro-stemness abilities. Recent studies have identified specific subpopulations of CAFs that are proficient in secreting prostemness paracrine factors (9–11, 23, 33–35), thereby promoting the conversion of cancer cells into CSCs or supporting the selfrenewal and the stemness properties of existing CSCs in tumors. Upon stimulation by cytotoxic stress such as chemotherapy, CAFs can be further induced to secrete pro-stemness cytokines or acquire a senescence-like secretory phenotype and produce large amounts of pro-stemness chemokines to further enhance tumor stemness and aggressiveness following therapy (36, 37).

Although the majority of CAFs in the tumor stroma may be derived from resident stromal fibroblasts, there are now multiple lines of evidence suggesting that a significant proportion of CAFs in tumors are derived from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). MSCs are pluripotent stem cells that contribute to bone, adipose, cartilage, and muscle tissues and are involved in tissue remodeling, chronic inflammation, immune response, and cancer progression (38). Bone marrowderived MSCs can be recruited to sites of tissue damages or inflammation by endocrinal signals to exert their tissue repairing functions (39), whereas the tissue-regenerative function of MSCs may go awry in malignant tumors. For instance, in mouse models of breast cancer, PDAC or gastric cancer, bone marrow-derived MSCs are recruited to the tumor microenvironment where they differentiate into CAFs (40-42). Indeed, in a gastric cancer model, approximately 20% of CAFs were found to originate from bone marrow-derived MSCs, which were recruited into the tumors in a transforming growth factor (TGF)- β and C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL)-12-dependent manner (43). Similarly, MSCs introduced into the tibia trafficked to sites of breast tumor xenografts (44). In an orthotopic murine PDAC model, MSCs were actively recruited into the growing pancreatic tumors (45). Like CAFs, MSCs can significantly influence tumor behaviors and contribute to tumor progression. Most importantly, MSCs promote CSCs by secreting a plethora of pro-stemness cytokines and growth factors or indirectly by differentiating into pro-stemness CAFs (44, 46, 47).

Cancer Therapy Can Alter Tumor Stroma and Promote Tumor Stemness

In clinical scenarios, most cancers are treated with certain types of cytotoxic therapies, such as chemotherapy and radiation therapy, which may have profound impacts on the characteristics of tumors including the epithelial and the stromal compartments. Indeed, chemotherapy has been shown to enrich tumor cells for those with mesenchymal and/or CSC features in different types of cancers. CSCs are intrinsically more resistant to therapy and consequently increase disproportionately following systemic chemotherapy and are thought to contribute to tumor relapse and treatment resistance (1, 48, 49). For instance, breast cancers after neoadjuvant chemotherapy are enriched from CD44⁺CD24⁻ CSCs that also express mesenchymal markers (48, 49). Chronic oxaliplatin or paclitaxel treatment induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and the enrichment of CSCs in CRC and ovarian cancer (50, 51). Chemotherapy has also been shown to expand CSCs that are dependent on the interleukin (IL)-8–CXCR-1 signaling axis (52). Importantly, CAFs are enriched in chemotherapy-treated human tumor tissues wherein they promote cancer growth, treatment resistance and the self-renewal of CSCs by secreting paracrine factors (36, 53). Moreover, chemotherapy-modulated CAFs secrete a panel of CXCL chemokines to expand CSCs in the treated tumor, leading to paradoxical tumor aggression and treatment failure (37). Thus, adjuvant strategies that target CAFs to temper the chemotherapy-induced enrichment of CSCs may further improve the therapeutic outcome of patients with desmoplastic cancers.

The past two decades of investigations into CSCs and their biology have led to the identification of a number of potentially druggable targets, based on which many CSC-directed therapies have been developed with some of them entering clinical trials (54). Unfortunately, the idea of therapeutic targeting of CSCs has suffered from a series of notable clinical trial failures over recent years, including the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) inhibitor defactinib, the STAT-3 inhibitor napabucasion, the anti-NOTCH-2/3 antibody tarextumab, the anti-delta like canonical notch ligand (DLL)-4 antibody demcizumab, and most recently the multibillion-dollar anti-DLL-3 antibody-drug conjugate rovalpituzumab tesirine (Rova-T). Apparently, there is an urgent need for new and more viable strategies of successfully and safely targeting CSCs. As opposed to the direct targeting of the rare, dynamic and plastic CSC populations, targeting the more abundant, favorably spaced and stable CAFs and MSCs, especially their pro-stemness subsets, presents an attractive strategy to indirectly target cancer stemness to enhance the efficacy of current anti-cancer therapies.

In this review, we describe how CAFs and MSCs initiate crosstalk with CSCs and augment cancer stemness in human solid tumors. We emphasize the effects of systemic chemotherapy on CAFs and how these effects can modulate their pro-stemness functions in the treated tumor. We discuss the advantages of targeting CAFs or MSCs over directly targeting CSCs, as well as various promising approaches that aim at disengaging the CAF/MSC–CSC link in preclinical models. This review finally lists potential challenges in the clinical development of prostemness-CAF- or MSC-targeted therapies and explores potential biomarkers of pro-stemness CAFs to guide the development of therapeutic strategies to disengage the dangerous interplay between CAFs, MSCs, and CSCs that can be quickly deployed in clinical trials in the treatment of human desmoplastic cancers.

CAFs AND CSCs IN DESMOPLASTIC CANCERS: THE MESENCHYMAL-EPITHELIAL CROSSTALK GOES AWRY

As described above, CAFs are proficient in paracrine signaling and are capable of secreting a plethora of paracrine factors that have been implicated in the maintenance and/or the expansion of CSCs (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**). Among the most extensively studied pro-stemness cytokines secreted by CAFs are IL-6 and IL-8, which have been shown to play an essential role in the

regulation of CSCs as well as cancer invasion and metastasis (9-11). Several mechanistic studies have demonstrated that IL-6 participates in the regulation and maintenance of the CSC phenotype mainly through the STAT-3–NF-κB signaling pathway (10, 11, 57). Constitutive IL-6 expression in breast cancer cells maintains their EMT phenotype, which has been implicated in the generation of a CSC phenotype (58, 59). As opposed to the role of the IL-6 inflammatory loop in inducing CSCs with mesenchymal features in breast cancer, IL-8 mainly regulates a subpopulation of epithelial-like CSCs that express high aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity and are highly proliferative (52). Consistently, IL-8 was found to profoundly enhance the stemness property of breast cancer and PDAC cells (60-62). A recent proteomic screening identified leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)-induced STAT-3 activation as the major signaling event in PDAC cells induced by PSCs, leading to activation of stemness programs, including Hippo, Wnt, and STAT-3 (35). Notably, LIF expression is significantly up-regulated in PDAC tissues while the expression of IL-6 does not, underscoring the importance of LIF over IL-6 in PDAC. Aside from interleukins, a multitude of other secretory factors has also been implicated in mediating the pro-stemness capability of CAFs. For instance, in CRC models established using primary carcinoma cells, CAFderived osteopontin (OPN) has been shown to support the clonogenic capacity of CSCs, which predominantly reside at the tumor edge in close proximity to CAFs (64). Another study also showed that the CAFs freshly isolated from human CRC tumors produced significantly higher levels of CXCL-12, OPN, TGF-β, and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), which coordinately activated Wnt-\beta-catenin signaling to induce the expression of the novel CSC marker CD44 variant 6, resulting in an EMT in cancer cells and tumor invasion and metastasis (56). In another CRC model established using freshly isolated carcinoma cells and the paired CAFs, CAFs up-regulated the expression of TGF-β2 and IL-6, which activated the expression of GLI family zinc finger (GLI)-2 in the sonic hedgehog (SHH) pathway, resulting in the transdifferentiation of cancer cells into CSCs and chemotherapy resistance (65). Pancreatic stellate cells (PSCs), a specialized type of CAFs present in the stroma of PDAC, secrete the TGF-β family protein Nodal, which binds to its receptor Activin-like (Alk)-4 and-7 on CSCs to promote their stemness properties (34, 63). In an NSCLC model, insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-II and allied autocrine/paracrine factors secreted by CAFs synergistically activated IGF-1R signaling to induce the expression of the stemness-related gene Nanog, thereby converting cancer cells into CSCs (23). CAFs isolated from human breast cancer secrete abundant levels of PGE-2, which enhances the secretion of IL-6 to expand CSCs (22). Moreover, when co-cultivated with cancer cells, CAFs produced a higher level of CCL-2, which stimulate CSCs by inducing Notch-1 expression and thereby activating the Notch signaling pathway (33).

Mounting data accumulated over recent years have suggested that CAFs in desmoplastic cancers are phenotypically, functionally and genetically heterogeneous and are likely dynamically controlled by their environments and origins (29, 71–76). Indeed, CAFs have been classified into various functional subtypes according to a panel of surface markers,



shown in blue.

including such as α -SMA, fibroblast activation protein (FAP), fibroblast specific protein (FSP)-1, and platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)- α/β (19, 77, 78). At the functional level, FAP⁺ CAFs are enriched in low stiffness and fibronectin-rich ECMs, whereas α -SMA⁺ CAFs are found in stiffer ECM contexts (76). In a transgenic model of PDAC, depletion of α -SMA⁺ CAFs did not affect the number of FAP+ CAFs, indicating that they represent different CAF subpopulations (79). Interestingly, FAP⁺ CAFs are predominantly involved in the synthesis and the turnover of ECM while α -SMA⁺ CAFs mediate contraction. Importantly, the recently identified CAF heterogeneity relates to the pro-stemness and pro-oncogenic capabilities of CAFs. For instance, in oral squamous cell carcinoma, a subgroup of CAFs termed "CAF-D" has been shown to induce EMT of malignant keratinocytes through secreting TGF- β (74). Since the EMT program in cancer cells imparts them with CSC features (59, 80, 81), it is likely that this specific subpopulation of CAFs might have induced the phenotypic conversion of keratinocytes into CSCs. In PDAC, two distinct subgroups of PSCs have been identified in mouse and human PDAC tissues (71). Remarkably, only those PSCs located away from tumor cells, denoted as "inflammatory CAFs (iCAFs)," were proficient in secreting pro-stemness factors, including IL-6, CXCL-1, and CXCL-2, through activation of IL-1a-Janus kina (JAK)-STAT signaling (55). By contrast, PSCs located adjacent to tumor cells have the propensity of differentiating into collagen-producing and α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA)-positive myofibroblasts. In analogous to this emerging paradigm of the functional heterogeneity of CAFs, in human breast cancer and NSCLC tissues, a distinct subpopulation of CAFs was found to express CD10 as well as the complement 5 a receptor G-protein coupled receptor 77 (GPR-77) and are proficient in promoting CSCs and their stemness properties and inducing chemoresistance of tumor cells through persistent NF- κ B activation along with the resultant IL-6 and IL-8 secretion (72). Of note, these prostemness subset of CAFs were either defined by surface markers (e.g., CD10 and GPR-77), their transcriptome and secretome (e.g., CAF-D), or a specific set of secretory factors (e.g., IL-6 and LIF in iCAFs). It remains to be established if the pro-stemness subset of CAFs indeed vary among different types of cancers or can be molecularly defined in a more precise manner.

In chemotherapy-treated desmoplastic cancers, CAFs are endowed with additional pro-stemness and pro-oncogenic capabilities as a result of the stress-induced chronic phenotypic and functional alterations. For instance, in prostate cancer, the genotoxic agent mitoxantrone stimulated Wnt-16B secretion by stromal fibroblasts, which promoted the proliferation and invasion of carcinoma cells, which likely contained the enriched CSCs (53). In human CRC, chemotherapy led to the enrichment of IL-17A-producing CAFs within the tumor stroma, which in turn promoted the self-renewal of CSCs and tumor growth (36). In addition, following systemic chemotherapy, breast and

TABLE 1 | Pro-stemness factors secreted by CAFs and MSCs.

| Factors | Cancer types | Functions | Stemness pathway involved | References |
|------------------------|--------------|---|---|--------------|
| CAFs | | | | |
| CCL-2 | BC | Stimulates CSCs by inducing Notch-1 expression | Notch-1 | (33) |
| CXCL-1 | PDAC | Promotes cancer stemness | IL-1α/JAK/STAT | (55) |
| CXCL-12 | CRC | Induces the expression of CSC markers | Wnt/CD44v6, PI3K | (56) |
| CXCL-2 | PDAC | Promotes cancer stemness | IL-1α/JAK/STAT | (55) |
| ELR ⁺ CXCLs | BC, PDAC | Secreted by chemotherapy-altered CAFs and promote CSC expansion | STAT-1, NF-κB | (37) |
| HGF | CRC | Induces the expression of CSC markers | PI3K | (56) |
| GF-II | NSCLC | Induces conversion of cancer cells into CSCs | IGF1R, EMT, PI3K, TGF-β, Wnt, and Hedgehog | (23) |
| L-17A | CRC | Promotes the self-renewal of CSCs and tumor growth | | (36) |
| L-6 | BC | Promotes and maintains CSCs | STAT-3 and NF-ĸB | (10, 11, 57) |
| | BC | Maintains EMT phenotype and stem cell properties | EMT | (58, 59) |
| | PDAC | Pro-stemness factor | IL-1α/JAK/STAT | (55) |
| L-8 | BC | Promotes epithelial-like ALDH ⁺ CSCs | FAK/AKT/FOXO-3A | (52) |
| | BC, PDAC | Enhances stemness property | | (60-62) |
| IF | PDAC | Activates stemness program, including Hippo, Wnt and STAT-3 | STAT-3 | (35) |
| lodal | PDAC | Binds to Alk-4/-7 to promote stemness in cancer cells | Nodal/activin | (34, 63) |
| DPN | CRC | Supports the clonogenic capacity of CSCs | Wnt/CD44v6, PI3K | (56, 64) |
| | | Induces expression of CSC marker | | |
| PGE-2 | BC | Promotes secretion of IL-6 and expansion of CSCs | NF-кB | (22) |
| ΓGF-β | CRC | Induces the expression of CSC marker | Wnt/CD44v6, PI3K | (56) |
| ΓGF-β2 | CRC | Induces trans-differentiation of cancer cells into CSCs and confers chemo-resistance | Hedgehog/GLI-2 | (65) |
| WNT16B | PC | Enriches CSCs and promotes proliferation and invasion of cancer cells | Wnt, EMT | (53) |
| MSCs | | | | |
| CCL-5 | BC | Promotes cancer stemness and tumor metastasis | | (15) |
| CXCL-10 | PDAC | Promotes cancer stemness and expand the number of MSCs. | CXCR-3 | (66) |
| CXCL-3 | PDAC | Promote CSCs following gemcitabine therapy | STAT-3/CXCR-3 | (67) |
| CXCL-7 | BC | Promotes CSCs and tumor growth | IL-6 | (68) |
| L-6 | BC | Regulates CSCs and promotes tumor growth | β-catenin | (46) |
| | CRC | Promotes drug resistance following paclitaxel therapy | JAK-2/STAT-3 | (69) |
| IAG-1 | PDAC | Maintains CSCs | Notch-1 | (47) |
| PGE-2 | CRC | Induces the formation of CSCs by inducing the expressions of IL-6, IL-8, and CXCL-1. | Wnt | (46) |
| PUFA | BC, CRC, LC | Promotes the regrowth of tumors following chemotherapy | Cyclooxygenase-1/thromboxane synthase | (70) |

Alk-4, activin-like 4; BC, breast cancer; CCL, chemokine C-C motif ligand; CRC, colorectal cancer; CXCL, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand; ELR⁺ CXCLs, ELR motif–positive chemokines; EMT, epithelial-mesenchymal transition; FAK, focal adhesion kinase; FOXO-3A, Forkhead box O3; GLI-2, GLI family zinc finger 2; HER-2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; IGF, insulin growth factor; IL, interleukin; JAG, Jagged; JAK, Janus kinase; LC, lung carcinoma; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; OPN, osteopontin; PC, prostate cancer; PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; PGE, prostaglandin; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; TGF, transforming growth factor.

pancreatic CAFs secreted large amounts of the "ELR-motifpositive" (ELR⁺) CXCL chemokines through chronic activation of the STAT-1 and NF- κ B transcriptional activities, which stimulated CXCR-2 signaling in cancer cells to elicit their transdifferentiation into CSCs and thereby promoted posttreatment tumor aggression and treatment failure (37).

Despite the multiple lines of evidence supporting the prostemness functions of CAFs and therapy-modulated CAFs, it is worth noting that, as highlighted above, CAFs are capable of promoting tumor progression and treatment resistance through a multitude of mechanisms. Therefore, the tumor-promoting effects of CAFs summarized herein may likely be mediated by the concerted actions of a plurality of mechanisms and should not be attributed only to the pro-stemness functions of CAFs. Moreover, since most of these studies were conducted in immuno-compromised or immune-deficient animal models, caution should be exercised while interpreting the results related to the CAF-derived pro-stemness cytokines and chemokines that are actively involved in inflammation and immune regulation. Whether or not CAFs exert similar positive regulatory effects on CSCs in immunocompetent backgrounds and how these effects work in concert with other tumor-promoting mechanisms of CAFs await further in-depth investigation.

TUMOR-INFILTRATING MSCs AND THEIR INTERPLAY WITH CSCs

MSCs were initially considered to be cells promoting the regenerative properties of wounds and damaged tissues. A growing body of evidence indicated that the regenerative function of MSCs are hijacked by malignant tumors such that a significant number of bone marrow-derived MSCs are recruited to the tumor microenvironment, where a considerable proportion of them differentiate into CAFs (40, 41). Like CAFs, MSCs can secrete a plethora of cytokines and growth factors, which make them proficient in paracrine and heterotypic signaling processes. For instance, a recent comprehensive cytokine secretion profile of human MSCs identified IL-6, IL-8, TIMP metallopeptidase inhibitor 2 (TIMP-2), CCL-2 (MCP-1), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) as the most abundantly secreted factors (82). Other studies reported that MSCs promote cancer metastasis by secreting CCL-5 (15), CXCL-12, and IGF-1 (83). MSCs also contribute to tumor angiogenesis by secreting vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and β -fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (67). Furthermore, MSCs promote immunomodulation by upregulating cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, and TGF-B (68, 69, 84). In breast cancer, the cancer cells stimulate the secretion of CCL-5 from MSCs, which acts in a paracrine fashion on the cancer cells to enhance their motility, invasion, and metastasis (15). Importantly, several studies have directly implicated MSCs in the regulation of CSCs (Figure 1). MSCs in breast cancer regulate CSCs through cytokine loops involving IL-6 and CXCL-7, thereby accelerating tumor growth (44). In CRC, MSCs secrete prostaglandin E2 (PGE-2) in response to IL-1 released by carcinoma cells, which act in an autocrine fashion to induce the expression of IL-6, IL-8 and CXCL-1, which together induce the formation of CSCs (46). Once differentiated into CAFs, MSCs can maintain CSCs through secreting the Notch ligand Jagged-1 (47). In analogous to the effect of chemotherapy on the number and the prostemness property of CAFs, the number of bone marrow-derived MSCs significantly increased following gemcitabine treatment in the tumor stroma in a mouse xenograft model of PDAC (66). Importantly, these gemcitabine-educated MSCs were found to have a positive regulatory effect on CSCs through the STAT-3-CXCL-10-CXCR-3 paracrine signaling axis. Similarly, following paclitaxel treatment or hyperthermia therapy, MSCs secreted IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, EGF, and IGF, which supported drug resistance (85, 86). In another study, cisplatin-activated MSCs produced specific polyunsaturated fatty acids which in turn promoted the regrowth of tumors following therapy (70).

Collectively, the ample evidence underscore the important role of CAFs and tumor-infiltrating MSCs in the maintenance and the expansion of CSCs and suggest that targeting this component of the tumor stroma may provide a new avenue to improving the therapeutic outcome of human desmoplastic cancers.

TARGETING THE CROSSTALK BETWEEN CAFs AND CSCs

Given that CAFs positively regulate CSCs through the secretion of pro-stemness paracrine factors, a number of preclinical studies have exploited the therapeutic potential of the functional blockade of the CAF-to-CSC paracrine signaling process to improve the treatment of desmoplastic cancers (Figure 2). For instance, loss of PTEN in a HER2-overexpression genetic background or the trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer cells has been linked to activation of the IL-6/STAT-3/NF-KB inflammatory loop, which induced an EMT phenotype and expansion of the CSC population. Therefore, blocking this loop by a function-blocking anti-IL-6 receptor antibody could effectively revert these phenotypes (10). In another study, functional inhibition of the subgroup of IL-6- and IL-8-secreting CD10⁺GPR-77⁺ CAFs with anti-IL-6 and anti-IL-8 antibodies, together with docetaxel chemotherapy, has led to a near complete remission of tumors in a patient-derived xenograft (PDX) model of breast cancer (72). Interestingly, this study also demonstrated that an anti-GPR-77 antibody in combination with docetaxel therapy exerted anti-tumor efficacy comparable to that induced by the combination anti-IL-6/anti-IL-8 therapy, which significantly reduced the number of CD10+GPR-77+ CAFs and the proportion of CSCs in the treated tumors (72). In keeping with the critical role of IL-8 in cancer stemness, a function-blocking antibody against its receptor, CXCR-1, or a small-molecule inhibitor of CXCR-1 and CXCR-2, repertaxin, could deplete CSCs and inhibit tumor aggressiveness in human breast cancer xenografts (5). Of particular clinical relevance was the recent finding that repertaxin in combination with paclitaxel demonstrated a 30% response rate in a phase 1b study of metastatic breast cancer (87). Other small-molecule inhibitors of CXCR-2, including AZ13381758 and SB225002, have also shown preclinical efficacy in transgenic or PDX models of PDAC (37, 88). Of note, since that CXCR-2 is also expressed by myeloid-derived immunosuppressive cells in PDAC (88), its inhibitor may exert anti-tumor efficacy through multiple mechanisms of action. Aside from the molecular targeting of IL-6, IL-8 and their receptors, targeting their downstream signaling components in cancer cells and/or CSCs offer other viable opportunities for disabling the CAF-CSC crosstalk. For instance, a small-molecule inhibitor of STAT-3, BBI608, has been reported to significantly inhibit cancer stemness in a variety of cancer types (89), whereas the results from some of the recent clinical trials were discouraging. Furthermore, several novel therapeutics targeting the CAF-to-CSC IL-6-STAT-3 signaling axis are under development. These include a high-affinity anti-IL-6 antibody, MEDI5117, which has been shown to enhance the anti-tumor efficacy of chemotherapy or gefitinib in several types of tumors that are known to be driven by the IL-6–STAT-3 signaling and especially target the CD44⁺CD24⁻ CSCs in trastuzumabresistant and HER-2⁺ breast cancer cells (90). Another example is a cyclic oligonucleotide decoy that corresponds to the STAT-3 response element of STAT-3-targeted genes, which showed promising anti-tumor efficacy in NSCLC models (91). Recently, another interleukin family protein, LIF, was found to be the major PSC-derived factors that promote CSCs in PDAC cells and tissues (35). Accordingly, systemic administration of a LIF-neutralizing antibody in combination with chemotherapy reduced the percentage of CSCs and mesenchymal-transited cancer cells and extended the survival of tumor-bearing mice in a transgenic model of PDAC.

Aside from inhibiting interleukin paracrine signaling, a number of studies have explored the therapeutic potential of inhibiting other CAF-derived pro-stemness factors. For instance, the CCL-2 neutralizing antibody has been shown to significantly suppress tumorigenesis and inhibit pro-stemness Notch signaling in an orthotopic breast cancer model involving the co-implantation of cancer cells and CAFs (33). The TGFβ inhibitor SD208 has been shown to reduce the CAF-induced expression of stemness markers and simultaneously induced the expression of differentiation markers in CAF-cocultivated CRC cells (65). Consequently, SD208 in combination with the small molecule inhibitor of GLI-2, a transcriptional factor in the SHH pathway, restored the sensitivity of the tumors to chemotherapy in mouse PDX models of CRC. SB431542, an inhibitor of the Nodal receptor Alk-4/7 expressed on pancreatic CSCs, could block the stemness and invasive capacities of CSCs and thereby inhibited PDAC progression especially when used in conjunction with a Smoothened (a SHH pathway receptor) inhibitor that depleted the tumor stroma (34). Nevertheless, it is worthy of note that these promising results should be interpreted with caution since most of the studies were conducted in immunodeficient mice without the potential influence from the immune system, which is especially relevant as most of the pro-stemness mediators studied also have pro-inflammatory and immunerelated functions.

Given the profound impacts of CAFs on the tumor stemness and aggressiveness in desmoplastic cancers, depleting CAFs in the tumor stroma provided another viable option in attenuating the CAF-CSC interplay (Figure 2). Along this line, an oral DNA vaccine targeting FAP, a CAF-specific marker, has been demonstrated to suppress tumor growth and metastasis and confer a survival benefit in murine models of CRC and breast cancer (92). Moreover, adoptive transfer of FAP-targeted chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells could specifically kill FAP⁺ CAFs and induce multiple beneficial stroma alterations, leading to delayed tumor growth and survival extension in mouse models of NSCLC and PDAC (93, 94). Interestingly, a combined targeting of FAP⁺ CAFs and EPH receptor A2 (EphA2)⁺ cancer cells led to a nearly complete remission of the tumors (93), suggesting that CAF-targeted approaches have the potential to supplement and synergize with conventional cancer-cell-targeted therapies. Notwithstanding these promising results, caution must be exercised with the application of CAF-depleting strategy as

the genetic depletion of CAFs using the conditional knockout of SHH signaling or the ganciclovir-induced depletion of CAFs in PDAC unexpectedly led to invasive and undifferentiated tumors along with unfavorable immunosuppression (79, 95). Furthermore, depletion of FAP⁺ stromal cells in a transgenic mouse model has been associated with muscle wasting and impaired erythropoiesis (96), implicating the potential adverse effects of CAF-depleting therapies. In this regard, the functional inhibition of CAFs instead of their depletion may be a safer and more desirable therapeutic approach than the direct depletion of CAFs. Several recent studies toward this direction have shown promises. For instance, vitamin D receptor (VDR) signaling has been shown to antagonize TGF-B/SMAD signaling-induced activation of PSCs in PDAC tissues, which was mediated by the pro-stemness factors IL-6, CCL-2, and CXCL-1 (20). As such, calcipotriol, a potent vitamin D analog that controls VDR induction, inhibited inflammatory signaling in CAFs and reduced the expressions of IL-6, CCL-2, and CXCL-1. When combined with gemcitabine treatment, calcipotriol synergized with chemotherapy to control tumor growth and extend survival in transgenic mouse models of PDAC. Another approach involved transducing CAFs with a nanocarrier-formulated plasmid encoding a secretable form of the death ligand TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) termed sTRAIL. Since CAFs are intrinsically resistant the killing effect of TRAIL, once transduced with the sTRAIL-expressing plasmid, they were converted into sTRAIL-producing cells and thereby triggered apoptosis of neighboring cancer cells (97). Surprisingly, the expression of sTRAIL also reprogrammed CAFs into a quiescent state. This approach demonstrated strong anti-tumor efficacy in a PDAC model.

Recently, low-dose metronomic (LDM) chemotherapy has emerged as a highly clinical applicable strategy to enhance the tumoral treatment response by tempering the therapyinduced stromal alterations in desmoplastic cancers (37, 98, 99). Compelling evidence from laboratory-based and clinical correlative studies have demonstrated that conventional chemotherapy administered at a maximum tolerated dose (MTD) induces myriad alterations in stromal cells, including endothelial cells and their progenitor cells, immune cells, and CAFs (53, 100). In keeping with this paradigm, our group recently demonstrated that systemic MTD chemotherapy of assorted agents, including paclitaxel, gemcitabine, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide, had profound impacts on CAFs in human breast cancer and PDAC tissues, which acquired the ability to secret large amounts of pro-stemness ELR⁺ CXCL chemokines through the chronic activation of STAT-1 and NF-κB signaling (37). The CSC niche microenvironment generated by therapy-modulated CAFs could be attenuated by pretreating the tumors with a CXCR-2 inhibitor or by switching the dosing schedule to LDM regimens, which had a much less stimulatory effect on CAFs. We envisage that this approach has multiple benefits. First, it obviates the lengthy and costly process of developing new CAF- and/or CSC-targeted agents, which has an especially high attrition rate according to past experiences. Second, an increasing number of oral chemotherapeutic agents are available for clinical use, making the concept of



LDM chemotherapy immediately clinical applicable. Third, as mentioned earlier, LDM chemotherapy not only may prevent the CAF–CSC interplay but may also exert multiple favorable effects on other cells in the tumor stroma, including tumorassociated macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, and blood vessel cells (98, 99, 101, 102). We thus foresee that LDM chemotherapy will become the treatment of choice in many types of desmoplastic cancers.

TARGETING THE CROSSTALK BETWEEN MSCs AND CSCs

Due to their pro-tumorigenic activities, a number of studies had been carried out to try and target MSCs as a therapeutic approach in cancer (103). Specifically, given that tumor-infiltrating MSCs can directly support CSCs through multiple paracrine signaling pathways, including IL-6, IL-7, CXCL-1, PGE-2, Jagged-1, and CXCL-10 (44, 46, 47, 66), blockade of the molecular crosstalk between MSCs and CSCs may be potentially useful in inhibiting cancer stemness in desmoplastic cancers. Indeed, a recently study exemplified the potential utility of this approach (66). In a mouse model of PDAC, MSCs were found in close proximity

to CSCs following gemcitabine chemotherapy, implicating MSCs as the CSC niche. Mechanistically, gemcitabine-exposed MSCs secrete high levels of CXCL-10 that activate its receptor CXCR-3 on CSCs, activating STAT-3 signaling and promoting the survival of CSCs. Consistently, systemic administration of the CXCL-10 inhibitor AMG487 formulated with MSC-derived membrane-based nanoparticles termed "nano-ghost (NG)" led to its intratumoral accumulation in close proximity to CSCs, thereby reducing the percentage of CSCs and augmenting the therapeutic efficacy of gemcitabine. In analogous to the directly depletion of CAFs, the direct depletion of MSCs might provide an alternative approach to nullify their crosstalk with CSCs. However, whether MSC-deprived host for a limited time may cause toxicity on its own remains an open question. Alternatively, given that MSCs secrete CXCL-10 in response to gemcitabine treatments, and that gemcitabine given at an LDM regimen could attenuate therapy-induced production of pro-stemness chemokines from CAFs in PDAC (37), it is highly likely that LDM chemotherapy may also prevent or at least attenuate chemotherapy-induced activation of MSCs and their secretion of pro-stemness chemokines. This possibility merits further investigations. On the other hand, since MSCs secrete the

Targeting Cancer Fibroblasts and Stem Cells

pro-stemness cytokine IL-6 (46), the various anti-IL-6 antibodies and/or STAT-3 inhibitors developed to inhibit the CAF–CSC crosstalk can also be adopted to block the interaction between MSCs and CSCs (10, 89–91). This raises the possibility that MSC- and CAF-targeted therapeutics may synergize with each other. We thus envisage that the CAFs and MSCs dual targeting approach may provide an opportunity to more thoroughly block the stroma-derived pro-stemness signals to maximize the antitumor efficacy in the treatment of desmoplastic cancers.

THE UNIQUE ADVANTAGES OF TARGETING PRO-STEMNESS CAFs AND MSCs

As opposed to the direct targeting of CSCs, which poses significant challenges, targeting CAFs or MSCs along with the pro-stemness niches they generate may have several advantages in the treatment of desmoplastic cancers (Table 2). First and foremost, a growing body of evidence now suggests that CSCs are highly heterogeneous and plastic and the conversion between different CSC populations plays an important role in tumor progression and treatment response (104). For instance, breast cancer CSCs exist in alternative mesenchymal-like and epitheliallike states which can transition between each other (105-107). CSCs can also be derived from differentiated cancer cells through cellular reprogramming or transdifferentiation (11), which can be particularly facilitated by cytotoxic stresses such as chemotherapy and ionizing radiation (37, 108). The highly dynamic nature of CSCs makes them moving targets in cancer therapy, which presents a daunting challenge to therapeutic efforts aiming at completely eradicating them. Echoing this notion, two recent studies in the organoid models of CRC highlighted the difficulty of eradicating CSCs. Specifically, ablation of LGR-5⁺ CSCs halted tumor growth, whereas the tumors resumed growth following the removal of the cell death inducers due to the reemergence of CSCs from differentiated tumor cells (109, 110). As a comparison, CAFs are both genetically and phenotypically stable; therefore, CAF-directed therapies may lead to a more stable and sustainable anti-CSC effect compared with that results from the direct targeting of CSCs. Second, the recent discoveries of specific subpopulations of pro-stemness CAFs have rendered CAF-directed therapy more feasible as they not only provide novel therapeutic targets, such as GPR-77 (72), but also rendered the related therapies more specific and safer than the non-specific targeting of CAFs (79). Another unique advantage of targeting pro-stemness CAFs relates to their spatial distributions within desmoplastic cancers. Specifically, CAFs and tumor-infiltrating MSCs exist in large numbers in the tumor stroma, which contrasts sharply with CSCs that comprise only a small or even a rare subpopulation of cancer cells and exist within cancer cell nests or as individually dispersed cells or small cell clusters at the tumor periphery or the invasive front (111, 112). In desmoplastic cancers such as PDAC, there are abundant CAFs in the stroma, which can account for more than 90% of the total tumor volume (113, 114). Thus, there are a far larger number of CAFs or MSCs that can be exposed to the therapeutics administrated at a given TABLE 2 | The potential advantages of targeting pro-stemness CAFs and MSCs.

| Characteristics | CAFs or MSCs | CSCs | Advantages of CAF targeting |
|-----------------------|--|--|--|
| Genotype | Relatively stable | Heterogeneous | More constant effects and less treatment failure |
| Phenotype | Relatively stable | Highly dynamic and plastic | |
| Density in tumor | High (especially in desmoplastic cancer) | Rare to low | Favorable pharmacodynamic effects |
| Localization in tumor | Tumor periphery or surrounding blood vessels | Within tumor cell nests or at the invasive front | More accessible to therapeutics |

tissue concentration than that of CSCs. Accordingly, CAF- or MSC-targeted therapeutics may have better pharmacodynamic effects than CSC-targeted agents in the treatment of desmoplastic cancers. Moreover, CAFs are often localized to the periphery of the tumor cell nests or glands and close to blood vessels, rendering them directly accessible to the therapeutics diffused from the blood circulation (115). By contrast, carcinoma cells, including the small population of CSCs, are frequently distantly spaced from blood vessels in desmoplastic tumors. In fact, CAFs per se constitute a significant barrier for the therapeutic delivery of drugs and even nanoparticles to cancer cells (97, 116). Echoing the importance of the spatial distribution of cells in the treatment of poorly perfused desmoplastic tumors, clinical data has confirmed that the majority of therapeutics, such as gemcitabine, can only reach the stroma of human PDAC tissues (117). Collectively, these factors make targeting the link between CAFs or MSCs with CSCs more justified, feasible and clinically promising than the direct targeting of CSCs in the treatment of desmoplastic cancers.

BIOMARKERS OF PRO-STEMNESS CAFs

Tumor cells are highly heterogeneous in terms of their phenotypes, genotypes, and functions. As aforementioned, it is increasingly recognized that the intra-tumoral heterogeneity not only exists in the epithelial compartment but also the stromal compartment of the tumors, including CAFs (29, 71, 72). As such, human desmoplastic cancers may vary considerably with respect to the number as well as the composition of CAFs, including those with pro-stemness properties. Clinical trials investigating therapies targeting the CAF-to-CSC crosstalk should be ideally conducted in a patient- and tumor-tailored manner based on surrogate markers of CAF activation and/or their pro-stemness functions. We list a number of CAF-related biomarkers that may potentially fulfill this purpose (Table 3). First, a high density of α -SMA⁺ CAFs in tumors has been linked to the resistance to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer (72). Therefore, the density of CAFs may serve as a simple and immediately clinically applicable biomarker based on which CAF-targeted therapies can be implemented. Likewise, the density of CAFs also significantly increased following systemic chemotherapy in
| TABLE 3 Biomarkers linked to pro-stemness CAFs that can | guide clinical studies. |
|---|-------------------------|
|---|-------------------------|

| Biomarker | Significance | Clinical setting | Cancer type | References |
|---|--|------------------------------------|--------------------|------------|
| CAF density ^a | A high density of CAFs is associated with resistance to chemotherapy | Adjuvant or combination therapy | BC, CRC | (31, 62) |
| Phosphorylated STAT-1 ⁺ fibroblasts | Positive staining indicates pro-CSC CAFs following chemotherapy | Adjuvant or combination therapy | BC, PDAC | (32) |
| SMA ⁻ PDGF-R α ⁺ IL-6 ⁺ fibroblasts | Reflects the number of pro-CSC CAFs in breast cancer or NSCLC | Neoadjuvant or combination therapy | PDAC | (61) |
| CD10 ⁺ GPR-77 ⁺ fibroblasts | Reflects the number of pro-CSC CAFs in PDAC | Neoadjuvant or combination therapy | BC, NSCLC | (62) |
| ALDH ⁺ , CD133 ⁺ , CD44 ⁺ , CD24 ⁺ , CD90 ⁺ and/or EpCAM ⁺ cancer cells ^b | Reflects the density of CSCs | Neoadjuvant or combination therapy | When applicable | (108, 109) |

BC, breast cancer; CRC, colorectal cancer; PDAC, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer.

^a Identified using reported CAF markers, including FAP, α -SMA, FSP-1, PDGFR- α/β , etc, or their combinations.

^bUsed in combination with CAF-related markers.

human CRC tissues (36). A plausible corollary is that the density of CAFs positively correlates with the likelihood of treatment resistance in most desmoplastic cancer and thus can serve as a universal biomarker to guide CAF-targeted therapies. Notably, since different CAF markers, including such as α -SMA, FAP, and FSP-1, may identify functionally distinct CAF populations that vary among different cancer types of subtypes (76, 77, 79), it remains to be established which CAF marker or any of their combinations can serve as a clinically informed biomarker. Beyond simply measuring the density of CAFs, the staining intensity of phosphorylated STAT-1 in CAFs, which reflects their ability to produce pro-stemness chemokines following chemotherapy (37), may also aid the clinical decision-making regarding when CAF-directed therapies should be implemented. On the other hand, in untreated tumors, the density of prostemness CAFs, such as α -SMA⁻PDGF-R α ⁺IL-6⁺ iCAFs in PDAC and CD10⁺GPR-77⁺ CAFs in breast cancer and NSCLC (71, 72), can serve as a companion diagnostic to guide the selection of patients for anti-CAF/CSC therapies, especially those targeting the IL-6 and/or the IL-8 paracrine signaling pathways. In theory, these CAF-related biomarkers can be further combined with widely used surrogate markers of CSCs, such as ALDH, CD133, CD44, CD24, CD90, and EpCAM (118, 119), to increase their predictive power and clinical utility. We predict that the application of these CAF-related stemness markers may increase the success rate of the related clinical trials and pave the road for the next-generation patient-tailored anti-cancer therapies.

IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS AND POTENTIAL CHALLENGES IN THE CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT OF PRO-STEMNESS-CAF- OR MSC-TARGETED THERAPIES

Whilst targeting pro-stemness CAFs and MSCs have multiple theoretical advantages over the direct targeting of CSCs, several potential challenges remain and require careful considerations at the various developmental stages of the therapies. First, since CAFs or MSCs maintain their crosstalk with CSCs mainly through pro-stemness cytokines and chemokines, the majority of CAF- or MSC-targeted therapeutics are functionblocking antibodies (Figure 2). It is widely accepted that large-molecule therapeutics like antibodies have very limited penetration into desmoplastic tissues and may only be able to reach CAFs or MSCs spaced at the outer rim of tumors or those located surrounding or near blood vessels. If so, their anti-CSC and anti-tumor efficacy will be severely compromised (120). One potential solution for this problem is pre-treating desmoplastic tumors with agents that can reduce the number of CAFs and/or the desmoplastic reaction they produce, which can be exemplified by the stroma-reducing effect of nabpaclitaxel and SHH inhibitors in human PDAC (34, 117). Another solution is by using small-molecule inhibitors or nanoparticles designed to block pro-stemness factors or their receptors, such as repertaxin, SD208, BBI608, calcipotriol, and NG-AMG487, which have the ability to diffuse deeply into the desmoplastic stroma and reach their intended target cells compared with antibodies. Second, CSC-directed therapies, which target only a small subpopulation of cancer cells, would not be expected to produce measurable changes in tumor burden according to conventional Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria. Therefore, more pertinent, "stemness-informed" surrogate markers of response that are applicable to anti-CSC agents should be developed to guide the conduction of clinical trials, especially at the phase II stage (121). This concern should be also taken into consideration when conducting clinical trial testing CAF- or MSC-targeted therapies designed to specifically target CSCs. We propose that this problem can be at least partially tackled by introducing stemnessinformed CAF- or MSC-related biomarkers as described in Table 2. Third, as described above, CAFs or MSCs are spaced in the tumor stroma, whereas CSCs exist mainly within tumor nests or as individually dispersed cells or small cell clusters at the tumor periphery or the invasive front. Therefore, a plausible corollary is that the CAF/MSC-CSC crosstalk through paracrine signaling will predominantly take place at the tumor periphery. If so, pathological biomarkers and criteria that reflect the distance between CAFs or MSCs and CSCs should be developed to select those tumors that most likely respond to therapies directed at disrupting the CAF/MSC-CSC interplay. Finally, the

timing of implementing pro-stemness-CAF- or MSC-targeted therapies will be another important consideration in the design of the related clinical trials. For the agents designed to target treatment-naïve CAFs or MSCs, it is critical to dose patients in early phases of cancer treatment before or concurrently with neoadjuvant chemotherapy as CSCs are less frequent and may be more susceptible to CSC-directed agents (54). By contrast, for the therapeutics targeting chemotherapy-modulated CAFs or MSCs, they should be administered following the initiation or during the course of chemotherapy, depending on when and the extent to which the pro-stemness functions of CAFs or MSCs are activated. Another timing of CAF/MSC-CSC-directed therapy is at the adjuvant setting following the removal of primary tumors, at which the therapy is designed to target micro-metastatic and circulating tumor cells that are known to contain enriched CSC populations (122-124). In this scenario, the blockade of CAF- or MSC-derived pro-stemness factors is expected to prevent the formation of CSC niches in primary or distant sites to reduce tumor recurrence and/or metastasis following surgery. Again, appropriate stemnessand/or stroma-informed biomarkers will be required to guide patient selection as well as the prediction of response in this type of trial.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The first generation of therapeutic strategies aiming at blocking the CAF-derived pro-stemness factors has remained largely in preclinical stages or been tested in early-phase clinical trials. Further optimization and improvements in the potency of antibody and small-molecule therapeutics or the introduction of novel therapeutic entities, such as the STAT-3-targeted oligonucleotide (91), may hold promises to overcoming current developmental hurdles. Alternatively, functional targeting or the specific depletion of the pro-stemness subpopulation of CAFs using such as FAP- or GPR-77-targeted antibodies, DNA vaccine, and immune cell therapeutics, provides promising next-generation approaches to preventing the

REFERENCES

- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2008) 8:755–68. doi: 10.1038/nrc2499
- Malta TM, Sokolov A, Gentles AJ, Burzykowski T, Poisson L, Weinstein JN, et al. Machine learning identifies stemness features associated with oncogenic dedifferentiation. *Cell.* (2018) 173:338–54.e315. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.034
- Patel AP, Tirosh I, Trombetta JJ, Shalek AK, Gillespie SM, Wakimoto H, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. *Science*. (2014) 344:1396–401. doi: 10.1126/science.1254257
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature*. (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- 5. Ginestier C, Hur MH, Charafe-Jauffret E, Monville F, Dutcher J, Brown M, et al. ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary

cross-talk between CAFs and CSCs. Suppressing the prostemness factors secreted by MSCs or the direct depletion of MSCs also represents an interesting and promising opportunity of antagonizing their pro-oncogenic effects. The pro-stemness-CAF- or MSC-targeted therapies offer a novel opportunity of enhancing the treatment response of cytotoxic therapies such as chemotherapy and IR to prevent treatment-triggered expansion and activation of CSCs. Moreover, pro-stemness-CAF- and MSC-targeted therapies may synergize with CSC-targeted agents to reduce cancer stemness and aggressiveness, ultimately improving the therapeutic outcome of patients with desmoplastic cancers. Pro-stemness-CAFrelated biomarkers are expected to aid the design of clinical trials and guide patient selection in CAF-/MSC-targeted therapies. Whilst these novel stroma-targeted approaches may potentially renew the interest in CSC-directed therapies in solid tumors, whether or not they can indeed fulfill their promise remains to be validated by more meticulously designed clinical trials.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

T-SC: conceptualization, drafting of the manuscript, and critical revision of the manuscript. YS: drafting of the manuscript. KT: conceptualization, drafting of the manuscript, critical revision of the manuscript, obtained funding, final supervision, review, and editing.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (MOST 102-2628-B-400-MY3, 104-2314-B-400-022, MOST 105-2314-B-400-018 to KT; MOST 107-2314-B-038-103 to T-SC), Taipei Medical University (DP2-107-21121-C-04 to KT), and Wan Fang Hospital, Chi-Mei Medical Center, and Hualien Tzu-Chi Hospital Joint Cancer Center Grant, Ministry of Health and Welfare (MOHW108-TDU-B-212-124020 to KT), Taipei Medical University – Wan Fang Hospital (107TMU-WFH-16 to T-SC).

stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell. (2007) 1:555–67. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.014

- Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang L, Adsay V, et al. Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:1030–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2030
- van den Hoogen C, van der Horst G, Cheung H, Buijs JT, Lippitt JM, Guzman-Ramirez N, et al. High aldehyde dehydrogenase activity identifies tumor-initiating and metastasis-initiating cells in human prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:5163–73. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3806
- O'Brien CA, Pollett A, Gallinger S, Dick JE. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature*. (2007) 445:106–10. doi: 10.1038/nature05372
- 9. Korkaya H, Liu S, Wicha MS. Breast cancer stem cells, cytokine networks, and the tumor microenvironment. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3804–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI57099
- 10. Korkaya H, Kim GI, Davis A, Malik F, Henry NL, Ithimakin S, et al. Activation of an IL6 inflammatory loop mediates trastuzumab resistance in

HER2⁺ breast cancer by expanding the cancer stem cell population. *Mol Cell.* (2012) 47:570–84. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.014

- Iliopoulos D, Hirsch HA, Wang G, Struhl K. Inducible formation of breast cancer stem cells and their dynamic equilibrium with non-stem cancer cells via IL6 secretion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:1397–402. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018898108
- 12. Liotta LA, Kohn EC. The microenvironment of the tumour-host interface. *Nature*. (2001) 411:375–9. doi: 10.1038/35077241
- Shiao SL, Coussens LM. The tumor-immune microenvironment and response to radiation therapy. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. (2010) 15:411–21. doi: 10.1007/s10911-010-9194-9
- Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. *Cell.* (2005) 121:335–48. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.034
- Karnoub AE, Dash AB, Vo AP, Sullivan A, Brooks MW, Bell GW, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature*. (2007) 449:557–63. doi: 10.1038/nature06188
- Minamoto T, Ooi A, Okada Y, Mai M, Nagai Y, Nakanishi I. Desmoplastic reaction of gastric carcinoma: a light- and electron-microscopic immunohistochemical analysis using collagen type-specific antibodies. *Hum Pathol.* (1988) 19:815–21. doi: 10.1016/S0046-8177(88)80265-X
- Isella C, Terrasi A, Bellomo SE, Petti C, Galatola G, Muratore A, et al. Stromal contribution to the colorectal cancer transcriptome. *Nat Genet*. (2015) 47:312–9. doi: 10.1038/ng.3224
- Kalluri R, Zeisberg M. Fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2006) 6:392– 401. doi: 10.1038/nrc1877
- Erez N, Truitt M, Olson P, Arron ST, Hanahan D. Cancer-associated fibroblasts are activated in incipient neoplasia to orchestrate tumorpromoting inflammation in an NF-kappaB-dependent manner. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:135–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.041
- Sherman MH, Yu RT, Engle DD, Ding N, Atkins AR, Tiriac H, et al. Vitamin D receptor-mediated stromal reprogramming suppresses pancreatitis and enhances pancreatic cancer therapy. *Cell.* (2014) 159:80–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.007
- Kalluri R. The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2016) 16:582–98. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.73
- Rudnick JA, Arendt LM, Klebba I, Hinds JW, Iyer V, Gupta PB, et al. Functional heterogeneity of breast fibroblasts is defined by a prostaglandin secretory phenotype that promotes expansion of cancerstem like cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e24605. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.002 4605
- Chen WJ, Ho CC, Chang YL, Chen HY, Lin CA, Ling TY, et al. Cancerassociated fibroblasts regulate the plasticity of lung cancer stemness via paracrine signalling. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3472. doi: 10.1038/ncomm s4472
- 24. Cheng JD, Dunbrack RL Jr, Valianou M, Rogatko A, Alpaugh RK, Weiner LM. Promotion of tumor growth by murine fibroblast activation protein, a serine protease, in an animal model. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:4767–72.
- Goetz JG, Minguet S, Navarro-Lerida I, Lazcano JJ, Samaniego R, Calvo E, et al. Biomechanical remodeling of the microenvironment by stromal caveolin-1 favors tumor invasion and metastasis. *Cell.* (2011) 146:148–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.05.040
- Serebriiskii I, Castello-Cros R, Lamb A, Golemis EA, Cukierman E. Fibroblast-derived 3D matrix differentially regulates the growth and drugresponsiveness of human cancer cells. *Matrix Biol.* (2008) 27:573–85. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2008.02.008
- Levental KR, Yu H, Kass L, Lakins JN, Egeblad M, Erler JT, et al. Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling. *Cell.* (2009) 139:891–906. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009. 10.027
- Fiori ME, Di Franco S, Villanova L, Bianca P, Stassi G, De Maria R. Cancer-associated fibroblasts as abettors of tumor progression at the crossroads of EMT and therapy resistance. *Mol Cancer.* (2019) 18:70. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0994-2
- 29. Costa A, Kieffer Y, Scholer-Dahirel A, Pelon F, Bourachot B, Cardon M, et al. Fibroblast heterogeneity and immunosuppressive

environment in human breast cancer. Cancer Cell. (2018) 33:463–79.e410. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.01.011

- Luga V, Wrana JL. Tumor-stroma interaction: revealing fibroblastsecreted exosomes as potent regulators of Wnt-planar cell polarity signaling in cancer metastasis. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:6843–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1791
- Hu Y, Yan C, Mu L, Huang K, Li X, Tao D, et al. Fibroblast-derived exosomes contribute to chemoresistance through priming cancer stem cells in colorectal cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0125625. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0125625
- Duda DG, Duyverman AM, Kohno M, Snuderl M, Steller EJ, Fukumura D, et al. Malignant cells facilitate lung metastasis by bringing their own soil. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:21677–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1016234107
- 33. Tsuyada A, Chow A, Wu J, Somlo G, Chu P, Loera S, et al. CCL2 mediates cross-talk between cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts that regulates breast cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2768–79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3567
- 34. Lonardo E, Hermann PC, Mueller MT, Huber S, Balic A, Miranda-Lorenzo I, et al. Nodal/Activin signaling drives self-renewal and tumorigenicity of pancreatic cancer stem cells and provides a target for combined drug therapy. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2011) 9:433–46. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.FBCR 11-B45
- Shi Y, Gao W, Lytle NK, Huang P, Yuan X, Dann AM, et al. Targeting LIF-mediated paracrine interaction for pancreatic cancer therapy and monitoring. *Nature.* (2019) 569:131–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1130-6
- Lotti F, Jarrar AM, Pai RK, Hitomi M, Lathia J, Mace A, et al. Chemotherapy activates cancer-associated fibroblasts to maintain colorectal cancer-initiating cells by IL-17A. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:2851–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131195
- Chan TS, Hsu CC, Pai VC, Liao WY, Huang SS, Tan KT, et al. Metronomic chemotherapy prevents therapy-induced stromal activation and induction of tumor-initiating cells. *J Exp Med.* (2016) 213:2967–88. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151665
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science*. (1999) 284:143–7. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Fox JM, Chamberlain G, Ashton BA, Middleton J. Recent advances into the understanding of mesenchymal stem cell trafficking. Br J Haematol. (2007) 137:491–502. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.0 6610.x
- Guo X, Oshima H, Kitmura T, Taketo MM, Oshima M. Stromal fibroblasts activated by tumor cells promote angiogenesis in mouse gastric cancer. J Biol Chem. (2008) 283:19864–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M8007 98200
- Mishra PJ, Mishra PJ, Humeniuk R, Medina DJ, Alexe G, Mesirov JP, et al. Carcinoma-associated fibroblast-like differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:4331–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0943
- Beckermann BM, Kallifatidis G, Groth A, Frommhold D, Apel A, Mattern J, et al. VEGF expression by mesenchymal stem cells contributes to angiogenesis in pancreatic carcinoma. *Br J Cancer.* (2008) 99:622–31. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604508
- Quante M, Tu SP, Tomita H, Gonda T, Wang SS, Takashi S, et al. Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute to the mesenchymal stem cell niche and promote tumor growth. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 19:257–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.01.020
- 44. Liu C, Kelnar K, Liu B, Chen X, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, et al. The microRNA miR-34a inhibits prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by directly repressing CD44. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:211–5. doi: 10.1038/nm. 2284
- 45. Zischek C, Niess H, Ischenko I, Conrad C, Huss R, Jauch KW, et al. Targeting tumor stroma using engineered mesenchymal stem cells reduces the growth of pancreatic carcinoma. *Ann Surg.* (2009) 250:747–53. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181bd62d0
- 46. Li HJ, Reinhardt F, Herschman HR, Weinberg RA. Cancerstimulated mesenchymal stem cells create a carcinoma stem cell

niche via prostaglandin E2 signaling. Cancer Discov. (2012) 2:840-55. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0101

- Kabashima-Niibe A, Higuchi H, Takaishi H, Masugi Y, Matsuzaki Y, Mabuchi Y, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells regulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumor progression of pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Sci.* (2013) 104:157–64. doi: 10.1111/cas.12059
- Li X, Lewis MT, Huang J, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, et al. Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2008) 100:672–9. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn123
- Creighton CJ, Li X, Landis M, Dixon JM, Neumeister VM, Sjolund A, et al. Residual breast cancers after conventional therapy display mesenchymal as well as tumor-initiating features. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:13820– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905718106
- Yang AD, Fan F, Camp ER, van Buren G, Liu W, Somcio R, et al. Chronic oxaliplatin resistance induces epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer cell lines. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:4147–53. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0038
- Kajiyama H, Shibata K, Terauchi M, Yamashita M, Ino K, Nawa A, et al. Chemoresistance to paclitaxel induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and enhances metastatic potential for epithelial ovarian carcinoma cells. *Int J Oncol.* (2007) 31:277–83. doi: 10.3892/ijo.31.2.277
- Ginestier C, Liu S, Diebel ME, Korkaya H, Luo M, Brown M, et al. CXCR1 blockade selectively targets human breast cancer stem cells *in vitro* and in xenografts. *J Clin Invest.* (2010) 120:485–97. doi: 10.1172/JCI39397
- Sun Y, Campisi J, Higano C, Beer TM, Porter P, Coleman I, et al. Treatment-induced damage to the tumor microenvironment promotes prostate cancer therapy resistance through WNT16B. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1359–68. doi: 10.1038/nm.2890
- Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD. Targeting cancer stemness in the clinic: from hype to hope. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2019) 24:25–40. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.11.017
- 55. Biffi G, Oni TE, Spielman B, Hao Y, Elyada E, Park Y, et al. IL1-induced JAK/STAT signaling is antagonized by TGFbeta to shape CAF heterogeneity in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:282–301. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0710
- Todaro M, Gaggianesi M, Catalano V, Benfante A, Iovino F, Biffoni M, et al. CD44v6 is a marker of constitutive and reprogrammed cancer stem cells driving colon cancer metastasis. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 14:342–56. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.01.009
- Iliopoulos D, Hirsch HA, Struhl K. An epigenetic switch involving NFkappaB, Lin28, Let-7 MicroRNA, and IL6 links inflammation to cell transformation. *Cell.* (2009) 139:693–706. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.014
- Sullivan NJ, Sasser AK, Axel AE, Vesuna F, Raman V, Ramirez N, et al. Interleukin-6 induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype in human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*. (2009) 28:2940–7. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.180
- Mani SA, Guo W, Liao MJ, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, et al. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell.* (2008) 133:704–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027
- Kim MP, Fleming JB, Wang H, Abbruzzese JL, Choi W, Kopetz S, et al. ALDH activity selectively defines an enhanced tumor-initiating cell population relative to CD133 expression in human pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e20636. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 20636
- Chen L, Fan J, Chen H, Meng Z, Chen Z, Wang P, et al. The IL-8/CXCR1 axis is associated with cancer stem cell-like properties and correlates with clinical prognosis in human pancreatic cancer cases. *Sci Rep.* (2014) 4:5911. doi: 10.1038/srep05911
- 62. Singh JK, Farnie G, Bundred NJ, Simoes BM, Shergill A, Landberg G, et al. Targeting CXCR1/2 significantly reduces breast cancer stem cell activity and increases the efficacy of inhibiting HER2 via HER2-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:643–56. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1063
- 63. Lonardo E, Frias-Aldeguer J, Hermann PC, Heeschen C. Pancreatic stellate cells form a niche for cancer stem cells and promote their self-renewal and invasiveness. *Cell Cycle*. (2012) 11:1282–90. doi: 10.4161/cc.19679
- 64. Lenos KJ, Miedema DM, Lodestijn SC, Nijman LE, van den Bosch T, Romero Ros X, et al. Stem cell functionality is microenvironmentally

defined during tumour expansion and therapy response in colon cancer. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2018) 20:1193–202. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0179-z

- 65. Tang YA, Chen YF, Bao Y, Mahara S, Yatim S, Oguz G, et al. Hypoxic tumor microenvironment activates GLI2 via HIF-1alpha and TGF-beta2 to promote chemoresistance in colorectal cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E5990–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1801348115
- Timaner M, Letko-Khait N, Kotsofruk R, Benguigui M, Beyar-Katz O, Rachman-Tzemah C, et al. Therapy-educated mesenchymal stem cells enrich for tumor-initiating cells. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:1253–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1547
- Schmidt A, Ladage D, Schinkothe T, Klausmann U, Ulrichs C, Klinz FJ, et al. Basic fibroblast growth factor controls migration in human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. (2006) 24:1750–8. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0191
- Liu S, Ginestier C, Ou SJ, Clouthier SG, Patel SH, Monville F, et al. Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:614–24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0538
- Tsai KS, Yang SH, Lei YP, Tsai CC, Chen HW, Hsu CY, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells promote formation of colorectal tumors in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 141:1046–56. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.05.045
- Roodhart JM, Daenen LG, Stigter EC, Prins HJ, Gerrits J, Houthuijzen JM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells induce resistance to chemotherapy through the release of platinum-induced fatty acids. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 20:370–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.08.010
- Ohlund D, Handly-Santana A, Biffi G, Elyada E, Almeida AS, Ponz-Sarvise M, et al. Distinct populations of inflammatory fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in pancreatic cancer. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:579–96. doi: 10.1084/jem.20162024
- Su S, Chen J, Yao H, Liu J, Yu S, Lao L, et al. CD10⁺GPR77⁺ cancerassociated fibroblasts promote cancer formation and chemoresistance by sustaining cancer stemness. *Cell.* (2018) 172:841–56.e816. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.009
- Brechbuhl HM, Finlay-Schultz J, Yamamoto TM, Gillen AE, Cittelly DM, Tan AC, et al. Fibroblast subtypes regulate responsiveness of luminal breast cancer to estrogen. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:1710–21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2851
- Costea DE, Hills A, Osman AH, Thurlow J, Kalna G, Huang X, et al. Identification of two distinct carcinoma-associated fibroblast subtypes with differential tumor-promoting abilities in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:3888–901. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4150
- Bartoschek M, Oskolkov N, Bocci M, Lovrot J, Larsson C, Sommarin M, et al. Spatially and functionally distinct subclasses of breast cancer-associated fibroblasts revealed by single cell RNA sequencing. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5150. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07582-3
- Avery D, Govindaraju P, Jacob M, Todd L, Monslow J, Pure E. Extracellular matrix directs phenotypic heterogeneity of activated fibroblasts. *Matrix Biol.* (2018) 67:90–106. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.12.003
- Park CK, Jung WH, Koo JS. Expression of cancer-associated fibroblastrelated proteins differs between invasive lobular carcinoma and invasive ductal carcinoma. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2016) 159:55–69. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3929-2
- O'Connell JT, Sugimoto H, Cooke VG, MacDonald BA, Mehta AI, LeBleu VS, et al. VEGF-A and Tenascin-C produced by S100A4⁺ stromal cells are important for metastatic colonization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:16002–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109493108
- Ozdemir BC, Pentcheva-Hoang T, Carstens JL, Zheng X, Wu CC, Simpson TR, et al. Depletion of carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and fibrosis induces immunosuppression and accelerates pancreas cancer with reduced survival. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 25:719–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014. 04.005
- Rhim AD, Mirek ET, Aiello NM, Maitra A, Bailey JM, McAllister F, et al. EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. *Cell.* (2012) 148:349–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011 .11.025
- Scheel C, Eaton EN, Li SH, Chaffer CL, Reinhardt F, Kah KJ, et al. Paracrine and autocrine signals induce and maintain mesenchymal and stem cell states in the breast. *Cell*. (2011) 145:926–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.04.029

- Park CW, Kim KS, Bae S, Son HK, Myung PK, Hong HJ, et al. Cytokine secretion profiling of human mesenchymal stem cells by antibody array. *Int J Stem Cells*. (2009) 2:59–68. doi: 10.15283/ijsc.2009.2.1.59
- Zhang XH, Jin X, Malladi S, Zou Y, Wen YH, Brogi E, et al. Selection of bone metastasis seeds by mesenchymal signals in the primary tumor stroma. *Cell.* (2013) 154:1060–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.036
- Tang RJ, Shen SN, Zhao XY, Nie YZ, Xu YJ, Ren J, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells-regulated Treg cells suppress colitis-associated colorectal cancer. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2015) 6:71. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0055-8
- Scherzed A, Hackenberg S, Froelich K, Kessler M, Koehler C, Hagen R, et al. BMSC enhance the survival of paclitaxel treated squamous cell carcinoma cells *in vitro*. *Cancer Biol Ther*. (2011) 11:349–57. doi: 10.4161/cbt.11.3.14179
- Lis R, Touboul C, Mirshahi P, Ali F, Mathew S, Nolan DJ, et al. Tumor associated mesenchymal stem cells protects ovarian cancer cells from hyperthermia through CXCL12. *Int J Cancer.* (2011) 128:715–25. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25619
- Schott AF, Goldstein LJ, Cristofanilli M, Ruffini PA, McCanna S, Reuben JM, et al. Phase Ib pilot study to evaluate reparixin in combination with weekly paclitaxel in patients with HER-2-negative metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:5358–65. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2748
- Steele CW, Karim SA, Leach JDG, Bailey P, Upstill-Goddard R, Rishi L, et al. CXCR2 inhibition profoundly suppresses metastases and augments immunotherapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell.* (2016) 29:832–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.04.014
- Li Y, Rogoff HA, Keates S, Gao Y, Murikipudi S, Mikule K, et al. Suppression of cancer relapse and metastasis by inhibiting cancer stemness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:1839–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424171112
- Zhong H, Davis A, Ouzounova M, Carrasco RA, Chen C, Breen S, et al. A novel IL6 antibody sensitizes multiple tumor types to chemotherapy including trastuzumab-resistant tumors. Cancer Res (2016) 76:480–90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0883
- Njatcha C, Farooqui M, Kornberg A, Johnson DE, Grandis JR, Siegfried JM. STAT3 cyclic decoy demonstrates robust antitumor effects in non-small cell lung cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:1917–26. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-1194
- Loeffler M, Kruger JA, Niethammer AG, Reisfeld RA. Targeting tumor-associated fibroblasts improves cancer chemotherapy by increasing intratumoral drug uptake. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:1955–62. doi: 10.1172/JCI26532
- Kakarla S, Chow KK, Mata M, Shaffer DR, Song XT, Wu MF, et al. Antitumor effects of chimeric receptor engineered human T cells directed to tumor stroma. *Mol Ther.* (2013) 21:1611–20. doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.110
- Lo A, Wang LS, Scholler J, Monslow J, Avery D, Newick K, et al. Tumorpromoting desmoplasia is disrupted by depleting FAP-expressing stromal cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:2800–10. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3041
- Rhim AD, Oberstein PE, Thomas DH, Mirek ET, Palermo CF, Sastra SA, et al. Stromal elements act to restrain, rather than support, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 25:735–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.021
- Roberts EW, Deonarine A, Jones JO, Denton AE, Feig C, Lyons SK, et al. Depletion of stromal cells expressing fibroblast activation protein-alpha from skeletal muscle and bone marrow results in cachexia and anemia. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:1137–51. doi: 10.1084/jem.20122344
- Miao L, Liu Q, Lin CM, Luo C, Wang Y, Liu L, et al. Targeting tumorassociated fibroblasts for therapeutic delivery in desmoplastic tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:719–31. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0866
- Shaked Y, Pham E, Hariharan S, Magidey K, Beyar-Katz O, Xu P, et al. Evidence implicating immunological host effects in the efficacy of metronomic low-dose chemotherapy. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5983–93. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0136
- Hasnis E, Alishekevitz D, Gingis-Veltski S, Bril R, Fremder E, Voloshin T, et al. Anti-Bv8 antibody and metronomic gemcitabine improve pancreatic adenocarcinoma treatment outcome following weekly gemcitabine therapy. *Neoplasia*. (2014) 16:501–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2014.05.011
- 100. Nakasone ES, Askautrud HA, Kees T, Park JH, Plaks V, Ewald AJ, et al. Imaging tumor-stroma interactions during chemotherapy reveals contributions of the microenvironment to resistance. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 21:488–503. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.017

- Kerbel RS, Shaked Y. Therapy-activated stromal cells can dictate tumor fate. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:2831–3. doi: 10.1084/jem.20161845
- 102. Andre N, Tsai K, Carre M, Pasquier E. Metronomic chemotherapy: direct targeting of cancer cells after all? *Trends Cancer.* (2017) 3:319–25. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.03.011
- 103. Poggi A, Varesano S, Zocchi MR. How to hit mesenchymal stromal cells and make the tumor microenvironment immunostimulant rather than immunosuppressive. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:262. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01342
- Polyak K, Weinberg RA. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2009) 9:265–73. doi: 10.1038/nrc2620
- 105. Liu S, Cong Y, Wang D, Sun Y, Deng L, Liu Y, et al. Breast cancer stem cells transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states reflective of their normal counterparts. *Stem Cell Rep.* (2014) 2:78–91. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.11.009
- 106. Stankic M, Pavlovic S, Chin Y, Brogi E, Padua D, Norton L, et al. TGFbeta-Id1 signaling opposes Twist1 and promotes metastatic colonization via a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition. *Cell Rep.* (2013) 5:1228–42. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.11.014
- 107. Colacino JA, Azizi E, Brooks MD, Harouaka R, Fouladdel S, McDermott SP, et al. Heterogeneity of human breast stem and progenitor cells as revealed by transcriptional profiling. *Stem Cell Rep.* (2018) 10:1596–609. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.03.001
- 108. Lau J, Ilkhanizadeh S, Wang S, Miroshnikova YA, Salvatierra NA, Wong RA, et al. STAT3 blockade inhibits radiation-induced malignant progression in glioma. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:4302–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3331
- 109. Shimokawa M, Ohta Y, Nishikori S, Matano M, Takano A, Fujii M, et al. Visualization and targeting of LGR5⁺ human colon cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2017) 545:187–92. doi: 10.1038/nature22081
- 110. de Sousa e Melo F, Kurtova AV, Harnoss JM, Kljavin N, Hoeck JD, Hung J, et al. A distinct role for Lgr5⁺ stem cells in primary and metastatic colon cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 543:676–80. doi: 10.1038/nature21713
- 111. Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Tackling the cancer stem cells—what challenges do they pose? *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2014) 13:497–512. doi: 10.1038/nrd4253
- 112. Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1124–34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409
- 113. Yen TW, Aardal NP, Bronner MP, Thorning DR, Savard CE, Lee SP, et al. Myofibroblasts are responsible for the desmoplastic reaction surrounding human pancreatic carcinomas. *Surgery*. (2002) 131:129–34. doi: 10.1067/msy.2002.119192
- 114. Waghray M, Yalamanchili M, di Magliano MP, Simeone DM. Deciphering the role of stroma in pancreatic cancer. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.* (2013) 29:537–43. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e328363affe
- 115. Olive KP, Jacobetz MA, Davidson CJ, Gopinathan A, McIntyre D, Honess D, et al. Inhibition of Hedgehog signaling enhances delivery of chemotherapy in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Science.* (2009) 324:1457–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1171362
- Miao L, Lin CM, Huang L. Stromal barriers and strategies for the delivery of nanomedicine to desmoplastic tumors. *J Control Release*. (2015) 219:192– 204. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.08.017
- 117. Von Hoff DD, Ramanathan RK, Borad MJ, Laheru DA, Smith LS, Wood TE, et al. Gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel is an active regimen in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a phase I/II trial. J Clin Oncol. (2011) 29:4548–54. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.36.5742
- Clevers H. The cancer stem cell: premises, promises and challenges. Nat Med. (2011) 17:313–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2304
- 119. Islam F, Gopalan V, Smith RA, Lam AK. Translational potential of cancer stem cells: a review of the detection of cancer stem cells and their roles in cancer recurrence and cancer treatment. *Exp Cell Res.* (2015) 335:135–47. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.04.018
- Tsai KK, Chan TS, Shaked Y. Next viable routes to targeting pancreatic cancer stemness: learning from clinical setbacks. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:702. doi: 10.3390/jcm8050702
- 121. Vidal SJ, Rodriguez-Bravo V, Galsky M, Cordon-Cardo C, Domingo-Domenech J. Targeting cancer stem cells to suppress acquired

chemotherapy resistance. *Oncogene.* (2014) 33:4451-63. doi: 10.1038/onc.2 013.411

- Lawson DA, Bhakta NR, Kessenbrock K, Prummel KD, Yu Y, Takai K, et al. Single-cell analysis reveals a stem-cell program in human metastatic breast cancer cells. *Nature*. (2015) 526:131–5. doi: 10.1038/nature15260
- 123. Lytle NK, Barber AG, Reya T. Stem cell fate in cancer growth, progression and therapy resistance. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2018) 18:669–80. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0056-x
- 124. Prager BC, Xie Q, Bao S, Rich JN. Cancer stem cells: the architects of the tumor ecosystem. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2019) 24:41–53. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Chan, Shaked and Tsai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells via Modulation of the Renin-Angiotensin System

Imogen M. Roth¹, Agadha C. Wickremesekera^{1,2}, Susrutha K. Wickremesekera^{1,3}, Paul F. Davis¹ and Swee T. Tan^{1,4*}

¹ Gillies McIndoe Research Institute, Wellington, New Zealand, ² Department of Neurosurgery, Wellington Regional Hospital, Wellington, New Zealand, ³ Upper Gastrointestinal, Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Section, Department of General Surgery, Wellington Regional Hospital, Wellington, New Zealand, ⁴ Wellington Regional Plastic, Maxillofacial and Burns Unit, Hutt Hospital, Wellington, New Zealand

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are proposed to be the cells that initiate tumorigenesis and maintain tumor development due to their self-renewal and multipotency properties. CSCs have been identified in many cancer types and are thought to be responsible for treatment resistance, metastasis, and recurrence. As such, targeting CSCs specifically should result in durable cancer treatment. One potential option for targeting CSCs is by manipulation of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) and pathways that converge on the RAS with numerous inexpensive medications currently in common clinical use. In addition to its crucial role in cardiovascular and body fluid homeostasis, the RAS is vital for stem cell maintenance and differentiation and plays a role in tumorigenesis and cancer prevention, suggesting that these roles may converge and result in modulation of CSC function by the RAS. In support of this, components of the RAS have been shown to be expressed in many cancer types and have been more recently localized to the CSCs in some tumors. Given these roles of the RAS in tumor development, clinical trials using RAS inhibitors either singly or in combination with other therapies are underway in different cancer types. This review outlines the roles of the RAS, with respect to CSCs, and suggests that the presence of components of the RAS in CSCs could offer an avenue for therapeutic targeting using RAS modulators. Due to the nature of the RAS and its crosstalk with numerous other signaling pathways, a systems approach using traditional RAS inhibitors in combination with inhibitors of bypass loops of the RAS and other signaling pathways that converge on the RAS may offer a novel therapeutic approach to cancer treatment.

Keywords: cancer stem cells, renin-angiotensin system, stem cell differentiation, tumorigenesis, bypass loops

CANCER STEM CELLS

As in normal tissue, tumors consist of diverse cell populations. The cellular heterogeneity observed in tumors has led to the suggestion that cancer may be sustained by cancer stem cells (CSCs), which, like normal embryonic stem cells (ESCs), are able to self-renew and undergo differentiation into multiple cell types. This is supported by several observations in cancer biology, including that only some tumor cells can recapitulate a tumor when xenografted into immunodeficient mice, and that tumors grown from tumorigenic cells consist of a mixed population of both tumorigenic and non-tumorigenic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cyril Corbet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Aamir Ahmad, Mitchell Cancer Institute, United States Masahiro Hitomi, Cleveland Clinic, Lerner Research Institute, United States

> *Correspondence: Swee T. Tan swee.tan@gmri.org.nz

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 08 May 2019 **Accepted:** 24 July 2019 **Published:** 08 August 2019

Citation:

Roth IM, Wickremesekera AC, Wickremesekera SK, Davis PF and Tan ST (2019) Therapeutic Targeting of Cancer Stem Cells via Modulation of the Renin-Angiotensin System. Front. Oncol. 9:745. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00745

150

cancer cells (1). CSCs are thought to arise from either resident adult stem cells which have acquired oncogenic mutations or from progenitor cells which have an unlimited ability to replicate. CSCs share the properties of differentiation, self-renewal and homeostatic control with normal stem cells (1), express stem cell markers (2), and have subverted self-renewal pathways of normal stem cells (3).

The CSC concept proposes that cancer develops from a small subset of cells which can generate all the heterogeneous cell types seen within the tumor, including generating more CSCs as well as differentiated cancer cells. It has been shown in numerous tumor types that expression of certain markers can define populations of cancer cells which are able to generate a tumor, as well as their ability to respond to or resist cancer therapies, suggesting CSCs are present within these tumors (4). Studies transplanting mouse tumors into compatible wild-type mice have also shown that the cancer cells differ in their tumorigenic capacity, as only a small population of cancer cells are able to form tumors (4).

Given that adult human stem cells themselves are a diverse pool of cells expressing different markers, it is unsurprising that CSCs are also mixed populations of cells and are phenotypically and functionally diverse, and that the same tumor can contain multiple pools of CSCs (5). CSC diversity has also resulted in the emergence of a hierarchy, with a slow-cycling pool of cells giving rise to both a rapidly cycling population and non-proliferative cells, suggesting that targeting the cells with the potential to produce multiple types of tumor cells would be a beneficial approach to cancer treatment (6, 7). Heterogeneity within CSCs extends beyond tumorigenic potential and encompasses genetic and epigenetic changes as well as local environmental determinants and temporal and spatial differences (8). These differences have implications for effective therapies, as some cancer cells have been shown to resist chemotherapy and radiotherapy, and it has been suggested that they could be specifically targeted for differentiation as a therapeutic approach (8). Importantly, there is a level of plasticity within this system, as differentiated non-tumorigenic cancer cells can revert to CSCs (9, 10). This could be advanced by changes in the local environment driven by cues including hypoxia and inflammatory mediators to induce epithelial-mesenchymal transition and de-differentiation to increase the "stemness" of the tumor (5). This heterogeneity conferred by plasticity can result in treatment resistance (11).

CSCs have been shown to be capable of surviving radiotherapy and chemotherapy, which have no effect on the ability of the CSCs to regrow tumors (12). This resistance to radiotherapy is thought to occur by several mechanisms, including activation of DNA repair mechanisms, through activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, reactive oxygen species generation, and activation of other pro-survival signaling pathways (12). Resistance to chemotherapeutic agents is thought to occur via the use of drug efflux pumps and the expression of metabolic mediators (12). In addition, the quiescent, slow-cycling nature of CSCs is also likely to confer resistance to conventional treatments such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy which target rapidly dividing cells. The ability of CSCs to resist conventional cancer treatments has been well documented in breast cancer. Irradiation of mouse mammary primary epithelial cells enriches for progenitor cells (13), and breast cancer cells from patients following neoadjuvant chemotherapy are enriched for self-renewing cells (14). Furthermore, the number of CSCs and their ability to form mammospheres in culture is increased following chemotherapy of breast cancer patients (15) and Trastuzumab treatment of a breast cancer cell line (16).

Given their ability to generate a diverse cell population within a tumor and their ability to resist conventional cancer treatments, CSCs are proposed to be the cause of loco-regional recurrence and distant metastasis, and consequently treatment failure. This has implications for cancer therapy and suggests that the CSCs should be targeted for effective and durable cancer treatment. Consequently, several treatments targeting CSCs are currently in use in the clinic, with the main strategies being inhibiting key signaling pathways or directly targeting CSCs (17). These therapies include targeting CSC markers, such as CD44 and CD133, which have shown promise in a pre-clinical setting and therapies targeting these markers are in current clinical trials for acute myeloid leukemia and recurrent solid tumors, including liver, brain, pancreatic, breast, and colorectal cancers (18). In addition, a vaccination-based strategy against CSCs is in clinical trials for glioblastoma and other brain tumors (18), demonstrating the diverse approaches taken to target these cells. Given that CSCs express a unique set of markers, another approach toward identifying and eliminating these cells is to characterize other common features of CSCs and exploit these features for therapeutic targeting using drugs in common use, such as via modulation of signaling pathways such as the reninangiotensin system (RAS).

THE RENIN-ANGIOTENSIN SYSTEM

Physiological Control of Blood Pressure and Fluid Balance

The RAS is an endocrine system crucial for the maintenance of homeostasis, as it regulates blood pressure and fluid balance via a signaling network (Figure 1). Physiologically, the RAS is activated in response to either reduced blood volume or blood pressure, and acts to restore homeostasis through the release of renin from the kidneys. Pro-renin is converted to active renin by binding to the pro-renin receptor (PRR). Renin then cleaves angiotensinogen, which is normally synthesized and released by the liver, giving rise to angiotensin I (ATI). ATI is then converted to angiotensin II (ATII) by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). Aminopeptidase A converts ATII to angiotensin III, and together they act on ATII receptors 1 and 2 (ATIIR1 and ATIIR2). These receptors have divergent actions, with ATIIR1 driving vasoconstriction and inhibiting renin to restore blood pressure, and ATIIR2 acting to promote vasodilation. Angiotensin 1-7 (Ang1-7) is the cleavage product of ATII and affects cardiovascular functions by binding to the G-protein coupled receptor MAS. However, there is considerable redundancy in the pathway with bypass loops involving proteases such as cathepsins B, D, and G, and the convergence of other signaling pathways on the RAS itself, including inflammatory pathways and Wnt/ β -catenin signaling (Figure 1). Given the importance of the RAS for maintaining blood pressure, numerous modulators that inhibit the RAS at different points in the pathway have been developed (**Figure 2**). These groups of RAS inhibitors are commonly used in the clinic for the treatment of hypertension and include β -blockers, ACE inhibitors (ACEI), and ATIIR1 blockers (ARBs) as well as newer agents targeting other points in the pathway (e.g., renin inhibitors, chymase inhibitors, ATIIR2 inhibitors), inhibitors targeting bypass loops in the RAS pathway (e.g., cathepsin inhibitors), and inhibitors used in other canonical signaling pathways that converge on the RAS (e.g., Wnt/ β -catenin inhibitors, metformin, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) (**Figure 2**).

Stem Cell Differentiation

Alongside its crucial role in fluid volume regulation, the RAS is also important for stem cell maintenance and differentiation in several cell types. ATII expression drives the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into adipocytes (19), while other components of the RAS drive differentiation into insulin producing cells (20). ACE is required for hemangioblast expansion, and modulation of ATIIR1 or ATIIR2 signaling can direct the fate of the blasts toward either an endothelial or hematopoietic lineage (21). The RAS also plays a role in hematopoiesis (22, 23), vasculogenesis (24), erythropoiesis (25, 26), and myeloid differentiation (27).

Importantly, the RAS not only acts to promote stem cell differentiation in diverse cell populations, but also appears to act in a feedback loop with Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, where pro-renin receptor (PRR) can induce Wnt/ β -catenin (28), and components of the RAS themselves are targets of Wnt/ β -catenin (29). Wnt/ β -catenin signaling is crucial for embryonic development and induces differentiation of pluripotent stem cells into progenitor cells (30). Given that Wnt signaling is also involved in cancer development (31), and downstream Wnt targets include the CSC markers CD44 and c-Myc (32), it may be that CSCs require activation of Wnt signaling (33). This suggests that RAS modulators could be employed in these cells to indirectly inhibit Wnt signaling and its effects.

Having identified these roles in normal stem cell maintenance and differentiation and feedback loops with a canonical developmental signaling pathway, it may be that the expression of the RAS also plays a role in the regulation or function of CSCs.

Retrospective Studies and Clinical Trials Indicate Potential Benefit of RAS Modulators in Reducing Cancer Risk

The widespread use of RAS modulators as anti-hypertensives and their potential effect on cancer risk have been extensively documented. A seminal study has shown that the use of ACEI and ARBs is associated with a reduced risk of developing some cancer types, particularly cancers affecting women (34). Many other retrospective population studies have reported differing effects on cancer risk depending on the cancer type, cohort characteristics, and the RAS inhibitor used. As a result, several meta-analyses have been undertaken (35), again with differing results, which could be due to the nature of the original



FIGURE 1 | Overview of the renin-angiotensin system with its bypass loops and convergent signaling pathways. The renin-angiotensin system (black) regulates blood pressure, stem cell differentiation, and tumor development. Bypass loops of the RAS involving enzymes such as chymase and cathepsins B, D, and G (green) provide redundancy, while convergent inflammatory and developmental signaling pathways (blue) have multiple roles and effects. Angiotensinogen (AGN) is physiologically synthesized and released by the liver and is cleaved by renin to form angiotensin I (ATI). Renin is formed following binding of pro-renin to the pro-renin receptor. ATI is converted to angiotensin II (ATII) by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). ATII interacts with the G-protein coupled receptors ATII receptor 1 (ATIIR1) and ATII receptor 2 (ATIIR2) to restore homeostasis via vasoconstriction and vasodilation respectively ATI can also give rise to angiotensin III via the action of aminopeptidase A, and Angiotensin 1-7 which binds and activates the G-protein coupled receptor MAS. Cathepsins B and D are also renin-activating enzymes that convert pro-renin to renin. Cathepsin D converts AGN to ATI, and cathepsin G converts ATI to ATII or AGN directly to ATII. Chymase converts ATI to ATII. Pro-renin also induces Wnt/β -catenin signaling in a feedback loop. ATIIR1 can also result in inflammatory signaling via the NOX-ROS-NFkB-COX2 signaling axis. ROS, reactive oxygen species.

studies included and inherent publication bias. Aside from the reported effects on cancer risk, many retrospective population studies have also assessed the effect of RAS inhibitors on cancer death. Again, these results have been mixed, though meta-analyses have indicated that β -blocker use is not associated with survival in breast cancer patients (36), and a meta-analysis looking at ACEI use in all cancers showed no effect on cancer survival (37). A more recent meta-analysis looking at the use of different RAS inhibitors in all cancers showed that RAS inhibitor use extended overall, progression-free and disease-free survival (38). This is mainly due to ARBs and not ACEI use, with some site-specific effects. These studies need



to be interpreted critically and with caution as they do not prove causality and the effect on cancer risk and mortality could be due to other factors. It may also be that a defined patient group will derive benefit from these treatments and that a more holistic approach of targeting the RAS in cancer is required to achieve a sustained treatment for patients. Due to the nature of the RAS, with its inherent bypass loops conferring redundancies, and the presence of many other pathways that converge on the RAS, it is likely that a multifaceted approach to target the RAS will be required for effective cancer treatment.

Despite these disparate observations in retrospective population studies, the data around the involvement of the RAS in tumor models is clear, leading to many clinical trials using RAS inhibitors and the development of new targeted agents (39–41). Several of these studies have trialed ARBs

in cancer patients, with Losartan being shown to enhance the efficacy of chemotherapy and improve overall survival in ovarian cancer patients (42). Another ARB, Candesartan, has been shown to decrease prostate specific antigen levels in hormone-refractory prostate cancer patients (43), and is tolerated in advanced pancreatic cancer (44, 45). The ACEI Captopril is tolerated in patients with advanced cancer (46), and has been shown to reduce biochemical recurrence in prostate cancer patients (47), while Perindopril reduced the risk of recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma as a combination therapy with other non-traditional treatments (48, 49). Several trials have targeted the Ang1-7/MAS axis in breast cancer before or after chemotherapy (50), and in metastatic sarcoma, where it is well tolerated (51), and a number of advanced solid tumors where it provides benefit for some patients (52).

TABLE 1 | Components of the RAS are expressed in tumors.

| RAS component | Expression in tissue | Tumor types and references |
|--------------------|--|---|
| Pro-renin receptor | Increased expression | Endometrial cancer (58) |
| Angiotensinogen | Increased expression | Lung cancer (59) |
| ACE | Increased expression | Prostate cancer (60), gastric cancer (61), endometrial cancer (58) |
| | Polymorphism correlated with metastases | Gastric cancer (62) |
| ATIIR1 | Deficiency reduces tumor growth and angiogenesis | Melanoma (63), sarcoma (64), lung cancer (65), fibrosarcoma (66) |
| | Increased expression | Pancreatic cancer (67), ovarian cancer (68), prostate cancer (60), astrocytoma (69), breas cancer (70), renal clear cell carcinoma (71) |
| | Expression associated with disease progression | Ovarian cancer (68) |
| | Expression associated with poor survival | Intestinal type gastric cancer (72), astrocytoma (69) |
| ATIIR2 | Deficiency increases tumor growth | Pancreatic cancer (73) |
| | Increased expression | Gastric cancer (61), endometrial cancer (58) |
| | Reduced expression | Lung cancer (59) |
| | Expression associated with poor survival | Astrocytoma (69), renal clear cell carcinoma (71) |
| Cathepsin B | Expression associated with poor survival | Gastric cancer (74) |
| Cathepsin D | Increased expression | Hepatocarcinoma (75), melanoma (76), colorectal cancer (77), prostate cancer (78) |
| | Expression increases metastasis | Liver metastases (79, 80) |
| | Expression associated with poor survival | Breast cancer (81–84) |

TABLE 2 | β -blockers inhibit tumorigenesis in cell and animal models.

| Drug name | Effect in tumor models or cell lines | Tumor types and references | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| Propranolol Inhibition of growth and proliferation | | Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (89), breast cancer (90, 91), neuroblastoma (92), angiosarcoma (55, 93), melanoma (94–97), pancreatic cancer cells (98), gastric cancer cells (99, 100), neuroblastoma cells (92), hemangioendothelioma cells (93), angiosarcoma cells (55, 93), colorectal cancer cells (101), melanoma cells (94, 96), breast cancer cells (102), liver cancer cells (103), prostate cancer cells (104) | | |
| | Inhibition of migration | Colon carcinoma cells (105), breast cancer cells (106) | | |
| | Inhibition of invasion | Ovarian cancer cells (107), pancreatic cancer cells (108) | | |
| | Inhibition of metastasis | Prostate cancer (109), melanoma (95) | | |
| | Prolonged survival of tumor-bearing animals | Neuroblastoma (92) | | |
| Carvedilol | Inhibition of growth and proliferation | Neuroblastoma and neuroblastoma cells (92) | | |
| Nebivolol | Inhibition of growth and proliferation | Neuroblastoma and neuroblastoma cells (92) | | |

 β -blockers work by blocking β -adrenergic receptors to prevent neurotransmitter binding. This prevents renin secretion and its actions and subsequently results in lowered blood pressure (Figure 2). The non-selective β -blocker Propranolol has been shown in several case reports to be efficacious in treating angiosarcoma (53), and in combination with chemotherapy treatment induced responses in seven patients with advanced angiosarcoma (54). Another study showed that addition of Propranolol or another non-selective βblocker Carvedilol to treatment regimens for metastatic angiosarcoma improved progression-free and overall survival (55). Propranolol has also been used in a proof of concept study in multiple myeloma patients receiving hematopoietic cell transplantations (56), and in a prospective cohort study in melanoma patients where its use was associated with reduced recurrence (57).

While these trials have demonstrated promise for targeting the RAS in cancer treatment, the mechanisms by which this is achieved are yet to be elucidated. Current clinical trials and the development of new RAS targets should help to further define which patient groups may benefit from these treatments.

In vitro and *in vivo* Cancer Models Rationalize the RAS as a Therapeutic Target

Given the potential effects on reducing cancer risk observed in retrospective population studies, expression of components of the RAS have been assessed in many different tumor types to clarify the potential role of the RAS in tumorigenesis (**Table 1**).

These studies have helped define the role of the RAS in tumorigenesis, and collectively show that components of the RAS are expressed in many different cancer types (39, 85). The effects on tumor growth, angiogenesis, metastasis and survival indicate that the RAS plays a role in the hallmarks of cancer (39, 86, 87). It is also thought to contribute to an immunosuppressive microenvironment in tumors and reduce infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages (88). The increased

TABLE 3 | ACE inhibitors inhibit tumorigenesis in cell and animal models.

| Drug name | Effect in tumor models or cell lines | Tumor types and references |
|-------------|---|---|
| Captopril | Reduced growth | Renal cancer (110), lung cancer (111), colorectal cancer liver metastases (112, 113), lung cancer cells (111), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma cells (114) |
| | Increased growth | Fibrosarcoma (115) |
| | Reduced metastases | Lung cancer (111) |
| | Decreased survival of tumor-bearing animals | Renal cancer (115) |
| Enalapril | Inhibition of growth | Pancreatic cancer (116, 117), neuroendocrine cancer cells (117) |
| | Inhibition of invasion | Pancreatic cancer (116), gastric cancer cells (61) |
| Perindopril | Reduced growth and angiogenesis | Hepatocellular carcinoma (118–120) |

TABLE 4 | ARBs inhibit tumorigenesis in cell and animal models.

| Drug name | Effect in tumor models or cell lines | Tumor types and references | | |
|-------------|---|--|--|--|
| Candesartan | Inhibition of growth and proliferation | Gastric cancer cells (121), lung cancer cells (122) | | |
| | Reduced angiogenesis | Renal cancer (123), ovarian cancer (68), breast cancer (124) | | |
| | Reduced metastases | Renal cancer (123) | | |
| | Prolonged survival of tumor-bearing animals | Peritoneal carcinomatosis (121) | | |
| Irbesartan | Reduced growth | Colorectal cancer liver metastases (112), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma cells (114) | | |
| Losartan | Reduced growth | Breast cancer (70), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma cells (114) | | |
| | Increased proliferation | Melanoma cells (125) | | |
| | Reduced invasion | Breast cancer (70) | | |
| | Reduced angiogenesis | Pancreatic cancer (126) | | |
| Olmesartan | Reduced invasion | Gastric cancer cells (61) | | |
| Telmisartan | Inhibition of growth and proliferation | Prostate cancer cells (127), uterine leiomyoma cells (128), lung cancer cells (129) | | |

expression of components of the RAS in different cancer types may contribute to tumorigenesis and the poor clinical outcome seen in some cancer types. This suggests that regulation of the RAS may be a general mechanism for cancer prevention and warrants further investigation to understand the precise underlying mechanisms.

Given that the RAS is over-expressed in many cancer types and the use of RAS modulators may affect cancer risk and cancer survival, numerous studies have assessed the effect of RAS inhibitors *in vitro* and on tumor models *in vivo*. These have focused on β -blockers (**Table 2**), ACEI (**Table 3**), and ARBs (**Table 4**) to assess the role of the RAS in tumor development.

Studies investigating β -blockers in cancer (**Table 2**) have largely used the β -blocker Propranolol and have shown that across a wide range of cancer types, Propranolol inhibits the growth of tumors and tumor cells. This suggests that Propranolol could be repurposed for cancer treatment (130, 131), as has been the case for the benign vascular tumor infantile hemangioma for which it is an effective treatment (132–134).

Given the effects of β -blockers on cancer and cancer cell growth, other studies have investigated the impact of other classes of drugs that modulate the RAS on neoplastic processes. One of these classes is ACEIs, which block the action of ACE and hence downstream production of ATII (Figure 2). Studies looking at ACEIs (Table 3) are extensive and demonstrate that this class of drugs (including Captopril, Enalapril, and Perindopril) appear

to prevent tumor growth and invasion in many different tumor types and models.

Another broad class of drugs that modulate the RAS are ARBs, which block ATIIR1 (**Figure 2**). Studies using ARBs to assess cancer development in cell and animal models (**Table 4**) have also shown that different drugs within this class (Candesartan, Irbesartan, Losartan, Olmesartan, and Telmisartan) inhibit tumor development across several tumor types.

These studies underscore the complex nature of the RAS and suggests that different RAS modulators may have different effects in different tumor types. Taken together, they suggest that anti-hypertensive drugs which target the RAS have shown promise for repurposing in the cancer setting. Across several classes of drugs (β-blockers, ACEIs, and ARBs) in both in vitro and in vivo models, they have been shown to reduce tumor cell growth, migration, invasion, and metastasis in numerous cancer types. These processes comprise many of the characteristics of CSCs and of the hallmarks of cancer (135), and are consistent with the expression of some components of the RAS in high-grade disease and the associated poor survival (Table 1). This suggests that there is merit in repurposing RAS inhibitors for cancer treatment. Many clinical trials using this approach are currently underway, despite limited functional work and mechanistic understanding about how this approach might work in cancer patients. With the development of new agents targeting specific parts of the pathway, including the bypass loops, and the refinement of existing drugs, new

opportunities are emerging for modulating the RAS pathway, either in combination with current therapies or by targeting the entire RAS and its bypass loops, and pathways converging on the RAS.

CANCER STEM CELLS EXPRESS COMPONENTS OF THE RAS

Given the well characterized role of the RAS in both stem cell maintenance and tumorigenesis, it is possible that these functions are directed by RAS signaling in CSCs. In order to demonstrate this, it is important to first establish that CSCs express both CSC markers and components of the RAS. This has been shown to be the case in numerous cancer types, including glioblastoma (136-138), metastases to the liver from colon adenocarcinoma (139, 140), head and neck cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (141), and oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma affecting the buccal mucosa (142, 143), oral tongue (144-146), and lip (147, 148). In addition, components of the RAS have also been demonstrated on the tumor stem cells of benign tumors such as meningioma (149, 150), infantile hemangioma (151, 152), and pyogenic granuloma (153). Importantly, the expression of cathepsins B, D, and G in some of these cancer types (74, 138, 140, 146, 150) suggests the presence of bypass loops of the RAS which could circumvent the action of traditional RAS inhibitors and offer a potential explanation for the differing findings of cancer risk and cancer survival with long-term use of traditional RAS inhibitors. Given the presence of components of the RAS in CSCs in these cancers, it is possible that the expression of these components is controlling the differentiation and function of the CSCs within these tumors.

Despite the indirect evidence from retrospective population studies and more substantial direct evidence from *in vitro* studies and *in vivo* tumor models, very little is known about the mechanism by which RAS modulators influence tumor development. Although expression of components of the RAS has been demonstrated in CSCs, their function and how they might respond to RAS modulators has yet to be characterized. However, the fact that many clinical trials involving targeting of the RAS in cancer have taken place and are currently underway underscores the role of RAS in tumorigenesis and the need for further investigations into this system. Importantly, the findings in tumor model systems are seen consistently across a broad range of tumor types, suggesting its common role in cancer biology which may be affected through CSCs and their functions.

The expression of both components of the RAS and CSC markers in several cancer types may indicate that the CSCs

may be a novel therapeutic target through modulation of the RAS. It is possible that a multi-faceted strategy simultaneously targeting multiple critical points of the RAS and related signaling pathways may result in durable cancer treatments by altering CSC function. Indeed, Phase II trials in metastatic renal cell carcinoma using either Perindopril or Candesartan in combination with other agents, including a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor have shown potential for stabilizing the disease and reducing recurrence (154). Propranolol treatment in combination with a cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor is well tolerated in breast cancer patients and transcriptional profiling showed the combination reduced markers of invasion and inflammation (155). Furthermore, targeting other pathways which converge on the RAS may also prove worthwhile, as Metformin selectively kills CSCs in mouse breast cancer models (156), and targeting Wnt signaling is known strategy for CSC elimination (157, 158).

CONCLUSION

The involvement of the RAS in both tumor development and stem cell maintenance suggests that these roles may converge on CSC maintenance and function. Given the ability of CSCs to promote cell migration, invasion and metastasis (17), and the reduction of these processes by RAS inhibitors in vitro and in vivo, it may be that the success of RAS inhibitors in reducing cancer risk and improving cancer survival is due to their effects on CSCs. In support of this, components of the RAS and enzymes that constitute bypass loops of the RAS have been shown to be expressed in CSCs of several different cancer types. This offers an avenue for targeted therapies using RAS inhibitors, modulators of the bypass loops, and agents targeting other signaling pathways that converge on the RAS. Importantly, RAS inhibitors are commonly available, well tolerated and inexpensive and have been shown to be effective in controlling tumor growth in several settings. However, many of these studies have relied on immortalized cancer cell lines and xenograft tumor models, and in order to better understand the mechanisms of these drugs and the discrepancies observed in their effects clinically, models closer to the patient need to be employed. In addition, the nature of the RAS and its crosstalk with other pathways means a systemwide approach simultaneously targeting multiple key steps of the RAS is needed to achieve effective cancer control.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IR drafted the manuscript. AW, SW, PD, and ST commented on the manuscript. All authors approved the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Dalerba P, Cho RW, Clarke MF. Cancer stem cells: models and concepts. Annu Rev Med. (2007) 58:267–84. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.58.062105.204854
- Kim WT, Ryu CJ. Cancer stem cell surface markers on normal stem cells. BMB Rep. (2017) 50:285–98. doi: 10.5483/BMBRep.2017.50.6.039
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2001) 414:105–11. doi: 10.1038/ 35102167
- 4. Shackleton Μ, Ouintana E, Fearon ER, Morrison SI. Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell. (2009)138:822-9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009. 08.017

- Tang DG. Understanding cancer stem cell heterogeneity and plasticity. *Cell Res.* (2012) 22:457–72. doi: 10.1038/cr.2012.13
- Bradshaw A, Wickremsekera A, Tan ST, Peng L, Davis PF, Itinteang T. Cancer stem cell hierarchy in glioblastoma multiforme. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:21. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016.00021
- Lan X, Jorg DJ, Cavalli FMG, Richards LM, Nguyen LV, Vanner RJ, et al. Fate mapping of human glioblastoma reveals an invariant stem cell hierarchy. *Nature*. (2017) 549:227–32. doi: 10.1038/nature23666
- Magee JA, Piskounova E, Morrison SJ. Cancer stem cells: impact, heterogeneity, and uncertainty. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 21:283–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.03.003
- Chaffer CL, Brueckmann I, Scheel C, Kaestli AJ, Wiggins PA, Rodrigues LO, et al. Normal and neoplastic nonstem cells can spontaneously convert to a stem-like state. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:7950–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102454108
- Gupta PB, Fillmore CM, Jiang G, Shapira SD, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, et al. Stochastic state transitions give rise to phenotypic equilibrium in populations of cancer cells. *Cell.* (2011) 146:633–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2011.07.026
- Sharma SV, Lee DY, Li B, Quinlan MP, Takahashi F, Maheswaran S, et al. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell.* (2010) 141:69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010. 02.027
- Eyler CE, Rich JN. Survival of the fittest: cancer stem cells in therapeutic resistance and angiogenesis. J Clin Oncol. (2008) 26:2839–45. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.1829
- Woodward WA, Chen MS, Behbod F, Alfaro MP, Buchholz TA, Rosen JM. WNT/beta-catenin mediates radiation resistance of mouse mammary progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:618–23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606599104
- Yu F, Yao H, Zhu P, Zhang X, Pan Q, Gong C, et al. let-7 regulates self renewal and tumorigenicity of breast cancer cells. *Cell.* (2007) 131:1109–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.054
- Li X, Lewis MT, Huang J, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, et al. Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2008) 100:672–9. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn123
- Reim F, Dombrowski Y, Ritter C, Buttmann M, Hausler S, Ossadnik M, et al. Immunoselection of breast and ovarian cancer cells with trastuzumab and natural killer cells: selective escape of CD44high/CD24low/HER2low breast cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:8058–66. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0834
- Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1124–34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409
- Annett S, Robson T. Targeting cancer stem cells in the clinic: current status and perspectives. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2018) 187:13–30. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.02.001
- Matsushita K, Wu Y, Okamoto Y, Pratt RE, Dzau VJ. Local renin angiotensin expression regulates human mesenchymal stem cell differentiation to adipocytes. *Hypertension*. (2006) 48:1095–102. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000248211.82232.a7
- Sadik NA, Metwally NS, Shaker OG, Soliman MS, Mohamed AA, Abdelmoaty MM. Local renin-angiotensin system regulates the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into insulin-producing cells through angiotensin type 2 receptor. *Biochimie.* (2017) 137:132–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2017.03.002
- Zambidis ET, Park TS, Yu W, Tam A, Levine M, Yuan X, et al. Expression of angiotensin-converting enzyme. (CD143) identifies and regulates primitive hemangioblasts derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *Blood.* (2008) 112:3601–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-144766
- Hubert C, Savary K, Gasc JM, Corvol P. The hematopoietic system: a new niche for the renin-angiotensin system. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. (2006) 3:80–5. doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio0449
- 23. Park TS, Zambidis ET. A role for the renin-angiotensin system in hematopoiesis. *Haematologica*. (2009) 94:745-7. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2009.006965
- Khakoo AY, Sidman RL, Pasqualini R, Arap W. Does the renin-angiotensin system participate in regulation of human vasculogenesis and angiogenesis? *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:9112–5. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-0851

- Walter J. Does captopril decrease the effect of human recombinant erythropoietin in haemodialysis patients? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (1993) 8:1428.
- Vlahakos DV, Balodimos C, Papachristopoulos V, Vassilakos P, Hinari E, Vlachojannis JG. Renin-angiotensin system stimulates erythropoietin secretion in chronic hemodialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol.* (1995) 43:53–9.
- Shen XZ, Bernstein KE. The peptide network regulated by angiotensin converting enzyme. (ACE) in hematopoiesis. *Cell Cycle*. (2011) 10:1363–9. doi: 10.4161/cc.10.9.15444
- Cruciat CM, Ohkawara B, Acebron SP, Karaulanov E, Reinhard C, Ingelfinger D, et al. Requirement of prorenin receptor and vacuolar H+-ATPasemediated acidification for Wnt signaling. *Science*. (2010) 327:459–63. doi: 10.1126/science.1179802
- Zhou L, Li Y, Hao S, Zhou D, Tan RJ, Nie J, et al. Multiple genes of the reninangiotensin system are novel targets of Wnt/β-catenin signaling. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:107–20. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014010085
- Nusse R. Wnt signaling and stem cell control. Cell Res. (2008) 18:523–7. doi: 10.1038/cr.2008.47
- Polakis P. Wnt signaling and cancer. Genes Dev. (2000) 14:1837–51. doi: 10.1101/gad.14.15.1837
- Kim JH, Park SY, Jun Y, Kim JY, Nam JS. Roles of Wnt target genes in the journey of cancer stem cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1604. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081604
- Wang Y, Krivtsov AV, Sinha AU, North TE, Goessling W, Feng Z, et al. The Wnt/beta-catenin pathway is required for the development of leukemia stem cells in AML. Science. (2010) 327:1650–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1186624
- Lever AF, Hole DJ, Gillis CR, McCallum IR, McInnes GT, MacKinnon PL, et al. Do inhibitors of angiotensin-I-converting enzyme protect against risk of cancer? *Lancet.* (1998) 352:179–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)03228-0
- Wuerzner G, Burnier M, Waeber B. Critical review of cancer risk associated with angiotensin receptor blocker therapy. *Vasc Health Risk Manag.* (2011) 7:741–7. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S13552
- 36. Cardwell CR, Pottegard A, Vaes E, Garmo H, Murray LJ, Brown C, et al. Propranolol and survival from breast cancer: a pooled analysis of European breast cancer cohorts. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2016) 18:119. doi: 10.1186/s13058-016-0782-5
- Sipahi I, Chou J, Mishra P, Debanne SM, Simon DI, Fang JC. Metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials on effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on cancer risk. *Am J Cardiol.* (2011) 108:294–301. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.03.038
- Sun H, Li T, Zhuang R, Cai W, Zheng, Y. Do renin-angiotensin system inhibitors influence the recurrence, metastasis, and survival in cancer patients?: Evidence from a meta-analysis including 55 studies. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e6394. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006394
- George AJ, Thomas WG, Hannan RD. The renin-angiotensin system and cancer: old dog, new tricks. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2010) 10:745–59. doi: 10.1038/nrc2945
- Unger T, Dahlof B. Compound 21, the first orally active, selective agonist of the angiotensin type 2 receptor. (AT2): implications for AT2 receptor research and therapeutic potential. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. (2010) 11:75–7. doi: 10.1177/1470320309347792
- Bader M, Santos RA, Unger T, Steckelings UM. New therapeutic pathways in the RAS. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. (2012) 13:505–8. doi: 10.1177/1470320312466519
- Zhao Y, Cao J, Melamed A, Worley M, Gockley A, Jones D, et al. Losartan treatment enhances chemotherapy efficacy and reduces ascites in ovarian cancer models by normalizing the tumor stroma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:2210–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1818357116
- Uemura H, Hasumi H, Kawahara T, Sugiura S, Miyoshi Y, Nakaigawa N, et al. Pilot study of angiotensin II receptor blocker in advanced hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2005) 10:405–10. doi: 10.1007/s10147-005-0520-y
- 44. Nakai Y, Isayama H, Ijichi H, Sasaki T, Kogure H, Yagioka H, et al. Phase I trial of gemcitabine and candesartan combination therapy in normotensive patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: GECA1. *Cancer Sci.* (2012) 103:1489–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2012.02311.x
- 45. Nakai Y, Isayama H, Ijichi H, Sasaki T, Takahara N, Ito Y, et al. A multicenter phase II trial of gemcitabine and candesartan combination

therapy in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: GECA2. *Invest New Drugs.* (2013) 31:1294–9. doi: 10.1007/s10637-013-9972-5

- 46. Jones PH, Christodoulos K, Dobbs N, Thavasu P, Balkwill F, Blann AD, et al. Combination antiangiogenesis therapy with marimastat, captopril and fragmin in patients with advanced cancer. Br J Cancer. (2004) 91:30–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601897
- Ronquist G, Frithz G, Wang YH, Lindeborg T. Captopril may reduce biochemical. (prostate-specific antigen) failure following radical prostatectomy for clinically localized prostate cancer. *Scand J Urol Nephrol.* (2009) 43:32–6. doi: 10.1080/00365590802468875
- Yoshiji H, Noguchi R, Toyohara M, Ikenaka Y, Kitade M, Kaji K, et al. Combination of vitamin K2 and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor ameliorates cumulative recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol.* (2009) 51:315–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.04.011
- 49. Yoshiji H, Noguchi R, Ikenaka Y, Kaji K, Aihara Y, Yamazaki M, et al. Combination of branched-chain amino acids and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor suppresses the cumulative recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomized control trial. *Oncol Rep.* (2011) 26:1547–53. doi: 10.3892/or.2011.1433
- Rodgers KE, Oliver J, diZerega GS. Phase I/II dose escalation study of angiotensin 1-7 [A(1-7)] administered before and after chemotherapy in patients with newly diagnosed breast cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2006) 57:559–68. doi: 10.1007/s00280-005-0078-4
- Savage PD, Lovato J, Brosnihan KB, Miller AA, Petty WJ. Phase II trial of angiotensin-(1-7) for the treatment of patients with metastatic Sarcoma. Sarcoma. (2016) 2016:4592768. doi: 10.1155/2016/4592768
- Petty WJ, Miller AA, McCoy TP, Gallagher PE, Tallant EA, Torti FM. Phase I and pharmacokinetic study of angiotensin-(1-7), an endogenous antiangiogenic hormone. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:7398–404. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1957
- Wagner MJ, Cranmer LD, Loggers ET, Pollack SM. Propranolol for the treatment of vascular sarcomas. J Exp Pharmacol. (2018) 10:51–8. doi: 10.2147/JEP.S146211
- 54. Pasquier E, Andre N, Street J, Chougule A, Rekhi B, Ghosh J, et al. Effective management of advanced angiosarcoma by the synergistic combination of propranolol and vinblastine-based metronomic chemotherapy: a bench to bedside study. *EBioMedicine*. (2016) 6:87–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.02.026
- 55. Amaya CN, Perkins M, Belmont A, Herrera C, Nasrazadani A, Vargas A, et al. Non-selective beta blockers inhibit angiosarcoma cell viability and increase progression free- and overall-survival in patients diagnosed with metastatic angiosarcoma. *Oncoscience*. (2018) 5:109–19. doi: 10.18632/oncoscience.413
- 56. Knight JM, Kerswill SA, Hari P, Cole SW, Logan BR, D'Souza A, et al. Repurposing existing medications as cancer therapy: design and feasibility of a randomized pilot investigating propranolol administration in patients receiving hematopoietic cell transplantation. *BMC Cancer.* (2018) 18:593. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4509-0
- 57. De Giorgi V, Grazzini M, Benemei S, Marchionni N, Botteri E, Pennacchioli E, et al. Propranolol for off-label treatment of patients with melanoma: results from a Cohort study. *JAMA Oncol.* (2018) 4:e172908. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.2908
- Delforce SJ, Lumbers ER, Corbisier de Meaultsart C, Wang Y, Proietto A, Otton G, et al. Expression of renin-angiotensin system. (RAS) components in endometrial cancer. *Endocr Connect.* (2017) 6:9–19. doi: 10.1530/EC-16-0082
- Goldstein B, Trivedi M, Speth RC. Alterations in gene expression of components of the renin-angiotensin system and its related enzymes in lung cancer. *Lung Cancer Int.* (2017) 2017:6914976. doi: 10.1155/2017/6914976
- 60. Uemura H, Hasumi H, Ishiguro H, Teranishi J, Miyoshi Y, Kubota Y. Reninangiotensin system is an important factor in hormone refractory prostate cancer. *Prostate*. (2006) 66:822–30. doi: 10.1002/pros.20407
- Carl-McGrath S, Ebert MP, Lendeckel U, Rocken C. Expression of the local angiotensin II system in gastric cancer may facilitate lymphatic invasion and nodal spread. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2007) 6:1218–26. doi: 10.4161/cbt.6.8.4412
- 62. Rocken C, Lendeckel U, Dierkes J, Westphal S, Carl-McGrath S, Peters B, et al. The number of lymph node metastases in gastric cancer correlates with

the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:2526–30. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-1922

- Egami K, Murohara T, Shimada T, Sasaki K, Shintani S, Sugaya T, et al. Role of host angiotensin II type 1 receptor in tumor angiogenesis and growth. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:67–75. doi: 10.1172/JCI200316645
- 64. Fujita M, Hayashi I, Yamashina S, Fukamizu A, Itoman M, Majima M. Angiotensin type 1a receptor signaling-dependent induction of vascular endothelial growth factor in stroma is relevant to tumor-associated angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Carcinogenesis*. (2005) 26:271–9. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgh324
- Imai N, Hashimoto T, Kihara M, Yoshida S, Kawana I, Yazawa T, et al. Roles for host and tumor angiotensin II type 1 receptor in tumor growth and tumor-associated angiogenesis. *Lab Invest.* (2007) 87:189–98. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700504
- Clere N, Corre I, Faure S, Guihot AL, Vessieres E, Chalopin M, et al. Deficiency or blockade of angiotensin II type 2 receptor delays tumorigenesis by inhibiting malignant cell proliferation and angiogenesis. *Int J Cancer*. (2010) 127:2279–91. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25234
- 67. Fujimoto Y, Sasaki T, Tsuchida A, Chayama K. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor expression in human pancreatic cancer and growth inhibition by angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist. *FEBS Lett.* (2001) 495:197–200. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02377-8
- 68. Suganuma T, Ino K, Shibata K, Kajiyama H, Nagasaka T, Mizutani S, et al. Functional expression of the angiotensin II type 1 receptor in human ovarian carcinoma cells and its blockade therapy resulting in suppression of tumor invasion, angiogenesis, and peritoneal dissemination. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:2686–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-1946
- Arrieta O, Pineda-Olvera B, Guevara-Salazar P, Hernandez-Pedro N, Morales-Espinosa D, Ceron-Lizarraga TL, et al. Expression of AT1 and AT2 angiotensin receptors in astrocytomas is associated with poor prognosis. *Br J Cancer*. (2008) 99:160–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604431
- Rhodes DR, Ateeq B, Cao Q, Tomlins SA, Mehra R, Laxman B, et al. AGTR1 overexpression defines a subset of breast cancer and confers sensitivity to losartan, an AGTR1 antagonist. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:10284–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0900351106
- Dolley-Hitze T, Jouan F, Martin B, Mottier S, Edeline J, Moranne O, et al. Angiotensin-2 receptors. (AT1-R and AT2-R), new prognostic factors for renal clear-cell carcinoma? *Br J Cancer*. (2010) 103:1698–705. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605866
- Rocken C, Rohl FW, Diebler E, Lendeckel U, Pross M, Carl-McGrath S, et al. The angiotensin II/angiotensin II receptor system correlates with nodal spread in intestinal type gastric cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2007) 16:1206–12. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-05-0934
- Doi C, Egashira N, Kawabata A, Maurya DK, Ohta N, Uppalapati D, et al. Angiotensin II type 2 receptor signaling significantly attenuates growth of murine pancreatic carcinoma grafts in syngeneic mice. *BMC Cancer*. (2010) 10:67. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-67
- Ebert MP, Kruger S, Fogeron ML, Lamer S, Chen J, Pross M, et al. Overexpression of cathepsin B in gastric cancer identified by proteome analysis. *Proteomics*. (2005) 5:1693–704. doi: 10.1002/pmic. 200401030
- Brouillet JP, Hanslick B, Maudelonde T, Pivat MT, Grenier J, Blanc F, et al. Increased plasma cathepsin D concentration in hepatic carcinoma and cirrhosis but not in breast cancer. *Clin Biochem.* (1991) 24:491–6. doi: 10.1016/S0009-9120(05)80008-6
- Podhajcer OL, Bover L, Bravo AI, Ledda MF, Kairiyama C, Calb I, et al. Expression of cathepsin D in primary and metastatic human melanoma and dysplastic nevi. J Invest Dermatol. (1995) 104:340–4. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12665371
- Tumminello FM, Gebbia N, Pizzolanti G, Russo A, Bazan V, Leto G. Cathepsin D content in colorectal cancer. Correlation with cathepsin D activity and other biological parameters: a preliminary report. *Oncology*. (1995) 52:237–42. doi: 10.1159/000227464
- Ross JS, Nazeer T, Figge HL, Fisher HA, Rifkin MD. Quantitative immunohistochemical determination of cathepsin D levels in prostatic carcinoma biopsies. Correlation with tumor grade, stage, PSA level, and DNA ploidy status. *Am J Clin Pathol.* (1995) 104:36–41. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/104.1.36

- Garcia M, Derocq D, Pujol P, Rochefort H. Overexpression of transfected cathepsin D in transformed cells increases their malignant phenotype and metastatic potency. *Oncogene*. (1990) 5:1809–14.
- Rochefort H, Capony F, Garcia M. Cathepsin D: a protease involved in breast cancer metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* (1990) 9:321–31. doi: 10.1007/BF00049522
- Spyratos F, Maudelonde T, Brouillet JP, Brunet M, Defrenne A, Andrieu C, et al. Cathepsin D: an independent prognostic factor for metastasis of breast cancer. *Lancet.* (1989) 2:1115–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(89)91487-6
- Thorpe SM, Rochefort H, Garcia M, Freiss G, Christensen IJ, Khalaf S, et al. Association between high concentrations of Mr 52,000 cathepsin D and poor prognosis in primary human breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* (1989) 49:6008–14.
- Tandon AK, Clark GM, Chamness GC, Chirgwin JM, McGuire WL. Cathepsin D and prognosis in breast cancer. N Engl J Med. (1990) 322:297– 302. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199002013220504
- Foekens JA, Look MP, Bolt-de Vries J, Meijer-van Gelder ME, van Putten WL, Klijn JG. Cathepsin-D in primary breast cancer: prognostic evaluation involving 2810 patients. Br J Cancer. (1999) 79:300–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6690048
- Deshayes F, Nahmias C. Angiotensin receptors: a new role in cancer? Trends Endocrinol Metab. (2005) 16:293–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2005.07.009
- Wegman-Ostrosky T, Soto-Reyes E, Vidal-Millan S, Sanchez-Corona J. The renin-angiotensin system meets the hallmarks of cancer. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. (2015) 16:227–33. doi: 10.1177/1470320313496858
- Ishikane S, Takahashi-Yanaga F. The role of angiotensin II in cancer metastasis: potential of renin-angiotensin system blockade as a treatment for cancer metastasis. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2018) 151:96–103. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.03.008
- Pinter M, Jain RK. Targeting the renin-angiotensin system to improve cancer treatment: implications for immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaan5616. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan5616
- Al-Wadei HA, Al-Wadei MH, Schuller HM. Prevention of pancreatic cancer by the beta-blocker propranolol. *Anticancer Drugs*. (2009) 20:477–82. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e32832bd1e3
- Pasquier E, Ciccolini J, Carre M, Giacometti S, Fanciullino R, Pouchy C, et al. Propranolol potentiates the anti-angiogenic effects and anti-tumor efficacy of chemotherapy agents: implication in breast cancer treatment. *Oncotarget*. (2011) 2:797–809. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.343
- Lamkin DM, Sung HY, Yang GS, David JM, Ma JC, Cole SW, et al. alpha2-Adrenergic blockade mimics the enhancing effect of chronic stress on breast cancer progression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2015) 51:262–70. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.10.004
- Pasquier E, Street J, Pouchy C, Carre M, Gifford AJ, Murray J, et al. βblockers increase response to chemotherapy via direct antitumour and antiangiogenic mechanisms in neuroblastoma. *Br J Cancer*. (2013) 108:2485–94. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.205
- 93. Stiles JM, Amaya C, Rains S, Diaz D, Pham R, Battiste J, et al. Targeting of beta adrenergic receptors results in therapeutic efficacy against models of hemangioendothelioma and angiosarcoma. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e60021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060021
- 94. Wrobel LJ, Le Gal FA. Inhibition of human melanoma growth by a non-cardioselective β-blocker. J Invest Dermatol. (2015) 135:525–31. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.373
- 95. Jean Wrobel L, Bod L, Lengagne R, Kato M, Prevost-Blondel A, Le Gal FA. Propranolol induces a favourable shift of anti-tumor immunity in a murine spontaneous model of melanoma. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:77825–37. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12833
- Zhou C, Chen X, Zeng W, Peng C, Huang G, Li X, et al. Propranolol induced G0/G1/S phase arrest and apoptosis in melanoma cells via AKT/MAPK pathway. Oncotarget. (2016) 7:68314–27. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11599
- 97. Maccari S, Buoncervello M, Rampin A, Spada M, Macchia D, Giordani L, et al. Biphasic effects of propranolol on tumour growth in B16F10 melanoma-bearing mice. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017) 174:139–49. doi: 10.1111/bph.13662
- Zhang D, Ma Q, Shen S, Hu H. Inhibition of pancreatic cancer cell proliferation by propranolol occurs through apoptosis induction: the study of beta-adrenoceptor antagonist's anticancer effect in pancreatic cancer cell. *Pancreas*. (2009) 38:94–100. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e318184f50c

- 99. Liao X, Che X, Zhao W, Zhang D, Bi T, Wang G. The β-adrenoceptor antagonist, propranolol, induces human gastric cancer cell apoptosis and cell cycle arrest via inhibiting nuclear factor kappaB signaling. *Oncol Rep.* (2010) 24:1669–76. doi: 10.3892/or_00001032
- 100. Liao X, Che X, Zhao W, Zhang D, Long H, Chaudhary P, et al. Effects of propranolol in combination with radiation on apoptosis and survival of gastric cancer cells *in vitro*. *Radiat Oncol.* (2010) 5:98. doi: 10.1186/1748-717X-5-98
- 101. Coelho M, Moz M, Correia G, Teixeira A, Medeiros R, Ribeiro L. Antiproliferative effects of β -blockers on human colorectal cancer cells. Oncol Rep. (2015) 33:2513–20. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.3874
- 102. Montoya A, Amaya CN, Belmont A, Diab N, Trevino R, Villanueva G, et al. Use of non-selective β -blockers is associated with decreased tumor proliferative indices in early stage breast cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:6446–60. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14119
- 103. Wang F, Liu H, Wang F, Xu R, Wang P, Tang F, et al. Propranolol suppresses the proliferation and induces the apoptosis of liver cancer cells. *Mol Med Rep.* (2018) 17:5213–21. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8476
- 104. Brohee L, Peulen O, Nusgens B, Castronovo V, Thiry M, Colige AC, et al. Propranolol sensitizes prostate cancer cells to glucose metabolism inhibition and prevents cancer progression. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:7050. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25340-9
- Masur K, Niggemann B, Zanker KS, Entschladen F. Norepinephrine-induced migration of SW 480 colon carcinoma cells is inhibited by beta-blockers. *Cancer Res.* (2001) 61:2866–9.
- 106. Wilson JM, Lorimer E, Tyburski MD, Williams CL. β-Adrenergic receptors suppress Rap1B prenylation and promote the metastatic phenotype in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2015) 16:1364–74. doi: 10.1080/15384047.2015.1070988
- 107. Sood AK, Bhatty R, Kamat AA, Landen CN, Han L, Thaker PH, et al. Stress hormone-mediated invasion of ovarian cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:369–75. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1698
- Guo K, Ma Q, Wang L, Hu H, Li J, Zhang D, et al. Norepinephrine-induced invasion by pancreatic cancer cells is inhibited by propranolol. *Oncol Rep.* (2009) 22:825–30. doi: 10.3892/or_00000505
- 109. Palm D, Lang K, Niggemann B, Drell TL, Masur K, et al. The norepinephrinedriven metastasis development of PC-3 human prostate cancer cells in BALB/c nude mice is inhibited by beta-blockers. *Int J Cancer.* (2006) 118:2744–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21723
- 110. Hii SI, Nicol DL, Gotley DC, Thompson LC, Green MK, Jonsson JR. Captopril inhibits tumour growth in a xenograft model of human renal cell carcinoma. *Br J Cancer.* (1998) 77:880–3. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1998.145
- 111. Attoub S, Gaben AM, Al-Salam S, Al Sultan MA, John A, Nicholls MG, et al. Captopril as a potential inhibitor of lung tumor growth and metastasis. *Ann* N Y Acad Sci. (2008) 1138:65–72. doi: 10.1196/annals.1414.011
- 112. Neo JH, Malcontenti-Wilson C, Muralidharan V, Christophi C. Effect of ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists in a mouse model of colorectal cancer liver metastases. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2007) 22:577–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.04797.x
- 113. Neo JH, Ager EI, Angus PW, Zhu J, Herath CB, Christophi C. Changes in the renin angiotensin system during the development of colorectal cancer liver metastases. *BMC Cancer*. (2010) 10:134. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-134
- 114. Chen YH, Huang CH, Lu HI, Chen CH, Huang WT, Hsieh MJ, et al. Prognostic impact of renin-angiotensin system blockade in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst. (2015) 16:1185–92. doi: 10.1177/1470320314535275
- 115. Wysocki PJ, Kwiatkowska EP, Kazimierczak U, Suchorska W, Kowalczyk DW, Mackiewicz A. Captopril, an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, promotes growth of immunogenic tumors in mice. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:4095–102. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2489
- 116. Fendrich V, Chen NM, Neef M, Waldmann J, Buchholz M, Feldmann G, et al. The angiotensin-I-converting enzyme inhibitor enalapril and aspirin delay progression of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer formation in a genetically engineered mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Gut.* (2010) 59:630–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.188961
- 117. Fendrich V, Lopez CL, Manoharan J, Maschuw K, Wichmann S, Baier A, et al. Enalapril and ASS inhibit tumor growth in a transgenic

mouse model of islet cell tumors. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. (2014) 21:813-24. doi: 10.1530/ERC-14-0175

- 118. Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Kawata M, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Noguchi R, et al. The angiotensin-I-converting enzyme inhibitor perindopril suppresses tumor growth and angiogenesis: possible role of the vascular endothelial growth factor. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2001) 7:1073–8.
- 119. Yoshiji H, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Noguchi R, Yanase K, Tsujinoue H, et al. Suppression of the renin-angiotensin system attenuates vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated tumor development and angiogenesis in murine hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Int J Oncol.* (2002) 20:1227–31. doi: 10.3892/ijo.20.6.1227
- 120. Noguchi R, Yoshiji H, Kuriyama S, Yoshii J, Ikenaka Y, Yanase K, et al. Combination of interferon-beta and the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, perindopril, attenuates murine hepatocellular carcinoma development and angiogenesis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2003) 9:6038–45.
- 121. Kinoshita J, Fushida S, Harada S, Yagi Y, Fujita H, Kinami S, et al. Local angiotensin II-generation in human gastric cancer: correlation with tumor progression through the activation of ERK1/2, NF-kappaB and survivin. *Int J Oncol.* (2009) 34:1573–82. doi: 10.3892/ijo_0000287
- 122. Rasheduzzaman M, Park SY. Antihypertensive drug-candesartan attenuates TRAIL resistance in human lung cancer via AMPKmediated inhibition of autophagy flux. *Exp Cell Res.* (2018) 368:126–35. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.04.022
- 123. Miyajima A, Kosaka T, Asano T, Asano T, Seta K, Kawai T, et al. Angiotensin II type I antagonist prevents pulmonary metastasis of murine renal cancer by inhibiting tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:4176–9.
- 124. Chen X, Meng Q, Zhao Y, Liu M, Li D, Yang Y, et al. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists inhibit cell proliferation and angiogenesis in breast cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2013) 328:318–24. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.10.006
- 125. Renziehausen A, Wang H, Rao B, Weir L, Nigro CL, Lattanzio L, et al. The renin angiotensin system. (RAS) mediates bifunctional growth regulation in melanoma and is a novel target for therapeutic intervention. *Oncogene*. (2019) 38:2320–36. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0563-y
- 126. Noguchi R, Yoshiji H, Ikenaka Y, Namisaki T, Kitade M, Kaji K, et al. Synergistic inhibitory effect of gemcitabine and angiotensin type-1 receptor blocker, losartan, on murine pancreatic tumor growth via anti-angiogenic activities. *Oncol Rep.* (2009) 22:355–60. doi: 10.3892/or_00000445
- 127. Funao K, Matsuyama M, Kawahito Y, Sano H, Chargui J, Touraine JL, et al. Telmisartan is a potent target for prevention and treatment in human prostate cancer. *Oncol Rep.* (2008) 20:295–300. doi: 10.3892/or_0000006
- 128. Isobe A, Takeda T, Sakata M, Miyake A, Yamamoto T, Minekawa R, et al. Dual repressive effect of angiotensin II-type 1 receptor blocker telmisartan on angiotensin II-induced and estradiol-induced uterine leiomyoma cell proliferation. *Hum Reprod.* (2008) 23:440–6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem247
- 129. Zhang S, Wang Y. Telmisartan inhibits NSCLC A549 cell proliferation and migration by regulating the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. Oncol Lett. (2018) 15:5859–64. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018. 8002
- Pantziarka P, Bouche G, Sukhatme V, Meheus L, Rooman I, Sukhatme VP. Repurposing Drugs in Oncology. (ReDO)-Propranolol as an anti-cancer agent. *Ecancermedicalscience*. (2016) 10:680. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2016.680
- 131. Pantziarka P, Bryan BA, Crispino S, Dickerson EB. Propranolol and breast cancer-a work in progress. *Ecancermedicalscience*. (2018) 12:ed82. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2018.ed82
- Leaute-Labreze C, Dumas de la Roque E, Hubiche T, Boralevi F, Thambo JB, Taieb A. Propranolol for severe hemangiomas of infancy. *N Engl J Med.* (2008) 358:2649–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0708819
- 133. Tan ST, Itinteang T, Leadbitter P. Low-dose propranolol for infantile haemangioma. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. (2011) 64:292–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bjps.2010.06.010
- 134. Leaute-Labreze C, Hoeger P, Mazereeuw-Hautier J, Guibaud L, Baselga E, Posiunas G, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of oral propranolol in infantile hemangioma. N Engl J Med. (2015) 372:735–46. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1404710
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 02.013

- Bradshaw A, Wickremesekera A, Brasch HD, Chibnall AM, Davis PF, Tan ST, et al. Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma multiforme. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:48. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016.00048
- 137. Bradshaw AR, Wickremesekera AC, Brasch HD, Chibnall AM, Davis PF, Tan ST, et al. Glioblastoma multiforme cancer stem cells express components of the renin-angiotensin system. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:51. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016.00051
- 138. Koh SP, Wickremesekera AC, Brasch HD, Marsh R, Tan ST, Itinteang T. Expression of cathepsins B, D, and G in isocitrate dehydrogenase-wildtype glioblastoma. *Front Surg.* (2017) 4:28. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2017.00028
- 139. Humphries HN, Wickremesekera SK, Marsh RW, Brasch HD, Mehrotra S, Tan ST, et al. Characterization of cancer stem cells in colon adenocarcinoma metastasis to the liver. *Front Surg.* (2017) 4:76. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2017.00076
- 140. Mehrotra S, Wickremesekera SK, Brasch HD, Van Schaijik B, Marsh RW, Tan ST, et al. Expression and localization of cathepsins B, D and G in cancer stem cells in liver metastasis from colon adenocarcinoma. *Front Surg.* (2018) 5:40. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2018. 00040
- 141. Nallaiah S, Lee VMY, Brasch HD, de Jongh J, Schaijik BV, Marsh R, et al. Cancer stem cells within moderately differentiated head and neck cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma express components of the renin-angiotensin system. *J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.bjps.2018. 11.013. [Epub ahead of print].
- 142. Featherston T, Yu HH, Dunne JC, Chibnall AM, Brasch HD, Davis PF, et al. Cancer stem cells in moderately differentiated buccal mucosal squamous cell carcinoma express components of the reninangiotensin system. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:52. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016. 00052
- 143. Yu HH, Featherston T, Tan ST, Chibnall AM, Brasch HD, Davis PF, et al. Characterization of cancer stem cells in moderately differentiated buccal mucosal squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Surg.* (2016) 3:46. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2016.00046
- 144. Baillie R, Itinteang T, Yu HH, Brasch HD, Davis PF, Tan ST. Cancer stem cells in moderately differentiated oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma. *J Clin Pathol.* (2016) 69:742–4. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2015-203599
- 145. Itinteang T, Dunne JC, Chibnall AM, Brasch HD, Davis PF, Tan ST. Cancer stem cells in moderately differentiated oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma express components of the renin-angiotensin system. J Clin Pathol. (2016) 69:942–5. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2016-203736
- 146. Featherston T, Marsh RW, van Schaijik B, Brasch HD, Tan ST, Itinteang T. Expression and localization of cathepsins B, D, and G in two cancer stem cell subpopulations in moderately differentiated oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Med.* (2017) 4:100. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017. 00100
- 147. Ram R, Brasch HD, Dunne JC, Davis PF, Tan ST, Itinteang T. The identification of three cancer stem cell subpopulations within moderately differentiated lip squamous cell carcinoma. *Front Surg.* (2017) 4:12. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2017.00012
- 148. Ram RS, Brasch HD, Dunne JC, Davis PF, Tan ST, Itinteang T. Cancer stem cells in moderately differentiated lip squamous cell carcinoma express components of the renin-angiotensin system. *Front Surg.* (2017) 4:30. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2017.00030
- 149. Shivapathasundram G, Wickremesekera AC, Brasch HD, Marsh R, Tan ST, Itinteang T. Expression of embryonic stem cell markers on the microvessels of WHO grade I meningioma. *Front Surg.* (2018) 5:65. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2018.00065
- 150. Rahman RMA, van Schaijik B, Brasch HD, Marsh RW, Wickremesekera AC, Johnson R, et al. Expression of cathepsins B, D, and G in WHO grade I meningioma. *Front Surg.* (2019) 6:6. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2019.00006
- 151. Itinteang T, Brasch HD, Tan ST, Day DJ. Expression of components of the renin-angiotensin system in proliferating infantile haemangioma may account for the propranolol-induced accelerated involution. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg. (2011) 64:759–65. doi: 10.1016/j.bjps.2010.08.039
- 152. Itinteang T, Withers AH, Leadbitter P, Day DJ, Tan ST. Pharmacologic therapies for infantile hemangioma: is there a rational basis? *Plast Reconstr Surg.* (2011) 128:499–507. doi: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e31821b63a0

- Papali'i-Curtin JC, Brasch HD, van Schaijik B, de Jongh J, Marsh RW, Tan ST, et al. Expression of components of the renin-angiotensin system in pyogenic granuloma. *Front Surg.* (2019) 6:13. doi: 10.3389/fsurg.2019.00013
- 154. Tatokoro M, Fujii Y, Kawakami S, Saito K, Koga F, Matsuoka Y, et al. Phase-II trial of combination treatment of interferon-alpha, cimetidine, cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor and renin-angiotensin-system inhibitor. (I-CCA therapy) for advanced renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* (2011) 102:137–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2010.01756.x
- 155. Shaashua L, Shabat-Simon M, Haldar R, Matzner P, Zmora O, Shabtai M, et al. Perioperative COX-2 and β-adrenergic blockade improves metastatic biomarkers in breast cancer patients in a phase-II randomized trial. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:4651–61. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-17-0152
- 156. Hirsch HA, Iliopoulos D, Tsichlis PN, Struhl K. Metformin selectively targets cancer stem cells, and acts together with chemotherapy to block tumor growth and prolong remission. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7507–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2994
- 157. Takahashi-Yanaga F, Kahn M. Targeting Wnt signaling: can we safely eradicate cancer stem cells? *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:3153–62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2943

 Takebe N, Harris PJ, Warren RQ, Ivy SP. Targeting cancer stem cells by inhibiting Wnt, Notch, and Hedgehog pathways. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2011) 8:97–106. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.196

Conflict of Interest Statement: PD and ST are inventors of the of the patent Cancer Stem Cells (US15/503025) and the PCT patent Cancer Therapeutic (PCT/NZ2018/050006), and the provisional patent application Novel Pharmaceutical Compositions for Cancer Therapy (US/62/711709).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Roth, Wickremesekera, Wickremesekera, Davis and Tan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells and Their Microenvironment

Hao-Ran Sun¹, Shun Wang¹, Shi-Can Yan¹, Yu Zhang¹, Peter J. Nelson², Hu-Liang Jia¹, Lun-Xiu Qin^{1*} and Qiong-Zhu Dong^{1*}

¹ Department of General Surgery, Cancer Metastasis Institute, Institutes of Biomedical Sciences, Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV, Ludwig-Maximilian-University (LMU), Munich, Germany

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) have been demonstrated in a variety of tumors and are thought to act as a clonogenic core for the genesis of new tumor growth. This small subpopulation of cancer cells has been proposed to help drive tumorigenesis, metastasis, recurrence and conventional therapy resistance. CSCs show self-renewal and flexible clonogenic properties and help define specific tumor microenvironments (TME). The interaction between CSCs and TME is thought to function as a dynamic support system that fosters the generation and maintenance of CSCs. Investigation of the interaction between CSCs and the TME is shedding light on the biologic mechanisms underlying the process of tumor malignancy, metastasis, and therapy resistance. We summarize recent advances in CSC biology and their environment, and discuss the challenges and future strategies for targeting this biology as a new therapeutic approach.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandre Prieur, ECS-Screening SA, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Marco Falasca, Curtin University, Australia Nor Eddine Sounni, University of Liège, Belgium

*Correspondence:

Lun-Xiu Qin qinlx@fudan.edu.cn Qiong-Zhu Dong qzhdong@fudan.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 26 June 2019 Accepted: 07 October 2019 Published: 24 October 2019

Citation:

Sun H-R, Wang S, Yan S-C, Zhang Y, Nelson PJ, Jia H-L, Qin L-X and Dong Q-Z (2019) Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells and Their Microenvironment. Front. Oncol. 9:1104. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01104 Keywords: cancer stem cells, tumor microenvironments, therapeutic resistance, mechanism, strategy

INTRODUCTION

Cancer remains one of the leading causes of death worldwide (1). Tumor malignancy is linked to tumor heterogeneity, which has been proposed to be driven by a minor subpopulation of cancer cells referred to as cancer stem cells (CSCs) (2, 3). This subpopulation of tumor cells have the capacity to sustain tumorigenesis and drive tumor heterogeneity, processes that underlie tumor progression, metastasis, and resistance to anti-cancer therapies (4). To date, CSCs identification has been largely based on surface markers as well as their ability to self-renew and propagate. However, CSC surface markers alone are not a reliable means of identifying these populations which has led to some confusion and controversy in the field. It is unlikely that these methods can afford a universal specific marker for the identification of these cells. However, some functional markers including the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity (5), the activation of some key signaling pathways (6), live-cell RNA, and single-cell DNA detection (7) have been found to improve CSCs identification in some instances.

The self-renewal potential and extensive clonogenic properties of CSCs are dependent on the tumor microenvironment (TME) (8, 9). The interaction between CSCs and their tumor niche is strongly linked to the characterization of CSCs (10). Through this interaction, CSCs are able to preserve the tumor heterogeneity that underlies the important malignant behaviors of invasion, metastasis, and therapy resistance (11). The influence of TME on CSCs physiology has been shown to act through intrinsic and extrinsic actions. The intrinsic mechanisms include DNA methylation or demethylation, and gene mutation, while the extrinsic

162

actions involve the production of diverse growth factors and cytokines by the TME leading to the activation of specific signaling pathways (12). In addition, many studies have shown that CSCs may be responsible for tumor resistance to conventional cancer therapy (4, 13). The resistance that is enhanced through the cross-talk between CSCs and the TME include activation of the DNA repair system (8, 14), increased resistance to hypoxic environments (15), and the phenomenon of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) (16). These features may help explain the therapeutic failures that are often encountered in different tumor settings.

Despite the enormous challenges seen, a series of promising new therapeutic approaches based on this biology are currently under development. Notably, targeted therapeutic approaches have emerged as important tools in treatment strategies. To this end, both the CSCs and the TME represent important therapeutic targets. Emerging research has shown that CSCtargeted approaches have proven to be effective in prolonging survival time (17). In this review, recent advances in CSC biology are summarized, and the potential challenges and future strategies for targeted therapy and combination therapy to eliminate both cancer and CSC populations are discussed.

IDENTIFICATION OF CSC

CSCs are a small subpopulation of cells with characteristics that include the capacity to cycle slowly, self-renew, and initiate a novel tumor (18-20). Leukemic stem cells (LSCs) were first described in acute myeloid leukemia (AML), where it was demonstrated that CD34⁺CD38⁻ AML include a subpopulation of LSCs with a capacity to differentiate and self-renew (20). The early study first demonstrated the existence of a unique tumor subpopulation with the ability to drive tumor progression and recurrence. CSC-like subpopulations have been subsequently isolated from a variety of solid tumors (21). Because some CSCs have been identified via specific surface markers, a door has been opened for potential targeted therapy approaches directed against these cells (22). However, because of the wide diversity underlying this general biology across tumor types, general markers for the global identification of these cells are not available.

The functional relevance of surface markers for CSC identification is still disputed (23, 24). It is suggested that CSCs may arise from normal stem cells, progenitor cells, or even more differentiated cells. In tumor patients, the expression of CSC surface markers in normal organs implies potential metastasis and poor prognosis (25). CD24, CD26, CD44, CD133, CD166, and EpCAM (epithelial cell adhesion molecule, CD326) are surface markers commonly used in CSC characterization (26). CD133 is a special marker that has been widely used for identifying CSCs in different tumor settings (27), especially in solid tumors, such as prostate (28), pancreas (29), brain (30), liver (31), colorectal (32), ovarian (33), osteosarcoma (34), and lung cancer (35). In colorectal cancer, a subpopulation of cells expressing CD133, which comprise 1% of the tumor cells, was shown to efficiently induce xenografts *in vivo* (36). However,

CD133 expression appears to represent only one subset of CSCs and the surface marker can also be found to be ubiquitously expressed on many differentiated cells (37). EpCAM is expessed by most adenocarcinomas and is thought to participatein tumor progression (38). In liver and pancreatic cancer (29, 39), a high expression of EpCAM is associated with the dedifferentiation of tumor cells that have regained stem cell-like features. CD24 is highly expressed in embryonic stem cells (40) and has been widely detected in different tumor settings. The combined surface markers C44/CD24 have been used to identify CSCs in breast tumors (41, 42). CD26 (dipeptidvl peptidase-4, DPP4) is expressed on various cell types, which includes cells with stem traits and is thought to influence progenitor cell migration (43). CD26 is widely detected in leukemic and colorectal cancer (44). Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A1 (ALDH1A1) has also been identified as a potential CSC marker. ALDH expression is associated with the oxidation of aldehydes to carboxylic acid. ALDH activity has proven useful for the prediction of poor tumor outcome in prostate, breast and lung cancer (45, 46). The ABC transporters are able to pump chemotherapy agents out of the cells that express these proteins. These transporters are widely expressed by CSCs and are thus thought to represent an important component for the failure of cancer chemotherapy. The expression of ABC transporters has been used to identify or isolate CSCs from solid tumors (47). Importantly, CSCs have also been functionally identified in what would represent CSC negative populations based on surface markers (48). Thus, it is generally important to make use of multiple markers to more reliably identify CSCs. To this end, the activation of CSC-related signaling pathways such as the canonical Wnt pathway, has been shown to provide an addition level of information to better identify CSCs from colon and ovarian cancer (49).

Some surface markers used to characterize CSCs are also expressed by normal stem cells. CD29 (integrin β 1) is widely expressed on CSCs and also on some normal cells, and is regarded as a marker for breast cancer CSCs. CD29 is important for breast cancer cell adhesion to extracellular matrix, and is thought to promote self-renewal and chemoresistance (50). CD9 (MRP-1) is widely expressed in normal tissues. However, it can also act as an effective marker to diagnose B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) and is linked to drug resistance. CD44s is frequently used as a CSC marker (51). CD44 is composed of different subtypes (CD44V1-V10) (52, 53) and is expressed by both CSCs and normal cells. CD44 expression is associated with cancer progression and metastasis (51). For example, the CD44V9 is a predictive marker in solid tumors, including head and neck squamous carcinoma and gastric cancer. CD44V3 and V6 have been shown to be linked to invasion, metastasis, and resistance to apoptosis in colorectal cancer (54). The CD44V3-7 varients are highly expressed in non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) (55, 56). In addition, CD44V6 is associated with lymph node metastasis (6). In examples of breast cancer, high expression of CD44V3, V5, and V6 have been detected and shown to be related to the invasive properties of the tumor (57, 58). ABCB5 (ATP-binding cassette transporter) is a member of the ATP-binding cassette transporter family. ABCB5 expressed by normal cells and contributes to cell proliferation

and differentiation (59). However, the expression of ABCB5 has also been demonstrated in several malignant stem cells, including ocular surface squamous neoplasm (OSSN) (60) and melanoma (61, 62). The ABCB5 subpopulation was shown to have an unlimited self-renewal potential, and is thought to foster tumor progression, metastasis, and therapy resistance (63, 64).

CSCs with unlimited self-renewal potential express potential specific markers that can help dinstinguish them from other cells. By making use of markers in CSCs, it may be possible selectively eradicate CSCs in various tumors (22, 65). While there is a growing list of markers that have been used for identification and isolation of CSCs, very few reliable specific surface markers have been found that clearly identify CSCs because CSCs, for the most part, are heterogeneous. The identification of more universal CSC markers across diverse cancer types would clearly redine the field. Finally, what is emerging is that the application of multiple markers used in combination represents the most reliable means of characterizing these cells absence the functional criteria used to define CSCs.

CSC MICROENVIRONMENT

Accumulating evidence suggests that cancer cells acquire a "stemness" feature in part through environment input. Because of this, even differentiated cancer cells can revert to a more dedifferentiated state which has been linked to the ability to form tumors (66). CSCs co-injected into mice with stromal cells extracted from a tumor environment form more aggressive tumors that do CSCs alone suggesting an important role for the stromal matrix surrounding CSCs, also known as the "CSC niche" (67, 68). Cancer cells in a such a niche are capable of maintaining their stemness state (12, 69). The niche can contain various cell types and growth factors providing a tumor promoting microenvironment. This can involve endothelial cells, immune cells, cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), various growth factors, and cytokines. In addition to these components, environment changes, such as hypoxia, and pH have been proposed to contribute to the CSC niche (70-72). The perivascular niche, which is best studied in brain tumors, is recognized as a hallmark of glioblastoma (GBM). The perivascular niche enhances GBM stemness and ability for self-renewal and invasion (73).

Low levels of oxygen, referred to as hypoxia, is an important feature of TME. Hypoxia appears to help drive the maintenance of stemness and thus malignancy of CSCs, which promotes tumor survival and metastasis (74). The hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) are transcription factors that are increased in response to t hypoxia, and high expression of HIFs (HIF- 1α , HIF- 2α) is correlated with tumor malignancy (75). The octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (Oct4) is activated by HIF- 2α and is linked to control of CSCs self-renewal and an increase in the malignant potential of embryonic stem cellderived tumors (76). Another transcription factor-Sox2 is also linked to stemness through modulation of Oct4 levels in CSCs (77). A reduction in miR-145 was shown to significantly reduce

expression Oct4 and Sox2, and thus lead to a decrease in the CSCs population and chemosensitivity in colon cancer (78). In pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), YAP/HIF- 1α signaling is activated by HGF stimulation through its receptor cMET (79). Dysregulation of YAP is related to tumor proliferation, epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and therapy resistance. In the context of a low oxygen environment, CSCs can obtain energy by both OXPHOS and glycolysis activity. During hypoxia, glycolytic enzymes and glucose transporters become induced by HIF-1. Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1(PKD1) plays a role in converting pyruvate to acetyl-coenzyme A (80). As an essential glycolytic enzyme, PDK1 is associated with tumor proliferation, metastasis and poor prognosis (81). In breast cancer, PDK1 stimulates glycolytic activity to stimulate cancer cells to take on stemness traits (82). The use of PDK1 inhibitors can help block glycolysis activity and also limit maintenance of breast cancer stem cells (82). In many instances, CSCs have been shown to be primarily glycolytic, or to preferentially shift from OXPHOS to glycolysis in a tumor typedependent manner. In lung cancer (83), glioblastoma (84), and PDCA (85), CSCs were also shown to utilize OXPHOS as the preferred energy production process, however, the mechanism is still unclear. To target this metabolic biology it is thought that a combined therapy targeting both aerobic glycolysis and OXPHOS dependent cells may be the most effective therapy to block CSCs.

CAFs, as a part of TME, are believed to drive tumor progression and dedifferentiation by their secretion of key growth factors and their interplay with other stromal cells. HGF secreted by CAFs was found to activate the canonical Wnt pathway and promote cancer cells to dedifferentiate to the CSCs state (26). Cytokines secreted by CAFs, such as CCL2, IGF-1, and TGF-B affect the expansion and selfrenewal of CSCs in breast, lung and gastric cancer (86, 87). In a hypoxic environment, CD44 is highly expressed by CAFs that in turns helps mediate cancer cell migration and stemness sustainability (88). The high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) released from CAFs was demonstrated to stimulate CSCs through the TLR4 receptor in breast cancer (89). CAFs induced expression of Notch3 is responsible for the activation of lysine demethylase 1 (LSD1) in CSCs, driving self-renewal in HCC (90, 91). In addition, CAFs facilitate tumor cells migration and metastasis indirectly through EMT. In prostate cancer, CAFs secret CXCL12 and promote EMT by inducing the expression of CXCR4 (one of the EMT phenotypes), which enhances metastasis (92). Recent reports also show that CSCs can differentiate into CAF-like cells through TGF- β secretion that promotes self-renewal and proliferation (93). CSCs also secret the Hedgehog ligand SHH that is known to increase the proliferation of CAF in the mammary tumor, and the CAFs secret factors to improve the ability of CSCs malignancy (94).

The biological cross-talk between CSCs and TME is quite complicated, and changes between different tumors and environments. By better understanding these processes, we can develop novel strategies to better target CSCs. **Figures 1**, **2** gives insight into illustration of hypoxia and CAF interactions on CSC.





THERAPEUTIC RESISTANCE DRIVEN BY CSC AND THEIR MICROENVIRONMENT

Tumors recurrence often means poor prognosis and increased resistance to therapy (95, 96). Increasing evidence suggests that the interplay between CSCs and their TME is important in tumor development. The tumor is a complex tissue composed of different subpopulations of tumor cells and tumor-associated stromal cells. Through interaction with the microenvironment, CSCs can avoid target exposure and this may be a key to therapy resistance (97–99).

The general therapeutic resistance of CSCs allows them to escape from elimination and re-establish tumor. When the treatment cycle comes to an end, CSCs are revived from their quiescence and promote tumorgenesis (100, 101). The mechanisms by which CSCs achieve therapeutic resistance involves heightened DNA damage repair capacity, high expression of multiple drug resistance (MDR) transporters and high expression of anti-apoptosis proteins (102–105).

The DNA damaging repair (DDR) system is important in tumor progression. When under chemotherapy or radiotherapy, damaged DNA triggers the DDR, which enables CSCs to survive and thereby remain resistent to treatment. Several pathways can be activated in cancer cells includiong the double-strand breaks (DSBs) repair (homologous and non-homologous end joining), base excision repair (BER), transcription coupled nucleotide excision repair (NER), and mismatch repair (MMR) systems (106). Previous study have showen that the high expression of apurinic/apirimidinic endonuclease/redox effector

factor (Ape1/Ref-1), corresponding to an activation of the BER pathway, has been implicated in the development of CSCs (107). Overexpressed Ape1/Ref-1 was also shown to maintain a low level of reactive oxygen radicals (ROS) that prevented DNA damage and cell death in CSCs (108-110). The Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) complex has the capacity to repair DNA and modulate cells apoptosis, and gene stability and is an important part in the DSBs pathway (111, 112). In nasopharyngeal and gastric cancer, MRN-ATM meditated DNA repair induced resistance to common chemotherapy agents, such as cisplatin and 5-FU (113, 114). The MRN complex also acts as one of the DSB pathway key elements to produce radio-resistance in various cancer types (115). Transcription factors such as forkhead box protein m1 (FOXM1), P53, glioma-associated oncogene (GLI1), and c-MYC, were also shown to be important for the DNA repair response (116, 117). Treating colon cancer with doxorubicin (a chemotherapy agent) was shown to lead to the activation of SMAD, which binds to P53 to produce chemoresistance (118).

The expression of multi-drug resistance (MDR) transporters in CSCs results in drug efflux and decreased intracellular drug concentration (119, 120). The ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters encompass 49 members in humans and are organized into seven subfamilies (ABCA-G) (121, 122). Three well-studied members of the family are ABCB1, ABCG2, and ABCC1 (123, 124). Overexpression of ABCG2 is associated with resistance to a large number of chemotherapy agents, such as mitoxantrone, camptothecins and flavopiridol (125). The human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2), which was derived from the breast cancer cell line Mcf-7, was shown to induce resistance to mitoxantrone (126, 127). However, this resistance could be reverted by the MiR-487a target for the expression of BRCP (126). In ovarian cancer, c-MET/PI3K/AKT pathway activation was shown to induce the expression of BRCP/ABCG2, which is important in doxorubicin resistance (125, 128). ABCB1 is also called P-glycoprotein (Pgp) or multidrug resistance gene 1 (MDR1). In AML, P-gp acts as an adverse prognostic factor for drug resistance (129). It was also found that the absence of miR-298 is related to an over expression of P-gp. The upregulation of miR-298 could reduce the expression P-gp, leading to increased concentration and cytotoxicity of doxorubicin in doxorubicin-resistant breast cells (130). In addition, oncogene kinases such as MEK1/2, ERK1/2, c-Raf, EGF, and FGF, can increase the expression of P-gp and effect drug resistance and therefore may also represent potential targets (131). The ACBC1 transporter is encoded by the MRP1gene. This subfamily plays a role in affecting MDR in lung, bladder, and breast cancer (124). In neuroblastoma, the high expression of MRP1 is associated with a poor outcome and sensitivity to chemotherapy should be regained by targeting MRP1 (132).

Hypoxia influences cancer progression, and therapy resistance, and it leads to poor outcomes. The ROS level is affected by oxygen density. In tumors, hypoxia leads to a low ROS level that in turn can be protective for CSCs and lead to therapy failure (133). HIFs are considered as negative factors for effective tumor therapy. It has been suggested that HIFs influence the pathways that contribute to the quiescence of CSCs, such as cell cycle control via cyclin dependent kinase, metabolic control via pyruvate dependent kinase, anti-apoptosis via BCL-XL, and self-renewal via OCT-4 (134–136). In some reports, HIFs are believed to be related to MDR, such as ABCG2, and to affect drug efficacy. VEGF has also been proven to be induced by hypoxia, leading to chemo/radiotherapy resistance (137, 138). In colon cancer, dual specificity phosphatase-2 (DUSP-2) was suppressed by hypoxic culture, which led to the upregulation of COX-2 expression. DUSP-2 has a negative function in cancer malignancy and COX-2 is closely related to cancer stemness, tumor growth and drug resistance (139).

Anti-apoptosis protein expression in CSCs is another component of therapy resistance. BCL2 and BCL-XL are highly expressed in breast and AML CSCs (136, 140). P53 is a tumor suppressor that is frequently mutated in most human cancers. Due to programs such as inactivation of caspase-9 and protease activating factor1 (Apaf-1), and the activation of gain-offunction, the mutant P53 shows acquisition of dedifferentiation and stemness that leads to drug resistance (141, 142). An altered apoptosis pathway has also been demonstrated to be involved in the formation of drug resistance. The high expression of Bcl-2 due to Notch and Hh signaling pathways translates into docetaxel resistance in prostate CSCs (143). Additionally, Hh signaling pathway activation in AML, especially in CD34⁺ leukemic cell lymphoma, induces the function of anti-apoptosis that lead to chemotherapy (144).

EMT activities in the CSC environment include wound healing, tissue fibrosis, and carcinoma progression. Non-small lung cancer (NSCLC) treated with Erlotinib targeting EGFR mutation shows more drug resistance due to mesenchymal-like expression. With the reversion of EMT, an elevated epigenetic like the expression of E-cadherin, is associated with sensitivity to the EGFR kinase inhibitor (145). It is generally accepted that the Notch pathway is associated with gemcitabine resistance in PDAC and is regulated by EMT (146). The expression of mesenchymal-like regulators such as Zeb2/SIP1 can protect cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis in bladder cancer, leading to poor prognosis (147). In non-small lung cancer (NSCLC), EMT is thought to act in the process of quiescence. Overexpressed CSC surface markers, such as ALDH1 and CD133 in NSCLC stem cells are proposed to develop resistance to conventional therapy agents 5-FU (148). CSC-mediated therapeutic resistance relies on different mechanisms. Figure 3 gives insight into illustration of therapeutic resistance driven by CSC and microenvironment.

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES TARGETING CSC AND THEIR MICROENVIREMENTS

CSC Targeting Strategies

The selective targeting CSCs is a promising therapeutic strategy to eliminate the development of human cancer and reduce the risk of recurrence (149). Therapeutic strategies discussed include disrupting the central regulating signaling pathways important for the cell type, targeting specific markers, inhibition of the ABC transporters, manipulating miRNA expression, or inducing the differentiation and apoptosis of CSCs.

Signaling pathways that underlie CSC biology and have been identified as potential targets. Key pathways identified

include Sonic hedgehog (Shh)/Patched (Ptch)/Smoothened (Smo), Notch/Delta-like ligand (DLL), CXC chemokine receptor 1-2/CXCL8/FAK, and Wnt pathways. Downstream transcription factors such as β -catenin, STAT3, and Nanog have also been identified as potential clinical targets (150). However, the fact that CSCs and normal stem cells share the expression of many genes and signaling pathways, as well as the redundancy of the regulatory pathways, may effectively limit the efficacy and clinical impact of the therapeutic approaches.

Drugs targeting CSC markers may play an adjunctive role together with surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy (151). CD44, the transmembrane protein that is the receptor for matrix components such as hyaluronic acid selectin, collagen, and osteopontin, has been proven to help treat acute myeloid leukemia (AML) by inhibiting tumor proliferation, and increasing apoptosis (152, 153). CD133, the glycoprotein also known as prominin-1, is another well-known marker on the CSCs surface and it has been reported to be a useful target in cancers with a large CD133 subpopulation (154, 155). In addition, other drugs approved by FDA are also used for targeting CSC markers such as rituximab (anti-CD20) (156), cetuximab (anti-EGFR) (157–159).

The aberrant expression of ABC transporters, which are drug efflux pumps, is a major mechanism of chemoresistance in CSCs cells (160). Three generations of inhibitor drugs have been developed and the fourth generation is underway (49, 160), which should be more selective and less toxic. New technology has been applied to improve therapy efficacy, such as the application of miRNAs targeting specific RNAs or the use of nanomedicines for bypassing efflux pumps. However, currently no inhibitors have been approved for clinical practice. Accumulating studies have reported that different tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) including erlotinib, lapatinib, imatinib, and nilotinib can reverse drug resistance mediated by ABC transporters (161). The ability to inhibit the multiple regulatory targets of ABC transporters synergisticly, combined with other therapy strategies to overcome chemoresistance in CSCs may represent a promising approach.

CSCs have non-coding RNA profiles that are different from those seen in other cancer cells. Non-coding RNAs act as regulators in maintaining and modifying CSCs properties and functions (162). As such, they represent not only potential drugs but also therapeutic targets for the treatment of CSCs. Accumulating evidence suggests that non-coding RNAs, including microRNA (miRNA) and long non-coding RNA (LncRNA), regulate the stemness of CSCs by acting as suppressors or promoters of pathways that modulate the CSC carcinogenesis, differentiation, and EMT. In breast CSC and CD133 positive pancreatic cancer cells, miR-30 was found to be decreased and inhibited anoikis resistance (163). Three novel LncRNAs including Lnc TCF7, Lnc-b-Catm, and Lnc BRM were reported to sustain the self-renewal of CSCs by regulating the classic signaling pathways related to development and progression of liver CSC (164). Non-coding RNAs are regarded as very useful targets for potential therapeutic strategies due to their limited and selective expression in tumor tissues. MiRNAbased therapeutics are also emerging as tumor treatment options and are currently entering clinical trials (165). For example, a phase 1 clinical trial that targomiRs, minicells loaded with miR-16-based mimic miRNA and targeted to EGFR, is being evaluated in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma and non-small cell lung cancer (166).

The impairment of apoptosis contributes to cancer development and progression, and the reactivation of apoptosis programs might be useful in the treatment of cancer. It has been reported that targeting TRAIL could cause caspase-8 reactivation, ultimately initiating mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and triggering the apoptosis (167). In PACA, JNK inhibition attenuated resistance of TRAIL-induced apoptosis and reduced the self-renewal capacity of CSCs (168). Finally, inhibition of NF-KB by the molecule MG-132, has also been reported to induce cell death (169). Another approach that has been evaluated focused on various means to induce CSCs differentiation. Promising agents are under research currently include the use of retinoic acid and its analogs (ATRA) for the treatment of promyelocytic leukemia (170-172). These may also show utilityto induce differentiation of glioma and breast CSCs. Other molecules such as histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACI), tyrosine kinase have also been proposed in many CSCs studies (151). Most recent antibody targets in CSC were summarized in Table 1.

Targeting the CSC Environment

The tumor environment is comprised of various components including CAFs, immune cells, multipotent stromal cells (MSCs), endothelial and perivascular cells, and their secreted factors including growth factors and cytokines. In addition, this environment is made up of extracellular matrix (ECM) components, and extracellular vesicles, within a prevailing hypoxic region (12). The tumor stroma is thought ot help foster the generation and maintenance of CSCs, protect the tumor

from the immune system (173), and contribute to the induction of EMT, leading to enhanced tumor progression, invasion, and recolonization as secondary tumors. Furthermore, CSCs can acquire drug resistance by interacting with niche components in TME. Thus, targeting the TME may represent an effective indirect therapeutic strategy for the treatment of CSCs and for the prevention of drug resistance.

Stromal Cells in the CSC Niche

It is recognized that tumor stromal cells can not only provide physical shelter for CSC by limiting drug access, but also

 TABLE 1 | The antibody target in CSC through different mechanisms in different tumors.

| Antigen | Targeting mechanism | Inhibitor | Cancer tested | References |
|---------------------|---------------------|---|---|------------|
| CD44 | marker | H90 | AML | (142, 143) |
| CD133 | marker | Oxyteracycline FIBPi | Liver Colon | (144, 145) |
| CD20 | Marker | Rituximab | Lymphoma | (146) |
| EGFR | Marker | Ectuximab | Head and neck Squamous cell Breast Esophagus | (147–149) |
| ABC transporters | | Erlotinib Lapatinib Imatibib Nilotinib | Under test | (151) |
| targomiRs | EGFR | Clincal phase 1 | Malignant pleural mesothelioma Lung | (156) |
| TRAIL | Apoptosis | JNKi | pancreas | (158) |
| NF-κB | Apoptosis | MG132 | leukemic | (159) |
| | | | | |



resistance. CSC could escape from chemotherapy and re-establish tumor. (B) CSC possess several mechanisms to achieve therapeutic resistance involves Hypoxia environment, high expression of anti-apoptosis proteins, epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), DNA damaging repair system (DDR), multiple drug resistance transporters (MDR).

promote CSC growth, migration, and metastasis by producing important growth factors, cytokines and chemokines (174). Since the cross-talk between CSCs and stromal cells can stimulate tumor aggressiveness, directly targeting the stromal cells may serve as an alternative therapeutic strategy to treat CSCs (175).

Vascular endothelial cells (ECs), a type of stromal cell in CSC niche, which are required for angiogenesis, can also secrete growth factors and cytokines that enhance the proliferation of cancer cells, and promote the maintenance of CSCs properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (176, 177). Interfering with tumor EC growth and survival could in theory inhibit not only angiogenesis but also the self-replication of CSCs (178). VEGF is a strong proangiogenic factor secreted by cancer cells, that is a well-recognized therapeutic target. Various angiogenic inhibitors have been developed that can also inhibit the self-renewal of CSCs leading to reduced tumor growth. In GBM, the VEGF tyrosine kinase inhibitor-bevacizumab has proven successful in expanding survival time by targeting the perivascular niche (179). Also in GBM, the VEGF-VEGF2-NRP1 axis is seen as an attractive target in order to decrease CD133⁺GBM CSCs (180). Bevacizumab combined with antihepatoma-derived growth factor (HDGF) antibody has been shown to suppress CSC populations in NSCLC (181). However, in breast cancer, inhibition of VEGFR may increase CSCs population by inducing hypoxia (182). To address this it may be that use of a VEGFR inhibitor in combination witt HIF inhibition in combination therapy may provide a more effective treatment strategy (183).

CAFs represent the major component of tumor stroma andalso play an important role in cancer therapeutic resistance and radiotherapy resistance. Thus, the direct targeting of CAFs may enhance clinical outcomes. Surface markers of CAFs such as FAP, S1004A, and TEM8 have been directly targeted through administration of sibrotuzumab, 5C3, and ADC, respectively, in various tumor types (184-186). In breast cancer, CAF activation was blocked by inhibition of Hedgehog (Hh) signaling, which also increased the sensitivity of resident CSCs to chemotherapy agents (187). CAFs secret TGF- β , and the inhibition of TGF-β signaling by using LY364947 administered via nanoparticle therapy showed a potent therapeutic effect by disrupting CSC biology (188). PTK7 as a special marker of HNSCC stem cells and is demonstrated to have a close relationship with tumor persistence, metastasis, and recurrence. The use of a PTK7 inhibitor was found to increase the sensitivity of HNSCC to erlotinib (189). In addition to a direct activity on CSCs, the inhibition of important signaling pathways may represent a prospective strategy in tumor treatment. Notch signaling is over-activated in HCC, and is thought to help maintain stemness in liver CSCs by regulating LSD1 deacetylation in CAFs (190). CD10+GPR77+ CAFs were demonstrated to promote cancer stemness and chemoresistance. An antibody against GPR77 was demonstrated to reverse chemoresistance by targeting the CD10+GPR77+ CAF subset in solid tumors, such as in breast, lung cancer (191).

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), feature M2-like characteristics and are important components of TME. TAMs have been demonstrated to promote CSC immunosuppressive

traits leading to immune escape (192). It has been suggested that TAMs may represent potential targets for immunotherapy. In inflammatory breast cancer (IBC), tumor cells interact with immune suppressing M2-TAM leading to the production of high levels of IL-8 and CCL18 chemokines that in turn activate STAT3, which induces a CSCs-like phenotype in IBC cells and drives EMT during IBC progression (193). Targeting CXCL8/GRP/STAT3 may represent a therapeutic choice in the treatment of IBC (194). In lung cancer, the Src kinase is associated with metastasis and stemness (195). For example, it has been demonstrated that overexpressing Src in M2-TAMs induces cisplatin resistance in lung cancer. Inhibition of Src using the small molecular agent dasatinib, was found to re-sensitize lung cancer cells to cisplatin (196). CAF derived CXCL12 can help attract monocytes, which display M2 TAM characteristics. Blocking the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis significantly reduced the effect of M2 TME leading to reduced cell proliferation, migration and resistance to vineristine in OSCC chemotherapy (197). A member of the immunoglobulin family, CD47 is found to be overexpressed on the surface of many cancer types. It binds to the signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRP α) to prevent cancer cells from undergoing phagocytosis in the tumor environment (198, 199). Targeting CD47, or interfering with the CD47-SIRPa axis leads to enhanced tumor phagocytosis by macrophages and represents a promising therapeutic strategy to treat CSCs (200-202). It has been shown in HCC that the miRNA 125 delivered via TAM exosomes may significantly suppress the CSC phenotype and limit drug resistance (203). The same function of miRNA125 or TAM exosomes have also been seen in cervical cancer (204), nasopharyngeal cancer (205), and AML (206).

Immunotherapy

Immunotherapy is an emerging field and the exact mechanism by which these therapies may abrogate the ability of CSCs to reinitiate tumors is still under investigation. Over the past decade, therapeutic approaches have utilized the cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) (207) or programmed death 1 (PD-1)/programmed death receptor ligand-1 (PD-L1) (208) blocking antibodies, which have yielded notable response rates and have shown a remarkable clinical response in patients with advanced cancer. Despite the recent successes, the utilization of single antibodies is often limited and leads to poor treatment outcome. To achieve improved immune responses, the use of combination strategies for checkpoint inhibitors with other therapeutics may offer a stronger response against cancer as well as higher recovery rates (209, 210). PD-1 blockade was shown to enhance a specific antitumor efficacy of streptavidingranulocyte-macrophage-CSF surface-modified bladder cancer stem cells vaccine (211). A recent study showed that targeting CSCs using the CSC-dendritic cell vaccine with CTLA-4 and PD-L1 blockades simultaneously enhanced the eradication of melanoma stem cells in the mouse model (212). In addition, CAR-T cells have produced remarkable antitumor activities in different types of tumors (213, 214). In prostate cancer and NSCLC tumor models, CAR T-cells targeted against EpCAM and EGFR antigens could successfully eradicate CSCs and cancer cells

| Antigen | Derived | Inhibitor | Cancer tested | References |
|---------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| VEGF | EC | Bevacizumab | GBM Lung | (169, 170) (171) |
| FAP | CAF | Sibrotuzumab | Colon | (174) |
| S1004A | CAF/marcophage | 5C3 | Breast | (175) |
| TEM8 | CAF | ADC | Pancreas Colon Breast | (176) |
| TGF-β | CAF | LY364947 | Under test | (178) |
| PTK7 | CAF | | HNSCC | (179) |
| GPR77 | CAF | Anti-GPR77 | Lung Breast | (181) |
| IL8/GRP/ STAT3 | TAM | anti IL8/GRP/ STAT3 axle | IBC | (183, 184) |
| Src | TAM | Anti Src/dasatinib | Lung | (186) |
| CXCL12/ CXCR4 | TAM | anti CXCL12/ CXCR4 | OSCC | (187) |
| CD47/ CD47-SIRPα | TAM | Hu5f9-G4 | NHL AML ALL | (190–192) |
| Immune- therapy | | PD-1 PD-L1 | Balder Melanoma | (201) (202) |

(215, 216). Most recent target factors and chemokines in CSC were summarized in Table 2.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Based on the central impact of CSCs on tumor progression with accompanying poor patient outcome, CSCs-targeted therapy approaches have emerged as an important new strategy for future tumor treatments. However, the identification of CSCs remains a challenge. Markers expressed on CSCs may also be displayed by normal stem cells, which may limit the accuracy of CSCs identification and compromise the targeted treatment. In addition, CSCs appear to represent by heterogeneous populations within tumor settings. Therefore, CSC surface markers alone are not broadly reliable for their identification. The best results, absence functional criteria, results from the use of multiple markers which provide a better means of identifying CSC in specific tumor types and may provide information regarding potential drug responsiveness and tumor recurrence.

CSCs have been demonstrated to influence tumor metastasis, immune escape, and drug resistance. Targeting CSCs via their unique signaling pathways, by metabolism reprogramming, hitting the ABC transporters, and even the use of noncoding RNA, represent promising strategies to control tumor progression through CSC-based targeting. However, due to the inherent heterogeneity of CSCs the targeting a single molecule or pathway may not be an effective strategy. Combination therapy may represent the most efficient means for the treatment of CSCs.

In cross-talk with CSCs, the tissue environment plays an important role in the development of tumor metastasis and recurrence. In the TME, CSCs are thought to reside in a special "CSC niche," which helps maintain their self-renewal and stemness. Immunotherapy represents an important emerging field in tumor therapy. Recent impressive results have been seen in immune targeting of CSCs through the use of PD-1/PDL-1 inhibitors. However, some studies have reported that CSCs are less immunogenic than non-CSCs, and thereby limiting antitumor response to CSCs. CAR-T cells also hold promise in overcoming cancer resistance in different types of tumors. Thus, targeting both CSCs and TME may represent the best option in the anti-cancer approach. Although the interconnected networks between CSCs and TME are complex, and most mechanisms are still obscure, various CSC targeting agents have been developed and successfully tested in several tumor types. In contrast with the single focus of CSCs-targeted therapy, because TME components include different types of stroma cells, cytokines, and growth factors, many of them have proved to be targeted in the eradication of CSCs. However, although there is growing literature in this promising area, the therapeutics of targeting CSCs and their environment are still in its infancy. Research on CSCs and their related environments will provide new targets for the development of anti-tumor strategies. In addition, clarifying the interconnectiveness of CSCs and TME will be important for the design of effective therapeutic approaches. The focus of future trials may include combination therapies that target multiple mechanisms in the tumor. However, this field is still undeveloped, and considerable research will be required to produce viable products. Many important challenges remain, including how to achieve drug selectivity and efficacy, reduce toxicity to normal cells, reduce adverse side effects, and explore new approaches to deliver and keep an effective drug concentration in place. In conclusion, the combined regimen of CSC-targeted therapy together with conventional treatment methods shows great potential and deserves further research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Q-ZD and L-XQ designed and supervised the entire project. H-RS, SW, and S-CY wrote the manuscript. Q-ZD and PN made significant revisions to the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the following: the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2017YFC1308604); the National Key Basic Research Program of China (2014CB542101 and 2013CB910500); National Natural Science Foundation of China (81672820, 81772563 and 81872356).

REFERENCES

- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. (2015) 65:87–108. doi: 10.3322/caac.21262
- Clarke MF. Self-renewal and solid-tumor stem cells. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2005) 11:14–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2004.11.011
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2001) 414:105–11. doi: 10.1038/35102167
- Valent P, Bonnet D, De Maria R, Lapidot T, Copland M, Melo JV, et al. Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:767–75. doi: 10.1038/nrc3368
- Toledo-Guzman ME, Hernandez MI, Gomez-Gallegos AA, Ortiz-Sanchez E. ALDH as a stem cell marker in solid tumors. *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther*. (2019) 14:375–88. doi: 10.2174/1574888X13666180810120012
- Leung EL, Fiscus RR, Tung JW, Tin VP, Cheng LC, Sihoe AD, et al. Nonsmall cell lung cancer cells expressing CD44 are enriched for stem cell-like properties. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e14062. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014062
- Boesch M, Hoflehner E, Wolf D, Gastl G, Sopper S. Harnessing the DNA dye-triggered side population phenotype to detect and purify cancer stem cells from biological samples. J Vis Exp. (2017) e55634. doi: 10.3791/55634
- Beck B, Blanpain C. Unravelling cancer stem cell potential. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:727–38. doi: 10.1038/nrc3597
- Dean M, Fojo T, Bates S. Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nat Rev Cancer. (2005) 5:275–84. doi: 10.1038/nrc1590
- Peitzsch C, Tyutyunnykova A, Pantel K, Dubrovska A. Cancer stem cells: the root of tumor recurrence and metastases. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2017) 44:10–24. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.02.011
- Ben-Porath I, Thomson MW, Carey VJ, Ge R, Bell GW, Regev A, et al. An embryonic stem cell-like gene expression signature in poorly differentiated aggressive human tumors. *Nat Genet.* (2008) 40:499– 507. doi: 10.1038/ng.127
- Plaks V, Kong N, Werb Z. The cancer stem cell niche: how essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells? *Cell Stem Cell.* (2015) 16:225–38. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015
- Gottesman MM, Pastan I. Biochemistry of multidrug resistance mediated by the multidrug transporter. *Annu Rev Biochem.* (1993) 62:385– 427. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.62.070193.002125
- Marusyk A, Polyak K. Tumor heterogeneity: causes and consequences. Biochim Biophys Acta. (2010) 1805:105–17. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2009.11.002
- Kleffel S, Schatton T. Tumor dormancy and cancer stem cells: two sides of the same coin? Adv Exp Med Biol. (2013) 734:145–79. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-1445-2_8
- 16. Cai Z, Cao Y, Luo Y, Hu H, Ling H. Signalling mechanism(s) of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells in tumour therapeutic resistance. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2018) 483:156–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2018.04.033
- Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2015) 12:445–64. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.61
- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2008) 8:755– 68. doi: 10.1038/nrc2499
- Tirino V, Desiderio V, Paino F, De Rosa A, Papaccio F, La Noce M, et al. Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: an overview and new approaches for their isolation and characterization. *FASEB J.* (2013) 27:13– 24. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-218222
- Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nat Med.* (1997) 3:730–7. doi: 10.1038/nm0797-730
- 21. Xia P. Surface markers of cancer stem cells in solid tumors. *Curr Stem Cell Res Ther*. (2014) 9:102–11. doi: 10.2174/1574888X09666131217003709
- 22. Bach P, Abel T, Hoffmann C, Gal Z, Braun G, Voelker I, et al. Specific elimination of CD133+ tumor cells with targeted oncolytic measles virus. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:865–74. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2221
- Dianat-Moghadam H, Heidarifard M, Jahanban-Esfahlan R, Panahi Y, Hamishehkar H, Pouremamali F, et al. Cancer stem cells-emanated therapy resistance: Implications for liposomal drug delivery systems. J Control Release. (2018) 288:62–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.08.043

- Heiler S, Wang Z, Zoller M. Pancreatic cancer stem cell markers and exosomes - the incentive push. World J Gastroenterol. (2016) 22:5971– 6007. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i26.5971
- Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med. (2017) 23:1124– 34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409
- Comoglio PM, Trusolino L, Boccaccio C. Known and novel roles of the MET oncogene in cancer: a coherent approach to targeted therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2018) 18:341–58. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0002-y
- Grosse-Gehling P, Fargeas CA, Dittfeld C, Garbe Y, Alison MR, Corbeil D, et al. CD133 as a biomarker for putative cancer stem cells in solid tumours: limitations, problems and challenges. J Pathol. (2013) 229:355–78. doi: 10.1002/path.4086
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ. Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:10946–51. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2018
- Li C, Lee CJ, Simeone DM. Identification of human pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2009) 568:161– 73. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-280-9_10
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature*. (2004) 432:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature03128
- Choi YJ, Park SJ, Park YS, Park HS, Yang KM, Heo K. EpCAM peptide-primed dendritic cell vaccination confers significant antitumor immunity in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0190638. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190638
- O'Brien CA, Pollett A, Gallinger S, Dick JE. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature*. (2007) 445:106–10. doi: 10.1038/nature05372
- Curley MD, Therrien VA, Cummings CL, Sergent PA, Koulouris CR, Friel AM, et al. CD133 expression defines a tumor initiating cell population in primary human ovarian cancer. *Stem Cells*. (2009) 27:2875– 83. doi: 10.1002/stem.236
- Boiko AD, Razorenova OV, van de Rijn M, Swetter SM, Johnson DL, Ly DP, et al. Human melanoma-initiating cells express neural crest nerve growth factor receptor CD271. *Nature*. (2010) 466:133–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09161
- Zhang WC, Shyh-Chang N, Yang H, Rai A, Umashankar S, Ma S, et al. Glycine decarboxylase activity drives non-small cell lung cancer tumor-initiating cells and tumorigenesis. *Cell.* (2012) 148:259– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.050
- Wicha MS, Liu S, Dontu G. Cancer stem cells: an old ideaa paradigm shift. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:1883–90. Discussion 1895–6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3153
- Shmelkov SV, Butler JM, Hooper AT, Hormigo A, Kushner J, Milde T, et al. CD133 expression is not restricted to stem cells, and both CD133+ and CD133- metastatic colon cancer cells initiate tumors. *J Clin Invest.* (2008) 118:2111–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI34401
- Patriarca C, Macchi RM, Marschner AK, Mellstedt H. Epithelial cell adhesion molecule expression (CD326) in cancer: a short review. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2012) 38:68–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2011. 04.002
- Yamashita T, Ji J, Budhu A, Forgues M, Yang W, Wang HY, et al. EpCAM-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells are tumor-initiating cells with stem/progenitor cell features. *Gastroenterology*. (2009) 136:1012– 24. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.12.004
- 40. Sundberg M, Jansson L, Ketolainen J, Pihlajamaki H, Suuronen R, Skottman H, et al. CD marker expression profiles of human embryonic stem cells and their neural derivatives, determined using flow-cytometric analysis, reveal a novel CD marker for exclusion of pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cell Res.* (2009) 2:113–24. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2008.08.001
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:3983–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- Zhang C, Li C, He F, Cai Y, Yang H. Identification of CD44+CD24+ gastric cancer stem cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. (2011) 137:1679– 86. doi: 10.1007/s00432-011-1038-5
- Ou X, O'Leary HA, Broxmeyer HE. Implications of DPP4 modification of proteins that regulate stem/progenitor and more mature cell types. *Blood*. (2013) 122:161–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-487470

- 44. Pang R, Law WL, Chu AC, Poon JT, Lam CS, Chow AK, et al. A subpopulation of CD26+ cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity in human colorectal cancer. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2010) 6:603–15. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.04.001
- Bai X, Ni J, Beretov J, Graham P, Li Y. Cancer stem cell in breast cancer therapeutic resistance. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2018) 69:152– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.07.004
- Yao T, Wu Z, Liu Y, Rao Q, Lin Z. Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) positivity correlates with poor prognosis in cervical cancer. J Int Med Res. (2014) 42:1038–42. doi: 10.1177/0300060514527060
- Christgen M, Ballmaier M, Bruchhardt H, von Wasielewski R, Kreipe H, Lehmann U. Identification of a distinct side population of cancer cells in the Cal-51 human breast carcinoma cell line. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2007) 306:201–12. doi: 10.1007/s11010-007-9570-y
- Zhou BB, Zhang H, Damelin M, Geles KG, Grindley JC, Dirks PB. Tumourinitiating cells: challenges and opportunities for anticancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2009) 8:806–23. doi: 10.1038/nrd2137
- Su YJ, Chang YW, Lin WH, Liang CL, Lee JL. An aberrant nuclear localization of E-cadherin is a potent inhibitor of Wnt/beta-cateninelicited promotion of the cancer stem cell phenotype. *Oncogenesis*. (2015) 4:e157. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2015.17
- Barnawi R, Al-Khaldi S, Colak D, Tulbah A, Al-Tweigeri T, Fallatah M, et al. beta1 Integrin is essential for fascin-mediated breast cancer stem cell function and disease progression. *Int J Cancer*. (2019) 145:830– 41. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32183
- Wang SJ, Bourguignon LY. Role of hyaluronan-mediated CD44 signaling in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma progression and chemoresistance. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 178:956–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.11.077
- Screaton GR, Bell MV, Jackson DG, Cornelis FB, Gerth U, Bell JI. Genomic structure of DNA encoding the lymphocyte homing receptor CD44 reveals at least 12 alternatively spliced exons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1992) 89:12160–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.24.12160
- 53. Screaton GR, Bell MV, Bell JI, Jackson DG. The identification of a new alternative exon with highly restricted tissue expression in transcripts encoding the mouse Pgp-1 (CD44) homing receptor. Comparison of all 10 variable exons between mouse, human, and rat. J Biol Chem. (1993) 268:12235–8.
- Kuhn S, Koch M, Nubel T, Ladwein M, Antolovic D, Klingbeil P, et al. A complex of EpCAM, claudin-7, CD44 variant isoforms, and tetraspanins promotes colorectal cancer progression. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2007) 5:553– 67. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-06-0384
- Zhao S, He JL, Qiu ZX, Chen NY, Luo Z, Chen BJ, et al. Prognostic value of CD44 variant exon 6 expression in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* (2014) 15:6761– 6. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2014.15.16.6761
- Jiang H, Zhao W, Shao W. Prognostic value of CD44 and CD44v6 expression in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: meta-analysis. *Tumour Biol.* (2014) 35:7383–9. doi: 10.1007/s13277-014-2150-3
- Kaufmann M, Heider KH, Sinn HP, von Minckwitz G, Ponta H, Herrlich P. CD44 variant exon epitopes in primary breast cancer and length of survival. *Lancet.* (1995) 345:615–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90521-9
- Rys J, Kruczak A, Lackowska B, Jaszcz-Gruchala A, Brandys A, Stelmach A, et al. The role of CD44v3 expression in female breast carcinomas. *Pol J Pathol.* (2003) 54:243–7.
- Frank NY, Pendse SS, Lapchak PH, Margaryan A, Shlain D, Doeing C, et al. Regulation of progenitor cell fusion by ABCB5 P-glycoprotein, a novel human ATP-binding cassette transporter. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:47156– 65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M308700200
- Jongkhajornpong P, Nakamura T, Sotozono C, Nagata M, Inatomi T, Kinoshita S. Elevated expression of ABCB5 in ocular surface squamous neoplasia. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:20541. doi: 10.1038/srep20541
- Chartrain M, Riond J, Stennevin A, Vandenberghe I, Gomes B, Lamant L, et al. Melanoma chemotherapy leads to the selection of ABCB5-expressing cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e36762. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036762
- Schatton T, Murphy GF, Frank NY, Yamaura K, Waaga-Gasser AM, Gasser M, et al. Identification of cells initiating human melanomas. *Nature*. (2008) 451:345–9. doi: 10.1038/nature06489

- Linley AJ, Mathieu MG, Miles AK, Rees RC, McArdle SE, Regad T. The helicase HAGE expressed by malignant melanoma-initiating cells is required for tumor cell proliferation *in vivo. J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:13633– 43. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.308973
- Schatton T, Schutte U, Frank NY, Zhan Q, Hoerning A, Robles SC, et al. Modulation of T-cell activation by malignant melanoma initiating cells. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:697–708. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1592
- Schmohl JU, Vallera DA. CD133, selectively targeting the root of cancer. *Toxins*. (2016) 8:E165. doi: 10.3390/toxins8060165
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Pistollato F, Abbadi S, Rampazzo E, Persano L, Della Puppa A, Frasson C, et al. Intratumoral hypoxic gradient drives stem cells distribution and MGMT expression in glioblastoma. *Stem Cells.* (2010) 28:851– 62. doi: 10.1002/stem.415
- Heddleston JM, Li Z, McLendon RE, Hjelmeland AB, Rich JN. The hypoxic microenvironment maintains glioblastoma stem cells and promotes reprogramming towards a cancer stem cell phenotype. *Cell Cycle*. (2009) 8:3274–84. doi: 10.4161/cc.8.20.9701
- Ye J, Wu D, Wu P, Chen Z, Huang J. The cancer stem cell niche: cross talk between cancer stem cells and their microenvironment. *Tumour Biol.* (2014) 35:3945–51. doi: 10.1007/s13277-013-1561-x
- Campos-Sanchez E, Cobaleda C, Tumoral reprogramming: plasticity takes a walk on the wild side. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2015) 1849:436– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.07.003
- Hjelmeland AB, Wu Q, Heddleston JM, Choudhary GS, MacSwords J, Lathia JD, et al. Acidic stress promotes a glioma stem cell phenotype. *Cell Death Differ*. (2011) 18:829–40. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2010.150
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2012) 125:5591–6. doi: 10.1242/jcs.116392
- Charles N, Ozawa T, Squatrito M, Bleau AM, Brennan CW, Hambardzumyan D, et al. Perivascular nitric oxide activates notch signaling and promotes stem-like character in PDGF-induced glioma cells. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2010) 6:141–52. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.01.001
- D'Ippolito G, Diabira S, Howard GA, Roos BA, Schiller PC. Low oxygen tension inhibits osteogenic differentiation and enhances stemness of human MIAMI cells. *Bone*. (2006) 39:513–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2006.02.061
- Tang BZ, Zhao FY, Qu Y, Mu DZ. [Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha: a promising target for tumor therapy]. Ai Zheng. (2009) 28:775– 82. doi: 10.5732/cjc.008.10770
- Gidekel S, Pizov G, Bergman Y, Pikarsky E. Oct-3/4 is a dosedependent oncogenic fate determinant. *Cancer Cell.* (2003) 4:361– 70. doi: 10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00270-8
- Masui S, Nakatake Y, Toyooka Y, Shimosato D, Yagi R, Takahashi K, et al. Pluripotency governed by Sox2 via regulation of Oct3/4 expression in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2007) 9:625–35. doi: 10.1038/ncb1589
- Yan ZY, Sun XC. [LincRNA-ROR functions as a ceRNA to regulate Oct4, Sox2, and Nanog expression by sponging miR-145 and its effect on biologic characteristics of colonic cancer stem cells]. *Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi*. (2018) 47:284–90. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0529-5807.2018.04.011
- Yan B, Jiang Z, Cheng L, Chen K, Zhou C, Sun L, et al. Paracrine HGF/c-MET enhances the stem cell-like potential and glycolysis of pancreatic cancer cells via activation of YAP/HIF-1alpha. *Exp Cell Res.* (2018) 371:63– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.07.041
- Roche TE, Baker JC, Yan X, Hiromasa Y, Gong X, Peng T, et al. Distinct regulatory properties of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase and phosphatase isoforms. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol.* (2001) 70:33– 75. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6603(01)70013-X
- Dupuy F, Tabaries S, Andrzejewski S, Dong Z, Blagih J, Annis MG, et al. PDK1-dependent metabolic reprogramming dictates metastatic potential in breast cancer. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:577–89. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.08.007
- Peng F, Wang JH, Fan WJ, Meng YT, Li MM, Li TT, et al. Glycolysis gatekeeper PDK1 reprograms breast cancer stem cells under hypoxia. *Oncogene*. (2018) 37:1119. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.407
- Ye XQ, Li Q, Wang GH, Sun FF, Huang GJ, Bian XW, et al. Mitochondrial and energy metabolism-related properties as novel indicators of lung cancer stem cells. *Int J Cancer*. (2011) 129:820–31. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25944

- Janiszewska M, Suva ML, Riggi N, Houtkooper RH, Auwerx J, Clement-Schatlo V, et al. Imp2 controls oxidative phosphorylation and is crucial for preserving glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *Genes Dev.* (2012) 26:1926– 44. doi: 10.1101/gad.188292.112
- Sancho P, Burgos-Ramos E, Tavera A, Bou Kheir T, Jagust P, Schoenhals M, et al. MYC/PGC-1alpha balance determines the metabolic phenotype and plasticity of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:590– 605. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.08.015
- Chen WJ, Ho CC, Chang YL, Chen HY, Lin CA, Ling TY, et al. Cancerassociated fibroblasts regulate the plasticity of lung cancer stemness via paracrine signalling. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3472. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4472
- 87. Tsuyada A, Chow A, Wu J, Somlo G, Chu P, Loera S, et al. CCL2 mediates cross-talk between cancer cells and stromal fibroblasts that regulates breast cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2768– 79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3567
- Kinugasa Y, Matsui T, Takakura N. CD44 expressed on cancer-associated fibroblasts is a functional molecule supporting the stemness and drug resistance of malignant cancer cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Stem Cells.* (2014) 32:145–56. doi: 10.1002/stem.1556
- Zhao XL, Lin Y, Jiang J, Tang Z, Yang S, Lu L, et al. High-mobility group box 1 released by autophagic cancer-associated fibroblasts maintains the stemness of luminal breast cancer cells. *J Pathol.* (2017) 243:376– 89. doi: 10.1002/path.4958
- Bouras T, Pal B, Vaillant F, Harburg G, Asselin-Labat ML, Oakes SR, et al. Notch signaling regulates mammary stem cell function and luminal cell-fate commitment. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2008) 3:429–41. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.08.001
- Liu C, Liu L, Chen X, Cheng J, Zhang H, Zhang C, et al. LSD1 stimulates cancer-associated fibroblasts to drive Notch3-dependent selfrenewal of liver cancer stem-like cells. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:938– 49. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1236
- Jung Y, Kim JK, Shiozawa Y, Wang J, Mishra A, Joseph J, et al. Recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells into prostate tumours promotes metastasis. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:1795. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2766
- Nair N, Calle AS, Zahra MH, Prieto-Vila M, Oo AKK, Hurley L, et al. A cancer stem cell model as the point of origin of cancerassociated fibroblasts in tumor microenvironment. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:6838. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-07144-5
- Valenti G, Quinn HM, Heynen G, Lan L, Holland JD, Vogel R, et al. Cancer stem cells regulate cancer-associated fibroblasts via activation of hedgehog signaling in mammary gland tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:2134– 47. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-3490
- Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA, Kalisky T, Dorie MJ, Kulp AN, et al. Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2009) 458:780–3. doi: 10.1038/nature07733
- Li X, Lewis MT, Huang J, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, et al. Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2008) 100:672–9. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn123
- Chen T, Dent SY. Chromatin modifiers and remodellers: regulators of cellular differentiation. Nat Rev Genet. (2014) 15:93–106. doi: 10.1038/nrg3607
- Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. *Nature*. (2013) 501:328–37. doi: 10.1038/nature12624
- Peitzsch C, Kurth I, Kunz-Schughart L, Baumann M, Dubrovska A. Discovery of the cancer stem cell related determinants of radioresistance. *Radiother Oncol.* (2013) 108:378–87. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.06.003
- Sosa MS, Bragado P, Aguirre-Ghiso JA. Mechanisms of disseminated cancer cell dormancy: an awakening field. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:611– 22. doi: 10.1038/nrc3793
- Crea F, Nur Saidy NR, Collins CC, Wang Y. The epigenetic/noncoding origin of tumor dormancy. *Trends Mol Med.* (2015) 21:206– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2015.02.005
- 102. Morrison R, Schleicher SM, Sun Y, Niermann KJ, Kim S, Spratt DE, et al. Targeting the mechanisms of resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy with the cancer stem cell hypothesis. J Oncol. (2011) 2011:941876. doi: 10.1155/2011/941876
- Alison MR, Lim SM, Nicholson LJ. Cancer stem cells: problems for therapy? J Pathol. (2011) 223:147–61. doi: 10.1002/path.2793

- 104. Raguz S, Yague E. Resistance to chemotherapy: new treatments and novel insights into an old problem. Br J Cancer. (2008) 99:387– 91. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604510
- Signore M, Ricci-Vitiani L, De Maria R. Targeting apoptosis pathways in cancer stem cells. *Cancer Lett.* (2013) 332:374– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.01.013
- Skvortsov S, Debbage P, Lukas P, Skvortsova I. Crosstalk between DNA repair and cancer stem cell (CSC) associated intracellular pathways. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2015) 31:36–42. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.06.002
- 107. Fishel ML, Jiang Y, Rajeshkumar NV, Scandura G, Sinn AL, He Y, et al. Impact of APE1/Ref-1 redox inhibition on pancreatic tumor growth. *Mol Cancer Ther*. (2011) 10:1698–708. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0107
- Wang K, Zhang T, Dong Q, Nice EC, Huang C, Wei Y. Redox homeostasis: the linchpin in stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Cell Death Dis.* (2013) 4:e537. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.50
- Blanpain C, Mohrin M, Sotiropoulou PA, Passegue E. DNA-damage response in tissue-specific and cancer stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2011) 8:16– 29. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.12.012
- 110. Skvortsova I, Skvortsov S, Stasyk T, Raju U, Popper BA, Schiestl B, et al. Intracellular signaling pathways regulating radioresistance of human prostate carcinoma cells. *Proteomics.* (2008) 8:4521–33. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200800113
- 111. Williams GJ, Lees-Miller SP, Tainer JA. Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 conformations and the control of sensing, signaling, and effector responses at DNA doublestrand breaks. *DNA Repair*. (2010) 9:1299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.dnarep.2010. 10.001
- 112. Kuroda S, Urata Y, Fujiwara T. Ataxia-telangiectasia mutated and the Mre11-Rad50-NBS1 complex: promising targets for radiosensitization. Acta Med Okayama. (2012) 66:83–92. doi: 10.18926/AMO/48258
- 113. Anuranjani, Bala M. Concerted action of Nrf2-ARE pathway, MRN complex, HMGB1 and inflammatory cytokines - implication in modification of radiation damage. *Redox Biol.* (2014) 2:832–46. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2014.02.008
- 114. Altan B, Yokobori T, Ide M, Bai T, Yanoma T, Kimura A, et al. High expression of MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 is associated with poor prognosis and chemoresistance in gastric cancer. *Anticancer Res.* (2016) 36:5237– 47. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11094
- 115. Zhao Y, Chen S. Targeting DNA Double-Strand Break (DSB) Repair to counteract tumor radio-resistance. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2019) 20:891–902. doi: 10.2174/13894501206661902221 81857
- 116. Zona S, Bella L, Burton MJ, Nestal de Moraes G, Lam EW. FOXM1: an emerging master regulator of DNA damage response and genotoxic agent resistance. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2014) 1839:1316–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.09.016
- 117. Tripathi K, Mani C, Barnett R, Nalluri S, Bachaboina L, Rocconi RP, et al. Gli1 protein regulates the S-phase checkpoint in tumor cells via Bid protein, and its inhibition sensitizes to DNA topoisomerase 1 inhibitors. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:31513–25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.6 06483
- 118. Jackson SP, Bartek J. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. *Nature*. (2009) 461:1071–8. doi: 10.1038/nature08467
- Kapse-Mistry S, Govender T, Srivastava R, Yergeri M. Nanodrug delivery in reversing multidrug resistance in cancer cells. *Front Pharmacol.* (2014) 5:159. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00159
- Ho EA, Piquette-Miller M. Regulation of multidrug resistance by pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. (2006) 6:295– 311. doi: 10.2174/156800906777441753
- 121. Wilson BJ, Schatton T, Zhan Q, Gasser M, Ma J, Saab KR, et al. ABCB5 identifies a therapy-refractory tumor cell population in colorectal cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5307–16. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0221
- 122. Shervington A, Lu C. Expression of multidrug resistance genes in normal and cancer stem cells. *Cancer Invest.* (2008) 26:535–42. doi: 10.1080/07357900801904140
- 123. Shukla S, Ohnuma S, Ambudkar SV. Improving cancer chemotherapy with modulators of ABC drug transporters. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2011) 12:621– 30. doi: 10.2174/138945011795378540

- 124. Tiwari AK, Sodani K, Dai CL, Ashby CR Jr, Chen ZS. Revisiting the ABCs of multidrug resistance in cancer chemotherapy. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. (2011) 12:570-94. doi: 10.2174/138920111795164048
- 125. Robey RW, Polgar O, Deeken J, To KW, Bates SE. ABCG2: determining its relevance in clinical drug resistance. Cancer Metastasis Rev. (2007) 26:39-57. doi: 10.1007/s10555-007-9042-6
- 126. Ma MT, He M, Wang Y, Jiao XY, Zhao L, Bai XF, et al. MiR-487a resensitizes mitoxantrone (MX)-resistant breast cancer cells (MCF-7/MX) to MX by targeting breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). Cancer Lett. (2013) 339:107-15. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2013.07.016
- 127. Ni Z, Bikadi Z, Rosenberg MF, Mao Q. Structure and function of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). Curr Drug Metab. (2010) 11:603-17. doi: 10.2174/138920010792927325
- 128. Vadlapatla RK, Vadlapudi AD, Pal D, Mitra AK. Mechanisms of drug resistance in cancer chemotherapy: coordinated role and regulation of efflux transporters and metabolizing enzymes. Curr Pharm Des. (2013) 19:7126-40. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990493
- 129. Schaich M, Soucek S, Thiede C, Ehninger G, Illmer T, Group SAS. MDR1 and MRP1 gene expression are independent predictors for treatment outcome in adult acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. (2005) 128:324-32. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.05319.x
- 130. Bao L, Hazari S, Mehra S, Kaushal D, Moroz K, Dash S. Increased expression of P-glycoprotein and doxorubicin chemoresistance of metastatic breast cancer is regulated by miR-298. Am J Pathol. (2012) 180:2490-503. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.02.024
- 131. Katayama K, Yoshioka S, Tsukahara S, Mitsuhashi J, Sugimoto Y. Inhibition of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway results in the down-regulation of P-glycoprotein. Mol Cancer Ther. (2007) 6:2092-102. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-0148
- 132. Haber M, Smith J, Bordow SB, Flemming C, Cohn SL, London WB, et al. Association of high-level MRP1 expression with poor clinical outcome in a large prospective study of primary neuroblastoma. J Clin Oncol. (2006) 24:1546-53. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.01.6196
- 133. Hockel M, Vaupel P. Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2001) 93:266-76. doi: 10.1093/jnci/93.4.266
- 134. Cheung TH, Rando TA. Molecular regulation of stem cell quiescence. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2013) 14:329-40. doi: 10.1038/nrm3591
- 135. Schoning JP, Monteiro M, Gu W. Drug resistance and cancer stem cells: the shared but distinct roles of hypoxia-inducible factors HIF1alpha and HIF2alpha. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. (2017) 44:153-61. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12693
- 136. Konopleva M, Zhao S, Hu W, Jiang S, Snell V, Weidner D, et al. The antiapoptotic genes Bcl-X(L) and Bcl-2 are over-expressed and contribute to chemoresistance of non-proliferating leukaemic CD34+ cells. Br J Haematol. (2002) 118:521-34. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03637.x
- 137. Harada H. How can we overcome tumor hypoxia in radiation therapy? J Radiat Res. (2011) 52:545-56. doi: 10.1269/jrr.11056
- Wilson WR, Hay MP. Targeting hypoxia in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 138. (2011) 11:393-410. doi: 10.1038/nrc3064
- Hou PC, Li YH, Lin SC, Lin SC, Lee JC, Lin BW, et al. Hypoxia-induced 139. downregulation of DUSP-2 phosphatase drives colon cancer stemness. Cancer Res. (2017) 77:4305-16. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2990
- 140. Madjd Z, Mehrjerdi AZ, Sharifi AM, Molanaei S, Shahzadi SZ, Asadi-Lari M. CD44+ cancer cells express higher levels of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 in breast tumours. Cancer Immun. (2009) 9:4.
- 141. Sarig R, Rivlin N, Brosh R, Bornstein C, Kamer I, Ezra O, et al. Mutant p53 facilitates somatic cell reprogramming and augments the malignant potential of reprogrammed cells. J Exp Med. (2010) 207:2127-40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100797
- 142. Soengas MS, Alarcon RM, Yoshida H, Giaccia AJ, Hakem R, Mak TW, et al. Apaf-1 and caspase-9 in p53-dependent apoptosis and tumor inhibition. Science. (1999) 284:156-9. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.156
- 143. Domingo-Domenech J, Vidal SJ, Rodriguez-Bravo V, Castillo-Martin M, Quinn SA, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, et al. Suppression of acquired docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer through depletion of notch- and hedgehog-dependent tumor-initiating cells. Cancer Cell. (2012) 22:373-88. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.07.016

- 144. Kobune M, Takimoto R, Murase K, Iyama S, Sato T, Kikuchi S, et al. Drug resistance is dramatically restored by hedgehog inhibitors in CD34+ leukemic cells. Cancer Sci. (2009) 100:948-55. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01111.x
- 145. Witta SE, Gemmill RM, Hirsch FR, Coldren CD, Hedman K, Ravdel L, et al. Restoring E-cadherin expression increases sensitivity to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors in lung cancer cell lines. Cancer Res. (2006) 66:944-50. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1988
- 146. Hindriksen S, Bijlsma MF. Cancer stem cells, EMT, and developmental pathway activation in pancreatic tumors. Cancers. (2012)4:989-1035. doi: 10.3390/cancers4040989
- 147. Sayan AE, Griffiths TR, Pal R, Browne GJ, Ruddick A, Yagci T, et al. SIP1 protein protects cells from DNA damage-induced apoptosis and has independent prognostic value in bladder cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2009) 106:14884-9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902042106
- 148. Suresh R, Ali S, Ahmad A, Philip PA, Sarkar FH. The role of cancer stem cells in recurrent and drug-resistant lung cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2016) 890:57-74. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-24932-2_4
- 149. Frank NY, Schatton T, Frank MH. The therapeutic promise of the cancer stem cell concept. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:41-50. doi: 10.1172/JCI41004
- 150. Ramos EK, Hoffmann AD, Gerson SL, Liu H. New opportunities and challenges to defeat cancer stem cells. Trends Cancer. (2017) 3:780-96. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.08.007
- 151. Dragu DL, Necula LG, Bleotu C, Diaconu CC, Chivu-Economescu M. Therapies targeting cancer stem cells: current trends and future challenges. World J Stem Cells. (2015) 7:1185-201. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v7.i9.1185
- 152. Majeti R. Monoclonal antibody therapy directed against human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Oncogene. (2011) 30:1009-19. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.511
- 153. Deonarain MP, Kousparou CA, Epenetos AA. Antibodies targeting cancer stem cells: a new paradigm in immunotherapy? MAbs. (2009) 1:12-25. doi: 10.4161/mabs.1.1.7347
- 154. Song Y, Kim IK, Choi I, Kim SH, Seo HR. Oxytetracycline have the therapeutic efficiency in CD133(+) HCC population through suppression CD133 expression by decreasing of protein stability of CD133. Sci Rep. (2018) 8:16100. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34301-1
- 155. Huang YF, Niu WB, Hu R, Wang LJ, Huang ZY, Ni SH, et al. FIBP knockdown attenuates growth and enhances chemotherapy in colorectal cancer via regulating GSK3beta-related pathways. Oncogenesis. (2018) 7:77. doi: 10.1038/s41389-018-0088-9
- 156. Li L, Yang J, Wang J, Kopecek J. Amplification of CD20 cross-linking in rituximab-resistant B-lymphoma cells enhances apoptosis induction by drug-free macromolecular therapeutics. ACS Nano. (2018) 12:3658-70. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.8b00797
- 157. Setubal Destro Rodrigues MF, Gammon L, Rahman MM, Biddle A, Nunes FD, Mackenzie IC. Effects of Cetuximab and Erlotinib on the behaviour of cancer stem cells in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget. (2018) 9:13488-500. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24416
- 158. Tanei T, Choi DS, Rodriguez AA, Liang DH, Dobrolecki L, Ghosh M, et al. Antitumor activity of Cetuximab in combination with Ixabepilone on triple negative breast cancer stem cells. Breast Cancer Res. (2016) 18:6. doi: 10.1186/s13058-015-0662-4
- 159. Sato F, Kubota Y, Natsuizaka M, Maehara O, Hatanaka Y, Marukawa K, et al. EGFR inhibitors prevent induction of cancer stem-like cells in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma by suppressing epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Biol Ther. (2015) 16:933-40. doi: 10.1080/15384047.2015.1040959
- 160. McIntosh K, Balch C, Tiwari AK. Tackling multidrug resistance mediated by efflux transporters in tumor-initiating cells. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. (2016) 12:633-44. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2016.1179280
- 161. Deng J, Shao J, Markowitz JS, An G. ABC transporters in multi-drug resistance and ADME-Tox of small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Pharm Res. (2014) 31:2237-55. doi: 10.1007/s11095-014-1389-0
- 162. Garg M. Targeting microRNAs in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitioninduced cancer stem cells: therapeutic approaches in cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets. (2015) 19:285-97. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2014.975794
- 163. Yu F, Deng H, Yao H, Liu Q, Su F, Song E. Mir-30 reduction maintains selfrenewal and inhibits apoptosis in breast tumor-initiating cells. Oncogene. (2010) 29:4194-204. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.167

- 164. Wang Y, He L, Du Y, Zhu P, Huang G, Luo J, et al. The long noncoding RNA lncTCF7 promotes self-renewal of human liver cancer stem cells through activation of Wnt signaling. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2015) 16:413– 25. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.03.003
- 165. Chakraborty C, Sharma AR, Sharma G, Doss CGP, Lee SS. Therapeutic miRNA and siRNA: moving from bench to clinic as next generation medicine. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids*. (2017) 8:132–43. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2017.06.005
- 166. van Zandwijk N, Pavlakis N, Kao SC, Linton A, Boyer MJ, Clarke S, et al. Safety and activity of microRNA-loaded minicells in patients with recurrent malignant pleural mesothelioma: a first-in-man, phase 1, open-label, dose-escalation study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:1386–96. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30621-6
- 167. Ashkenazi A. Targeting the extrinsic apoptosis pathway in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2008) 19:325–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2008.04.001
- 168. Recio-Boiles A, Ilmer M, Rhea PR, Kettlun C, Heinemann ML, Ruetering J, et al. JNK pathway inhibition selectively primes pancreatic cancer stem cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis without affecting the physiology of normal tissue resident stem cells. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:9890–906. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7066
- 169. Guzman ML, Swiderski CF, Howard DS, Grimes BA, Rossi RM, Szilvassy SJ, et al. Preferential induction of apoptosis for primary human leukemic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:16220– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.252462599
- 170. Matsushita H, Scaglioni PP, Bhaumik M, Rego EM, Cai LF, Majid SM, et al. *In vivo* analysis of the role of aberrant histone deacetylase recruitment and RAR alpha blockade in the pathogenesis of acute promyelocytic leukemia. *J Exp Med.* (2006) 203:821–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050616
- 171. Campos B, Wan F, Farhadi M, Ernst A, Zeppernick F, Tagscherer KE, et al. Differentiation therapy exerts antitumor effects on stem-like glioma cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:2715–28. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1800
- Ginestier C, Wicinski J, Cervera N, Monville F, Finetti P, Bertucci F, et al. Retinoid signaling regulates breast cancer stem cell differentiation. *Cell Cycle*. (2009) 8:3297–302. doi: 10.4161/cc.8.20.9761
- 173. Relation T, Dominici M, Horwitz EM. Concise review: an (Im)Penetrable shield: how the tumor microenvironment protects cancer stem cells. *Stem Cells.* (2017) 35:1123–30. doi: 10.1002/stem.2596
- 174. Valkenburg KC, de Groot AE, Pienta KJ. Targeting the tumour stroma to improve cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2018) 15:366–81. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0007-1
- 175. Nilendu P, Sarode SC, Jahagirdar D, Tandon I, Patil S, Sarode GS, et al. Mutual concessions and compromises between stromal cells and cancer cells: driving tumor development and drug resistance. *Cell Oncol.* (2018) 41:353–67. doi: 10.1007/s13402-018-0388-2
- 176. Warner KA, Miyazawa M, Cordeiro MM, Love WJ, Pinsky MS, Neiva KG, et al. Endothelial cells enhance tumor cell invasion through a crosstalk mediated by CXC chemokine signaling. *Neoplasia*. (2008) 10:131–9. doi: 10.1593/neo.07815
- 177. Zhang Z, Dong Z, Lauxen IS, Filho MS, Nor JE. Endothelial cell-secreted EGF induces epithelial to mesenchymal transition and endows head and neck cancer cells with stem-like phenotype. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:2869–81. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2032
- Gu JW, Rizzo P, Pannuti A, Golde T, Osborne B, Miele L. Notch signals in the endothelium and cancer "stem-like" cells: opportunities for cancer therapy. *Vasc Cell.* (2012) 4:7. doi: 10.1186/2045-824X-4-7
- 179. Barone A, Sengupta R, Warrington NM, Smith E, Wen PY, Brekken RA, et al. Combined VEGF and CXCR4 antagonism targets the GBM stem cell population and synergistically improves survival in an intracranial mouse model of glioblastoma. Oncotarget. (2014) 5:9811–22. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2443
- 180. Hamerlik P, Lathia JD, Rasmussen R, Wu Q, Bartkova J, Lee M, et al. Autocrine VEGF-VEGFR2-Neuropilin-1 signaling promotes glioma stem-like cell viability and tumor growth. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:507– 20. doi: 10.1084/jem.20111424
- 181. Zhao J, Ma MZ, Ren H, Liu Z, Edelman MJ, Pan H, et al. Anti-HDGF targets cancer and cancer stromal stem cells resistant to chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:3567–76. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3478

- 182. Conley SJ, Gheordunescu E, Kakarala P, Newman B, Korkaya H, Heath AN, et al. Antiangiogenic agents increase breast cancer stem cells via the generation of tumor hypoxia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:2784– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018866109
- Rankin EB, Nam JM, Giaccia AJ. Hypoxia: signaling the metastatic cascade. Trends Cancer. (2016) 2:295–304. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2016.05.006
- 184. Zhen Z, Tang W, Wang M, Zhou S, Wang H, Wu Z, et al. Protein nanocage mediated fibroblast-activation protein targeted photoimmunotherapy to enhance cytotoxic t cell infiltration and tumor control. *Nano Lett.* (2017) 17:862–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b04150
- 185. Hernandez JL, Padilla L, Dakhel S, Coll T, Hervas R, Adan J, et al. Therapeutic targeting of tumor growth and angiogenesis with a novel anti-S100A4 monoclonal antibody. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e72480. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072480
- 186. Szot C, Saha S, Zhang XM, Zhu Z, Hilton MB, Morris K, et al. Tumor stromatargeted antibody-drug conjugate triggers localized anticancer drug release. *J Clin Invest.* (2018) 128:2927–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI120481
- 187. Najafi M, Farhood B, Mortezaee K. Cancer stem cells (CSCs) in cancer progression and therapy. J Cell Physiol. (2019) 234:8381–95. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27740
- 188. Zuo ZQ, Chen KG, Yu XY, Zhao G, Shen S, Cao ZT, et al. Promoting tumor penetration of nanoparticles for cancer stem cell therapy by TGF-beta signaling pathway inhibition. *Biomaterials*. (2016) 82:48– 59. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.12.014
- 189. Yu B, Wu K, Wang X, Zhang J, Wang L, Jiang Y, et al. Periostin secreted by cancer-associated fibroblasts promotes cancer stemness in head and neck cancer by activating protein tyrosine kinase 7. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:1082. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-1116-6
- 190. Zhao ZK, Yu HF, Wang DR, Dong P, Chen L, Wu WG, et al. Overexpression of lysine specific demethylase 1 predicts worse prognosis in primary hepatocellular carcinoma patients. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2012) 18:6651– 6. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i45.6651
- 191. Su S, Chen J, Yao H, Liu J, Yu S, Lao L, et al. CD10(+)GPR77(+) cancer-associated fibroblasts promote cancer formation and chemoresistance by sustaining cancer stemness. *Cell.* (2018) 172:841–56.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.009
- 192. Bonde AK, Tischler V, Kumar S, Soltermann A, Schwendener RA. Intratumoral macrophages contribute to epithelial-mesenchymal transition in solid tumors. *BMC Cancer*. (2012) 12:35. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-35
- 193. Su S, Liu Q, Chen J, Chen J, Chen F, He C, et al. A positive feedback loop between mesenchymal-like cancer cells and macrophages is essential to breast cancer metastasis. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 25:605– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.03.021
- 194. Valeta-Magara A, Gadi A, Volta V, Walters B, Arju R, Giashuddin S, et al. Inflammatory breast cancer promotes development of M2 tumor-associated macrophages and cancer mesenchymal cells through a complex cytokine network. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:3360–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2158
- 195. Su YJ, Lin WH, Chang YW, Wei KC, Liang CL, Chen SC, et al. Polarized cell migration induces cancer type-specific CD133/integrin/Src/Akt/GSK3beta/beta-catenin signaling required for maintenance of cancer stem cell properties. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:38029–45. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5703
- 196. Huang WC, Kuo KT, Wang CH, Yeh CT, Wang Y. Cisplatin resistant lung cancer cells promoted M2 polarization of tumor-associated macrophages via the Src/CD155/MIF functional pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2019) 38:180. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1166-3
- 197. Li X, Bu W, Meng L, Liu X, Wang S, Jiang L, et al. CXCL12/CXCR4 pathway orchestrates CSC-like properties by CAF recruited tumor associated macrophage in OSCC. *Exp Cell Res.* (2019) 378:131–8. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2019.03.013
- 198. Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD Jr, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell.* (2009) 138:286– 99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.045
- 199. Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, Jan M, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Zhao F, et al. Therapeutic antibody targeting of CD47 eliminates

human acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Res. (2011) 71:1374–84. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2238

- 200. Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, Myklebust JH, Varghese B, Gill S, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cell.* (2010) 142:699– 713. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.044
- 201. Advani R, Flinn I, Popplewell L, Forero A, Bartlett NL, Ghosh N, et al. CD47 Blockade by Hu5F9-G4 and Rituximab in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:1711–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1807315
- 202. Logtenberg MEW, Jansen JHM, Raaben M, Toebes M, Franke K, Brandsma AM, et al. Glutaminyl cyclase is an enzymatic modifier of the CD47-SIRPalpha axis and a target for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:612–9. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0356-z
- 203. Wang Y, Wang B, Xiao S, Li Y, Chen Q. miR-125a/b inhibits tumor-associated macrophages mediated in cancer stem cells of hepatocellular carcinoma by targeting CD90. J Cell Biochem. (2019) 120:3046–55. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27436
- 204. Fan Z, Cui H, Yu H, Ji Q, Kang L, Han B, et al. MiR-125a promotes paclitaxel sensitivity in cervical cancer through altering STAT3 expression. *Oncogenesis*. (2016) 5:e197. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2016.1
- 205. Tang L, Shen H, Li X, Li Z, Liu Z, Xu J, et al. MiR-125a-5p decreases after long non-coding RNA HOTAIR knockdown to promote cancer cell apoptosis by releasing caspase 2. *Cell Death Dis.* (2016) 7:e2137. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.41
- 206. Hu J, Zheng L, Shen X, Zhang Y, Li C, Xi T. MicroRNA-125b inhibits AML cells differentiation by directly targeting Fes. *Gene.* (2017) 620:1– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2017.04.002
- 207. Delyon J, Mateus C, Lefeuvre D, Lanoy E, Zitvogel L, Chaput N, et al. Experience in daily practice with ipilimumab for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: an early increase in lymphocyte and eosinophil counts is associated with improved survival. *Ann Oncol.* (2013) 24:1697– 703. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt027
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- 209. Phung CD, Nguyen HT, Tran TH, Choi HG, Yong CS, Kim JO. Rational combination immunotherapeutic approaches for effective cancer treatment. *J Control Release*. (2019) 294:114–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.12.020

- Ruan H, Bu L, Hu Q, Cheng H, Lu W, Gu Z. Strategies of combination drug delivery for immune checkpoint blockades. *Adv Healthc Mater.* (2019) 8:e1801099. doi: 10.1002/adhm.201801099
- 211. Shi X, Zhang X, Li J, Mo L, Zhao H, Zhu Y, et al. PD-1 blockade enhances the antitumor efficacy of GM-CSF surface-modified bladder cancer stem cells vaccine. *Int J Cancer*. (2018) 142:2106–17. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 31219
- 212. Zheng F, Dang J, Zhang H, Xu F, Ba D, Zhang B, et al. Cancer stem cell vaccination with PD-L1 and CTLA-4 blockades enhances the eradication of melanoma stem cells in a mouse tumor model. *J Immunother*. (2018) 41:361–8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0000000000242
- 213. Brentjens RJ, Davila ML, Riviere I, Park J, Wang X, Cowell LG, et al. CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:177ra38. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005930
- Maus MV. Designing CAR T cells for glioblastoma. Oncoimmunology. (2015) 4:e1048956. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1048956
- 215. Deng Z, Wu Y, Ma W, Zhang S, Zhang YQ. Adoptive T-cell therapy of prostate cancer targeting the cancer stem cell antigen EpCAM. *BMC Immunol.* (2015) 16:1. doi: 10.1186/s12865-014-0064-x
- 216. Li H, Huang Y, Jiang DQ, Cui LZ, He Z, Wang C, et al. Antitumor activity of EGFR-specific CAR T cells against non-small-cell lung cancer cells *in vitro* and in mice. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:177. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0238-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sun, Wang, Yan, Zhang, Nelson, Jia, Qin and Dong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





CPT1A/2-Mediated FAO Enhancement—A Metabolic Target in Radioresistant Breast Cancer

Shujun Han^{1,2†}, Ryan Wei^{1,3†}, Xiaodi Zhang^{1‡}, Nian Jiang^{1‡}, Ming Fan¹, Jie Hunter Huang¹, Bowen Xie^{1‡}, Lu Zhang^{1‡}, Weili Miao⁴, Ashley Chen-Ping Butler¹, Matthew A. Coleman^{1,5}, Andrew T. Vaughan^{1,5}, Yinsheng Wang⁴, Hong-Wu Chen^{5,6}, Jiankang Liu^{2*} and Jian Jian Li^{1,5*}

¹ Department of Radiation Oncology, School of Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ² Center for Mitochondrial Biology and Medicine, Key Laboratory of Biomedical Information Engineering of Ministry of Education, School of Life Science and Technology and Frontier Institute of Science and Technology, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, Shaanxi, China, ³ Lewis Katz School of Medicine/St. Luke's University Regional Campus, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ⁴ Department of Chemistry, University of California, Riverside, Riverside, CA, United States, ⁶ NCI-Designated Compressive Cancer Center, School of Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States, ⁶ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine, University of California, Davis, Sacramento, CA, United States

Tumor cells, including cancer stem cells (CSCs) resistant to radio- and chemotherapy, must enhance metabolism to meet the extra energy demands to repair and survive such genotoxic conditions. However, such stress-induced adaptive metabolic alterations, especially in cancer cells that survive radiotherapy, remain unresolved. In this study, we found that CPT1 (Carnitine palmitoyl transferase I) and CPT2 (Carnitine palmitoyl transferase II), a pair of rate-limiting enzymes for mitochondrial fatty acid transportation, play a critical role in increasing fatty acid oxidation (FAO) required for the cellular fuel demands in radioresistant breast cancer cells (RBCs) and radiation-derived breast cancer stem cells (RD-BCSCs). Enhanced CPT1A/CPT2 expression was detected in the recurrent human breast cancers and associated with a worse prognosis in breast cancer patients. Blocking FAO via a FAO inhibitor or by CRISPR-mediated CPT1A/CPT2 gene deficiency inhibited radiation-induced ERK activation and aggressive growth and radioresistance of RBCs and RD-BCSCs. These results revealed that switching to FAO contributes to radiation-induced mitochondrial energy metabolism, and CPT1A/CPT2 is a potential metabolic target in cancer radiotherapy.

Keywords: breast cancer stem cells, CPT1A/CPT2, FAO, metabolism, radioresistance, breast cancer

INTRODUCTION

Radiation therapy (RT) is the major modality in treatment of solid cancer, including breast cancer (BC), with reported clinical benefits (1, 2). A meta-analysis of 10,801 women with or without RT after breast-conserving surgery in randomized trials demonstrated that RT reduced the 10-year risk of any first recurrence (locoregional or distant tumors) from 35.0 to 19.3% and reduced the 15-year risk of BC mortality rate from 25.2 to 21.4% (1). Cancer stem cells (CSCs; also termed as tumor-initiating cells, TICs) are suggested to be the carcinogenic cell source and responsible for tumor aggressive phenotype and failure of anti-tumor therapy (3, 4). To further improve the BC long-term efficacy by RT, the mechanisms linked with the adaptive radioresistance and recurrent risk in CSCs are to be investigated (5–8).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandre Prieur, ECS-Screening SA, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Erina Vlashi, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Patricia Sancho, Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Spain

*Correspondence:

Jiankang Liu j.liu@mail.xjtu.edu.cn Jian Jian Li jijli@ucdavis.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]Present address:

Xiaodi Zhang, Department of Toxicology, Forth Military Medical University, Xian, China Nian Jiang, Bowen Xie and Lu Zhang, Xiangya Hospital, Southcentral University, Changsha, China

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 17 April 2019 Accepted: 22 October 2019 Published: 15 November 2019

Citation:

Han S, Wei R, Zhang X, Jiang N, Fan M, Huang JH, Xie B, Zhang L, Miao W, Butler AC-P, Coleman MA, Vaughan AT, Wang Y, Chen H-W, Liu J and Li JJ (2019) CPT1A/2-Mediated FAO Enhancement—A Metabolic Target in Radioresistant Breast Cancer. Front. Oncol. 9:1201. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01201

176

Elucidation of the metabolic dynamics of resistant breast cancer cells (RBCs) will help to identify metabolic targets to synergize the efficacy of RT. The theory of aerobic glycolysis in malignant cells (Warburg Effect) (9-11) is being updated, with emerging new evidence indicating an adaptive energy reprogramming in tumor cells with mitochondrial reactivation and oxidative phosphorylation (12, 13). We have reported that mitochondrial MnSOD activity is required for radioresistance in BC cells (14, 15) and radiation can enhance mitochondrial OXPHOS in tumor cells (16). Enhanced mitochondrial bioenergetics are found to be the major cellular fuel supplement for cell cycle progression (17-19), tumor aggressive phenotype and metastasis (20). Accumulating new evidence indicates that reprogramming in mitochondrial metabolism is actively involved in tumor proliferation and metastasis (12, 21-23). Mitochondrial energy output is also required for nuclear DNA repair after IR (24), and mitochondrial FAO is linked with BC metastasis (25, 26). With such a flexible adaptive energy metabolism detected in the malignant cells (13, 27), it is reasonable to look into the deep mechanistic insights of reprogramming mitochondrial bioenergetics in aggressive tumors, especially the RBCs.

Under genotoxic stress conditions, such as chemotherapy or radiotherapy, tumor cells must acquire additional cellular fuel resource to meet the increased demands of energy consumption for damage repair and survive (24). In addition to glucose, fatty acids with high ATP yield are a relevant energy-rich source in cancer cells under such genotoxic crisis. The FAO-mediated mitochondrial bioenergetics has been assumed to play a critical role in cell proliferation, cancer stemness and chemoresistance (28-30). Inhibition of mitochondrial FAO by etomoxir impairs NADPH production and increases reactive oxygen species (ROS), resulting in ATP depletion and cell death in human glioblastoma cells (31). In mitochondrial FAO pathways, targeting CPT1A generates clinic benefits in RT for nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients (32). However, the precise network of FAO enhancement in reprogramming mitochondrial energy metabolism, especially in resistant breast cancer cells, remains to be elucidated.

To mimic clinical radioresistance, in this study, RBCs were generated from wild type breast cancer cells via continuous ironizing radiation (IR), and the radioresistant BCSCs cells were sorted from the RBCs (8), termed as radiation-derived BCSCs (RD-BCSCs). Using proteomics of RD-BCSCs and CRISPR-mediated FAO gene editing, here we revealed a novel mitochondrial lipid metabolic reprogramming in RBCs and RD-BCSCs. The mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation (FAO) was enhanced in both RBCs and RD-BCSCs and linked with recurrent BC and a worse prognosis in BC patients. Blocking FAO by CRISPR-mediated CPT1A/CPT2 KO inhibited aggressive phenotype of the radioresistant BC with downregulation of the ERK pathway, indicating a potential metabolic target in breast cancer radiotherapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

RBCs, RD-BCSCs, and Other Reagents

MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA, USA). MCF7/C6

radioresistant clone is a single clone surviving from MCF7/WT cells after fractionated ionizing radiation treatment (2 Gy \times 15) (33, 34). MDA-MB-231/C4 are radioresistant breast cancer cells surviving from MDA-MB-231/WT cells after fractionated radiation (2 Gy × 30) (35). MCF7, MCF7/C6, MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-231/C4 cells were cultured in DMEM medium with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Life Technologies, NY, USA) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Life Technologies). RD-BCSCs were sorted as previously described (8, 36). Cell pellets of MCF7/C6 were rinsed with cold PBS with 2% FBS and then suspended with PBS containing 0.5% FBS and 0.5 mg/mL PI (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Then, the cell suspension was sorted using Cytopeia influx Cell Sorter (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA). The antibody against HER2/neu was conjugated to allophycocyanin (APC, BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA), anti-human CD44 was conjugated to FITC, and human CD24 was conjugated to phycoerythrin (PE; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Cell viability was assessed by 7-AA staining during cell sorting and then determined by trypan blue exclusion after sorting (Figure S1A). The isolated RD-BCSCs (CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low}/HER2⁺) were maintained in CSC medium containing free serum and supplemented with B27 (Life Technology, Carlsbad, CA, USA), 20 ng/ml EGF (Biovision, Mountain View, CA, USA), 20 ng/ml basic-FGF, and 4 µg/ml heparin (VWR, Philadelphia, PA, USA). Cells were cultured in ultralow-attachment Petri dishes with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. All cell lines were tested mycoplasma free before experiments. Etomoxir was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Oil Red O was obtained from Millipore Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA).

Western Blot

Western blot was performed as previously described (37). Briefly, the cell lysates were separated on SDS-PAGE gels and transferred to PVDF membranes. The membranes were blocked with 5% milk for 1 h, and then incubated with primary antibodies with shaking at 4°C overnight. In the next day, the membranes were incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. The protein blots were developed using an enhanced chemiluminescence western blot detection system (BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). Antibodies against HER2/Neu (C-18, #SC284), CPT2 (G-5, #SC-377294), HADHA (E-8, #SC374497), HADHB (E-1, #SC-271495), ERK1/2 (C-9, #SC514302), and c-Fos (E-8, SC#166940) were all diluted at 1:500 and purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Anti-CPT1A (clone D3B3, #12252), Phosphop44/42 MAPK (Thr202/Tyr204, clone 197G2, #4377), Phospho-GSK3 β (Ser9, #9336), GSK3 β (clone 27C10, #9315), Phospho-STAT3 (Ser727, clone D8C2Z, #94994), and Phospho-JNK (Thr183/Tyr185, #9251) were from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA, USA). Antibody against ACAD9 (#3170340688) was purchased from Novus Biologicals (Littleton, CO, USA). Anti-β-actin at 1:2000 (#A2066) was from Sigma-Aldrich.

Fatty Acid Oxidation (FAO) Assay

FAO measurement was following the manufacturer's instruction of Fatty Acid Oxidation Assay Kits from Abcam (ab217602). Briefly, 3×10^4 cells were seeded per well in 96-well plates and cultured overnight. Then the cells were rinsed twice with 100

 μ l prewarmed FA-Free medium followed by adding 90 μ L prewarmed FA Measurement Medium. The wells without cells were used as signal control. A total of 85 μ L of FA-Free Measurement medium was added to the wells, and 5 μ L of BSA control were included as the FA-free control. All wells except the blank control had 10 μ L Extracellular O₂ Consumption Reagent added. The FAO activator FCCP (0.625 μ M) and inhibitor Etomoxir (40 μ M) were added as the positive and negative controls. Then the wells were sealed with 100 μ L pre-warmed mineral oil, and the FAO was measured using the condition as Extracellular Oxygen Consumption. The results were normalized by the protein concentration with the cells in each sample under the BCA assay.

Lipid Accumulation Assay

Breast cancer cells were plated and cultured in 96-well plates. In the next day, cells were treated with 250 μ M free fatty acid (oleic acid: palmitate acid = 2:1) for 48 h. After being washed with PBS twice, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde under room temperature (RT) for 30 min. Cells were washed with sterilized water once and added into 50 μ L Oil Red working solution; they were then incubated for 15 min at RT. Then 50 μ L 60% isopropanol was added to the cells for 20 s at RT. Finally, the cells were washed with water twice, and the images were obtained using a Nikon microscope (Eclipse, E1000M, Japan). The red oil dye was eluted with 50 μ L DMSO and incubated for 10 min with gentle shaking. The lipid accumulation results were determined by the fluorescence microplate spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices) at 510 nm.

Oxygen Consumption

Extracellular Oxygen Consumption detection was performed following the instruction of kit from Abcam (ab197243,) with 3×10^4 cells seeded per well in 96-well plates and cultured at 37° C overnight. The cell medium was replaced with 150 µl fresh culture media followed by adding 10 µl of extracellular oxygen consumption reagent. The wells without oxygen consumption reagent were used as blank control. Wells with Etomoxir (40 µM) added were included as the negative control. Wells had 100 µl of pre-warmed mineral oil added to avoid the air bubbles. The plates were read immediately in a fluorescence microplate spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices) at 37° C. The signals were collected at 1.5 min intervals for 90–120 min at Ex/Em = 380/650 nm. The results were normalized by protein concentration of the cells in each sample under the BCA assay.

MTT Assay

Breast cancer cells were seeded in 96-well plates for 24 h. After they proliferated to about 90% confluence, the cells were added into 50~100 μ L MTT solution (M-2128, Sigma) and cultured at 37°C for 2 h. The results were measured in a microplate spectrophotometer (Molecular Devices) at 540 nm.

Cell Apoptosis Assay

Breast cancer cells were rinsed by cold PBS twice, collected and stained using the Annexin-V/PI kit (Biosource, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's protocol. Stained cells were analyzed by flow cytometry (Becton Dickinson canto II, BD, NJ, USA). Data were analyzed using Flowjo software (Three Star, Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

Colony Formation Assay

For measuring cellular clonogenicity, 1×10^3 cells were seeded into 6-well plates and treated with or without 5 Gy radiation in the next day. Cells were then cultured for 14 days at 37° C. The colonies were fixed and stained with Coomassie blue, and then colony formation rate was determined by counting colonies in each group. Finally, the colony images were observed and recorded by a Nikon microscope (Eclipse, E1000M, Japan) (8).

Immunohistochemical Staining (IHC)

The slides of primary biopsy tissues and recurrent tumors from patients with breast cancer were tested by immunohistochemistry (IHC) using Vectastain ABC kit and DAB Peroxidase Substrate kit SK-4100 (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). The prepared tumor slides were firstly deparaffinized, hydrated, and then covered with blocking buffer for 1h after heat-induced epitope retrieval. The slides were incubated with anti-CPT1A (Cell Signaling Technology, #12252) and anti-CPT2 (Santa Cruz, sc-20671) at 1:200 at 4°C overnight, followed by washing with PBST three times, and then incubated with the secondary antibody for 30 min at RT. The slides were then covered with ABC solution for 30 min on the shaker at RT. The slides were incubated with DAB solution about 2 min and then transferred to hematoxylin, HCl solution and Li2CO3 solution quickly several times. Finally, the slides were dehydrated and sealed. The slides were observed and recorded by Nikon microscope (Eclipse, E1000M).

CRISPR-Mediated Gene Editing

The single guide RNA (sgRNA) was designed according the CRISPR Design in Zhang Lab https://zlab.bio/guide-designresources. We created oligonucleotide to target genes CPT1A and CPT2. The sgRNA sequences are designed as follows: human CPT1A: CTCCGGACGGGATTGACCTG; human CPT2: CGGGGCCCCGCGGTTGGTCC. The LentiCRISPRv2 backbone was used, which contains the hSpCas9 and sgRNA expression cassettes. Plasmids were purchased from the Addgene plasmid repository (Addgene #52961) (https://www. addgene.org/). Backbone LentiCRISPRv2 was annealed to oligonucleotides following the Zhang Lab GeCKO protocol and packaged into lentiviruses. The Lentiviral particles were produced in HEK293T cells following the protocol from Addgene (38), and breast cancer cells were infected with lentiviruses and selected with 0.3 µg/ml puromycin. Western blot analysis was performed to identify cell colonies with gene deficiency.

Proteomics of RD-BCSCs and MCF7 Cells

The protein mixture from total cell lysates of RD-BCSCs and MCF7 was first treated with dithiothreitol and iodoacetamide for cysteine reduction and alkylation, respectively. The protein samples were then digested using modified sequencing-grade trypsin (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) at an enzyme/substrate ratio of 1:100 in 50 mM NH₄HCO₃ (pH 8.5) at 37°C overnight.

The peptide mixture was subsequently dried in a Speed-vacuum and desalted by employing OMIX C18 pipet tips (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), reconstituted in water and subjected to LC-MS and MS/MS analyses on a Q Exactive Plus mass spectrometer equipped with a nanoelectrospray ionization source. Samples were automatically loaded from a 48well microplate autosampler using an EASY-nLC 1200 system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) at 3 µL/min onto a biphasic precolumn (150 µm i.d.) comprised of a 3.5-cm column packed with 5 µm C₁₈ 120 Å reversed-phase material (ReproSil-Pur 120 C₁₈-AQ, Dr. Maisch). The biphasic trapping column was connected to a 20-cm fused-silica analytical column (PicoTip Emitter, New Objective, 75 µm i.d.) with 3 µm C₁₈ beads (ReproSil-Pur 120 C18-AQ, Dr. Maisch). The peptides were then separated using a 180-min linear gradient of 2-45% acetonitrile in 0.1% formic acid and at a flow rate on 250 nL/min. The mass spectrometer was operated in a data-dependent scan mode. Full-scan mass spectra were acquired in the range of m/z 350-1,500 using the Orbitrap analyzer with a resolution of 70,000. Up to 25 of most abundant ions found in MS with a charge state of 2 or above were sequentially isolated and collisionally activated in the HCD cell with collision energy of 27 to yield MS/MS.

Bioinformatics Analysis

Maxquant (Version 1.5.2.8) was used to analyze the LC-MS and MS/MS data for the identification and quantification of proteins in the LFQ mode (39). The maximum number of mis-cleavages for trypsin was two per peptide. Cysteine carbamidomethylation was set as a fixed modification. Methionine oxidation and phosphorylation on serine, threonine, and tyrosine were set as variable modifications. The tolerances in mass accuracy for MS and MS/MS were both 20 ppm. Maximum false discovery rates (FDRs) were set to 0.01 at both peptide and protein levels, and minimum required peptide length was six amino acids. The LC-MS and MS/MS protein data were also analyzed with functional clustering. Of all proteins in our total protein array, only proteins that showed levels of detection were submitted to DAVID Bioinformatics Resources v6.7 (https://david.ncifcrf. gov/). Parameters were established for our functions of interest with a cutoff of p < 0.05.

Category Selection of Proteomics

DAVID Bioinformatics Resources provide a wealth of information within the Gene Ontology Tool for Biological Function (40, 41). Different broad categories were generated to profile the cluster of proteins related to varied cellular functions including mitochondrial bioenergetics and lipid metabolism as well as FAO. We used the Uniprotein tagging system, UPKeyword due to the high number of hits in the protein list.

Tumorsphere Formation

Tumorsphere assay was performed as described (42). Cells were sieved with $40 \,\mu$ m cell strainers (Fisher, Failawn, NJ, USA) and single-cell suspensions were seeded into 60 mm Petri dishes. The cells were grown in serum-free mammary epithelial basal medium (MEBM, Lonza, Walkersville, MD, USA), supplemented

with B27, 20 ng/ml EGF, 20 ng/ml basic-FGF, and 4μ g/ml heparin. Cells were then cultured for 10 days, and tumor spheres were counted under light microscopy.

Three-Dimensional (3D) Morphogenesis Assay

MCF7 and RD-BCSC cells in 40 μ L plug of Matrigel (growth factor reduced and phenol red free, Becton Dickinson, Plymouth, UK) were plated to the well of an 8-well LabTek Chambered coverglass (Nunc, Rochester, USA) at 37°C for 30 min. On ice, cells were prepared at a concentration of 5,000 cells/ml in KSFM supplemented with 5 ng/ml EGF, 2% (v/v) FCS, 4% (v/v) Matrigel, and 0.2 mL of this cell solution was plated onto the Matrigel plug and incubated for 30 min at 37°C, after which 0.2 mL of growth medium was added (KSFM supplemented with 5 ng/mL EGF, 2% (v/v) FCS). Culture medium was changed every 2–3 days. At day 10, morphology was assessed by phase microscopy and cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence microscopy analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical significance of differences was evaluated using twotailed student *t*-test for two groups' comparison or one-way ANOVA test where multiple groups were involved. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Mitochondrial FAO Is Enhanced in Radioresistant Breast Cancer Cells

Lipid metabolism has been linked with cancer therapy response (28-30). Here we address the question of whether reprogramming mitochondrial FAO plays a key role in breast cancer radioresistance. Two radioresistant BC (RBC) cell lines (MCF7/C6 and MDA-MB-231/C4) isolated from surviving MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 residues with HER2 induction and aggressive phenotype after chronical radiation (Figure S1A) (8, 35) showed enhanced expressions of mitochondrial FAO genes CPT1A, CPT2, HADHB, and ACAD9 (Figure 1A). We then measured the mitochondrial FAO activity by ¹⁸C-labeled unsaturated fatty acid oleate as the substrates with CPT1A specific inhibitor Etomoxir (ETX) and the FAO activator FCCP as negative and positive controls, respectively, demonstrating a significant elevation of FAO activity in MCF7/C6 vs. wild type MCF7 cells (Figure 1B). Furthermore, enhanced lipid turnover rate was detected in MCF7/C6 cells loaded with free fatty acid (FFA), which was contrasted with the markedly accumulation of FFA in the wild type MCF7 cells (Figure 1C), indicating enhanced FAO metabolism in RBC cells.

We next determined whether the FAO is enhanced in the human recurrent breast tumors compared to the primary tumors. CPT1 and CPT2 are the rate-limiting transporters and play a key role in mitochondrial long-chain FAO and lipid metabolism. Remarkably, the enhanced co-expression of CPT1A (an isoform of CPT1) and CPT2 was mostly detected in the pathological sections of recurrent BC tumors compared to the paired original biopsy specimens in a group of 12 BC


FIGURE 1 [FAO is enhanced in radioresistant BC cells and recurrent BC and linked with a poor prognosis in BC patients. **(A)** Western blot of a cluster of FAO enzymes and HER2 in wild type MCF7, MDA-MB-231, and their counterpart radioresistant MCF7/C6 and MDA-MB-231/C4 cells. **(B)** FAO activity assay of MCF7 and MCF7/C6 cells with MCF7/C6 treated with FAO inhibitor Etomoxir ($40 \,\mu$ M) as a negative control and FAO enhancer FCCP ($1 \,\mu$ M) as a positive control. **(C)** Fatty acid turnover rate in MCF7 and MCF7/C6 cells treated with or without 250 μ M Free Fatty Acid (FFA; oleic acid: palmitic acid = 2:1) for 24 h before Oil Red staining *(Continued)*

FIGURE 1 | (left: quantitation of lipid accumulation; right: representative images of FFA accumulation). (**D**) Representative IHC of CPT1A and CPT2 in biopsy and recurrent BC (left). Quantitation of IHC was achieved by scoring staining intensity and positive cells (right). (**E**) Elevated CPT1A/CPT2 expression correlates a worse overall survival of BC patients in the TCGA database http://bioinformatica.mty.itesm.mx:8080/Biomatec/SurvivaX,jsp. Error bars in (**B–D**) represent the mean \pm standard deviation. Significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

patients (Figure 1D). In agreement, the TCGA database revealed a poor prognosis in BC patients with increased expression of CPT1A or CPT2 (Figure 1E) (http://bioinformatica.mty. itesm.mx:8080/Biomatec/SurvivaX.jsp). Together, these results indicate that reprograming mitochondrial FAO contributes to BC radioresistance and worse prognosis.

CPT1A/CPT2 Mediated FAO Is Required for Radioresistant Breast Cancer Stem Cells

Our previous results have indicated that mitochondrial energy enhancement is involved in BC aggressiveness due to HER2 expression (15, 43) that is confirmed in **Figure 1A**. Following the standard biomarkers of breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) (4) and our established BCSCs from MCF7/C6 with HER2 induction as radiation-derived BCSCs (RD-BCSCs; CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low}/HER2⁺ with enhanced ALDH activity (8), we compared the tumorspheres from RD-BCSCs and MCF7 shown in **Figure 2A**. The tumorsphere of RD-BCSCs showed severely disorganized structure with altered distribution of cellular polarity protein (DLG, red) and enhanced HER2 expression (green), indicating an aggressive phenotype of RD-BCSCs.

Consistent with the results of RBC in Figure 1A, the key FAO enzymes, CPT1A, CPT2, and HADHB, were also enhanced in RD-BCSCs (Figure 2B), and both basal and irradiated FAO levels were elevated in RD-BCSCs whereas no significant FAO elevation was detected in irradiated MCF7 compared to basal level, although the proteomics data showed enhanced mitochondrial proteins in both irradiated both MCF7 and RD-BCSCs (Figure 2C, Figures S2A, S3), suggesting that reprogramming FAO is an unique feature of RD-BCSCs. This is further evidenced by the specifically enhanced cluster of factors in lipid metabolism rather than other cellular proteins in irradiated RD-BCSCs (47 to 81 in RD-BCSCs vs. 55 to 76 in MCF7); and the protein intensity was also more increased in irradiated RD-BCSCs (5.24fold) contrasted to 2.31-fold in MCF7 (Figures S1B,C). The FAO inhibitor Etomoxir (ETX) significantly enhanced basal and radiation-induced apoptosis with inhibited tumorsphere formation and ERK activity in RD-BCSCs (Figures 2D-F, Figure S2B). In agreement, blocking CPT1A/CPT2 by CRISPRmediated gene deficiency (Figure 2G), enhanced apoptosis level and reduced the tumorsphere formation in RD-BCSCs upon IR (Figures 2H,I, Figure S2C). Additional proteomics evidence suggested that mitochondrial proteins were more enriched in the RD-BCSCs compared to MCF7 cells after radiation. The total mitochondrial protein counts increased from the same basal 117 in MCF7 and RD-BCSCs to 152 and 163, 29.9, and 39.3% respectively, whereas protein intensity had a 2.64-fold increase (4.50E+10 to 1.06E+11) in RD-BCSCs compared to a 1.83fold increase in MCF7 cells (Figures S3A,B). Additionally, we further analyzed the mitochondrial proteins and found that FAO metabolism was also demonstrated with an increased protein number, from 11 to 17, in irradiated RD-BCSCs including CPT1A and CPT2 (**Figures S4A,B, Table S1**), indicating that enhanced mitochondrial FAO contributes to radioresistance of RD-BCSCs.

ERK Activation Is Linked With Mitochondrial FAO Enhancement

To explore the key factors responsible for FAO-mediated radioresistance, we tested an array of cell proliferating factors in the two RBC cell lines by CRISPR-mediated knockout of CPT1A and CPT2 (Figure 3A). Strikingly, the activated form of ERK1/2 was absent in the CPT1A and CPT2 KO cells, although other cell growth factors including phosphor-GSK3β, phospho-STAT3, and phospho-JNK were also reduced to a certain degree (Figure 3B). Alternatively, a dose-dependent inhibition of phospho-ERK and its downstream effectors was also determined in MCF7/C6 cells with increasing concentrations of ETX (Figure 3C). It turned out that 200 µm ETX could dramatically block the phosphorylation of ERK1/2. The dependence of ERK1/2 kinase in the FAO-mediated resistance was again evaluated by a rescue experiment, in which the FAO activity was inhibited by ETX and then activated by L-carnitine. As expected, the induction of phospho-ERK1/2 upon radiation was significantly inhibited by etomoxir while enhanced by L-carnitine. Of note, the combination of etomoxir and Lcarnitine treatment ablated the phospho-ERK1/2 induction by L-carnitine treatment upon radiation (Figures 3D,E). Together, our inhibition and rescue experiments consistently demonstrated that FAO mediated radioresistance is linked with ERK1/2 activation for the aggressive phenotype of radioresistant breast cancer cells.

Deficiency of CPT1A or CPT2 Reduces OCR, Cell Viability, and Slowdown Fatty Acid Turnover Rate in RBC Cells

By comparing the metabolic features of BC cells and RBCs, we found that both the oxygen consumption rate and cell viability were enhanced in MCF7/C6 cells compared to MCF7 cells, but remarkedly reduced by ETX or in CPT1A/CPT2 KO (**Figures 4A,B**). Additionally, ETX treatment and CPT1A/CPT2 KO increased FFA accumulation, indicating a slower fatty acid turnover (**Figure 4C**). The colony formation assay was used to evaluate the cell survival rates when given radiation therapy with FAO inhibition in RBCs. The colonies in the RBC MCF7/C6 and MDA-MB-231/C4 cells were more abundant than the basal clonogenic capacity of the parental MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells, indicating an enhanced aggressive phenotype of RBCs. However, the etomoxir treatment and



(I) Tumorsphere formation of (H). In (C,D,E,H,I) n = 3; mean \pm SD; one-way ANOVA test, *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001.

CPT1A/CPT2 KO markedly reduced the survival colony rate in MCF7/C6 and MDA-MB-231/C4 cells (**Figures 5A–D**). IR induced cellular apoptosis was also evaluated in the RBCs. The FAO inhibition increased radiation-induced apoptosis from 10 to 34% (etomoxir treatment), 31% (CPT1A KO), and 36% (CPT2 KO) in MCF7/C6 cells and from 3.8 to 5% (etomoxir treatment), 9.2% (CPT1A KO), and 7.7% (CPT2 KO) in MDA-MB-231/C4 cells (**Figures 6A,B**). FAO inhibition also reduced tumorsphere formation from 58 to 34.5 (etomoxir treatment), 26.5 (CPT1A KO), and 24.5 (CPT2 KO) with IR in MDA-MB-231/C4 cells (**Figure 6C**). Together, these results indicate that CPT1A/CPT2 mediated FAO enhancement is required for the energy demands and cell survival in RBCs. In summary (**Figure 7**), our results reveal that



FIGURE 3 | ERK proliferative pathway is linked with FAO enhancement. (A) Western blot of CPT1A and CPT2 in control and MCF7/C6 and MDA-MB-231/C4 cells with CRISPR KO CPT1A and CPT2. (B) Western blot of proliferative genes in irradiated MCF7, MCF7/C6, MCF7/C6 CPT1A KO, and MCF7/C6 CPT2 KO cells. (C) Western blot of MCF7/C6 cells treated with increased doses of ETX for 24 h followed by 5 Gy IR. (D) Western blot of pERK in MCF7/C6 cells treated with ETX, L-carnitine (an FAO enhancer) or combined followed by 5 Gy IR. (E) Western blot of pERK in MDA-MB-231 cells were treated ETX, L-carnitine (an FAO enhancer) or combined followed by 5 Gy IR.

reprogramming mitochondrial FAO is the major cellular energy supplement in radioresistant breast cancer cells. Such adaptive mitochondrial energy metabolism is linked with the clinical outcome of BC patients treated with radiotherapy. We also reveal that the ERK-mediated prosurvival pathway is a potential downstream target in FAO-mediated aggressive proliferation in BC with enhanced activation of HER2 leading to promoted cell proliferation.

DISCUSSION

It is highly clinically relevant to reveal the major cellular energy driving the growth of therapy-resistant cancer cells. The concept of aerobic glycolysis in cancer metabolism (Warburg Effect), believing the deficient mitochondrial function in cancer cells, has been updated with accumulating results of active tumor metabolic to oncogenic (9) and genotoxic stress including



MCF7/C6 CPT1A KO and MCF7/C6 CPT2 KO cells with MCF7/C6 cells treated with 40 μ M Etomoxir for 48 h as the FAO blockade control. (B) Cell viability measured by MTT of (A). (C) Fatty acid turnover rate in MCF7/C6, MCF7/C6 CPT1A KO, and MCF7/C6 CPT2 KO cells with MCF7/C6 treated with 40 μ M ETX for 48 h as FAO inhibition control; cells were incubated with 250 μ M FFA (oleic acid: palmitic acid = 2:1) for an additional 24 h and then Oil Red staining; representative FA turnover rates were shown on the right. In (A–C), n = 3; mean \pm SD; significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

ionizing radiation (16, 44, 45). A dynamic metabolic feature is linked to the adaptive reprogramming in energy supply, which is required to meet the increased cellular fuel demands for cancer cells to repair the damage and survive anti-cancer therapy. Identification of the metabolic targets required for tumor cell survival under genotoxic stress conditions such as chemoradiotherapy are necessary for improving the therapeutic efficacy. Among other hallmarks of cancer cell progression, cancer cells can adjust energy metabolism to meet the demands of cellular fuel consumption for proliferation and survival to therapeutic stress conditions (11). In this study, we revealed a unique metabolic feature in RBCs and radioresistant breast cancer stem cells (RD-BCSCs). It showed that FAO enzyme expression and mitochondrial FAO activity were enhanced in response to radiation compared to wild type breast cancer cells. Elevated mitochondrial FAO is required for cell growth and survival in response of radiation therapy. Of note, CPT1A/CPT2 expression was also elevated in human recurrent breast cancer tissues compared to biopsy tumors. CRISPR/Cas9 mediated deficiency of CPT1A/CPT2 efficiently enhanced sensitivity of RBCs and RD-BCSCs to radiation treatment. Finally, we provided evidence that mitochondrial FAO likely functions through the ERK







one-way ANOVA test, *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001.



signaling pathway to confer resistance to radiation therapy in RBCs.

Our proteomics data demonstrate a different adaptive scale of RD-BCSCs vs. wild type MCF7 cells with a higher mitochondrial protein number and density in RD-BCSCs than MCF7 cells. Such differential stress response may apply to the varied response to therapeutic radiation in primary and recurrent/metastatic breast cancers. The plasticity of human cancer cells and the genetic-independent acquisition of therapeutic resistance may be tightly associated with metabolic reprogramming. CSCs are capable of adjusting their unique metabolic plasticity in order to respond in a timely manner and adapt to hostile environments (46). The current study revealed that enhanced FAO could be a critical step for therapy-resistant cancer cells,

especially cancer stem cells, to have a survival advantage, thus they could be used for identifying and developing effective metabolic targets. Altered metabolism is served as one of the hallmarks of cancer and has also been observed in CSCs (47, 48). CSCs have been identified in many types of solid tumors and often result in recurrence and both chemo- and radioresistant in tumors because of their self-renewal and tumorigenic properties (49–51). It has been shown that blocking thioredoxinand glutathione-dependent metabolism can enhance radiation response of BCSCs (52), indicating that in addition to FAO enhancement, other metabolites could be critical for the survival advantage of CSCs. Accordingly, metabolic adjustment in the CSC populations under different therapeutic modalities should be further investigated.

The cellular energy shift may require a different signaling network to drive cancer cell proliferation and radioresistance. Our current data also reveal a potential crosstalk between CPT1A/CPT2-mediated lipid metabolism and ERK1/2controlled cell proliferation (Figure 7), implicating a cooperative network of mitochondrial FAO in response to radiation in resistant cancer cells. Although currently there is no direct evidence supporting mitochondrial FAO-mediated ERK1/2 activation, the enhanced mitochondrial products including ATP from TCA cycle may increase the MEK-ERK1/2 cascade. High ATP concentration is indicated in the tumor microenvironment that can activate P2Y2 receptors to enhance BC cell migration through the activation of a MEK-ERK1/2 pathway (53). In addition, mitochondrial OXPHOS can be enhanced by Cyclin B1/CDK1 that can be relocated into mitochondria by radiation leading to phosphorylation of SIRT3, a key keeper for mitochondria homeostasis at the Thr150/Ser159 (54). Furthermore, we have recently observed that mitochondrial homeostasis is enhanced by SIRT3-regulated CTP2 activity in normal mouse liver cells via FAO (unpublished data). Thus, the CPT1A/CPT2-mediated FAO activity may be differently regulated in normal and cancer cells, which warrants further studies.

In summary, this study reveals a previously unknown feature of reprogramming mitochondrial FAO in RBCs due to enhanced CPT1A/CPT2. Thus, targeting CPT1A/CPT2 as well as other mitochondrial FAO elements may serve as a metabolic target to enhance the efficacy of breast cancer radiotherapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL, JJL, and SH designed the study, wrote the manuscript, and were involved in revising the manuscript. SH, RW, and MF performed experiments with the help of NJ, BX. LZ, XZ, AB, MC, JH, and AV helped to analyze the data, prepare and revise the manuscript. H-WC provided the instruction for CRISPR technology. WM and YW generated and analyzed the proteomics data. All authors have approved the final version.

FUNDING

This work was partially supported by National Cancer Institute Grants RO1 CA152313 (to JL) and University of California Davis NCI-designated Comprehensive Cancer Center supported by the CCSG Grant awarded by the National Cancer Institute (Dr.

REFERENCES

1. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Darby S, McGale P, Correa C, Taylor C, Arriagada R, et al. Effect of

Primo Lara; NCI P30CA093373). The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked advertisement in accordance with 18 U. S. C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Irmgard Feldman at the UC Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center Biorepository which was funded by the UC Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center Support Grant (CCSG) awarded by the National Cancer Institute (NCI P30CA093373) in sharing human breast cancer specimens.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc. 2019.01201/full#supplementary-material

Figure S1 | (A) Schematic representation of the process for generating RBCs and RD-BCSCs. **(B)** Functional clustering of proteomics of MCF7 and RD-BCSCs via DAVID bioinformatics indicating the protein numbers in categories inducing lipid metabolism, oxidation reduction, DNA repair, stress response, glycolysis, and ATP synthesis in MCF7 cells with or without IR. The intensities of proteins in lipid metabolism were shown in right. **(C)** Repeated proteomics analysis with RD-BCSCs cells, note a group of key FAO enzymes including CPT1A and CPT2 were enhanced by radiation (marked in red in the right).

Figure S2 | (A) FAO measured in MCF7 and RD-BCSCs cells with or without 5 Gy IR treatment for 24 h. RD-BCSCs treated with 40 μ M Etomoxir (ETX) were used as FAO inhibition control, and RD-BCSCs cells treated with 1 μ M FCCP as an FAO enhancement control. **(B)** Radiation-induced apoptotic cell death measured by Annexin-V/PI flow cytometry in RD-BCSCs cells, RD-BCSCs treated with 5 Gy IR, ETX (200 μ M, 48 h) or combined. **(C)** Repeated experiment in **(B)** using RD-BCSCs CPT1A KO and RD-BCSCs CPT2 KO cells.

Figure S3 | (A) Mitochondrial fractions were prepared from MCF7 and RD-BCSCs cells treated with or without 5 Gy IR treatment and analyzed by LC-MS and MS/MS on a Q Exactive Plus mass spectrometer. Numbers of proteins detected comparing MCF7 and RD-BCSCs before and after IR are shown on the left. Percentage of enhanced quantitation of the increased protein numbers by radiation are shown in the pie on the right. (B) The intensities of mitochondrial protein expression of MCF7 and RD-BCSCs treated with -/+ IR are shown.

Figure S4 | (A) Functional clustering of mitochondrial proteins via DAVID bioinformatics show the relatively high enhancement of protein numbers in lipid metabolism, oxidation reduction and ATP synthesis in the mitochondria of irradiated RD-BCSCs. **(B)** The two key enzymes in mitochondrial FAO metabolism, CPT1A, and CPT2 (in red), were enhanced by IR in RD-BCSCs.

Table S1 | The cluster of proteins involved in fatty acid metabolism enhanced by radiation in RD-BCSCs. The mitochondrial proteomics data were generated with mitochondrial proteins isolated from RD-BCSCs treated with or without IR, followed by digestion with trypsin and analyses by LC-MS and MS/MS on a Q Exactive Plus mass spectrometer. The 17 listed proteins were detected in the proteomic analysis of mitochondrial proteins of RD-BCSCs and classified by UniProtein under the category Lipid Metabolism. The gene symbols, descriptions, and comparison with or without 5 Gy IR are shown in the table, and the CPT1A/CPT2 are marked with yellow.

radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10 801 women in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet.* (2011) 378:1707–16. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61629-2

- Orecchia R. Breast cancer: post-mastectomy radiotherapy reduces recurrence and mortality. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2014) 11:382. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.95
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2001) 414:105–11. doi: 10.1038/35102167
- Liu S, Wicha MS. Targeting breast cancer stem cells. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:4006–12. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.5388
- Jameel J, Rao V, Cawkwell L, Drew P. Radioresistance in carcinoma of the breast. *Breast.* (2004) 13:452–60. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2004.08.004
- Rich JN. Cancer stem cells in radiation resistance. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:8980– 4. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0895
- Diehn M, Cho RW, Lobo NA, Kalisky T, Dorie MJ, Kulp AN, et al. Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. *Nature*. (2009) 458:780–3. doi: 10.1038/nature07733
- Duru N, Fan M, Candas D, Menaa C, Liu HC, Nantajit D, et al. HER2-associated radioresistance of breast cancer stem cells isolated from HER2-negative breast cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:6634–47. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1436
- Ward PS, Thompson CB. Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even warburg did not anticipate. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 21:297–308. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.014
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Cantor JR, Sabatini DM. Cancer cell metabolism: one hallmark, many faces. Cancer Discov. (2012) 2:881–98. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0345
- LeBleu VS, O'Connell JT, Gonzalez Herrera KN, Wikman H, Pantel K, Haigis MC, et al. PGC-1alpha mediates mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells to promote metastasis. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2014) 16:992–1003. doi: 10.1038/ncb3039
- Xie B, Wang S, Jiang N, Li JJ. Cyclin B1/CDK1-regulated mitochondrial bioenergetics in cell cycle progression and tumor resistance. *Cancer Lett.* (2019) 443:56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.11.019
- Guo G, Yan-Sanders Y, Lyn-Cook BD, Wang T, Tamae D, Ogi J, et al. Manganese superoxide dismutase-mediated gene expression in radiation-induced adaptive responses. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2003) 23:2362–78. doi: 10.1128/MCB.23.7.2362-2378.2003
- Candas D, Lu CL, Fan M, Chuang FY, Sweeney C, Borowsky AD, et al. Mitochondrial MKP1 is a target for therapy-resistant HER2-positive breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:7498–509. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0844
- Lu CL, Qin L, Liu HC, Candas D, Fan M, Li JJ. Tumor cells switch to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation under radiation via mTORmediated hexokinase II inhibition–a Warburg-reversing effect. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0121046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121046
- Wang Z, Fan M, Candas D, Zhang TQ, Qin L, Eldridge A, et al. Cyclin B1/Cdk1 coordinates mitochondrial respiration for cell-cycle G2/M progression. *Dev Cell*. (2014) 29:217–32. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014.03.012
- Harbauer AB, Opalinska M, Gerbeth C, Herman JS, Rao S, Schonfisch B, et al. Cell cycle-dependent regulation of mitochondrial preprotein translocase. *Science*. (2014) 346:1109–13. doi: 10.1126/science.1261253
- Salazar-Roa M, Malumbres M. Fueling the cell division cycle. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2017) 27:69–81. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.08.009
- Yasui H, Yamamoto K, Suzuki M, Sakai Y, Bo T, Nagane M, et al. Lipophilic triphenylphosphonium derivatives enhance radiation-induced cell killing via inhibition of mitochondrial energy metabolism in tumor cells. *Cancer Lett.* (2017) 390:160–7. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.01.006
- Robertson-Tessi M, Gillies RJ, Gatenby RA, Anderson AR. Impact of metabolic heterogeneity on tumor growth, invasion, and treatment outcomes. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:1567–79. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1428
- De Luca A, Fiorillo M, Peiris-Pages M, Ozsvari B, Smith DL, Sanchez-Alvarez R, et al. Mitochondrial biogenesis is required for the anchorageindependent survival and propagation of stem-like cancer cells. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:14777–95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4401
- Favre C, Zhdanov A, Leahy M, Papkovsky D, O'Connor R. Mitochondrial pyrimidine nucleotide carrier (PNC1) regulates mitochondrial biogenesis and the invasive phenotype of cancer cells. *Oncogene*. (2010) 29:3964–76. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.146

- Qin L, Fan M, Candas D, Jiang G, Papadopoulos S, Tian L, et al. CDK1 enhances mitochondrial bioenergetics for radiation-induced DNA repair. *Cell Rep.* (2015) 13:2056–63. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.11.015
- Wright HJ, Hou J, Xu B, Cortez M, Potma EO, Tromberg BJ, et al. CDCP1 drives triple-negative breast cancer metastasis through reduction of lipiddroplet abundance and stimulation of fatty acid oxidation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2017) 114:E6556–65. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1703791114
- Blomme A, Costanza B, de Tullio P, Thiry M, Van Simaeys G, Boutry S, et al. Myoferlin regulates cellular lipid metabolism and promotes metastases in triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36:2116–30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.369
- Obre E, Rossignol R. Emerging concepts in bioenergetics and cancer research: metabolic flexibility, coupling, symbiosis, switch, oxidative tumors, metabolic remodeling, signaling and bioenergetic therapy. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2015) 59:167–81. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.12.008
- 28. Wang T, Fahrmann JF, Lee HY, Li J, Tripathi SC, Yue C, et al. JAK/STAT3-regulated fatty acid β -oxidation is critical for breast cancer stem cell self-renewal and chemoresistance. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 27:136–50.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.11.001
- Carracedo A, Cantley LC, Pandolfi PP. Cancer metabolism: fatty acid oxidation in the limelight. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2013) 13:227–32. doi: 10.1038/nrc3483
- Currie E, Schulze A, Zechner R, Walther TC, Farese RV Jr. Cellular fatty acid metabolism and cancer. *Cell Metab.* (2013) 18:153–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.05.017
- 31. Pike LS, Smift AL, Croteau NJ, Ferrick DA, Wu M. Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by etomoxir impairs NADPH production and increases reactive oxygen species resulting in ATP depletion and cell death in human glioblastoma cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2011) 1807:726–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.10.022
- 32. Tan Z, Xiao L, Tang M, Bai F, Li J, Li L, et al. Targeting CPT1A-mediated fatty acid oxidation sensitizes nasopharyngeal carcinoma to radiation therapy. *Theranostics*. (2018) 8:2329. doi: 10.7150/thno.21451
- Li Z, Xia L, Lee LM, Khaletskiy A, Wang J, Wong JY, et al. Effector genes altered in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells after exposure to fractionated ionizing radiation. *Radiat Res.* (2001) 155:543–53. doi: 10.1667/ 0033-7587(2001)155[0543:EGAIMH]2.0.CO;2
- Ahmed KM, Dong S, Fan M, Li JJ. Nuclear factor-κB p65 inhibits mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling pathway in radioresistant breast cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2006) 4:945–55. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-06-0291
- Cao N, Li S, Wang Z, Ahmed KM, Degnan ME, Fan M, et al. NF-κB-mediated HER2 overexpression in radiation-adaptive resistance. *Radiat Res.* (2009) 171:9–21. doi: 10.1667/RR1472.1
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:3983–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530291100
- 37. Han S, Ren Y, He W, Liu H, Zhi Z, Zhu X, et al. ERKmediated phosphorylation regulates SOX10 sumoylation and targets expression in mutant BRAF melanoma. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:28. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02354-x
- Sanjana NE, Shalem O, Zhang F. Improved vectors and genome-wide libraries for CRISPR screening. *Nat Methods*. (2014) 11:783. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3047
- Cox J, Mann M. MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. *Nature Biotechnol.* (2008) 26:1367–72. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1511
- Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat Protoc.* (2009) 4:44–57. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.211
- Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA. Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2009) 37:1–13. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn923
- Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ, et al. *In vitro* propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. *Genes Dev.* (2003) 17:1253–70. doi: 10.1101/gad.1061803
- Menaa C, Li JJ. The role of radiotherapy-resistant stem cells in breast cancer recurrence. *Breast Cancer Manage*. (2013) 2:89–92. doi: 10.2217/bmt.13.5

- Hagenbuchner J, Oberacher H, Arnhard K, Kiechl-Kohlendorfer U, Ausserlechner MJ. Modulation of respiration and mitochondrial dynamics by SMAC-mimetics for combination therapy in chemoresistant cancer. *Theranostics*. (2019) 9:4909–22. doi: 10.7150/thno.33758
- 45. Pitroda SP, Wakim BT, Sood RF, Beveridge MG, Beckett MA, MacDermed DM, et al. STAT1-dependent expression of energy metabolic pathways links tumour growth and radioresistance to the Warburg effect. *BMC Med.* (2009) 7:68. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-68
- Perusina Lanfranca M, Thompson JK, Bednar F, Halbrook C, Lyssiotis C, Levi B, et al. Metabolism and epigenetics of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 57:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.09.008
- Peiris-Pagès M, Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Pestell RG, Sotgia F, Lisanti MP. Cancer stem cell metabolism. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2016) 18:55. doi: 10.1186/s13058-016-0712-6
- Sancho P, Barneda D, Heeschen C. Hallmarks of cancer stem cell metabolism. Br J Cancer. (2016) 114:1305. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.152
- Baumann M, Krause M, Hill R. Exploring the role of cancer stem cells in radioresistance. Nat Rev Cancer. (2008) 8:545–54. doi: 10.1038/nrc2419
- Kakarala M, Wicha MS. Implications of the cancer stem-cell hypothesis for breast cancer prevention and therapy. J Clin Oncol. (2008) 26:2813–20. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.16.3931
- Bertrand G, Maalouf M, Boivin A, Battiston-Montagne P, Beuve M, Levy A, et al. Targeting head and neck cancer stem cells to overcome resistance to photon and carbon ion radiation. *Stem Cell Rev.* (2014) 10:114–26. doi: 10.1007/s12015-013-9467-y

- Rodman SN, Spence JM, Ronnfeldt TJ, Zhu Y, Solst SR, O'Neill RA, et al. Enhancement of radiation response in breast cancer stem cells by inhibition of thioredoxin- and glutathione-dependent metabolism. *Radiat Res.* (2016) 186:385–95. doi: 10.1667/RR14463.1
- Chadet S, Jelassi B, Wannous R, Angoulvant D, Chevalier S, Besson P, et al. The activation of P2Y2 receptors increases MCF-7 breast cancer cells migration through the MEK-ERK1/2 signalling pathway. *Carcinogenesis*. (2014) 35:1238–47. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt493
- 54. Liu R, Fan M, Candas D, Qin L, Zhang X, Eldridge A, et al. CDK1mediated SIRT3 activation enhances mitochondrial function and tumor radioresistance. *Mol Cancer Therap.* (2015) 14:2090–102. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-15-0017

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Han, Wei, Zhang, Jiang, Fan, Huang, Xie, Zhang, Miao, Butler, Coleman, Vaughan, Wang, Chen, Liu and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

